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In the United States Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

¥o. 8779

United States of America, appellant

V.

Walker River Irrigation District, a Corpora-

tion, ET AL., appellees

UPON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES

OPINIONS BELOW

The first opinion of the District Court (R. 384)

is reported in 11 F. Supp. 158. Its supplementary-

opinion (R. 492) is reported in 14 F. Supp. 10.

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final decree of the Dis-

trict Court of the United States for the District of

Nevada, entered on April 14, 1936 (R. 521). This

suit was brought by the United States, and the

jurisdiction of the District Court was invoked

under Section 24 of the Judicial Code, as amended,

(1)



28 U. S. C. § 41 (1). The pleadings showing the

jurisdiction of the District Court are found in

paragraph 1 of the amended bill of complaint (R.

7) . The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under

Section 128 of the Judicial Code, as amended, 28

U. S. C. § 225 (a).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether by the creation of an Indian reser-

vation by executive action, the United States im-

pliedly reserved, for the Indians (as in the case of

reservations created by Treaty), waters flowing

through the reservation, for irrigation purposes,

where (1) the reservation was established to pro-

vide a permanent home for the Indians and to sup-

ply them with the means of becoming self-sustain-

ing through agricultural pursuits and (2) all of

the lands within the reservation were (and are)

arid.

2. Whether, in a suit by the United States to

quiet title and to enjoin the diversion of water im-

pliedly reserved for the irrigation of lands within

an Indian reservation, the implied reservation of

water may be disregarded and relief denied, in

whole or in part, because (1) the United States

had sold to some of the defendants (or their prede-

cessors) arid lands above the reservation which

were irrigable only from the same source as the

reservation lands without advising them that the

water had been reserved; (2) the defendants had

appropriated water and constructed irrigation



works for many years, without protest by the Gov-

ernment until the institution of the instant suit;

(3) the superintendent of the reservation had ap-

plied to the State for a permit to appropriate

waters ; and (4) an engineer of the Office of Indian

Affairs had recommended that a reservoir be built

for the reservation—despite the fact that the suit

is brought by the United States in its sovereign

capacity and on behalf of the Indian tribe.

STATEMENT

This suit was brought by the United States to

quiet title to its right to 150 cubic feet per second of

the water of the Walker River, the amount of water

necessary to irrigate the irrigable lands of the

Walker River Indian Reservation. The defend-

ants, 253 in number, claim rights in the water of

that river.

The amended bill of complaint alleged: On No-

vember 29, 1859, the United States, in order to pro-

tect certain Pahute and other Indians in lands

which they were occupying, and in order to afford

them an opportunity to learn husbandry and to be-

come civilized, set aside for their use lands now
constituting the Walker River Indian Reservation

(R. 8-9). These lands were (and are) incapable

of producing crops without irrigation, for which

the Walker River and its tributaries are the only

source of water (R. 7-11). Approximately 11,000

acres of these lands are irrigable, and for the irri-

gation of this acreage and for domestic and other



uses upon the reservation there is required 150

cubic feet per second of water (R. 9). By the cre-

ation of the reservation the United States reserved

from appropriation, and set aside for use upon the

reservation, that quantity of the water of the

Walker River and its tributaries (R. 10). About

2,000 acres of the reservation lands are irrigated

at the present time (R. 9). The defendants are

using the water of the river and its tributaries for

irrigation and are preventing it from reaching the

reservation (R. 12). The United States recognizes

the decree in Pacific Livestock Co. v. Rickey,

Equity No. 731, adjudicating rights in the waters

of Walker River, as determining the rights of the

defendants as among themselves (R. 15).

The complaint prays that it be adjudged that the

United States has the first right to 150 cubic feet

per second of the water of the river ; that the de-

fendants be enjoined from interfering with that

right; that a water master be appointed to carry

out the decree; that the relative rights of the

parties in the water of the river be determined;

and that the United States have such other relief

as may be proper (R. 17-18).

Some 250 answers and counterclaims were filed

by the respective defendants.' The defendants

^ By stipulation (K. 995) the answers and counterclaims

of 231 defendants are omitted from the printed record.

The omitted answers are in substance the same as the seven

answers printed in the record.



deny that when the United States created the res-

ervation it reserved water for the Indians, and

deny that they are wrongfully diverting water (R.

29, 33, 60, 62, 108, 110, 128, 131, 150, 153, 177, 179,

217, 220). The defendants admit that they are

diverting water under the decree in suit No. 731

(R 37, 66, 114, 136, 158, 184, 225), and allege rights

to use specified quantities of the water of the

WaUver River, with stated dates of priority, for the

irrigation of their respective lands (R. 40, 68, 84-

92, 115, 140, 163-170, 184-187, 229-232). The de-

fendants further allege that the United States,

through its officers and agents, knew of the claims

of the defendants ; that the United States without

objection permitted them to expend millions of dol-

lars for irrigation works, houses, and other im-

provements ; that the United States issued patents

to some of the defendants under the Desert Land

Law and the homestead laws, under which laws a

showing of a sufficient water right was a condition

precedent to the issuance of a patent (R. 95-96,

119-121, 159-160, 190-192, 197, 227-228) ; and that

by reason of these facts the United States is

estopped from claiming any water by virtue of its

withdrawal of lands for the Indian reservation, or

otherwise than under the doctrine of appropria-

tion (R. 96, 121, 160, 193, 228). Some of the de-

fendants allege also that the United States has

been guilty of laches (R. 138, 160, 228). The de-

fendants pray that the United States take nothing

87002—38 2
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and that the water rights claimed by the respective

defendants be decreed to them (R. 47, 97, 122, 143,

172, 212, 241). The answer of the Sierra Pacific

Power Company claims riparian rights for its land

in California, and alleges that its rights were not

determined by decree No. 731 (R. 387).'

The issues raised by the pleadings were referred

to a Special Master (R. 243-244). The United

States and the defendants (except the Sierra Pa-

cific Power Company), in order to shorten the

trial, stipulated that all of the defendants' rights

should be determined upon the doctrine of appro-

priation, and that the rights of all defendants who

were parties to suit No. 731 should stand as therein

decreed, subject to the rights and priorities of the

United States as determined by the court (R. 501,

973). The rights of a number of defendants who

were not parties to suit No. 731 were stipulated

upon the same basis (id.).

In summary, the evidence showed:

The Walker River is non-navigable. It rises in

California, but its main course lies in Nevada, and

it empties into Walker Lake in that State (R. 387-

389, 494-496) . The Walker River Indian Reserva-

tion includes the land around Walker Lake, and

the land along each side of the river for approxi-

mately 30 miles above the lake. It contains ap-

proximately 86,400 acres of land, of which about

^ No appeal has been taken by the Sierra Pacific Power
Company, and no separate question as to its rights is pre-

sented to this court.



10,000 acres are irrigable and about 2,100 acres are

now under irrigation (R. 246, 496, 627) . The lands

of the Walker River basin, including the reserva-

tion lands, are incapable of producing crops with-

out irrigation, and there is no water for their irri-

gation except that of the river (R. 496).

In 1859 the lands now included in Nevada were

a part of Utah Territory. On November 25, 1859,

the United States Indian agent for that Territory

wrote the Commissioner of Indian Affairs that

there was a general "stampede" of persons from

California to the mining localities within the

agency, which increased the necessity for reserving

for the Indians '

' a sufficient portion of their lands

to enable them to sustain life" (R. 569). He
recommended that part of the Truckee River val-

ley (now the Pyi^amid Lake Indian Reservation),

and part of the Walker River valley (now the

Walker Lake Indian Reservation), be reserved for

the Indians, the boundaries of the suggested reser-

vations being indicated on an attached map (R.

570). On November 26, 1859, the Commissioner of

Indian Affairs wrote the Secretary of the Interior

inviting the latter 's attention to the agent's letter

and stating that although but a small portion of the

land in the proposed reservations is ''suited for

agricultural purposes, yet it is believed that it will

be sufficient for the sustenance of the Washoe and

Pahute Tribes of Indians, in connection with the

fish which they may obtain from Pyramid and



8

Walker Lakes" (R. 571). On November 29, 1859,

the Commissioner of Indian Affairs wrote to the

Commissioner of the General Land Office request-

ing him to direct the Surveyor General of Utah

Territory to respect the reservation of these

tracts of land, as indicated upon an attached

map, when the public surveys should be extended

over that portion of the territory, and request-

ing that in the meantime the proper local land

offices be instructed to respect the reservations

upon the books of their offices (R. 572). The Com-

missioner of the General Land Office, on December

9, 1859, instructed the Surveyor General at Salt

Lake City to reserve for Indian purposes the tracts

of land in question (R. 573). The United States

took immediate steps to prevent trespassing upon

the reservations and subsequently their boundaries

were surveyed (R. 577-581, 595, 596). On March

19, 1874, President Grant ordered that the reser-

vation on Walker River, as surveyed, be with-

drawn from sale or other disposition, and set apart

for the Pahute Indians residing thereon (R. 580-

581). The reservation had, however, been effec-

tively created on November 29, 1859, when the lands

were set aside for the Indians by the Commissioner

of the General Land Office; the subsequent order

of the President merely formalized and perpetu-

ated what had already been done (R. 587, 588, 591,

593-594, 599, 648-651, 671-675).'

3 Both the Master (R. 258-260) and the District Court

(R. 392) found that the reservation was created November



Both the United States and the Indians desired,

from the time the reservation was created, that the

Indians should support themselves by agriculture

(R. 587, 591, 592, 599). The United States imme-

diately began to encourage and teach the Indians

to practice farming and irrigation, and furnished

them with seeds and implements for farming

(R. 587, 588, 591, 593-594, 599, 648-651, 671-674).

Within a few years after the reservation was set

aside the United States commenced the construc-

tion of ditches and dams for the diversion of water

of the Walker River for use upon the reservation

(R. 434, 673, 674-675). From time to time the

United States enlarged and extended the irrigation

ditches upon the reservation until there are now
two canals thereon having a combined length of 17

miles and a combined capacity of 115 cubic feet

per second, and lateral ditches having a combined

length of 13 miles (R. 434, 496, 617) capable of irri-

gating 3,600 acres without further extension (R.

614). On the 2,100 acres under irrigation the

Indians produce valuable crops of alfalfa, grain,

and vegetables, and raise fowl and livestock, part

of which they sell (R. 434, 617). There are ap-

proximately 500 Indians on the reservation (R.

275, 496 ) . Ninety-six individual Indians are farm-

29, 1859. The authorities sustaining their view are col-

lected in the Master's report (R. 258-260). Particularly

conclusive are Northern Pac. Ry. Co. v. Wismer^ 246 U. S.

283, 288 ; Wilcox v. Jackson, 13 Pet. 498, 513 ; Central Pa-
cific Raihoay Company, 45 L. D. 502.
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ing parts of 140 allotments of 20 acres each and

96 allotments have homes on them (R. 434, 496).

Five hundred and four allotments have been made

to date (R. 656)/

The lands of the defendants are situated in the

Walker Eiver basin above the reservation. They

were acquired by the defendants or their predeces-

sors from the United States under acts of Congress,

the earliest title originating shortly after the crea-

tion of the reservation (R. 497). Successive ap-

propriations of water of the river were made for

the irrigation of these lands, the earliest appropria-

tion being in 1860 (R. 497), until all the water of

the river had been fully appropriated (R. 270-271,

398). In order to supplement the water supply for

irrigation the defendants, in 1922 and in 1924-25,

constructed large and expensive irrigation works

(R. 497, 625, 778). The defendants now irrigate a

total of about 111,000 acres (R. 499) . No objection

was made by the United States to the appropriation

of water by the settlers (R. 270-271, 398-399, 497-

498), or to their construction of irrigation works

(R. 497), and no proceedings were taken by the

United States to protect its water rights until the

present suit, brought in 1924 (R. 402, 497-498).

* Allotments were made in November 1906, under the Act

of May 27, 1902, 32 Stat. 260, and the General Allotment

Act, 24 Stat. 388. The trust period of 25 years provided by

the General Allotment Act was extended for an additional

10 years by Executive Order No. 5730, issued October 8,

1931, and was extended indefinitely by the Wheeler-Howard
Act of 1934, 48 Stat. 984.
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The United States was given an opportunity to

become a party to suit No. 731, which was brought

in 1904 and decided in 1919, but did not do so (R.

497-498). The Master in that suit found that the

United States had appropriated from the Walker

River 22.93 cubic feet of water per second, with

dates of priority of 1868, 1872, 1875, 1883, and 1886,

and had irrigated thereby 1,905.55 acres of land of

the reservation (R. 387, 437, 499). The decree did

not make any provision for the rights of the United

States (R. 786).

In 1910 the superintendent of the reservation,

on behalf of the Indians, applied to the State of

Nevada for a permit to appropriate water of the

river (R. 498, 822). The permit was granted but

later cancelled (R. 824).

In 1926 Congress (Act of June 30, 1926, 44 Stat.

779) authorized a reconnaissance to determine the

feasibility of constructing a dam on the Walker

River to conserye its water for irrigation (R. 399-

400, 498). Pursuant to this authorization a re-

port was made recommending, among other things,

that a storage reservoir be created for the reser-

vation (R. 400-401, 498). It does not appear from

the record that any action was taken on this report.

The Master filed his report (R. 244) and recom-

mended findings of fact and conclusions of law

(R. 291) and a decree (R. 317). The report of the

Master expressed the Yiew that when the United

States created the reservation in 1859 it impliedly
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reserved water of the Walker River for the irri-

gation of reservation lands (R. 261-270) ; that the

United States was not estopped by the failure of

its officials to inform purchasers of land in the

Walker River valley of its right to the use of

sufficient water of the river for the irrigation

of the irrigable lands of the reservation, or by

reason of the delay of its officials in taking legal

steps to enforce its claims (R. 271-274) ; that, how-

ever, it would be inequitable to allocate to the

United States water for the irrigation of 10,000

acres of land since it had under irrigation only

2,100 acres, since there was no substantial demand

by the Indians for the irrigation of additional acre-

age, and since the number of Indians on the reser-

vation was not increasing (R. 275). The Master

concluded, accordingly, that the United States

should be granted a right to 26.25 feet of water per

second, for the irrigation of 2,100 acres of land,

with a priority of 1859 (R. 275, 323).

Both the United States and the defendants filed

exceptions to the Master's report and proposed

findings, conclusions, and decree (R. 335-360), the

United States contending that it had a right to the

use of 150 cubic feet of water per second for the

irrigation of the 10,000 acres of irrigable lands in

the reservation, and that this right was not barred

by any equitable defense (R. 335-342).

On June 6, 1935, the District Court filed its opin-

ion (R. 384, 11 F. Supp. 158). The District Court
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held that neither the claim of the United States to

150 cubic feet of water per second nor the proposed

decree of the Master awarding to it 26.25 cubic feet

with a priority of 1859 could be sustained (R. 409-

410). It held that the United States did not im-

pliedly reserve any water by the creation of the

reservation, and that the rights of the United

States were, therefore, to be adjudged under the

doctrine of appropriation as established by the

State of Nevada (R. 410).^ The Court referred

the case back to the Master to take further evidence

upon one point, and directed him to prepare and

submit findings of fact and conclusions of law con-

sistent with its decision (R. 427-428) •

The Master again filed recommended findings of

fact, conclusions of law, and a decree (R. 430, 458).

After argument on exceptions filed by the United

States and by some of the defendants (R. 474-490),

the District Court, on March 21, 1936, filed a sup-

plementary opinion (R. 492, 14 F. Supp. 10). This

opinion, after stating that the United States con-

tends that there was an implied reservation of

water, declares (R. 492)

:

Even if a reservation of water may be

implied in the executive order, however the

Indian rights may be defined or labeled in

^ The opinion of the District Court devotes considerable

space to demonstrating that by the Desert Land Act of 1877,

if not before, the United States opened the waters of the

streams of the public domain to appropriation under state

laws, such appropriation to be "'subject to existing rights,"

87002—38 3
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this instance, this court is of the opinion

that the facts and circumstances have placed

the white settlers in an inexpugnable posi-

tion.

The opinion then recites that the settlers acquired

lands from the United States and water rights by

appropriation; that they have enjoyed undisturbed

possession of their lands and water rights for more

than fifty years, and that to dispossess them would

return to waste lands which they, with the acquies-

cence of the goveriunent, reclaimed from the desert

(R. 492-493). The opinion concludes (R. 493) :

Under such facts and circumstances this

court is not moved to give a decree destroy-

ing the rights of the white pioneers.

and that, if water of the Walker River was not impHedly

reserved by the creation of the reservation in 1859, before

the Desert Land Act, the United States has only such water

rights for the reservation as it has itself acquired by appro-

priation (R. 103-410). California Oregon Power Co. v.

Beaver Portland Cement Co.., 295 U. S. 112, is quoted at

length to sustain this position. The United States, how-

ever, has always conceded that, if no water was impliedly

reserved by the creation of the reservation, it has only such

water rights as it has acquired by appropriation. And the

opinion of the District Court concedes that if water was

impliedly reserved by the creation of the reservation, that

reservation of water was not affected by the Desert Land
Act, since that Act provided that appropriations of water

under it would be "subject to existing rights" (R. 410). Ac-

cordingly it is not perceived that this portion of the District

Court's opinion presents any issue warranting further dis-

cussion.
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The exceptions of the United States were overruled

(R. 492-493).

Thereafter the District Court tiled findings of

fact and conclusions of law, and entered its decree

(R. 494). In its conclusions of law the Court

states that even if a reservation of water might be

implied in the order of 1859, "yet the facts and cir-

cumstances here shown impel the conclusion that

the interests of the white settlers, enjoyed without

challenge for more than fifty years, should not be

disturbed" (R. 515). The Court concluded that

the doctrine of appropriation applied to the claims

of the United States, and that it was entitled, by

right of appropriation,*" to divert waters of the

stream to the extent of 22.93 cubic feet per second,

for the irrigation of 1,905.55 acres, with priority as

of the years 1868, 1872, 1875, 1883, and 1886 (R.

499, 515-516). The District Court entered its

decree framed accordingly (R. 531).

The United States has taken this appeal.

SPECIFICATIONS OF ERRORS TO BE URGED

The United States will rely upon its assignment

of errors Nos. 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11. As-

signment No. 2 is waived, as it is not believed that

this assignment is pertinent to the legal issues here

involved.

^ The Special Master in suit No. 731 had found, and it

was conceded by the defendants in this suit, that the United
States had appropriated a total of 22.93 cubic feet per sec-

ond, with the dates of priority given above (R. 499).



16

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I

The United States, when it segregated the lands

in the Walker River Indian Reservation on No-

vember 29, 1859, as a permanent home for the Pa-

hute Tribe of Indians, impliedly reserved for the

Indians sufficient water of Walker River for the

irrigation of the irrigable lands of the reservation.

Winters v. United States, 207 U. S. 564; Conrad

Inv. Co. V. United States, 161 Fed. 829 (C. C. A. 9).

The doctrine that when the United States sets aside

arid lands as a home for Indians it impliedly re-

serves for the Indians water for irrigation, rests

upon a presumption that the United States recog-

nized and provided for the needs of the Indians,

and does not depend upon whether there was a

treaty or agreement with the Indians. Alaska Pa-

cific Fisheries v. United States, 248 U. S. 78.

II

The United States is not, under the facts and

circumstances of this case, barred from the relief

it seeks, either in whole or in part, by laches, estop-

pel, or any other principle of equity. This suit is

brought by the United States in its sovereign

character (United States v. Minnesota, 270 U. S.

181, 194), and the United States cannot, in a suit

so brought, be barred by laches. United States v.

Kirkpatrick, 9 W^heat. 720, 735; United States v.

Beehe, 127 U. S. 338, 344.
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Even if it be assumed that the United States can,

under some circumstances, be estopped, the acts

and omissions relied upon in this case as estopping

the United States are largely disposed of by the

rule that the United States cannot be estopped by

unauthorized conduct of its agents. Utah Power

& Light Co. v. United States, 243 U. S. 389, 408-

409; Cramer v. United States, 261 U. S. 219, 234.

Furthermore, elements essential to an estoppel be-

tween individuals are lacking in this case. No
estoppel arises from mere delay or acquiescence,

even when expenditures are made in reliance

thereon. United States v. Standard Oil Company

of California, 20 F. Supp. 427, 454 (S. D. Calif.)
;

City of Mobile v. Sullivan Timber Co., 129 Fed. 298

(C. C. A. 5). Before an estoppel can arise there

must be "intended deception" or "such gross neg-

ligence * * * as to amount to constructive

fraud, by which another has been misled to his

injury." Brant v. Virginia Coal & Iron Co., 93

U. S. 326, 335. That has not been shown here.

Finally, the Indians are wards of the United

States, and the conduct of a guardian cannot estop

a ward. Shamleffer v. Peerless Mill Co., 18

Kan. 24.

The right of the Indians is not to be limited by

any application of general concepts of fairness to

water only for the irrigation of the reservation

lands now irrigated. No principle of equity would

justify such a diminution of their right. Pan

American Co. v. United States, 273 U. S. 456;
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Heckman v. United States, 224 U. S. 413. The

decision of this court in Conrad Inv. Co. v. United

States, 161 Fed. 829, is conclusive that the Indians

are entitled to be protected in their right to water

sufficient not only for their present needs but for

their possible future needs.

ARGUMENT

I

The United States, by the creation of the Walker River

Indian Reservation, impliedly reserved for the Indians

sufficient water of the Walker River for the irrigation

of the irrigable lands of the reservation.

This argument is directed to the following

assignments of error

:

I

That the Court erred in failing to find

and decree that the plaintiff, by necessary

implication, set aside and reserved sufficient

of the then unused and surplus waters of

the Walker River and its tributaries for

the future irrigation of the irrigable lands

of the Walker River Indian Reservation,

at the same time it reserved and set aside

the lands for said Indian Reservation on

November 29, 1859 (R. 541).

VI

That the Court erred in making its con-

clusion of law I that the law or Doctrine of

Appropriation applies in this case to plain-

tiff, and the same is erroneous, contrary to

law and not sustained by the evidence of

findings in this cause (R. 544).
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VII

That the Court erred in making its con-

clusion of law II that plaintiff is entitled

only by right of appropriation to the

amounts of water from the stream system

with the priorities and points of diversion

for the irrigation of the acreages set forth

in the findings (R. 544).

VIII

That the Court erred in overruling plain-

tiff's exceptions filed herein January 18th,

1933, and September 26th, 1935, to the

Special Master's findings and proposed de-

crees filed herein December 30th, 1932, and
August 9th, 1935 (R. 545).

IX

That the Court erred in not finding and
decreeing that said Reservation included

10,000 acres of irrigable land susceptible of

irrigation.

X
That the Court erred in not finding and

decreeing that plaintiff reserved the right,

by setting aside and reser\dng said Walker
River Indian Reservation, on November 29,

1859, to divert water from the Walker River,

to the extent required for the irrigation of the

cultivated lands of said Reservation, up to,

but not to exceed, a total of 10,000 acres, and
that the diversion of such water be limited



20

to a flow at the rate of 1.50 cubic feet of

water per second of time for each 100 acres

of such cultivated lands from March 1st to

September 30th of each year (R. 545).

XI

That the Court erred in not holding and
decreeing that plaintiff had the present

right to divert 31.50 cubic feet of water per

second of time from the Walker River for

the irrigation of 2,100 irrigable acres of said

Walker River Indian Reservation, with a

priority of November 29, 1859, instead of

1,905.55 irrigable acres with priorities of the

years 1868, 1872, 1875, 1883, and 1886 ; and
further in not holding and decreeing that

plaintiff had the further right to divert such

additional amounts of water with a i)riority

of November 29, 1859, as may be required

from time to time, at the same rate of flow,

for the irrigation of such additional irriga-

ble lands as may in the future be placed in

cultivation up to, but not to exceed, a total

of 10,000 acres (R. 546).

In Winters v. United States, 207 U. S. 564,

affirming 143 Fed. 740, 148 Fed. 684 (C. C. A. 9),

the Supreme Court held that the creation of an

Indian reservation (in that case by agreement be-

tween the United States and the Indians, ratified

by act of Congress) impliedly reserved for the

Indians, and withheld from subsequent appropria-

tion by others, water of the streams of the reser-

vation for the irrigation of their lands.
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The reservation was a part of a very much
larger tract which the Indians had the right

to occupy and use and which was adequate

for the habits and wants of a nomadic and

uncivilized people. It was the policy of the

Government, it was the desire of the In-

dians, to change those habits and to become

a pastoral and civilized people. If they

should become such the original tract was
too extensive, but a smaller tract would be

inadequate without a change of conditions.

The lands were arid and, without irrigation,

were practically valueless. And yet, it is

contended, the means of irrigation were de-

liberately given up by the Indians and de-

liberately accepted by the Government.

(207 U. S. 564, 576.)

This contention, the court said, could not be ac-

cepted, especially in view of the rule that agree-

ments with Indians are to be construed in favor

of the Indians. The court rejected also the fur-

ther contention that the United States had repealed

the reservation of water for the Indians by the

admission into the Union of Montana, the State

in which the reservation was situated. It would be

extreme to believe, the court said, that Congress

—

took from them the means of continuing

their old habits, yet did not leave them the

power to change to new ones. (207 U. S.

564, 577.)

87002—38-
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The doctrine established by the Winters case was

thus stated by this Court in Conrad Inv. Co. v.

United States, 161 Fed. 829, 831-832

:

This court affirmed the decree [in the Win-
ters case], holding that the United States, by
treaties with the Indians on the reservation,

had impliedly reserved the waters of Milk
river for the benefit of the Indians on the res-

ervation to the extent reasonably necessary

to enable them to irrigate their lands, and

that grantees and settlers on public lands

outside of their reservation could not acquire,

under the desert land laws of the United

States or the laws of the state of Montana
relating to the appropriation of the waters

of the streams of that state, the right to di-

vert the waters of Milk river to the prejudice

of the rights of the Indians residing upon
that reservation. * * *

The law of that case is applicable to the

present case, and determines the paramomit
right of the Indians of the Blackfeet In-

dian reservation to the use of the waters

of Birch creek to the extent reasonably neces-

sary for the purposes of irrigation and stock

raising, and domestic and other useful pur-

poses. The Government has undertaken, by

agreement with the Indians on these reserva-

tions, to promote their improvement, com-

fort, and welfare, by aiding them to become

self-supporting as a peaceable and agricul-

tural people. The lands within these reser-

vations are dry and arid, and require the di-
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version of waters from the streams to make
them productive and suitable for agricul-

tural, stock raising, and domestic purposes.

What amount of water will be required for

these purposes may not be determined with

absolute accuracy at this time ; but the policy

of the Government to reserve whatever water

of Birch creek may be reasonably necessary,

not only for present uses, but for future re-

quirements, is clearly within the terms of the

treaties as construed by the Supreme Court

in the Winters Case.

The Winters and Conrad Inv. Co. cases have been

followed in United States v. Powers, 94 F. (2d)

783 CC C. A. 9, 1938) ; United States v. Parkins,

18 F. (2d) 642, 643 (D. Wyo. 1926) ; United States

V. Hihner, 27 F. (2d) 909, 911 (D. Idaho, 1928)
;

United States v. Cedarview Irrigation Co. and

United States v. Dry Gidch Irrigation Co. (Fquity

Nos. 4427 and 4418, D. Utah, 1923—unreported)
;

United States v. Orr Water 'Ditch Co. (Equity

Docket A-3, D. Nev., 1926—unreported) ; United

States V. Morrison Consol. Ditch Co. (Equity No.

7736, D. Colo., 1931—unreported) ; Andersoyi v.

Spear-Morgan Livestock Co.,1^V. (2d) 667 (Motit,

1938). And compare Skeem v. United States, 273

Fed. 93 (C. C. A. 9, 1921) ; 3Iason v. Sams, 5 F.

(2d) 255 (W. D. Wash. 1925).

The Master held that the doctrine of the Winters

case applied to the case at bar ; that the creation of

the reservation in 1859 impliedly reserved for the
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Indians waters for the irrigation of the reservation

lands. He said (R. 261-262) :

The Reservation was established for the

use of the Indians. Was it the intent that

the Reservation should consist merely of a

refuge for the Indians where they might

hunt and fish? The whites had encroached

upon the greater portion of the lands upon
which the Indians had theretofore been ac-

customed to hunt and fish. The game has

been driven off. The sustenance for the In-

dians w^as becoming more and more limited,

and if the Indians were to be supplied with

the necessaries of life in any other manner
than through the system of charitable dona-

tions, the pursuit of agriculture upon the

Reservation was an actual necessity. Fur-

thermore, if the Government did not con-

template the support of the Indians through

the pursuit of agriculture, why did it re-

serve ten thousand acres, or thereabouts, of

irrigable land lying on either side and along

the Walker River, why not have included

only Walker Lake, the fishing ground of the

Indians, and the larger area of rough coun-

try unsuitable for irrigation? That the

Government had broader views for the sus-

tenance of the Indians is evidenced by the

fact that shortly after the Reservation was
established steps were taken to promote
thereon agricultural pursuits by the con-

struction of ditches, to convey water for irri-

gation purposes. Said ditches have from
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time to time been enlarged and extended

until there are at present seventeen miles of

main canals and thirty miles of lateral

ditches constructed for the diversion of

water from Walker River and the Gov-

ernment has applied water from the river

to approximately two thousand one hundred

acres of irrigable lands.

The record is specific that the reservation was cre-

ated to reserve for the Indians sufficient of their

lands to enable them to sustain life (R. 569), and

that it was contemplated that the Indians would

support themselves partially by agriculture (R.

571, 582, 587). That the lands of the reservation

can be cultivated only if irrigated is not disputed.

The District Court held, in its first opinion, that

the creation of the Walker River Indian Reserva-

tion did not impliedly reserve water for the irriga-

tion of the reservation lands (R. 403-410). The

Winters case, it said, was based solely ujDon a

treaty or agreement with the Indians, while there

was no treaty or agreement in this case, and, in-

deed, could have been none because the Indians

and whites were at war for some time subsequent

to 1859 (R. 396). In its supplementary opinion

the District Court did not decide whether there was

an implied reservation of water for the Indians,

but said that even if there was, ''facts and circum-

stances" had placed the settlers in an "inexpugn-

able position." (R. 492.)



26

The doctrine of the Winters case, the United

States contends, is controlling here. That doctrine,

it is submitted, does not depend upon whether or

not a reservation was created pursuant to an agree-

ment with the Indians, as the District Court held

in its first opinion, but upon the principle, followed

by the Master, that when the United States sets

aside as a home for Indians lands which would be

sufficient for their support only if cultivated, and

which could be cultivated only if irrigated, it must

be inferred that the United States reserved for the

Indians water for the irrigation of the reservation

lands.

In the Winters case, it is true, the Supreme Court

emphasized that the Indians had agreed to the crea-

tion of the reservation, and that they probably

would not have so agreed unless water for irriga-

tion had been reserved for them (207 U. S. 564,

576). But the Court also expressed disbelief that

the United States would have deliberately accepted

an agreement not reserving water to the Indians

(id.), and it said, in rejecting the contention that

Congress had subsequently taken the water from

the Indians, that ''it would be extreme to believe"

that Congress "took from them the means of con-

tinuing their old habits yet did not leave them the

power to change to new ones." (201 U. S. 564 at

577.) The latter consideration, it is clear, is the

decisive one: when the United States fixes as a

permanent home for Indians lands which will sup-
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port them only if irrigated, it must be presumed

that water for irrigation is reserved for the In-

dians, regardless of what particular procedure was

followed in creating the reservation.

The lands being arid, the need of water is

manifest, and so it must be considered that

it was likewise designed that the Indians

should have and enjoy the use of water in

available streams wherever their needs might

require. {United States v. Conrad Inv. Co.,

sHpra,156Fed. 123, 129.)^

That the doctrine of implied reservation of

waters for Indians rests upon a presumption of

recognition of and provision for their needs by the

United States, and is not dependent upon a treaty

or agreement with the Indians, is conclusively

shown by the decision of the Supreme Court in

Alaska Pacific Fisheries v. United States, 248 U. S.

78. That was a suit by the United States to enjoin

the defendant from maintaining a large fish trap

in navigable waters adjacent to the Annette Islands

in Alaska. The United States had by act of Con-

gress set apart "the body of lands known as An-

nette Islands" as a reservation for the use of the

^ The Court added : "Manifestly, the Indians cannot be

expected to acquire water rights to any considerable extent

through prior appropriation, because they are not far

enough advanced in the art of agriculture to reduce the

water to a continuous use, and the water of the public

streams that they shall finally need depends largely upon
their progress in this art."
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involved, and the Indians had no claim to the

Islands, they having but recently immigrated from

Canada. The question presented was whether the

reservation was limited to the Islands proper, as

the defendant contended, or whether it included

the waters adjacent to the Islands, so as to confer

upon the Indians exclusive fishing rights in those

waters. The act was silent in this respect. The

Supreme Court held for the United States. The

question, it said, was to be determined in view of

"the power of Congress in the premises, the loca-

tion and character of the islands, the situation and

needs of the Indians, and the object to be attained.''

(P. 87.) The opinion continues (pp. 87-89) :

That Congress had power to make the res-

ervation inclusive of the adjacent waters

and submerged land as well as the upland

needs little more than statement. * * *

The reservation was not in the nature of a

private grant, but simply a setting apart,

"until otherwise provided by law," of des-

ignated public property for a recognized

public purpose—that of safe-guarding and
advancing a dependent Indian people dwell-

ing within the United States. * * *

The purpose of creating the reservation

was to encourage, assist, and protect the In-

dians in their effort to train themselves to

habits of industry, become self-sustain-

ing and advance to the ways of civilized

life. * * *
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The circumstances which we have recited

shed much light on what Congress intended

by ''the body of lands known as Annette

Islands." The Indians could not sustain

themselves from the use of the upland alone.

The use of the adjacent fishing grounds was
equally essential. Without this the colony

could not prosper in that location. The In-

dians naturally looked on the fishing grounds

as part of the islands and proceeded on that

theory in soliciting the reservation. They
had done much for themselves and were

striving to do more. Evidently Congress in-

tended to conform its action to their situa-

tion and needs. * * ^

This conclusion has support in the gen-

eral rule that statutes passed for the bene-

fit of dependent Indian tribes or comnuuii-

ties are to be liberally construed, doubtful

expressions being resolved in favor of the

Indians.

The doctrine of the Winters case was applied,

although the reservations involved were created by

federal executive action, and not by or pursuant to

any agreement with the Indians, in United States

V. Cedarview Irrigation Co., United States v. Dry
Gulch Irrigation Co. (Equity Nos. 4427 and 4418, D.

Utah, 1923—unreported) ; and in United States v.

Orr Water Bitch Co. (Equity Docket A-3, D. Nev.,

1926—unreported). The Orr Water Bitch Co. case

was decided by the same court which decided the

present case, and it involved the Pyramid Lake
87002—38 5
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Indian Reservation, which, it will be remembered

(see supra, p. 7), was created at tHe same time and

by the same order as the Walker River Indian Res-

ervation. The restraining order in that case, signed

by Judge Farrington, which is still in effect,

recites

:

By order of the Commissioner of the Gen-

eral Land Office made on December 8, 1859,

the lands comprising the Pyramid Lake In-

dian Reservation were withdrawn from the

public domain for use and benefit of the

Indians and this withdrawal was confirmed

by order of the President on March 23, 1874.

Thereby and by implication and by relation

as of the date of December 8, 1859, a reason-

able amount of the water of the Truckee

River, which belonged to the United States

under the cession of territory by Mexico in

1848, and which was the only water available

for the irrigation of these lands, became re-

served for the needs of the Indians on the

reservation.

Neither the courts nor the administrative officers

of the United States have made any distinction

between reservations created by executive action

and reservations established by treaty, either as to

the duties of the United States toward the Indians

or as to the character or extent of the Indian rights.

In Spalding v. Chandler, 160 U. S. 394, the court

said (pp. 402-403) :

When Indian reservations were created,

either by treaty or executive order, the In-
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dians held the land by the same character

of title, to wit, the right to possess and

occupy the lands for the uses and purposes

designated.

In M'Fadden v. Mountcuin View Min. dt Mill. Co.,

97 Fed. 670 (reversed on other grounds, 180 U. S.

533), this court said (p. 673) :

On the 9th day of April 1872, an execu-

tive order was issued by President Grant,

by which was set apart as a reservation

for certain specified Indians [certain lands]

* * * The effect of that executive ordei

was the same as would have been a treaty

with the Indians for the same purpose,

and was to exclude all intrusion upon the

territory thus reserved by any and every

person, other than the Indians for whose

benefit the reservation was made, for min-

ing as well as other purposes.

Similarly, in Gibson v. Anderson, 131 Fed. 39, this

court, after quoting from the M'Fadden case, said

(p. 42) :

There can be no doubt that such a reserva-

tion [executive order] stands upon the same

plane as a reservation made by treaty or act

of Congress.

In 34 Op. Atty. Gen. 171, Attorney General (now

Mr. Justice) Stone, in giving it as his opinion that

the oil and gas leasing act applied to executive

order reservations, said (p. 181) :

The important matter here, however, is that

neither the courts nor Congress have made
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any distinction as to the character or extent

of the Indian rights, as between executive

order reservations and reservations estab-

lished by treaty or act of Congress.

Indeed, it is difficult to see upon what theory the

circumstance whether a reservation was created

pursuant to an agreement with the Indians, or

solely upon the initiative of the United States, can

be regarded as decisive of whether water was im-

pliedly reserved for the Indians. It is not to be

thought in the one case any more than in the other

that the United States meant to deprive the In-

dians of all possibility even of sustaining them-

selves by agriculture. It cannot be doubted that

the United States had power to create the reserva-

tion and assign the Indians to it regardless of their

consent. See Lone Wolf v. Hitchcock, 187 U. S.

553, 565.^

Whether Indian reservations have been created

pursuant to agreements with the Indians or by

decision of the United States alone appears to have

been largely a matter of chance. For example,

while the reservation involved in the Winters case

* The District Court apparently thought that the reserva-

tion was created, not only without a formal agreement be-

tween the United States and the Indians, but against the

will of the latter (R. 396-398). It appears from the rec-

ord, however, that the reservation was set aside for the pro-

tection of the Indians and in order to placate them (R.

569-570, 575, 585-586). It seems probable, therefore, that

the creation of the reservation had at least the tacit consent

of the Indians.
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dians, the larger reservation out of which it had

been carved had been created by act of Congress

without any agreement with the Indians. See 207

U. S. 564, 567; Act of April 15, 1874, 18 Stat. 28.

To decide the water rights of the Indians according

to this fortuitous circumstance would be palpably

imjust.

II

The United States is not barred from the relief it seeks

by laches, estoppel, or any other principle of equity.

This argument is directed to the following assign-

ments of error

:

III

The Court erred in making and adopting

that portion of finding No. V, finding that

it has not been shown that there is the neces-

sity or demand by the Indians for the culti-

vation" of a larger area of land than 2,100

acres (R. 542).

IV

The Court erred in finding:

That plaintiff failed to make objection

to appropriations of water by white set-

tlers (defendants) and to their construc-

tion of expensive irrigation works (find-

ing VI)

;

That plaintiff took no proceedings to

determine or preserve its rights as

against upstream white settlers until the

commencement of this suit (finding

VI);
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That plaintiff failed to become a

party to a former suit to determine the

relative rights of the stream, com-

menced in 1904 and determined in 1919,

although plaintiff was invited to file its

pleadings therein (finding VI)
;

That plaintiff, as late as 1910, relied

upon the Doctrine of Appropriation for

its rights (finding VI)
;

That Congress authorized a recon-

naissance to determine cost and feasi-

bility of a reservoir site for said Indian

Reservation (finding VI)
;

That the Supervising Engineer rec-

ommended to the Government that a stor-

age Reservoir be created for the Indian

lands of said Walker River Indian Res-

ervation b}^ construction of a dam site

and that the irrigation system thereof

be extended to cover the entire irrigable

area of the Reservation (finding VI)
;

That it was found by Special Master

Henry Thurtell, in a former suit to

which the United States was not a party,

that the United States of America had
appropriated from the Walker River

and applied to beneficial use upon the

lands of said Reservation for the use of

the Indians the quantities of water in

cubic feet per second with dates of pri-

ority and the number of acres irrigated

thereby, set forth in finding VI and in

the decree

;

That at the time of the commence-
ment of this suit the annual crop pro-
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duction of lands irrigated by white set-

tlers was of the value upwards of

$2,000,000 (finding- IX)
;

That the assessed valuation of the

lands within the boundaries of defend-

ant, Walker River Irrigation District,

is approximately $4,000,000 (finding

IX);
That the population of said defend-

ant District is approximately 3,000 and

that of Bridgeport and Antelope Valleys

in California is approximately 600 (find-

ing IX)
;

and the Court further erred in concluding

and decreeing from said findings that plain-

tiff was barred and estopped from claim-

ing and being decreed a right to divert and

use water of said stream system for the irri-

gation of the irrigable lands of said Indian

Reservation to the extent required each year

for the irrigation of such of said lands as

may then be in cultivation, up to, but not to

exceed, a total of 10,000 acres with a priority

as of November 29, 1859 (R. 542-544).

V

That the Court erred in making its con-

clusion of law that even if a reservation of

water may be implied by setting aside the

Walker River Indian Reservation, on No-
vember 29, 1859, yet the facts and circum-

stances shown in evidence impel the conclu-

sion that the interests of the white settlers



(defendants herein), enjoyed without chal-

lenge for more than fifty years, should not

be disturbed (R. 544).

The defendants, in their answers, contended that

even if the United States did, by the creation of

the reservation in 1859, impliedly reserve water of

the Walker River for the Indians, the United

States is now estopped from claiming any water for

the Indians other than under the doctrine of appro-

priation, by reason of certain facts alleged in the

answers (R. 93-96, 119-122, 137-138, 159-160, 190-

193, 197-199, 208-211, 227-228).' Some of the de-

fendants contended also that the United States has

been guilty of laches (R. 138, 160, 228).

The Master expressed the view that the United

States is not estopped to assert the implied reser-

vation, but that "equitable principles" limit its

rights to water for the acreage now under irriga-

tion on the reservation (R. 273-275).

The District Court, in its first opinion, held that

the creation of the reservation did not impliedly

reserve water for the Indians, and that the water

rights of the United States were therefore to be

adjudged in accordance with the laws of appropria-

tion as established by Nevada (R. 410). Although

that opinion states at some length the facts cited by

the defendants as estopping the United States, it

^ The allegations tliiis relied upon are summarized, supra^

p. 5. The evidence bearing upon these allegations is sum-
marized, supra^ pp. 10-11.
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does not rely upon them other than by the asser-

tion that (R. 403)

:

All of such actions and circumstances

above related, when considered with the

''silent acquiescence" of the government to

the diversion of water by the white settlers,

amount to an administrative construction of

the local laws then in force and ''should be

respected and not overruled except for co-

gent reasons." [Citing cases]/''

In its supplementary opinion (R. 492^93), how-

ever, and in its conclusions of law (R. 515)" the

District Court held that under the "facts and cir-

cumstances" the water rights of the defendants

were invulnerable to attack by the United States,

regardless of whether water was impliedly reserved

for the Indians by the creation of the reservation

in 1859. The "facts and circumstances" stated by

the Court deal largely with the length of time the

defendants exercised their claimed water rights

without challenge by the United States.

It is the contention of the United States that,

under the facts and circumstances of this case, it

is not barred from the relief it seeks, either in whole

or in part, by laches, estoppel, or any other recog-

nized principle of equity.

" The only "'local laws'' even remotely involved in this

case are the Nevada laws dealing with appropriation. But
neither the United States nor the defendants have raised

any issue as to the construction of those laws.

^^ The supplementary opinion and conclusions of law of

the District Court are fully stated, supra, pp. 13-15.
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1. Laches

No principle is more firmly established than that

the United States cannot, in a suit to assert a pub-

lic interest, be barred by laches. As long ago as

1824 Justice Story, in United States v. Kirkpat-

rick, 9 Wheat. 720, 735, said:

The general principle is, that laches is not

imputable to the government; and this

maxim is founded, not in the notion of ex-

traordinary prerogative, but upon a great

public pohcy. The government can transact

its business only through its agents ; and its

fiscal operations are so various, and its agen-

cies so numerous and scattered, that the ut-

most vigilance would not save the public

from the most serious losses, if the doctrine

of laches can be applied to its transactions.

In United States v. Beehe, 127 U. S. 338, 344, the

Supreme Court said:

The principle that the United States are

not bound by any statute of limitations, nor

barred by any laches of their officers, how-

ever gross, in a suit brought by them as a

sovereign Government to enforce a public

right, or to assert a public interest, is estab-

lished i)ast all controversy or doubt.

The Supreme Court used very similar language,

quoted infra, pp. 41-43, in Utah Power & Light Co.

V. United States, 243 U. S. 389, 409, a suit by the

United States to enjoin an illegal use of certain of

its public lands. That laches is, generally speak-
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ing, no defense to a suit by the United States to

enforce a public right, see also United States v.

Nashville dc. Ry. Co., 118 U. S. 120, 125; United

States V. Insley, 130 IT. S. 263, 266; Steele v

United States, 113 U. S. 128, 134; United States v

Dalles Military Road Co., 140 U. S. 599, 632

United States v. Michigan, 190 U. S. 379, 405

United States v. Vanzandt, 11 Wheat. 184, 187;

Gaussen v. United States, 97 U. S. 584, 590 ; Lind-

sey V. Miller, 6 Peters QQQ, 672 ; Gibson v. Chouteau,

13 Wall. 92, 99; United States v. Standard Oil

Company of California, 20 F. Supp. 427, 454 (S. D.

Calif.).

If there is any exception to the principle that

the United States cannot be barred by laches, it

is limited to commercial transactions of the United

States. See Cooke v. United States, 91 U. S. 389,

398 ; United States v. Bank of the Metropolis, 15

Peters 377, 392 ; United States v. Barker, 12 Wheat.

559, 561. "Laches is not imputable to the govern-

ment, in its character as sovereign, by those sub-

ject to its dominion." Cooke v. United States,

supra, at 398. That the present suit is brought

by the United States in its sovereign character is

clear. See United States v. Minnesota, 270 U. S.

181, 194.

2. Estoppel

The Supreme Court, it is believed, has never held

the United States estopped, despite the vast num-

ber of cases in which that contention has been
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urged/' On the other hand, the Supreme Court has

not declared that the United States can never be

estopped. See Utah Power & Light Co. v. United

States, 243 U. S. 389, 408-409 ; Wither Nat. Bank v.

United States, 294 U. S. 120, 123-124. But regard-

less of whether estoppel can, under any circum-

stances, operate against the United States, the pres-

ent case is largely disposed of by the numerous

holdings of the Supreme Court that the United

States cannot be estopped by unauthorized acts of

its agents. Utah Potver & Light Co. v. United

States, 243 U. S. 389, and Cramer v. United States,.

261 U. S. 219, are cases especially analogous to the

present case.

Utah Power d Light Co. v. United States, supra,

was a suit by the United States to enjoin power

companies from using certain lands of the United

States for works for the geiieration and distribu-

tion of electric power, and to recover compensation

for past use. The power companies contended that

certain statutes authorized their use of the lands.

This contention was resolved against them by the

court. The companies further contended that the

United States was barred from challenging their

^^ Of the cases examined, that most closely resembling a

holding of estoppel against the United States, although it

does not use that term, and although the United States

was not a party to the suit, is Lindsey v. Hawes^ 2 Black.

554, 560. In Railroad Co. v. Schurmeir, 7 Wall. 272, 289,

however, that case was referred to as resting upon a con-

struction of acts of Congress.
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right to use the lands for their works : Government

officials had not only "silently acquiesced" in the

expenditure of huge sums for the power works on

Govermnent lands, but had entered into agreements

consenting to the construction and operation of the

works. Rejecting this contention, the court said

(pp. 408-409) :

In their answers some of the defendants

assert that when the forest reservations

were created an understanding and agree-

ment was had between the defendants, or

their predecessors, and some unmentioned

officers or agents of the United States to the

effect that the reservations would not be an
obstacle to the construction or operation of

the works in question ; that all rights essen-

tial thereto would be allowed and granted

under the Act of 1905 ; that consistently with

this understanding and agreement and rely-

ing thereon the defendants, or their prede-

cessors, completed the works and proceeded

with the generation and distribution of elec-

tric energy, and that in consequence the

United States is estopped to question the

right of the defendants to maintain and op-

erate the works. Of this it is enough to say

that the United States is neither bound nor

estopped by acts of its officers or agents in

entering into an arrangement or agreement
to do or cause to be done what the law does

not sanction or permit. Lee v. Miinroe, 7

Cranch 366 ; Filor v. United States, 9 Wall.

45, 49; Hart v. United States, 95 U. S. 316;
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Pine River Logging Co. v. United States,

186 U. S. 279, 291.

As presenting another ground of estoppel

it is said that the agents in the forestry

service and other officers and employees of

the Government, with knowledge of what the

defendants were doing, not only did not ob-

ject thereto but impliedly acquiesced there-

in until after the works were completed and
put in operation. This ground also must
fail. As a general rule laches or neglect of

duty on the part of officers of the Govern-

ment is no defense to a suit by it to enforce

a public right or protect a public interest.

United States v. Kirkpatrick, 9 Wheat. 720,

735 ; Steele v. United States, 113 U. S. 128,

134; United States v. Beehe, 127 U. S. 338,

344; United States v. Insley, 130 U. S. 263,

265-266; United States v. Dalles Military

Road Co., 140 U. S. 599, 632 ; United States v.

Michigan, 190 U. S. 379, 405 ; State ex rel.

Lott V. Brewer, 64 Alabama 287, 298; State

V. Brotvn, 67 Illinois 435, 438; Den v. Luns-

ford, 20 N. Car. 407 ; Humphrey v. Queen, 2

Can. Exch. 386, 390; Queen v. Black, 6 Can.

Exch. 236, 253. And, if it be assumed that

the rule is subject to exceptions, we find

nothing in the cases in hand which fairly

can be said to take them out of it as hereto-

fore understood and applied in this court.

A suit by the United States to enforce and
maintain its policy respecting lands which it

holds in trust for all the people stands upon

a different plane in this and some other re-
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spects from the ordinary private suit to re-

gain the title to real property or to remove

a cloud from it. Causey v. United States,

240 U. S. 399, 402.

Cramer v. United States, supra, was a suit by

the United States to establish the title of individ-

ual Indians to certain lands. The defendant con-

tended that the United States was estopped to

claim the lands for the Indians because officials

of the United States had in the past leased the

lands from the defendant for the Indians (276

Fed. 78). As to this, the Supreme Court said

(261 U. S. 219, 234) :

Neither is the Government estopped from
maintaining this suit by reason of any act

or declaration of its officers or agents.

Since these Indians with the implied con-

sent of the Government had acquired such

rights of occupancy as entitled them to re-

tain possession as against the defendants,

no officer or agent of the Government had

authority to deal with the land upon any
other theory. The acceptance of leases for

the land from the defendant company by

agents of the Government was, under the

circumstances, unauthorized and could not

bind the Government; much less could it

deprive the Indians of their rights.

The Cramer case is authority not only that the

United States cannot be estopped by unauthorized

acts of its agents but, what is obvious, that its agents

are not, generally speaking, authorized to affect
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the title of Indians to property the United States

has set aside for them. Additional authority to

the same effect, upon both propositions, is afforded

by United States v. Morrison, 203 Fed. 364 (C. C.

Colo.), and by United States v. Conrad Inv. Co.,

156 Fed. 123 (C. C. Mont.), aff'd, 161 Fed. 829

(C. C. A. 9).

United States v. Morrison, supra, was a suit by

the United States to enjoin an individual, who had

purchased land in a former Indian reservation

from the United States, from appropriating water

for the irrigation of his land from an irrigation

ditch which the United States had constructed for

the benefit of Indian allottees. One of the defenses

was "that the agent in charge of the Indians gave

his consent, and that of the government, to the di-

version of the water * * *." Rejecting this

contention, the court said (203 Fed. 364, 365)

:

However the fact may be on that point,

it must be said that the government was not

bound by anything said or done by the agent

in its behalf.

United States v. Conrad Inv. Co., supra, was,

like Winders v. United States, supra, a suit by the

United States to enjoin the diversion, from a

stream which constituted one boundary of an In-

dian reservation, of water needed for the domestic

and irrigational needs of the reservation. The de-

fendant contended in the District Court that the

United States was estopped to challenge the de-
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fendant 's diversion of water, first because the Sec-

retary of the Interior had approved the location of

the defendant's canal (which traversed public

lands), the plans of which revealed that the diver-

sion now challenged would be made, and, second,

because the defendant "having expended large

sums of money in the construction of its canal,

reservoir, and laterals, and many persons having

settled in proximity thereto with a view to acquir-

ing the use of water therefrom for irrigation and

other purposes, the government ought not now to

be heard to deny the rights which it encouraged

the parties concerned to acquire at large expense."

The Circuit Court rejected entirely the contention

of estoppel. The Secretary's approval of the plan

of the canal was, it held, merely a permit to cross

the public lands, and not a permit to take waters.

He has no power or authority to dispose of

any of the waters of the public streams to

private parties, nor can he bind the hands

of the government by any acts of his looking

to such a disposal. (156 Fed. 123, 131.)

The opinion continues (p. 132) :

Nor is the government estopped by the

further circumstance of settlers acquiring

rights in the project for irrigation purposes.

The settlers must necessarily take with full

knowledge of the law, and all they can ob-

tain in that relation as agamst the govern-

ment is what the laws of Congress have given

them the right to acquire.
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The issue of estoppel was apparently not raised in

this Court. See 161 Fed. 829.^^

Many of the ^' facts and circumstances" (sum-

marized supra, pp. 5, 10-11) relied upon by the Dis-

trict Court in the case at bar as estopping the

United States are strikingly like the facts which, in

the cases just discussed, were held to be ineffectual

to estop the United States. The Utah Power &
Light Co. and Morrison cases are conclusive that

the United States would not be estopped even if

federal officials had affirmatively represented to the

defendants that the waters of Walker River were

open to appropriation, and the defendants, on the

faith of these representations, had constructed

their irrigation works. Plainly the United States

is no more estopped by the mere silence of its

agents. United States v. Conrad Inv. Co., supra,

156 Fed. 123. And the application by the superin-

tendent of the reservation to the State of Nevada

for a permit to appropriate water, if it be regarded

as an admission that there was no right to water

without a permit, was, under the decision in the

" That the Government is not estopped by the mistaken

assertion of facts or by the unauthorized acts of its agents,

see, in addition to the cases cited in the quotation from Utah

Power (& Light Co. v. United States, supra, pp. 41^3,

the following: Lee WiJso7i <£ Co. v. United States, 245 U. S.

24, 31; Jeems Bayou Club v. United States, 260 U. S. 561,

564 ; Utah v. United States, 284 U. S. 534, 545 ; Wilher Nat.

Bank V. United States, 294 U. S. 120, 123; Whiteside v.

United States, 93 U. S. 247, 257.
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Cramer case, wholly unauthorized, and so could

not bind the United States or the Indians.

Furthermore, the United States would not be

estopped in this case even under the principles of

estoppel which apply between individuals. In

United States v. Standard Oil Company of Cali-

fornia, 20 F. Supp. 427 (S. D. CaUf.), Judge Yank-

wich, in an elaborate opinion, recently said (p.

452) :

While acquiescence, delay (through lapse

of time, limitations, or laches), or nonaction

do not estop the government, the doctrine of

estoppel may be asserted successfully against

it when it or its agents, acting within the

scope of their authority, have been guilty of

acts which amount to fraud and which were

acted on in good faith by others to their

detriment.

As pointed out supra, there is no Supreme Court

authority that the United States can ever be es-

topped. Assuming, however, that Judge Yank-

wich's statement of the law is correct, and assuming

further, what has been shown not to be the case

here, that the acts relied upon as estopping the

United States were within the authority of its

agents, jQi the estoppel must fail for want of ele-

ments essential to an estoppel between individuals.

The opinion of Judge Yankwich, quoted above,

continues (p. 452) :

All the conditions under which estoppel

arises between individuals, i. e., (1) false

representations or concealment of material
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facts, (2) made with knowledge to (3) a per-

son without knowledge or means of knowl-

edge, (4) with intention that they be acted

upon, and (5) action thereon to one's preju-

dice * * *^ or conditions tantamount to

fraud actually acted upon * * *, must

coexist when estoppel is invoked against the

government.

In Brant v. Virginia Coal <& Iron Co., 93 U. S.

326, the Supreme Court, speaking through Mr. Jus-

tice Field, similarly defined the elements of estop-

pel. It said (pp. 335-336) :

For the application of that doctrine

[equitable estoppel] there must generally

be some intended deception in the conduct or

declarations of the party to be estopped, or

such gross negligence on his part as to

amount to constructive fraud, by which an-

other has been misled to his injury. "In all

this class of cases," says Story, "the doc-

trine proceeds upon the ground of construc-

tive fraud or of gross negligence, which in

effect implies fraud. And, therefore, when
the circumstances of the case repel any such

inference, although there may be some de-

gree of negligence, yet courts of equity will

not grant relief. It has been accordingly

laid down by a very learned judge that the

cases on this subject go to this result only,

that there must be positive fraud or con-

cealment, or negligence so gross as to amount

to constructive fraud." 1 Story's Eq. 391.

To the same purport is the language of the

adjudged cases.
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3Iorris v. Bean, 146 Fed. 423 (C. C. Mont. 1906),

aff'd. 221 U. S. 485, is also applicable. The plain-

tiff in that case, as here, owned lands on the lower

part of a stream, and sought to enjoin diversions

upstream. Defendants set up estoppel, laches, and

other defenses. In holding for the plaintiff the

-circuit court said (pp. 434—435)

:

It is safe to say that few cases of this char-

acter have been tried where the defense of

estoppel has not been interposed with result

uniformly unsuccessful. The estoppel ar-

gued for here is that the parties now seeking

to assert their rights ought not be allowed

to do so, because they knew the defendants

were building up their improvements, and
relying upon the use of the water to main-

tain them. An all-sufficient answer to this

is that the defendants knew also that the

complainant and intervener w^ere relying

upon the same water to maintain their im-

provements already made, and to carry on

their farming operations already begun.

Under this view of it, the one side is as

much estopped as the other.

What is it that the appropriators in Wyo-
ming have concealed which has misled the de-

fendants to their i^rejudice? An estoppel

of this character is based upon fraud—the

inequity of asserting a right after having by
silence misled a party by concealing facts

which were unknown to him. Here they

were equally know^n to both parties, hence

the case does not present elements upon
which an estoppel can be founded * * *.
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There is no principle of estoppel which can

aid the defendants, nor can they invoke the

doctrine of laches.

The application of these well established princi-

ples to the ''facts and circumstances" relied upon

in the instant case leads inevitably to the conclu-

sion that this case is not within any recognized doc-

trine of estoppel.

Many of the facts upon which the defendants

posit estoppel have to do with the delay of the

United States in bringing suit. Others deal with

the "acquiescence" of the United States while the

defendants appropriated water and expended large

sums in the construction of irrigation vv^orks in re-

liance upon their water rights. "No estoppel

arises from mere delay, acquiescence, or nonaction,

even if it results in inducing expenditures."

United States v. Standard Oil Company of Cali-

fornia, 20 F. Supp. 427, 454. Accord: City of

Mobile V. Sullivan Timber Co., 129 Fed. 298

(CCA. 5).

The facts relied upon, other than those falling

within the categories of delay and acquiescence,

may be classified as (1) sale of lands to the defend-

ants, (2) application by the superintendent of the

reservation for a permit to appropriate water, and

(3) the recommendation that a dam be built for

the reservation. None of these facts, it is submit-

ted, show the "intended deception" or "such gross

negligence on his part as to amount to constructive

fraud, by which another has been misled to his in-
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jury," wliicli is an essential ingredient of laches

(Brant \. Virginia Coal d: Iron Co., supra, 93 U. S.

326, 335).

(1) The District Court foimd that the govern-

ment officials knew (R. 398), and the Master found

that they knew or should have knowTi (R. 270),

when they sold lands in the Walker River basin to

the defendants or their predecessors, that the lands

were valueless unless irrigated, and that they could

be irrigated only from the Walker River. The

Master further found (R. 271) that

—

On the other hand, it was quite patent to

the white settlers that the reservation had
been set aside, that several hundred Indians

were living thereon, and that the govern-

ment was gradually bringing the lands of

the reservation under cultivation for the use

of the Indians by use of water diverted

from Walker River.

These facts do not bar the United States from

asserting the rights of the Indians in the water of

Walker River. Xo estoppel can arise where the

means of knowledge are available to both sides.

United States v. Standard Oil Company of Cali-

fornia, supra; Brant v. Virginia Coal d; Iron Co.,

sup^a; Morris v. Bean, supra; Commercial Inv.

Trust V. Bay City Bank, 62 F. (2d) 735, 736

(C. C. A. 6, 1933) ; Lancashire Shipping Co. v. Elt-

ing, 70 F. (2d) 699, 701 (C. C. A. 2, 1934). Fur-

thermore, it is absurd, in view of the inunense



52

extent of the public domain and of the nominal

prices at which it was sold, to indulge the fiction

that the United States knew that a particular tract

was arid, and could be irrigated only from a par-

ticular stream/* It was for the settlers to deter-

mine whether the land they chose was suitable for

their needs.

(2) In 1910 the superintendent of the reserva-

tion filed in the office of the State Engineer of

I^evada an application, on behalf of the Indians of

the reservation, to appropriate certain quantities

of the water of Walker River (R. 822). A permit

was granted (R. 823), but was cancelled in 1921 for

failure "to comply with conditions of permit" (R.

824). The Master (R. 403) and the District Court

in its findings of fact (R. 498) referred to this as

reliance by the United States upon the doctrine of

appropriation. If the application is to be re-

garded as an admission that the Indians had no

water rights, it was, as has been shown, wholly

beyond the authority of the superintendent, and so

could not bind the United States or the Indians.

See supra, pp. 43-44, 46-47 ; also R. 966-967. But,

in any event, there is no suggestion that the defend-

ants relied upon the application or even knew of it.

^* "But, as this court has said, the government in dispos-

ing of its public lands does not assume the attitude of a

mere seller of real estate at its market value." Causey v.

United States, 240 U. S. 399, 402. See also United States

V. Standard Oil Company of California, 20 F. Supp. 427,

453.
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(3) In 1926 Congress appropriated money for a

reconnaissance to determine to what extent the

water supply of Walker River might be augmented,

the feasibility of reservoir sites, the costs of rights-

of-way, etc. (Act of June 30, 1926, 44 Stat. 779).

A report was made to the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs by a supervising engineer recommending,

among other things

—

That a storage reservoir be created for the

Indian land of Walker River Indian Reser-

vation by the construction of a dam at the

Rio Vista site, and that the irrigation sys-

tem be extended to cover the entire irrigable

area of the reservation. (R. 499.)

There is nothing in the record indicating that the

report has ever been approved by the Indian Bu-

reau, by the Secretary of the Interior, or by Con-

gress. However, from the report the District

Court concluded (R. 402) that "The Government's

water problem at the reservation might be solved by

accepting and acting upon the recommendations of

its engineers." Whether the water problem of the

United States ''might be solved" by the building

of a reservoir was not for the District Court to de-

cide, but for Congress to consider, and its action or

nonaction is no basis for an estoppel. A similar

contention was rejected in United States v. Conrad

Inv. Co., supra, 156 Fed. 123. The opinion of the

Circuit Court reads (p. 131) :

It is argued by counsel for defendant that

water can be brought over from Badger
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creek, a stream located 13 or 14 miles north

of Birch creek, for irrigation of all the

Birch creek lands. This, however, is a proj-

ect of doubtful utility ; but conceding that it

could be successfully carried out, the gov-

ernment is not required to do so, when the

waters of the latter stream are much more
available, and are as much subject to use

upon the reservation as those of Badger
creek. The suggestion is clearly one of ex-

pediency, of which the Interior Department

ought to be the sole judge, as it is a matter

for its initiative, acting in its administrative

capacity, in determining the occasion and
the needs of the government pertaining to

the waters flowing m the stream along and
upon the reservation.

Finally, the instant case has a special aspect

which would in any event prevent the operation of

an estoppel. It is hornbook law that the relation-

ship between the Government and Indians is that

of guardian and ward. United States v. Kagama,

118 U. S. 375, 382-384 ; Cramer v. United States,

261 U. S. 219, 232; U7iited States v. Payne, 264

U. S. 446, 448. A ward is not estopped by the acts

of its guardian. Telegraph Co. v. Davenport, 97

U. S. 369, 373; Harmon v. Smith, 38 Fed. 482, 486

(C. C. Minn.). In Hammons v. National Surety

Co,, 36 Ariz. 459, 469; 287 Pac. 292, 295, the court

said:

We are of the opinion that a guardian

cannot on behalf of his ward waive any sub-



55

stantive right of the ward or by his conduct

estop the ward from recovering what is due

the latter.

This rule has received wide application in state

jurisdictions/^ Especially pertinent here is Sham^

leffer v. Peerless Mill Company, 18 Kan. 24, hold-

ing that the conduct of a guardian in permitting

a lower riparian owner to divert water from a

stream did not estop the ward from asserting her

right to the flow of the entire stream in its natural

channel. The court said (p. 32) :

There is no pretense that she [the ward]
knew anything of the work, or any claim

that her conduct worked any estoppel, if in-

deed the knowledge and silence of an infant

can ever be construed into an estoppel. And
as to the knowledge and silence of her execu-

tor and guardian, that certainly can work no

estoppel as against her.

Thus, even if the facts of this case otherwise

satisfied the requirements for an estoppel, there

could still be no estoppel because of the wardship

status of the Indians.

15 In Levant State Bank v. Shults, 142 Kan. 318, 47 P.

(2d) 80, 82, it was said: "No default or silence of his [the

guardian] can be used to bar them [the wards] of their

rights/' Accord : Headley v. Hooperigarner^ 60 W. Va. 626,

55 S. E. 744, 751; Reynolds v. Garber-Buich Co., 183 Mich.

157, 149 N. W. 985, 988 ; Burnham v. Porter, 24 N. H. 570,

580; Draper v. Clayton, 87 Neb. 443, 127 N. W. 369, 372.
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3. Equitable rules

As we have seen, the Master expressed the view

that, although the United States was not estopped

to assert the impHed reservation of water for the

Indians in 1859, it would be inequitable to allocate

to the United States water for the irrigation of

any land in excess of 2,100 acres, the amount of

land already under irrigation, since the Indians did

not desire the irrigation of additional lands (R.

275). The Master accordingly recommended that

the United States be given a right to 26.25 cubic

feet of water per second, for the irrigation of 2,100

acres of land of the reservation, with a priority of

November 29, 1859 (R. 310-311).

It is, of course, true that the United States is,

generally speaking, subject, as a suitor, to the prin-

ciples of equity. See Brent v. Bank of Washing-

ton, 10 Peters 569, 614. This rule is, however, sub-

ject to exceptions. Laches and estoppel, both doc-

trines of equity, apply to the United States only

to a limited extent, if at all. Nor does the rule

mean, as the Master apparently thought, that the

legal rights of the United States are to be deter-

mined upon general notions of fairness ; the United

States is subject to principles of equity as is an or-

dinary litigant, but cases are not to be decided

against it upon amorphous concepts of justice with-

out regard to precedent or established principles.

Nor will equitable principles be applied against

the United States ''to frustrate the purpose of its
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laws or to thwart public policy." Pan American

Co. V. United States, 273 U. S. 456, 506/*' See also

Causey v. United States, 240 U. S. 399, 402 ; Heck-

man V. United States, 224 U. S. 413, 446-447.

When the Walker River Indian Reservation was

created there was impliedly reserved for the In-

dians w^ater sufficient for the irrigation of all of

the irrigable lands of the reservation. No princi-

ple of equity would justify permanently depriving

the Indians of all of the water reserved for them in

excess of the amount they are now using. And if

there were any such principle it would, so applied,

plainly "frustrate the purpose" of the laws of the

United States and would "thwart public policy."

In United States v. Conrad Inv, Co., supra, 156

Fed. 123 (aff'd by this Court, 161 Fed. 829), the

Circuit Court observed that the Government, as

guardian of the Indians, had a most important

trust to perform.

* * * that is, so to conserve the waters

of such streams as traverse or border the

reserve as to supply the Indians fully in

their probable, or, I may say, even possible

future needs, when they have ultimately se-

cured their allotments in severalty. What

^*^ In that case the Supreme Court held that the United

States need not, in a suit to cancel contracts for fraud, tender

compensation to the defendant for services accepted by the

United States under the contract. Similarly in Heckma7i v.

United /States, 224 U. S. 413, that court held that the United

States need not, in a suit to set aside sales of restricted In-

dian lands, tender back the purchase prices.
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these needs will be cannot be definitely de-

termined. For the present, the matter is

administrative in its detail. These Indians

are now but the wards of the government.

As it pertains to the lands which the gov-

ernment is holding in trust for them, it is

administering them for their proper use and
benefit, and in its administrative capacity it

ought to be the judge of what amount of the

waters of the streams adjacent to the reser-

vation is or will eventually be essential for

the needs of the Indians for use in connec-

tion with their lands. (P. 129.)

The evidence in that case disclosed that some eight

or ten thousand acres of land of the reservation

were irrigable, but that only a small part of that

acreage was irrigated by the Indians. The Circuit

Court, accordingly, allowed a certain quantity of

water based upon the present needs of the Indians,

and concluded (p. 132)

:

* * * the government will have leave to

apply for a modification of this decree at any
time that it may determine that its needs

will be in excess of the amount of water so

designated.

The decree of the trial court was affirmed by this

Court (Conrad Inv. Co. v. United States, 161 Fed.

829). This Court said (p. 832)

:

The lands within these reservations are dry

and arid and require the diversion of waters

from the streams to make them productive

and suitable for agricultural, stock raising,
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and domestic purposes. What amount of

water will be required for these purposes

may not be determined with absolute ac-

curacy at this time; but the policy of the

government to reserve whatever water of

Birch creek may be reasonably necessary, not

only for present uses but for future require-

ments, is clearly within the terms of the

treaties as construed by the Supreme Court

in the Winters case.

And the opinion of this Court concludes (p. 835) :

It is further objected that the decree of the

circuit court provides that whenever the

needs and requirements of the complainant

for the use of the waters of Birch creek for

irrigating and other useful purposes upon
the reservation exceed the amount of water

reserved by the decree for that purpose, the

complainant may apply to the court for a

modification of the decree. This is entirely

in accord with complainant's rights as ad-

judged by the decree. Having determined

that the Indians on the reservation have a

paramount right to the waters of Birch

creek, it follows that the permission given

to the defendant to have the excess over the

amount of water specified in the decree

should be subject to modification, should the

conditions on the reservation at any time

require such modification.

What the future needs of the Indians in the pres-

ent case will be cannot be now determined. They

are entitled to have their prior right to 150 cubic
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feet per second of the water of the river (that is,

water sufficient for the irrigation of all of the irri-

gable lands of the reservation) recognized in this

proceeding, as sought in the amended complaint

(R. 17). On the other hand, the Government does

not wish absolutely to deprive the defendants of

water which the Indians do not need at the present

time, and which they may never need. A decree

like that approved by this court in the Conrad Inv.

Co. case is a possible solution. Such a decree

would, however, be open to the objection, both from

the standpoint of the district court and of the

United States, that a modification of the decree

would be necessary every time a few additional

acres on the reservation were brought under irri-

gation. Nor would such a decree secure to the

defendants the benefit of any reduction in the

amount of water used by the Indians, due to tem-

porary abandonment, permitting tracts to lie fallow

in crop rotation, etc. A preferable solution, it is

believed, is a decree adjudging that the United

States has the right to divert water from the

Walker River up to a maximum of 150 cubic feet

per second, with a priority of November 29, 1859,

for the irrigation of 10,000 acres of land of the

reservation, and providing that the United States

shall inform the water mastei' appointed by the

court, prior to the commencement of each irriga-

tion season, of the amount of water which will be

needed for the reservation that season, up to the



61

maximum amount of water decreed to it. Under

a retention of jurisdiction clause such as is now

included in the decree (R. 535), any defendant

aggrieved or injured by an act or omission of the

water master could apply to the court for relief.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, it is respectfully submit-

ted that the decree of the district court should be

reversed.

Charles E. Collett,

Acting Assistant Attorney General,

Roy W. Stoddard^

Special Assistant to the Attorney General,

Oscar A. Provost,

Thomas Harris,

Clifford E. Fix,

Attorneys, Department of Justice,

Washington, D. C.

August, 1938.
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The Appellees have discussed many of the cases cited by

the Appellant in their Argument, herein. A discussion of the

remaining cases will be found in Appendix A.

The Appellees in Appendix B consider the unreported cases

referred to in Appellant's Brief, pages 23, 29-30.

The Appellees in Appendix C set out a statement by Harold

L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, with regard to the comple-

tion of a storage reservoir for the Indians of the Walker River

Indian Reservation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellees accept that part of the Statement by Appellant

beginning on page 3 and ending with the words "In summary

the evidence showed :" on page 6. Appellees do not agree with

the purported summary of the evidence beginning on page 6

and ending with page 15. We believe that we may most clearly

present our view of the material facts of the case by setting

forth a complete statement of the evidence. To some extent

this statement or summary of the evidence will be the same

as Appellant's statement. The portion of Appellant's state-

ment unchanged by Appellees' additions, changes and correc-

tions will be italicised.

The Walker River is non-navigable. It rises in California,

but its main course lies in Nevada, and it empties into Walker

Lake in that State (R. 378, 389, 494-496). It consists of two

main branches East and West Walker, which are fed by many

small streams rising high on the eastern slopes of the Sierra Ne-

vada Mountains in Mono and Alpine Counties, California The

mountains at the source of these streams are sparsely forested

and afford little protection for the snows, resulting in a rapid

runoff of the water on the advent of the warm spring days

(R. 387-388, 682). The distance from the source of the two

main branches of the Walker River to the reservation is great

(R. 251, 388), and in Nevada the streams flow through wide.



sandy and gravelly beds for many miles (R. 691, 790), re-

sulting in large losses of the water through evaporation and

seepage (R. 388). From the source of the East Walker to its

junction with the West Walker, the distance is approximately

seventy miles. From the source of the West Walker to the

junction is approximately sixty-seven miles, and from the

junction through Mason Valley and to the point of diversion

on the reservation the distance is approximately thirty-five

miles, and from the latter point to Walker Lake, approximate-

ly twelve miles (R. 251, 294,388-389). The peak of the flow

usually occurs in May or June, and thereafter the water sub-

sides rapidly, so that in most recent years the flow by the mid-

dle of July is insufficient (R. 251, 389, 627-628, 633, 641, 681,

708, 789, 791, 810, 961-962), without storage facilities (R. 251,

294, 389, 791, 792) , to meet the requirements of the lands along

the river which have been brought under cultivation (R. 294,

389, 813). There is considerable return flow into the river

from the water diverted for the irrigation of Bridgeport, An-

telope, Smith and Mason valleys, which augments the flow to

the Indian reservation in the latter part of the irrigation sea-

son (R. 252, 389, 641-642, 644, 707, 721-722, 791, 811, 816,

860) . Storage of water in present reservoirs of the Appellees,

hereinafter referred to, prevents water going to waste in the

winter months and has a tendency to reduce the losses and in-

crease the flow available to the reservation during July, August

and September (R. 633, 707, 709, 800, 869).

Bridgeport, the county seat of Mono county, California, is

situated on the East Walker in Bridgeport Meadows. It has

a population of about six hundred (R. 330). The principal

town in the water shed of the main Walker River is Yerington,

the county seat of Lyon county, Nevada, having a population,

at the time the action was tried, of approximately eight hun-

dred (R. 252-253, 390). On the tributaries of the river and

on the main river the aggregate population of the district which

embraces the lands claiming rights to the use of the water of

Walker River, exclusive of Indians, is approximately three
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thousand (R. 390, 777). The region of the Walker River and
its tributaries is arid and incapable of producing crops with-

out artificial irrigation, and the river and its tributaries are

the only source of water supply for the irrigation of the lands

of the parties to this suit (R. 390, 626, 682). The inhabitants

of the Walker River Basin are dependent upon agriculture and

stockraising, which in turn are dependent upon the supply of

water and availability of the use of the water of the Walker

River (R. 863-684, 710). By reason of the low precipitation,

the lands would be dry and arid and of little value without ir-

rigation (R. 390, 252-253) . The estimated annual value of the

crops of hay, grain and vegetables produced upon the lands of

the Appellees in this suit, together with the value of the stock

and fowl raised thereon amounts to approximately $1,750,-

000 (R. 253, 390, 780), and the assessed valuation of the lands

in the Walker River irrigation district, exclusive of the lands

of the government, is approximately $4,000,000 (R. 253, 390,

781) the actual value being 30% more (R. 781). Bridgeport

valley assessed valuation is $1,300,000 (R. 817)

.

The irrigated areas, exclusive of the reservation lands, are

approximately as follows : Bridgeport Meadows, 20,000 acres

;

narrow valleys on East Walker, 16,000 acres; Antelope Val-

ley, 12,000 acres; Smith Valley, 15,000 acres; Mason Valley,

48,000 acres (R. 253, 390, 625, 778-779).

There are two reservoirs constructed by the Appellee,

Walker River Irrigation District, for the purpose of conserv-

ing and saving the flood and winter flow of the Walker River,

namely, the Bridgeport Reservoir situated on the East Walker

River just below the Town of Bridgeport, having a present

capacity of forty-two thousand acre feet (R. 253, 391, 625),

and Topaz Reservoir situated near the West Walker River just

below Antelope Valley, having a capacity of fifty thousand

acre feet (R. 253, 391, 625-626, 778). There are also several

smaller reservoirs situated on the east and west forks of said

river. Most of the Appellees have rights in some one of these

reservoirs. (R. 254, 391).



Even under natural conditions, that is, in the absence of

upstream diversions, no water would in some years reach the

lands of the Walker River Indian Reservation by the end of

July by reason of seepage and high evaporation loss occurring

with the streams in a depleted condition at their source (R.

252, 294, 389, 628, 635-636, 735-736, 810). Estimates show

that the loss in transit between the lower end of Mason Valley

to the diversion point on the Reservation when the flow has

diminished to ten or twelve second feet, would be 100% (R. 252,

389).

It was shown that by reason of the heavy evaporation and

seepage losses in the lower reaches of the river, the irrigation

of every additional acre of land on the reservation would require

water sufficient to irrigate two acres of the land upstream, and

that the white settlers would be deprived of water to that ex-

tent, at least during the latter part of the irrigation season,

and the upstream valleys would be dried up and revert to their

natural condition. (R. 271, 703-704, 709, 715-716, 719-720).

It was also shown that from the point of diversion of the govern-

ment canals to the point of application of the water to the land,

the loss by evaporation and seepage was 33% (R. 271, 390,

617, 627, 637, 653, 955). There is testimony that it is not

economically feasible to irrigate more than 3000 acres of land

upon the reservation because of the lack of water in the latter

part of the irrigation season (R. 271, 684-685, 717-718, 739,

812-813,818). *

*The Appellant, in its brief, page 15, under the heading. Specifica-
tion of Errors to be Urged, waives assignment of Error No. 2. This
Assignment reads as follows (R. 541): "The court erred in making
and entering that portion of its finding No. II, finding that even
under natural conditions, that is, without upstream diversions, the
water would not, in some years of low flow, reach the lands of the
Reservation by the end of July by reason of seepage and high evapor-
ation loss." By waiving this Assignment of Error the Appellant has
admitted the facts set out in the finding of facts, and that the evi-

dence supports such a finding. We must take issue with the Appellant
that this Assignment is not pertinent to the legal issues involved. A
court of equity should not grant the relief sought by the Appellant
if it will turn 111,000 acres of land back to desert and destroy values
of $4,000,000 worth of land and make 3000 white settler^ dependents,
while no value would accrue to the 520 Indians living on said Reser-
vation. A court of equity will not enter such a decree.

Antioch v. Williams Irr. Dist., 188 Cal. 451, 461, 205 Pac. 688.



Originally the Walker River Indian Reservation included

the Walker Lake, the land around it, and that along each side

of the river for a distance of thirty miles above the lake. It

now contains approximately 86,400 acres of land, of which

about 2,100 acres are now under irrigation (R. 246, 496, 627).

(The Appellants' contention that there were 10,000 acres

of irrigable land ( (Brief pp. 6 and 7) ) is met by evidence in-

troduced by both parties that there were not that many ir-

rigable acres ( (See R. 593, 671, 757, 759, 764, 965-966, 972)).

For example, two reports of the Indian officers of the United

States government in charge of the Walker River Reservation

show there are only approximately 3000 acres of irrigable land

on the reservation ( (R. 757-758) ). The Appellant in making

this statement only refers to the Amended Complaint, referred

to by the special master ( (R. 246) ), and the testimony of Ap-

pellant's witness, E. W. Kronquist (R. 627) ). It will be noted

that the District Court in its decision and its findings of fact

made no such statement ( (R. 496) and that Appellant's assign-

ment of error IX ((R. 45)) is based on the failure of the

lower court to find and decree that said reservation included

10,000 acres of irrigable land susceptible to irrigation.)

In 1859 the lands now included in Nevada were a part of

Utah Territory. The lands included in California were a part

of the State of California which the Court will judicially know

was taken into the Union in 1850 on an equality with the thir-

teen original states (9 Stat, at L. 452) . On November 25, 1859

the United States Indian Agent for that Territory wrote the

Comynissioner of Indian Affairs that there ivas a general

"stampede" of persons from California to the mining localities

within the agency, ivhich led to the immediate necessity of

reserving "a sufficient portion of their lands to enable them

to sustain life." (R. 569). He recommended tJiat part of the

Truckee River Valley (now the Pyramid Lake Indian Reser-

vation) , and part of the Walker River Valley (now the Walker

Lake Indian Reservation) , be reserved for the Indians, the

boundaries of the suggested reservation being indicated on an



attached map (R. 570). The agent continues in his letter to

say that these were "isolated spots, embracing large fisheries,

surrounded by mountains and deserts, and will have the ad-

vantage being their home from choice." He speaks about the

Indians being driven to seek a "refuge in crime" and sincerely

hopes that the "asylums" will be provided for them so that they

will be free from the influence of "White Brigands" who are

using them as instruments to rob and plunder the citizens

(R. 570) . On November 26, 1859, the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs wrote the Secretary of the Interior inviting the tatter's

attention to the agent's letter and stating that although hut a

small portion of the land in the proposed reservations is "suited

for agricultural purposes, yet it is believed that it will be suf-

ficient for the sustenance of the Washoe and Pahute Tribes of

Indiayis, in connection with the fish which they may obtain

from Pyramid and Walker Lakes." The Commissioner sug-

gests that this subject be laid before the President for his con-

sideration, with a recommendation that the tracts of country

indicated on the map may be set aside for the Indians' use.

(R. 571) . On November 29, 1859, the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs wrote to the Commissioner of the General Land Office

requesting him to direct the Surveyor General of Utah Territory

to respect the reservation of these tracts of land, as indicated

upon an attached map, when the public surveys should be ex-

tended over that portion of the territory, and requested that

in the meantime the proper local Land Offices be instructed to

respect the reservation on the books of their offices, when such

offices shall have been established (R. 572) . The Commission-

er of the General Land Office, on December 8, 1859, instructed

the Surveyor General at Salt Lake City to reserve for Indian

purposes the tracts of land in question by proper annotations

upon the corrected map of the Utah Surveying District (R.

573). By August 29, 1860, some steps had been taken to pre-

vent trespassing upon the lands in question (R. 577), and by

June 27, 1865, their boundaries were surveyed (R. 578-581,

595, 596). On March 19, 1874, President Grant ordered that

the reservation on Walker River, as surveyed, be withdrawn
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froTYi sale or other disposition, and set apart for the Pahute

Indians residing thereon (R. 580-581).

In 1859 the Pahutes were at war with the whites and were so

at war for some time subsequent thereto (R. 396-398, 574, 575,

576, 585-586, 592, 602, 603, 737, 754, 770-772, 773, 831). The

exhibits show that the whites, for many years after 1859 found

they had to give the Indians presents to keep them peaceable

(R. 587, 589-599, 602, 742-745, 761).

The Appellees deny the statements made in the first two sen-

tences on page 9 of Appellant's brief. The pages of the record

referred to by Appellant's brief develop the following facts

:

A letter of August 13, 1861, submits a budget for the expenses

of the office of the Indian Agent of the Pyramid Lake and

Walker River Reservations, for the next year, of $18,000, cov-

ering among other things, ox teams, mules, cows, sheep and

necessary farming instruments and seed. The agent stresses

the fact that by making the appropriation the Indians in five

years could be made self-sustaining and that this would insure

peace. (R. 587) . Other recommendations were made that the

Indians be taught how to farm and farming instruments and

stock should be given to them (591, 592, 599). In 1865 the

Indian agent stated he was paying wages for Indians to work

upon the reservation (R. 591). At a conference held with

certain Indian chiefs in 1861, Governor Nye found they reacted

favorably to a suggestion that if the Government gave them

livestock and farming implements they would work as the

local agent should direct ( R. 599 ) . The above is all the evidence

that the United States and the Indians desired, from the time

the reservation was created, that the Indians should support

themselves by agriculture (Br. 9). The fact is that in all the

years since the reservation was established ouly a very few

Indians have at any time wished to support themselves by

farming (R. 399).

In 1865 letters written by Indian agents show that they had

not been furnished with equipment and means to cultivate the
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lands of the Walker River Reservation and that the upstream

white settlers were objecting to the lands of the reservation

being allowed to lie idle (R. 592, 755-756) . In 1866 the Indian

agents reported that some three acres of the Indian reserva-

tion lands had been plowed and potatoes, corn, and beans plant-

ed; that the work had been done by the agent; and that al-

though the Indians had expressed interest in the cultivation

he was obliged to decline their assistance as there were neither

provisions to feed them nor tools for them to work with (R.

759). As late as 1869 the Superintendent of Indian Affairs

found there was no evidence of any attempt to render these

reservations habitable nor to develop their agricultural re-

sources, (R. 763). In 1871 the same Superintendent of Indian

Affairs stated he would open up an irrigation district and

would place some land under cultivation (R. 764). It would

appear that the first attempt at ditch construction took place

in 1868 (R. 963). A son of a former Indian Service employee

on the Walker River Reservation testified that in 1876 there

was very little land, that is, only 50 acres, under cultivation

and that there were no Indians on the reservation in 1876.

Also that there were no agricultural implements, except a few

shovels. (R. 806-807). In fact, the principal food of the In-

dians at the time of the creation of the reservation, and for

many years thereafter, was fish, roots, pine nuts, nut grass

and game. The reservation was, in fact, chosen for these

natural supplies of sustenance for the Indians (R. 588, 592,

595, 605, 651, 758).

During the subsequent years since the establishment of the

reservation the government has taken some steps to encourage

and teach the Indians to practice farming and irrigation, and

furnished them with some seeds and implements for farming

(R. 258, 587, 588, 591, 593-594, 599, 648-651, 671-674). How-

ever, very little farming was done and the crops were very

meager (see last referred to pages of the record).

The Indians are poor farmers; they farm very uneconom-

ically; they won't or can't rotate the use of water; and they
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'

will not irrigate at night (R. 295, 631, 662, 663-4, 811, 950). I
The Indians, from the beginning, would rather work for wages

on the upstream points than farm for themselves (R. 591, 808,

821).

In 1872 the United States commenced the construction of

ditches and dams for the purpose of putting water on land,

not subject to overflow, for the use of the reservation (R.

673-674). From time to time the United States enlarged and

extended the irrigation ditches upon the reservation until there

are now two canals thereon having a combined length of 17

miles, and there are lateral ditches having a combined length

of 13 miles (R. 434, 496). And a combined capacity of 115

cubic feet per second. These canals and laterals are capable

of irrigating 3,600 acres without further extension (R. 614).

On the 2100 acres under irrigation, the Indians produce val-

uable crops of alfalfa, grain, and vegetables, and raise fowl

and livestock, a small part of which they sell (R. 434, 617, 665)

.

There are approximately 500 Indians on the reservation (R.

275, 496). Ninety-six individual Indians are farming parts

of 140 allotments of 20 acres each, and 96 allotments have homes

on them (R. 434, 496). Five hundred and four allotments

have been Tuade to date (R. 656). Some 50% of these have

become "dead allotments" (R. 641, 656).

The lands of the defendants are situated in the Walker

River basin above the reservation. They were acquired and

purchased from the United States under acts of Congress by

the white settlers, the earliest title originating shortly after

1859, and the water of the Walker River was applied to bene-

ficial use upon said lands by successive appropriations, the

earliest appropriation being in 1860 (R. 497), until all the

water had been fully appropriated (R. 270, 271, 398). In or-

der to supplement the supply for irrigation purposes, the set-

tlers, through the Appellee, Walker River Irrigation District,

constructed in 1922 Topaz Lake Reservoir, having a capacity

of approximately fifty thousand acre feet, and in 1924-1925

Bridgeport Reservoir, having a capacity of approximately
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forty-two thousand acre feet, and is storing therein the winter

or flood waters of the river (R. 497). The aggregate cost of

these two reservoirs was over eight hundred thousand

dollars (R. 497, 778). Other smaller reservoirs were built

and are maintained by the white settlers for the same

purpose (R. 253-254). The irrigation ditches owned by Ap-

pellees have cost over one hundred thousand dollars (R. 811).

No objection was made by the United Staes of America to the

appropriation of water by the white settlers or their ocnstruc-

tion of expensive irrigation works, and no proceedings were

taken to determine the rights, if any, of the United States as

against the white settlers along said river until the commence-

ment of this suit (R. 497-498), notwithstanding the United

States of America was given an opportunity to become a party

to the suit in the Federal Court below, entitled "Paciiic Live-

stockCompany, a corporation, plaintiff, vs. T. B. Rickey, et al,

defendants," No. 731 (Exhibit 16, R. 784-786) (hereinafter

referred to as suit No. 731), which suit was brought for the

purpose of determining all of the water rights in and to the

waters of Walker River and its tributaries, commenced in 1904

and decided in 1919, and was invited to file its pleadings in said

suit as stipulated to by nearly all the parties thereto under date

of May, 1907. The Master in that suit found that the United

States had appropriated from the Walker River 22.93 cubic feet

of water per second, with dates of priority of 1868, 1872, 1875,

1883, and 1886, and had irrigated thereby 1,905.55 acres of land

of the reservation (R. 387, 437, 499, 786) . The decree did not

make any provision for the rights of the United States (R. 786)

.

The Appellant has, and as late as 1910 did, rely upon the

doctrine of appropriation for its rights, in which year the

superintendent of the Reservation, on behalf of the Indians,

made application to appropriate public waters of the State of

Nevada. (R. 436, 498, 821, 822, 830). The permit was grant-

ed but later cancelled because of failure of the applicant to

comply with the provisions of the permit (R. 824).
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However, it was stipulated that the amount of land irrigat-

ed by the appellant and the Indians on the Walker River In-

dian Reservation, by actual diversion, could be found by the

Master as set out in the Master's report in suit No. 731

(R. 675).

In 1926, Congress {Act of June 30, 1926, 44 Stat. 779) au-

thorized a reconnaissance to determine the feasibility of con-

structing a dam on the Walker River to augment the water

supply for the Walker River Indian Reservation (R. 339, 436,

498). Pursuant to this authorization, a comprehensive re-

port, known as the Blomgren report, was made December 26,

1926. (R. 436). The Blomgren report is referred to in the

lower court's opinion, and pertinent matters pertaining to the

issues of this case are cited therefrom (R. 399, 400, 401).

Among other things, the following appears in that report:

that the normal flow would only be sufficient for 4000 acres

of Indian lands (R. 634, 640) ; that even if there were no up-

stream irrigation there would only be enough natural flow for

10,000 acres of Indian lands one year in two (R. 638-639) ;

that Indians will never cultivate more than 4000 acres (R.

640) ; and that a storage reservoir be created for the Indian

land of Walker River Indian Reservation by the construction

of a dam at the Rio Vista site, and that the irrigation system

be extended to cover the entire irrigable area of the Reserva-

tion (R. 437) ; that such a reservoir would result in the con-

servation of the general water supply of the entire river and

result in a utilization of the return and seepage flow; and

would furnish the Indians with an adequate water supply for

10,000 acres of land (R. 708, 812, 818-819, 859-860, 913-914,

950, 962-963, 965, 966, 971). It does not appear from the rec-

ord that any action was taken on this report. *

The Special Master filed his report (R. 244) recommending

findings of fact and conclusions of laiv (R. 291) and a decree

*Since the case was tried and the evidence closed a reservoir has
been constructed by the Appellant with a capacity of 8,000 acre feet

for the irrigation of the Walker River Reservation lands and to catch
flood waters that otherwise are wasted in Walker Lake. Certainly

the Appellant will not deny this fact. (See Appendix C).



13

(R. 317). The report of the Master expressed the view that

when the United States created the reservation in 1859 it im-

pliedly reserved water of the Walker River for the irrigation

of reservation lands (R. 261-270) ; that as the United States

was acting- in a governmental capacity it tvas not estopped

by the failure of its officials to inform purchasers of land in

the Walker River Valley of its right to the use of sufficient

water in the river for the irrigation of the irrigable lands of

the reservation or by reason of the delay of its officials in

taking legal steps to enforce its claims (R. 271-274) ; that,

however, since the Government came into a court of equity

to establish its rights, it is bound by equitable rules, and that

it would be inequitable to allocate the United States water

to the detriment of the upstream settlers for the irrigation of

10,000 acres of land, when it appeared that during the entire

period since the creation of the reservation only 2100 acres of

land thereof have been brought under irrigation ; that there

are only about 500 Indians on the reservation and that the

number is not increasing ; and that there was no showing that

there was a substantial demand by other Indians (R. 275).

The Master concluded, accordingly, that the United States

should be granted a right to 26.25 feet of water per second, for

the irrigation of 2,100 acres of land, ivith a priority of 1859

(R. 275, 323).

Both the United States and the defendants filed exceptions

to the Master's report and proposed findings, conclusions, and

decree (R. 335-360), the United States contending that it had

a right to the use of 150 cubic feet of ivater per second for the

irrigation of the 10,000 acres of irrigable lands in the reserva-

tion, and that this right was not barred by any possible equit-

able defense (R. 335-342).

On June 6, 1935, the District Court filed its opinion (R. 384,

11 F. Supp. 158). The District Court held that neither the

claim of the United States to 150 cubic feet of water per sec-

ond nor the proposed decree of the Master awarding to it

26.25 cubic feet with a priority of 1859 could be sustained
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(R. 409-410). It held that the United States did not im-

pliedly reserve any water by the creation of the reservation;

that the rights of the United States were, therefore, to be ad-

judged under the doctrine of appropriation as established by

the State of Nevada (R. 410) ; and that the silent acquiescence

of the Government, along with other actions and circumstan-

ces, to the diversion of water by the white settlers amounted

to an administrative construction of the local laws then in

force. The Court referred the case back to the Master to take

further evidence upon one point, and directed him to prepare

and submit findings of fact and conclusions of law consistent

with its decision (R. 427-428).

The Master again filed recommended findings of fact, con-

clusions of law, and a decree (R. 430, 458). After argument

on exceptions filed by the United States and by some of the

defendants (R. 474-490), the District Court, on March 21,

1936, filed a supplementary opinion (R. 492, 14F. Supp. 10).

This opinion, after stating that the United States contended

that there was an implied reservation of water, declares (R.

492):

"Even if a reservation of water may be implied in the

executive order, however the Indian rights may be de-

fined or labeled in this instance, this court is of the opin-

ion that the facts and circumstances have placed the white
settlers in an inexpugnable position. Briefly, the facts,

as dis-(531) closed by the evidence and narrated in this

court's opinion in 11 Fed. Supp. 158, show that after the

establishment of the Reservation in 1859 (then and there-

after the Indians being at war with the whites), com-
mencing 1860 the whites acquired title from the United
States to lands above the Indian Reservation, bordering
on and adjacent to the Walker River and its tributaries;

that they also acquired water by prior appropriation for

a beneficial use, and actually irrigated and reclaimed

such lands; that they have enjoyed undisputed and un-
disturbed possession of such lands and such water rights

for more than fifty years; that to dispossess them now
would bring ruin to long-established settlers, and return

to waste the lands which they, by their industry and with
the acquiescence of the Government, reclaimed from the

desert.
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Under such facts and circumstances this court is not
moved to give a decree destroying the rights of the white
pioneers."

The exceptions of the United States were overruled

(R. 492-493).

Thereafter, the District Court filed findings of fact and

conclusions of law, and entered its decree (R. 494) . In its con/-

clusions of latv the Court states that even if a reservation of

water might be implied in the order of 1859, "yet the facts

and circumstances here shoivn impel the conclusion that the

interests of the white settlers, enjoyed without challenge for

more than fifty years, should not be disturbed." (R. 515).

The Court concluded that the doctrine of appropriation ap-

plied to the claims of the United States, and that it was en-

titled, by right of appropriation, to divert waters of the stream

to the extent of 22.93 cubic feet per second, for the irrigation

of 1,905.55 acres, ivith priority as of the year 1868, 1872, 1875,

1883, and 1886 (R. 499, 515-516). The District Court entered

its decree framed accordingly (R. 531).

The United States has taken this appeal.



16

ARGUMENT
I.

THE UNITED STATES, BY THE CREATION OF
THE WALKER RIVER INDIAN RESERVATION,
DID NOT IMPLIEDLY RESERVE FOR THE IN-

DIANS, OR FOR ITSELF, WATER OF THE
WALKER RIVER FOR THE IRRIGATION OF THE
IRRIGABLE LANDS OF THE RESERVATION.
A. Effect of Acts of Congress passed after the Ap-

pellant contends the Walker River Indian Reserva-

tion v^as created in 1859, concerning the public lands

and waters of the Western states

:

1. Acts of Congress :

The first pertinent Act after 1859 concerning the public lands

of the United States was the Homestead Act of May 20, 1862,

which allowed settlers one hundred sixty acres of land, and

which required "actual settlement and cultivation."

12 Stat, at L. 392, Sees. 1 and 2.

On July 23, 1866, an Act was passed giving settlers a pref-

erential right of purchase (14 Stat, at L. 253). Section 9 of

this Act provided

:

"That whenever, by priority of possession, rights to the

use of waters for mining, agriculture, manufacturing or

other purposes, have vested and accrued and the same
are recognized and acknowledged by the local customs,

laws, and decisions of court, the possessors and owners of

such vested rights shall be maintained and protected in

the same; ***"

In Broder v. Natoma Water & Mining Co., 101 U. S. 274

(25 L. Ed. 790, affirming 50 Cal. 621), it was said that this

Act was rather a voluntary recognition of a pre-existing right

of possession constituting a valid claim to its continued use,

than the establishment of a new right.

Mr. Justice Field, in Jennison v. Kirk, 98 U. S. 453, (25 L.

Ed. 240, 242) said:
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"The object of the section was to give the sanction of

the United States, the proprietor of the lands, to posses-

sory rights which had previously rested solely upon the

local customs, laws, and decisions of the courts, and to pre-

vent such rights being lost on the sale of the lands.***"

By the Act of July 3, 1870, it was provided

:

"***and all patents granted or preemption or home-

steads allowed shall be subject to any vested and accrued

water rights, or rights to ditches and reservoirs used in

connection with such water rights, as may have been ac-

quired under or recognized by the ninth section of the Act

of which this Act is amendatory.***"

16 Stat, at L. 218, Sec. 17.

The Desert Land Act of March 3, 1877, conferred upon the

settler the right to acquire six hundred forty acres of desert

land on condition that the same be irrigated.

19 Stat, at L. 377.

This Act was amended in 1891—See : 26 Stat, at L. 1096.

* * *

Other important acts with regard to public land are the

Carey Act of August 18, 1894, 28 Stat, at L. 422, 43 U. S. C. A.,

page 371, Sec. 641 ; and the National Reclamation Act of June

17, 1902, 32 Stat, at L. 388, 43 U. S. C. A., page 298, Sees.

371-383.

2. Decisions Illustrating That Congress, Through

These Acts and By the Admission of the Western States

TO the Union On An Equality With the Thirteen Original

States, Has Relinquished Control Over the Waters of

Western Streams :

An important case dealing with the relinquishment by the

United States of its control over the public waters of the West-

ern states is the case of United States v. Rio Grande Dam &
Irrigation Co., 174 U. S. 690; (43 L. Ed. 1136 (1899)). The

suit was brought to restrain the defendant from constructing

a dam across the Rio Grande river in the territory of New
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Mexico, The United States contended that this dam would

interfere with the navigability of the Rio Grande, which in

part was a navigable stream. The United States set up treaty

stipulations between it and Mexico in reference to the navig-

ability of the Rio Grande. The United States Supreme Court

granted the injunction, as requested by the United States, in

an opinion rendered by Mr. Justice Brewer.

The Rio Grande being a navigable stream, it was held that

the impairment of the navigability constituted an injury and

wrong to the people of the United States. The court said at

page 703

:

"Although this power of changing the common law rule

as to streams within its dominion undoubtedly belongs in

each state, yet two limitations must be recognized : First,

that in the absence of specific authority from Congress
a state cannot by its legislation destroy the right of the
United Sftates, as the owner of lands bordering on a
stream, to the continued flow of its waters ; so far at least

as may be necessary for the beneficial uses of the govern-
ment property. Second, that it is limited by the superior
power of the general government to secure the uninter-

rupted navigability of all navigable streams within the
limits of the United States. In other words, the jurisdic-

tion of the general government over interstate commerce
and its natural highways vests in that government the
right to take all needed measures to preserve the navig-
ability of all navigable water courses of the country even
against any state action."

Mr. Justice Brewer, after reviewing the statutes of 1866

and 1877, stated that they did not create the inference that Con-

gress intended to release its control over the navigable streams

of the country.

The first proposition advanced by Mr. Justice Brewer, which

is dicta in the above case, was repudiated by Mr. Justice Brew-

ed in the case of Kansas v. Colorado, 206 U. S. 46 (51 L. Ed.

956), one of the greatest constitutional cases of the country,

which was decided on May 13, 1907. This was an original

Bill of the State of Kansas against the State of Colorado to

enjoin the latter state from diverting the waters of the Ar-
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kansas river. The United States, on leave, filed a petition of

intervention, asserting that the amount of the flow of the river

was subject to the superior authority and supervisory control

of the United States. Petition in intervention of the United

States was dismissed without prejudice to the rights of the

United States to take any action necessary to preserve or im-

prove the navigability of the river.

In this case the State of Colorado was diverting water under

the appropriation system, and the State of Kansas under

the riparian theory. The government set out that within

the water-shed there were 1,000,000 acres of public land

that were uninhabitable and unsalable. The government con-

tended that the contention of neither state was correct and that

either contention, if sustained, would defeat the object, intent

and purpose of the reclamation act, prevent the settlement and

sale of the lands and would otherwise work great damage to

the interests of the United States.

Mr. Justice Brewer, at page 86, after quoting from the part

of the case of United States vs. Rio Grande Dam & Irr. Co.,

set out above, states that if the government was contending

that the appropriation for irrigation of the waters of the Ar-

kansas was affecting navigability of the stream, it would be-

come the duty of the court to determine the truth of the charge,

but that the government was making no such contention.

Mr. Justice Brewer continues

:

"It rests its petition for intervention upon the alleged

duty of legislating for the reclamation of arid lands; ***

that the national government is itself the owner of many
thousand acres ; that it has the right to make such legisla-

tive provisions as, in its judgment is needful for the

reclamation of all these arid lands, and, for that pur-

pose, to appropriate the accessible waters."

Mr. Justice Brewer considers at length the constitutional

background of the question, and concludes at page 93

:

"But it is useless to pursue the inquiry further in this

direction. It is enough for the purpose of this case that
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each state has full jurisdiction over the lands within its

borders, including the beds of streams and other waters.

At page 94:

"It may determine for itself whether the common-law
rule in respect to riparian rights or that doctrine which
obtains in the arid regions of the west of the appropria-
tion of waters for the purposes of irrigation shall control.

Congress cannot enforce either rule upon any state. ***"

In United States v. Central Stockholders Corporation, 52

Fed. (2d) 322, (C. C. A. 9, 1931) this Court had before it a

case where the government, as owner of the public lands, was

seeking to set up its right to the waters of San Joaquin river

on the theory that the withdrawal of lands by the United States

as a federal power site within the boundaries of forest re-

serve carried with it the waters of a stream flowing through

the land. The Court, although not making a final decision as

to the rights of the United States, said, as to the government's

contention that California, under its enabling act (9 Stat. 452),

is pov»^erless to modify the proprietary right of the government

by either legislation or judicial decision—at page 324

:

"***We are thus asked by the government to re-write

the water law of California as developed by its courts to

the extent, at least, of holding that the large body of pub-

lic land riparian to the streams of the state has rights en-

tirely distinct from those defined and recognized by the

law of the state of California. Formidable as is the task

thus presented with reference to the law of Californiu,

the contention made here would be even more discordant

with the laws of the other states of this circuit which have

not recognized the common-law rights of riparian owner-
ship and have consistently based their laiv of water rights

upon the appropriation of water {Arizona, Nevada, Mon-
tana, Idaho) . If it be true that the government, by reason

of its ownership of large tracts of public lands, has a cor-

responding common-law right to the water of the streams

as a part and parcel of land, and that such water
cannot be taken away by state legislation or judicial de-

cision, the result of the government's contention would
in such other states be even more disastrous to private

ownership of ivater than it would be in the state of Cali-
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fomia, which has always recognized the rights of the ri-

parian owner in and to the waters of streams."

The lower court in its opinion ( (R. 403-409) quotes at great

length from the case of the California-Oregon Power Co. v.

Beaver Portland Cement Co. (235 U. S. 142) decided by the

Supreme Court April 29, 1935. In holding that this decision

was applicable to the facts in this case, Judge St. Sure (R. 404)

says:

"The decision is most important as directly affecting

owners of lands in the desert land states, acquired under
the homestead and preemption laws, the Desert Land Act
and other acts passed by Congress and the appropriators
of waters for beneficial use upon said lands. Suit was
brought by the owner of lands in Oregon whose prede-

cessor in interest acquired them by patent from the United
States under the Homestead Act of May 20, 1862. The
primary question presented to the Supreme Court for de-

cision was whether the homestead patent carried with it

as part of the granted estate the common-law rights which
attach to riparian ownership."

Judge St. Sure then refers to that part of the opinion of

Mr. Justice Sutherland which deals with the Acts of Congress

we have hereinabove referred to, and the previous decisions

of the courts interpreting them. Judge St. Sure concludes with

the following quotation from Mr. Justice Sutherland's opinion

(R. 408) which appears at 295 U. S. 162-163, to wit;

"***It is hard to see how a more definite intention to

sever the land and water could be evinced. The terms of

the statute, thus construed, must be read into every patent

thereafter issued, with the same force as though express-

ly incorporated therein, with the result that the grantee
will take the legal title to the land conveyed, and such title,

and only such title, to the flowing waters thereon as shall

be fixed or acknowledged by the customs, laws, and judicial

decisions of the state of their location.

"***Nothing we have said is meant to suggest that the

act, as we construe it, has the effect of curtailing the pow-
er of the states affected to legislate in respect to waters
and water rights as they deem wise in the public interest.

What we hold is that following the act of 1877 if
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not before, all non-navigable waters then a part of the
public domain became publici juris, subject to the plenary
control of the designated states, including those since cre-

ated out of the territories named, with the right in each to

determine for itself to what extent the rule of appropri-
ation or the common-law rule in respect to riparian rights

should obtain. For since 'Congress cannot enforce either

rule upon any state' Kansas v. Colorado, 206 U. S. 46, 94,

the full power of choice must remain with the state. The
Desert Land Act does not bind or purport to bind the

states to any policy. It simply recognizes and give sanc-

tion, in so far as the United States and its future gran-
tees are concerned, to the state and local doctrine of ap-
propriation, and seeks to remove what otherwise might
be an impediment to its full and successful operation. See
Wyoming v. Colorado, 259 U. S. 419, 465.***"

See: Williams v. City and County of San Francisco,

76 Pac. (2d) 182, (Cal. 1938).

A very recent case of the Supreme Court of the United

States, which deals with the problem involved here, is the case

of Ickes V. Fox, 300 U. S. 82 (81 L. Ed. 525 (1937)). The

court, in its opinion, at page 95, says as to the Congressional

Acts referred to above:

"The Federal government, as owner of the public do-

main, had the power to dispose of the land and water
composing it together or separately; and by the Desert
Land Act of (March 3) 1877 (Chap. 107, 19 Stat, at L.

377, 43 U. S. C. A. Sec. 321), if not before. Congress had
severed the land and waters constituting the public do-

main and established the rule that for the future the lands

should be patented separately. Acquisition of the gov-

ernment title to a parcel of land was not to carry with it a
water right; but all non-navigable waters were reserved
for the use of the public under the laws of the various

arid-land states. California Power Co. v. Beaver Port-

land Cement Co. 295 U. S. 142, 162, 79 L. Ed. 1356, 1363,

55 S. Ct. 725. And in those states, generally, including

the State of Washington, it long has been established law
that the right to the use of water can be acquired only by
prior appropriation for a beneficial use ; and that such
right when thus obtained is a property right, which, when
acquired for irrigation, becomes, by state law and here

by express provision of the Reclamation Act as well, part

and parcel of the land upon which it is applied."
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One of the latest expressions of opinion as to the state's

rights to make the United States subject to state laws in deal-

ing with waters in Western states is United States v. Hum-
boldt Lovelock Irr. L. & P. Co., 97 Fed. (2d) 38 (C. C. A. 9,

1938) (Certiorari denied) where at page 42 this court said :

"Whatever rights appellant may have, and the extent
thereof, must be determined by the law of Nevada. 43 U.
S. C. A. Sec. 383; California-Oregon Power Co. v. Ce-
ment Co., 295 U. S. 142, 155, 162; 55 S. Ct. 725, 728, 730;
79 L. Ed. 1356. We must, therefore, review the statutes

and decisions of that state to determine the questions
herein.***"

In the case of Bergman v. Kearney, 241 Fed. 884 (D. Nev.

1917), in answer to the proposition that all unappropriated

waters belonged to the United States Government, the Court

said at page 892 of its opinion

:

"For years the National Government has consistent-

ly recognized and respected rights acquired by appro-
priation by the use of water. It has conformed to the
state statutes regulating the acquisition of unappropri-
ated water.***"

The Court then refers to the Act of 1866 and the Act of

March 3, 1877, supra, and concludes at page 893

:

"***Both the state and the National Governments con-
cede and have granted the privilege of acquiring rights
to the use of water by appropriation."

A state case interpreting the aforementioned Acts of Con-

gress is Farmer's Investment Co. v. Carpenter, 9 Wyo. 110,

138, 139; 61 Pac. 258, 265 (1900).

See also: Basey v. Gallagher, 20 Wall., 681-682, cited

with approval in Wyoming v. Colorado, 259 U. S. 419, at
page 461.

The United States Supreme Court and Federal Court cases

referred to above seem to be a complete recognition that the

power of control and disposal of the waters of the Western

streams is in the states, and the United States by the legisla-

tion hereinabove referred to has relinquished control over such

waters.
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3. In Accordance With the Decisions Referred to

Above, This Court Must Apply the Water Laws of Cali-

fornia AND Nevada, as Derived from Local Customs, Laws
AND Decisions :

a. Law of California. The Court will take judicial notice

that California was admitted intp the union in 1850 on an

equality with the thirteen original states, California has

recognized that the riparian system is partially in effect, and

also that the priority system is partially in effect.

The priority system originated among the old forty-niners

of California in what was then neither territory nor state, but

the unorganized public domain of the United States. Later,

this system was recognized by judicial decisions and legisla-

tive enactment of the State of California. The first reported

case sustaining the priority doctrine was Eddy v. Simpson,

3 Cal. 249 (1853).

The law of California, as far as this case is concerned, rec-

ognizes the appropriation, or priority system, as the appellant

has stipulated that Appellee's rights may be determined on

the basis of the appropriation system (R. 501).

b. Law of Nevada. This Court, in the case of United States

V. Humboldt Lovelock Irr. L. & P. Co., supra, succinctly sets

forth, at page 42, the applicable law of Nevada, as follows:

"Nevada was admitted into the union as a state in

1864. Two years later, it was held that where the right

to the use of running water was based upon appropriation,

and not upon an ownership in the soil, the first appropri-

ator had the superior right. Labdell v. Simpson, 2 Nev.
274. The question as to whether the common-law rule

would be applied where one claimed rights by virtue of

his ownership of the soil, was left undecided. It is here
unimportant whether such common-law rule was there-

after applied because in 1885 such common-law rule was
declared inapplicable. Jones v. Adams, 19 Nev. 78, 6 Pac.

442. In that case the doctrine that prior appropriation

is prior in right was applied as against one owning the

soil. Four years later the rule so announced was reaf-

firmed (Reno S. Works v. Stevenson, 20 Nev. 269, 21 Pac.
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317), and was again reaffirmed in 1902. Walsh v. Wal-
lace, 26 Nev. 299, 327, 67 Pac. 914. With regard to these

decisions, the Nevada Supreme Court candidly stated

'that the courts "took the bull by the horns," and in effect

repealed the doctrine of riparian rights without await-

ing the action of the legislature.' V. L. & S. Co. v. District

Court, 42 Nev. 1, 22, 171 Pac. 166.

"In Walsh v. Wallace, supra, 327, the rule, specifying

what constituted an appropriation of water, was first an-

nounced. The requirements set forth that 'there must be

an actual diversion of the same, with intent to apply it to

a beneficial use, followed by an application to such use

within a reasonable time'."

Even in the absence of any such stipulation as we have re-

ferred to above, it would follow that the water law of Califor-

nia and Nevada, derived from local customs, laws and de-

cisions, would be binding upon this Court as there is no inde-

pendent Federal common law that would give the United

States rights other and different from those recognized by the

laws of these two states. In United States v. Central Stock-

holders Corp., supra, this Court said at page 327 in referring

to the Government's contention that it could apply a system of

water rights other and different from that recognized by the

law of California

:

"***but also because there is no Federal common law
to fix the rights of the Government in its capacity as pro-

prietor thereof. ***" (This Court refers at length to

the case of Kansas v. Colorado, supra.)

Erie R. R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U. S. 64, 58 S. Ct. 817,

82 L. Ed. 1188.

4. But Four Exceptions to the State's Complete Con-

trol Over the Disposition of the Waters Within Their

Borders Have Been Recognized By the Supreme Court of

the United States:

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that after

the legislation by Congress with regard to public lands and

waters, there are four exceptions to the power of the state to

dispose of the waters of the streams within its borders

:
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First : That the state, by its control, cannot interfere with

the navigability of navigable streams. United States v. Rio

Grande D. & I. Co., supra.

Second: That a state may not, in case of an interstate

stream, deprive the other state or states of its or their equit-

able portion of the water in the stream. Kansas v. Colorado,

supra.

Third : Existing rights of individuals or the United States,

acquired pursuant to Acts of Congress (especially the Acts

of 1866, 1877 hereinbefore referred to) when recognized by and

agreeable to "local customs, laws and decisions." California-

Oregon Power Co. v. Beaver Portland Cement Co., supra.

Fourth: Those rights obtained by the Indians when the

Indians conveyed their lands to the United States by treaty

and reserved from the grant waters sufficient to irrigate their

lands.

This fourth exception is illustrated by the case of Winters

V. United States, 207 U. S. 564 (52L. Ed. 340), relied on so

strongly by appellant (Appellant's Brief, pp. 20-33), in which

the United States Supreme Court held that where the Indians,

by treaty and binding agreement, had granted their lands to

the United States and had reserved a smaller area for their

own use and had made a prior appropriation of waters, they

impliedly reserved sufficient waters to irrigate the remain-

ing irrigable lands on their reservation.

The case of Winters v. United States, supra, and the principles

therein involved are clearly not applicable to the facts of this

case. In that case the facts upon which the decision is based

are briefly as follows

:

a. That the Fort Belknap Reservation of Montana
was created pursuant to formal agreement or treaty be-

tween the United States and the Indians of the Fort Belk-

nap Reservation, which treaty was ratified by Congress

;

b. That prior to the creation of the reservation, the

Indians of the Fort Belknap Reservation occupied a much
larger tract of land which had been previously set aside
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as a reservation by an Act of Congress, which larger tract

was deemed adequate for their wants in the light of their

habits as a nomadic and uncivilized people

;

c. That the treaty was entered into while Montana
was a territory, and the land was Indian country.

d. That the Indians had appropriated the amount of

water involved, and had applied it to beneficial use before

the alleged illegal diversions of the defendants

;

e. That by this treaty the Indians agreed to occupy
the reservation as a permanent home

;

See: (Id) 143 Fed. 740, 144 (CCA. 9, 1906) (25 Stat.

114, c. 213) ;

f. The Indians were found by the Court to have been
deprived of sufficient water to carry on agriculture under
their changed conditions of living outlined in the treaty,

and it was urged that, by reason of the treaty, there was
an implied agreement on the part of the United States to

reserve with the land, waters for the irrigation of the

diminished area covered by the treaty.

For other and different distinguishing circumstances see the

opinions in United States v. Winters 143 Fed. 740 ; Winters v.

United States 148 Fed. 684 (CCA. 9, 1906).

Upon this state of facts the Supreme Court of the United

States held that in view of all the circumstances of the trans-

action there was an "implied reservation" of a sufficient amount

of water for irrigation purposes. The holding of the Supreme

Court is only to the effect that such a reservation may be implied

when there is a definite agreement or treaty involving the

cession of Indian lands which would show an intention on the

part of the contracting parties to make such a reservation, and

the decision turns simply on the construction of the treaty or

agreement.

Mr. Justice McKenna delivered the opinion of the court in

the Winters case. We quote from the body of the decision,

page 575-576

:

"The case, as we view it, turns on the agreement of May,
1888,resulting in the creation of Fort Belknap Reserva-
tion. In the construction of this agreement there are

certain elements to be considered that are prominent and
significant. The reservation was a part of a very much
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larger tract which the Indians had the right to occupy
and use, and which was adequate for the habits and wants
of a nomadic and uncivilized people. It was the policy of
the government, it was the desire of the Indians, to change
those habits and to become a pastoral and civilized people.

If they should become such, the original tract would be too

extensive ; but a smaller tract would be inadequate without
a change of conditions. The lands were arid, and, without
irrigation, were practically valueless. And yet, it is con-
tended, the means of irrigation were deliberately given up
by the Indians and deliberately accepted by the govern-
ment. The lands ceded were, it is true, also arid ; and some
argument may be urged, and is urged, that with their ces-

sion there was the cession of the waters, without which
they would be valueless, and 'civilized communities could

not be established thereon.' And this, it is further con-

tended, the Indians knew, and yet made no reservation of

the waters. We realize that there is a conflict of implica-

tions, but that which makes for the retention of the waters
is of greater force than that which makes for their cession.

The Court solves the conflict of implications by the construc-

tion of the facts and the treaty.

"By a rule of interpretation of agreements and treaties

with the Indians, ambiguities occurring will be resolved

from the standpoint of the Indians. And the rule should

certainly be applied to determine between two inferences,

one of which would support the purpose of the agreement
and the other impair or defeat it. On account of their re-

lations to the government, it cannot be supposed that the

Indians were alert to exclude by formal words every in-

ference which might militate against or defeat the de-

clared purpose of themselves and the government, even
if it could be supposed that they had the intelligence to

foresee the 'double sense' which might some time be urged
against them."

At page 578, the Court says

:

"But our construction of the agreement and its effect

make it unnecessary to answer the argument in detail.

For the same reason we have not discussed the doctrine

of riparian rights urged by the government."

The Winters case is the only case on the subject decided by

the Supreme Court of the United States so far as we have been

able to ascertain.
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B. The exception to the states' absolute dominion

over the waters of its streams recognized in the

Winters case does not avail the Appellant when set-

ting up the interest of the Indians on the Walker River

Indian Reservation.

1. The Factual Circumstances Prevent the Applica-

tion OF THE Decision in the Winters Case :

a. In this case there is no treaty or binding agreement be-

tween the United States and the Indians, nor appropriation

recognized by customs, law or decisions.

The Winters case rests on the treaty-making power of the

United States, exercised at a time when Montana was not a

state. If, as the government contends, the Winters case holds

there was an implied reservation of the water, merely by setting

aside that part of the country as an Indian reservation, then

why did Mr. Justice McKenna emphasize what he referred to

so often as the "agreement" ? Why not simply say, as Appellant

argues in its Brief, there was an implied reservation of the

waters? It must be assumed that after Mr, Justice Brewer's

decision in the case of Kansas v. Colorado, supra, the mere own-

ership or reservation of land by the United States was not

enough to reserve an interest in the waters; that the United

States by Congressional authority could only, in the absence of

statehood, either expressly exercise its power over the waters

and reserve them in itself, or, by agreement or treaty give the

Indians an interest in the waters which the United States could

enforce on their behalf. As we will hereinafter point out, the

Indians never had any interest in the lands or waters and did

not receive any interest from the United States which can be

enforced against these Appellees in this present suit.

The United States Supreme Court emphasized the fact which

really controlled the conflicting implications of the Winters

case, that treaties with the Indians are construed in their favor,

or as these ignorant and savage people would understand them.

This proposition advanced in the Winters case as well as other
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cases cited by Appellant, is too well settled to need additional

citation. However, a recent case in this court reemphasizes

this rule of construction.

United States v. Nez Perce County, Idaho, et al., 95 Fed.
(2d) 232 (CCA. 9, 1938), at 235.

See also

:

United States v. Shoshone Tribe of Wind River Reserva-
tion, 303 U. S. 629, (82 L. Ed. 763), (1938).

In the instant case the Appellant is contending that the acts

of government agents in setting aside the reservation and the

President's order of 1874 with regard thereto, conveyed an

interest in the waters to the Indians. It is a well recognized

rule of construction that in construing grants by the United

States, the ordinary rule that the grant will be construed most

strongly in favor of the grantee does not apply, as the United

States holds the public lands as trustee for all the public. In

the case of Shively v. Bowley, 152 U. S. 1, (38 L. Ed. 331) the

court says at page 10:

"***The rule of construction in the case of such a grant
from the sovereign is quite different from that which
governs private grants. The familiar rule and its chief

foundations were felicitously expressed by Sir William
Scott ; 'All grants of the Crown are to be strictly construed
against the grantee, contrary to the usual policy of the law
in the consideration of grants ; and upon this just ground,
that the prerogatives, and rights and emoluments of the
Crown being conferred upon it for great purpose, and for

the public use, it shall not be intended that such preroga-
tives, rights and emoluments are diminished by any grant,

beyond what such grant by necessary and unavoidable
construction shall take away.' The Rebeckah, 1 c. Rob.
227, 230. Many judgments of this court are to the same
effect. Charles River Bridge Proprs. v. Warren Bridge
Proprs., 362 S. 11 Pet. 420, 544-548 (9:773, 822-824);
Martin v. Wadell, 41 U.S. 16 Pet. 367, 411 (10 :997, 1013) ;

Central Transp. Co. v. Pullman Car Co. 139 U. S. 24, 49
(35:55, 64)."

The United States was holding public lands of the Western

States, as trustee, for all the people of the United States. There-

fore, this Court should not find that the acts and orders relied
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on by Appellant as giving the Indians an interest in the water

had that effect in the absence of any language referring to the

granting or reservation of any waters ; whereas, patents issued

to white settlers when construed in the light of the express

legislation of Congress and in accordance with state laws had

that effect.

United States v. Oregon, 295 U. S. 1, 27.

2. The Pahute Indians Have No Interest in the Walk-
er River Reservation Land or Waters, Except Such Water
Rights As Have Been Recognized in Them Under the Laws
OF THE State of Nevada :

a. The United States Government has never recognized any

interest in the lands or waters by aboriginal right or occupa-

tion in the public domain purchased from Mexico under the

Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo as Mexico did not recognize any

such interest in the Indians..

In the case of United States v. McGowan, 89 Fed. (2d) 201

(C. C. A. 9, 1937) an issue was involved as to whether land

purchased by the United States within the State of Nevada as

an Indian colony deprived the State of its jurisdiction there-

over in criminal matters. The issue in the case was whether

an "Indian Colony" was "Indian Country" within the terms

of a statute, 25 U. S. C. A. Sec. 247. In its opinion this Court

said at page 202

:

"The land in issue was bought by the United States

from Mexico by Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, February
2, 1848 (9 Stat. 922). The Indians never had possessory

title to the land. It was never 'Indian Country' by reason
of ancient traditional continuous Indian rights until title

was divested by the United States or abandonment by
the Indians. The United States was thereafter divested

of title to the land by its public land laws.

This land was therefore not a part of the vast extent

of the domain to which any Indian title attached, nor
has the land been set apart or designated exclusively for

an Indian tribe.***"

This case was reversed by the United States Supreme Court,

Mr. Justice Black writing the decision, on the ground that the
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United States intended to extend its criminal jurisdiction over

'Indian Colonies' as well as 'Indian country'. The language of

this Court above referred to was not questioned. (See 302

U.S. 835, 82 L.Ed. 305).

The only definition of "Indian Country" is to be found in

4 Stat, at L. 729 (1834). This definition stated that Indian

Country was, in part, "all that part of the United States West

of the Mississippi River***". This statute was enacted long

before the Mexican War and the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo.

By the treaty with Mexico, "New Mexico" and "Upper Califor-

nia" were ceded to the United States. New Mexico included

part of the area of the present state of the same name, all of

Arizona, except the southern part (which was purchased in

1853), all of Nevada, and parts of Utah and Colorado. "Upper

California" included what is now California. See "Narrative

and Critical History of North America," Winsar, Vol. 7, page

552, for map showing exactly the territory acquired.

Thus, not one of the reported cases cited by counsel in sup-

port of the principle of the Winters case, including the Winters

case itself, involved territory which was obtained from Mexico,

and all involved territory where the aboriginal right of occu-

pancy was recognized. In these states the territory did not be-

come public lands until the Indian title was extinguished by

treaty, or otherwise.

See in this regard : Mitchell v. United States, 9 Pet. 711, 9

L. Ed. 283, as to the recognition of Indian title to land obtained

from Spain and Great Britain.

Another case holding that in the territory derived from Mex-

ico there was no Indian title to be extinguished is Hayt v.

United States, 38 Ct. CI. 455. See also : Pino v. United States, 38

Ct. CI. 64.

b. No title or interest was given to the Pahute Indians by

the acts of the commissioners or the executive order relied

on by Appellant.
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Since the Indians had no aboriginal interest or title to the

lands in question, the question is whether the gratuitous act

of setting apart the reservation amounted to a conveyance by

the United States to the Indians of enough water to irrigate

any land. In other words, has the United States vested in these

Indians any property right it can enforce on their behalf?

In the opinion in the case of United States v. Powers, 16 Fed.

Sup. 155 (D. Mont. 1936) (which was affirmed by this court in

94 Fed. (2d) 783, CCA. 9, 1938), the Court at page 162 quotes

from Morrow v. United States, 243 Fed. 854, 856, as follows

:

"There is no question that the Government may, in its

dealings with the Indians, create property rights, which,

once vested, even it cannot alter. ***Such property rights

may result from agreement between the Government and
the Indian. Whether the transaction takes the form of

a treaty or of a statute is immaterial ; the important con-

siderations are that there should be the essentials of a
binding agreement between the government and the In-

dian and the resulting vesting of a property right in the

Indian."

We have referred above to the fact that in this case there

was no treaty or agreement with the Indians.

That there was no title or interest given to the Indians by

the presidential order appears from the case of United States

V. Ashton, 170 Fed. 509 (Wash. cc. W. D. 1909) (appeal dis-

missed 220 U. S. 604) , in w^hich the Indians were suing through

the United States to quiet title to lands held by defendant under

the State of Washington, These lands were tidelands. The

Court in denying the relief said at page 516

:

"A very good decision of this case could be made in a
short paragraph, stating the simple proposition that the

complainants are not entitled to prevail, for the reason
that they have failed to set forth in their bill of complaint
any deed, grant, law, treaty, record, or prescriptive right

evincing any color of title in the Puyallup Tribes of In-

dians as a community to any part of the shore lands in-

volved in this litigation.***"

At page 519

:

"***0f course, a mere change of conditions would not
annul a valid grant of property rights, but the executive
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orders making a reservation of public land for use of the
Indians were not irrevocable, nor in any sense a grant of
title. The difference between a reservation and a grant
is as tuide as the difference between a tenancy at will and
a freehold.***"

There is no question that the United States, by acts of the

Secretary of the Interior, pursuant to acts of Congress, con-

veyed its fee simple title to the upstream white settlers and

water users.

c. What the United States should have done for the Indians

in 1859 or 1874, or what it meant to do is a political question

and should not be decided by this Court.

In the case of United States v. Title Insurance and Trust

Co., 265 U. S. 472, 68 L. Ed. 1110, the Court, speaking through

Mr. Justice VanDevanter, said at page 485

:

"Again, it is said that the Indians were, prior to the
cession, the wards of the Mexican government, and by the
cession became the wards of this government ; that, there-

fore, the United States are bound to protect their interests,

and that all administration, if not all legislation, must be
held to be interpreted by, if not subordinate to, this duty
of protecting the interests of the wards. It is undoubtedly
true that this government has always recognized the fact

that the Indians were its wards, and entitled to be protected

as such, and this court has uniformly construed all legisla-

tion in the light of this recognized obligation. But the
obligation is one which rests upon the political depart-
ment of the government, and this court has never as-

sumed, in the absence of congressional action, to deter-

mine what would have been appropriate legislation, or to

decide the claims of the Indians as though such legislation

had been had. Our attention has been called to no legis-

lation by Congress having special reference to these par-
ticular Indians.***"

That there is a guardian and ward relationship between the

United States and the Indians, the Appellees do not deny, but

before the guardian can sue on behalf of the ward, there must

be a property interest or right of the ward involved. As we
have shown above, the Pahute Indians had no aboriginal right

or title by occupancy in the land involved, nor did they acquire
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any title by the Act of the Government in reserving the lands

of the Walker River Reservation from public sale, and for the

use of the Indians.

We might state at this time that, although there is some con-

fusion as to just what theory the Government is relying on in

bringing this suit, it seems to be most apparent that they are

trying to establish a right in the Indians, and that the Gov-

ernment is suing to enforce that right of the Indians. As we

have illustrated from cases cited above, the Government can-

not prevail on any theory.

d. There was never any requirement that the Indians live

on or cultivate the reservation lands.

In the Winters case, as we have pointed out, the Court

stressed the fact that the Indians, by the Treaty, had not only

ceded and given up lands for a smaller reservation, but that

they had agreed to occupy the reservation created under this

Treaty.

The fact remains, that there has never been any require-

ment that the Pahute Indians live on the Walker River Reser-

vation lands.

C. other factual circumstances at the time of the

creation of the Walker River Reservation.

1. California Was a State at the Time Walker River

Reservation Was Created :

As we have hereinbefore pointed out, at the time the Walker

River Indian Reservation was created in 1859 or in 1874, Cali-

fornia had long since been a state and had assumed sovereign

power over the waters within its borders. In 1859 Nevada was

a part of Utah Territory and afterwards the Territory of Ne-

vada was created. In 1864 Nevada was admitted to the

Union. The land within the State of Nevada was never Indian

country. The local customs, laws, and decisions of the Terri-

tories were given effect by the Act of 1866. See Basey v. Gal-
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lagher, 87 U. S. 670. In the Winters case the reservation was
created at a time when Montana was not a state, and so there

was no conflict of sovereign power.

2. In 1859 Pahutes at War With Whites :

The record shows that in 1859 the Pahute Indians were at war
with the whites and were so at war for some time subsequent to

1859 (R. 396-398, 574, 575, 576, 585-586, 592, 602, 603, 737,

754,770-772,773,831).

Because the Pahutes were a warlike, uncivilized people and

were, in 1859, when the commissioner of the General Land Office

made his recommendation, actually at war with the United

States, there could have been no agreement with the Indians.

The facts are that the reservation was set aside for the pro-

tection of the emigrants and to insure peace. There seems to

be- no justification for the Appellant's statement, page 32, note

8, that the creation of the reservation had, at least, the "tacit

consent" of the Indians.*

3. Purpose of Setting Aside Particular Tract of Land
AS AN Indian Reservation :

The 86,400 acres of land withdrawn for sale by President

Grant in 1874, as an Indian reservation, was chosen by the

Government for the reason that it provided a source of Indian

food, which was fish, roots, pine nuts, nut-grass, and game.

The reservation was chosen for these natural supplies of su-

stenance for the Indians (R. 588, 592, 595, 605, 651, 758).

If the government had contemplated at the time of the cre-

ation of the reservation that the Indians should support them-

selves by agricultural pursuits, they would have chosen a site

for the reservation in one of the fertile upstream valleys, which

would have had a more adequate water supply, especially in

dry years ; because, as we have pointed out in the statement of

That there was no "tacit consent" of the Indians to the creation

of the reservation appears from a judicial decision by the Supreme
Court of the State of Nevada in the case of State v. McKenney, 18
Nev. 182, at 198-199 (R. 831).
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evidence, there are many miles of sandy and gravely beds be-

fore the water reaches the Walker River Indian Reservation

at the very end of the river. The Appellant's Brief, page 24,

quotes from the Special Master's report, and the matter there

quoted seems to be illogical and wrong, when we compare the

statements therein to the actual facts. On page 25 the Appel-

lant makes the following statement

:

"The record is specific that the reservation was created

to reserve for the Indians sufficient of their lands to en-

able them to sustain life (R. 569),***"

See also : Appellant's Brief top of page 18.

As we have demonstrated above, this statement is incorrect

because these were not "their lands," and never had been

their lands by aboriginal right or otherwise ; and the main pur-

pose of the reservation was to protect the emigrants, preserve

peace, and give the Indians the exclusive right to the

fisheries and the sources of the natural Indian foods. As we
have shown from our statement of the evidence, the cultivation

of the Indian lands was rather an afterthought, and it was

many years before any Indian was cultivating any land. A
very few acres were put into cultivation by the Government

farmers.

If it were contemplated that they were to use the land for

agricultural purposes to the extent, as alleged, of cultivating

10,000 acres, then the Appellant and the Indians have appar-

ently done very little, if anything, to effectuate that purpose

in these sixty-five years.

D. Since, under the Constitution, Congress has the

power to dispose of public property, the implied ac-

quiescence of Congress to acts of the departments and
presidential orders should be strictly limited to ex-

pressed purposes and language. No more public prop-

erty should be found granted or reserved than is done

so by express language.

Article 4 Sec. 3 Clause 2 of the Constitution of the United

States provides : "The Congress shall have power to dispose
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of and make all needful rules and regulations respecting the

territory or other property belonging to the United States."

It would seem that Congress, alone, and only by some definite

act on its part, could reserve the waters of the Walker River

for the Indians. This because it is taking away the rights

from one part of the public domain and giving it to another

part. In this case the Government is relying on the act of

a department head on November 29, 1859, as establishing the

Walker River Indian Reservation ; this act of the department

head being ratified by a presidential proclamation or executive

order on March 19, 1874. In a note, page 8, the Appellant sets

out the fact that both the Special Master and the District Court

found that the reservation was created on November 29, 1859,

and cites authorities. Cases there cited are easily distinguish-

ed from this case and do not take up the question as to what

happens when between the act of the department head relied

on and the executive order many years later, there have been

intervening rights of innocent third parties, whose rights

were acquired pursuant to Acts of Congress. The most en-

lightening decision on the effect of executive orders and acts of

department heads, counsel for the Appellees were able to find,

is the case of United States v. Midwest Oil Co., 236 U. S. 459,

(59 L. Ed. 673 (1915)). In that case Mr. Justice Lamar re-

viewed the power of the department heads and President to

withdraw lands by executive order, without express statutory

authority. At page 469 it is stated

:

"***For it is to be especially noted that there was no
Act of Congress providing for bird reserves or these In-

dian reservations***. There was no statute empowering
the President to withdraw any of these lands for settle-

ment or to reserve them for any of the purposes indi-

cated, page 471.*** And in making such orders, which
were thus useful to the public, no private interest was in-

jured. For, prior to the initiation of some right given by
law, the citizen had no enforceable interest in the public

statute and no private right in the land which was the
property of the people. The President was in a position

to know when the public interest required particular por-

tions of the people's lands to be withdrawn from entry or
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location; his action inflicted no wrong upon any private

citizen, and being subject to disaffirmance by Congress,

could occasion no harm to the interest of the public at

large***."

The Court, page 472, supports this usage on the ground that

the Government is a practical affair intended for practical

men and states

:

"***Both officers, lawmakers and citizens naturally

adjust themselves to any long continued action of the Ex-
ecutive Department, on the presumption that unauthor-

ized acts would not have been allowed to be so often re-

peated as to crystallize into a regular practice. That pre-

sumption is not reasoning in a circle, but the basis of a

wise and quieting rule, that, in determining the meaning
of a statute for the existence of a power, weight shall be

given to the usage itself,—even when the validity of the

practice is the subject of investigation."

At page 475

:

"***These orders were known to Congress, as prin-

cipal, and not in a single instance was the act of the agent
disapproved. Its acquiescence all the more readily oper-

ated as an implied grant of power in view of the fact that

its exercise was not only useful to the public, but did not

interfere with any vested right of the citizen.

The Court thus recognized that the power over the public

domain was, to the fullest extent, in Congress. The implied

authorization of executive withdrawals from long continued

acquiescence is to apply ordinary principles of agency.

But because the guardianship of the public domain was a

trust in Congress and there was here no express enactment,

no more of the public domain should be taken from the public

than is actually set out. The case does not recognize any ad-

ditional authority in the President or the department heads

to control the public domain or to dispose of the water.

Furthermore, it is submitted that the question of ratifica-

tion, or relation back is material. It could not have related

back to the prejudice of intervening rights acquired by the set-

tlers under congressional legislation between the act of the de-
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partment head and the ratification by Presidential proclama-

tion.

Taylor v. Robinson, 14 Cal. 396 (1859).

In the situation presented by this case, between the date of

the letter of November 29, 1859, and the Presidential order of

1874, Congress had enacted the Act of 1862, the Act of 1866,

and the Act of 1870 with regard to the public domain.

Certainly the executive order could not destroy the established

policy of the United States expressed by Congress in these

acts. At the tim-e the executive order was made and at the

time as the Secretary of the Interior requested the order, in

1874, the United States and the Secretary of the Interior were

fully informed of the fact by department records that the whites

had settled the Walker River Valley and had filed many home-

steads and had preempted lands under the existing land laws,

and that they were using water for the irrigation thereof. In

the face of these facts and because there was no express statu-

tory authority for these withdrawals, and because no mention

was made of water in the executive order of March 23, 1874,

this Court should not find that the Government did reserve

any water for the Indians. It will appear, as has been stated

above, that there was nothing expressed in the letters or order

relied on by the Appellant in regard to water. This Court

should not read into these documents that which does not ap-

pear on the face of them. There is a further interference with

a vested right if this Court should apply the Government's

theory of implied reservation of water, because at all times im-

portant here California was a state and had full jurisdiction

over the waters therein. See Kansas v. Colorado, supra. Al-

though the Walker River Indian Reservation is located in Ne-

vada, the contended for theory of the Appellant, if adopted,

would greatly impair the water rights of the Appellees located

in California, as well as in Nevada, which have been acquired

under and recognized by local custom, laws and decisions of

California and Nevada. We may point out here that the United

States is not claiming as a riparian owner, or as an appropri-
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ator, but is saj'ing that it reserved enough water to irrigate the

lands within the Walker River Indian Reservation. The case

of Kansas v. Colorado, supra, would seem to be a complete

answer to this contention of the Appellant.

When once a state had come into being, any act of the Presi-

dent which would interfere with a state's sovereignty and pow-

ers of disposition over the waters of the streams v^dthin its bor-

ders, came too late.

E. Decisions supporting Appellees' contention that

the Winters case does not apply to the facts of this

case.

1. Cases Involving Indian and Other Reservations

Which Hold That There Is No Implied Reservation of

Water and Which Hold That the State Law Applies as

TO THE Disposal and Ownership of the Water:

The case of United States v. Wightman, 230 Fed. 277, 283

(Ariz. 1916) holds that the withdrawal of lands by the United

States from sale and entry does not operate as a withdrawal

of water by implication. The case was decided by Judge Saw-

telle who stated the issue as follows, at page 282

:

"Are the waters on an Indian Reservation reserved

for the use of the Indians?"

At page 283

:

"***The view that the Winters v. U. S. case, supra,

turned solely on the agreement with the Indians, is

strengthened by an examination of the brief of counsel for

the United States, when thev sav on page 573 of 207 U. S.

(28 Sup. Ct. 207, 52 L. Ed. 340) :

***"

"This view was sustained by the Supreme Court of

the United States, and is the sole basis out of which the

equities in favor of the Indians arise. The decision is not

an authonty that the ynere creation ex vi termini reserves

to the Indians, or to the United States for their benefit,

the beneficial use of all waters flowing within the reser-

vation. There is no treaty right of the Indians involved
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in this case, and there are no equities growing out of such
treaty or agreement in the case. The United States cer-

tainly had the right to devote waters rising within the res-

ervation to the use of people living outside the reserva-

tion, and the Indians could not complain."

In Krall v. United States, 79 Fed. 241 (C. C. A. 9, 1897)
The Court said : page 242,

*'***The creation of the reservation for military post

purposes did not destroy or in any way affect the doctrine

of appropriation thus established by the government in

respect to the waters of the nonnavigable streams upon
the public lands.***"

Semble : Larson v. Johnson 23 Ariz. 360, 203 Pac. 874
(1922).

In Sowards v. Meagher, 37 Utah 212, 108 Pac. 1112 (Utah,

1910), the Court had before it a case involving an attempted

appropriation of water of a stream while the land was part

of an Indian reservation. The reservation was subsequently

opened fo r settlement, but the issue was whether the applica-

tion so made to divert waters was valid when made while the

place of diversion was located on an Indian reservation. At

page 1115 of the opinion, the Court held:

"***It is now well-settled and recognized that there is

a distinction between initiating or acquiring a right to

the use of unappropriated public waters on the public do-

main, and a right or interest in or to the public lands them-
selves, and that the former is not dependent on the latter.

To initiate and acquire a right in and to the use of unap-
propriated public water, whether on the public domain
or within a reservation or elsewhere, is dependent upon
the laws or customs of the state in which such water is

found.***

"***In this respect the appropriation of unappropriated
public water on a reservation and the location of a mining
claim or other lands on or within a reservation rest on
different foundations, and are controlled by different

principles. The one is a proper subject of rightful ap-
propriation. The other is not. An appropriation made
of such waters will be protected, even as against the gov-

ernment of the United States.***"
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The above case is cited with approval in Adamson v. Black

Rock Power and Irrigation Co. 2 Fed. (2d) 437, CCA. 9, 1326.

The case of Byers v. Wa-Wa-Ne, 86 Ore. 617, 169 Pac. 121

(1917) was a statutory water adjudication proceeding in which

the United States appeared and sought to establish the rights

of sundry of its Indian wards, claiming for them water ade-

quate for the irrigation of so much of their allotments as were

situate in the bottoms of the Umatilla river. Byers filed con-

test against the United States on the ground his rights were

superior to those of the Indians and the United States. The

Indians, in 1855, had ceded to the United States a large ter-

ritory, and the Treaty set aside a smaller portion of land for

them. The contestant's ditch was built under the permission

of an agent in charge of the reservation, and this permission

was confirmed by federal statute in 1885. At the hearing the

witnesses for the United States testified that 5300 acres of

bottom land could be irrigated if the water diverted by contes-

tant were available. The United States claimed that the right

to use the waters of the Umatilla for irrigation was impliedly

reserved to the Indians by Treaty of June 9, 1855, and the Act

of 1885 granted only a revocable license to use the water, sub-

ordinate at all times to the rights of the Indians therein. The

lower court held for the United States and the Indians. Both

parties appealed, and upon the appeal the decree was modi-

fied. At page 126, the court said

:

"There is no mention of water in this Treaty except in

connection with the exclusive fishing right granted to the

Indians.*** But unless the implication of these water
rights is found in the Treaty when read in the light of

these purposes and circumstances, the rights contended
for must be held to be non-existent."

"On this branch of the case the Government relies on
Winters v. United States *** and United States v. Conrad
Investment Co.***"

The Court, after discussing these two cases, went on to say

on page 127:

"***These authorities do not hold, as we read them,
that a mere creation of an Indian reservation by treaty
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impliedly secures to the Indians all waters in streams
which touch the reservation which they at any time de-

sire to put to a useful purpose.***"

The Court concludes at page 128

:

"We cannot find, in the circumstances and conditions

attending the negotiations of the Indian Treaty of 1855,

any suggestion that the waters of the Umatilla River were
impliedly appropriated for the use of the Indians when-
ever they should see fit to avail themselves of these wat-
ers. The language of the Treaty is silent on the subject.

The right claimed is not essential to the maintenance of

the Indians or to their progress in the arts of civilized

life.***

On the whole case we are satisfied that the rights of the
Indians are paramount only to the extent of the waters
they require for household use and watering of livestock.

With this qualification the rights of contestant as adjudi-

cated by the Circuit Court are superior and paramount to

those of the United States as guardian of the Indians."

This case is distinguished from the case here because it in-

volved the construction of a treaty. The Court points out that

in the absence of express words or necessary implications from

the treaty water is not impliedly reserved for Indians on an

Indian reservation.

The contentions of the Appellees find support in a series of

cases relating to an analogous situation. These cases involve

the question of whether, when by treaty or an executive order,

an Indian reservation is set aside, there is also impliedly set

aside the tidelands adjacent thereto. Comparable to Winters

v. United States, supra, with regard to the implied reserva-

tion of the waters of a non-navigable stream, is the case of

United States v. Stotts, 43 Fed. (2d) 619, (Wash., 1930).

This was a suit, brought by the United States, to quiet title to

certain tidelands allegedly included in the Lummi Indian Res-

ervation, to which defendants claimed an interest through pur-

chase from the State of Washington. The facts were that Gov-

ernor Stephens of Washington Territory entered into a treaty

with the Indians in 1855. In 1873 the President of the United
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States issued a proclamation establishing the reservation pur-

suant to the Treaty. The proclamation defined the boundaries

as extending to the "low water mark on the shore of the Gulf of

Georgia." The State had conveyed these tidelands to the de-

fendants. At page 620 of its opinion, the court said

:

"It is primer law that Indian treaties are to be liberally

construed, to the end that Indians will retain the benefits

conferred by the treaty at the time of its execution." (Cit-

ing cases).

"The Indians' right of occupancy is not predicated

upon a grant by the United States, but under a reserved

aboriginal right which the Indians inherently held in the

land segregated and withheld from the land ceded by the

Indians under the treaty." (Citing cases)

.

The Court, after holding that the United States had the power

to grant the tidelands to the Indians, stated

:

"***I think the court may judicially know that the In-

dians subsisted during this time by hunting and fishing,

and the tidelands were a necessary prerequisite to the en-

joyment of fishing and which was evidenced by the procla-

mation of the President carrying the reservation to low
water, and this treaty having been promulgated and these

rights having been enjoyed by the Indians from time im-
memorial and until after the admission of the territory

as a state and to the present, the defendants may not
complain.***"

On page 621, the Court says:

"Each treaty and proclamation must rest upon its own
provisions.***

"The reservation of the tideland was made very plain

by definite declaration in extending it to low tide ***, and
the purpose is clear from Article 5 of the Treaty, where
the right to take fish on the usual and accustomed grounds
and stations is reserved.***"

Cf. United States v. Holt State Bank, 270 U. S. 49,

70 L. Ed. 465.

In commenting on this case the Court in the Stotts case,

supra, says at page 621

:
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"In United States v. Holt, supra, there was nothing ap-
proaching a right to the underlying mud lake, nor any-
thing indicating any purpose to withhold the land from
the future state. In this case there is the specific

declaration and the enjoyment during the entire period
by the Indians."

If the Stotts case, supra, is comparable to the Winters case

with regard to implied reservations of tidelands, then the case of

Taylor, et al. v. United States, 44 Fed. (2d) 531 (C. C. A. 9,

1930) (certiorari denied United States v. Taylor, 283 U. S. 820,

75 L. Ed. 1436) is comparable to this case and sets out the prin-

ciples we are contending for. This was a suit by the United

States to restrain the maintenance of certain barges off the

Indian village on the Quileute River. The issue turned upon

whether the tidelands under the barges was a part of the In-

dian reservation. The Quileute River was a navigable stream.

The Indians, by treaty, in 1855, had ceded a large area of land

to the United States, the treaty providing that there should be

reserved, for the use of the Indians, lands to be selected by the

President. Article 3 of the treaty reserved to the Indians the

right of taking fish at all usual and accustomed grounds and

stations, in common with all citizens of the territory. The

reservation was set apart by executive order of President

Grant, in 1873, and by the order of President Cleveland, in

1889, which described the land according to Government sur-

vey. This court reversed the lower court and dismissed the

action. At page 532 this court said

:

"***It is conceded that the grant of such lands by this

description to private individuals would convey no rights

below the high tide. The question is whether, in setting

apart these lots of land for the Quileute Indians, a dif-

ferent rule obtains, so that the United States Government,
as trustee for the Indians, retained title and jurisdication

over the bed of the Quileute river. The question is not

free from difficulty, although similar questions have been
frequently considered by the courts with relation to In-

dian reservations. In every case called to our attention

the description of the lands reserved to the use of the In-

dians either expressly included the body of water under
consideration, or the description included land below the
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high water mark, thus showing the intention to reserve

lands for the Indians held in the sovereign right of the

government for public purposes."

At page 533

:

"***It must be conceded that the government of the

United States could cede to an Indian tribe tideland and
submerged land held by it by virtue of its sovereignty.

Alaska Pacific Fisheries Co. v. United States, 248 U. S.

78, 39 S. Ct. 40, 63 L. Ed. 138 ; Donnelly v. United States,

228 U. S. 243, 264, 33 S. Ct. 449, 57 L. Ed. 820, Ann. Cas.

1913 E. 710 ; Shively v. Bowly, 152 U. S. 1, 14 S. Ct. 548, 38
L. Ed. 331, supra.***"

"***In other words, does the fact that the Indian tribe

in question had reserved to it the upland bordering upon
a navigable stream and navigable waters by necessary im-
plication reser^ve for their use the right in the adjoining
navigable water, its tide and submerged lands?"^**"

At page 534

:

"After all, the question is one of intent to be determined
from the terms of the instruments under consideration in

the light of surrounding circumstances and the history

leading up to the promulgation of the instrument. In the

President's proclamation under consideration, the navig-

able waters surrounding and adjacent to the uplands de-

scribed in the instrument are not referred to in any man-
ner.*** To hold that these tide and submerged lands were
reserved for the Indians by the executive order of Presi-

dent Cleveland, we must not only infer from the mere cir-

cumstance, that the Quileute Indians are a political body,
that they were given a right in navigable waters and the
lands thereunder, but also that it was the intent of the
President to deprive the state of jurisdiction thereover
and title thereto." "***lf we recognize the rule that in

grants to Indians uncertainties are to be determined more
favorably to them than to the government, we must here
recognize that the government act is dual in its effect,

if so construed, as it takes from the state a right already
expressly granted to it and reserves it for a political body,
not by express grant or reservation, but by mere implica-

tion.***"

At page 536

:

"There is nothing in the description of the land con-
tained in President Cleveland's executive order which jus-
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tifies an inference that it was the intention to reserve for
the Indians lands below the hightide line or lands covered
by the navigable waters adjoining the lands conveyed."

2. Interpretation of the phrase, "subject to existing rights"

to be found in the Desert Land Act of 1877.

Appellant, in a note beginning on page 13 and continuing

over to page 14 of its Brief, seeks to diminish the effect of the

case of California Oregon Power Co. v. Beaver Portland Ce-

ment Co., supra, on the ground that if the United States im-

pliedly reserved waters, that such a reservation was not af-

fected by the Desert Land Act, since that Act provided that

appropriations of water under it would be "subject to exist-

ing rights." A complete answer to this contention of the ap-

pellant is to be found in the above-cited case, at page 162, (295

U. S.) :

"The fair construction of the provision now under re-

view is that Congress intended to establish the rule that

for the future the land should be patented separately ; and
that all non-navigable waters thereon should be reserved

for the use of the public under the laws of the states and
territories named.*** The only exception made is that

of existing rights; and the only rule spoken of is that of

appropriation." (Italics those of the United States Su-

preme Court.)

See also : Williams v. City and County of San Francisco,

supra.

In the case of Byers v. Wa-Wa-Ne, supra, the Court, after

stating that the Government contended that a proviso to the

statute of 1885, which made it subject to "any existing right

to a reasonable use of the water of said stream for agricultural

purposes," etc., subjected this water right to the paramount

right of the Indians, said at page 126

:

"***The word 'existing' is significant. An existing

water right presupposes a well defined plan for utilization

of the water coupled with reasonable diligence in apply-

ing it to a useful purpose." (Citing many cases.)

That the four limitations Appellees have set out above, on

state power, are the only ones that the courts will recognize,



49

seems to conclusively appear from several of the very late

cases cited by Appellant in its Brief, page 23; especially

United States v. Powers, 94 Fed. (2d) 783 (C. C. A. 9, 1938).

(Affirmed: January 9, 1939 U. S. S. C.)

Skeen v. United States, 273 Fed. 93 (C. C. A. 9, 1921) ;

United States v. Parkins, 18 Fed. (2d) 642, 643 (Wye,
1926) ;

United States v. Hibner, 27 Fed. (2d) 909 (D. Ida.,

1928).

These cases all emphasize that the right reserved in the

Indians was due to the fact that there was a reservation of the

waters in the Indians, because they ceded lands to the United

States and there was a reservation implied in the grant, and

that the reservation was by the Indians and not by the United

States. For example in Skeen v. United States, supra, page 95,

the court says

:

"First, The grant was not a grant to the Indians, but
was a grant from the Indians to the United States, and
such being the case all rights not specifically granted were
reserved to the Indians.***"

In United States v. Parkins, supra, the court emphasises the

fact that the rights of the Indians under the treaties became

fixed and established before the act of admission, which made

Wyoming a sovereign state.

In United States v. Powers, supra, the court emphasized

that the rights so reserved by the Indians continued to exist

against the United States and its grantees, as well as against

the state and its grantees.

These cases seem to conclusively illustrate that in the ab-

sence of such a reservation in the Indians from a grant of their

lands to the United States, the United States can claim no in-

terest in the waters, in itself, or for the benefit of an Indian

tribe.

See United States v. Powers, 16 Fed. Sup. 155, at 159,

Affd. 94 Fed. (2d) 783, at page 786.
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This court at the page last cited, states as follows the United

States' contention as to its superior rights

:

"Appellant (United States) contends that, prior to the

Treaty of May 7, 1868, all rights in and to the waters of

Lodge Grass Creek, Little Big Horn River, and their trib-

utaries, were the property of appellant ; that all such rights

were by said treaty reserved to appellant and have never
been relinquished ; that no one else^—Indian or white—has
ever had the right to divert or use any of said waters with-

out appellants' consent; that no such right was conveyed
to or acquired by any patentee of allotted lands in the
Crow Reservation ; and that, in diverting and using said

waters for the irrigation of their lands, appellees are tres-

passers, and should be enjoined. Appellants' contention

is unsupported by authority and is contrary to holdings
of this court in Skeen v. United States, Conrad Investment
Co. V. United States, and Winters v. United States,"

The case of Alaska Pacific Fisheries v. United States, 248

U. S. 78, cited on page 27 of Appellant's Brief is easily distin-

guished from the fact of the instant case. As this court said

in its opinion in Taylor, et al. v. United States, supra, at page

535:

"The question is one of construction, of determining
what Congress intended by the words 'the body of lands

known as Annette Islands'.***"

This court emphasized that the case turned on the fact that

the geographical name was used in a sense to embrace the in-

tervening and surrounding waters as well as the upland. In

other words, as descriptive of the area comprising the islands.
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II. IN ADDITION TO THE LEGISLATION BY
CONGRESS WITH REGARD TO THE WATERS
OF WESTERN STREAMS, (lA above) THE CON-
STRUCTION GIVEN TO THIS LEGISLATION BY
THE GOVERNMENTAL DEPARTMENTS AND OF-
FICERS CHARGED WITH ITS EXECUTION IS

ENTITLED TO GREAT WEIGHT.

A. As is shown by the evidence, the Appellant re-

lied upon the doctrine of appropriation until as late

as 1910 for a water supply for the Walker River In-

dian Reservation. (R. 436, 498, 821, 822, 830).

The contemporaneous construction of a statute or statutes

by those charged with their execution, especially when it has

long prevailed is entitled to great weight, and should not

be disregarded or overturned, except for cogent reasons and

unless it is clear that the construction is erroneous.

United States v. Finnell, 185 U. S. 236, 244

United States v. Johnston, 124 U. S. 236, 253

Taylor v. Tayrien, 51 F. (2) 884, 891

Smith V. Baltimore & 0. R. Co., 48 F. (2) 861, 866

See also extensive note in 73 Lawyers' Edition 325

As we pointed out in the Midwest Oil Company case, supra,

the Appellant must depend on this same theory to support a

finding that there was a creation of the Indian Reservation in

either 1859 or 1874. Since this is so, the acts of the officers

in charge of the Walker River Indian Reservation become very

important especially when the Appellant is relying upon an un-

disclosed intention to reserve the waters of the Walker River

from further appropriation. The acts of the officers and of

the department heads in charge of the Walker River Reserva-

tion would seem to be conclusive evidence of the fact that there

was no intention on the part of the United States to reserve

the waters for the use of the Indians in either 1859 or 1874.

The rule contended for above finds support in several of the

cases cited by tha Appellant. See especially McFadden v.
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Mountain View M. & M. Co., 97 Fed. 670, 677, and United

States V. Minnesota, 270 U. S. 181, 205.

This same rule should apply to the granting of the patents

and other titles to the upstream white settlers by the officers

of the United States and Secretary of the Interior who were au-

thorized to administer and execute its land laws. These dis-

posals were made to the White settlers on behalf of the United

States by officers to whom it had committed the administra-

tion of the land laws ; and these disposals were consummated

in many instances by patents signed by the President of the

United States.

In the case of United States v. Wightman, 230 Fed. 277 (D.

Arizona, 1916) the court says at page 284

:

"The same officers of the government charged with the

protection of the Indians also execute its land laws, for

both are under the charge of the Secretary of the Interior,

and his action in approving the sale of the land with water
rights is of equal dignity and binding force on the govern-
ment as the demand now made by his subordinate with his

approval for the use of the waters by Indians***"

These patents which are construed according to the law of

the state where the land lies are the most accredited type of

conveyance known to our law, and the United States has con-

firmed these patents issued by its authorized officers by its

"silent acquiescence" with full knowledge of the situation and

by its retaining with such full knowledge all the benefits re-

ceived.

The Appellant to meet this firmly entrenched proposition of

law merely assumes that the acts of these officers and depart-

ment heads were unauthorized and then states that the United

States is not bound by such unauthorized acts (See Appellant's

Brief, page 46). But as we have above pointed out these were

the very officers to whom the United States had committed the

administration and execution of the public land laws and the

affairs of its Indian wards.
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B. Decisions referring to the fact that the United

States has not sought to apply the Winter's case to all

Indian Reservations.

In United States v. Powers, 16 Fed. Sup. 155 (D. Montana,

1936), the court says page 163 of its opinion:

"The numerous acts of Congress appropriating large

sums of money for the purchase of water rights on Indian

reservations covering a period of many years would seem
to indicate that Congress and the Interior Department
have not always adhered to the doctrine laid down in the

Winter's Case, but have been controlled to a great extent

by the facts as they appeared to be in each particular in-

stance."

Page 164

:

"If the facts here were the same as in the Winter's Case

and the whites were taking the water under the Desert

Land Act, applying it to lands outside of the reservation

and claiming superior rights to the Indians who had long

prior to the advent of these desert land entrymen appro-

priated and used the waters of the stream in question, then

it can be well understood how the Indians and their guar-

dian might have cause to complain that their rights were
being impaired,***"

In a note by the court to the case of California-Oregon Pow-

er Company v. Beaver Portland Cement Company, supra, page

1364, (79 L. Ed.), it is said:

"In this connection it is not without significance that

Congress, since the passage of the Desert Land Act, has

repeatedly recognized the supremacy of state law in re-

spect of the acquisition of water for the reclamation of

public lands of the United States and lands of its Indian

wards."

There has been a long continued course of action on the part

of the legislative and administrative officers, charged with the

administration of the public lands and Indian affairs, recog-

nizing that the state law as to the appropriation of water is con-

trolling except, as we have pointed out above, in cases where

the Indians in granting Indian land to the United States im-

pliedly by agreement or treaty reserved waters in themselves.
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In 1926 Congress appropriated money for a reconnaissance

to determine, among other things, how the water supply of the

Walker River might be augmented to provide additional wat-

ers for the Walker River Indian Reservation. (Appellant's

Brief page 53 ; Act of June 30, 1926, 44 Stat. 779) . This was

not an act of an administrative officer but an act of Congress

recognizing the situation created by the use of the water by

the Appellees on their lands obtained when the Appellant con-

veyed to them its fee simple title pursuant to earlier acts of

Congress and its great public policy in connection with the arid

public lands.

III. EQUITABLE CONSIDERATIONS.

A. The United States as a suitor in a court of

equity is bound by the principles and rules of equity.

In Brent v. Bank of Washington, 10 Peters 596, 9 L. Ed. 547,

the court stated the rule as follows : (page 554)

"***Thus compelled to come into equity for a remedy
to enforce a legal right, the United States must come as

other suitors, seeking in the administration of the law of

equity, relief; to give which, courts of law are wholly in-

competent, on account of the legal bar interposed by the

bank. This court, in The United States v. Mitchell (9

Peters, 743), have recognized the principle in the common
law that though the law gives the king a better or more
convenient rem-edy, he has no better right in court than the

subject through whom the property claimed comes to his

hands. * * * This principle is also carried into all the

statutes, by which the appropriate courts are authorized

to decide, and under which they do decide on the rights of

a subject in a controversy with the king, according to

equity and good conscience between subject and subject."

See also Iowa v. Carr 191 Fed. 257, 266, and cases cited

therein, and Walker v. United States, 139 Fed. 409, 414.

In Folk V. United States, 233 Fed. 177 (C. C. A. 8, 1916)

the court says at page 191

:

***** This is a suit in equity. In such a suit the claims

of the United States, or of the Creek Tribe, appeal to the
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conscience of the Chancellor with the same, but with no
greater or less, force than would those of a private cit-

izen, and, barring the effect of mere delay, they are judic-

able in a court of chancery, to whose jurisdiction the state

or nation or tribe submits them by every principle and
rule of equity applicable to the rights of private citizens

under like circumstances (Citing cases) *** Even where
equities are equal the defendant prevails ***."

See also: United States v. Arredondo 31 U. S. (6 Peters) 691.

That the courts have applied equitable principles and rules

in substantially similar situations appears from the case of

United States v. Ashton, supra.

In the case of State v. Towessnute, 154 Pac. 805 (Wash.

1916), (rehearing denied 155 Pac. 1041) the court refers

to considerations that should be applied to the case here. At

page 806 the court states

:

"***Inconvenience or loss to ourselves, however great,

is no ground, indeed, for taking away any rights that the

Indians may actually possess, but is proper to be consider-

ed in deciding from a dubious document whether Con-
gress, looking to the future of this commonwealth ever
intended to bestow them."

The argument of the Indians was that as there was a treaty

there was an implied reservation of all that the Indians did

not expressly convey. In answer to this contention the court

continues at page 807

:

"The Indian was a child, and a dangerous child, of na-
ture, to be both protected and restrained.***

"The treaty, then, interpreted as provision from the
great guardian of this tribe, should be construed toward
benevolence and even be bent somewhat toward the In-

dian's notion of his rights. On the other hand, the chil-

dren of the donor are not to be ignored. The whites, too,

were to enjoy, and enjoy by right, the waters and the soil.

The document must be read from that point of view as
well."

The court concludes that the United States through Con-

gress did not intend to cripple the governments of future states

in powers essential to them. On page 809 the court suggests
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that the act of admitting a state on an equality with the original

states might by implication revoke the previous treaty rights

of the Indians.

The court, page 809, says the following of the Winters case,

supra

:

"Winters v. United States * * *, is as easily distin-

guished ; for what that decided was that the Enabling Act
of Montana did not give water appropriators rights su-

perior to appropriations made by government officials

on an Indian reservation for the benefit of that reserva-
tion, when the appropriations were made before statehood.
The equal-footing right of Montana when entering the
Union was clearly not impaired."

We have cited the above case at this point to illustrate that

this court should, in deciding what the undisclosed intention

of the government was, if there was any such undisclosed in-

tention, apply equitable principles to the facts in order to ar-

rive at its conclusion. The Appellant should not be able to pre-

vail on such an undisclosed intention if it is inequitable and

oppressive to the white settlers in their enjoyment of the land

by titles obtained under Congressional Acts and without fraud

or wrongdoing on their part.

The Brent case, supra, is cited approvingly in the case of

the United States v. Ingate, 48 Fed. 251, which holds that

where the United States voluntarily appears in court it places

itself on an equality with other litigants.

The Appellant takes exception to the application of equit-

able principles against the United States especially where it

will "frustrate the purposes of its laws or to thwart public

policy." (See Appellant's Brief 56 and 57).

The cases cited by Appellant show the great interest of the

United States in its public lands which are held in trust for all

the people. See especially in this regard United States v. Trin-

idad Coal & Coking Company, 137 U. S. 161, 171, 34 L. Ed. 640.

As these cases emphasize, the ITnited States holds the public

land in more than a mere proprietary capacity. So for many

years the United States, acting as both trustee of the public
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lands and as guardian of the Indians, carried on a course of

conduct with regard to the public domain which resulted in the

settlement of the Walker River basin by the pioneer whites

under titles derived from the United States. The United States

at the same time as guardian of the Indians assisted them in

bringing the lands under cultivation and applying the water to

beneficial use under the appropriation system of the State of

Nevada. It would seem that upon application of ordinary

equitable principles the United States should not now be able to

say that in spite of its long continued acquiescence in the up-

stream settlements and its compliance with the water law, it

had impliedly reserved in 1859 or in 1874 waters which never

could be appropriated by the upstream white settlers and which

were never subject to state laws or any recognized system of

water law either under the appropriation or the riparian doc-

trines. Thus, to apply the statement in Appellent's Brief we
have referred to above, these equitable principles will not be

applied against the United States "to frustrate the purpose of

its laws or to thwart public policy." We have first in this case

a situation where the public land laws and the United States'

great interest in having its public lands occupied have been

not frustrated but fulfilled, and the great public policy of the

United States, as the trustee of the public lands for the benefit

of all the people, has been discharged. It would indeed be in-

equitable for the United States to now set aside the acts done

under the Congressional legislation with regard to the public

lands on any theory that it owed a higher duty to the Indians.

Not only are the above mentioned acts of Congress, and the

acts of those charged with the duty of carrying them into effect,

inconsistent with the thought that there was any reservation

of the waters of the Walker River in 1859 or 1874, but it would

seem that even if the Secretary of the Interior or the depart-

ment heads had reserved the waters, these inconsistent acts of

Congress would have deprived the Indians of any interest they

might have by such an attempted reservation. There can be

no doubt that inconsistent acts of Congress prevail over the



58

interests of the Indians. We need do no more than cite cases

set out in Appellant's Brief to support this statement. In Lone

Wolf V. Hitchcock, 187 U. S. 553, (Appellant's Brief page 32)

it was held that even where there was a treaty. Congress had

the full power to abrogate its terms for their own good or for

the good of the country. In Spalding v. Chandler, 160 U. S.

394, (Appellant's Brief page 30) the court held, at page 406

of its opinion, that Congress had the power to invade the sanct-

ity of the Indian Reservation and make a grant to a Canal com-

pany. The Supreme Court's decision in the case of California-

Oregon Power Co. v. Beaver Portland Cement Co., supra, is a

clear recognition that Congress no longer recognized any re-

servation of waters for any purpose unless obtained pursuant

to "local customs, laws and decisions", or unless it was obtained

under the treaty making power of the United States.

This line of thought would distinguish the Winters Case from

this case. There the reservation was created by a treaty in

1885, after the acts of 1866 and 1877. In that case the treaty,

which is part of the supreme law of the land, by its necessary

implications created an exception to the Acts of 1866 and 1877,

so far as there were unappropriated waters of the Milk River.

This was through the exercise of the treaty making power of

the United States in the absence of statehood.

The cases the Appellant cites on page 57 of its Brief empha-

size that the United States holds its public lands not as a mere

seller but as a trustee of the public. The cases involve situa-

tions where there were elements of wrongdoing and fraud on

the part of the defendants.

In our case it is not claimed or pretended that there was any

fraud or wrongdoing involved in the issuance of patents or the

disposal of land to the White settlers under the Homestead Act.

Preemption Laws, Act of 1866, Desert Land Act, or the several

school grants. The Appellees are before this court with "clean

hands" and there is no reason that the maxim of equity "that

he who seeks equity must do equity" should not be applied

against the United States. Here there has been no attempt
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by these Appellees to circumvent the laws of Congress or the

exercise of the public policy of the United States. As we have

stated above, these Pioneer settlers took up and purchased the

upstream lands from the Appellant under the laws of Congress

and pursuant to the public policy of the United States that those

arid lands should be put to the highest beneficial use. These

White settlers are in an especially strong position to demand

that the United States do equity in the premises.

The Appellant either waived intention to or concealed in-

tention to claim a prior and superior right in and to the waters

of Walker River and tributaries over the public at large for

whom it held the public lands in the capacity of trustee, and the

intending appropriators and improvers who took up the up-

stream lands under the Acts of Congress.

The great public policy of the United States has been served

by allowing the upstream whites to occupy the Walker River

Basin. In disposing of these lands to the Appellees the United

States was acting in a proprietary capacity and its acts, con-

duct and representations should in equity bind it in the same

manner and to the same extent that private individuals would

be bound.

United States v. Chandler-Dunbar Water Co. (C. C. A. 5,)

152 Fed. 25 at 40-41. (Affirmed 209 U. S. 447)

.

As we have pointed out above, the Indians have no rights

that they could set up against either the Appellant or the Ap-

pellees, so the Appellant may not say that it is suing in its

sovereign capacity to enforce the interest of the Indians. It

is merely able to sue as the proprietor of certain lands which

are not held as trustee for the general public as are public lands,

but are merely held for the use of certain Indians which have no

rights as against the United States. The Indians are not the

real parties in interest so the cases cited by Appellant in its

Brief as to the Guardian and Ward relationship are not ap-

plicable. (See Appellant's Brief pages 54-55).
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In this connection it might be noted that in the present case

the Appellant is seeking to establish for the Indians a right

which they have not heretofore enjoyed, and, in the sixty-five

years since the time when it is claimed such right was created,

no effort has been made to enjoy such right except to the very

limited extent above noted.

In other words, the Appellant is not attempting to restore

to the Indians something which was once theirs or to establish

the Indians' claim to rights which they once exercised.

Appellees most strongly insist that this right never existed

in the Indians and that what is now attempted to be done by

the Appellant is to recall the governmental grants given to

the white settlers and to confer upon the Indians rights which

for sixty-five years they neither claimed nor used.

The Appellant not only is saying that it is not bound by any

principles or rules of equity and fair dealing, but it is seeking

to set up a right to the use of the waters of the Walker River

unknown to any theory of water law which applies or has ever

applied in the United States. The Appellant is not seeking to

come under the riparian or appropriation systems of water

law, but is claiming a water right for non-existent Indians on

lands that have never been cultivated, and presents a situation

that is not covered by the exception recognized in the Winters

case, supra.

B. The principles of equity underlying the doctrine

of laches and estoppel are a bar to the Appellant's suit.

1. Laches :

It may be conceded that the United States is not ordinarily

bound by mere delay or state statutory periods of limitations.

However, the United States as a souvereign, as we have pointed

out above, is subject to the equitable principles that are the basis

for these doctrines. In this connection, while recognizing that

the government has a policy in regard to the Indians and that
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its policy is a very commendable one, the question arises as to

how long the appellees are expected to wait before the govern-

ments acts upon that policy. In this case it has waited approxi-

mately sixty-five years, during all of which time it has not

merely "slept on its rights" and allowed the development of

the Walker River basin, but it has invited and encouraged these

settlers by acts of Congress.

As early as 1904, when case No. 731 was commenced and in

which the Appellant was invited to set up its rights, it was

obvious that there was a shortage of water on the Walker River

and storage was required for the Whites. At that time wit-

nesses were alive who could have testified as to the conditions

existing at the time the reservation was created both on the

reservation and among the upstream Whites. By waiting until

1924 to set up the claimed rights of the Indians the United

States has not only prevented the Appellees from having these

witnesses, but has also put them to great expense in litigating

the same issues that could and should have been decided in Case

731, It is one of the equitable bases for the doctrine of laches

;

that a suitor cannot so long sleep on his rights that time pre-

vents the proper presentation of a remedy or defense ; and also

by laches cause the other party to suffer detriment.

21 C. J. (Equity) Sec. 211, p. 210 et. seq.

2. Estoppel :

The Appellant has contended in its Brief, pages 33-60, that

the United States may not be estopped and that the facts of

this case would not constitute estoppel between individuals.

In our discussion we shall show that in this case estoppel does

apply against the United States and that the facts of this case

would constitute an estoppel between man and man.

Closely related to the doctrine of laches is the doctrine of

equitable estoppel. The equitable principles upon which the

doctrine of estoppel is based are that it would be inequitable

because of the acts and conduct of the person seeking relief to

enforce them against a person who in good faith has relied
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upon such conduct and who has been led thereby to change his

position and acquire rights. The United States as a suitor is

not exempt from the principles underlying the doctrine of

laches and estoppel from any notion of extraordinary preroga-

tive but for reasons of public policy. The United States v.

Kirkpatrick 9 Wheat. 720, 735, 6 L. Ed. 499.

The doctrine of estoppel rests on principles of universal jus-

tice and should be applied against the sovereign in a proper

case as it is applied against an ordinary individual.

Walker v. United States, 139 Fed. 409 (C. C. Ala.), Id.,

148 Fed. 1022 (C.C.A.).

It is submitted that the essence of estoppel is unfairness to

one party, and the principles underlying estoppel should be al-

lowed in all its degrees unless it would impair the inherent

sovereignty of the United States. In this case, as we have

hereinbefore pointed out, the Appellant did the acts, relied on

here to estop it, in the exercise of its sovereignty and to carry

out its obligations as trustee of the public land. The observance

of honest dealing with the White settlers who in good faith

took up the public land becomes of greater importance than

passing gratuities to the Indians. See United States v. Wall-

amet Valley and C. M. Wagon Road Co. 42 Fed. 351, 358-359

(Ore., 1890).

In none of the cases cited by the Appellant were there in-

volved, as in the instant case, the rights of an innocent pur-

chaser of property from the government without notice of the

government's adverse claim or interest and without knowledge

of circumstances to put him upon inquiry.

To illustrate the contention that where the means of knowing

the facts are available to both sides there can be no estoppel.

Appellant cites cases on page 51 of its Brief. The only facts

Appellant relies on to give this notice are set out in a finding

of the Master (R. 271, Brief pages 51). As Appellees have

pointed out in their statement of the evidence, the evidence

shows that it was many years after 1859 before the Appellant's
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farmers had cultivated any land and it was many years before

the Indians cultivated any lands for themselves. It is to be

assumed that because this finding was not supported by the

evidence the District Court made no such finding. There was

nothing about the desultory attempts to cultivate the lands of

the reservation that would lead to the conclusion that the Ap-

pellant had reserved all the waters of the Walker River for any

lands that might be irrigated by any Indians that might ever

make the reservation their home. The cases cited by Appellant

involved factual situations which the courts found were neces-

sarily known to both parties. For example, the case of Morris

V. Bean, 146 Fed. 423, is distinguishable, as appears in part

from the language cited therefrom on page 49 of Appellant's

Brief:

"* * * complainant and intervener were relying upon
the same water to maintain their improvements already
made, and to carry on their farming operations already
begun. Under this view of it the one side is as much estop-

ped as the other."

The Court in Morris v. Bean also holds that there were no

laches on the part of the moving party as he had constantly

protested while the supply of water grew less from year to year.

As appears from the evidence, the two elements italicized in

the above quotation were not present in the case at bar, and

further, the Appellant in this suit is not limiting its claimed

rights to merely provide water for farming operations that may
now exist on the reservation. In our case the fact that the

Indians finally engaged in diverting water and applying it to

beneficial use may have been known to some of the upstream

White settlers but there was nothing from the physical set up

that would show the Indians or the United States claimed an

implied reservation of water for ten thousand acres of unculti-

vated lands for non-existent Indians. There is no foundation

therefore for the statement that the facts were equally known

to both parties and hence there were not elements on which an

stoppel can be founded. This discussion applies also to the rest

of Appellant's cases on page 51 of its Brief. These cases cited
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on page 51 do not support Appellant's contention that this rule

should apply to this case as there the means of knowledge or

notice was of a public law, either an Act of Congress, or a treaty

or was from the physical facts. In the case here there were

neither public laws nor physical facts to give the White Pioneers

knowledge of the government's implied reservation of the

waters of the Walker River.

The statement made by Appellant, bottom of page 51 and top

of page 52 of its Brief, is without merit, because the Court

will take judicial notice that under the Desert Land Act, if not

before, there was machinery set up to determine what lands

were arid, and it was only after there was such a finding that

patents were issued.

In the case of Lancashire Shipping Company v. Elting, 70

Fed. (2) 699 (Appellant's Brief, page 51) the agent of the

Secretary of Labor was charged with knowledge of the records

of his department.

To further illustrate that to make the Appellant's contention

effective there must be notice from either physical facts or

public law, we call the court's attention to the case of United

States v. Conrad Investment Company, 156 Fed. 125, (Appel-

lant's Brief, pages 44-45). This was a case where an estoppel

would not apply under the facts. There was involved a treaty

by which the Indians had ceded their lands to the United States

and had reserved what was not expressly granted. This treaty

was, like all treaties, a public law and a part of the supreme

law of the land, and, as an act of Congress, is presumed to be

known to all. For this reason the court, in that case, properly

held that "The settlers must necessarily take with full know-

ledge of the law." (See quotation at bottom of page 45 of Ap-

pellant's Brief).

See also: Carpenter v. United States, 111 U. S. 347.

In the instant case, the acts of the department heads in with-

drawing the land from sale were not laws and were not notice

to the upstream Whites that waters were "impliedly reserved".
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It is obvious that grave injustice would be done by permitting

the United States to proceed with its claim irrespective of its

negligent and harmful delay. Nothing short of a binding pre-

cedent would justify a ruling that the Appellant should not be

bound by such applicable equitable principles.

See: The Falcon, 19 Fed. (2) 1009 (Md. 1927).

There seems to be no good reason why under the facts of this

case the Appellant should not be estopped in the same manner

as would an individual.

United States v. Stinson, 125 Fed 907 (C. C. A.) Id. 197
U. S. 200, 49 L. Ed. 724.

It is clear from the authorities that the United States

can be estopped by the legislation of Congress and the

acts of the departments and officers pursuant to such legisla-

tion.

21 C. J. pag>e 1185, Section 190.

Appellant at page 40 of its Brief, seeks to deny the applica-

tion of the doctrine of estoppel by saying that the United

States cannot be estopped by unauthorized acts of its agents,

citing Utah Power and Light Co. v. United States, 243 U. S.

389, and Cramer v. United States, 261 U. S. 219. These are

clearly cases where the agent was unauthorized and was acting

wrongfully and fraudulently. In this case the acts of the agent

were done pursuant to Congressional legislation and these au-

thorized acts estop the Appellant because these officers and

department heads were authorized to dispose of the public

lands and to carry on the affairs of the Indians, and it must be

assumed that they were acting within the purview of their

authority. See Duval v. United States, 25 Ct. of CI. 46, and

Harston v. United States 21 Ct. of CI. 451.

A recent case holding that the sovereign state of Pennsylvan-

ia could be barred by laches and estoppel was the case of Penn-
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sylvania v. Union Traction Company of Philadelphia, 194 Atl.

661 (Pa. 1937), wherein the court said, at page 674:

"Estoppel does not depend on time alone but on action

and failure to act after knowledge, 'But it is unnecessary
to multiply cases that all proceed upon the theory that

laches is not, like limitations, a mere matter of time ; but
principally a question of the inequity of permitting the

claim to be enforced, and inequity founded upon some
change of conditions or relations of the property of the
parties.' Galliher vs. Cadwell 145 U. S. 368, 273, 12 Su-
preme Court 873, 875 36 L. Ed. 738 * * * "

In United States v. Beebe, 127 U. S. 338, 348, 32 L. Ed. 121,

after holding that under the facts of that case the United States

was estopped by laches, the court sets out facts that contributed

to its findings that the government was barred so analogous

to the facts of the instant case that we repeat them here.

Page 348

:

" * * * The fact that a city has been built upon the land

in question ; the occupation of large portions of it by hun-
dreds of innocent purchasers, the homesteads of many
families covering other portions of it; the uninterrupted
possession maintained for more than a generation, all rest-

ing upon faith in the patent issued by the United States

Government,—constitute reasons more than sufficient for

the refusal of the court to set aside such patent at the suit

of a party who has so long slept upon his alleged rights."

See also : United States v. Ashton, supra ; Moran v. Hor-
sky, 178 U. S. 205, 208 ; Mountain City Copper Co. v. Uni-
ted States, 142 Fed. 625.

The acts and conduct of the Appellant, through its officers

and agents in disposing of its public domain under the legisla-

tion of Congress to the Appellees, and the expenditure of

millions of dollars on irrigation works, houses and other im-

provements by the Appellees, have, as Judge St. Sure pointed

out in his supplementary opinion (R. 492, 14 Fed. Sup. 10),

placed the white settlers in an "inexpugnable position". Under

such facts and circumstances, this court should not be moved

to give a decree destroying the rights of the White Pioneers,
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and throwing back to their native arid state, these thousands

of acres of producing" lands.

To summarize Appellees' contention that the equitable prin-

ciples behind the doctrines of laches and estoppel bind the

United States—the "acquiescence" by act and silence which

extended over such a long period of time controls the rights

and remedy of the United States in obedience to the equitable

maxims : "He who seeks equity must do equity," and " He who
comes into equity must come with clean hands." See : 21 C. J.

page 1216, Section 221 ; First Federal Trust Co. v. First Bank

of San Francisco (C. C. A. 9, 1924) 297 Fed. 356 ; United States

V. Central Stockholders Corp., supra.

CONCLUSION
The form of decree suggested by the Appellant, (Brief page

60), would be so indefinite as to destroy the values of all the

lands of the Appellees, and render them of fluctuating and un-

certain worth. This proposed form of decree illustrates the

great objection to the Appellant's attempt to establish the in-

terests of non-existent persons on lands that have never been

brought under cultivation. Also, it should be taken into con-

sideration that the storage reservoir that the Appellant has

built for the Indians since this case was tried and the evidence

closed now furnishes additional water for the Indian lands.

Appellees feel that nothing more readily recommends itself

to the understanding of this court than the picture presented

by the evidence of the arid lands of the Walker River basin

being brought slowly into cultivation by the upstream white

settlers, who as patentees and transferees of the fee simple title

of the Appellant, changed the forbidding nakedness into fertil-

ity and productiveness, where otherwise there would be steril-

ity, so that communities have been created with thousands of

people who are dependent upon the life-giving waters of the

Walker River.

To grant the Appellant the relief it seeks would be to deprive

the Appellees of water and return to their former worthless
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state thousands of acres of hard earned lands. All this would

be done because of an afterthought on the part of the Appellant

or an exercise of "hindsight" to the effect that the Appellant

now feels that when it created the Walker River Indian Reserv-

ation it should have reserved what, in dry years, would be all

the waters of the river. As we have pointed out heretofore,

what the government intended to do for the Indians at Walker

Lake as regards water was not on record in the Land Office,

nor in any treaty, or in any record that has been introduced

into evidence.

Appellees have emphasized throughout this Brief that no one

of their predecessors in interest acquired lands upstream with-

out believing that after acquiring the fee simple title to the

lands from the Appellant and by appropriating the water and

applying it to beneficial use he was getting a permanent right

to the water and that this right constituted the most of the

value of the land for which he paid. This belief has been en-

couraged throughout the years by the Appellant and by the

courts, and emphasized when the Appellant was invited in 1904

to set up any rights it might claim in suit 731 and it failed to

do so. Appellees are not able to conceive that the Appellant

should now be able to say that when it conveyed its fee simple

title to the land it did not include that which gives the land its

only value in the western states—the water.

Thus the Appellees are startled when the Appellant, after the

White settlers have been appropriating and using the water

for some sixty-five years, seeks to deprive them of these waters,

without compensation, for non-existent Indians on uncultivated

lands. The surprise of the Appellees is understandable and it

would seem that the sound principles of the cases that have been

cited in this Brief and the ordinary constitutional guarantees

should protect them in what they regard as their property. (In

this connection we again refer to the case of Farmer's Invest-

ment Company v. Carpenter, supra.) Especially is this true

when it is remembered that the great public policy of the Ap-

pellant was to encourage the reclamation of the public lands
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and, as trustee for all the public, see that they were settled and

cultivated.

For any and all the reasons set out in this Brief, it is respec1>

fully submitted that the decree of the District Court be affirmed

and the Appellant dismissed hence.

William M. Kearney,

Edward F. Lunsford,

Myron R. Adams,

George L. Sanford,

William H. Metson,

Robert Taylor Adams,

Solicitors for Appellees.
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APPENDIX A

IV. Discussion of Cases Cited in Appellant's Brief.

Cases cited by Appellant on pages 20-23 of its Brief to sup-

port the implied reservation theory are distinguished from the

case before this court because

:

1. They each involve a situation where the Indians by treaty

ceded a larger body of land to the United States and reserved

in themselves a smaller area ; the courts holding that what had

not been expressly granted to the United States was reserved

by the Indians.

2. The court had before it to construe, a treaty or agree-

ment with the Indians and in so doing found that such a reserva-

tion of water was within the language of the treaty or agree-

ment.

The case of Spalding v. Chandler, 160 United States 394,

(Appellant's Brief page 30) involved a treaty and is simply

a holding that the Indians held the land reserved to them by

the same title under which they had previously held it. As we
have stated above there was no previous interest in the Indians

in the Walker River Reservation lands. A reading of the com-

plete paragraph on pages 402-403 of the opinion illustrates that

the case does not support the Appellant's statements on page

30 of its Brief.

The case of McFadden v. Mountain View Min. & Mill. Co., 97

Fed. 670, (Appellant's Brief page 31) and the other cases and

opinions cited thereon simply determine that after a reserva-

tion is created it is closed to mineral locations or other tres-

passers by the Whites. See : Sowards v. Meagher, supra.

The United States v. Kirkpatrick, 9 Wheat. 720, (Appellant's

Brief pages 16, 38) involved a situation where laches was set

up against an action by the United States on a bond. The court,

page 733 of its opinion, states that the laches would not dis-

charge a contract of this nature between individuals, so, of
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course, the doctrine of laches would not apply against the gov-

ernment.

In the case of United States v. Beebe, 127 U. S. 338, (Appel-

lant's Brief pages 16, 38) the doctrine of laches was applied

against the United States. This case is also authority for the

proposition that equity will not give relief where there is gross

negligence or delay. (See page 347 of the opinion).

The facts of the case of Utah Power & Light Co. v. United

States, 243 U. S. 389, (Appellant's Brief, pages 17, 38, 40, 46)

are concisely set out in United States v. Southern Power Com-

pany, 31 Fed. (2) 852, (C. C. A. 4, 1929) at page 857, wherein

the court says

:

" * * * In that case the power company, without contract

or permit, constructed reservoirs, power lines, etc., upon
forest lands of the government, relying upon an under-
standing with certain government officers that all rights

essential thereto would be granted under the act of 1905
(33 Stat. 628). It was held that the government was not

bound or estopped by the agreement of its officers which
the law did not permit, and that the company could claim
nothing under the act of 1901 (31 Stat. 790) because it

had not conformed to its requirements or received any
permission or license under it. In that case the defendant
entered into an agreement, not authorized by law, with
regard to the public domain, which officers of the govern-
ment could not deal with, except in accordance with the
powers conferred upon them by law. * * * "

Of course in such a situation the doctrine of laches would not

bar the government. In the case before this court there is no

question of the Appellees' failure to comply with acts of Con-

gress ; and as before stated, the fee simple title was conveyed

to them by properly authorized agents under Congressional leg-

islation.

"Much is said in the briefs about several congressional

enactments providing or recognizing that rights to the

use of water in streams running through the public lands

and forest reservations, may be acquired in accordance

with local laws, but these enactments do not require par-

ticular mention, for this is not a controversy over water
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rights, but over rights of way through lands of the United
States, which is a different matter, and is so treated in

the right-of-way acts before mentioned. See Snyder vs.

Colorado Gold Dredging Co. 104 C. C. A. 136, 181 Fed.
Rep. 62, 69."

(Id. 243 U. S. at 410-411).

The many cases on page 39 of the Appellant's Brief are mere-

ly cumulative and most are cited in Utah Power & Light Com-

pany V. United States, supra. They involve distinguishing fea-

tures clearly apparent upon reading, and, in most of the cases

there were not such laches as would bar a suit by an individual

to enforce the individual's interest in property owned by him.

The case of United States v. Standard Oil Company of Cali-

fornia, 20 Fed. Supp. 427, (Appellant's Brief pages 17, 39, 47,

50, 51, 52) involved a situation where the title to land in the

United States had never been divested. In our discussion of the

case of Brant v. Virginia Coal & Iron Co., 93 U. S. 326, (Ap-

pellant's Brief pages 17, 48, 51) we will further distinguish

the language of the Standard Oil Company case.

The case of United States v. Minnesota, 270 U. S. 181, (Ap-

pellant's Brief pages 16, 39) involved a treaty situation, and

the court holds that the United States can remove "unlawful

obstacles" to the fulfillment of its obligations to the Indians

and that state statutes of limitations are not a bar.

The cases of Utah Power & Light Co. v. United States, 243

U. S. 389, and Cramer v. United States, 261 U. S. 219, have been

distinguished hereinbefore on the proposition for which they

are cited in Appellant's Brief, page 40, and we have pointed

out that the acts of the officers of the Land Department and

Indian Department, both under the Secretary of Interior, were

to carry out the purposes of those departments and the legisla-

tion by Congress with regard to the public lands, and that under

such legislation their acts were authorized, sanctioned, and per-

mitted as they were the very officers charged with carrying

into effect the legislation of Congress in regard to the public
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lands. (This comment applies also to Appellant's argument

and cases on page 46 of its Brief)

.

The case of Cramer v. United States, supra, recognizes what

the Appellees have contended for : that rules of law and equity

apply against the United States as against any other suitor

as the Supreme Court modified the decree of the Circuit Court

of Appeals and applied the well recognized rule that possession

alone, without title or color of title, confers no right beyond the

limits of actual possession ; so the United States was limited

to the lands actually occupied and fenced by the Indians.

The argument of Appellant in its Brief, bottom of page 44

and top of page 45, is not applicable to the case before this

court. The Indians involved here have no title to the lands of

the reservation even at the present, except as to very few al-

lottees.

United States v. Morrison, 203 Fed. 364, (Appellant's Brief,

page 44) is not authority for any proposition involved in this

case. In fact, the opinion states that the Indian Agent denied

under oath that he gave consent to the illegal diversion of the

waters from the government's ditch.

The cases of United States v. Standard Oil Company of Cali-

fornia, 20 Fed. Supp. 427 (Appellant's Brief, page 47), and

Brant v. Virginia Coal & Iron Co., 93 U. S. 326 (Appellant's

Brief, page 48), and Morris v. Bean, 146 Fed. 423 (Appellant's

Brief, page 49), involve a mistaken definition of equitable

estoppel when applied to the situation before this court. To

understand why this definition should not be applied to the

facts of the case here we shall refer to Pomeroy's discussion of

the doctrine applied in Mr. Justice Field's holding in the case

of Brant v. Virginia Coal & Iron Co., supra, set out on page 48

of Appellant's Brief. This case adopts the theory that fraud

is the very essence of equitable estoppel and that an actual

fraudulent intent to mislead is a necessary requisite.

Pomeroy on Equity Jurisprudence, Vol. 2 (Fourth Edition)

Section 806 and Note page 1653 and 1654.
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This rule, as Pomeroy points out on page 1655, was a doctrine

developed long before modern rules of equitable estoppel by

conduct were recognized. "It is confined to estates in lands."

At page 1656 Pomeroy states the reason for the rule as being

that to estop the owner of land by his acts and preclude him

from setting up his legal title is opposed to the letter of the

statute of fraud, and so, unless there is actual fraud the parol

evidence rule would be violated by the introduction of this evi-

dence.

Since the statute of frauds is in no manner involved in the

case before this court, this rule does not apply and this defini-

tion of equitable estoppel is not applicable to the facts. The

court should not limit the application of general principles

of equity applicable to this case because there was no fraud

except in the sense that to permit Appellant now to set up its

claim after its acts and conduct relied on by the Appellees to bar

this action, would be "unconscientious" or "inequitable." See

also Galbraith v. Lunsford, 87 Tenn. 109, 9 S. W. 365 (1 L.R.A.

522, 527 and note citing cases).

The Appellant cited Brant v. Virginia Coal & Iron Company,

supra, to support the proposition that even between individuals

the "facts and circumstances" relied on here by Appellees

would not constitute laches or estoppel. That this is not true

see United States v. Beebe, supra; United States v. Ashton,

supra ; Galliher v. Cadwell, 145 U. S, 368 ; Notten v. Mensing,

45 Pac. (2) 198, 3 CaHf. (2) 469 ; Chicago v. Union Stock Yards,

164 111. 224, 45 N. E. 430, See also our many cases cited under

III "Argument".

We have heretofore admitted that the relation between the

United States and the Indians was that of guardian and ward,

but as we therein stated the ward must have some interest or

title before the guardian can sue on its behalf. Here any title

or interest that the Indians may have is due entirely to the

beneficence of the United States, and the plenary power of the

guardian over the interest and title of the Indians is well set-

tled.
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As the legislation by Congress and the acts of the officers

charged with the execution of the legislation with regards to

public lands has been entirely inconsistent with the theory of

implied reservations of water for the Indians, it seems clearly

inequitable for the United States even on behalf of its

wards to claim freedom from equitable principles. See

Vinson v. Graham, 44 Fed. (2) 772 C. C. A. 10, 1930).

Cases cited by Appellant, pages 54 to 55, are easily distinguished

from the case here. The Indians and their guardian knew of

the conditions on the Walker River for this long period of years

and assisted in the establishment of them.

Cases cited by the Appellant either involved situations where

there were no representations by either the guardian or the

ward or there were illegal sales of the ward's property without

obtaining the required order of court, and in general these cases

did not involve facts which showed strong equities in favor of

the one seeking to set up the estoppel. It is well established

that the doctrine of estoppel is applicable to a guardian and

ward situation where the guardian's acts are authorized and

are not a fraud upon his ward. Each of the cases cited by

Appellant in this connection is concerned with a situation where

the guardian's acts with relation to his ward's property were

unauthorized. In the instant case, the acts were authorized

and proper ; and furthermore, there is no property of the ward

involved herein.
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APPENDIX B

Discussion of Unreported Cases Cited in Appellant's

Brief. Pages 23, 29-30.

United States v. Orr Water Ditch Company, et al, refeiTcd

to in Appellant's Brief, pages 23, 29, 30, is a case which is still

pending in the United States District Court for the District of

Nevada. The Master appointed by the court to take testimony

in said case and to report proposed findings and decree, ren-

dered his report in the year 1926, or thereabouts, and recom-

mended that the distribution of the water of the Truckee River

be administered in accordance with the Master's proposed find-

ings and decree for a period of three years. The court, there-

fore, entered a temporary restraining order so as to permit

the distribution of the waters for a trial period. Numerous

exceptions were filed to the Master's report and many of these

exceptions have never been heard or disposed of to date. There

has been no final decree entered in the cause. The quotation from

the restraining order referred to on page 30 of Appellant's

Brief is taken from the Master's report, and while it is correct

that the temporary restraining order contains such language,

no serious objections were interposed to the entrj' of the re-

straining order so that the distribution of water under the

Master's report might be given a fair trial before the excep-

tions ^^•e^e disposed of. The exceptions still stand undetermined

with reference to this particular finding of the Master. We
feel, therefore, that it is not a final decision of the court in any

respect, nor has it any greater force or effect than did the find-

ings of the master in this case, which were substantially the

same when submitted to the court and were reversed by Judge

St. Sure.
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As to the other unreported cases cited pages 23 and 29 of
Appellant's Brief, the opinions were not available to the Ap-
pellees. In reply to letters with regard to these opinions the
Appellees received the following correspondence from the clerks

of the respective United States District Courts:

"Department of Justice

Clerk's Office United States Court

District of Colorado

"George A. H. Fraser, Clerk Denver Colorado,

William Graf, Chief Deputy Clerk January 5, 1939

Mr. William M. Kearney,

Attorney at Law,

Reno, Nevada.

Dear Sir

:

"Receipt is acknowledged of your letter of the third instant

relative to Equity Cause No. 7736, United States vs. Morrison

Consolidated Ditch Co.

"No opinion was filed in this case.

"Decree for plaintiff on stipulation and order pro confess©

was filed and entered of record on October 25, 1930.

Yours very truly,

GEORGE A. H. FRASER,
Clerk.

"

H.
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" Department of Justice

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

Office of the Clerk

District of Utah

Salt Lake City, Utah,

January 4, 1939.

U.S. vs. Cedarview Irrigation Co.,

Equity 4427

U.S. vs. Dry Gulch Irrigation Co.,

Equity 4418.

Mr. William M. Kearney,

Attorney at law,

Reno, Nevada.

Dear Sir

:

"Replying to your letter of January 3, the files in these two

cases do not show that an opinion was handed down, however,

in March of 1923 a decree was signed in each case by Judge

Johnson fixing the distribution of water and the number of

second feet to be diverted in several ditches and canals and to

retain jurisdiction of the cases by appointment of a water

commissioner to administer the decree.

"We do not have extra copies of the decrees and should you

desire them our charge for typeing in No. 4427 would be $3.50

and in 4418 the cost would be $2.70.

Very truly yours,

W. B. Wilson, Clerk.

By V. P. Ahlstrom,

Chief Deputy."
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APPENDIX C

Appellant on page 11 of its Brief states that; "In 1926 Con-

gress (Act of June 30, 1926, 44 Stat. 779) authorized a recon-

naissance to determine the feasibility of constructing a dam
on Walker River to conserve its v^ater for irrigation (R. 393-

400, 498). Pursuant to this authorization a report was made

recommending among other things that a storage reservoir be

created for the reservation (R. 400-401, 498). It does not ap-

pear that any action was taken on this report."

As we have set out in our Statement of the Evidence this

reservoir was built after the evidence in this case was closed.

Because we feel the Court should have this information we are

setting out an acknowledged statement by Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior with regard to the storage reservoir

for the Walker River Indian Reservation lands.

" FEDERAL EMERGENCY ADMINISTRATOR
OF PUBLIC WORKS
WASHINGTON

To Whom It May Concern

:

This is to certify that:

1. "The undersigned, as Administrator of the Federal
Emergency Administration of Public Works, did, on
September 9, 1933, include in the comprehensive pro-

gram of public works a project for the construction

of the Walker River Storage Dam located in the State

of Nevada and did allocate to the Department of the

Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, the sum of $130,-

000 to finance the construction of such project.

2. "On January 1, 1935, the undersigned, as Administra-
tor of the Federal Emergency Administration of Pub-
lic Works, did approve an amendment reducing the

allotment for such project by $1,300, leaving a net

allotment of $128,700.

3. "On February 7, 1935, the undersigned, as Administra-
tor of the Federal Emergency Administration of Pub-
lic Works, did approve a further amendment increas-
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ing the allotment for such project by $15,000, making
a net allotment of $153,700.

4. "There is on file, in the offices of the Federal Emer-
gency Administration of Public Works, Washington,
D. C, a report made to said Administrator for the

month ending November 30, 1935, signed by William
Zimmerman, Jr., Assistant Commissioner, Bureau of

Indian Affairs, Department of the Interior, showing
that such project was completed June 30, 1935.

Washington, D. C, Jan'y. 16, 1939.

Harold L. Ickes

Administrator. "

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 16th day of January,
1939.

Ellen L. Ward
Notary Public

(Seal)

Commission expires December 15, 1943"





Due service and receipt of a copy of the within is hereby

admitted this... day of January, 1939.

2'^Uorne'grforAppidkmti—
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In the United States Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

No. 8779

United States of America, appellant

V.

Walker Rr^r Irrigation District, a Corporation,

ET AL., appellees

VPO^ APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA

REPLY BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES

STATEMENT

The appellees not being in entire agreement with

the statement of facts made by the Govermnent

(Gov't Br. 3-15) have included in their brief (Br.

2-15) a complete statement of their view of the evi-

dence. It is believed that much of the matter the

appellees have set out is inmiaterial to a decision of

this case, and that many of their statements are fur-

ther objectionable in that they either have no sup-

port in the record whatsoever or are founded upon

conflicting evidence as to which the district court

made no findings.

(1)



A considerable part of the appellees' statement re-

lates to irrigation conditions upon the Walker River

Indian Reservation and in the Walker River basin

generally (Br. 2-6). They describe the topogra-

phy of the river basin, the insufficiency of water

during certain seasons to meet the requirements

of the cultivated lands, and their own storage of

water to prevent waste (Br. 2-4). They assert

that even under normal conditions no water would

reach the Walker River Reservation during certain

months of some years, that there is considerable loss

of water in transit between their lands and the res-

ervation, and that, due to these losses, the acreage

that can be irrigated on the reservation with a given

amount of water is less than the acreage that can be

irrigated upstream (Br. 5).

The chief objection to this portion of the ap-

pellees' statement is that it has no relevance to

the issues presented to this court upon this appeal.

Appellees apparently believe that it will assist

them to defeat the rights of the Indians if they

can show that they could make better use of the

water than could the Indians, or that to require

them to recognize the Indians' rights would cause

them loss disproportionate to the gain to the In-

dians. Such considerations are not relevant even

between ordinary private appropriators. As said

in Tonkin v. Winzell, 27 Nev. 88, 100, 73 Pac. 593,

595 (1903) :

* * * we camiot sanction a policy w^hich

inevitably would result in depriving the



prior and lower appropriator for the benefit

of the later claimant nearer the head of the

stream, because the latter would have a

greater quantity of water, and consequently

more benefit, and would save the seepage and
evaporation occasioned by the flow further

down to the lands of the earlier settler.

The enforcement of such a doctrine would

overthrow the long, well-estal^lished, and
just principles of the law, and result in legal

confiscation/

Even if such considerations were pertinent between

private individuals, they could not be invoked

against water rights of Indians. See United

States V. Mclntire (C. C. A. 9, January 31, 1939) ;

Conrad Investment Co. v. United States^ 161 Fed.

829, 831-832 (C. C. A. 9, 1908).^

Appellees stress (Br. 5) the finding of the dis-

strict court (R. 495-496) that "Even under nat-

^ See also Wiel, The Pending Water Amendment (1928)

16 Calif. L. Eev. 169, 185; Long, Irrigation (2 ed. 1916),

sec. 129.

Eecent California decisions, pursnant to an amendment
to the state constitntion prescribing "reasonable use" of

water, permit in some circumstances what amounts to con-

demnation of a water right by one able to make better use

of the water, upon payment of damages (i. e., compensa-

tion). See Peabody v. City of VaJIejo, 2 Cal. 2d 351. 3T4-

375, 380, 40 P. 2d 486 (1935) ; Wiel, Fifty Years of Water
Law (1936) 50 Harv. L. Rev. 252; Wiel, The Pending
Water Amendment (1928) 16 Calif. L. Rev. 169. No such

doctrine has been urged or could be entertained in this case,

or in any case involving federal, or perhaps interstate, in-

terests. See Peabody v. City of ValJejo, 2 Cal. 2d 351. 366,

40 P. 2d 486 (1935).

^ See infra, pp. 29-30.



ural conditions, that is, without upstream diver-

sions, the water would not, in some years of low

flow, reach the lands of the Reservation by the end

of July by reason of seepage and high evaporation

loss." It is true that if all the water of the river

would always be lost by seepage and evaporation

before it reached the reservation the appellees' di-

versions would never injure the Indians, and the

latter would have no cause of action. But there is

no contention that such is the situation—all that is

claimed is that in some months in dry years the

diversions will not injure the Indians. Assuming

that the Indians have a right only to so much water

(up to 150 cubic feet) as would reach the reserva-

tion under natural conditions, and that the appel-

lees are entitled to a decree directing the water mas-

ter to permit them to divert water at any time

when, under natural conditions, no water would

reach the reservation,"* the burden of proving to the

^ This assumption posits to the Indians rights in the river

less than those which the law actually accords to them.

They are entitled not only to the water, up to loO feet,

wliich would reach the reservation under natural condi-

tions, but to the maintenance of the water table below the

river bed as it would be maintained by the full flow of the

river imder natural conditions. And they are entitled that

the Avater table be so maintained even in periods when no

water would reach the reservation, in order that when the

flow of the river is subsequently au<2:mented water will

reach the reservation as soon as it would under natural con-

ditions, instead of beino- absorbed by an unnaturally dry

river bed and an unnaturally low water table. See Wiel,

The Pending Water Amendment (1928) 16 Calif. L. Rev.

169, 185-191; Wiel, Law of UndergTOund Water (1929) 2



water master that any particular diversion pro-

posed would not injure the Indians would always be

on the appellees. Peabody v. Citij of Vallejo, 2

Cal. 2d 351, 381, 40 P, 2d 486 (1935) ; 1 Wiel, Water

Rights (3d ed., 1911), sec. 299, p. 310. And since

the appellees have objected (Br. 67) to the form

of decree suggested by the Government as "so in-

definite as to destroy the values of all the lands of

the Appellees," it is hardly to be supposed that they

mean to suggest a decree based on a hypothetical

normal flow under hypothetical normal conditions.

Some of appellees' statements as to irrigation

conditions are made with respect to matters as to

which the district court made no findings and as to

which the evidence was conflicting. Appellees say,

for instance (Br. 5, paragraph 2), that by reason

of evaporation and seepage losses in the lower

reaches of the river the irrigation of each addi-

tional acre of land on the reservation would re-

quire water sufficient to irrigate two acres of land

upstream, and that the white settlers would be de-

prived of water to that extent. The district court

made no findings with respect to this matter, and

while the assertion of the appellees is supported by

some testimony there is also testimony to the con-

trary. For example, appellees' witness, J. I. Wil-

son, the president of the Walker River Irrigation

District, estimated that the amount of water neces-

So. CaHf . L. Rev. 358, 363 ; Wiel, Fifty Years of Water Law
(1936) 50 Harv. L. Rev. 252, 261-265.
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sary to irrigate 10,000 acres on the reservation

would be sufficient to irrigate only 12,000 or 15,000

acres up above (R. 812). See also R. 951-952.

In the footnote on page 5 of their brief, the ap-

pellees invite the Court to infer that the relief

sought by the Government would turn 111,000 acres

of land back to desert, destroy land values of $4,-

000,000, and make 3,000 white settlers dependents,

while no value would accrue to the 520 Indians liv-

ing on the reservation. According to the appel-

lees' own assertion, just discussed, the 150 cubic

feet of water necessary to irrigate 10,000 acres of

reservation lands would irrigate only 20,000 acres

upstream—not 111,000. There is testimony, more-

over, that in ordinary years there is sufficient water

in the river, without storage, to irrigate the up-

stream lands now irrigated and 10,000 acres on the

reservation besides (R. 951-952). And while the

decree sought would establish the right of the In-

dians to 150 cubic feet of water as a maximum, they

would at no time receive a greater flow than they

could apply to beneficial use on the reservation

lands. Only about 2,100 acres of reservation land

are now under irrigation (R. 246, 496), and the full

150 cubic feet per second can not be applied to a

beneficial use until much more land has been

brought under irrigation. Furthermore, the stor-

age dam recently built for use in connection with

the reservation (Appellees' Br. 12, Appendix C)

will presumably enable the Indians to irrigate their



lands with less direct flow water than would other-

wise be required.

Appellees (Br. 6) question the Government's

assertion that there are 10,000 acres of irrigable

land in the reservation. It is true that the district

court made no finding upon this matter, doubtless

because it was irrelevant in the view the district

court took of the case, and if the case is reversed

the district court should be directed to make a

finding as to the total irrigable acreage upon the

reservation.*

* The testimony as to the amount of irrigable land on the

reservation varies Avidely. Mr. Kronquist and Mr. Stevens,

witnesses for the United States, testified that 10,000 acres

are irrigable (K. 614, 616, 627, 633, 634, 636, 644, 655, 932,

950, 956) except in exceptionally dry years (R. 644, 956-957).

Mr. Beemer reported between 6,000 and 7,000 acres irrigable

in 1918 or 1919 ( R. 857 ) . Mr. Taylor, for the appellees, test-

fied that water would be available for the irrigation of

10,000 acres during only a small part of the season, and that

in many years, due to the shortage of water, not more than

2,000 to 3,000 acres could be practicably irrigated (R. 684,

704-705, 712, 721). Other witnesses for the appellees

testified that 10,000 acres could not be irrigated without

storage facilities (R. 793, 813, 818). The number of irriga-

ble or arable acres is said in other parts of the record to

be 1,200 acres (R. 764) ; 3,000 acres (R. 757, 759) ; 4,000

acres (R. 593, 972) ; 6,000 acres (R. 966) ; 20,000 acres (R.

961). These differences, and especially those between the

Government's and appellees' witnesses, apparently result

from lack of common definition of the term "irrigable."

Since the purpose of determining the irrigable acreage in

this case is to determine the maximum amount of land for

which the United States may divert water, considering the

possible future needs of the Indians (Gov't Br. 57-61), the

term "irrigable land" should include all land susceptible



Appellees assert that in 1859 and thereafter the

Pahutes were at war with the whites (Br. 8, 36).

This assertion is directed at the statement of the

Government (Br. 32, note 8), 'Hhat the creation

of the reservation had at least the tacit consent

of the Indians." As stated in the Government's

opening brief (Br. 32), the United States nn-

doubtedly has the power to create a reservation

and assign Indians to it regardless of their con-

sent. The hostitlity or friendliness between the

Indians and the United States is therefore imma-

terial. (See also infra, pp. 30-31.)

Furthermore, the appellees' assertion has no

support in the record. While the record shows

of agi-iciiltural use that is practicably accessible to water

from the Walker River. Cf. United States v. Conrad In-

vestment Co., 156 Fed. 123, 130 (C. C. D. Mont., 1907), 161

Fed. 829, 833 (C. C. A. 9, 1908) ; Vnited States v. Uihner, 27

F. 2d 909, 911 (D. Idaho, 1928). Whether the amount of

water in the river under normal conditions is sufficient to

irrigate all the available arable lands of the reservation in

all seasons is irrelevant to the question of the extent of

irrigable lands, but relates instead to the proposition, here-

tofore discussed, that the Indians are only entitled to so much
water as would reach the reservation under natural condi-

tions, regardless of the quantity of irrigable land in the

reservation. In this light the testimony of appellees' wit-

nesses, who estimated the irrigable acreage of the reserva-

tion at a low figure because of the shortage of water in

certain seasons, is entirely reconcilable with that of the Gov-

ernment's witnesses, and the preponderance of the evidence

is that there are 10,000 acres of irrigable land. The widely

variant figures stated in the last-cited portions of the record

are for the most part unreliable since they represent casual

estimates made under varying definitions.
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hostilities between Indians and whites in Nevada

in 1859 and later, nothing in the record or in the

sources relied upon by the district court in its first

opinion (R. 396-398) shows that the Pahutes of

the Walker River Reservation engaged in these

hostilities. The assault on Williams Station in

May 1860 was made by Pyramid Lake Pahutes,

Baimocks, and Pit River Indians (R. 574—575).

The letter of August 29, 1860, from the Secretary

of the Interior to the Secretary of War, asking the

assistance of the United States troops, relates to

difficulties with the Pyramid Lake Pahutes (R.

576). The letter of November 22, 1861, from Gen-

eral Wright to Governor Nye concerning protec-

tion for the overland mail route does not show

hostilities on the part of the Walker River Indians

(R. 738). The Governor writes that although the

Indians were "testy and uneasy," his Indian

Agent had gone among the Pahutes and found

them "all quiet" (R. 602). The letter of Governor

Roop of Nevada Territory, of February 12, 1860,

to General Clarke, recites the murder of eight

white men by Pahutes but does not indicate that the

Walker River Indians were involved (R. 770-772).

The quotation from Thompson and West (R. 773-

775) refers to a proposed assault by a large body

of Indians upon Fort Churchill in 1861. The

Indians assembled near the mouth of the Walker

River, but the assault was averted by Wasson, then

acting Indian Agent, who "by argument and per-

suasion" diverted the Indians from the attempt.
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Involved in this plot were "Bannocks from Idaho

and Oregon, and representatives of the Pah-Utes

from far and wide." There is no direct showing

that the Walker River Reservation Indians were

involved and the history states that those from the

most isolated places were most intent on commenc-

ing the raid.

So far from showing a state of war between the

Pahutes and the whites, the portions of the record

relied upon by appellees amply support the view

that the Pahutes were anxious to secure peace (R.

574, 576, 585-586, 592, 602, 754). The letter of

June 23, 1860, from Indian Agent Dodge to the

Commissioner of Indian Affairs reports that the

Walker River Reservation Indians were friendly

and promised not to join the hostiles, against

whom they asked protection (R. 585). In 1865

Indian Agent Campbell wrote the Commissioner

that the Walker River Indians would never again

wage war with the whites unless some flagrant act

of injustice was done them. He stated that the

Walker River Valley above the reservation was

settled with a class of men so embittered against

the Indians that "they are doing everything in

their power to get the Indians into a war for the

purpose of getting them exterminated" (R. 592-

593). A report made in 1862 by the Executive De-

partment of Nevada Territory to the Secretary of

the Interior and by him sent to Congress, reports

disturbances among the Owens River Indians in
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California and the fear and uneasiness of the Pa-

hutes lest they themselves might become involved

in the difficulties (R. 603). The report of the Su-

perintendent of Indian Affairs of Nevada to the

Commissioner in 1866, says of the Pahutes, ''Upon

the whole, they have been peaceable, have yielded

readily to the will of the Government, and are now

cheerfully obedient to its laws" (R. 754).

In recognition of the fact that peace could be

preserved if the Indians were given a tract of land

for their exclusive occupancy, steps were taken to

exclude trespassers from the reservation (R. 576-

577, 585-586). While the Government found it

necessary, as stated by the appellees (Br. 8), to

supply the Indians with food, blankets, clothing,

and fancy articles, this was done in the belief that

the Indians would soon become prosperous and

happy and the agency be made self-sustaining (R.

587, 588-589, 591, 599). The early letters of the

Indian Agent and the conference between the

Indian Chiefs and Governor Nye, cited from the

record by the Government (Br. 9), and reviewed

by appellees (Br. 8), together with the above

facts, show the purpose of the Goverrmient, in

creating the reservation in 1859, that the Indians

should live upon it and sustain themselves. While

the record tends to show that the Indians at first

sustained themselves from the natural products of

the soil, and that the abundance of these products

was a material factor in the selection of the res-
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ervation, the Government cannot have intended,

in its awareness of oncoming civilization, that the

perpetual fare of the Indians would be pine nuts,

roots, and fish, nor that the Indians would be for-

ever reliant upon the Government for their cloth-

ing and supplies. The persistence of the Indian

Agents, and, in fact, of all the governmental au-

thorities who had occasion to survey the condi-

tion of the Pahutes in the Walker River Valley,

in recommending that they be furnished tools and

supplies and be taught to farm, clearly indicates

that the Government did not so intend. So, too,

do the numerous acts of Congress appropriating

money for ''presents of goods, agricultural imple-

ments, and other useful articles, and to assist them

to locate in permanent abodes, and sustain them-

selves by the pursuits of civilized life." See, for

example, the Act of March 3, 1863, c. 99, 12 Stat.

774, 791, and others cited infra, p. 27.

The statements of the appellees on pages 9 and

10 of their brief are directed to showing that

cultivation on the reservation was not extensive

and that the effort to teach the Indians to farm

was not very successful, for lack of agricultural

implements and for lack of ability or desire on the

part of the Indians. But the water rights of the

Indians rest on the facts that the reservation was

created and the Indians placed thereon for their

civilization and self-sustenance, and that the water

of the Walker River was necessary to accomplish
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that purpose, and not npon their innnediate suc-

cess or faihire in cultivating the reservation."

Appellees have referred in their brief (Br. 12)

and in Appendix C, to the fact that a small storage

reservoir has been built by the Government for

the irrigation of the reservation. Assuming that

this information is properly before this Court,*"

it does not affect the case. The Indians' direct

flow rights obviously are not affected by the acqui-

sition of storage facilities for them.

ARGUMENT

I

The United States, by the creation of the Walker River

Indian Reservation, impliedly reserved for the Indians

sufficient water of the Walker River for the irrigation

of the irrigable lands of the reservation

A. The United States, when it created the Walker River Indian Res-

ervation, had power to reserve water for the irrigation of the lands

of the reservation

In answer to the Govermiient's contention that

the United States, by the creation of the Walker

River Indian Reservation, impliedly reserved for

the Indians sufficient water of the Walker River

for the irrigation of the irrigable lands of the reser-

^ The record shows, moreover, that the faihire of the In-

dians to cultivate their land more extensively was due in

large part to the lack of water in July and subsequent

months (R. 652-653), and that this lack of water resulted

largely from upstream diversions (R. 963),

® That it is not, see United States v. Knighfs Adminis-

trator, 1 Black 488, 489; Russell v. Southard, 12 How. 139,

158-159 ; Roemer v. Siinon, 91 U. S. 149.

133606—39 3
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vation, appellees argue (Br. 16-25, 35-36, 48-50,

53) that Congress, by statutes enacted in 1866,

1870, and 1877, and by the admission of the west-

ern States to the Union "has relinquished control

over the waters of w^estern streams," and that the

water rights of the Indians in this case must be

determined by the local law of California and

Nevada. Appellees also argue (Br. 29) that the

power of the United States to reserve water for

Indians rests on the treaty j^ower, and that it can-

not be exercised in a State after its admission to the

Union.

The answer to these contentions is that the res-

ervation was created in 1859, and that even assum-

ing that control over the water of western streams

passed to the States upon their admission to the

Union, or by the statutes enacted in 1866, 1870, and

1877, the United States had power in 1859 to re-

serve water for the irrigation of the reservation.

1. The reservation was created in 1859.—The

facts as to the creation of the reservation are set

out in the Government's opening brief, pp. 7-8.

That the steps there related were effective to create

the reservation in 1859, as both the master (R.

258-260) and the district court (R. 392) held, is

clear.

In Northern Pac. By. Co. v. Wismer, 246 U. S.

283, the Supreme Court held that an Indian res-

ervation had been validly created by administra-

tive action very similar to that which was taken in

the case of the Walker River Indian Reservation.
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In the Wismer case the United States granted to a

railroad company land within a certain distance of

each side of the railroad line which was "not

reserved, sold, granted, or otherwise appropri-

ated" at the time the line of the railroad was

definitely fixed. The railroad line was definitely

located in October 1880, and the question was

whether certain land otherwise within the grant

had been validly set aside as an Indian reservation

before that date. The creation of the reservation

rested on the following facts : In 1877 Colonel Wat-

kins, described as an Indian inspector, together

with an army officer, had, without specific prior

authorization, signed an agreement with an Indian

tribe setting aside the reservation for the tribe.

In the same year Colonel Watkins reported the

agreement to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs,

and recommended that the described territory be

reserved for the tribe. Later the same year Col-

onel Watkins moved onto the reservation such

Indians of the tribe as were not already there, and

reported this action to the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs who approved it and communicated it to

the Secretary of the Interior, who, in turn, com-

municated it to the Senate in 1878. In September

1880, an army officer in the field issued an order

directing the military force under his command to

protect the reservation against settlement by set-

tlers until survey or until further instructions. In

January 1881 the President, by executive order,
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formally set aside and reserved the territory for

the Indians.

The Supreme Court held that the reservation

was validly created at least as soon as January

1878 when the Secretary of the Interior indicated

his approval of the creation of the reservation by

sending the report of Colonel Watkins to the Sen-

ate. The Court said (246 U. S. 283, 287-288) :

The plaintiff in error concedes, as it must,

that if the Secretary of the Interior ap-

proved the action taken by Colonel Watkins
prior to the filing of the plat of its line on

October 4, 1880, the reservation must be

considered as lawfully established and the

lands thereby removed beyond the scope of

the grant to the Railroad Company. (Wil-

cox V. Jackson^ 18 Pet. 498, 512; Wolsey v.

Chapman, 101 U. S. 755, 769 ; Wood v. Beach,

156 U. S. 548 ; United States v. Midwest Oil

Co., 236 U. S. 459; Chicago, Milwaukee &
St. Paul Rij. Co. V. United States, 244 U. S.

351, 357.) And reservations made by heads

of bureaus, such as the Commissioner of the

General Land Office, or the Commissioner of

Indian Aifairs, in the administration of the

matters committed to their charge, stand

upon the same footing where the Secretary

of the Interior is informed of their action,

and where, as in this case, he either expressly

or tacitly ax)proves the same. Spencer v.

McDougaJ, 159 U. S. 62.

Such being the law, we cannot doubt that

the sound inference from the stipulated

facts as we have stated tliem is that, with
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full understanding of the situation the Sec-

retary of the Interior and the Commissioner

of Indian Affairs approved the action of

Colonel Watkins not later, certainly, than

the sending of his report to the Senate on

January 23, 1878, which was almost three

years prior to the filing of the railway com-

pany's plat, and that the Executive Order

of the President on January 18, 1881, sim-

ply continued and gave formal sanction to

what had been done before.

In addition to the decisions cited in the above quo-

tation, see Minnesota v. Hitchcock, 185 U. S. 373,

389-390, where it was said

:

Now, in order to create a reservation it is

not necessary that there should be a formal

cession or a formal act setting apart a par-

ticular tract. It is enough that from what
has been done there results a certain defined

tract appropriated to certain purposes.

And see Donnelly v. United States, 228 U. S. 243,

257; Wilbur v. United States, 46 F. 2d 217, 219-

220 (App. D. C, 1930) ; Belt v. United States, 15

Ct. CI. 92, 107-108 (1879).

In 45 L. D. 502 (1916), the Department of the

Interior, ruling upon a conflict similar to that in

the Wismer case, formally held that the Pyramid

Lake Reservation, which was created at the same

time and by the same steps as was the Walker River

Reservation, was validly established in 1859. The

opinion states (p. 503) :

It is well settled that the acts of the heads

of Departments nmst be held to be the acts
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of the President [citing cases]. The subse-

quent order of the President therefore was
unnecessary for the purpose of establishing

the reservation, and merely recognized and

declared what had already been done/

Appellees (Br. 38-39) treat the question as one

of ratification, or relation back, and argue that the

executive order in 1874 could not validate the cre-

ation of the reservation as of 1859 so as to cut off

intervening rights. But no such issue is involved.

The question is whether the action of the adminis-

trative officials in 1859 was effective to create the

reservation at that time, and the authorities which

have been cited show conclusively that it was. The

executive order, as the Supreme Court said in the

Wismer case (246 U. S. 283, 288), "simply contin-

ued and gave formal sanction to what had been done

before." There were no intervening rights to be

cut off.

2. Even assuming that control over the water of

western streams passed to the States upon their ad-

mission to the Union, or hy the statutes enacted in

1866, 1870, and 1877, the United States had power

' The opinion further states

:

"This matter was before the Department in 1891, and

Assistant Attorney General Shields rendered an opinion

thereon July 7th of that year to the effect that the lands

included in the Pyramid Lake Indian Reservation were ex-

cepted from the grant to the Central Pacific Railway Com-
pany. This opinion was forwarded by the Secretary of the

Interior to the Indian Office with directions that it be guided

thereby in its actions in connection with the reservation"

(45L. D. 502, 504).
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in 1859 to reserve water for the irrigation of the

reservation.—It is self-evident that the statutes of

1866, 1870, and 1877 have no l^earing on the power

of the United States to reserve water for the reser-

vation in 1859. While the first opinion of the dis-

trict court discusses these statutes, and particularly

the act of 1877 (R. 403-410), it concedes (R. 410)

that if water was reserved in 1859 that reservation

of water was not affected by the subsequent stat-

utes, since they did not affect existing rights.

Nor did the admission of Nevada and California

to the Union defeat the reservation of water in

1859, even assuming that control over the disposal

of the water passed to those States upon their ad-

mission.^ Nevada was not admitted to the Union

until 1864 (Presidential Proclamation of October

31, 1864, 13 Stat. 749). While California was ad-

mitted in 1850, it is clear that its admission did

not, for two reasons, defeat the powder of the United

States to reserve w^ater for the reservation in 1859.

In the first place, while the United States held

the territory which later became the State of Ne-

** It is clear from the opinion of the Supreme Court in

California Oregon Poiver Co. v. Beaver P.ortland Cement

Co.., 295 U. S. 142, that control over the disposal of water

of the streams of the public domain did not pass to the States

by virtue of their admission to the Union, but remained in

the United States at least until the statutes of 1866, 1870, and

1877. Speaking of the situation before the enactment of

those statutes the Court said in that case (p. 162) :

"As the owner of the public domain, tlie government pos-

sessed the power to dispose of land and water thereon to-

gether, or to dispose of them separately,''
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vada, it was entitled, as against California, to con-

trol the disposal of that portion of the water of

the Walker River equitably allocable to the terri-

tory then under its control, under the principles

of interstate water adjudication since enunciated

by the Supreme Court.^ No suggestion has been

made—or is likely to be made in view of the exten-

sive water rights awarded to Nevada lands in this

suit—that the quantity of water reserved for the

reservation exceeded the amount allocable to the

territory held by the United Sates in 1859/°

In the second place, California did not, in 1859

or thereafter, assert any power to control the dis-

posal of rights in the waters of the streams of the

public domain in that State, but, on the contrary,

expressly recognized the authority .of the Federal

Government in that field. In the leading case of

Lux V. Uaggin, 69 Cal. 255, 336 fe., 10 Pac. 674

(1886), the Supreme Court of California held that

the United States had power to dispose of the

waters of non-navigable streams of the public do-

« See Riiidevlider v. La Plata Co., 304 U. S. 92, 101, 108,

110 ; Arizona v. California, 298 U. S. 558, 568 ; New Jersey v.

New York, 283 U. S. 336, 342, 343 ; Connecticut v. Massachu-

setts, 282 U. S. 660, 669-671; Wijo7ning v. Colorado, 259

U. S. 419, 465, 470; Kansas v. Colorado, 206 U. S. 46, 97, 98;

Missouri v. Illinois, 200 U. S. 496, 519-520; Kansas v. Colo-

rado, 185 U. S. 125, 146.

^° That such u question is open to determination in a suit

to which the interested States are not parties, see Hinder-

lider v. La Plata Co., 304 U. S. 92, 110-111, and cases there

cited.
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main. The court said that by the Mexican law

non-navigable streams were public property; that

it might be claimed that this property became

vested in the State of California upon its admis-

sion to the Union as an incident to the sovereignty,

but that in 1850, shortly after the admission of the

State, California passed an act, relating back to

the time of its admission, adopting the common
law, and that that act:

should now be held to have operated (at

least from the admission into the Union)

a transfer or surrender to all riparian pro-

prietors, of the property of the state—if

any she had—in innavigable streams and
the soils below them.

And the court went on to say (p. 338)

:

And from a very early day the courts of

this state have considered the United States

government as the owner of such running

waters on the public lands of the United

States, and of their beds. Recognizing the

United States as the owner of the lands and
waters, and as therefore authorized to per-

mit the occupation or diversion of the wa-
ters as distinct from the lands, the state

courts have treated the prior appropriator

of water on the public lands of the United
States as having a better right than a sub-

sequent appropriator, on the theory that the

appropriation was allowed or licensed by
the United States. It has never been held

that the right to appropriate waters on the

public lands of the United States was de-

rived directly from the state of California

133606—39 4
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as the owner of innavigable streams and

their beds. And since the act of Congress

granting or recognizing a property in the

waters actually diverted and usefully ap-

plied on the public lands of the United

States, such rights have always claimed to

be deraigned by private persons under the

act of Congress, from the recognition ac-

corded by the act, or from the acquies-

cence of the general govermnent in previous

appropriations made with its presumed

sanction and approval."

"In Cal. Stat. 1911 (California Civil Code (Deering,

1937) sec. 1410) the California Legislature provided:

"All water or the use of water within the state of Cali-

fornia is the property of the people of the state of Cali-

fornia."

In Palmer v. Railroad Commission., 167 Cal. 163, 138 Pac.

997 (1914), the Supreme Court of California nevertheless

reaffirmed the doctrine of Lux v. Haggin ^ that the United

States was the owner and had control over the disposal of

waters of the public lands except as by the act of 1866 and

later statutes it had permitted rights in such waters to be

acquired as provided by the laws of the States. Referring

to the statute above quoted, the court said, on rehearing (p.

175):

"All the water-rights which were in dispute in the case

arose and were acquired by and under appropriations made
long before the passage of the amendment aforesaid. It

ought not to be necessary to remind any one that a law of

this character is not retroactive, or that it cannot operate to

divest rights already vested at the time it was enacted. The
amendment may possibly be effective as a dedication to gen-

eral public use of any riparian rights which the state, at the

time it was enacted, may still have retained by virtue of its

ownership of lands bordering on a stream, rights in the

stream which it would in such cases hav^e in common with

owners of other abutting land."
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Even if it could be assumed that the State courts

were incorrect in attributing to the United States

title over the waters of the public domain and the

control over their disposal, it is plain that the Cali-

fornia statutes and decisions operated as a grant

of such control to the United States, and as a recog-

nition of all water rights derived from the United

States. To hold otherwise would invalidate nearly

every water right in California. And that the Cali-

fornia statutes and decisions did operate as a grant

to the United States of power to dispose of the

water of the public domain is clear from the deci-

sion of the Supreme Court in Donnelly v. United

States, 228 U. S. 243. In that case the question

was whether an Indian reservation included the bed

of a river which flowed through it. The doctrine

which had been established by the adjudicated

cases, cited in the Donnelly case, was that title to

the beds of navigable streams passed to the States

upon their admission to the Union, while title to

the beds of non-navigable streams remained in the

United States. As the reservation involved had

been created subsequent to the admission of Cali-

fornia to the Union, it was contended that if the

river was navigable the reservation could not in-

clude the bed of the river, as the United States

would have had no power to grant it to the In-

dians. The Supreme Court rejected this argu-

ment. It said that California had by statute

classed the river in question as non-navigable and
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that by the decision in Lux v. Haggin, referred to

above, the Supreme Court of California had recog-

nized that the title and power of disposal over the

waters and beds of non-navigable streams was in

the Federal Government. The Supreme Court

said (p. 264)

:

The authority of this decision was recog-

nized in Packer v. Bird, 137 U. S. 661, 669.

We are not able to find that the doctrine

declared in it has since been departed from

by the courts of the State.

And the Court went on to hold that by the statute

and decision California had vested in the United

States the title to the bed of the river if it were

in fact navigable, and that if it were in fact non-

navigable the same result would follow from the

mere adoption of the common law. It is clear,

therefore, that as far as California was concerned

the United States had authority to make the reser-

vation of water in 1859.

B. From the facts and circumstances attending the creation of the

Walker River Indian Reservation it is to be implied that the

United States reserved water for the irrigation of the reservation

1. This case is governed by the principle of the

Winters case.—The appellees do not succeed, on

pages 25-54 of their argument, in distinguishing on

its facts the case of Winters v. United States, 207

U. S. 564. The several circumstances which they

have set out (Br. 26-27) as the basis for their con-

tention that the Winters case is inapplicable here
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either are immaterial or depend on facts which

exist in this case as well as in the Winters case.

They say, for example :

^'

b. That prior to the creation of the reser-

vation [in the Winters case], the Indians of

the Fort Belknap Reservation occupied a

much larger tract of land which had been

previously set aside as a reservation by an

Act of Congress, which larger tract was
deemed adequate for their wants in the light

of their habits as a nomadic and uncivilized

people.

This was one of several circumstances surround-

ing the creation of the Fort Belknap Reservation

from which the Supreme Court concluded that a

right to water for irrigation was impliedly reserved

to the Indians (207 U. S. 576). Following its

statement of this fact, the Court said

:

It was the policy of the Government, it was
the desire of the Indians, to change those

habits and to become a pastoral and civ-

ilized people. If they should become such

the original tract was too extensive, but a

smaller tract would be inadequate without a

change of conditions. The lands were arid

^- As their first distinction between this and tlie Winters

case the appellees set out

:

a. That the Fort Belknap Reservation of Montana was
created pursuant to formal agreement or treaty between the

United States and the Indians of the Fort Belknap Reser-

T^ation, which treaty was' ratified by Congress.

This purported distinction is discussed infra, p. 32tf.
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and, without irrigation, were practically

valueless. And yet, it is contended, the

means of irrigation were deliberately given

up by the Indians and deliberately accepted

by the Government.

The record indicates that the Pahutes in this case,

before the Walker River and Pyramid Lake Reser-

vations were created for them, inhabited at large

the region of Utah Territory.'' The Walker River

and Pyramid Lake Reservations were set apart

from Pahute country in the Territory of Utah and

the United States took possession of the remainder

of this country without formal relinquishment by

the Indians. See Royce, Indian Land Cessions in

the United States, 18th Ann. Rep. Bureau of Eth-

1^ In recoinniending tlie creation of the reservations in

1859, Dodge, the agent for Indians in Utah Territory, wrote

(R. 569-570) :

"Yesterdays overland mail brought me advices from Car-

son Valley that there was a general stampede of persons

from California to the mining localities within my agency

which devolves on me additional reasons for appealing to

your kind consideration in behalf of my Indians, and to

the immediate necessity of reserving a sufficient portion of

their lands to enable them to sustain life.

"The Indians of my Agency linger about the graves of

their ancestors—'but the game is gone,' and now the steady

tread of the white man is upon them. The green valleys

too, once spotted with game 'are not theirs now.' * * *

"I sincerely hope that those asylums will be made for

them, where they can be free from the influence of the

'White Brigands' who loiter about our great overland mail

and emigrant routes—using them as their instruments to-

rob and plunder our citizens."
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nology, 56tli Cong., 1st Sess., H. R. Doc. No. 736,

pp. 872-873. It was the policy of the United States

to teach the Pahutes civilized ways and how to sus-

tain themselves by the cultivation of the soil, and to

help them establish permanent homes.'* And it was

its purpose, in creating the Walker River and Pyra-

mid Lake Reservations, as it was in creating the

Fort Belknap Reservation, to confine the Indians

to a smaller tract than they formerly claimed or

occupied, in order to fulfill this governmental pol-

icy of transforming the Indians into a settled agri-

cultural people. And the Walker River Reserva-

tion, like the Fort Belknap Reservation, was arid

^* Compare Winters v. United /States, 148 Fed. 740, 745

(C. C. A. 9, 1906). Tills policy appears in appropriations

for general incidental expenses of the Indian service in

Utah Territory, including agricultural implements, Act of

June 12, 1858, c. 155, 11 Stat. 329, 330; Act of June

19, 1860, c. 157, 12 Stat. 44, 58, and including also stock

cattle and the erection of houses. Act of March 2, 1861,

c. 85, 12 Stat. 221, 237. Also in numerous appropriations

for the Indian service in Nevada Territory, and later in

the State of Nevada for "presents of goods, agricultural

implements, and other useful articles, and to assist them

to locate in permanent abodes, and sustain themselves by

the pursuits of civilized life." Act of March 3, 1863, c.

99, 12 Stat. 774, 791 ; Act of June 25, 1864, c. 148, 13 Stat.

161, 179; Act of March 3, 1865, c. 127, 13 Stat. 541, 558;

Act of July 26, 1866, c. 266, 14 Stat. 255, 279; Act of July

28, 1866, c. 297, 14 Stat. 324, 326 ; Act of March 2 ,1867, c. 173,

14 Stat. 492, 512; Act of July 27, 1868, c. 248, 15 Stat. 198,

220; Act of April 10, 1869, c. 16, 16 Stat. 13, 36; Act of

July 15, 1870, c. 296, 16 Stat. 335, 357; Act of March 3,

1871, c. 120, 16 Stat. 544, 567 ; Act of May 29, 1872, c. 233, 17

Stat. 165, 187 ; Act of February 14, 1873, c. 138, 17 Stat. 437,

460 ; Act of June 22, 1874, c. 389, 18 Stat. 146, 171 : Act of

March 3, 1875, c. 132, 18 Stat. 420, 445.
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and practically valueless unless means of irriga-

tion were provided (R. 390, 496, 626, 683).

Appellees' next differentiation of the Winters

case is:

c. That the treaty was entered into while

Montana was a territory, and the land was
Indian country.

This fact is relevant only to the question whether

the creation of the States deprived the United

States of power to reserve water rights to the In-

dians. That the United States had power in 1859

to reserve water rights under the laws of the State

of California as well as in the Territory of Utah is

shown, supra, pp. 13-24.

Appellees next say:

d. That the Indians [in the Whiters case]

had appropriated the amount of water in-

volved, and had applied it to beneficial use

before the alleged illegal diversions of the

defendants.

The Court noticed, in stating the facts in the

Winters case (207 U. S. 564, 566), that certain

quantities of water had been appropriated by the

United States and the Indians before the defend-

ants' appropriations occurred. But the Court

placed no reliance on this fact in its opinion. If

the early appropriations by the United States and

the Indians had been a legally sufficient ground on

which to sustain the right of the Indians to enough

water for the irrigation of the reservation lands,

the Court would not have deemed it necessary to
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find an implied reservation of water rights from

the facts and circumstances surromiding the crea-

tion of the Fort Belknap Reservation. The reason

which underlies the implication of a reservation of

water rights is found in the inability of the Indians

to care for themselves, their resultant dependency

upon the Government which has assumed a status

of guardianship toward them, and the duty of the

Government in the execution of its guardianship.

This reason is inconsistent with any view that the

water rights of the Indians depend upon a])pro-

priation. As stated by the court in United States

V. Conrad Investment Co., 156 Fed. 123, 129-130

(C. C. D. Mont., 1907), aff 'd 161 Fed. 829 (C. C. A.

9, 1908) :

Manifestly, the Indians camiot be expected

to acquire water rights to any considerable

extent through prior appropriation, be-

cause they are not far enough advanced in

the art of agriculture to reduce the water

to a continuous use, and the water of the

public streams that they shall finally need

depends largely upon their progress in this

art. The government, however, being their

guardian, has a most important trust to

perform in this relation; that is, so to con-

serve the waters of such streams as traverse

or border the reserve as to supply the In-

dians fully in their probable, or, I may say,

even possible future needs, when they have

ultimately secured their allotments in sev-

eralty.
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The Government has not to make a prior

appropriation to enable it to obtain the use

of the water. It has only to take that

which has been reserved or that which has

never been subject to prior appropriation

upon the public domain.

Cf. United States v. Hihner, 27 F. 2d 909, 910-

911 (D.Idaho, 1928).

Appellees say:

e. That by this treaty the Indians agreed

to occupy the reservation as a permanent

home.

The record shows ' that the Walker River Res-

ervation was selected for the Indians with a view

to ''reserving a sufficient portion of their lands to

enable them to sustain life" (R. 569) ; that it

would "have the advantage of being their home

from choice," and that it was to be an asylum for

the Indians, where they could be free from the

influence of the "White Brigands" who loitered

about the overland mail and emigrant routes (R.

570). It was repeatedly emphasized that the wel-

fare of the whites as well as that of the Indians

depended upon the isolation of the Indians upon

a tract set apart for their exclusive use (R. 571,

575-577, 582-583, 584, 585-586, 587-588, 590-591,

592-593, 602, 603, 605). AVhether or not the

Walker River Pahutes agreed to occupy the res-

ervation as a permanent home, they apparently did

so occupy it, without objection. In any event the

power of the United States to assign them to a
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reservation set apart for their use and occupancy

was not dependent on their consent. Stephens v.

Cherokee Nation, 174 U. S. 445, 486, 488; Lone

Wolf V. Hitchcock, 187 U. S. 553, 564; Uyiited

States V. Rickert, 188 U. S. 432, 437, 443; Size-

more V. Brady, 235 U. S. 441, 447, 449; United

States V. Bowell, 243 U. S. 464, 468. The general

policy of the Government to teach the Indians civ-

ilized ways and the means of sustaining them-

selves by the cultivation of their reservations is

undoubted. And the record amply shows the in-

tention of the United States to execute this same

policy in relation to the Indians it placed on the

Walker River Reservation (Gov't Br. 9; supra,

p. 27).

Appellees' final distinction of the Winters

case is:

f. The Indians were found by the Court

to have been deprived of sufficient water to

carry on agriculture under their changed

conditions of living outlined in the treaty,

and it was urged that, by reason of the

treaty, there was an implied agreement on

the part of the United States to reserve with

the land, waters for the irrigation of the

diminished area by the treaty.

The United States contends, and the appellees

nowhere deny, that the water remaining in the

Walker River after the diversions of the appellees

is insufficient for the Indians of the reservation

to supi^ort themselves by agricidture. And it is, of
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course, urged that, by the creation of the reserva-

tion with the intention that the Indians thereon

should sustain themselves by agriculture and learn

civilized ways, the United States impliedly re-

served to the Indians water for the irrigation of

the reservation.

2. Whether a reservation was created hy treaty,

executive order, or by other means is not determina-

tive of the question whether water rights were re-

served for the Indians.—Of the several factors

which the appellees seek to establish as distinguish-

ing this case from the Winters case, they empha-

size most strongly the following

:

a. That the Fort Belknap Reservation of

Montana was created pursuant to formal

agreement or treaty between the United

States and the Indians of the Fort Belknap

Reservation, which treaty was ratified by
Congress.

The notion that a reservation of water can arise

only in the presence of a formal treaty or agree-

ment finds apparent support in the fact that most

of the cases in which such a reservation has been

found are cases in which there was a treaty (but

cf. Alaska Pacific Fisheries v. United States, 248

U. S. 78), and that when the courts have refused

to find an implied reservation of water they have

sometimes mentioned, among other distinguishing

factors, that the Winters case involved an agree-

ment with the Indians. See United States v.

Wightman, 230 Fed. 277, 282 (D. Ariz., 1916).
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The Court in the Winters case, moreover, relied

in part on the canon that treaties with the Indians

are to be construed in their favor (207 U. S. 564,

576-577 ; see also United States v. Stotts, 49 F. 2d

619, 620 (W. D. Wash., 1930)). A closer exam-

ination of the decisions discloses, however, that

whether there is an implied reservation of water

riglits does not depend upon the existence of an

agreement or an exchange of land between the

United States and the Indians: it depends rather

on whether the United States had power to reserve

water rights, and, if it did, on whether, in the light

of all of the pertinent circumstances, including

the general governmental policy to civilize the In-

dians and assist them in the establishment of per-

manent homes, and including the facts as to the

physical situation of the reservation in question, it

is reasonably to be inferred that a reservation of

water rights was intended. That the implied res-

ervation depends upon the power of the United

States in the premises, and its intention and pur-

pose in the exercise of that power, is clear from the

opinion in Alaska Pacific Fisheries v. United

States, 248 U. S. 78, 87-89 (see Gov't Op. Br. 28-

29). Similarly, in United States v. Powers, 83 L.

Ed. (Adv. Ops.) 321, 324, decided by the Supreme

Court on January 9, 1939, the Court, in finding by

implication from a treaty that sufficient waters for

irrigation were reserved from the streams within

the Crow Indian Reservation, did not rely upon
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any doctrine of construction peculiarly applicable

to treaties. It said only

:

Manifestly the Treaty of 1868 contem-

plated ultimate settlement by individual

Indians upon designated tracts where they

could make homes with exclusive right of

cultivation for their support and with ex-

pectation of ultimate complete ownership.

Without water productive cultivation has

always been impossible.

We can tind nothing in the statutes after

1868 adequate to show Congressional intent

to permit allottees to be denied participation

in the use of waters essential to farming and

home making. If possible, legislation sub-

sequent to the Treaty must be interpreted in

harmony with its plain purposes.

In Donnelly v. U^iited States, 228 U. S. 243, 259,

discussed supra, pp. 23-24, it was held that a reser-

vation created by an executive order, which de-

scribed the reservation as "a tract of country one

mile in width on each side of the Klamath River,"

included the bed of the Klamath River. The Court

said:

* * * in view of all the circumstances,

it would be absurd to treat the order als

intended to include the uplands to the width

of one mile on each side of the river, and at

the same time to exclude the river. As a

matter of history it plainly appears that the

Klamath Indians established themselves

along the river in order to gain a subsistence

by fishing.
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In United States v. WigJitman, 230 Fed. 277 (D,

Ariz., 1916), cited by appellees (Br. 41), an Indian

reservation created by executive order included

land on which there were certain springs. This

land, as well as the land occupied by the defendant,

had formerly been part of a military reservation,

and the water of the springs in question had been

used for domestic and agricultural purposes on the

military reservation. The land when opened to

entry was appraised as including the value of the

spring water for irrigation, and the defendant paid

for and used the water. The court held that the

spring water was not reserved to the Indians. Dis-

tinguishing the Winters case, it said (230 Fed.

277, 282) :

The decision in that case is based solely on

the agreement with the Indians and the im-

plications which the court draws from the

facts surrounding the creation of the Ft.

Belknap reservation, and it is expressly

stated therein that the reservation as a whole

would be made unfit for the purposes for

which it was created and incapable of main-

taining the Indians if the waters of the Milk

river were diverted as was done by the

defendants.

The court found that an ample supply of water

flowed from other springs on the reservation, and

that the water of the springs in question was not

necessary to the objects for which the reservation

was created. The court said (230 Fed. 283)

:
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The decision [in the Winters case] is not an
authority that the mere creation ex vi ter-

mini reserves to the Indians, or to the

United States for their benefit, the beneficial

use of all waters flowing within the reserva-

tion * * *.

It is not alone a question of the power of

the United States to devote these waters to

the exclusive use of the Indians, but it is a

question of whether it has exercised the

power.

With this statement the Government concurs, and

it concurs also in the view that to determine whether

the power to reserve waters has been exercised all

the surrounding circumstances, and especially the

necessity of the water for irrigation, must be exam-

ined. The mere fact that the reservation is cre-

ated by executive order, instead of by treaty, is not

determinative.

In Byers v. We-Wa-Ne, 86 Or. 617, 169 Pac. 121

(1917), discussed by appellees (Br. 43), the court

held that the water rights there in question vested

in the contestants and not in the United States or

the Indians : First, because Congress, by a statute

passed long after the reservation was created, rec-

ognized and confirmed the contestants' right; sec-

ond, because the treaty creating the reservation in

1855 did not impliedly reserve the water rights to

the Indians. In discussing the second point, the

court said (p. 635) :

Consideration may be given to the purposes

in view and to the situation of the parties.
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but unless the implication of these water

rights is found in the treaty when read in

the light of these purposes and circum-

stances, the rights contended for must be

held to be nonexistent.

The court distinguished the Winters case and

United States v. Conrad Investment Co., 156 Fed.

123, aff'd, 161 Fed. 829 (C. C. A. 9, 1908), on the

ground that in those cases there was a manifest

intent that the Indians should farm the land, and

the land could not be farmed without irrigation.

These factors were missing in the Bijers case, and

because the right clamied was ''not essential to the

maintenance of the Indians or to their progress in

the arts of civilized life" the court found no im-

plied reservation of w^aters.

In United States v. Stotts, 49 F. 2d 619 (W. D.

Wash., 1930), cited by appellees (Br. 44), the ques-

tion was whether a reservation which was created

by an executive order made pursuant to a treaty

with the Indians included tidelands along one side

of the reservation. The court held the tidelands

were a part of the reservation, since the United

States had power to grant the tidelands to the In-

dians and since the executive order expressly de-

fined the boundary at low-water mark. The court

noted that the executive order was in accordance

with the interests of the Indians and the object for

which the reservation was created, since the tide-

lands were necessary to fishing.
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In Taylor v. United States, 44 F. 2d 531 (C. C. A.

9, 1930), cited by appellees (Br. 46), the reserva-

tion was created by executive order made pursuant

to treaty, and the controversy involved the title to

the bed of a navigable stream. The reservation

in question was created before the State was ad-

mitted to the Union, and this Court conceded the

power of the United States to grant away tideland

and submerged land (44 F. 2d 533). It found,

however, no intention on the part of the Govern-

ment to reserve for the Indians the lands covered

by navigable waters, or to except the case from the

general policy of the Government to hold such

property in trust for the future States. United

States V. Holt Bank, 270 U. S. 49, cited by appellees

(Br. 45), is substantially to the same effect.

Plainly the general principle to be derived from

all of these cases is that the question whether a

reservation of water is to be implied is to be de-

termined from a consideration of the power of the

United States to dispose of the right, the purpose

and intent for which the public lands were with-

drawn, and whether a reservation of water rights is

necessary to accomplish that purpose.

The appellees seek to dismiss from consideration

the Winters case and other cases cited by the

United States, on the ground that those cases rest

upon the construction of a treaty (Br. 29-31).

They purport to distinguish Alaska Pacific Fish-

eries V. United States, cited on page 27 of the Gov-

ernment's brief, as involving only a construction
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of what Congress meant in using the words, 'Hhe

body of lands known as Annette Islands" (Br. 50).

But the action of the Commissioner of Indian Af-

fairs and of the Commissioner of the General Land

Office is as susceptible of construction and as need-

ful of construction as is a treaty or statute. Stat-

utes passed for the benefit of dependent Indian

tribes or communities, as well as treaties made with

them, are to be liberally construed, and doubts re-

solved in favor of the Indians. Alaska Pacific

Fisheries v. United States, 248 U. S. 78, 89; United

States V. Nice, 241 U. S. 591, 599 ; United States v.

Celestine, 215 U. S. 278, 290; Cherokee Intermar-

riage cases, 203 U. S. 76, 94. This rule has its basis

in the Grovernment ^s duty of protection of a de-

pendent people. Choate v. Trapp, 224 U. S. 665,

675; United States v. Pelican, 232 U. S. 442, 450;

United States v. Nez Perce County, Idaho, 95 F.

2d 238 (C. C. A. 9, 1938). The rule of strict con-

struction, said by the appellees to apply to grants

of the sovereign (Br. 30) has no application to

statutes or treaties made by the United States in

relation to Indians. No valid reason is apparent

why it should apply in the construction of depart-

mental or executive conduct ])ertaining to the

Indians.

The appellees assert (Br. 31-34, 59) that the

Pahute Indians have no interest in either the

lands or waters of the Walker River Reserva-

tion, whether by aboriginal occupation or by the

acts of the conunissioners or the executive order



40

of the President. But, as has been shown, it is

clear that the acts of the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs and of the Commissioner of the General

Land Office in 1859, and the tacit consent of the

Secretary of the Interior in those acts, conferred

upon the Walker River Indians a right of occu-

pancy in the Walker River Reservation. This

right of occupancy was recognized by Congress

in the Act of May 27, 1902, c. 888, 32 Stat. 260,

which provided for the allotment of lands on the

reservation,'' and that

—

when a majority of the heads of families

on said reservation shall have accepted such

allotments and consented to the relinquish-

ment of the right of occupancy to land on

said reservation which can not be irrigated

from existing ditches and extensions thereof

and land which is not necessary for dwell-

ings, school buildings or habitations for

the members of said tribe, such allottees

who are heads of families shall receive

the sum of three hundred dollars each to

enable them to commence the business of

agriculture. * * *

Appellees (Br. 51) assert that the action of of-

ficers and department heads in charge of the

^^ The existence of the Walker Eiver Reservation was re-

peatedly recognized by Congress in acts appropriating

money for its maintenance. Act of June 22, 1874, c. 389, 18

Stat. 146, 147; Act of March 3, 1875, c. 132, 18 Stat. 420, 421,

422; Act of August 15, 1876, c. 289, 19 Stat. 176, 177; Act of

March 3, 1877, c. 101, 19 Stat. 271, 272; Act of May 27, 1878,

c. 142, 20 Stat. 63, 85 ; Act of February 17, 1879, c. 87, 20

Stat. 295, 314.
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Walker River Reservation is conclusive that there

Avas no intention on the part of the United States

to reserve water rights when the reservation was

created. They base this proposition upon the ap-

plication for permit to appropriate waters of the

State of Nevada, filed with the state engineer on

December 24, 1910, by the Superintendent of the

Walker River Reservation (Br. 51), and upon the

disposition of the upstream lands by patent to the

white settlers (Br. 52).
^'^

The applications made by the Superintendent

of the Reservation in 1910 and by the Walker

River Indian agent in 1906 were admitted in evi-

dence subject to the objection that they were not

shown to have been made by the authority of any

executive or administrative officer of the United

States, or of Congress (R. 821-822, 824). On De-

cember 2, 1920, the Assistant Commissioner of In-

dian Affairs wrote the Superintendent of the

Walker River School (R. 966) :

In the absence of legislation by Congress,

the lands and water rights belonging to the

Indians within Indian reservations are not

subject to the operation of State statutes.

^^ Altlioiigli the district court treated these matters as

having to do ^N'itli administrative construction in its first

opinion (R. 403) , in its second opinion it dealt with them in

connection with laches, estoppel or equitable defenses (R.

492-493), as had the master (R. 271-274), and they were
treated under the latter head in the Government's opening
brief, pp. 50-55.
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As a matter of law, therefore, the Indians

or the Indian Service representing the Fed-
eral Government cannot be compelled to

comply with State statutes relative to the ac-

quisition of water rights. As a matter of

comity, or courtesy to State officials, how-
ever, it has been the practice to at least ad-

vise such officials of the rights of the Indians

in order that due notice may be had thereof

in adjudications by State officers of water
rights pertaining to lands in white owner-

ship. The actual filing of an application for

permit pursuant to State statutes is not nec-

essary and appears to have been undertaken

through a misconception of the situation

with reference to matters of this kind. Your
action in partly filling out the blank form
showing proof of beneficial use, while not ab-

solutely necessary in order to protect the

water rights of the Indians, was not at least

improper, in that it is not seen how any di-

rect injury will result therefrom. The chief

difficulty in matters of this kind is the im-

pression created in the minds of State offi-

cials and others that compliance with the

State law, or attempt to comply with such

law, is an admission that the State and the

State officers have jurisdiction over the mat-

ters involved therein.

The water permit issued by the State Engineer pur-

suant to the application of 1910 was endorsed

:

Cancelled June 6, 1921, because of failure

of applicant to comply with provisions of

permit [R. 824].



43

The record does not state in what respect the con-

ditions of the permit were not complied with, but it

may be presumed, since the cancellation followed

soon after the above-quoted letter, that no effort

was made to comply because the rights of the In-

dians and the Government were not dependent on

state law. The administrative conduct upon which

the appellees rely to show the absence of intent on

the part of the Government to reserve water rights

was thus not the conduct of the Department of the

Interior, but the unauthorized conduct of the local

Indian agents on the reservation, which was disap-

proved by the Office of Indian Affairs.

To i^rove that water rights were not reserved, the

appellees point to the fact that patents were issued

to the settlers. In addition to what is said in the

Government's opening brief, pages 51-52, it may
be noted that in Winters v. United States, 207 U. S.

564, the decree was entered upon the bill and an-

swer, and the answer alleged that the defendants,

before any appropriation, diversion, or use of the

waters was made by the United States or the In-

dians on the Fort Belknap Reservation, and with-

out notice of any clami on the part of the United

States or the Indians, and believing that all the

waters were open to appropriation, made entry

and proof and received patents to their lands in

fee simple (207 U. S. 564, 568, 569). Yet the

pleading of these facts did not influence the Court's

decision. See also United States v. Conrad In-

vestment Co., 156 Fed. 123, 131-132 (C. C. D. Mont.,
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1907), afe'cl 161 Fed. 829, 833-834 (C. C. A. 9,

1908) (Gov't Op. Br. 45).

II

The United States is not barred from the relief it seeks

by laches, estoppel, or any other principle of equity

It is believed that the question of laches, estoppel,

and equitable principles is adequately discussed

in the Government's opening brief (Br. 33-61).

The remarks here will be limited to calling the at-

tention of the Court to certain matters in which it

is thought the appellees, in their argument, have

fallen into error.

The appellees state (Br. 59), citing United States

V. Chandler-Dtinda/r Water Power Co., 152 Fed.

25, 41 (C. C. A. 6, 1907), that the United States,

in disposing of the upstream lands to the appellees,

was acting in a j)roprietary capacity, and therefore

that it should be bound by its conduct in the same

manner as an individual. But in Van Broeklin

V. Tennessee, 117 U. S. 151, 158, it was pointed out

that

:

The United States do not and cannot hold

property, as a monarch may, for i:)rivate or

personal uses. All the property and rev-

enues of the United States must be held and

applied, as all taxes, duties, imposts and

excises must be laid and collected, "to pay
the debts and provide for the common de-

fence and general welfare of the United

States." Constitution, art, 1, sect. 8, cl. 1.
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To the same effect is Utah Power & Light Co. v.

United States, 230 Fed. 328, 337 (C. C. A. 8, 1915).

While a State may act in either a sovereign or a

proprietary capacity, see South Carolina v. United

States, 199 U. S. 437, 463; Los Angeles v. Los

Angeles Gas Corp., 251 U. S. 32, 38-39, the United

States can act only under the powers conferred

upon it by the Constitution ; it cannot act except as

a sovereign. This suit, moreover, is brought by the

United States in its sovereign capacity and not

merely as a nominal party. United States v. Min-

nesota, 270 U. S. 181, 194. In United States y.

Beehe, 127 U. S. 338, cited by the appellees (Br.

66) for the proposition that the United States has

been held barred on facts analogous to those in-

volved here, the United States was merely a nomi-

nal party plaintiff and had no interest in the con-

troversy (127 U. S. 347). In such cases, the

immunity from laches does not apply m behalf of

the private party w^ho is the true party plaintiff.

United States v. New Orleans Pac. By. Co., 248

U. S. 507, 519.

The appellees (Br. 55) derive from State v.

Towessmite, 89 Wash. 478, 154 Pac. 805 (1916), the

equitable principles which, they contend, should

prevail in this case. That was a criminal prose-

cution of an Indian for fishing without a license,

and the considerations that affected the court 's de-

cision obviously have no application in determining
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whether water rights were reserved for the irriga-

tion of arid lands of a reservation.

The appellees state that the United States is seek-

ing to deprive white settlers of water which they

have been using for sixty-five years for the benefit

of non-existent Indians on uncultivated lands (Br.

68). Here, as in other portions of their brief, the

appellees are endeavoring to color the record by ex-

aggerating the loss that will fall to them from the

decree sought by the Government, and by minimiz-

ing the usefulness and importance to the Indians

of the rights asserted for them. The decree sought

will merely secure to the Indians the right to so

much water as they can beneficially use on the res-

ervation. The area now under cultivation is 2,100

acres (R. 246, 496), and the decree will not im-

mediately deprive the appellees of any water that

cannot be used on these 2,100 acres. Finally, if any

of the upstream white settlers must relinquish any

of the water which they have unlawfully been us-

ing, it will not be the pioneers or their descendants

;

it will be the junior appropriators who have ac-

quired their lands in comparatively recent years,

with full knowledge that a large part of the water

had already been appropriated, and that the water

in which they could acquire rights would only be

the water remaining after all other rights were

satisfied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in this brief and in the

Government's opening brief it is respectfully sub-
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mitted that the decree of the district court should

be reversed.
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No. 8779

IN THE

United States Circuit Court of Appeals

For the Ninth Circuit

United States of America,

Appellcmt,

vs.

Walker River Irrigation District

(a corporation), et al..

Appellees.

Upon Appeal from the District Court of the United States

for the District of Nevada.

PETITION OF THE UNITED STATES FOR REHEARING.

To the Honorable Judges of the United States Circuit

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit:

Comes now the United States of America, appellant

in the above-entitled cause, and petitions this Court

for a rehearing for the following reasons:

I.

IN THE IMPLIED RESERVATION OF WATER FOR THE
WALKER RIVER RESERVATION THERE WAS RESERVED
A FLOW OF WATER SUFFICIENT TO IRRIGATE ALL IRRI-

GABLE LANDS WITHIN THE RESERVATION.

Under the doctrine of Winters v. United States,

207 U. S. 564, affirming 143 Fed. 740, 148 Fed. 684



(C. C. A. 9, 1906), there was an implied reservation

of water in a quantity not merely sufficient to supply

the present needs of the Walker River Indians, but

sufficient to irrigate all irrigable lands of the reserva-

tion. Neither in the Winters case, nor in the

numerous cases in which the doctrine of the Winters

case has been followed^ is there any indication that

the amount of w^ater reserved was less than sufficient

to irrigate the irrigable lands within the reservation.

Indeed, the holding in the instant case is contrary to

the decision in Conrad Inv. Co. v. United States, 161

Fed. 829. There this Court recognized that the im-

plied reservation of water was of a quantity measured

not alone by the necessities of present use by the

Indians, but as well by their possible future require-

ments, which, of course, would be limited only by the

irrigable acreage of the reservation. Accordingly, this

Court allowed the Indians an amount of water suf-

ficient for their present needs but left the decree open

for modification upon a showing of increased needs of

the Indians.

Furthermore, when regard is had to the decision in

United States v. Powers, 305 U. S. 527, it is clear that

as a practical matter adequate irrigation of any part

of the irrigable allotted lands of the reservation will

be possible only if there is recognition of the rule that

water sufficient for the irrigation of all irrigable acre-

age is reserved. Congress, by the Act of May 27, 1902,

1. Conrad Inv. Co. v. United States, 161 Fed. 829; United States v.

Powers, 305 U. S. 527, affirming 94 F. (2d) 783; United States v. Mclntire,

101 F. (2d) 650 (C. C. A. 9, 1939); United States v. Parkins, 18 F. (2d)

642 (D. Wyo. 1926) ; United States v. Eibner, 27 F. (2d) 909 (D. Idaho,

1928) ; Skeem v. United States, 273 Fed. 93 (C. C. A. 9, 1921).



32 Stat. 260,- as amended by the Joint Resolution of

June 19, 1902, 32 Stat. 744,' authorized allotment of

the Walker River Reservation, in accordance with

the provisions of the General Allotment Act of Febru-

ary 8, 1887, sec. 7, 24 Stat. 390. These acts read

together clearly evince assumption on the part of

Congress that by the reservation of 1859 there had

been reserved water sufficient for the irrigation of all

irrigable lands on the reservation. They manifestly

indicate the view of Congress that at that time the

rights of the Indians on the reservation included the

right to a flow of water sufficient to supply not only

their present needs measured by the existing diver-

sion and use, but as well their future needs deter-

mined by diversion and use which might from time

2. This Act provides: "That the Secretary of the Interior be, and he is

hereby, directed to allot from the land on the Walker River Reservation in

Nevada susceptible of irrigation by the present ditches or extensions thereof
twenty acres to each head of a family residing on said reservation, the re-

mainder of such irrigable land to be allotted to such Indians on said reserva-

tion as the Secretary of the Interior may designate, not exceeding twenty
acres each; and when a majority of the heads of families on said resei-vation

shall have accepted such allotments and consented to the relinquishment of

the right of occupancy to land on said reservation which can not be irrigated

from existing ditches and extensions thereof and land which is not necessary

for dwellings, school buildings or habitations for the members of said tribe,

such allottees who are heads of families shall receive the sum of three hun-
dred dollars each to enable them to coimnence the business of agriculture, to

be paid in such manner and at such times as may be agreed upon between
said allottees and the Secretary of the Interior. And when such allotments

shall have been made, and the consent of the Indians obtained as aforesaid,

the President shall, by proclamation, open the land so relinquished to settle-

ment, to be disposed of under existing laws. And the money necessary to

pay said Indians is hereby appropriated out of any m,on€y in the Treasury

not otherwise appropriated."

3. Tlie Joint Resolution of June 19, 1902, 32 Stat. 744, provides: "Insofar

as not otherwise specially provided, all allotments in severalty to Indians,

outside of the Indian Territory, shall be made in conformity to the provi-

sions of the Act approved February eighth, eighteen hundred and eighty-

seven, entitled 'An Act to provide for the allotment of lands in severalty to

Indians on the various reservations, and to extend the protec-tion of the

laws of the United States and the Territories over the Indians, and for other

piuposes,' and other general Acts amendatory thereof or supplemental

thereto, and shall be subject to all the restrictions and carry all the privi-

leges incident to allotments made imder said Act and other general Acts

amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto."



to time in the future be made for the irrigation of

their lands, including those lying under no existing

ditch.

The decision in United States v. Powers, 305 U. S.

527, holds that under section 7 of the General Allot-

ment Act of February 8, 1887, recognizing equal

rights among resident Indians, allottees, for the cul-

tivation of their allotments, are vested with equal

rights in the water reserved for the tribe.

Under this decision each acre of irrigable land al-

lotted under the General Allotment Act, as this was,

is entitled to its pro rata share of the available water

supply. There are, as this Court found, in the reser-

vation approximately 10,000 acres of irrigable land

of which some 9000 have been allotted. But under

the decision of this Court the available supply is

limited to 26.25 feet of water, adequate for the irriga-

tion of only 2100 acres. As and when the allottees of

the remaining land or their purchasers or lessees de-

mand their proportionate shares of water, as is their

right under the Poivers case, the irrigable area of

each of the individual allotments on the reservation

now being cultivated will suffer a corresponding

progressive diminution resulting in an ultimate de-

crease to an acreage equal to less than one-fourth of

the area of the individual allotment.



II.

THE RECORD SHOWS THAT THE AMOUNT OF WATER REA-

SONABLY NECESSARY TO SUPPLY THE NEEDS OF THE
INDIANS EXCEEDS 26.25 FEET.

This Court states the applicable rule of law to be

that:

There was an implied reservation of water to

the extent reasonably necessary to supply the

needs of the Indians

and that

The extent to which the use of the stream might

be necessary could only be demonstrated by ex-

perience.

1. The needs of the Indians are not properly to be determined

by an experience of only seventy years.

This Court holds that the need for only 26.25 feet

of water, being the amount necessary for irrigation

of the area actually under cultivation by the Indians

at the time of trial, has been established as a ''fair

measure of the needs of the Government as demon-

strated by seventy years' experience". The flaw in

this reasoning lies in the assumption that determina-

tion of the needs of the Indians is properly to be con-

fined to a consideration of the experience in the rela-

tively short period of seventy years. In dealing with

the Indians the United States is dealing not merely

with the rights of an individual but is seeking to

solve the problems of civilizing a people who continue

to occupy the status of a dependent race. Plainly, the

needs of water of the Government and the Indians in



the cultivation of the lands set aside for support and

development of this backward race cannot be deter-

mined by reference to the relatively short period of

seventy years.

Furthermore, it is to be remembered that the rights

of the Indians to use the water of this reservation

have only now and for the first time been established

by the decision of the Court in the instant case. The

record affirmatively shows an abandonment of at-

tempts at agriculture by reason of lack of water

caused by upstream diversion. (R. 652-653, 963.) In

a suit to establish water rights it is manifestly inequi-

table to measure those rights by the amount of Indian

diversion and use when that diversion and use was

obviously reduced in amount by denial by the up-

stream diverting defendants of the very rights here

asserted.

Congress, by the Act of May 27, 1902, 32 Stat. 260,

as amended by the Joint Resolution of June 19, 1902,

32 Stat. 744, authorized allotment of the Walker River

Reservation in accordance with the provisions of the

General Allotment Act of February 8, 1887, sec. 7, 24

Stat. 390. The size of the allotments there directed

to be made clearly indicates that the Indian heads of

families engaged in agriculture i-equired a minimum

of 20 acres, and the allotments to other Indians made

by the Secretary, pursuant to the authority delegated

to him by Congress, in tracts of 20 acres shows a de-

termination by him that such Indians designated as

allottees required as a minimum for practical agri-



culture the maximum fixed by Congress for disposi-

tion to them.

Moreover, as Judge Wolverton held in United

States V. Conrad Inv. Co., 156 Fed. 123, 129, since the

United States holds the reservation lands in trust for

the Indians, the United States in its administrative

capacity, ought to be the judge of what amount of

the waters of the streams of the reservation is essen-

tial for the needs of the Indians for use in connec-

tion with their lands. Under the Powers case, each

allottee is entitled to his pro rata share of the water

of the reservation, and it follows that Congress in

determining that 20 acres of land were needed for

each allottee also determined that the amount of water

necessary for irrigation of each such tract (90 acre

feet) was essential or needed to supply the needs of

the individual allottee.

2. The record requires a decree subject to modification upon

a showing of an actual existing need by the Indians for

more water.

Under the Act of May 27, 1902, c. 888, 32 Stat. 260,

supra, p. 3, 504 allotments have been made of 20

acres each, totaling 10,080 acres, approximately 9000

of which are irrigable from present constructed

ditches and proposed extensions thereof. (R. 614,

641.) About 50% of the allotments are "dead allot-

ments" (R. 614), but this term means not that the

allotment is unoccupied, but that the allottee has

died and the title passed to his heirs. (R. 642, 656.)

There are 943 Indians attached to the reservation
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(R. 656), and not every Indian who is entitled to an

allotment has an allotment. (R. 657.) In general,

both wife and husband have an allotment but many
children have none. (R. 665.) Some of the 943

Indians attached to the reservation are not living

upon it and the number of those who live on the

reservation is about 500. (R. 656-657, 664.) Ninety-

six farmers are living on the reservation and farm-

ing parts of 140 allotments. (R. 656.) The average

farmed by each is slightly under 20 acres. (R. 664.)

The evidence contained in this record, considered

in connection with the relevant statutes and regula-

tions, amply shows that the presently foreseeable

needs of land and water for the Indians will ulti-

mately equal land in the amount of 10,000 acres and

water sufficient to irrigate it.

The testimony of the foreman of irrigation in the

Walker River Reservation shows that while all 10,000

acres might ultimately be cultivated by the Indians

of the reservation, it is clear that at least 4000 acres

may presently be expected to be cultivated by such

Indians within a period of 20 years. (R. 657.) The

balance, if a water supply is made available, should be

leased. Under the Act of March 3, 1921, c. 119, sec.

1, 41 Stat. 1232 (25 U. S. C. sec. 393), the restricted

allotments of any Indians may under rules and regu-

lations of the Secretary be leased for farming and

grazing purposes by the allottee or his heirs subject

only to the officer in charge of the reservation. The

pertinent portions of the Regulations of the Indian



Service, Leasing of Indian Allotted and Tribal Lands,

May 9, 1929, as amended, provide:

Section 1 authorizes lease of allotted irrigable

lands for not more than 10 years.

'^4. Any adult allottees deemed by the superin-

tendent to have the requisite knowledge, experi-

ence, and business capacity may be permitted to

negotiate their own leases and collect the rentals

therefor. All such leases, however, must be ap-

proved by the superintendent. This privilege

should be granted in writing, and with some lib-

erality, and be subject to revocation at any time

the allottee proves himself unworthy of it by

wasteful expenditure of the money. * * *"

''5. Allotted Indian lands should be leased

only to the manifest advantage of the owners, and

every able-bodied restricted Indian should be re-

quired to withhold from lease a sufficient acreage

to serve as a 'homei^lace' and farm unless the

allottee resides elsewhere and is otherwise gain-

fully employed."

*^22. One of the main objects in making leases

should be to provide the land with such perma-

nent improvements as will best fit it for the even-

tual use and occupancy of the allottee as a home,

such, for example, as buildings, fences, wells, fruit

trees, alfalfa, proper rotation of crops, conserva-

tion of soil fertility, prevention of erosion, etc.,

unless the land is already provided therewith.

Each lease should therefore provide for such of

the specific improvements mentioned or others as

will accomplish the desired result, for the repair

and upkeep thereof at the expense of the tenant,

and that the structures, etc., shall remain on the
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land and become the property of the allottee. If

the lessee is to erect additional improvements

which he wishes to retain, the contract should in-

clude a specific provision to this effect, giving the

tenant the right to remove them upon expiration

of the lease. Leases for allottees who can not

personally utilize the land, such as those mentally

or physically incapacitated, shall provide for such

improvements as will maintain or enhance the

rental and market value of the land.
'

'

The statute and regulations promulgated thereunder

by the Secretary constitute a recognition by the

United States that the needs of the Indians may in

some cases be best served by the leasing of their allot-

ments, (cf. Act of May 18, 1916, c. 125, sec. 1, 39

Stat. 128.) However, the regulations, particularly

section 22 above, clearly show that one of the objects

in such leasing, aside from the obtaining of rental in-

come, is the preparation of the land for ultimate In-

dian use by requiring the tenant to erect on the land

certain permanent structures best suited for the utili-

zation of the land for agriculture.

It seems apparent that Congress has adopted a long

term policy for adjusting the Indians to farming and

a civilized way of life. And it seems equally plain

that this program should not be defeated by determin-

ing once and for all the needs of the Indians by refer-

ence solely to their use of water during the past

seventy-five years.

Wherefore, for the foregoing reasons, and because

of the importance and far-reaching effects of the de-
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cision, the petitioner respectfully requests that rehear-

ing be granted.

Dated, July 5, 1939.

Respectfully submitted,

Norman M. Littell,
Assistant Attorney General.

Roy W. Stoddard,

C. W. Leaphart,
Special Assistants to the Attorney General.

Thomas Harris,

Robert Koerner,
Attorneys, Department of Justice,

Washington, D. C.



Certificate of Counsel.

I hereby certify that I am of counsel for appellant

and petitioner in the above entitled cause and that in

my judgment the foregoing petition for a rehearing

is well founded in point of law as well as in fact and

that said petition for a rehearing is not interposed for

delay.

Dated, eTuly 5, 1939.

Roy W. Stoddard,
Special Assistant to the Attorney General,

Of Counsel for Appellant

and Petitioner.
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No. 8779

IN THE

United States Circuit Court of Appeals

FOR THE

Ninth Circuit

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, APPELLANT

V.

WALKER RIVER IRRIGATION DISTRICT,

A CORPORATION, et al., APPELLEES

PETITION FOR REHEARING
Come now the appellees in the above-entitled matter

and respectfully petition the Honorable, the United

States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

for a rehearing on the following questions

:

(a) Whether or not the Walker Eiver Indian Reser-

vation was created earlier than the year 1874, prior

to which time there was no executive order creating

the same, nor was there any order of the head of a

department.

(b) Whether or not there was an implied reservation

of water or any reservation of water for the lands

embraced within the withdrawal order, irrespective of

whether the reservation was legally created in 1859 or

by executive order in 1874.



(c) Whether or not the court misapprehended the

effect of the Winters decision as applied to the facts

in the instant case.

(a) THE HEAD OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
THE INTERIOR DID NOT ACT IN NOVEMBER,
1859, SO AS TO CREATE A VALID RESERVA-
TION OF LAND AT THAT DATE.

It is respectfully submitted that the court inad-

vertently overlooked an important question of fact

which was admitted by appellant, from which it follows

that the resulting law, as announced, is erroneous.

We quote from page 7 and the top of page 8 of the

printed opinion of the court:

**It is conceded that on the basis of the action
taken in November, 1859, the Walker River Indian
Reservation was then established. The acts of the
heads of departments are the acts of the executive.

Wilcox V. Jackson, 13 Pet. 498, 513 ; Wolsey v.

Chapman, 101 U. S. 755, 769. The subsequent
proclamation of the President merely gave formal
sanction to an accomplished fact. No. Pac. Ry. Co.
V. Wistner, 246 U, S. 283; Minnesota v. Hitchcock,
185 U. S. 373, 389-390."

It is respectfully submitted:

1. That the court inadvertently erred in the state-

ment that the appellees ''concede that the Walker River

Indian Reservation was established in 1859." The

record throughout as well as the opinion and decision

of the District Court clearly show that appellees always

contend that the lands in the reservation were not
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withdrawn from the public domain until the entry of

the executive order of President Grant on March 23,

1874. The claim of appellees that the lands were not

set apart from the public domain as a reservation finds

support not only in the act of Congress of February 8,

1887 (24 Stats., 388-1 Kappler 33), but also by the

Supreme Court of the United States in Shoshone Tribe

of Indians of the Wind River Reservation in Wyoming

V. United States, 299 U. S. 476-498; 81 L. Ed. 360. Only

three methods are recognized by which an Indian

Reservation can be created, namely:

1. By treaty.

2. By Act of Congress.

3. By executive order.

It can hardly be claimed that the letter of November

29, 1859, from the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to

the Commissioner of the General Land Office legally

set apart public lands for the Indians. No authority

exists for the Commissioner of Indian Affairs or the

Commissioner of the Land Office to set apart public

lands for Indians or for any other reservations.

In Shoshone Tribe of Indians of the Wind River

Reservation in Wyoming v. United States, 299 U. S. 476,

81 L. Ed. 360, decided by the Supreme Court on Janu-

ary 3, 1937, the Supreme Court overruled the decision

of the court of claims holding that a letter written

by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1891 had the

effect of taking from the Shoshone Indians a one-half

interest in their reservation for the benefit of the

Arapahoes.



The court must have inadvertently overlooked the

admission of counsel for the appellant made during the

oral argument before the Circuit Court of Appeals,

when it was stated that the proof was lacking to show

action by the Secretary of the Interior, who was the

head of the department.

In the argument in support of the claim advanced

by the United States that the Walker River Indian

Reservation was created on November 29, 1859, counsel

for the government was frank enough to admit that

there was a hiatus in its proof in that the government

(appellant) could not support its theory by any order,

direction or act of the department head prior to the

withdrawal or the creation of the reservation by Presi-

dential order on March 19, 1874, but only through the

letter of the Indian Commissioner. This failure of

proof, we respectfully contend, is fatal to the appellant's

theory that the lands involved (aside from its claim of

implied reservation of water) were withdrawn in 1859.

It will be noted that in the case of Wilcox v. Jackson,

13 Peters 498, 513, the Secretary of War acted in

creating the reservation involved and not a subordinate

officer. This case seems to be the leading case upon

which the subsequent cases are predicated so that the

language of the court should be noted as follows

:

**The President speaks and acts through the

heads of the several departments in relation to

subjects which appertain to their respective duties.

Both military posts and Indian affairs, including

agencies, belong to the War Department. Hence
we consider the act of the War Department in re-

quiring this reservation to be made, as being in

legal contemplation, the act of the President; and.



consequently, that the reservation thus made was
in legal effect, a reservation made by order of the

President, within the terms of the act of Congress."

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that cases

which follow and are predicated upon such language

must refer to the head of the department, that is to

say, the head of the War Department, the head of the

Department of the Interior, etc.

In Wolsey v. Chapman, 101 U. S. 755, 769, referred

to in this court's opinion, it will be noted that the

Secretary of the Interior acted in the premises and

approved the action taken with reference to the lands

involved.

In each instance that was covered by the proof in

the instant case, only subordinate officers of the

Department of Interior acted, making the suggestions con-

tained in the letters relied upon as the basis of the

withdrawal. We doubt if anyone would contend that

the Indian Agent, Dodge, or the Surveyor General

for the Territory of Utah had the power to control the

future policy of the government by making withdrawals,

for it has been held that the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs has no power to control the future policy of

the government.

As was said in Shoshone Tribe of Indians of the Wind

River Reservation in Wyoming v. the United States,

299 U. S. 476-498, 81 Law Ed. 360:

''But the Commissioner of Indian Affairs was
not empowered to fix the future policy of the

Government, still less to exercise in its behalf the

power of eminent domain."



6

The Commissioner of the General Land Office could

exercise no greater power than could the Commissioner

of Indian Affairs with respect to the creation of an

Indian Reservation out of lands held in trust for all

the people of the United States.

It will be noted that the case of Wilcox v. Jackson,

supra, referred to by this Honorable Court on page 7

of the printed opinion, does not involve the act of a

subordinate officer such as the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs or the Commissioner of the General Land

Office. It involves the act of the Secretary of War,

which is one of the heads of the several departments of

the government. We quote from the opinion:

**At the request of the Secretary of War, the

Commissioner of the General Land Office, in 1824,

colored and marked upon the map this very section,

as reserved for military purposes, and directed it

to be reserved from sale for those purposes. We
consider this as having been done by authority of

law; for amongst other provisions in the act of

1830, all lands are exempted from preemption which

are reserved from sale by order of the President.

Now, although the immediate agent in requiring

this reservation was the Secretary of War, yet we
feel justified in presuming that it was done by the

approbation and direction of the President."

Under the Act of July 9, 1832, Chapter 174, 4 Stat.

564, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs was acting

under the direction of the Secretary of War. The juris-

diction over the Bureau of Indian Affairs was trans-

ferred to the Department of the Interior in the year

1849 (9 Stat. 395).
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Even in the case of Northern Pacific Railway Com-

pany V. Wismer, 246 U. S. 283, it is clear that the

agreement made by the Indian Department with the

Indians in the State of Washington whereby a reserva-

tion was created was made with the full understanding

of the Secretary of the Interior and acquiesced in by

the head of the department by actually dealing with the

Indians pursuant to such agreement and as the court

said, ''with full understanding of the situation." The

court there held that even though there was no formal

approval by the Secretary of the Interior, his conduct

indicated such approval and knowledge.

n* * * ^YiQ Secretary of the Interior and the Conmiis-
sioner of Indian Affairs approved the action of
Colonel Watkins not later, certainly, than the send-
ing of his report to the Senate on January 23, 1878,
which was almost three years prior to the filing

of the railroad company's plat,"

It will be particularly noted that an agreement ex-

isted with the Indians in the last mentioned case which

is not present in the instant case. Here, the land was

a part of the public domain without any right or claim

to its occupancy by the Indians, as was the situation

in all of the other cases cited in the court's decision;

and it follows, therefore, that the same rules cannot

be applied here as were applied in those cases.

(b) (c) THERE WAS NO IMPLIED RESERVA-
TION OF WATER EITHER IN 1859 OR IN 1874

BASED UPON THE DECISION IN THE CASE
OF WINTERS V. UNITED STATES, 207 U. S. 564,

WHEN APPLIED TO THE CONTROVERTED
FACTS IN THE INSTANT CASE.



From the opinion entered in this case it seems

apparent that certain contentions made by Appellees

have not been fully considered, or have been misappre-

hended. If those contentions are duly considered it

would seem that this court's decision and order should

be rendered in favor of Appellees and that the Appel-

lant should be denied an 1859 priority, but should be

allotted the priorities established by the lower court

based on appropriation and application to beneficial use.

This court predicates its opinion upon the case of

Winters v. United States, 207 U. S. 564, and other

authorities following the Winters case involving the

same factual situation as existed in that case.

It is earnestly contended by the Appellees that the

Winters case, while correctly stating the law applicable

to the peculiar facts of that case, has no application to

the facts as presented by this appeal. Also, that several

cases decided by this court and federal and state cases

of this circuit have correctly established the law appli-

cable to this case.

The Winters case, along with later cases involving

like factual situations, is to be distinguished from the

facts before this court for the following reasons

:

1. The Indians had fundamental rights of occupation

recognized in effect as property rights by the United

States prior to the agreement between the United States

and the Indians which resulted in the cession of certain

of said land to the United States and a withdrawal and

retention bv the Indians of a smaller area for them-



selves. By the agreement or treaty with the Indians,

the lands relinquished by the Indians became for the

first time public lands freed from the restrictions of

the reservation and subject to entry.

In every case cited by the court and by counsel for

the Appellant, involving implied reservation of waters

for use on Indian reservations, it is emphasized and

re-emphasized that the reservation of waters was to the

Indians arising out of the grant by the Indians to the

United States of their lands. For example this court

so stated in the case of Skeem v. United States, 273 Fed.

93 (C. C. A. 9, 1921).

We ask the privilege of re-emphasizing our reference

to the Skeem case as the same appears at page 49 of

our brief, and in order to demonstrate the point we are

making we again quote from that case the following

language

:

"First. The grant was not a grant to the Indians,

but was a grant from the Indians to the United
States, and such being the case all rights not
specifically granted ivere reserved to the Indians.
* * *." (Italics ours.)

See also United States v. Mclntire, 101 Fed. (2d) 650,

C. C. A. 9, 1939.

In this very same connection we feel that this court

has confused the difference between a grant by the

Indians, as in the Winters case, and a gratuitous volun-

tary grant by the Government to the Indians, such as

in the instant case. We make this statement on account
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of the fact that in discussing the Winters case this court,

in paragraph (d), at the bottom of page 5 of the

printed opinion, states as follows:

''Treaties with the Indians and statutes dispos-
ing of property for their benefit have uniformly
been given a liberal interpretation favorable to the
Indian wards. * * *" Citing cases.

We respectfully submit that in the instant case there

was neither a treaty nor a statute of Congress disposing

of this property to the Indians.

So, the question of intent was to be determined from

the terms of binding treaties by which the ignorant

savages released all claims to large areas of lands in

return for smaller areas on which they agreed to live.

The implied reservation of water by necessary implica-

tion from these factual circumstances can have no

application to the situation presented by the facts of

this case.

The record before this court shows that in 1859,

certain letters passed between certain subordinate offi-

cers of the Department of the Interior. The court has

found from these letters and acts that there was no

express reservation of the waters of the Walker River

for the use of any Indians who might make their homes

on the lands so set aside. There was, then, no ceding

of lands by the Pahute Indians to the Appellant, by

treaty, for the circumscribed area of the reservation

set aside for their use. There was no grant by the

Indians under such circumstances that a reservation of

that which was not granted was, under ordinary prin-
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ciples of law, reserved. If the Pahutes are now given

an 1859 water right, it is by way of a grant to them

and not by the theory of implied reservation as set out

in the Winters and like cases. To imply a grant of

these waters to the Indians in 1859 is to detract from

the expressed dedication of Congress to the western

pioneers in the acts of 1866 and 1877 of these same

waters. To hold that these waters were granted to the

Indians by the Appellant because of these acts of the

officers of the Interior Department this court must

not only infer that the public for which the United

States held this land in trust was to be deprived of

the use of this water, but also that it was intended to

create an exception to the application of local laws to

the obtaining of water rights based on local conditions

and economic necessity.

(See Taylor v. United States, 44 Fed. (2d) 531;

C. C. A.9.

In every case where the before-mentioned peculiar

facts of the Winters and like cases were not involved

the western Federal and State courts, including this

Circuit Court, have held that merely by setting land

aside for a particular purpose the United States did

not grant or reserve water rights.

Krall V. United States, 79 Fed. 241 (C. C. A. 9,

1897).

United States v. Wightman, 230 Fed. 277, 284
(Ariz. 1916).

Larson v. Johnson, 23 Ariz. 360, 203 Pac. 874.

Kansas v. Colorado, 206 U. S, 46,

Byers v. "Wa Wa Ne/' 86 Ore. 617, 169 Pac. 121.
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Taylor, et al, v. United States, 44 Fed. (2d) 531

(C. C. A. 9, 1930), (Certiorari denied United

States V. Taylor, 283 U. S. 820).

2. The lands involved in the Winters case were never

affected by the acts of 1866 and 1877 because they were

never a part of the public domain until the Ratifying

Act of Congress of 1888; whereas, in the instant case,

the upstream lands were always public domain and the

white settlers' rights to the waters of Walker River

were specifically recognized by the Acts of 1866 and

1877.

3. Indians have no right against the government.

In 1859 there was no deed, grant, law, treaty or

prescriptive right or plain language evincing any color

of title in the Pahute Indians to the waters of the

Walker River. True, certain letters dealing with a pro-

posed reservation for these Indians had passed between

subordinate officers of the Department of the Interior,

but these letters did not give the Indians any rights

against the government that may now be enforced in

their behalf.

United States v. Ashton, 170 Fed. 509 (Appeal

dismissed, 220 U. S. 604).

The executive order of 1874 setting apart the land

near Walker Lake as an Indian Reservation was effec-

tive only by reason of Congress having acquiesced by

silence. Therefore, water should not be taken away
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from one part of the public domain and given to

another by mere implication.

Shoshone Tribe of Indians v. United States, supra.

United States v. Midwest Oil Co., 236 U. S. 459.

The express intent of Congress to hold the public

lands as trustee for the white pioneers and to provide

water for the settlers taking up those lands as is demon-

strated by the Acts of 1866 and 1877, would seem to

offset any implied intention to reserve those waters to

Indians, except as and when they might appropriate

and use the same.

Even assuming the reservation of land alone was

effective in 1859, which we do not concede, in applying

the test announced in the decision in the case of Alaska

Pacific Fisheries v. United States, 248 U. S. 78, referred

to in the court's opinion, page 3, we must find the

following differentiations

:

a. Circumstances in which Walker Lake Indian Reser-

vation was created.

1. Indians were at war with whites, (br. 36).

2. Walker Lake and surrounding area was the
source of Indian food (br. 36).

3. The purpose was to give emigrants protection
and to preserve peace.

4. No lands had ever been cultivated by the
Pahute Indians; they were a war-like nomadic
tribe, and the idea of having them cultivate
lands was an after-thought.
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5. If the government had contemplated in 1859
that the Indians would support themselves by
agricultural pursuits, they would have chosen
a site for the reservation in one of the fertile

upstream valleys. (Br. 36-37.)

b. Power of Congress.

Admitting, for the purposes of this argument, the

power of Congress, it is to be considered that Con-

gress did not act with regard to this reservation

in 1874. As pointed out, the most that can be found

is a silent acquiescence of Congress to the executive

order. To find that from this silent acquiescence

of Congress to the withdrawal of public lands from

sale, there was a withdrawal of the water by im-

plication is to disregard the fact that Congress

was holding these same lands and waters as trustee

for the public, and by inconsistent legislation not

mentioning Indian reservations, had provided the

sole means of acquiring vested interests in the

waters of the western streams.

c. Location and character of lands.

As pointed out, these lands were not chosen for

cultivation, otherwise other lands upstream, rather

than at very end of a desert stream would have
been selected.

d. Situation and needs of Indians and objects to be

attained.

The object sought by the subordinate officers of

the Department of Interior in setting this area
aside, because of the then situation and needs of

the Pahute Indians in Nevada was to preserve to

the Indians the source of their natural food, a lake

and 86,000 acres of hunting and fishing grounds,
to keep out white trespassers and to preserve peace
by offering the Indians an asylum of refuge. The
purpose of putting the lands into cultivation came
as an after-thought.
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Even if it could be assumed that one of the objects

in establishing the reservation was that the Indians

were to make it productive with the aid of the govern-

ment, it is not too unjust to the Indians to require them

to exercise the same diligence in placing these lands

under cultivation as was exercised by the pioneer whites.

Especially when the government rendered them assist-

ance and aid that was not rendered to the upstream

whites. Thus, these Indians were not at a disadvantage

when compared to the whites in bringing their lands

under cultivation.

In the Winters case there was undoubtedly a great

influx of people after the land was restored to the

public domain who began to appropriate the waters

of the several streams. Whereas, in the instant case,

this was not Indian country, and the Indians had no

recognized rights of occupancy in the territory, and

the Indians had no rights other or different than any

other settler upon the public domain, and the appro-

priation of the waters from the Walker River over a

period of seventy-five years has been gradual, and the

government during all of these years has had notice

of the whites coming in from year to year and settling

upon the lands and appropriating the water. During

this period of time the government has actively aided

the Indians in bringing their lands under cultivation,

with the result that the Indians should be required to

take their rights in the order of their priorities, as and

when, from year to year, they have appropriated the

waters.
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The record is silent as to any requirement that any

Indian was ever required to live on the reservation

or make the reservation his home, as in the cases where

treaties existed.

The upstream whites could not divert the waters

without limit, but were bound to recognize any valid

and bona fide appropriation made by the Indians with

the invaluable assistance of the government.

That the government did not intend to reserve the

waters in 1859 or in 1874 and that the acts of the

subordinate officials of the Department of the Interior

were not given that effect until very recently, affirma-

tively appears from the acts of the officers of this same

Department of the Interior.

To shorten this petition for rehearing as much as

possible, we respectfully refer ths court to the follow-

ing pages of our brief, where this matter is discussed:

pp. 51, 52, 53, 54, 61 and 67; and also to the very

pertinent opinion of Judge Sawtelle in United States v.

Wightmmi, 230 Fed. 277, 284, wherein it is stated:

"The same officers of the government charged
with the protection of the Indians also execute its

land laws, for both are under the charge of the

Secretary of the Interior, and his action in approv-
ing the sale of the land with water rights is of

equal dignity and binding force on the government
as the demand now made by his subordinate with

his approval for the use of the waters by Indians
* * # »»

It is respectfully submitted that no implied reserva-

tion of water should attach as of the vear 1859 or at
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all by virtue of the letter of the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs and that the rights of the Indians should be

placed on a basis of appropriation the same as the

white settlers. Neither party will suffer injuries under

such a rule as conditions exist at this time.

Dated: July 1, 1939.

William M. Kearney,

Edward F. Lunsford,

Myron R. Adams,

George L. Sanford,

William H. Metson,

Robert Taylor Adams,

Solicitors for Appellees.
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The undersigned counsel for appellee hereby certify-

that the foregoing petition is presented in good faith
and not for delay.

WhjLiam M. Kearney,

Edward F. Lunsford,

Myron R. Adams,

George L. Sanford,

WdliLiam H. Metson,

Robert Taylor Adams,

Solicitors for Appellees.
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In the District Court of the United States

in and for the District of Montana

No. 1496

AGNES McINTIRE,
Plaintiff,

vs.

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, et al.,

Defendants.

Be it remembered, that on February 13, 1934, a

Bill of Complaint was duly filed herein, being in

the words and figures following, to-wit : [2]

COMPLAINT

Now comes the above named plaintiff and files

this her Complaint, and for cause of action alleges

:

I.

That on July 16, 1855, a Tl-eaty was entered into

between the United States of America and the Flat-

head, Kootenai and Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians

as a Confederated Tribe to be known as the Flat-

head Nation which Treaty was duly ratified March

8, 1859, and proclaimed by the President of the

United States, April 18, 1859, (12 Stat. L. p. 975)

by which Treaty what is known as the Flathead

Indian Reservation was reserved exclusively for

the use and occupation of said Confederated Tribes

as a general Indian Reservation.
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The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were en-

couraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic and

uncivilized people and become a self-supporting,

agricultural and civilized people with permanent

homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to

them in severalty.

The lands of said Reservation are arid and with-

out artificial irrigation, and are valueless for farm-

ing and the growing of agricultural crops thereon.

One inch of water per acre is necessary for the

proper irrigation of said lands. [3]

Upon the making of said Treaty the said Con-

federated bands of Indians removed to and settled

upon and have thereafter remained upon and occu-

pied said Indian Reservation and began to farm

and have continued to farm and to grow crops upon

the lands of said Reservation by means of artificial

irrigation wdth the waters flowing upon said Reser-

vation.

II.

That Michel Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the

Flathead Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allot-

ment for the East Half of the Northeast Quarter,

Section Fourteen, Township Twenty-one, North of

Range Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and

Agatha Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the Flathead

Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allotment for the

West Half of the Northeast Quarter, Section Four-

teen, Township Twenty-one, North of Range

Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and on October
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S, 1908 trusts patents were issued to both of the

Indian allottees for their respective lands.

III.

That on or about the 15th day of April, 1900 said

Indian allottees dug and constructed an irrigation

ditch from Mud Creek, in Lake County, Montana,

carrying one hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet

of water per second of the waters from said Creek

to their allotments above described for the purpose

of irrigating their said lands above described. That

said ditch was taken out on the right bank of Mud
Creek about the quarter corner common to Sections

Twelve and Thirteen, Township Twenty-one, North

Range Twenty West, long prior to the sui^ey

thereof and while the same was unoccupied and

unclaimed lands, that said ditch was of sufficient

size to carry said water and said Indian allottees

thereby became the appropriators of one hundred

sixty inches or four cubic feet of the waters of Mud
Creek on April 15, 1900, and the same has become

appurtenant to said land and at no time since the

appropriation thereof has the same been abandoned.

w
IV.

That on January 25, 1918 a fee patent was issued

to said Indian allottee, Michel Pablo, for the lands

allotted to him, and on October 5, 1916 a fee patent

was issued to Agatha Pablo, allottee, for said lands

allotted to her, and thereafter said lands were sold

and transferred to plaintiff, and plaintiff is now
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the owner in fee of said lands allotted and patented

to both of the said Indians together with one him-

dred sixty inches or four cubic feet of water per

second of water appurtenant thereto, appropriated

as aforesaid, for the irrigation of said lands.

V.

That on June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L p 354) there

was added by Congress of the United States to the

provisions of an Act approved April 23, 1904, pro-

viding for the allotment of the lands on said Flat-

head Indian Reservation and the opening of the

same for sale and disposal Sections 17, 18, 19 and

20. Section 19 being as follows

:

"That nothing in this act shall be construed

to deprive any of said Indians, or said persons

or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the act, of the use of water appro-

priated and used by them for the necessary irri-

gation of their lands or for domestic use of

any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs, con-

structed and used by them in the appropriation

and use of said water. '

'

That from April 15, 1900 continuous up to and

including June 21, 1906 and continuing thereafter

to the present date, said ditch so dug and con-

structed, as aforesaid, was used and has been used

upon the lands herein described in conveying the

waters from said Mud Creek to said lands, and this

plaintiff claims the benefit of said Act of Congress
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in the use and possession of said one hundred sixty

inches or four cubic feet of water per second of

waters carried in said ditch.

VI.

That the United States of America, defendant

herein, claims [5] an interest in the waters flowing

in said Mud Creek and has darned up said Creek

and carries part of the waters away from plaintiff

and has deprived plaintiff of the full use of the

waters to which she is entitled. That plaintiff's right

to the use of said waters became vested long prior to

the claim of the United States, and that the United

States, under the provisions of said Act of Tune 21,

1906, has no right to deprive plaintiff of any waters

required by her for the necessar}^ irrigation of her

lands.

VII.

That there are no other parties using the waters

of Mud Creek except this plaintiff and the United

States, acting through the Flathead Reclauiation

Project, and in the use of said water from said Mud
Creek this plaintiff and the United States are ten-

ants in common or joint tenants in the use of said

water. That the waters of said Mud Creek can be

divided, partitioned and separated so that the

amount of water this plaintiff is entitled to use can

be fixed and determined and the United States is

made a party herein under the provisions of Title

28, Section 41, Subdivision 25 of the U. S. C. A. (30

Stat. L p 416, for the purpose of completely adjudi-
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eating the waters of Mud Creek as between this

plainti:^ and said defendant.

VIII.

That Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior,

is claiming to be in charge, under various Acts of

Congress, of said Flathead Indian Irrigation Proj-

ect, and Henry Gerharz is claiming to be the Project

Manager in direct charge of said Irrigation Project,

and that they are made defendants herein in order

that any rights, if any, adverse to the claim of the

plaintiff may be established, fixed and determined.

IX.

That said defendants wrongfully and without

right are claiming that this plaintiff has no water

rights on Mud Creek independ- [6] ent of the Indian

Irrigation Project, and is claiming the right to shut

down plaintiff's head gate and preventing the waters

from flowing in plaintiff's ditch and to deprive

plaintiff of the use of said water upon her said

lands, except by paying to said Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project fees and charges, to plaintiff's

great damage and loss.

X.

That the value of the water in controversy in this

action, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds the

sum of Three Thousand Dollars ($3000.00).

XI.

That this action in equity is necessary to prevent

a multiplicity of suits.
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XII.

That plaintiff has no plain, speedy or adequate

remedy at law.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays that the defendant, The

United States of America, be required to set forth

any interest the United States may have, if any, in

the waters flowing in Mud Creek, Lake County,

Montana, and that if any interest is claimed by the

United States to said waters, the waters therein may
be adjudicated between the United States and this

plaintiff, and plaintiff's right as herein set forth

may be partitioned, separated, fixed and established,

and that plaintiff be given a prior right to the use

of said waters of one himdred sixty inches as of date

April 15, 1900, and that said defendants and each of

them be forever restrained from interferring with

the rights of plaintiff as so found, and that the

plaintiff be given the right to sufficient water for the

proper irrigation of her land and other beneficial

use thereon to the extent of one hundred sixty inches

or four cubic feet of water per second of the waters

of Mud Creek through the irrigation ditch dug and

constructed as herein set forth, and that plaintiff

have such other and further relief in the premises

as may to the Court seem [7] meet and in accord-

ance with equity and good conscience, and for costs

of suit.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Attorney for Plaintiff.
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State of Montana

County of Lake—ss.

Agnes Mclntire, being first duly sworn according

to law, deposes and says:

That she is the plaintiff in the foregoing action;

that she has heard read the foregoing complaint and

that the matters and things therein stated are true

of her own knowledge, except as to matters stated

upon information and belief, and as to such matters

she believes them to be true.

MRS. AGNES McINTIRE.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 10th day

of February, 1934.

[Seal] LLOYD I. WALLACE,
Notary Public for the State of Montana. Residing

at Poison, Montana.

My Commission expires August 1, 1934.

[Endorsed] : FHed Feb. 13, 1934. [8]

Thereafter, on March 21, 1934, a Return of Sen-
ice of the Bill of Complaint was duly filed herein,

in the words and figures following, to-wit

:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

AFFIDAVIT.

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Ehner E. Hershey, being first duly sworn accord-

ing to law, deposes and says:

That he caused a copy of the Bill of Complaint,

filed in the above case, to be served upon the United
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States District Attorney for the District of Mon-

tana, on the 13th day of February, 1934, by deposit-

ing in the United States postoffice at Missoula, Mon-

tana, a full, true and correct copy of said Bill of

Complaint securely sealed, postage prepaid and reg-

istered, and addressed to said United States Attor-

ney at Helena, Montana, and the same was received

by him on February 14, 1934, as evidenced by his

return receipt showing such service, attached hereto

and made a part of this affidavit.

That on February 13, 1934, he mailed a copy of

said Bill of Complaint by registered letter to the

Attorney General of the United States at Washing-

ton, D. C, and the same was received by him on

February 16, 1934, as evidenced by the return re-

ceipt, which is attached hereto and made a part of

this affidavit. [9]

That on February 13, 1934, he addressed a letter

to the Secretaiy of the Interior inclosing a copy of

said Bill of Complaint by registered mail, a copy of

which letter is attached hereto and made a part

hereof. That the same was received by the Secre-

tary of the Interior on February 17, 1934, as is evi-

denced by his return receipt w^hich is attached hereto

and made a part hereof.

ELMER E. HERSHEY.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 20th day

of March, 1934.

[Seal] RALPH L. ARNOLD,
Notary Public for the State of Montana. Residing

at Missoula, Montana.

My commission expires December 18, 1934.
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Tuesday,

February thirteenth,

Nineteen Thirty-four.

Mr. Harold L. lekes,

Secretary of the Interior,

Washington, D. C.

Dear Sir:

I inclose, herewith, copy of Complaint in the case

of Agnes Mclntire vs. The United States of Amer-

ica, et al., this day filed in the U. S. District Court

at Helena, Montana.

Will you Yolmitarily appear thereto, or shall I

proceed and obtain an Order under the provisions

of Sec. 57 of the Judicial Code of the United States,

(36 Stat. L., 1102).

Very respectfully,

ELMER E. HERSHEY.
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Post Office Department

Official Business

Registered Article

No. 4272

Insured Parcel.

Penalty for private use to avoid

payment of postage, $300.

Post mark of delivering office.

(Helena, Mont. Feb. 14, 1934. Registered)

Return to Elmer E. Hershey,

(name of sender)

Box 666,

(Street and number or Post Office Box)

Post Office at Missoula, State of Montana.

Return Receipt

Received from the Postmaster the Registered or

Insured article, the original number of which ap-

pears on the face of this card.

JAMES H. BALDWIN,
U. S. Atty. for District of Montana,

(signature or name of addressee)

Date of dehvery 2/14/1934.

J. C. KEENAN,
Agent. [10]
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Post Office Department

Official Business

Registered Article

No. 4274.

Insured Parcel.

Penalty for private use to avoid

payment of postage, $300.

Post mark of delivering office.

(Washington, D. C. 9, Feb. 17, 10AM., 1934)

Return to Elmer E. Hershey,

(name of sender)

Box 666,

(Street and number or Post Office Box)

Post Office at Missoula, State of Montana.

Return Receipt

Received from the Postmaster the Registered or

Insured article, the original number of which ap-

pears on the face of this card.

Department of Justice

(Signature or name of addressee)

W. E. FEENEY
(Signature of addressee's agent)

Date of delivery Feb. 16, 1934.
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Post Office Department

Official Business

Registered Article

No. 4273.

Insured Parcel.

Penalty for private use to avoid

payment of postage, $300.

Post mark of delivering office.

(Washington, D. C. 3, Feb. 17, 10PM., 1934)

Return to Elmer E. Hershey,

(name of sender)

Box 666,

(Street and number or Post Office Box)

Post Office at Missoula, State of Montana.

Return Receipt

Received from the Postmaster the Registered or

Insured article, the original nimiber of which ap-

pears on the face of this card.

Interior Department

Secretary's Office

(Signature or name of addressee)

per IRVING JOHNSON, Authorized Agent.

(Signature of addressee's agent)

Date of delivery Feb. 17, 1934.

[Endorsed] : Filed March 21, 1934. [11]
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Thereafter, on March 23, 1934, a Motion for an

Order directing defendant Harold L. Ickes, Secre-

tary of the Interior to appear, etc., herein, was duly

filed herein, being in the words and figures follow-

ing, to-wit: [12]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION

Now comes the above named plaintiff and moves

the Court that an order be made directing defend-

ant, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, to

appear, plead, answer or demur by the 14th day of

April, 1934, under the provisions of Section 57 of

the Judicial Code of the United States (36 Stat.

L. 1102), (Title 28, U. S. C. A. Sec. 118), and that

a copy of the complaint filed herein together with

a copy of said order be forthmth served upon said

defendant.

Said defendant Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the

Interior, is not an inhabitant of the District of

Montana, and has failed to voluntarily appear in

said action, although requested to do so in a letter

addressed to said defendant on February 13, 1934,

inclosing a copy of said complaint, which letter

was registered and the return card shows that the

same was received on February 17, 1934.

Dated March 22, 1934.

(Signed) ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

[Endorsed] : Filed Mar. 23, 1934. [13]
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Thereafter, on March 23, 1934, an Order direct-

ing Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, to

appear, etc., was duly filed and entered herein, being

in the words and figures following, to-wit : [14]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER
Upon application of Elmer E. Hershey, Attorney

for plaintiff, and upon the records and files in said

case,

It is ordered that said Harold L. Ickes, Secretary

of the Interior, defendant herein, appear, plead,

answer or demur by the Mth day of April, 1934,

under the provisions of Sec. 57 of the Judicial

Code of the United States (36 Stat. L., 1102), (Title

28 U. S. C. A. Sec. 118), and that a copy of this

order, together with a copy of the complaint, be

served upon said defendant forthwith.

Dated this 23 day of March, 1934.

BOURQUIN
Judge

[Endorsed]: Filed and entered March 23, 1934.

[15]
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Thereafter, on March 29, 1934, a Subpoena in

Equity was duly filed herein, being in the words

and figures following, to -wit : [16] •

[Title of District Court.]

SUBPOENA IN EQUITY

The President of the United States of America

To The United States of America, Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of Interior and Henry Gerharz,

Project Manager of Flathead Reclamation

Project, Greeting:

You are hereby commanded that all excuses and

delays set aside you within twenty days after the

service of this subpoena at the Clerk's office of the

United States District Court for the District of

Montana, at Helena, Montana, answer or otherwise

plead unto the bill of complaint of Agnes Mclntire,

in said Court exhibited against you. Hereof you

are not to fail at your peril, and have you then

and there this writ.

Witness the Honorable Geo. M. Bourquin, United

States District Judge at Helena, Montana, this

13th day of February, A. D. 1934.

[Seal] C. R. GARLOW
Clerk

By H. H. WALKER
Deputy Clerk
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MEMORANDUM
The Defendants in this case are required to file

their answer or other defense in the Clerk's office

of said Court, on or before the twentieth day after

service of this writ, excluding the day thereof;

otherwise the Bill may be taken pro confesso.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Missoula, Montana,

Attorney for Plaintiff [17]

RETURN ON SERVICE OF WRIT
United States of America,

District of Montana—ss.

I hereby certify and return that I served the an-

nexed Subpoena in Equity on the therein-named

Henry Gerharz, Project Manager, Flathead Recla-

mation Project by handing to and leaving a true

and correct copy thereof with him personally at

St. Ignatius Mission in said District on the 21st

day of March, A. D. 1934.

ROLLA DUNCAN
U. S. Marshal

By NED S. GOZA
Deputy

Marshal's Fee $2.00
*' Expense 2.48

Total $4.48
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[Indorsed on back] : Original. No. 1496. United

States District Court, District of Montana. Agnes

Mclntire vs. The United States of America, et al.

Subpoena in Equity. Filed on the 29th day of Mar.

1934. C. R. Garlow, Clerk. By G. Dean Kranich,

Deputy. [18]

Thereafter, on April 9, 1934, Special Appearance

and Objection to Jurisdiction by the United States,

was duly filed herein, being in the words and figures

following, to-wit

:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

SPECIAL APPEARANCE AND OBJECTION
TO JURISDICTION

Comes now the defendant the United States of

America, appearing specially and not voluntaril}^

herein and for the sole purpose only of objecting

to the jurisdiction of the above entitled court in

the above entitled suit over it and says

:

That this Court does not have any jurisdiction

over the United States of America as a party de-

fendant in this action for the reason that the

United States of America, without its consent, can-

not be sued, and in this action has not consented

to be sued.
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Wherefore, the United States of America prays

that the complaint in this action be dismissed and

held for naught as against it.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

ROY F. ALLAN
Assistant U. S. Attorney.

DONALD J. STOCKING
Assistant U. S. Attorney.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 9, 1934. [19]

Thereafter, on April 9, 1934, Special Appearance

and Objection to Jurisdiction by Deft. Harold L.

Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, was duly filed

herein, being in the words and figures following,

to-wit

:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

SPECIAL APPEARANCE AND OBJECTION
TO JURISDICTION

Comes now Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the

Interior, appearing specially and not voluntarily

herein, and for the sole purpose only of objecting

to the jurisdiction of the above-entitled court in

the above-entitled suit over him says

:

1. That said Court does not have any jurisdic-

tion over him as a party defendant in said suit for

the reason that the same is brought against him in
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a district court otlier than that of the district

whereof he is an inhabitant.

2. That this suit is essentially and substantially,

despite the alleged joinder of the Secretary of the

Interior, a suit against the United States of Amer-

ica and is therefore beyond the jurisdiction of this

Court, for the reason that the United States with-

out its consent cannot be sued and in this action it

has not consented to be sued.

Wherefore, he prays that the alleged Complaint

in this suit be dismissed and held for naught as

against him.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Coimsel, Department

of Interior, U. S. Indian

Irrigation Service.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 9, 1934. [20]

Thereafter, on April 9, 1934, Special Appearance

and Objection to Jurisdiction by Deft. Henry Ger-

harz, was duly filed herein, being in the words and

figures following, to-\^it

:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

SPECIAL APPEARANCE AND OBJECTION
TO JURISDICTION

Comes now the defendant Henrj^ Gerharz, as de-

nominated in the Bill of Complaint, Project Man-
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ager of the Flathead Reclamation Project, and

appearing specially and not voluntarily herein and

for the purpose of objecting to the jurisdiction of

the above entitled court in the above entitled suit

over him, says

:

1. That the Bill of Complaint in said action

fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause

of action in equity or otherwise against Henry

Gerharz in his denominated capacity in said Bill of

Complaint as Project Manager of Flathead Irriga-

tion Project or otherwise, and does not state facts

sufficient to entitle the plaintiff to any relief as

against Henry Gerharz as Project Manager or

otherwise.

2. That this suit is essentially and substantially,

despite the alleged joinder of Henry Gerharz in his

denominated capacity in the said Bill of Complaint,

as Project Manager of Flathead Irrigation Project,

a suit against the United States of America and

is therefore beyond the jurisdiction of this court

for the reason that the United States, without its

consent, cannot be sued and in this action it has

not consented to be sued.

Wherefore, he prays that the alleged complaint in

this suit be dismissed and held for naught as

against him.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Department

of Interior, U. S. Indian

Irrigation Service.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 9, 1934. [21]
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Thereafter, on April 16, 1934, Motions to Dismiss

were denied, the minute entry thereof being in the

words and figures following, to-wit:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

Counsel for respective parties present in court,

Mr. E. E. Hershey appearing for plaintiff and Mr.

James H. Baldwin, U. S. Attorney, appearing for

defendants. Thereupon the defendants' motions to

dismiss the bill of complaint herein were submitted

to the court without argument, whereupon court

ordered that said motions be and are denied.

Entered in open court April 16, 1934.

C. R. GARLOW,
Clerk. [22]

Thereafter, on April 25, 1934, Answer of the

United States was duly filed herein, being in the

words and figures following, to-wit : [23]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWER
Comes now the United States of America, one of

the defendants in the above entitled action, and for

its answer to the complaint in equity on file herein,

alleges

:

I.

For a first affirmative defense that this action is

not one in which the United States of America has

consented to be sued.
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II.

For a second affirmative defense, that the action

was not one bronght for the partition of lands.

III.

For a third affirmative defense, that this action is

in fact and legal effect one brought to settle the

relative priorities and rights of the parties thereto

to the use of the waters of Mud Creek on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation in the State and District

of Montana.

IV.

For a fourth affirmative defense, that the facts

stated therein are insufficient to constitute a valid

cause of action in equity against this answering

defendant.

Wherefore, having fully answered, the United

States of America prays

:

1

.

That plaintiff take nothing by her action

;

2. That the United States of America have judg-

ment against plaintiff for its costs and disburse-

ments herein necessarily expended.

3. For such other and further relief as may be

fit and proper in the premises.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for the

District of Montana. [24]

\
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United States of America,

District of Montana,

County of Silver Bow—ss.

James H. Baldwin, being duly sworn on oath,

deposes and says:

That he is the United States Attorney for the

District of Montana, and as such makes this veri-

fication to the foregoing answer

:

That he has read the same and knows the contents

thereof and that the same is true to the best of his

knowledge, information and belief.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
Subscribed and sworn to l)efore me this 25th day

of April, 1934.

[Seal] HAROLD L. ALLEN
Deputy Clerk U. S. District Court

District of Montana.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 25, 1934. [25]

Thereafter, on April 25, 1934, Answer of Deft.

Heniy Gerharz was duly filed herein, being in the

words and figures following, to-wit : [26]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWER
Comes now Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of

Flathead Irrigation Project, incorrectly designated

in the title of the bill of complaint as Project Man-
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ager of Flathead Reclamation Project and for an-

swer to the complaint in equity herein alleges:

I.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph I of plaintiff's complaint save and ex-

cept the allegation that '

' one inch of water per acre

is necessary for the proper irrigation of said lands '

'.

As to this allegation, defendant states that he is

without knowledge.

Defendant alleges that the said Flathead Irriga-

tion Project is incorrectly designated in the title

of this action and in certain paragraphs of the

complaint herein as Flathead Reclamation Project,

and alleges that the said Project is subject, not to

the Reclamation Laws, but to the Indian Irrigation

Project Laws of the United States.

Defendant alleges by the establishment of the

Flathead Reservation referred to in Paragraph I

of plaintiff's complaint, the United States, defend-

ant herein, as sole owner of the lands and waters

thereon, reserved for irrigation and other beneficial

purposes upon the lands of said reservation and

exempted from appropriation under territorial or

state laws or otherwise, all of the waters upon said

reservation including all of the waters of Mud
Creek, which has its source and flows wholly within

the boundaries of said reservation. [27]

11.

Defendant admits that Michel Pablo and Agatha

Pablo are Flathead Indians of the Flathead tribe
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or nation of Indians and states that except as here-

inbefore expressly admitted he is without knowledge

as to any allegation contained in Paragraph II

thereof and in this connection alleges that the lands

described in said complaint in equity are situated

within the Flathead Indian Reservation in Lake

County, Montana.

III.

States that he is without knowledge as to any

aUegation contained in Paragraph III thereof.

IV.

States that he is without knowledge as to any

allegation contained in Paragraph IV thereof.

V.

Admits the enactment into the laws of the United

States the provision of Section 19 of the Act of

Congress of June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L 355) and

except as hereinbefore specifically admitted, states

that he is without knowledge as to any allegation

contained in Paragraph V thereof.

VI.

Admits that the United States of America claims

an interest in the waters flowing in said Mud
Creek and has dammed up said creek, and except

as hereinbefore specifically admitted, states that he

is without knowledge as to any allegation contained

in Paragraph VI thereof.
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YII.

Denies that there are no other parties using the

waters of Mud Creek except plaintiff and the United

States of America, and in this connection alleges

that there are numerous users of the waters of Mud
Creek whose lands are situated both above, below

and adjacent to the lands described in the complaint

in equity herein whose rights will be injuriously

affected by any change in the amount or duty of

water and whose presence as parties plaintiff or

defendant in this action is necessary to a complete

determination of this cause, and except as herein-

before specifically denied or qualified states that he

is without knowledge as to any allegation contained

in Paragraph VII thereof. [28]

VIII.

Alleges that all acts done by this answering de-

fendant in regard to lands and waters mentioned in

said complaint in equity were and are and will con-

tinue to be proper and lawful acts done in pursu-

ance of the orders, rules and regulations of the

Secretary of the Interior of the United States of

America, made and promulgated by said Secretary

imder and by virtue of the authority vested in him

by the laws and statutes of the United States of

America to carry the same into effect.

IX.

Denies that he has ever wrongfully or without

right claimed that plaintiff has no water right on
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Mud Creek independent of the Flathead Irrigation

Project and denies that he has unlawfully claimed

the right to shut out plaintiff's headgate or to pre-

vent waters from flowing into plaintiff's ditch or

to deprive plaintiff of the use of said waters upon

said lands, except by paying to said Flathead Irri-

gation Project fees and charges.

Defendant, however, admits and avers that in the

course of his employment as Project Engineer of

the Flathead Irrigation Project, acting under the

direction and authority of the Secretary of the In-

terior, pursuant to laws and statutes of the United

States, he assessed against a poi'tion of said lands

claimed by plaintiff, certain charges for construc-

tion, operation and maintenance of the Flathead

Irrigation system and further alleges that said

charges and each thereof were and are lawful and

proper

;

Defendant further alleges that on August 26,

1926, an order was duly given, made and entered

of record in the District Court of the Fourth Judi-

cial District of the State of Montana in and for the

counties of Lake and Sanders in a proceeding en-

titled ''In the Matter of the Formation of the Flat-

head Irrigation District" including the following

described portion of the lands claimed by plaintiff

herein in the Flathead Irrigation District, to-wit:

West half (W%) of Northeast quarter

(NE14) of Section 14, in Township 21 North

of Range 20 West, of the Montana Principal

Meridian, in Lake County, Montana.



30 TJ. S. of America, et al. vs.

That subsequently said Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict entered into a repayment contract with the

United States of America and the above described

lands became and are now subject to the terms

and conditions of such repayment contract. [29]

X.

States that he is without knowledge of the value

of the water mentioned in the complaint in equity

herein.

XI.

Denies that this action is necessary to prevent a

multiplicity of of suits.

XII.

Denies that plaintiff has no plain, speedy or ade-

quate remedy at law.

XIII.

Denies each and every allegation contained there-

in which is not hereinbefore specifically admitted,

qualified or denied.

1. First affirmative defense.

For a further answer and by way of a first

affirmative defense this answering defendant says:

That this action is not one for the partition of

lands, but is in truth and in fact and in law an

action to quiet title to the use of water.

2. Second affirmative defense.

For a further and second affirmative defense,

defendant says:

That the facts stated in the complaint in equity

herein are insufficient to constitute a valid cause



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 31

of action in equity as against this answering de-

fendant.

3. Third affirmative defense.

For a further and third affirmative defense, de-

fendant says:

That the above entitled court is without jurisdic-

tion or authority to proceed further in this action

for want of necessary parties, for this, that there

are nimierous users of the waters of Mud Creek

w^hose lands are situate thereon and adjacent thereto

and both above and below the lands described in

the complaint in equity herein, whose rights to the

use of the waters of said creek may be injuriously

affected by any decree that the above entitled court

may render or enter in the above entitled cause

and whose presence either as parties plaintiff or

defendant in this action is necessary and proper to

a complete determination of this cause and of the

issues of the right to and the amount or duty of

water involved in this cause. [30]

4. Fourth affirmative defense.

For a further and fourth affirmative defense,

defendant says:

That said court has no jurisdiction of the subject

of this action to establish by decree an independent,

individual water right for irrigation and domestic

purposes to waters flowing on said Flathead Indian

Reser^-ation as against the rights of the United

States of America to said waters and the adminis-

tration and apportionment thereof.

Wherefore this answering defendant prays that

plaintiff's complaint in equity herein be dismissed
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and that this answering defendant do have and re-

cover of and from said plaintiff his costs and dis-

bursements herein necessarily expended.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for the

District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Department of

Interior, United States Indian

Irrigation Service.

Attorneys for Defendant Henry Gerharz

[31]

United States of America,

District of Montana,

County of Silver Bow—ss.

James H. Baldwin, being duly sworn on behalf

of the defendant in the above-entitled action, says

that he has read the foregoing answer and knows

the contents thereof and that the same is true to

the best of his knowledge, information and belief;

that the said defendant is absent from the County

of Silver Bow, where his attorney has his office,

and that the affiant is one of the defendant's attor-

neys and therefore makes this affidavit.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 25th day

of April, 1934.

[Seal] HAROLD L. ALLEN
Deputy Clerk U. S. District Court,

District of Montana.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 25, 1934. [32]
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Tliereafter, on April 30, 1934, Reply to Answer

of the United States was duly filed herein, being

in the words and figures following, to-wit: [33]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OF THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA

Now comes Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of The United

States of America filed herein, denies each and

every allegation therein made, as set forth in said

answer, and in the First, Second, Third and Fourth

affirmative defense as alleged therein and the whole

thereof, except as set forth and alleged in her com-

plaint filed herein.

Wherefore, plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

Comity of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf

of the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says

that he has read the foregoing reply and knows the

contents thereof, and that the same is true to the

best of his knowledge, information and belief; that

the said plaintiff is absent from the County of

Missoula where her attorney has his office, and he

therefore makes this affidavit as her attorney.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
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Subscribed and sworn to before me this 27th day

of April, 1934.

[Seal] RALPH L. ARNOLD
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires December 18, 1934.

[Endorsed]: Filed April 30i, 1934. [34]

Thereafter, on April 30, 1934, Reply to Answer of

Henry Gerharz was duly filed herein, being in the

words and figures following, to-wit: [35]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OF HENRY GERHARZ
Now comes Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of Henry

Gerharz filed herein, denies each and every allega-

tion therein made, as set forth in said answer, and

in the First, Second, Third and Fourth affirmative

defense as alleged therein and the w^hole thereof,

except as set forth and alleged in her complaint

filed herein.

Wherefore, Plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says that
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he has read the foregoing reply and knows the con-

tents thereof, and that the same is true to the best

of his knowledge, infonnation and belief; that the

said plaintiff is absent from the County of Missoula

where her attorney has his office, and he therefore

makes this affidavit as her attorney.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 27th day

of April, 193-1.

[Seal] RALPH L. ARNOLD
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires December 18, 1934.

[Endorsed] : Filed April 30, 1934. [36]

Thereafter, on May 7, 1934, Amended Bill of

Exceptions of the United States was duly filed here-

in, being in the words and figures following, to-mt

:

[37]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

AMENDED BILL OF EXCEPTIONS OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

To Order of the Court of x\pril 16th, 1934, denying

its objection to jurisdiction:

Be it remembered, that

1. The above-named plaintiff filed her Complaint

in Equity in the above-entitled court and action on

Febr-uary 13th, 1934. Said Complaint in Equity
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after the title of court and cause is as; follows,

to-wit

:

Now comes the above named plaintiff and files

this her Complaint, and for cause of action alleges

:

I.

That on July 16, 1855, a Treaty was entered into

between the United States of America and the Flat-

head, Kootenai and Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians

as a Confederated Tribe to be known as the Flat-

head Nation which Treaty was duly ratified March

8, 1859, and proclaimed by the President of the

United States, April 18, 1859, (12 Stat. L. p. 975)

by which Treaty what is known as the Flathead

Reservation w^as reserved exclusively for the use

and occupation of said Confederated Tribes as a

general Indian Reservation. [38]

The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were en-

couraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic and

uncivilized people and become a self-supporting,

agricultural and civilized people with permanent

homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to

them in severalty.

The lands of said Reservation are arid and with-

out artificial irrigation, and are valueless for farm-

ing and the growing of agricultural crops thereon.

One inch of water per acre is necessary for the

proper irrigation of said lands.

Upon the making of said Treaty the said Con-

federated bands of Indians removed to and settled

upon and have thereafter remained upon and occu-

pied said Indian Reservation and began to farm and
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have continued to farm and to grow crops upon the

lands of said Reservation by means of artificial

irrigation with the waters flowing upon said Reser-

vation.

II.

That Michel Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the

Flathead Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allot-

ment for the East Half of the Northeast Quarter,

Section Fourteen, Township Twenty-one, North of

Range Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and

Agatha Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the Flathead

Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allotment for the

West Half of the Northeast Quarter, Section Four-

teen, Township Twenty-one, North of Range

Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and on October

8, 1908 trusts patents were issued to both of the

Indian allottees for their respective lands.

III.

That on or about the 15th day of April, 1900

said Indian allottees dug and constructed an irriga-

tion ditch from Mud Creek, in Lake County, Mon-

tana, carrjdng one hundred sixty inches or four

cubic feet of water per second of the waters from

said Creek to their allotments above described for

the purpose of irrigating their said lands above

described. That said ditch w^as taken out on the

right bank of Mud Creek about the quarter corner

common to Sections Twelve and Thirteen, Township

Twenty-one, North Range Twenty West, long prior

to the survey thereof and while the same [39] was

unoccupied and unclaimed lands, that said ditch

was of sui^cient size to carry said water and said

Indian allottees thereby became the appropriators
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of one hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet of

the waters of Mud Creek on April 15, 1900, and

the same has become appurtenant to said land and

at no time since the appropriation thereof has the

same been abandoned.

IV.

That on January 25, 1918 a fee patent was issued

to said Indian allottee, Michel Pablo, for the lands

allotted to him, and on October 5, 1916 a fee patent

was issued to Agatha Pablo, allottee, for said lands

allotted to her, and thereafter said lands w^ere sold

and transferred to plaintiff, and plaintiff is now the

owner in fee of said lands allotted and patented to

both of the said Indians together with one hundred

sixty inches or four cubic feet of water per second

of water appurtenant thereto, appropriated as afore-

said, for the irrigation of said lands.

V.

That on June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L p. 354) there

was added by Congress of the United States to the

provisions of an Act approved April 23, 1904, pro-

viding^ for the allotment of the lands on said Flat-

head Indian Reservation and the opening of the

same for sale and disposal Sections 17, 18, 19 and

20. Section 19 being as follows:

''That nothing in this act shall be construed

to deprive any of said Indians, or said persons

or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the act, of the use of water appro-

priated and used by them for the necessary
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irrigation of their lands or for domestic use

of any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs, con-

structed and used by them in the appropriations

and use of said water."

That from April 15, 1900 continuous up to and

including June 21, 1906 and continuing thereafter

to the present date, said ditch so dug and con-

structed, as aforesaid, was used and has been used

upon the lands herein described in conveying the

waters from said Mud Creek to said lands, and this

plaintiff claims the benefit [40] of said Act of Con-

gress in the use and possession of said one hundred

sixty inches or four cubic feet of water per second

of waters carried in said ditch.

VI.

TOiat the United States of America, defendant

herein, claims an interest in the waters flowing in

said Mud Creek and has dammed up said Creek

and carries part of the waters away from plaintiff

and has deprived plaintiff of the full use of the

waters to which she is entitled. That plaintiff's right

to the use of said waters became vested long prior

to the claim of the United States, and that the

United States, under the provisions of said Act of

June 21, 1906, has no right to deprive plaintiff of

any waters required by her for the necessary irri-

gation of her lands.

VII.

That there are no other parties using the waters

of Mud Creek except this plaintiff and the United
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States, acting through the Flathead Reclamation

Project, and in the use of said water from said Mud
Creek this plaintiff and the United States are

tenants in common or joint tenants in the use of

said water. That the waters of said Mud Creek can

be divided, partitioned and separated so that the

amount of water this plaintiff is entitled to use can

be fixed and determined and the United States is

made a party herein under the provisions of Title

28, Section 41, Subdivision 25 of the U. S. C. A.

(30 Stat. L p. 418), for the purpose of completely

adjudicating the waters of Mud Creek as between

this plaintiff and said defendant.

VIII.

That Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior,

is claiming to be in charge, under various Acts of

Congress, of said Flathead Indian Irrigation

Project, and Henry Gerharz is claiming to be the

Project Manager in direct charge of said Irrigation

Project, and that they are made defendants herein

in order that any rights, if any, adverse to the

claim of the plaintiff maj be established, fixed and

determined. [41]

IX.

That said defendants wrongfully and without

right are claiming that this plaintiff has no water

rights on Mud Creek independent of the Indian

Irrigation Project, and is claiming the right to

shut down plaintiff's head gate and preventing the

waters from flowing in plaintiff's ditch and to de-
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prive plaintiff of the use of said water upon hei

said lands, except by paying to said Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project fees and charges, to plaintiff's

great damage and loss.

X.

That the value of the water in controversy in this

action, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds the

sum of Three Thousand Dollars ($3000.00).

XI.

That this action in equity is necessary to prevent

a multiplicity of suits.

XII.

That plaintiff has no plain, speedy or adequate

remedy at law\

Wherefore, plaintiff prays that the defendant.

The United States of America, be required to set

forth any interest the United States may have, if

any, in the waters flow^ing in Mud Creek, Lake

County, Montana, and that if any interest is claimed

by the United States to said waters, the w^aters

therein may be adjudicated between the United

States and this plaintiff, and plaintiff's right as

herein set forth may be partitioned, separated, fixed

and established, and that plaintiff be given a prior

right to the use of said waters of one hundred sixty

inches as of date April 15, 1900, and that said de-

fendants and each of them be forever restrained

from interfering with the rights of plaintiff as so

found, and that the plaintiff be given the right to
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sufficient water for the proper irrigation of her

land and other beneficial use thereon to the extent

of one hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet of

water per second of the waters of Mud Creek

through the irrigation ditch dug [42] and con-

structed as herein set forth, and that plaintiff have

such other and further rehef in the premises as

may to the Court seem meet and in accordance with

equity and good conscience, and for costs of suit.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff.

State of Montana,

County of Lake—ss.

Agnes Mclntire, being first duly sworn according

to law, deposes and says

:

That she is the plaintiff in the foregoing action;

that she has heard read the foregoing complaint

and that the matters and things therein stated are

true of her own knowledge, except as to matters

stated upon information and belief, and as to such

matters she believes them to be true.

AGNES McINTIRE

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 10th day

of February, 1934.

[Seal] LLOYD I. WALLACE
Notary Public for the State of Montana. Residing

at Poison, Montana.

My commission expires August 1, 1934.
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2. That thereafter, and on that day, a subpoena

in equity issued out of the above-entitled court, in

the above-entitled cause. Said Subpoena in Equity

is in words and figures as follows, to-wit:

United States District Court

Missoula Division—District of Montana.

The President of the United States of America to

the United States of America, Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of Interior and Henry Gerharz,

Project Manager of Flathead Reclamation

Project, Greeting: [43]

You Are Hereby Commanded that all excuses and

delays set aside you within twenty days after the

service of this subpoena at the Clerk's office of the

United States District Court for the District of

Montana, at Helena, Montana, answer or otherwise

plead unto the bill of complaint of Agnes Mclntire,

in said Court exhibited against you. Hereof you are

not to fail at your peril, and have you then and

there this writ.

Witness the Honorable Geo. M. Bourquin, United

States District Judge at Helena, Montana, this 13th

day of February, A. D. 1934.

[Seal] C. R. CARLOW,
Clerk.

By H. H. WALKER,
Deputy Clerk.
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MEMORANDUM
The Defendants in this case are required to file

their answer or other defense in the Clerk's office

of said Court, on or before the twentieth day after

service of this w^rit, excluding the day thereof;

otherwise the Bill may be taken pro confesso.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Missoula, Montana,

Attorney for Plaintiff.

3. That thereafter and on March 20, 1934, the

plaintiff above-named caused to be filed in the

above-entitled court and cause the affidavit of Elmer

E. Hershey which affidavit, after the title of court

and cause is as follows:

State of Montana

County of Missoula—ss:

Elmer E. Hershey, being first duly sworn accord-

ing to law, deposes and says

:

That he caused a copy of the Bill of Complaint,

filed in the above case, to be served upon the United

States District Attorney for the District of Mon-

tana, on the 13th day of February, 1934, by deposit-

ing in the United States i^ostoffice at Missoula, Mon-

tana, a full, true and correct copy of said Bill of

Complaint securely sealed, postage prepaid and

registered, and addressed to said United States At-

torney at Helena, Montana, and the same was re-

ceived by him on February 14, 1934, as evidenced by

his return [44] receipt showing such service, at-

tached hereto and made a part of this affidavit.
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That on February 13, 1934, he mailed a copy of

said Bill of Complaint b}^ registered letter to the

Attorney General of the United States at Wash-

ington, D. C, and the same was received by him on

February 16, 1934, as evidenced by the return re-

ceipt, which is attached hereto and made a part of

this affidavit.

That on February 13, 1934, he addressed a letter

to the Secretary of the Interior inclosing a copy of

said Bill of Complaint by registered mail, a copy

of which letter is attached hereto and made a part

hereof. That the same was received by the Secre-

tary of the Interior on February 17, 1934, as is evi-

denced by his return receipt which is attached

hereto and made a part hereof.

ELMER E. HERSHEY.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 20th day

of March, 1934.

[Seal] RALPH L. ARNOLD
Notary Public for the State of Montana, Residing

at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires December 18, 1934.

4. That on April 9th, 1934, said United States

of America; served and filed in the above-entitled

Court and cause its Special Appearance and Ob-

jection to Jurisdiction which after the title of court

and cause is in words and figures as follows

:

Comes now the defendant the United States of

America, appearing specially and not voluntarily
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herein and for the sole purpose only of objecting to

the jurisdiction of the above entitled court in the

above entitled suit over it and says:

That this Court does not have any jurisdiction

over the United States of America as a party de-

fendant in this action for the reason that the United

States of America, without its consent, cannot be

sued, and in this action has not consented to be

sued. [45]

Wherefore, the United States of America prays

that the complaint in this action be dismissed and

held for naught as against it.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

ROY F. ALLAN
Assistant U. S. Attorney.

DONALD J. STOCKING
Assistant U. S. Attorney.

5. That said Special Appearance and Objection

to Jurisdiction came duly and regularly on for

hearing before the above-entitled court, the Honor-

able George M. Bourquin, Judge presiding, at the

court room thereof, at Missoula, Montana, on

April 16th, 1934, and thereafter and on that day

said Objection to Jurisdiction was by the Court

denied

;

And now the defendant The United States of

America, asks that this be settled, approved, signed,
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order filed, and filed as its Amended Bill of Excep-

tions on said ruling of the Court.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Department

of Interior, U. S. Indian

Irrigation Service.

Approved and settled.

BOURQUIN, J.

[Endorsed] : Filed May 7, 1934. [46]

Thereafter, on May 7, 1934, Amended Bill of

Exceptions of Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the

Interior, was duly filed herein, being in the words

and figures following, to-wit: [47]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

AMENDED BILL OF EXCEPTIONS OF
HAROLD L. ICKES, SECRETARY OF THE
INTERIOR

To Order of the Court of April 16th, 1934, denying

his objection to jurisdiction:

Be it remembered, that

1. The above-named plaintiff filed her Complaint

in Equity in the above-entitled court and action

on February 13th, 1934. Said complaint in Equity

after the title of court and cause is as follows,

to-wit

:
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Now comes the above named plaintiff and files

this her Complaint, and for cause of action alleges

:

I.

That on July 16, 1855, a Treaty was entered into

between the United States of America and the Flat-

head, Kootenai and Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians

as a Confederated Tribe to be known as the Flat-

head Nation which Treaty was duly ratified March

8, 1859, and proclaimed by the President of the

United States, April 18, 1859, (12 Stat. L. p. 975)

by which Treaty what is known as the Flathead

Indian Reservation was reserved exclusively for

the use and occupation of said Confederated Tribes

as a general Indian Reservation. [48]

The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were en-

couraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic and

imcivilized people and become a self-supporting,

agi^cultural and civilized people with permanent

homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to

them in severalty.

The lands of said Reservation are arid and with-

out artificial irrigation, and are valueless for farm-

ing and the growing of agiicultural crops thereon.

One inch of water per acre is necessary for the

proper irrigation of said lands.

Upon the making of said Treaty the said Confed-

erated bands of Indians removed to and settled

upon and have thereafter remained upon and occu-

pied said Indian Reservation and began to farai and

have continued to farm and to grow crops upon the

lands of said Reservation by means of artificial
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irrigation with the waters flomng upon said Reser-

vation.

II.

That Michel Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the

Flathead Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allot-

ment for the East Half of the Northeast Quarter,

Section Fourteen, Township Tw^enty-one, North of

Range Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and

Agatha Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the Flathead

Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allotment for

the West Half of the Northeast Quarter, Section

Fourteen, To\^^lship Twenty-one, North of Range

Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and on October 8,

1908 trusts patents were issued to both of the Indian

allottees for their respective lands.

III.

That on or about the 15th day of April, 1900 said

Indian allottees dug and constructed an irrigation

ditch from Mud Creek, in Lake County, Montana,

carrying one hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet

of water per second of the waters from said Creek

to their allotments above described for the purpose

of irigating their said lands above described. That

said ditch was taken out on the right bank of Mud
Creek about the quarter comer conunon to Sections

Twelve and Thirteen, Township Twenty-one, North

Range Twenty West, long prior to the survey there-

of and w^hile the same [19] was unoccupied and

imclaimed lands, that said ditch was of sufficient

size to carry said water and said Indian allottees

thereby became the appropriators of one hundred
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sixty inches or four cubic feet of the waters of

Mud Creek on April 15, 1900, and the same has

become appurtenant to said land and at no time

since the appropriation thereof has the same been

abandoned.

IV.

That on January 25, 1918 a fee patent was issued

to said Indian allottee, Michel Pablo, for the lands

allotted to him, and on October 5, 1916 a fee patent

was issued to Agatha Pablo, allottee, for said lands

allotted to her, and thereafter said lands were sold

and transferred to plaintiff, and plaintiff is now
the owner in fee of said lands allotted and patented

to both of the said Indians together with one hun-

dred sixty inches or four cubic feet of water per

second of water appurtenant thereto, appropriated

as aforesaid, for the irrigation of said lands.

V.

That on June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. p. 354) there

was added by Congress of the United States to

the provisions of an Act approved April 23, 1904,

providing for the allotment of the lands on said

Flathead Indian Reservation and the opening of

the same for sale and disposal Sections 17, 18, 19

and 20. Section 19 being as follows:

"That nothing in this act shall be construed

to deprive any of said Indians, or said persons

or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the act, of the use of water appro-

priated and used by them for the necessary

irrigation of their lands or for domestic use of
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any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs, con-

structed and used by them in the appropria-

tions! and use of said water."

That from April 15, 1900 continuous up to and

including June 21, 1906 and continuing thereafter

to the present date, said ditch so dug and con-

structed, as aforesaid, was used and has been used

upon the lands herein described in conveying the

waters from said Mud Creek to said lands, and

this plaintiff claims the benefit [50] of said Act

of Congress in the use and possession of said one

hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet of water per

second of waters carried in said ditch.

VI.

That the United States of America, defendant

herein, claims an interest in the waters flowing

in said Mud Creek and has dammed up said Creek

and carries part of the waters away from plaintiff

and has deprived plaintiff of the full use of the

waters to which she is entitled. That plaintiff's

right to the use of said waters became vested long

prior to the claim of the United States, and that

the United States, imder the provisions of said

Act of June 21, 1906, has no right to deprive

plaintiff of any waters required by her for the

necessary irrigation of her lands.

VII.

That there are no other parties using the waters

of Mud Creek except this plaintiff and the United

States, acting through the Flathead Reclamation
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Project, and in the use of said water from said

Mud Creek this plaintiff and the United States are

tenants in common or joint tenants in the use

of said water. That the waters of said Mud Creek

can be divided, partitioned and separated so that

the amount of water this plaintiff is entitled to use

can be fixed and determined and the United States

is made a party herein under the provisions of

Title 28, Section 41, Subdivision 25 of the U. S.

C. A. (301 Stat. L. p. 418, for the purpose of com-

pletely adjudicating the waters of Mud Creek as

between this plaintiff and said defendant.

VIII.

That Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior,

is claiming to be in charge, under various Acts of

Congress, of said Flathead Indian Irrigation

Project, and Henry Gerharz is claiming to be the

Project Manager in direct charge of said Irriga-

tion Project, and that they are made defendants

herein in order that any rights, if any, adverse to

the claim of the plaintiff may be established, fixed

and determined. [51]

IX.

That said defendants wrongfully and without

right are claiming that this plaintiff has no water

rights on Mud Creek independent of the Indian

Irrigation Project, and is claiming the right to shut

down plaintiff's head gate and preventing the

waters from flowing in plaintiff's ditch and to de-

prive plaintiff of the use of said water upon her



Agnes Mclntire, et at. 53

said lands, except by paying to said Flathead In-

dian Irrigation Project fees and charges, to plain-

tiff's great damage and loss.

X.

That the value of the water in controversy in

this action, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds

the sum of Three Thousand Dollars ($3000.00).

XI.

That this action in equity is necessary to prevent

a multiplicity of suits.

XII.

That plaintiff has no plain, speedy or adequate

remedy at law.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays that the defendant,

The United States of America, be required to set

foi-th any interest the United States may have, if

any, in the waters flowing in Mud Creek, Lake
County, Montana, and that if any interest is claimed

by the United States to said waters, the waters

therein may be adjudicated between the United

States and this plaintiff, and plaintiff's right as

herein set forth may be partitioned, separated, fixed

and established, and that plaintiff be given a prior

right to the use of said waters of one hundred sixty

inches as of date April 15, 1900, and that said

defendants and each of them be forever restrained

from interfering with the rights of plaintiff as so

found, and that the plaintiff be given the right to

sufficient water for the proper irrigation of her land

and other beneficial use thereon to the extent of one
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hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet of water

per second of the waters of Mud Creek through the

irrigation ditch dug [52] and constructed as herein

set forth, and that plaintiff have such other and

further relief in the premises as may to the Court

seem meet and in accordance with equity and good

conscience, and for costs of suit.

ELMER E. HEESHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

County of Lake—ss.

Agnes Mclntire, being first duly sworn according

to law, deposes and says:

That she is the plaintiff in the foregoing ac-

tion; that she has heard read the foregoing com-

plaint and that the matters and things therein

stated are true of her own knowledge, except as

to matters stated upon information and belief, and

as to such matters she believes them to be true.

AGNES McINTIRE

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 10th day

of February, 1934.

[Seal] LLOYD I. WALLACE
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Poison, Montana.

My Commission expires August 1, 1934.

2. That thereafter, and on that day, a subpoena

in equity issued out of the above-entitled court, in

the above-entitled cause. Said Subpoena in Equity

is in words and figures as follows, to-wit:
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United States District Court

Missoula Division—District of Montana

The President of the United States of America

To the United States of America, Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of Interior and Henry Gerharz,

Project Manager of Flathead Reclamation

Project, Greeting: [53]

You are hereby conmianded that all excuses and

delays set aside you within twenty days after the

service of this subpoena at the Clerk's office of the

United States District Court for the District of

Montana, at Helena, Montana, answer or otherwise

plead unto the bill of complaint of Agnes Mclntire,

in said Court exhibited against you. Hereof you

are not to fail at your peril, and have you then

and there this writ.

Witness the Honorable Geo. M. Bourquin, United

States District Judge at Helena, Montana, this

13th day of February, A. D. 1934.

[Seal] C. R. GARLOW,
Clerk.

By H. H. WALKER,
Deputy Clerk.

MEMORAXDUM
The Defendants in this case are required to file

their answer or other defense in the Clerk's office

of said Court, on or before the twentieth dav after
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service of this \AT:'it, excluding the day thereof;

otherwise the Bill may be taken pro confesso.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Missoula, Montana,

Attorney for Plaintiff.

3. That thereafter, and on March 22nd, 1934, the

above-named plaintiff filed in the above-entitled

court and cause her Motion which, after the title of

court and cause is as follows:

Now comes the above-named plaintiff and moves

the Court that an order be made directing defend-

ant, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, to

appear, plead, answer or demur by the 14th day of

April, 1934, imder the provisions of Section 57

of the Judicial Code of the United States (36

Stat. L. 1102), (Title 28 U. S. C. A. Sec. 118), and

that a copy of the complaint filed herein together

with a copy of said order be forthwith served upon

said defendant.

Said defendant Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the

Interior, is not an inhabitant of the District of

Montana, and has failed to volimtarily appear in

said action, although requested to do so in a letter

addressed to said defendant on February 13, 1934,

inclosing a copy of said complaint, which letter was

registered and the [54] return card shows that the

same was received on February 17, 1934.

Dated March 22, 1934.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff.

I
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The Court thereupon made an order which after

the title of court and cause is as follows

:

Upon application of Elmer E. Hershey, Attor-

ney for plaintiff, and upon the records and files in

said case.

It is ordered that said Harold L. Ickes, Secretary

of the Interior, defendant herein, appear, plead,

answer or demur by the 14th day of April, 1934,

imder the provisions of Sec. 57 of the Judicial

Code of the United States (36 Stat. L. 1102),

(Title 28 U. S. C. A. Sec. 118), and that a copy

of this order, together with a copy of the complaint,

be served upon said defendant forthwith.

Dated this 23rd day of March, 3934.

BOURQUIN
Judge

[Endorsed]: Filed and entered March 23, 1934.

C. R. Garlow, Clerk.

That said order, together with a copy of the bill

of complaint, was served upon said defendant by

the United States Marshal at Washington, D. C.

on March 30, 1934.

4. That on April 9th, 1934, said Harold L.

Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, served and filed

in the above-entitled court and cause his Special

Appearance and Objection to Jurisdiction which

after the title of court and cause is in words and

figures as follows: \^d5~\

Comes now Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the In-

terior, appearing specially and not voluntarily
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herein, and for the sole purpose only of objecting to

the jurisdiction of the above-entitled court in the

above-entitled suit over him says

:

1. That said Court does not have any jurisdic-

tion over him as a party defendant in said suit for

the reason that the same is brought against him in

a district court other than that of the district

whereof he is an inhabitant.

2. That this suit is essentially and substantially,

despite the alleged joinder of the Secretary of the

Interior, a suit against the United States of Amer-

ica and is therefore beyond the jurisdiction of this

Court, for the reason that the United States with-

out its consent cannot be sued and in this action

it has not consented to be sued.

Wherefore, he prays that the alleged Complaint

in this suit be dismissed and held for naught as

against him.

JAMES H. BALDWIN,
United States Attorney for the

District of Montana.

KENNETH E. L. SIMMONS
District Coimsel, Department

of Interior, U. S. Indian

Irrigation Service.

5. That said Special Appearance and Objection

to Jurisdiction came duly and regularly on for hear-

ing before the above-entitled court, the Honorable

George M. Bourquin, Judge presiding, at the court

room thereof, at Missoula, Montana, on April 16th,
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1934, and thereafter and on that day said Objection

to Jurisdiction was by the Court denied

;

And now the defendant Harold L. Ickes, Secre-

tary of the Interior, asks that this be settled, ap-

proved, allowed, signed, order filed, and filed as

his Amended Bill of Exceptions on said ruling of

the Court.

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for the

District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Department

of Interior, U. S. Indian

Irrigation Service.

Approved and settled.

BOURQUIN, J.

[Endorsed] : Filed May 7, 1934. [56]

Thereafter, on July 25, 1934, an Order granting

Plaintiff leave to file an Amended Complaint and

time for Defts. to appear in response thereto was

duly entered herein, the minute entry thereof being

in the words and figures following, to-wit: [57]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

Counsel for the respective parties present in

court, Mr. Elmer E. Hershey appearing for the

plamtiff and Mr. James H. Baldwin, U. S. District

Attorney, appearing for the defendants the United

States and Henry Gerharz.
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Thereupon, on the motion of Mr. Hershey, and

there being no objection by the District Attorney,

the plaintiff was granted leave to file an amended

complaint herein, it being agreed and ordered that

the defendants the United States and Henry Ger-

harz shall have thirty days in which to appear in

response to the amended complaint, and that if they

do not so appear the answers heretofore filed shall

stand and be considered as answers to the amended

complaint.

Entered in open court July 25, 1934.

C. R. GARLOW,
Clerk. [58]

Thereafter, on July 25, 1934, an Amended Com-

plaint in Equity was duly filed herein, being in the

words and figures following, to-wit : [59]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

AMENDED COMPLAINT IN EQUITY

Now comes the above named plaintiff and by

leave of court first had and obtained files this her

amended complaint, and for cause of action alleges

:

I.

That on July 16, 1855, a Treaty was entered into

between the United States of America and the Flat-

head, Kootenai and Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians

as a Confederated Tribe to be known as the Flat-

head Nation which Treaty was duly ratified March
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8, 1859, and proclaimed by the President of the

United States, April 18, 1859, (12 Stat. L. P. 975)

by which Treaty what is known as the Flathead

Indian Reservation was reserved exclusively for

the use and occupation of said Confederated Tribes

as a general Indian Reservation.

The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were

encouraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic

and uncivilized people and become a self-supporting,

agricultural and civilized people with permanent

homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to

them in severalty.

The lands of said Reservation are arid and with-

out artificial irrigation, and are valueless for farm-

ing and the growing of agricultural crops thereon.

One inch of water per acre is necessary for the

proper irrigation of said lands. [60]

Upon the making of said Treaty the said Con-

federated bands of Indians removed to and settled

upon and have thereafter remained upon and occu-

pied said Indian Reservation and began to farm and

have continued to farm and to grow^ crops upon

the lands of said Reservation by means of artificial

irrigation with the waters flowing upon said Reser-

vation.

II.

That Michael Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the

Flathead Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allot-

ment for the West Half of the North-east Quarter,

Section Fourteen, Township Twenty-one, North of

Range Twenty, West Mountain Meridian, and
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Lizette Barnaby, a Flathead Indian of the Flathead

Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allotment for the

East Half of the Northeast Quarter, Section Four-

teen, To\\Tiship Twenty-one, North of Range

Twenty, West Montana Meridian.

III.

That on or about the 15th day of April, 1900 said

Indian allottee, Michel Pablo who was then in the

possession of said described land dug and con-

structed an irrigation ditch from Mud Creek, in

Lake County, Montana, carrying one hundred sixty

inches or four cubic feet of water per second of the

waters from said Creek to their allotments above

described for the purpose of irrigation their said

lands above described. That said ditch was taken

out on the right bank of Mud Creek about the quar-

ter comer common to Sections Twelve and Thir-

teen, To"s\Tiship Twenty-one, North Range Twenty

West, long prior to the survey thereof and while

the same was unoccupied and unclaimed lands, that

said ditch was of sufficient size to carry said water

and said Indian allottees thereby became the appro-

priators of one hundred sixty inches or four cubic

feet of the waters of Mud Creek on April 15, 1900,

and the same has become appurtenant to said land

and at no time since the appropriation thereof has

the same been abandoned. [61]
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IV.

That on January 25, 1918 a fee patent was issued

to Agathy Pablo, wife of Michael Pablo, for the

lands allotted to him, and on October 5, 1918 a fee

patent was issued to Agatha Pablo, for said lands

allotted to Lizette Barnaby, and thereafter said

lands were sold and transferred to Plaintiff, and

Plaintiff is now the owner in fee of said lands al-

lotted and patented to both of the said Indians

together with one hundred sixty inches or four cubic

feet of water per second of water appurtenant

thereto, appropriated as aforesaid, for the irriga-

tion of said lands.

V.

That on June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. p. 354) there

was added by Congress of the United States to the

provisions of an Act approved April 23, 1904, pro-

viding for the allotment of the lands on said Plat-

head Indian Reservation and the opening of the

same for sale and disposal Sections 17, 18, 19 and

20. Section 19 being as follows

:

''That nothing in this act shall be construed

to deprive any of said Indians, or said persons

or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the act, of the use of water appro-

priated and used by them for the necessary

irrigation of their lands or for domestic use of

any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs, con-

structed and used by them in the appropriation

and use of said water."
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That from April 15, 1900 continuous up to and

including June 21, 1906 and continuing thereafter

to the present date, said ditch so dug and con-

structed, as aforesaid, was used and has been used

upon the lands herein described in conveying the

waters from said Mud Creek to said lands, and this

plaintiff claims the benefit of said Act of Congress

in the use and possession of said one hundred sixty

inches or four cubic feet of water per second of

waters carried in said ditch.

VI.

That the United States of America, Defendant

herein, claims [62] an interest in the waters flowing

in said Mud Creek and has dammed up said Creek

and carries part of the waters away from Plaintiff

and has deprived plaintiff of the full use of the

waters to which she is entitled. That plaintiff's

right to the use of said waters became vested long

prior to the claim of the United States, and that

the United States, under the provisions of said Act

of June 21, 1906, has no right to deprive plaintiff

of any waters required by her for the necessary

irrigation of her lands.

YII.

That there are no other parties using the waters

of Mud Creek except this plaintiff and the United

States, acting through the Flathead Reclamation

Project, and in the use of said water from said

Mud Creek this plaintiff and the United States are

tenants in common or joint tenants in the use of
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said water. That the waters of said Mud Creek

can be divided, partitioned and separated so that

the amount of water this plaintiff is entitled to use

can be fixed and determined and the United States

is made a party herein under the provisions of

Title 28, Section 41, Subdivision 25 of the U. S.

C. A. (30 Stat. L. p. 416), for the purpose of com-

pletely adjudicating the waters of Mud Creek as

between this plaintiff and said defendant.

VIII.

That Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior,

is claiming to be in charge, under various Acts of

Congress, of said Flathead Indian Irrigation Proj-

ect, and Henry Gerharz is claiming to be the Project

Manager in direct charge of said Irrigation Proj-

ect, and that they are made defendants herein in

order that any rights, if any, adverse to the claim

of the plaintiff may be established, fixed and deter-

mined.

IX.

That said defendants wrongfully and without

right are claiming that this plaintiff has no water

rights on Mud Creek independent of the Indian

Irrigation Project, and is claiming the right [63]

to shut down plaintiff's headgate and preventing

the waters from flowing in plaintiff's ditch and to

deprive plaintiff of the use of said water upon her

said lands, except by paying to said Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project fees and charges, to jolaintiff's

great damage and loss.
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X.

That the vahie of the water in controversy in this

action, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds the

sum of Three Thousand Dollars ($3000.00).

XI.

That this action in equity is necessary to prevent

a multiplicity of suits.

XII.

That plaintiff has no plain, speedy or adequate

remedy at law.

XIII.

That Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling are each

claiming that the appropriation of Michael Pablo

as herein alleged was also made for additional lands

now owned by them, and for this reason they are

each made a defendant herein, in order that all

rights, if any other than plaintiff's herein in said

appropriation may be enquired into and the several

rights in said ditch and the waters carried therein

be fixed, partitioned, separated and established.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays that the defendant,

The United States of America, be required to set

forth any interest the United States may have, if

any, in the waters flowing in Mud Creek, Lake

County, Montana, and that if any interest is claimed

by the United States to said waters, the waters

therein may be adjudicated between the United

States and this plaintiff, and plaintiff's right as

herein set forth may be partitioned, separated, fixed

and established, and that plaintiff be given a prior
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right to the use of said waters of one hundred

sixty [64] inches as of date April 15, 1900, and that

said defendants and each of them be forever re-

strained from interfering with the rights of plain-

tiff as so found, and that the plaintiff be given the

right to sufficient water for the proper irrigation

of her land and other beneficial use thereon to the

extent of one himdred sixty inches or four cubic

feet of water per second of the waters of Mud
Creek through the irrigation ditch dug and con-

structed as herein set forth, and that plaintiff have

such other and further relief in the premises as

may to the Court seem meet and in accordance

with equity and good conscience, and for costs of

suit.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff.

State of Montana,

Comity of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says that

he has read the foregoing reply and know^s the con-

tents thereof, and that the same is true to the best

of his knowledge, information and belief; that the

said plaintiff is absent from the County of Missoula

where her attorney has his office, and he therefore

makes this affidavit as her attorney.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
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Subscribed and sworn to before me this 18th day

of July, 1934.

[Seal] FRED D. WHISLER
Notary Public for the State of Montana, Residing

at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission Expires July 8, 1935.

[Endorsed] : Filed July 25, 1934. [65]

Thereafter, on August 21, 1934, Motion to Dis-

miss the Amended Complaint by Defendants • Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling was duly filed herein, be-

ing in the words and figures following, to-wit : [66]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED
COMPLAINT IN EQUITY

Now come the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, two of the defendants in the above entitled

action, and separately move the Court to dismiss

the amended complaint in equity filed in the above

entitled cause upon grounds and reasons therefor

as follows:

I.

That there is insufficiency of fact alleged in said

Amended Complaint in Equity to constitute a valid

cause of action in equity against the said defend-

ants, or either of them.

JOHN P. SWEE
Ronan, Montana.

Solicitor for said defendants.
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Service of the foregoing Motion to Dismiss

Amended complaint in Equity accepted and receipt

of copy acknowledged this 20th day of August, 1934.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed] : Filed August 21, 1934. [67]

Thereafter, on March 20, 1935, Motion for Judg-

ment on the Pleadings by the United States was

duly filed herein, being in the words and figures fol-

lowing, to-wit: [68]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE
PLEADINGS

Comes now the defendant and moves the Court

that judgment be rendered for the defendant here-

in on the pleadings and as grounds for said motion,

states

:

I.

This Court is without jurisdiction of this case for

the reason that this action is not one in which the

United States of America has consented to be sued.

II.

That the facts stated in the amended bill of com-

plaint in equity are insufficient to constitute a

valid cause of action in equity against the United

States of America.

III.

That the above entitled Court is without jurist

diction or authority to proceed further in this ac-
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tion for want of necessary parties, for this, that

there are numerous users of the waters of Mud
Creek, whose lands are situate thereon and adja-

cent thereto and both above and below the lands

described in the complaint in equity herein, whose

rights to the use of the waters of said creek may
be injuriously affected by any decree that the above

entitled court may render or enter in the above

entitled cause and whose presence either as parties

plaintiff or defendant in this action is necessary

and proper to a complete determination of this

[69] cause and of the issues of the right to and the

amomit or duty of water involved in this action.

IV.

That by reason of the execution of the repayment

contract, entered into between the United States

of America and the Flathead Irrigation District,

in which district the lands of plaintiff are included,

subjecting plaintiff to the terms and conditions of

said repayment contract, plaintiff is estopped from

obtaining a deteimination of her rights as against

the United States, one of the parties to said repay-

ment contract.

Dated this 20th day of March, 1935,

JAMES H. BALDWIN
United States Attorney for

District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Coimsel, Interior

Department, Indian Irri-

G:ation Service.

Attorneys for Defendant,

United States of America

FEndorsed] : Filed March 20, 1935. [70]
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Thereafter, on May 7, 1936, Return of Service of

I

Order on Secretary of the Interior was duly filed

I

herein, being in the words and figures following,

i to-wit: [71]

' [Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER
Upon application of Elmer E. Hershey, Attorney

for plaintiff, and upon the records and files in said

case.

It is ordered that said Harold L. Ickes, Secretary

of the Interior, defendant herein, appear, plead,

answer or demur by the 14th day of April, 1934,

under the provisions of Sec. 57 of the Judicial Code

of the United States (36 Stat. L., 1102), (Title 28

U. S. C. A. Sec. 118), and that a copy of this order,

together with a copy of the complaint, be served

upon said defendant forthwith.

Dated this 23 day of March, 1934.

BOURQUIN,
Judge

[Endorsed]: Filed and entered March 23, 1934.

C. R. Garlow, Clerk.

Attest a true copy.

[Seal] C. R. GARLOW,
Clerk.

By H. H. WALKER,
Deputy.
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U. S. Marshal's Office

Washington, D. C.

March 31, 1934.

Served copy of the within Order together with

a copy of the bill of complaint in said case on

Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, by

personal service of the same on Harry Slattery,

Assistant to the Secretary of the Interior, March

30, 1934.

EDGAR C. SNYDER
U. S. Marshal, District of Columbia

By THOMAS R. EAST,
Deputy U. S. Marshal.

[Endorsed] : Filed May 7, 1936. [72]

\

i
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Thereafter, on May 16, 1936, Amended Com-

plaint in Equity was duly filed herein, being in the

words and figures following, to-wit: [73]

In the District Court of the United States, for the

District of Montana.

No. 1496.

AGNES McINTIRE,
Plaintiff,

vs.

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
HAROLD L. ICKES, Secretary of Interior,

HENRY CERHARZ, Project Manager of

Flathead Reclamation Project, ALEX PABLO,
A. M. STERLING, LOU GOODALE BIGE-
LOW KROUT, ALPHONSE CLAIRMONT,
FLATHEAD IRRIGATION DISTRICT, a

corporation, ALICE CLAIRMONT COWAN,
VICTOR LEONARD CLAIRMONT, HENRY
CLAIRMONT, JAMES C. & ELIZABETH
TVARUZEK, FLORENCE CLAIRMONT,
ERNEST CLAIRMONT, GRACE CLAIR-
MONT, B. D. LIEBEL, PETER OLIVER
DUPUIS, MARY PABLO, CHAS. FERGU-
SON, FRED & EMIL KLOSSNER, EMAN-
UEL HUBER, JOSEPH A. PAQUETTE,
FRED C. GUENZLER, ANNIE RAITOR,
CLARENCE BILILE, ALEX SLOAN,
JACOB M. REMIERS, Administrator of
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Estate of R. W. JAMISON, deceased,

GEORGE SLOANE, HATTIE ROSE SLOAN
HASTINGS, HELGA YESSEY, E. D. HEN-
DRICKS, LILLIAN CLAIRMONT THOMAS,
EUGENE CLAIRMONT, EDWIN DUPUIS,
GERTRUDE E. STIMSON, W. B. DEM-
MICK, ROSE ASHLEY, HENRY ASHLEY
and W. A. DUPUIS,

Defendants.

AMENDED COMPLAINT IN EQUITY.

Now comes the above named plaintiff and by leave

of court first had and obtained files this her amended

complaint, and for cause of action alleges

:

I.

That on July 16, 1855, a Treaty was entered into

between the United States of America and the Flat-

head, Kootenai and upper Pend d' Oreilles Indians

as a Confederated Tribe to be known as the Flat-

head Nation, which Treaty was duly ratified March

8, 1859, and proclaimed by the President of the

United [74] States, April 18, 1859, (12 Stat. L. P.

975) by which Treaty what is known as the Flat-

head Indian Reservation was reserved exclusively

for the use and occupation of said Confederated

Tribes as a general Indian Reservation.

The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were en-

couraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic and

uncivilized people and become a self-supporting,

agricultural and civilized people with permanent
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homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to

them in severalty.

The lands of said Reservation are arid and with

out artificial irrigation, and are valueless for farm-

ing and the growing of agricultural crops thereon.

One inch of water per acre is necessary for the

proper irrigation of said lands.

Upon the making of said Treaty the said Con-

federated bands of Indians removed to and settled

upon and have thereafter remained upon and oc-

cupied said Indian Reservation and began to fami

and have continued to farm and to grow crops upon

the lands of said Reservation by means of artificial

irrigation with the waters flowing upon said Reser-

vation.

II.

That Michel Pablo, a Flathead Indian of the Flat-

head Tribe or Nation of Indians, made allotment for

the West Half of the Northeast Quarter, Section

Fourteen, TowTiship Twenty-one, North of Range

Twenty, West Montana Meridian, and Lizette

Bamaby, a Flathead Indian of the Flathead Tribe

or Nation of Indians, made allotment for the East

Half of the Northeast Quarter Section Fourteen,

Township Twenty-one, North of Range Tw^enty,

West Montana Meridian.

III.

That on or about the 15th day of April, 1900, said

[75] Indian allotee, Michel Pablo who was then in

the possession of said described land dug and con-

structed an irrigation ditch from Mud Creek, in
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Lake County, Montana, carrjring one hundred sixty

inches, or four cubic feet of water per second of the

waters from said creek to their allotments above

described for the purpose of irrigating their said

lands above described. That said ditch was taken

out on the right bank of Mud Creek about the quar-

ter corner common to Sections Twelve and Thirteen,

Township Twenty-one, North Range Twenty West,

long prior to the survey thereof and while the same

was unoccupied and unclaimed lands, that said

ditch was of sufficient size to carry said water and

said Indian allottees thereby became the appropria-

tors of one hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet

of the waters of Mud Creek on April 15, 1900, and

the same has become appurtenant to said land and

at no time since the appropriation thereof has the

same been abandoned.

IV.

That on January 25, 1918, a fee patent was is-

sued to Agatha Pablo, wife of Michael Pablo, for

the lands allotted to him, and on October 5, 1918, a

fee patent was issued to Agatha Pablo for said lands

allotted to Lizette Barnaby, and thereafter said

lands were sold and transferred to plaintiff, and

plaintiff is now the owner in fee of said lands al-

lotted and patented to both of the said Indians

together with one hundred sixty inches or four

cubic feet of water per second of water appurtenant

thereto, appropriated as aforesaid, for the irrigation

of said lands.
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Y.

That on June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. P. 354) there

was added [76] by Congress of the United States to

the provisions of an Act approved April 23, 1904,

providing for the allotment of the lands on said

Flathead Indian Reservation and the opening of the

same for sale and disposal Sections 17, 18, 19 and 20.

Section 19 being as follows:

''That nothing in this act shall be construed

to deprive any of said Indians, or said persons

or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the Act, of the use of water appro-

priated and used by them for the necessary ir-

rigation of their lands or for domestic use of

any ditches, dams, flmnes, reservoirs, con-

structed and used by them in the appropriation

and use of said water."

That from April 15, 1900 continuous up to and

including June 21, 1906, and continuing thereafter

to the present date, said ditch so dug and con-

structed, as aforesaid, was used and has been used

upon the lands herein described in conveying the

waters from said Mud Creek to said lands, and this

plaintiff claims the benefit of said Act of Congress

in the use and possession of said one hundred sixty

inches or four cubic feet of water per second of

waters carried in said ditch.

VI.

That the United States of America, defendant

herein, claims an interest in the waters flowing in
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said Mud Creek and has dammed up said creek and

carries part of the waters away from plaintiff, and

has deprived plaintiff of the full use of the waters

to which she is entitled. That plaintiff's right to

the use of said waters became vested long prior to

the claim of the United States, and that the United

States, under the provisions of said Act of June 21,

1906, has no right to deprive plaintiff of any waters

required by her for the necessary irrigation of her

lands. [77]

VII.

That there are no other parties using the waters

of Mud Creek except this plaintiff and the United

States, acting through the Flathead Reclamation

Project, and in the use of said water from said Mud
Creek this plaintiff and the United States are

tenants in common or joint tenants in the use of said

water. That the waters of said Mud Creek can be

divided, partitioned and separated so that the

amount of water this plaintiff is entitled to use can

be fixed and determined and the United States is

made a party herein under the provisions of Title

28, Section 41, Subdivision 25 of the U. S. C. A. (30

Stat. L. p. 416) for the purpose of completing ad-

judicating the waters of Mud Creek as between this

plaintiff and said defendant.

VIII.

That Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior,

is claiming to be in charge, under various Acts of

Congress, of said Flathead Indian Irrigation Proj-

ect, and Henry Gerharz is claiming to be the Project
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Manager in direct charge of said Irrigation Project,

and that they are made defendants herein in order

that any rights, if any, adverse to the claim of the

plaintiff may be established, fixed and determined.

IX.

That said defendants wrongfully and without

right are claiming that this plaintiff has no water

rights on Mud Creek independent of the Indian Ir-

rigation Project, and is claiming the right to shut

down plaintiff's headgate and preventing the waters

from flowing in plaintiff's ditch and to deprive

plaintiff of the use of said water upon her said

lands, except by paying to said Flathead Indian Ir-

rigation Project fees and charges, to plaintiff's great

damage and loss. [78]

X.

That the value of the water in controversy in this

action, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds the

siun of Three Thousand Dollars ($3000.00).

XL.

That this action in equity is necessary to prevent

a multiplicity of suits.

XII.

That the plaintiff has no plain, speedy or adequate

remedy at law.

XIII.

That Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling are each

claiming that the appropriation of Michael Pablo

as herein alleged was also made for additional lands
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now owned by them, and for this reason they are

each made a defendant herein, in order that all

rights, if any other than plaintiff's herein in said ap-

propriation may be enquired into and the several

rights in said ditch and the waters carried therein

be fixed, partitioned, separated and established.

XIV.
That the Flathead Irrigation District is a cor-

poration, duly incorporated under the laws of the

State of Montana.

XV.
That defendants Lou Bigelow Krout, Alphonse

Clairmont, Flathead Irrigation District, a corpora-

tion, Alice Clairmont Cowan, Victor Leonard Clair-

mont, Henry Clairmont, James C. & Elizabeth

Tvaruzek, Florence Clairmont, Ernest Clairmont,

Grace Clairmont, B. D. Liebel, Peter Oliver Dupuis,

Mary Pablo, Chas. Ferguson, Fred & Emil Kloss-

ner, Emanuel Huber, Joseph Paquette, Fred C.

Guenzler, Annie Raitor, Clarence Bilile, Alex Sloan,

Jacob M. [79] Remiers, Administrator of the Estate

of R. W. Jamison, deceased, George Sloane, Hattie

Rose Sloan Hastings, Helga Vessey, E. D. Hen-

dricks, Lillian Clairmont Thomas, Eugene Clair-

mont, Edwin Dupuis, W. A. Dupuis, Gertrude E.

Stimson, W. B. Demmick, Rose Ashley, Henry

Ashley at one time claimed some rights to the waters

flowing in Mud Creek, or some interest therein, and

are made defendants herein in order that they may
have an opportunity to set forth their rights or

interests, if any they have, in order that the entire
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contToversy over the waters in Mud Creek may be

settled and disposed of.

Wherefore, plaintiff prays that the defendant,

the United States of America, be required to set

forth any interest the United States may have, if

any, in the waters flowing in Mud Creek, Lake

County, Montana, and that if any interest is claimed

by the United States to said w^aters, the waters

therein may be adjudicated between the United

States and this plaintiff, and plaintiff's right as

herein set forth may be partitioned, separated, fixed

and established, and that plaintiff be given a prior

right to the use of said waters of one hundred sixty

inches as of date April 15, 1900, and that said de-

fendants and each of them be forever restrained

from interfering wdth the rights of plaintiff as so

found, and that the plaintiff be given the right to

sufficient water for the proper irrigation of her land

and other beneficial use thereon to the extent of one

hundred sixty inches or four cubic feet of water per

second of the waters of Mud Creek through the

irrigation ditch dug and constructed as herein set

forth, and that plaintiff have such other and further

relief in the premises as may to the Court seem

meet and in accordance with equity and good con-

science, and for costs of suit.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Attorney for Plaintiff. [80]
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State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff in the above entitled action, says that

he has read the foregoing- amended complaint and

knowsi the contents thereof, and that the same is

true to the best of his knowledge, information and

belief; that the said plaintiff is absent from the

County of Missoula, where her attorney has his

office, and he therefore makes this affidavit as her

attorney.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 13th day

of May, 1936.

[Seal] - JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires Oct. 21, 1938.

[Endorsed] : Filed May 16, 1936. [81]

Thereafter, on June 5, 1936, Special Appearance

and Objection to Jurisdiction by the United States,

was duly filed herein, being in the words and fig-

ures following, to-wit: [82]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

SPECIAL APPEARANCE AND OBJECTION
TO JURISDICTION

Comes now the defendant. The United States of

America, appearing specially and not volimtarily
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herein and for the sole purpose only of objecting

to the jurisdiction of the above entitled Court in

the above entitled suit over it and says

:

I.

That this Court does not have any jurisdiction

over the United States of America as a party de-

fendant in this action for the reason that the United

States of America, without its consent, cannot be

sued, and in this action has not consented to be

sued.

Wherefore, The United States of America prays

that the Amended Complaint in this action be dis-

missed and held for naught [83] as against it.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Department

Interior, United States In-

dian Irrigation Ser\dce.

[Endorsed] : Filed June 5, 1936. [84]

Thereafter, on Jmie 5, 1936, Special Appearance

and Objection to Jurisdiction by Deft. Henry

Gerharz was duly filed herein, being in the words

and figures following, to-wit: [85]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

SPECIAL APPEARANCE AND OBJECTION
TO JURISDICTION

Comes now the defendant, Henry Gerharz, as

denominated in the Amended Bill of Complaint,

Project Manager of Flathead Reclamation Project,

and appearing specially and not voluntarily herein

and for the purpose of objecting to the jurisdiction

of the above entitled Court in the above entitled

suit over him says:

I.

That the Amended Bill of Complaint in said ac-

tion fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a

cause of action in equity or otherwise against Henry
Gerharz in his denominated capacity in said

Amended Bill of Complaint as Project Manager
of Flathead Reclamation Project or otherwise, and

does not state facts sufficient [86] to entitle the

plaintiff to any relief as against Henry Gerharz

as Project Manager or otherwise.

II.

That this suit is essentially and substantially,

despite the alleged joinder of Henry Gerharz in

his denominated capacity in the said Amended Bill

of Complaint, as Project Manager of Flathead

Reclamation Project, a suit against the United

States of America and is therefore beyond the

jurisdiction of this Court for the reason that the

United States, without its consent, cannot be sued

and in this action it has not consented to be sued.
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Wherefore, he prays that the alleged Amended
Complaint in this suit be dismissed and held for

naught as against him.

JOHN B. TANSIL,
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS,
District Counsel, Department

of Interior, United States

Indian Irrigation Service.

[Endorsed] : Filed Jime 5, 1936. [87]

Thereafter, on June 9, 1936, Motion to Dismiss

by Flathead Irrigation District was duly filed here-

in, being in the words and figures following, to-wit

:

[88]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION TO DISMISS.

Comes now Flathead Irrigation District, one of

the defendants in the above entitled action, and

moves the Court to dismiss the bill of complaint filed

in the above entitled cause for the reason and on the

ground that there is insufficiency of facts therein to

constitute a valid cause of action in equity against

this defendant.

WALTER L. POPE,
RUSSELL E. SMITH,

Solicitors for Defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District. [89]
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I

Service of the foregoing Motion to Dismiss ac-

cepted and receipt of copy acknowledged this 8th

day of June, 1936.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Attorney for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed] : Filed June 9, 1936. [90]

Thereafter, on June 10, 1936, Motion to Dismiss

by Defendants, members of the Flathead Tribe of

Indians, was duly filed herein, being in the words

and figures following, to-wit: [91]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION TO DISMISS.

Come now the defendants, Alex Pablo, Alphonse

Clairmont, Alice Clairmont Cowan, Victor Leonard

Clairmont, Henry Clairmont, Florence Clairmont,

Ernest Clairmont, Grace Clairmont, Peter Oliver

Dupuis, Mary Pablo, Alex Sloan, George Sloane,

Hattie Rose Sloan Hastings, Lillian Clairmont

Thomas, Eugene Clairmont, Edwin Dupuis, Rose

Ashley, Henry Ashley and W. A. Dupuis, members

of the Flathead tribe of Indians and wards of the

United States of America, by and through the

United States Attorney for the District of Mon-

tana, move the above entitled Court to dismiss said

action as against them and as groimds for their

motion allege: [92]
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I.

That the alleged amended complaint in said action

fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of

action in equity or otherwise against these defend-

ants, and does not state facts sufficient to entitle

plaintiff to any relief against said defendants.

Wherefore, these defendants pray that the alleged

amended complaint in this suit be dismissed and

held for naught as against them.

JOHN B. TANSIL,
United States District Attorney.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS,
District Coimsel, Dei^artment of

the Interior, U. S. I. I. S.,

Attorneys for above defendants.

[Endorsed] : Filed June 10, 1936. [93]

Thereafter, on November 23, 1936, Answer of the

United States to Amended Bill of Complaint was

duly filed herein, being in the words and figures fol-

lowing, to-wit: [94]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWER.

Comes now the United States of America, one

of the defendants in the above entitled action, and

for its answer to the amended bill of complaint in

equity on file herein, alleges

:
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I.

For a first affirmative defense that this action is

not one in which the United States of America has

consented to be sued.

II.

For a second affirmative defense, that the action

was not one brought for the partition of lands. [95]

III.

For a third affirmative defense, that this action

is in fact and legal effect one brought to settle the

relative priorities and rights of the parties thereto

to the use of the waters of Mud Creek on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation in the State and District

of Montana.

IV.

For a fourth affirmative defense, that the facts

stated therein are insufficient to constitute a valid

cause of action in equity against the answering

defendant.

Wherefore, having fully answered, the United

States of America prays

:

1. That Plaintiff take nothing by her action;

2. That the United States of America have judg-

ment against plaintiff for its costs and disburse-

ments herein necessarily expended.

3. For such other and further relief as may be

fit and proper in the premises.

ROY F. ALLAN
Asst. United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Department of

Interior, United States Indian

Irrigation Service. [96]
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United States of America,

District of Montana,

County of Silver Bow—^ss.

Roy F. Allan, being duly sworn on oath, deposes

and says:

That he is the Asst. United States Attorney for

the District of Montana, and as such makes this

verification to the foregoing answer;

That he has read the same and knows the con-

tents thereof and the same is true to the best of

his knowledge, information and belief.

ROY F. ALLAN
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] HAROLD L. ALLEN
Deputy Clerk, U. S. District Court

District of Montana

[Endorsed]: Filed Nov. 23, 1936. [97]

Thereafter, on November 23, 1936, Answer of

Henry Gerharz to Amended Bill of Complaint was

duly filed herein, being in the words and figures

following, to-wit : [98]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWER
Comes now Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of

the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project, incorrectly

designated in the title of the amended bill of com-

plaint as Project Manager of Flathead Reclamation
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Project and for answer to the amended bill of

complaint in equity herein alleges:

I.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph I of plaintiff's amended bill of com-

plaint save and except the allegation that ''one inch

of water i)er acre is necessary for the proper irri-

gation of said lands". As to this allegation, defend-

ant states that he is without knowledge. [99]

Defendant alleges that the Flathead Indian Irri-

gation Project is incorrectly designated in the title

of this action and in certain paragraphs of the

amended bill of complaint herein as Flathead Rec-

lamation Project, and alleges that the said Project

is subject, not to the Reclamation Laws, but to the

Indian Irrigation Project Laws of the United

States;.

Defendant alleges by the establishment of the

Flathead Reservation referred to in Paragraph I

of plaintiff's amended bill of complaint, the United

States, defendant herein, as sole owner of the lands

and waters thereon, reserved for irrigation and

other beneficial purposes upon the lands of said

reservation and exempted from appropriation mi-

der territorial or state laws or otherwise, all of the

waters upon said reservation including all of the

waters of Mud Creek, which has its source and

flows wholly within the boundaries of said reser-

vation.
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II.

Defendant admits that Michel Pablo and Lizett

Barnaby are Flatliead Indians of the Flathead tribe

or nation of Indians and that the United States

designated the allotments described therein to said

Indians.

III.

Defendant states that he is without knowledge as

to any allegation contained in Paragraph III

thereof.

IV.

Defendant states that he is without knowledge

as to any allegation contained in Paragraph IV
thereof.

V.

Defendant admits the enactment into the laws of

the United States the provision of Section 19 of

the Act of CongTess of June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L.

355) and except as hereinbefore specifically ad-

mitted, states that he is \^dthout knowledge as to

[100] any allegation contained in Paragi'aph V
thereof.

VI.

Defendant admits that the United States of

America claims an interest in the waters flowing in

said Mud Creek and has dammed up said creek, and

except as hereinbefore specifically admitted, states

that he is without knowledge as to any other allega-

tion contained in Paragraph VI thereof.

VII.

Defendant denies that there are no other parties

using the waters of Mud Creek except plaintiff and



92 U. S. of America, et al. vs.

the United States of America, and in this connec-

tion alleges that there are numerous users of the

waters of Mud Creek whose lands are situated both

above, below and adjacent to the lands described

in the amended bill of complaint in equity herein

whose rights will be injuriously affected by any

change in the amount or duty of water and whose

presence as parties plaintiff or defendant in this

action is; necessary to a complete determination of

this cause; and except as hereinbefore specifically

denied or qualified states that he is without knowl-

edge as to any allegation contained in Paragraph

VII thereof.

VIII.

Defendant alleges that all acts done by this an-

swering defendant in regard to lands and waters

mentioned in said amended complaint in equity

were and are and will continue to be proper and

lawful acts done in pursuance of the orders, rules

and regulations of the Secretary of the Interior

of the United States of America, made and pro-

mulgated by said Secretary under and by virtue of

the authority vested in him by the laws and statutes

of the United States of America to carry the same

into effect.

IV.

Defendant denies that he has ever wrongfully or

[101] without right claimed that plaintiff has no

water right on Mud Creek independent of the Flat-

head Indian Irrigation Project and denies that he

has unlawfully claimed the right to shut out plain-
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tiff's headgate or to prevent waters from flowing

into plaintiff's ditch or to deprive plaintiff of the

use of said waters upon said lands, except by pay-

ing to said Flathead Irrigation Project fees and

charges.

Defendant, however, admits and avers that in the

course of his employment as Project Engineer of

the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project, acting un-

der the direction and authority of the Secretary of

the Interior, pursuant to laws and statutes of the

United States, he assessed against a portion of said

lands claimed by plaintiff, certain charges for con-

struction, operation and maintenance of the Flat-

head Irrigation System and further alleges that

said charges and each thereof were and are lawful

and proper;

Defendant further alleges that on August 26,

1926, an order was duly given, made and entered

of record in the District Court of the Fourth Judi-

cial District of the State of Montana in and for the

counties of Lake and Sanders in a proceeding enti-

tled "In the Matter of the Formation of the Flat-

head Irrigation District" including the following

described portion of the lands claimed by plaintiff

herein in the Flathead Irrigation District, to-wit:

West Half (Wi/o) of Northeast Quarter

(NEi^) of Section 14, in Township 21 North

of Range 20 West, of the Montana Principal

Meridian, in Lake County, Montana.

That subsequently said Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict entered into a repayment contract, and First,
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Second and Third supplemental contracts with the

United States of America and the above described

lands became and are now subject to the terms and

conditions of such repayment contract and said sup-

plemental contracts. [102]

X.

Defendant states that he is without knowledge of

the value of the water mentioned in the amended

bill of complaint in equity herein.

XI.

Defendant denies that this action is necessary to

prevent a multiplicity of suits.

XII.

Defendant denies that plaintiff has no plain,

speedy or adequate remedy at law.

XIII.

Defendant states that he is without knowledge as

to any allegation contained in Paragraph XIII

thereof.

XIV.

Defendant admits the allegations contained in

Paragraph XIV thereof.

XV.
Defendant states he is without knowledge as to

any allegation contained in Paragraph XV thereof.

Defendant alleges that whatever rights, if any, these

defendants have to the use of the waters of Mud
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Creek are subservient to the rights of the United

States of America, defendant herein, and whatever

rights, if any, they have were granted them by the

United States of America pursuant to Federal

statutes.

XVI.

Defendant denies each and every allegation con-

tained therein which is not hereinbefore specifically

admitted, qualified or denied.

First Affirmative Defense.

For a further answer and by way of a first affirm-

ative defense this answering defendant says : [103]

That this action is not one of the partition of

lands, but is in truth and in fact and in law an

action to quiet title to the use of water.

Second Affirmative Defense.

For a further and second affirmative defense, de-

fendant says:

That the facts stated in the amended bill of com-

plaint in equity herein are insufficient to constitute

a valid cause of action in equity as against this an-

swering defendant.

Third Affirmative Defense.

For a further and third affirmative defense, de-

fendant says:

That said court has no jurisdiction of the subject

of this action to establish by decree an independent,

individual water right for irrigation and domestic



96 TJ. S. of America, et at. vs.
^

purposes to waters flowing on said Flathead Indian

Reservation as against the rights of the United

States of America to said waters and the adminis-

tration and apportiomnent thereof.

Fourth Affirmative Defense.

For a further and fourth affirmative defense, de-

fendant says:

That by a treaty between the United States and

the Confederated tribes of Flathead, Kootenai and

Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians made July 16, 1855

(12 Stats. 975) ratified March 8, 1859 and pro-

claimed April 15, 1859, the Confederated tribes

ceded, released and conveyed to the United States

all their right, title and interest in and to a large

portion of the country then occupied or claimed

by them being in what is now the northwestern part

of the State of Montana ; and the United States set

aside and there reserved for the exclusive use, bene-

fit and occupancy of the said Confederated tribes and

as a [104] general Indian Reservation, upon which

might be placed other friendly tribes and bands of

Indians, a part of the lands so ceded and relin-

quished, which part so set aside and reserved as an

Indian reservation is designated and known as the

Flathead Indian Reservation. The purpose and

effect of this treaty was, in keeping with the gen-

eral Indian policy of the United States, to enable

these Indians to abandon their habits as a nomadic

and uncivilized people and to become a self-support-

ing agricultural and civilized people with perma-
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nent homes on lands tliereafterwards to be allotted

to them in severalty. The lands of said reservation

are arid and without artificial irrigation are value-

less for farming and the growing of agricultural

crops thereon; and said reservation was and is too

small in area to enable these Indians to support

themselves as a nomadic and uncivilized people as

they had theretofore lived and supported them-

selves upon the nnich larger area occupied and

claimed by them. Upon the making of said treaty

the said Confederated bands of Indians removed

to settled upon and have thereafter remained upon

and occupied said Indian reservation and began

and have continued to support themselves by fann-

ing and the growing of agricultural crops upon the

lands of said reservation by means of artificial irri-

gation with the waters flowing upon said reserva-

tion. By the establishment of this reservation the

United States, as sole owner of the lands and waters

thereon, reserved for irrigation and other beneficial

uses upon the lands of said reservation and exempted

from appropriation under territorial and state laws

or otherwise, all of the waters upon said reserva-

tion including all of the waters of Mud Creek,

which has its source and flows wholly within the

boundaries of said reservation.

That pursuant to the Acts of Congress of April

23, 1904 (33 Stat. L. 305), June 21, 1906 (34 Stat.

L. 354), and April 30, 1908 (35 Stat. L. 70 83), the

United States commenced the construction of the

Flathead Irrigation Project to irrigate the [105]
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irrigable lands on the Flathead Indian Reservation

in Montana most susceptible of and best adapted to

irrigation and farming. That by virtue of the Act

of Congress of April 30, 1908, the sum of $50,000

was appropriated from public monies for prelimi-

nary surveys, plans and estimates of irrigating sys-

tems to irrigate the lands allotted by the Act of

Congress of April 23, 1904, and the unallotted and

irrigable lands on the Flathead Indian Reservation,

and to begin construction of said irrigation project

system.

That in succeeding years, by subsequent Acts of

Congress, further amounts were appropriated for

the construction, operation and maintenance of the

irrigation system thus commenced; that up to June

30, 1936, the United States had expended the sum

of $7,499,105.85 for the construction of the Flat-

head Indian Irrigation Project in Montana; and

that the United States now owns, operates and is

in control of the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project.

That pursuant to Section VII of the General

Allotment Act of Congress of February 8, 1887 (24

Stat. L., 388), and of the Acts of Congress afore-

said of April 23, 1904, June 21, 1906 and April 30,

1908, the Secretary of the Interior, as the Agent of

the United States, designated the lands on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation which were to receive

water deliveries from the Flathead Indian Irriga-

tion Project system. That all of said lands are clas-

sified as irrigable lands, subject to their pro rata

share of the waters distributed by the Flathead
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Indian Irrigation Project system. That a portion

of the lands of the defendant described herein have

been classified as irrigable by the Secretary of the

Interior and lie under said irrigation system and

are subject to water deliveries therefrom.

That all of the waters of streams bordering upon

and flowing through the Flathead Indian Reserva-

tion, including the waters of Mud Creek, are used

by the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project system

and are necessary for the proper irrigation of [106]

lands h^ng theremider, designated as irrigable by

the Secretary of the Interior and subject to water

deliveries therefrom.

That the only right plamtiff, or her predecessors

in interest, ever had to use said waters or any part

thereof, was and is the right to use for irrigation

and other beneficial purposes, the amomit of said

waters apportioned and distributed to them, or to

her, under the laws of the United States and the

rules and regulations of the Secretary of the In-

terior of the United States Government, subject to

lawful charges for operation, maintenance and con-

struction of said project thereimder; and that

neither the said water, nor any part thereof, on said

Indian Reservation, was or could be appropriated, or

title thereto acquired by plaintiff, or by his alleged

predecessors, or by any person.

That pursuant to the Acts of CongTess of June

21, 1906 (31 Stat. 354), and May 29, 1908 (35 Stat.

418), the United States, through its designated

agent, the Secretary of the Interior, recognized all
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early water right developments of Indians and

white settlers; on the Flathead Indian Reservation

in Montana which had been made prior to the year

1909.

That a committee appointed by the Secretary of

the Interior made personal investigations on the

ground and heard testimony and reviewed surveys

made by engineers of the United States Reclamation

Service of each tract of land on the Flathead In-

dian Reservation in Montana where irrigation had

been used and early water right developments made
prior to the year 1909.

That on December 10, 1919, this committee re-

ported to the Secretary of the Interior in regard to

early developments of water rights on Mud Creek

and other streams within the boundaries of the Flat-

head Indian Reservation in Montana and made cer-

tain recommendations in accordance with instruc-

tions of the Secretary of the Interior issued pur-

suant to law. That the report [107] of said com-

mittee and its recommendations were approved by

said Secretary on November 25, 1921.

That pursuant to the aforesaid Acts of Congress

of June 21, 1906 and May 29, 1908, on November

25, 1921, the Secretary of the Interior granted a

valid and subsisting water right from Mud Creek

to the lands of Michel Pablo, being allotment No.

1148, comprising the West Half (W%) of the

Northeast Quarter (NE14) of Section Fourteen

(14), Township Twenty-one (21) North, Range

Twenty (20) West, Montana Principal Meridian,

to the extent of one thousand (1000) gallons per day
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for domestic and stock uses. That pursuant to said

Acts of Congress, the Secretary of the Interior, on

November 25, 1921, further declared that no other

water right of any kind is appurtenant to this

allotment.

That save and except the rig-hts plaintiff acquired

under the Flathead repayment contract and said

supplemental contracts to water deliveries from the

Flathead Indian Irrigation Project system, subject

to assessments and charges made under said con-

tracts with the United States, this right to the use

of one thousand (1000) gallons of water per day

for domestic and stock use is the only right ever

g-rarited said allotment by the United States.

Fifth Affirmative Defense

For a further and fifth affirmative defense, de-

fendant says:

That as a further notice to all landowners and

settlers along Mud Creek that the United States was

the sole owner of the waters flowing therein and of

the light to the use of the same, pursuant to the

provisions of the Act of Congress of June 17, 1902

(32 Stat. 388), and under and by virtue of an Act

of the Legislative Assembly of the State of Mon-

tana, entitled: ''An Act authorizing the Govern-

ment of the United States to appropriate the water

of the streams of the State of Montana * * *"

approved February 27, 1905 (Revised Codes of

Montana, 1921, Section 7099), [108] the United

States through H. N. Savage, Supervising En-

gineer, U. S. Reclamation Service, thereunto duly
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authorized by the Secretary of the Interior of the

United States in that behalf, did make the following

appropriations of the waters of Mud Creek and its

tributaries

:

Date of

Appropriation
Amount of

Appropriation

Date of Recorda-
tion in Office of
County Clerk &

Recorder, Montana
Flathead County

VoL & Page
Recorded in

Book of
Water Rights

ill

Dec. 27, 1909

Dec. 27, 1909

Dec. 27, 1909 20

Dec. 27, 1909 50

Dec. 27, 1909 200

April 4, 1912 200

20 cubic feet of

water per sec-

ond of time.

20

Jan. 28, 1910 Vol. 90, p. 510

Jan. 28, 1910

Jan. 28, 1910

Jan. 28, 1910

Jan. 28, 1910

April 4, 1913

Missoula County

Vol. 90, p. 511

Vol. 90, p. 510

Vol. 90, p. 510

Vol. 90, p. 512

Vol. 71, p. 471

April 4, 1912 100 " " " " April 7, 1913 Vol. J, p. 11

That the United States applied these waters to

beneficial use within the time specified by the laws

of the State of Montana and for the purposes as

set out in the aforesaid Notices of Appropriation;

that the United States has continuously used and

is now using all of the waters of Mud Creek in its

Flathead Irrigation Project system.

That the United States, long prior to and since

the aforesaid dates of appropriation of the waters

of Mud Creek and its tributaries, has continuously

applied to beneficial use through the Flathead Irri-

gation Project system all of the waters of said

streams.

' Sixth Affirmative Defense.

For a further and sixth affirmative defense, de-

fendant says:



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 103

That the United States has continuously and at

all times since about the year 1855 and for a period

greatly exceeding ten years prior to the filing of this

action, had asserted and exercised the actual, visible,

open, notorious and exclusive ownership, possession

and control of all the waters, of said Mud Creek,

under claim of title in the United States as [109]

aforesaid and hostile to the claims of all other per-

sons whomsoever; that for a period of more than

ten years immediately preceding the filing of this

action the United States has by means of reser-

voirs, dams, ditches, flumes, headgates and other

works under the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project,

taken actual physical possession and control of all

of said waters and has at all times during said

period exercised entire dominion over and owner-

ship of the said waters and water-rights, and has

delivered such waters to actual users thereof only

mider the statutes and laws of the United States and

the rules and regulations of the Secretary of the In-

terior relative to said Flathead Indian Irrigation

Project, and not otherwise; that at all times dur-

ing said period of more than ten years immediately

preceding the filing of this action, the plaintiff and

his predecessors have been permitted by the United

States to use only such waters as have been deliv-

ered to them by it under said project and pursuant

to the grant of the United States through the Sec-

retary of the Interior to one thousand gallons of

water per day for domestic and stock use; that

during the whole of said period the plaintiff and his

predecessors have used said waters only with the

permission and consent of the United States and
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subject to its asserted title thereto, and not under

claim of title in themselves or adverse to the title

of said United States.

That by reason of the premises the United States

has title by adverse possession in and to all the

waters mentioned in plaintiff's complaint, and in

and to all the waters of Mud Creek as against any

possible claim of title in plaintiff.

That by reason of the premises the plaintiff is

barred by the provisions of Sections 9015, 9016, 9018

and 9041 of the Revised Codes of the State of Mon-

tana 1935, from asserting any right, title or interest

in or to said waters or water-rights adverse to the

United States or to this defendant.

That by reason of the premises the plaintiff has

been guilty of laches and should not now be heard

in equity to set up [110] or assert any right, title

or interest in or to said waters or water-rights

adverse to the United States or to this defendant.

Wherefore this answ^ering defendant prays that

plaintiff's amended complaint in equity herein be

dismissed and that this answering defendant do

have and recover of and from said plaintiff

his costs and disbursements herein necessarily ex-

pended.

ROY F. ALLAN
Asst. United States Attorney

for the District of Montana
KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS

District Counsel, Department of

the Interior, United States

Indian Irrigation Service.

Attorneys for Defendant Henry Gerharz

[111]
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United States of America,

District of Montana,

County of Silver Bow—ss.

Roy F. Allan, being duly sworn on behalf of the

defendant in the above-entitled action, says that he

has read the foregoing answer and knows the con-

tents thereof and that the same is true to the best

of his knowledge, information and belief; that the

said defendant is absent from the Coiuity of Silver

Bow, where his attorney has his offices, and that the

affiant is one of the defendant's attorneys and there-

fore makes this affidavit.

ROY F. ALLAN
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] HAROLD L. ALLEN
Deputy Clerk, U. S. District Court,

District of Montana

Due and legal service of the within Answer and

receipt of a true copy thereof is hereby acknowl-

edged this 23rd day of November, 1936.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

[Endorsed]: Filed Nov. 23, 1936. [112]

Thereafter, on November 23, 1936, Answer of

Defts., members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians,

to Amended Bill of Complaint, was duly filed herein,

being in the words and figures following, to-wit:

[113]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWEE.

Comes now the defendants, Alex Pablo, Alphonse

Clairmont, Alice Clairmont Cowan, Victor Leonard

Clairmont, Henry Clairmont, Florence Clairmont,

Ernest Clairmont, Grace Clairmont, Peter Oliver

Dupuis, May Pablo, Alex Sloan, George Sloane,

Hattie Rose Sloan Hastings, Lillian Clairmont

Thomas, Eugene Clairmont, Edwin Dupuis, Rose

Ashley, Henry Ashley and W. A. Dupuis, members

of the Flathead tribe of Indians and wards of the

United States of America, by and through the

United States District Attorney for the District of

Montana, and for answer to the amended bill of

complaint in equity herein allege : [114]

I.

Defendants admit the allegations contained in

Paragraph I of plaintiff's amended bill of com-

plaint, save and except the allegation that '

' one inch

of water per acre is necessary for the proper irriga-

tion of said lands". As to this allegation, defendants

state that they are without knowledge.

Defendants allege by the establishment of the

Flathead Reservation referred to in Paragraph I

of plaintiff's amended bill of complaint, the United

States, defendant herein, as sole owner of the lands

and waters thereon, reserved for irrigation and

other beneficial purposes upon the lands of said

reservation and exempted from appropriation under

territorial or state laws or otherwise, all of the
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waters upon said reservation including all of the

waters of Mud Creek, which has its source and flows

wholly within the boundaries of said reservation.

II.

Defendants admit that Michel Pablo and Lizette

Bamaby are Flathead Indians of the Flathead tribe

or nation of Indians and that the United States

designated the allotments described therein to said

Indians.

III.

Defendants state that they are without knowledge

as to any allegation contained in Paragraph III

thereof.

IV.

Defendants state that they are without knowledge

as to any allegation contained in Paragraph TV
thereof.

V.

Defendants admit the enactment into the laws

of the United States the provision of Section 19 of

the Act of Congress of June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L.

355) and except as hereinbefore specifically ad-

mitted, state that they are without knowledge as to

any allegation contained in Paragraph V thereof.

[115]

VI.

Defendants admit that the United States of Amer-

ica claims an interest in the waters flowing in said

Mud Creek and has dammed up said creek, and

except as hereinbefore specifically admitted, state
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that they are without knowledge as to any allega-

tion contained in Paragraph VI thereof.

VII.

Defendants deny that there are no other parties

using the waters of Mud Creek except plaintiff and

the United States of America, and in this connec-

tion allege that there are numerous users of the

waters of Mud Creek whose lands are situated both

above, below and adjacent to the lands described in

the amended bill of complaint in equity herein

whose rights will be injuriously affected by any

change in the amount or duty of water, and whose

presence as parties plaintiff or defendant in this

action is necessary to a complete determination of

this cause, and except as hereinbefore specifically

denied or qualified state that they are without

knowledge as to any allegation contained in Para-

graph VII thereof.

VIII.

Defendants state that they are without knowledge

as to any allegation contained in Paragraph VIII

thereof.

IX.

Defendants deny that they have ever wrongfully

or without right claimed that plaintiff has no water

right on Mud Creek independent of the Flathead

Indian Irrigation Project. Defendants state that

they are without knowledge of any other allegation

contained in Paragraph IX thereof.
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X.

Defendants state that they are without knowledge

of the value of the water mentioned in the amended

bill of complaint in equity herein. [116]

XI.

Defendants deny that this action in equity is

necessary to prevent a multiplicity of suits.

XII.

Defendants deny that plaintiff has no plain,

speedy or adequate remedy at law.

XIII.

Defendants state that they are without knowledge

as to any allegation contained in Paragraph XIII

thereof.

XIV.

Defendants admit the allegations contained in

Paragraph XIY thereof.

XV.
Defendants admit that they have some interest in

the waters flowing in Mud Creek independent of

the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project. Defendants

allege, however, that whatever rights they have to

the use of the waters of Mud Creek and its tribu-

taries are subservient to the rights of the United

States of America, defendant herein, and whatever

rights they have were granted them by the United

States of America pursuant to Federal Statutes.
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XYI.
Defendants deny each and every allegation con-

tained therein which is not hereinbefore specifically

admitted, qnalified or denied. _

First Affirmative Defense. *

For a further answer and by way of a first affirm-

ative defense these answering defendants say:

That this action is not one for the partition of

lands, but is in truth and in fact and in law an

action to quiet title to the use of water. [117]

Second Affirmative Defense.

For a further and second affirmative defense, de-

fendants say:

That the facts stated in the amended complaint in

equity herein are insufficient to constitute a valid

cause of action in equity as against these answering

defendants.

Third Affirmative Defense.

For a further and third affirmative defense, de-

fendants say:

That said court has no jurisdiction of the subject

of this action to establish by decree an independent,

indi^adual Avater right for irrigation and domestic

purposes to waters flowing on said Flathead Indian

Reservation as against the rights of the United

States of America to said waters and the adminis-

tration and apportionment thereof.

I
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Fourth Affirmative Defense.

For a further and fourth affirmative defense, de-

fendants say:

That by a treaty between the United States and

the Confederated tribes of Flathead, Kootenai and

Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians made July 16, 1855

(12 Stat. 975) ratified March 8, 1859 and proclaimed

April 15, 1859, the Confederated tribes ceded, re-

leased and conveyed to the United States all their

right, title and interest in and to a large portion of

the country then occupied or claimed by them being

in what is now the northwestern part of the State

of Montana; and the United States set aside and

there reserved for the exclusive use, benefit and

occupancy of the said Confederated tribes and as a

general Indian Reservation, upon which might be

placed other friendly tribes and bands of Indians, a

part of the lands so ceded and relinquished, which

part so set aside and reserved as an Indian reser-

vation is designated and known as the Flathead In-

dian Reservation. The purpose [118] and effect of

this treaty was, in keeping with the general Indian

policy of the United States, to enable these Indians

to abandon their habits as a nomadic and micivi-

lized people and to become a self-supporting agri-

cultural and civilized people with permanent homes

on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to them in

severalty. The lands of said reservation are arid

and without artificial irrigation are valueless for

farming and the growing of agricultural crops
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thereon ; and said reservation was and is too small

in area to enable these Indians to snpport them-

selves as a nomadic and uncivilized people as they

had theretofore lived and supported themselves

upon the much larger area occupied and claimed by

them. Upon the making- of said treaty tlie said

Confederated bands of Indians removed to and

settled upon and have thereafter remained upon and

occupied said Indian reservation and began and

have continued to support themselves by farming

and the growing of agricultural crops upon the

lands of said reservation by means of artificial irri-

gation with the waters flowing upon said reserva-

tion. By the establishment of this reservation the

United States, as sole owner of the lands and waters

thereon, reserved for irrigation and other beneficial

uses upon the lands of said reservation and exempted

all of the waters upon said reservation including

all of the waters of Mud Creek, which has its source

and flows wholly within the boundaries of said reser-

vation.

That pursuant to the Act of Congress of April

23, 1904 (33 Stat. L. 305), June 21, 1906 (34

Stat. L. 354), and April 30, 1908 (35 Stat. L.,

70, 83), the United States commenced the con-

struction of the Flathead Indian Irrigation

Project to irrigate the irrigable lands on the

Flathead Indian Irrigation Reservation in Mon-

tana most susceptible of and best adapted to irriga-

tion and farming. That by virtue of the Act of

Congress of April 30, 1908, the sum of $50,000 was

appropriated from public monies for preliminary

surveys, plans and estimates of irrigating [119] sys-
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tenis to irrigate the lands allotted hj the Act of

Congress of April 23, 1904, and the imallotted and

irrigable lands on the Flathead Indian Reservation,

and to begin construction of said irrigation project

system.

That in succeeding years, by subsequent Acts of

Congress, further amounts were appropriated for

the construction, operation and maintenance of the

irrigation system thus commenced; that up to June

30, 1936, the United States had expended the sum
of $7,499,105.85 for the construction of the Flat-

head Indian Irrigation Project in Montana; and

that the United States now owns, operates and is in

control of the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project.

That pursuant to Section YII of the General Al-

lotment Act of Congress of February 8, 1887 (24

Stat. L., 388), and in pursuance to other and subse-

quent Acts of Congress, the Secretary of the In-

terior, as the Agent of the United States, designated

the lands on the Flathead Indian Reservation which

were to receive water deliveries from the Flathead

Indian Irrigation Project system. That all of said

lands are classified as irrigable lands, subject to

their pro rata share of the waters distributed by

said Flathead Indian Irrigation Project system.

That a portion of the lands of the defendant

described herein have been classified as irrigable by

the Secretary of the Interior and lie under said irri-

gation system and are subject to water deliveries

therefrom.

That all of the waters of streams bordering upon

and flowing through the Flathead Indian Reserva-
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tion, including the waters of Mud Creek, are used by

the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project system and

are necessary for the proper irrigation of lands

lying thereunder, designated as irrigable by the Sec-

retary of the Interior and subject to water deliveries

therefrom. ^
That the only right plaintiff, or her predecessors

[120] in interest, ever had to use said waters or any

part thereof, was and is the right to use for irriga-

tion and other beneficial purposes, the amount of

said waters apportioned and distributed to them, or

to her, under the laws of the United States and the

rules and regulations of the Secretary of the In-

terior of the United States Government, subject to

lawful charges for operation, maintenance and con-

struction of said project thereunder; and that

neither tlie said water, nor any part thereof, on said

Indian Reservation, was or could be appropriated,

or title thereto acquired by plaintiff, or by her al-

leged predecessors, or by any person.

That pursuant to the Acts of Congress of June

21, 1906 (34 Stat. 354), and May 29, 1908 (35 Stat.

448), the United States, through its designated

agent, the Secretary of the Interior, recognized all

early water right developments of Indians and white

settlers on the Flathead Indian Reservation in Mon-

tana which had been made prior to the year 1909.

That a committee appointed by the Secretary of

the Interior made personal investigations on the

ground and heard testimony and reviewed surveys

made by engineers of the United States Reclamation

Service of each tract of land on the Flathead Indian
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Reservation in Montana where irrigation had been

used and early water right developments made prior

to the year 1909.

That on December 10, 1919, this committee re-

ported to the Secretaiy of the Interior in regard to

early developments of water rights on Mud Creek

and other streams within the boundaries of the Flat-

head Indian Reservation in Montana and made cer-

tain recommendations in accordance with instruc-

tions of the Secretary of the Interior issued pur-

suant to law. That the report of said committee and

its recommendations were approved by said Secre-

tary on November 25, 1921.

That pursuant to the aforesaid Acts of Congress

[121] of June 21, 1906, and May 29, 1908, on Novem-

ber 25, 1921, the Secretary of the Interior granted

the following valid and subsisting water rights from

Mud Creek and its tributaries to the lands of the

following defendants:
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Name
Allotment Land

No. Description Water Right

Alex Pablo 1152 NI/2NWI/4 Sec. 14,

T. 21 N., R.

20 W.

Alphonse Clairmont 942 WI/2NW14 Sec. 8,

T. 21 N., R.

19 W.

Alice Clairmont 944 SWy4NEi4 and SEi4NWi4
Sec. 18, T. 21 N.,

R. 19 W.

Victor Clairmont 945 NWi^NEi^ & NEl^NWl^
Sec. 18, T. 21 N.,

R. 19 W.

Henry Clairmont 946 SEi^NEi4 Sec. 7

;

SW1/4SW14 Sec. 5, T.

21 N., R. 19 W.

Florence Clairmont 948 WI/2SEI/4 Sec. 7, T.

21 N., R. 19 W.

Lillian Clairmont 971 SE14NW1/4 & SW14NEI/4

Rose Ashley

Henry Ashley

Sec. 8, T. 21 N.,

R. 19 W.

1076 Ni/2NEi^ Sec. 32,

T. 22 N., R.

19 W.

1029 SE1/2SE14 Sec. 29,

T. 22 N., R.

19 W.

Alexander Sloane 1186 NE1/4SW14, W%NWi4SEi4
& E14NW1ASW1/4 Sec.

34, T. 21 N., R.

20 W.

Hattie Rose Sloane 1182 NEi^NWi^, Wi^NEi^NWi^ None.

& E14NW14NW14 Sec. 34,

T. 21 N., R. 20 W.

1000 gallons per

day for domestic

and stock uses.

2 acre feet per

acre per annum
on 65 acres.

2 acre feet per

acre per annum
on 19.6 acres.

2 acre feet per

acre per annum
on 33.3 acres.

2 acre feet per

acre per annum
on 13.8 acres.

2 acre feet per

acre per annum
on 13.7 acres.

2 acre feet per

acre per annum
on 60 acres.

1000 gallons per

day for domestic

and stock pur-

poses.

1000 gallons per

day for domestic

and stock pur-

poses.

None.
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That pursuant to said Acts of Congress, the

Secretary of the Interior, on November 25, 1921,

further declared that no other water rights of any

kind were appurtenant to the above listed allot-

ments. [122]

That save and except the rights these defendants

acquired by the aforesaid grants of the Secretary

of the Interior, acting in pursuance to Federal

Statutes, these defendants admit they have no other

rights except in some cases where water deliveries

are or may be made to their lands by the Flathead

Indian Irrigation Project system.

Fifth Affirmative Defense.

For a further and fifth affirmative defense, de-

fendants say:

That all of the waters of Mud Creek and its tri-

butaries are now and have been continuously since

1910 applied to beneficial use upon the lands of these

defendants and upon other lands located on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation in Montana, subject to

water deliveries from the Flathead Indian Irriga-

tion Project system.

Defendants further allege that the lands of this

plaintiff are included within the Flathead Irriga-

tion District and are subject to the terms of a re-

payment contract and First, Second and Third sup-

plemental contracts entered into between the Flat-

head Irrigation District and the United States of

America ; that on August 26, 1926, an order was duly

given, made and entered of record in the District
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Com^t of the Fourth Judicial District of the State

of Montana in and for the Counties of Lake and

Sanders in a proceeding entitled "In the Matter of l

the Formation of the Flathead Irrigation District" '<

including the following described portion of the

lands claimed by plaintiff herein in the Flathead Ir-

rigation District, to-^^it

:

West Half (Wyo) of Northeast Quarter

(XEi/4) of Section 14, in Township 21 North

of Range 20 West, of the Montana Principal

Meridian, in Lake County, Montana.

AVherefore these answering defendants pray that

plaintiff's amended complaint in equity herein be

dismissed and [123] that these answering defend-

ants do have and recover of and from said plaintiff

their costs and disbursements herein necessarily ex-

pended.

ROY F. ALLEN
Asst. L^nited States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Ooimsel, Department of

the Interior, L'nited States

Indian Irrigation Service. [124]

L'nited States of America,

District of Montana,

Coimty of Silver Bow—ss.

Roy F. Allen being duly sworn on behalf of the

defendants in the above entitled action, says that

he has read the foregoing answer and knows the
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contents thereof and that the same is true to the

best of his knowledge, information and belief; that

the said defendants are absent from the County of

Silver Bow, where their attorney has his office, and

that the affiant is one of the defendants' attorneys

and therefore makes this affidavit.

ROY F. ALLEN.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] HAROLD L. ALLEN,
Deputy Clerk U. S. District

Court, District of Montana.

Due and legal service of the within Answer and

receipt of a true copy thereof is hereby acknowl-

edged this 23rd day of November, 1936.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Attorney for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 23, 1936. [125]

Thereafter, on November 23, 1936, Answer of

Flathead IiTigation District to Amended Bill of

Complaint, was duly filed herein, being in the words

and figures following, to-wit : [126]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWER OF FLATHEAD IRRIGATION
DISTRICT.

Comes now the defendant, Flathead Irrigation

District, and for answer to the plaintiff's amended

complaint

:
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I.

Admits that on July 16, 1855 a treaty was entered

into between the United States of America and the

tribes of Indians referred to in Paragraph I of said

amended complaint. Admits the lands of said reser-

vation are arid and require water for irrigation.

Denies that one inch of water per acre is necessary

for the proper irrigation of said lands, and admits

that pursuant to said treaty [127] said Indians set-

tled upon and occupied said Indian reservation ; but

denies that said Indians farmed said lands by means

of irrigation, otherwise than as hereinafter alleged

in this answer, pursuant to the establishment of the

Flathead Irrigation Project, hereinafter mentioned.

In this connection this defendant alleges that a copy

of said treaty is attached hereto, marked '^Exhibit

A," and expressly made a part of this answer.

II.

This defendant alleges that it is without knowl-

edge as to whether Michel Pablo or Lizette Barnaby

or either of them made allotment for or acquired

any interest in the lands described in Paragraph II

of said amended complaint, or any part of said

lands.

III.

This defendant denies that on or about the 15th

day of April, 1900, or at any other time, Michel

Pablo, or any other person, constructed an irriga-

tion dit<ih from Mud Creek, referred to in said

amended complaint, and denies that Michel Pablo,

or any other person, or any Indian allottee, on April
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15, 1900, or at any other time, appropriated or be-

came the appropriator or appropriators of any of

the waters of Mud Creek, and specifically denies

that any of said waters thereby or otherwise or at

all became appurtenant to any of the lands described

in said amended complaint. In this connection this

defendant alleges the fact to be that none of the

lands of said Indian Reservation and none of the

lands described in the amended complaint were al-

lotted in severalty or ceased to be tribal Indian

lands prior to the year 1910, and defendant alleges

the fact to be that all of said lands remained unal-

lotted tribal Indian lands, without ownership in

severalty, until the year 1910.

IV.

Admits that on the dates mentioned in Paragraph

IV of said amended complaint fee patents were is-

sued to Agatha Pablo for [128] certain of the lands

described in the amended complaint, and admits

that plaintiff is now the owner in fee of the lands

described in the complaint, but specifically denies

that the plaintiff is the owTier of any water right or

of any of the w^aters of Mud Creek, and specifically

denies that there was then or ever or at all, any of

the waters of Mud Creek appurtenant to said lands.

V.

Admits that on Jime 21, 1906, Congress made the

enactment referred to in Paragi'aph V of the

amended complaint, but denies that at the times

mentioned in said paragraph, or at any other time
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prior to the commencement of this action, any ditch

or ditches was or were used for the conducting of

water from Mud Creek to the lands described in the

amended complaint, or any of them.

VI.

Admits that the United States claims an interest

in the waters of said Mud Creek, but denies that the

United States has deprived the plaintiff of any use

of said waters to which plaintiff is entitled, and de-

nies that the plaintiff has any right, title or interest

in or to said waters of Mud Creek, or any of them.

VII.

Denies that the plaintiff and the United States

are tenants in common, or joint tenants, in the use

of the waters of Mud Creek, and denies that the

plaintiff has any interest whatsoever therein.

VIII.

Admits that Harold L. Ickes is Secretary of the

Interior, and is in charge of the Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project, and admits that Henry Gerharz

is the Project Manager of said project. [129]

IX.

Admits that the defendants last named are claim-

ing that the plaintiff has no water rights on Mud
Creek, independent of said Indian Irrigation

Project.
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X.

Admits that the interest in controversy in this

action, exckisive of interest and costs, exceeds the

sum of Three Thousand ($3000.00) Dollars.

XI.

Admits that the defendants Alex Pablo and A.

M. Sterling are each claiming rights in the waters

of Mud Creek.

XII.

Admits that this defendant is a public corporation

duly incorporated under the laws of the State of

Montana.

XIII.

Defendant alleges that it is without knowledge as

to whether the other defendants named in said

amended complaint, but not heretofore specifically

mentioned, claim some interest in or to the said

waters of Mud Creek.

Further answering said amended complaint this

defendant alleges that heretofore and on the 26 day

of August, 1926, this defendant was, by an order and

decree of the District Court of the Fourth Judicial

District of the State of Montana in and for the

County of Lake, which was duly given, made and en-

tered on said date, duly created and established as

an irrigation district, under the laws of the State

of Montana, and particularly those laws providing

for the creation of irrigation districts for the pur-

pose of cooperating with the United States in the

construction of irrigation works and projects, and

this district was duly organized and created ]jur-
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suant to the Acts of Congress of May 10, 1926 (44

Stat., 464-466), Januaiy 12, 1927 [130] (44 Stat.,

945), March 7, 1928 (45 Stat., 212-213), March 4,

1929 (45 Stat., 1574), March 4, 1929 (45 Stat., 1639-

1640), and May 14, 1930 (46 Stat., 291), and other

Acts amendatory thereof and supplemental thereto.

That all of the lands within this defendant district

are lands within said Flathead Indian Reservation,

and were and are lands within the Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project, mentioned in the said amended

complaint. That subsequently and on or about the

12 day of May, 1928, this defendant district entered

into a certain repayment contract between said dis-

trict and the United States of America, which said

repayment contract contained terms and provisions

required to be incorporated therein by the aforesaid

Acts of Congress, and subsequently and on the 12

day of July, 1926, said repayment contract was, by a

judgment and decree of the District Court of the

Fourth Judicial District of the State of Montana in

and for the County of Lake, duly given, made and

entered on said date, duly confirmed, approved and

ratified, and all proceedings in relation thereto duly

confirmed, which decree became final, and that ever

since the date aforesaid the said repayment con-

tract has been in full force and effect, and this de-

fendant has been imder the obligations, and is now
under the obligations created thereby.

That under and by virtue of the treaty with the

Indian tribes, copy of which is attached hereto

marked ''Exhibit A," all of the waters upon said
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Flathead Indian Reservation, including the waters

of said Mud Creek, were reserved by the United

States, and exempted from appropriation under

state laws or any other laws, and reserved for the

use and benefit of said Indian tribes. That there-

after and immediately upon the enactment of the

Act of Congress of April 23, 1904 (33 Stat., 302-

306), the United States, and the Secretary of the

Interior, pursuant to the authorities contained in

said Act, established, set up [131] and created, for

the benefit of said Indian tribes, the Flathead Irri-

gation Project, for the irrigation of lands there-

after to be allotted under said Act to individual

Indians, and for the irrigation of the surplus unal-

lotted lands mentioned in said Act, and that there-

after the United States has, without interruption,

continued the construction of said Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project and is still continuing the con-

struction thereof, all of which has been done pur-

suant to the said Act of April 23, 1904, and Acts

amendatory thereof and supplemental thereto; and

this defendant alleges that by the initiation and

establishment of the said Irrigation Project the

United States appropriated and segregated all of

the waters lying upon said Indian Reservation and

which might in any manner be utilized in conjmic-

tion with the construction of said Indian Irrigation

Project, for the use and benefit of said Indian tribes,

through the irrigation of the said allotted and sur-

plus unallotted lands. That said Project was thus

established and commenced prior to the date of any

allotments in severalty of lands upon said reserva-



126 U. S. of America, et al. vs.

tion, and prior to the sale or disposition of any sur-

plus unallotted lands, and that the lands within this

defendant district are composed in part of allotted

lands and in part of surplus unallotted lands which

were sold pursuant to the aforesaid Acts of Con-

gress, and that the owners of said lands within said

irrigation district, by virtue of their right to re-

ceive water imder said project, are, together with

this defendant district, the successors in interest and

title of the said Indian tribes, in and to the waters

of said reservation, including all of the waters of

said Mud Creek; that any attempted diversion or

appropriation of the waters of Mud Creek for the

purpose of acquiring a private water right therein,

would be in violation of the said Acts of Congress,

and in derogation of the rights established thereby

and by the creation of said Indian Irrigation Proj-

ect, and [132] wholly void, illegal and of no effect.

That the lands within this district are arid and

require irrigation for the successful cultivation

thereof, and that the sources of supply for said irri-

gation project and for said lands which are served

thereby, are insufficient to supply all of the needs

and requirements of the lands within said district,

even although all of the waters of Mud Creek be

taken, used and diverted into the irrigation system

of said irrigation project, and if the plaintiff is

permitted to take or use any of the waters of Mud
Creek for irrigation or other purposes, the lands

within this defendant district will be deprived of a

portion of the waters required and needed by them
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and to wliich they are entitled mider the said irriga-

tion project and under the contract between this

defendant and the United States.

That under and pursuant to its contract with the

United States this defendant has levied taxes and

assessments upon private lands and has assumed

obligations to the United States for the payment

of construction charges and other charges against

said land in an amount in excess of Five Million

Dollars, and that if this plaintiff be permitted to

divert said waters the lands of said district will

suffer material detriment in loss of needed waters,

and be unable to make payment of the assessments

so levied and required for the payment of said obli-

gations to the United States.

Wherefore, this defendant prays that plaintiff

take nothing by her said action, and that the same

be dismissed upon the merits.

WALTER L. POPE
RUSSELL E. SMITH

Solicitors for Flathead

Irrigation District [133]

"EXHIBIT A"

TREATY WITH THE FLATHEADS, ETC., 1855

Articles of Agreement and Convention Made and

Concluded at the Treaty-Ground at Hell Gate, in

the Bitter Root Valley, This Sixteenth Day of July,

in the Year One Thousand Eight Hundred and
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Fifty-Five, by and Between Isaac I. Stevens, Gov-

ernor and Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the

Territory of Washington, on the Part of the United

States, and the Undersigned Chiefs, Head-Men, and

Delegates of the Confederated Tribes of the Flat-

head, Kootenay, and Upper Pend d'Oreilles In-

dians, on Behalf of and Acting For Said Confed-

erated Tribes, and Being Duly Authorized Thereto

by Them. It Being Understood and Agreed That

the Said Confederated Tribes Do Hereby Constitute

a Nation, Under the Name of the Flathead Nation,

with Victor, the Head Chief of the Flathead Tribe,

as the Head Chief of the Said Nation, and That

the Several Chiefs, Head-Men, and Delegates,

Whose Names Are Signed to This Treaty, Do
Hereby in Behalf of their Respective Tribes, Recog-

nize Victor as Said Head Chief.

Article 1. The said confederated tribe of Indians

hereby cede, relinquish, and convey to the United

States all their right, title, and interest in and to

the country occupied or claimed by them, bounded

and described as follows, to wit

:

Commencing on the main ridge of the Rocky

Mountains at the forty-ninth (49th) parallel of

latitude, thence westwardly on that parallel to the

divide between the Flat-bow or Kootenay River

and Clarke's Fork, thence southerly and southeast-

erly along said divide to the one hundred and fif-

teenth degree of longitude, (115°) thence in a south-

westerly direction to the divide between the sources

of the St. Regis Borgia and the Coeur d'Alene Riv-
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ei's, thence southeasterly and southerly along the

main ridge of the Bitter Root Mountains to the

divide between the head-waters of the Koos-koos-kee

River and of the southwestern form of the Bitter

Root River, thence easterly along the divide sepa-

rating the waters of the several tributaries of the

Bitter Root River from the waters flowing into

the Salmon and Snake Rivers to the main ridge of

the Rocky Mountains, and thence northerly along

said main ridge to the place of beginning.

Article 2. There is, however, reserved from the

lands above ceded, for the use and occupation of

the said confederated tribes, and as a general Indian

reservation, upon which may be placed other

friendly tribes and bands of Indians of the Terri-

tory of Washington who may agree to be consoli-

dated with the tribes parties to this treaty, under

the common designation of the Flathead Nation,

with Victor, head chief of the Flathead tribe, as the

head chief of the nation, the tract of land included

within the following boimdaries, to-wit

:

Commencing at the source of the main branch of

the Jocko River; thence along the divide separat-

ing the waters flowing into the Bitter Root River

from those flowing into the Jocko to a point on

Clarke's Fork between the Camash and Horse Prai-

ries; thence northerly to, and along the divide

bounding on the west the Flathead River, to a point

due west from the point half way in latitude between

the northern and southern extremities of the Flat-

head Lake; thence on a due east course to the
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divide whence the Crow, the Prune, the So-ni-el-em

and the Jocko Rivers take their rise, and thence

southerly along [134] said divide to the place of

beginning.

All which tract shall be set apart, and, so far as

necessary, surveyed and marked out for the exclu-

sive use and benefit of said confederated tribes as

an Indian reservation. Nor shall any white man,

excepting those in the employment of the Indian

department, be permitted to reside upon the said

reservation without permission of the confederated

tribes, and the superintendent and agent. And the

said confederated tribes agree to remove and settle

upon the same within one year after the ratification

of this treaty. In the meantime it shall be lawful

for them to reside upon any groimd not in the

actual claim and occupation of citizens of the United

States, and upon any ground claimed or occupied, if

with the permission of the owner and claimant.

Gruaranteeing however the right to all citizens of

the United States to enter upon and occupy as set-

tlers any lands not actually occupied and cultivated

by said Indians at this time, and not included in the

reservation above named. And provided, That any

substantial improvements heretofore made by any

Indian, such as fields enclosed and cultivated and

houses erected upon the lands hereby ceded, and

which he may be compelled to abandon in conse-

quence of this treaty, shall be valued under the

direction of the President of the United States,

and payment made therefor in money, or improve-
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ments of an equal value be made for said Indian

upon the reservation; and no Indian will be re-

quired to abandon the improvements aforesaid, now

occupied by him, mitil their value in money or im-

provements of an equal value shall be furnished

him as aforesaid.

Article 3. And provided, That if necessary for

the public convenience roads may be run through

the said reservation; and, on the other hand, the

right of way with free access from the same to the

nearest public highway is secured to them, as also

the right in coimnon with citizens of the United

States to travel upon all public highways.

Tlie exclusive right of taking fish in all the

streams rmming through or bordering said reser-

vation is further secured to said Indians; as also

the right of taking fish at all usual and accustomed

places, in common with citizens of the Territory,

and of erecting temporary buildings for curing; to-

gether with the privilege of hmiting, gathering roots

and berries, and pasturing their horses and cattle

upon open and miclaimed land.

Article 4. In consideration of the above cession,

the United States agree to pay to the said con-

federated tribes of Indians, in addition to the goods

and provisions distributed to them at the time of

signing this treaty the sum of one hundred and

twenty thousand dollars, in the following manner

—

that is to say: For the first year after the ratifica-

tion hereof, thirty-six thousand dollars, to be ex-

pended under the direction of the President, in pro-

viding for their removal to the reservation, break-
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ing up and fencing farms, building houses for them,

and for such other objects as he may deem neces-

sary. For the next four years, six thousand dollars

each year ; for the next five years, five thousand dol-

lars each year ; for the next five years four thousand

dollars each year ; and for the next five years, three

thousand dollars each year.

All of which said sums of money shall be applied

to the use and benefit of the said Indians, under

the direction of the President of the United States,

who may from time to time determine, at his dis-

cretion, upon what beneficial objects to expend the

same for them, and the superintendent of Indian

affairs, or other proper officer, shall each year in-

form the President of the wises of the Indians in

relation thereto. [135]

Article 5. The United States further agi'ee to

establish at suitable points within said reservation,

within one year after the ratification hereof, an

agricultural and industrial school, erecting the

necessary buildings, keeping the same in repair,

and providing it with furniture, books, and sta-

tionery, to be located at the agency, and to be free

to the children of the said tribes, and to employ a

suitable instructor or instructors. To furnish one

blacksmith shop, to which shall be attached a tin

and gun shop ; one carpenter 's shop ; one wagon and

ploughmaker's shop; and to keep the same in re-

pair, and furnished with the necessary tools. To
employ two farmers, one blacksmith, one tinner, one

gninsmith, one carpenter, one wagon and plough-

maker, for the instruction of the Indians in trades,
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and to assist them in: the same. To erect one saw-

mill and one flouring-mill, keeping the same in re-

pair and furnished with the necessary tools and

fixtures, and to employ two millers. To erect a

hospital, keeping the same in repair, and provided

with the necessary medicines and furniture, and to

employ a physician; and to erect, keep in repair,

and provide the necessary furniture the buildings

required for the accommodation of said employees.

The said buildings and establishments to be main-

tained and kept in repair as aforesaid, and the em-

ployees to be kept in service for the period of

twenty years.

And in view of the fact that the head chiefs of

the said confederated tribes of Indians are expected

and will be called upon to perform w^nj services

of a public character, occupying much of their time,

the United States further agree to pay to each of

the Flathead, Kootenay, and Upper Pend d'Oreilles

tribes five hundred dollars per year, for the term

of twenty years after the ratification hereof, as a

salary for such persons as the said confederated

tribes may select to be their head chiefs, and to

build for them at suitable points on the reservation

a comfortable house, and properly furnish the same,

and to plough and fence for each of them ten acres

of land. The salary to be paid to, and the same

houses to be occupied by, such head chiefs so long as

they may be elected to that position by their tribes

and no longer.

And all the expenditures and expenses contem-

plated in this article of this treaty shall be defrayed
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by the United States, and shall not be deducted

from the annuities agreed to be paid to said tribes.

Xor shall the cost of transporting the goods for the

annuity payments be a charge upon the annuities,

but shall be defrayed by the United States.

Article 6. The President may from time to time,

at his discretion, cause the whole or such portion of

such reservation as he may think proper, to be sur-

veyed into lots, and assign the same to such indi-

viduals or families of the said confederated tribes

as are v^illing to avail themselves of the privilege,

and will locate on the same as a permanent home,

on the same terms and subject to the same regula-

tions as are provided in the sixth article of the

treaty w^ith the Omahas, so far as the same may be

applicable.

Article 7. The annuities of the aforesaid confed-

erated tribes of Indians shall not be taken to pay

the debts of individuals.

Article 8. The aforesaid confederated tribes of

Indians acknov^ledge their dependence upon the

Government of the United States, and promise to be

friendly with all citizens thereof, and pledge them-

selves to commit no depredations upon the prop-

erty of such citizens. And should any one or more

of them violate this pledge, and the fact be satisfac-

torily proved before the agent, the property taken

shall be returned, or, in default thereof, or if in-

jured or destroyed, compensation may be made by

the Government out of the annuities. Nor will they

make war [136] on any other tribe except in self-

defense, but will submit all matters of difference
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between them and other Indians to the Government

of the United States, or its agent, for decision, and

abide thereby. And if any of the said Indians com-

mit any depredations on any other Indians within

the jurisdiction of the United States, the same rule

shall prevail as that prescribed in this article, in

case of depredations against citizens. And the said

tribes agree not to shelter or conceal offenders

against the laws of the United States, but to deliver

them up to the authorities for trial.

Article 9. The said confederated tribes desire to

exclude from their reservation the use of ardent

spirits, and to prevent their people from drinking

the same; and therefore it is provided that any

Indian belonging to said confederated tribes of In-

dians who is guilty of bringing liquor into said

reservation, or who drinl^s liquor, may have his or

her proportion of the annuities withheld from him

or her for such time as the President may deter-

mine.

Article 10. The United States further agrees to

guaranty the exclusive use of the reservation pro-

vided for in this treaty, as against any claims which

may be urged by the Hudson Bay Company under

the provisions of the treaty between the United

States and Great Britain of the fifteenth of June,

eighteen hundred and forty-six, in consequence of

the occupation of a trading-post on the Pru-in

River by the servants of that company.

Article 11. It is, moreover, provided that the

Bitter Root Valley, above the Loo-lo Fork, shall

be carefully surveyed and examined, and if it shall
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prove, in the judgment of the President, to be

better adapted to the wants of the Flathead tribe

than the general reservation provided for in this

treaty, then such portions of it as may be necessary

shall be set apart as a separate reservation for the

said tribe. No portion of the Bitter Root Valley,

above the Loo-lo Fork, shall be opened to settlement

until such examination is had and the decision of

the President made known.

Article 12. This treaty shall be obligatory upon

the contracting parties as soon as the same shall be

ratified by the President and Senate of the United

States.

In testimony whereof, the said Isaac I. Stevens,

governor and superintendent of Indian affairs for

the Territory of Washington, and the luidersigned

head chiefs, chiefs and principal men of the Flat-

head, Kootenay, and Upper Pend d'Oreilles tribes

of Indians, have hereunto set their hands and seals,

at the place and on the day and year hereinbefore

written.

Isaac I. Stevens [L.S.]

Governor and Superintendent Indian

Affairs W. T.

Big Canoe, his x mark [L.S.]

Kootel Chah, his x mark [L.S.]

Paul, his X mark [L.S.]

Michelle, his x mark [L.S.]

Nattiste, his x mark [L.S.]

Kootenays
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Gun Flint, his x mark [L.S.]

Little Michelle, his x mark [L.S.]

Paul See, his x mark [L.S.]

Moses, his x mark [L.S.]

Henry R. Crosire

Gustavus Sohon,

Flathead Interpreter

A. J. Hoecken,

sp. mis.

William Craig

Victor, head chief of the Flathead

Nation, his x mark [L.S.]

Alexander, chief of the

Upper Pend d'Oreillesi,

his X mark [L.S.]

Michelles, chief of the

Kootenays, his x mark [L.S.]

Ambrose, his x mark [L.S.]

Pah-soh, his x mark [L.S.]

Bear Track, his x mark [L.S.]

Adolphe, his x mark [L.S.]

Thimder, his x mark [L.S.]

James Doty,

secretary

R. H. Lansdale,

Indian Agent

W. H. Tappan,

sub Indian Agent

[Endorsed]: Filed Nov. 23, 1936. [137]
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Thereafter, on November 23, 1936, Answer of

A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo to Amended Bill

of Complaint was duly filed herein, being in the

words and figures following, to-wdt: [138]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ANSWEE
Comes now A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo, two

of the above named defendants, and for answer to

the amended bill of complaint in equity herein

allege

:

I.

Defendants admit the allegations contained in

paragraph one of plaintiff's amended bill of com-

plaint, save and except the allegation that one inch

of water is necessary for the proper irrigation of

said land. As to this allegation, the defendants,

state that they are without knowledge. [139]

II.

Defendants admit that Michel Pablo and Lizette

Barnaby are Flathead Indians of the Flathead tribe

or nation of Indians and that the United States des-

igTiated the allotments described therein to said

Indians.

III.

Defendants admit that on or about the 15th day

of April, 1900, said Indian allottee, Michel Pablo,

was in the possession of, and the ov^ner of the

follomng described land, situated in the County of

Lake, State of Montana, to-wit:

The West half (WV2) of the Northeast quar-

ter (NE14) of Section Fourteen (14) in Town-
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ship Twenty-one 21) North, of Range Twenty

20) West, Montana Principal Meridian, Mon-

tana.

and that he dug and constructed an irrigation ditch

on Mud Creek, in Lake County, Montana, carrying

eight}^ inches or two cubic feet of water per second

of the waters from the said creek to his allot-

ment above described for the purpose of irrigating

his land above described; that said ditch was taken

out on the right bank of Mud Creek, about the

quarter comer common to Sections Twelve, Thir-

teen, Township Twenty-one (21) North, Range

Twenty (20) West, long prior to the survey there-

of, and while the same was unoccupied and un-

claimed; and that said ditch was of sufficient size

to carr}^ said water ; and that the said Michel Pablo

thereby became the appropriator of eighty inches

of water for the above described land from the

waters of Mud Creek on or about the 15th day of

April, 1900, and that the same has become appur-

tenant to said land, and at no time since the appro-

priation thereof has the same been abandoned.

Further answering said paragraph three, the de-

fendants deny each and every allegation not here-

inbefore admitted.

IV.

Answering paragraph four the defendants state

that they are without knowledge of any allegation

contained in said paragi'aph four of said com-

plaint. [140]
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V.

Defendants admit the enactment into Laws of tlie

United States the provisions of Section nineteen

of the act of Congress of June 21, 1906 (34 Stat.

L. P. 354), and that Michel Pablo was in the pos-

session of the land hereinabove described; and

admits all of the other allegations in said para-

graph four except that said water was used by

Michel Pablo for domestic use in irrigation upon

the land hereinbefore described of which he was

in possession and of which he was the owner, but

deny that the water was used for domestic pur-

poses or to irrigate the land of Lizette Barnaby

as alleged and described in the plaintiff's com-

plaint.

VI.

Answering paragraph six of said amended com-

plaint, defendant admits that the United States of

America claims some right and interest in the water

flowing in Mud Creek, but as to all the other alle-

gations contained in said paragTaph six of plain-

tiff's complaint the defendant allege that they have

not sufficient knowledge or information to form a

belief and therefore deny the same.

VII.

Answering paragraph seven of said complaint,

defendants deny that there are no other parties

using the water of Mud Creek except the plaintiff

and the United States of America, and in this con-

nection allege that there are numerous users of the

water of Mud Creek whose lands are situated both
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above and below and adjacent to the lands described

in the amended complaint in equity herein whose

rights will be injuriously affected by any change in

the amount or duty of water and whose presence as

parties plaintiff or defendant in this action is

necessary to a complete determination of this cause,

except as hereinabove specifically specified, denied,

or qualified states that the said defendants are

without knowledge as to any allegation contained

in said paragraph seven thereof. [141]

VIII.

Defendants admit paragraph eight of said

amended bill of complaint in equity.

IX.

Answering paragi'aph nine of said amended com-

plaint, defendants allege that they have not suifi-

cient knowledge or information to form a belief as

to the matters and statements therein stated, and

therefore deny same.

X.

Defendants admit paragraphs ten, eleven, twelve,

thirteen, fourteen, and fifteen.

Further answering said complaint, and by way
of cross complaint herein the defendants allege

:

I.

That on July 16, 1855, a Treaty was entered into

between the United States of America and the Flat-

head, Kootenai and upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians

as a Confederated Tribe to be kno^vn as the Flathead

Nation, which Treaty was duly ratified March 8,
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1859, and proclaimed by the President of the

United States, April 18, 1859, (12 Stat. L. p. 975)

by which Treaty what is Imown as the Flathead

Indian Reservation was reserved exclusively for

the use and occupation of said Confederated Tribes

as a general Indian Reservation.

The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were

encouraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic

and uncivilized people and become a self-support-

ing, agricultural and civilized people with perma-

nent homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted

to them in severalty.

The lands of said Reservation are arid and with-

out artificial irrigation, and are valueless for farm-

ing and the growing of agricultural crops thereon.

One inch of water per acre is necessary for the

proper irrigation of said lands. [142]

Upon the making of said Treaty the said Confed-

erated bands of Indians removed to and settled

upon and have thereafter remained upon and oc-

cupied said Indian Reservation and began to farm

and have continued to farm and to grow crops upon

the lands of said Reservation by means of arti-

ficial irrigation with the waters flowing upon said

Reservation.

II.

That Michel Pablo, a Fathead Indian of the Flat-

head tribe or nation of Indians, made an allotment

for the West half of the Northeast quarter (W%
NEi/4) of Section Fourteen (14) in Township

Twenty-one North (21N) of Range Twenty (20)

West, Montana Principal Meridian, Montana.
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III.

That on or about the 15th day of April, 1900,

said Indian allottee, Michel Pablo, who was then

in possession of said described land, dug and con-

structed an irrigation ditch from Mud Creek in

Lake County, Montana, carrying 560 inches of water

from Mud Creek to his allotment and the allot-

ments of his wife and children, for the purpose of

irrigating said lands above described and for do-

mestic purposes; that said ditch was taken out on

the right bank of Mud Creek about the quarter

corner common to Sections Twelve and Thirteen,

Township Twenty-one (21) North, of Range Twenty

(20) West, long prior to the survey thereof, and

while the same was imoccupied and unclaimed land

;

that said ditch was of sufficient size to carry said

water, and said Indian allottee thereby became the

appropriator of 560 inches of the waters of Mud
Creek on or about the 15th day of April, 1900, and

the same has become appurtenant to his land here-

inbefore described, and the lands of his wife and

children, and at no time since the appropriation

thereof has the same been abandoned. [143]

IV.

That the defendant, Alex Pablo, is the son of

said Michel Pablo, and is the owner of the follow-

ing described land, situated in the Coimty of Lake,

State of Montana, to-wit:

The North half (Ni/g) of the Northwest

quarter (NW%) of Section Fourteen (14) in
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Township Twenty-one (21) North, of Range

Twenty (20), West, Montana Principal Merid-

ian, Montana.

said land being his own personal allotment, the title

to said land being held in trust for said defendant

by the United States of America.

V.

That said Alex Pablo is a member of the Flat-

head tribe of Indians and a w^ard of the United

States of America.

VI.

That the defendant A. M. Sterling is the owner

of the legal title to the following described land,

situated in the County of Lake, State of Montana,

to-wit

:

The South half (SVs) of the Northwest

quarter (NWi/4) of Section Fourteen (14), in

Township Twenty-one (21) North, of Range

Twenty (20) West, Montana Principal Merid-

ian, Montana.

said land formerly was owned by Agatha Pablo, the

wife of Michel Pablo, deceased. Said land was, prior

to the sale to the said defendant, allotted to said

Agatha Pablo, and after receiving a patent in fee

for said land, the said Agatha Pablo sold said land

to the defendant A. M. Sterling.

VII.

That on or about the 14th day of November, 1907,

Michel Pablo made and executed a Notice of Appro-
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priation of 560' inches of the waters of Mud Creek,

and the purpose for which said water was claimed

and the place of intended use was for domestic and

irrigation purposes for use upon the lands described

in the said Notice of Appropriation hereto attached,

marked *' Exhibit A" and made a part of this an-

swer as though set forth at length at [144] this

place.

VIII.

That ever since the construction of the ditch from

Mud Creek by Michel Pablo, and since the filing of

his Notice of Appropriation with the Clerk and

Recorder of Missoula Comity, Montana, the waters

from said ditch have been continuously used up to

the present time upon the land of the defendant

Alex Pablo, and the land now owned by the defend-

ant A. M. Sterling; that under said Notice of

Appropriation there was appropriated for the de-

fendant, Alex Pablo, for irrigation and domestic

purposes, eighty inches of water, or two cubic feet

of the waters of Mud Creek, for use upon his land,

and under and by virtue of said appropriation,

there was appropriated for use upon the lands of

the defendant, A. M. Sterling, eighty inches or two

cubic feet of the waters of Mud Creek; and that

said ditch was constructed, and the waters appro-

priated and used by Michel Pablo and Alex Pablo

and Agatha Pablo, and since the sale of the land

to A. M. Sterling, by A. M. Sterling, his tenants and

successors ; and that the filing of the notice marked

"Exhibit A" was made long prior to the acquiring

of any rights whatsoever of the waters of Mud
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Creek, by the United States of America or any other

person or corporation whatsoever.

IX.

That on Jime 21, 1906, there was added by Con-

gress of the United States, to the provisions of an

act approved April 3, 1904, providing for the allot-

ment of the lands on said Flathead Indian reserva-

tion and the opening of the same for sale and dis-

posal Sections 17, 18, 19, and 20'. Section 19 being

as follows:

"That nothing in this act shall be construed

to deprive an}^ of said Indians, or said persons

or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the Act, of the use of water appro-

priated and used by them for the necessary

irrigation of their lands or for domestic use

of any ditches, dams flumes, reservoirs, con-

structed and used by them in the appropriation

and use of said water." [145]

That from April 15, 1900 continuous up to and

including June 21, 1906, and continuing thereafter

to the present date, said ditch so dug and con-

structed, as aforesaid, was used and has been used

upon the lands belonging to the defendants, Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling, herein described in

conveying the water from said Mud Creek to said

land, and these defendants claim the benefit of said

act of Congress in the use and possession of eighty

inches or two cubic feet of water per second upon

each of their respective tracts of land, from the

waters carried in said ditch, and without any pref-



Agnes Mchitire, et al. 147

erence, and that the right to said water for irriga-

tion and domestic purposes upon the respective

land of these defendants. Their rights are superior

and prior to the rights of any other person or per-

sons or corporation, save and except the plaintiff,

who, under the appropriation made by ^lichel Pablo

is entitled to eighty inches of water or two cubic

feet of water per second of the waters carried in

said ditch, but that the plaintiff is not entitled to a

prior right to the use of said water, but that her

rights to the use of said water is equal with the

rights of these defendants, without priority.

X.

That the United States of America, one of the

defendants herein, claims an interest in the waters

flowing in said Mud Creek, and has dammed up

said creek and carries part of the waters away from

these defendants, and has deprived said defend-

ants of the full use of the water to which they are

entitled; that the defendant, Alex Pablo, and the

defendant, A. M. Sterling's right to the use of said

water became vested in them or their predecessors

long prior to the claim of the United States, and

that the United States, under the provisions of said

act of Jmie 21, 1906, has no right to deprive these

defendants of any water originally appropriated,

and required by them and necessary for domestic

use and irrigation of their lands, not exceeding,

however, eighty inches of the waters floT;\dng in said

ditch from Mud Creek. [146]
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XI.

That there are no other parties using the waters

flowing in the ditch known as the Pablo ditch, from

Mud Creek, except the defendants, Alex Pablo, and

A. M. Sterling, and the plaintiff; and that the

w^aters flowing in said ditch from Mud Creek can be

divided, partitioned, and separated so that the

amount of water that these defendants and the

plaintiff are entitled to. can be fixed and deter-

mined, and also the rights of the United States as

to the balance of the water flowing in said Mud
Creek.

Wherefore : The defendants, A. M. Sterling and

Alex Pablo, pray that the United States of America

be required to set forth any interest the United

States may have, if any, in the waters flowing in

Mud Creek, Lake County, Montana, and that if any

interest is claimed by the United States, to said

water, the waters therein may be adjudicated be-

tween the United States and these defendants; and

that the defendants right as herein set forth may
be partitioned, separated, fixed, and established,

and that said defendants, and each of them, be

given a prior right to the use of said waters, of

eighty inches or two cubic feet of water per second

of the waters flowing in said ditch from Mud
Creek ; and that the defendants rights to the waters

in said ditch be fixed and determined by the court,

and that all other defendants named in this action

be restrained from interfering with the rights of

the defendants as so found ; and that the defendants

be given sufficient water for domestic use and for



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 149

the purpose of irrigation of their land, and for

other beneficial use thereon, to the extent of eighty

inches for each of the said defendants of the waters

of Mud Creek and flowing through the irrigation

ditch dug and constructed as herein set forth; and

that these defendants have such other and further

relief in the premises as may to the court seem

meet and in accordance with equity and good con-

science; and for costs of suit.

JOHN P. SWEE
Attorney for Plaintiff.

Konan, Montana. [147]

State of Montana,

County of Lake—ss.

A. M. Sterling, being first duly sworn upon his

oath deposes and says: That he is one of the de-

fendants named in the above entitled action, that

he has read the foregoing answer, knows the con-

tents thereof, and that the same is true of his own

laiowledge except as to those matters stated therein

on information and belief and as to those matters

he believes them to be true.

A. M. STERLING
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 23rd day

of November, 1937.

[Seal] JOHN P. SWEE
Notary Public for the State of Montana

Residing at Ronan, Montana.

My Commission expires July 27, 1937.
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EXHIBIT ''A"

NOTICE OF APPROPRIATION

State of Montana,

County of Missoula,

Flathead Indian Reservation—ss.

To All Whom These Presents May Concern:

Be It Known, That Michel Pablo (No. 605) and

his wife, Ag-ate children, Joseph, Mary and Alex,

and grand niet'es, Mary and Philomene of Flathead

Indian Reservation in said County and State do

hereby publish and declare, as a legal notice to all

the world, as follows, to-wit:

I. That they have a legal right to the use, pos-

session and control of and claim Five Hundred and

Sixty (560) inches of the waters of Mud Creek in

said County and State for irrigating and other

purposes.

II. That the purpose for which said water is

claimed, and the place of intended use is for do-

mestic and irrigation purposes on W/2 NW/4,
SE/4 NW/4 and NE/ SW/4, Sec. 13, Twp. 21 N. R.

20 W. M. M.—W/2 NE/4, W/2 SW/4 and NW/4
Sec. 14, Twp. 21 N. R. 20 W. M. M. and S/2 SW/4
Sec. 11 Twp. 21 N., R. 20 W., M. M.

III. That the means of diversion with size of

flume, ditch pipe, or acqueduct, by which he intends

to divert the said water is as follows: A ditch 48

inches by 18 inches in size, which carries and con-

ducts 560 inches of w^ater from said creek; which

said ditch diverts the water from said stream at a

point upon its North bank, and rims thence in a
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westerly direction—^^The head of said ditch being

about 150 yards above the land hereinbefore de-

scribed, and being on land claimed by Marie Louise

Pablo, thence over and upon said land (or mining

claim).

IV. That they appropriated and took said water

on the 15th day of April A. D. 1900, by means of

said ditch. [148]

V. That the names of the appropriators of said

water, Michel Pablo, Agate Pablo, Joseph Pablo,

Mary Pablo, Alex Pablo, and Mary and Philomene

Pablo.

VI. That they also hereby claim said ditch and

the right of way therefor, and for said water by it

conveyed, or to be conveyed, from said point of ap-

propriation to said land or point of final discharge,

and also the right of location upon any lands, of

any dams, flumes, reservoirs, constructed or to be

constructed, by them in appropriating and in using

said water.

VII. That they also claim the right to keep in

repair and to enlarge said means of w^ater appro-

priation at any time, and the right to dispose of

the said right, water, ditch or said appurtenances

in part or whole at any time.

Claiming the same all and singular, under any

and all laws, National and State, and local rulings

and decisions theremider, in the matter of water

rights.

Together with all and singular, the hereditaments

and appurtenances thereunto belonging and apper-

taining, or to SiCQure to the same.
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Witness our hand at Ronan, Montana, this 12th

day of November, 1907.

M. PABLO
Witness

:

D. D. HULL

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

M. Pablo, having first been duly sworn, deposes

and says that he is of lawful age and is one of the

appropriators and claimants of the water and water

right mentioned in the foregoing notice of appro-

priation and claim, and the persons whose name is

subscribed thereto as the appropriator and claim-

ant, that he knows the contents of said foregoing

notice and that the matters and things therein stated

are true.

M. PABLO
Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 14th day

of November A. D. 1937.

[Seal] A. J. VIOLETTE
Notary Public in and for Missoula County,

Montana.

Received for record Nov. 14th, 1907 at 2 :10 p. m.

W. H. SMITH
County Recorder

Filed for record Nov. 14th A. D. 1907, at 2:10

o'clock p. m., and recorded in Book F of Water

Rights, on page 277 Records of Missoula County,

Montana.

W. H. SMITH
County Recorder

[Endorsed] : Answer filed Nov. 23, 1936. [149]
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Thereafter, on December 9, 1936, Reply to An-

swer of United States was duly filed herein, being

in the words and figures following, to-wit : [150]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OF UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA

Now comes Agues Mclntire, Plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of The United

States of America, filed herein, denies each and

every allegation therein made, as set forth in its

answer as alleged therein, and the whole thereof,

except as set forth and alleged in her complaint,

filed herein.

Wherefore, Plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—^^ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says that

he has read the foregoing reply and knows the

contents thereof, and that the same is true to the

best of his knowledge, information and belief.

ELMER E. HERSHEY



154 U. S. of America, et al. vs.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 24th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires Oct. 21, 1938.

[Endorsed] : Filed Dec. 9, 1936. [151]

i

Thereafter, on December 9, 1936, Reply to Answer

of Henry Gerharz was duly filed herein, being in

the words and figures following, to-wit: [152]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OP HENRY GERHARZ
Now comes Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of Henry

Gerharz filed herein, denies each and every allega-

tion therein made, as set forth in his answer as

alleged therein, and the whole thereof, except as

set forth and alleged in her complaint, filed herein.

Wherefore, Plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says that
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he has read the foregoing reply and knows the eon-

tents thereof, and that the same is true to the best

of his knowledge, information and belief.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 24th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires Oct. 21, 1938.

[Endorsed] : Filed Dec. 9, 1936. [153]

Thereafter, on December 9, 1936, Reply to An-

swer of Flathead Irrigation District was duly filed

herein, being in the words and figures following,

to-wit: [154]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OF FLATHEAD
IRRIGATION DISTRICT

Now comes Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of Flathead

Irrigation District filed herein, denies each and

every allegation therein made, as set forth in its

answer as alleged therein, and the whole thereof,

except as set forth and alleged in her complaint,

filed herein.

Wherefore, Plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff
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State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says that

he has read the foregoing reply and knows the con-

tents thereof, and that the same is true to the best

of his knowledge, information and belief.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 24th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana,

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires Oct. 21, 1938.

[Endorsed]: Filed Dec. 9, 1936. [155]

Thereafter, on December 9, 1936, Reply to Answer

of Defts., members of the Flathead Tribe of In-

dians, was duly filed herein, being in the words and

figures following, to-wit: [156]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OF ALEX PABLO,
ET AL.

Now comes Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of Alex Pablo,

Alphonse Clairmont, Alice Clairmont Cowan, Vic-

tor Leonard Clairmont, Henry Clairmont, Florence

Clairmont, Ernest Clairmont, Grace Clairmont,

Peter Oliver Dupuis, May Pablo, Alex Sloan,
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George Sloane, Hattie Rose Sloan Hastings, Lillian

Clairmont Thomas, Eugene Clairmont, Edwin Du-

puis. Rose Ashley, Henry Ashley, W. A. Dupuis,

filed herein, denies each and every allegation therein

made, as set forth in their answer as alleged therein,

and the whole thereof, except as set forth and

alleged in her complaint, filed herein.

Wherefore, Plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf

of the plaintiff in the above-entitled action, says

that he has read the foregoing reply and knows

the contents thereof, and that the same is true to

the best of his knowledge, information and belief.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 24th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires Oct. 21, 1938.

[Endorsed] : Filed Dec. 9, 1936. [157]

Thereafter, on December 9, 1936, Reply to Answer

of A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo was duly filed
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herein, being in the words and figures following,

to-wit: [158]

I[Title of District Coui't and Cause.]

REPLY TO ANSWER OF A. M. STERLING
AND ALEX PABLO U

Now comes Agues Mclntire, plaintiff herein, and

for her reply to the separate answer of A. M. Ster-

ling and Alex Pablo filed herein, denies each and

every allegation therein made, as set forth in their

answer as alleged therein, and the whole thereof,

except as set forth and alleged in her complaint,

filed herein.

Wherefore, plaintiff having fully replied to said

answer asks for judgment and decree as prayed for

in her complaint.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being duly sworn on behalf of

the plaintiff* in the above-entitled action, says that

he has read the foregoing reply and knows the con-

tents thereof, and that the same is true to the best

of his knowledge, information and belief.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 24th day

of November, 1936.

[Seal] JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires Oct. 21, 1938.

[Endorsed]: Filed Dec. 9, 1936. [159]
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Thereafter, on September 15, 1937, the

DECISION OF THE COURT

was duly filed herein, being in the words and fig-

ures following, to-wit: [160]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

The above entitled suit was instituted by the

plaintiff for the purpose of establishing water

rights to the use of the waters of Mud Creek on the

Flathead Indian Reservation in Montana and to the

extent of 160 inches thereof, with priority date as

of April 15, 1900'. An injunction is also sought

against the United States of America, Harold L.

Ickes, Secretary of Interior, and Henry Gerharz,

project manager of the Flathead Reclamation

Project, the defendants named in the complaint,

for the purpose of restraining them from inter-

fering in any manner with the alleged rights of

plaintiff; and it is further provided therein that

if the court should ultimately find the United States

has any interest in said waters in connection with

that claimed by plaintiff, that such waters be par-

titioned, separated, and established by decree of this

court.

The material matters alleged are that the said

reservation was established by treaty July 16, 1855,

(Stat. L. 975) and also that the Indians of that

locality were encouraged to abandon their habits

of a nomadic people and become self-supporting. It

is also alleged that the lands of the reservation are

arid and without aid of irrigation are useless, and
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that one inch of water per acre is necessary for said

land. [161]

That Indian predecessors in interest on said date

became the appropriators of 160 inches of the

waters of Mud Creek, and that said waters have

become appurtenant to the lands now owTied by this

plaintiff and that such water rights have never

been abandoned and that continuous use of the

water on the lands of plaintiff from the date of

original appropriation down to the present time is

also alleged. Plaintiff relies upon Section 19 of the

act of June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. 354) as a basis of

her claim to the right to the use of said waters and

particularly the following provision of said Section

:

^'Nothing in this act shall be construed to

deprive any of said Indians, or said persons or

corporations to whom the use of land is granted

by the act, of the use of water appropriated and

used by them for the necessary irrigation of

their lands, or for domestic use of any ditches:,

dams, flumes, reservoirs constructed and used

by them in the appropriation and use of said

water. '

'

The bill also contains allegations to the effect that

the United States claims an interest in the watersi

of Mud Creek and has in effect dammed up the

waters and has thereby prevented plaintiff from

using the same to the full extent of her alleged

rights; she also claims that no other persons are

using the waters of Mud Creek except plaintiff and

the United States. Plaintiff praj^si that the waters
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of said creek be divided, partitioned, and separated

between plaintiff and the United States according

to the provisions of Title 28 Section 41, subdivision

25 of the U. S. C. A. Plaintiff also alleges that the

Secretary of Interior above named claims to be in

charge of said irrigation project and that Henry

Gerharz claims to be the project manager and in

direct charge thereof, and ^'that they are made de-

fendants herein in order that any rights, if any,

adverse to the claim of the plaintiff may be estab-

lished, fixed and determined." Plaintiff further

alleges that the defendants are wrongfully and

without [162] right denying her claim of right to

the use of the waters of Mud Creek, independent

of the Flathead Irrigation Project, and that de-

fendants claim the right to deprive the plaintiff

of the use of the w^aters of said creek and the right

to withhold from flowing into and through the

plaintiff's ditch any of the water thereof, and that

she has no right whatever to the use of the waters

thereof without paying the fees and charges pre-

scribed by the aforesaid project.

On March 23, 1934, Judge George M. Bourquin, a

judge of the above named court and then presiding

in the above titled cause entered the following order

:

"Upon application of Elmer E. Hershey, attorney

for plaintiff, and upon the records and files in said

case.

"It is ordered that said Harold L. Ickes, Sec-

retary of Interior, defendant herein appear,

plead, answer, or demur, by the 14th day of
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April 1934, under the provisions of Section 57

of the Judicial Code of the United States (36

Stat. L. 1102) (Title 28 U. S. C. A. 118), and

that a copy of this order together with a copy

of the complaint be served upon said defendant

forthwith dated this 23rd day of March 1934.

(Signed) BOURQUIN,
Judge."

On February 13, 1934, plaintiff caused to be

mailed to the Secretary of Interior a copy of the

bill of complaint which was received by him on

February 17, 1934. On March 31, 1934 plaintiff

caused to be served by the United States Marshal

for the District of Columbia a copy of the bill of

complaint and a copy of the order of the court of

March 23, 1934 upon the Secretary of the Interior.

It is claimed by the defendants this is the only

attempt made by the plaintiff to serA^e process upon

the defendant. Secretary of the Interior. The

United States, was served with process under the

provisions of Title 28, Section 41 subdivision 25,

U. S. C. A. The original bill of complaint was filed

subsequent to the decision of the Circuit Court of

Appeals, 9th Circuit. [163] in the case of Moody v.

Jolmston, 66 Fed. (2) 999 and before the decision

of the said court in the mandamus opinion in

Moody, project manager v. Johnston, et al. and

other cases, Nos. 6782, 6784, 6785, 70 Fed. (2) 835.

The defendants claim that the facts relied upon in

the present bill of complaint are identical with the

basic facts of the original 9 amended bills of com-

plaint considered by the above named court of ap-

peals in its mandamus opinion. Defendants claim
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that it is quite e^ddent that this complaint was

drafted with the intention of confoimin^ to the

: pertinent language of the Court of Appeals in

Moody V. Johnston, m Fed. (2) 999, 1003.

The first amended bill appears to be like the ori-

ginal except the matter relating to Pablo and Ster-

ling and the approj^riation of ^Michael Pablo claimed

by the former for lands now owned by them. The

motions of Pablo and Sterling to dismiss were de-

nied. The appearances of the defendants, the

United States and Henry Gerharz were allowed to

stand as to the amended bill. The motion for judg-

ment on the pleadings was denied May 5, 1936.

It appearing that all parties interested in Mud
Creek had not been joined as parties defendant,

plaintiff applied for permission to include others,

which was granted, and about thirty-five new de-

fendants were added. The second amended bill is

like the first except in paragraphs XIV and XY,
It is alleged that the defendants added claim some

interest in the waters of Mud Creek, and that the

Flathead Irrigation District is a corporation. In

behalf of the United States and Henry Gerharz

there were special appearances and objections to

jurisdiction. The second or final amended complaint

was never served upon Harold L. Ickes, Secretary

of the Interior, no order was ever made by the court

directing the Secretary of the Interior to appear by

a day certain respecting the second amended com-

plaint, and no appearance was made by the Secre-

tary. Motions to dismiss were filed by defendants,

Hendricks, Billie, and nineteen members of the
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Flathead Tribe, also by the Flathead Irrigation

District; answers were filed by the foregoing de-

fendants on November [164] 23, 1936, and by A. M.

Sterling and Alex Pablo. The separate answer of

the District corporation was filed on November 24,

1936, to the cross complaint of defendants Sterling

and Pablo.

The United States answered that it had not con-

sented to be sued; that the suit was not one brought

for the partition of lands, that it is in fact and legal

effect one brought to determine the relative priori-

ties and rights; of the parties thereto to the use of

the waters of Mud Creek, and that the facts fail to

state a cause of action in equity against the United

States.

In his answer defendant Gerharz raises certain

pertinent issues. He has no knowledge as to the

date of construction of the ditch in paragraph III

of plaintiff's amended complaint, or the size of the

ditch or that the waters therein alleged to have been

appropriated were appurtenant to the lands de-

scribed therein; as to the issuance of patent in fee

to plaintiff's Indian predecessors in interest, or as

to the claim of continuous use of the waters afore-

said down to the present time. It is admitted that

the United States claimed an interest in the waters

of Mud Creek and that it dammed up such waters.

It is denied that plaintiff's right to use these waters

became vested prior to the claim of the United

States, and that under the act of June 21, 1906, no

right existed on the part of the United States to

deprive plaintiff of the use of said waters. Defend-
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ant claims that all of the acts here complained of

were proper and lawful acts done loursuant to the

orders, rules and regulations of the Secretary of

the Interior and according to federal law, and that

whatever rights plaintiff may have to the use of

the waters of Mud Creek are subservient to the

rights of the United States, and that such rights, if

any, were granted by the United States under

federal statutes.

Then follows a defense like that of the United

States and the District Corporation. It is alleged

in defense that the United States, [165] through the

Secretary of the Interior recognized all early water

right development of Indians and white settlers on

the Flathead Indian Reservation prior to the year

1909, and granted a right to a portion of the lands

to the extent of 1000 gallons of water per day for

domestic and stock use, and that this particular

right is the only one ever granted the Michael Pablo

allotment by the United States. Again it is alleged

that the United States had a quiet title by adverse

possession to the waters claimed in plaintiff's second

amended bill, and that ''Since the date of giving

further notice to all settlers along Mud Creek and

its tributaries that the United States had appro-

priated all of the waters of this stream for beneficial

use upon the lands of the Reservation, it had con-

tinuously and was now using all of said waters, and

had done so for a period of more than ten years,

adverse to the alleged rights of plaintiff."

Practically the same issues and defenses are raised

by the nineteen members of the Flathead Tribe as
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in the answer of defendant Gerharz. The defendants

Sterling and Pablo claim rights to 560 miners'

inches of the waters of Mud Creek with a date of

priority as of April 15, 1900; they also rely upon

a notice of appropriation pursuant to Montana law",

and upon Section 19 of the Act of June 21, 1906,

claiming thereunder that the United States recog-

nized their irrigation development. It w^as ordered

during the trial that all new matter raised in any

of the answers would be deemed denied.

The record shows that the Secretary of the Inter-

ior made a special appearance denying the jurisdic-

tion of the court and asking for dismissal of the

suit. No answer was ever filed by him and no gen-

eral appearance ever made by the Secretary of the

Interior, although he was served wdth process and

a copy of the original complaint. Thereafter the

suit progressed and first and second amended com-

plaints were filed; these amended complaints were

not served upon the Secretary for obvious reasons.

By his actions he had declined to enter the suit upon

the claim asserted, based upon the statute referred

to, that he could be [166] sued only in the District

of Columbia.

The preliminary steps herein were taken by Judge

Bourquin, before his retirement from the bench, and

the law" of the case established by him in his orders;

he was a judge of co-ordinate jurisdiction with the

present presiding Judge, acting in the same case

and upon the same questions and record, and there-

fore the present presiding Judge will continue upon
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the theory and orders adopted and entered by him,

irrespective of his own views as the the questions

presented and heretofore decided by Judge Bour-

quin. Having adopted the theory and law upon

which Judge Bourquin rested the case, it now be-

comes important to ascertain whether the allega-

tions of the complaint have been sustained by evi-

dence that is clear and convincing.

It appears from the evidence in the case that on

or about the 15th of April 1900, and for nine years

prior thereto, Michael Pablo, an Indian allottee,

was in possession of the land hereinbefore described,

and dug an irrigation ditch from Mud Creek carry-

ing 160 inches or four cubic feet of water per sec-

ond of the waters of said creek to his allotment for

irrigation purposes and said waters were used to

irrigate his allotment; that such appropriation was

made long prior to the survey thereof and while the

lands were unoccupied and miclaimed. It appears

from the evidence that the ditch was of sufficient

size to carry the waters appropriated and that the

said Michael Pablo thereby became the appropriator

of 160 inches of Mud Creek on or about the date

mentioned, and that the same has become appur-

tenant to the land above described and the appro-

priation thereof has not been abandoned.

It further appears from the proof that on Janu-

ary 25, 1918 a patent in fee was issued Agatha

Pablo, wife of Michael Pablo, for the lands allotted

to him and on October 5, 1918 a fee patent was

issued to Agatha Pablo for said Lands allotted
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Lizette Bariiaby, and that afterwards said lands

were sold and transferred to the plaintiff in this

case and that plaintiff is now the owner in fee of

said lands which [167] were thus allotted and pat-

ented to both of the said Indians, and that the

waters so appropriated are appurtenant thereto.

The plaintiff herein places special emphasis upon

the act of June 21, 1906, as well as upon the treaty

entered into by the government both of which were

heretofore referred to.

It appears that no other parties are using the

waters of Mud Creek except this plaintiff, Alex

Pablo, and A. M. Sterling, and the United States

acting through the Flathead Reclamation Project,

and that the four are tenants in common or joint

tenants in the use of said waters. That it appears

from the proof that the waters of Mud Creek can

be divided, partitioned, and separated so that the

amount of water this plaintiff has a right to use

can be determined.

The defendants Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling

each claim that the appropriation of Michael Pablo

as alleged in plaintiff's complaint was also made for

additional lands now o\^Tied by them, and that they

were made defendants in order that their rights

might be determined. The other defendants men-

tioned in the complaint were named in order that

they might have an opportunity to set forth any

rights or interests, if any, claimed by them.

The patent for the lands embraced in the allot-

ment of Michael Pablo and the patent for the lands
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embraced in the allotment of Lizzie Barnaby, both

of which were issued to Agatha Pablo, were received

in evidence ; one of these patents was for the west-

half of the north-east quarter and the other for the

east-half of the north-east quarter of section 14

township 21 north, range 21 west. Subsequent con-

veyances were introduced in evidence showing that

plaintiff is the owner of the land described in her

complaint. There seems to be no question so far as

the proof is concerned that prior to 1891 a ditch was

dug conveying water to these lands for irrigation

purposes and for watering the stock for Michael

Pablo. The water from this ditch was sufficient to

cover all the 160 acres [168] now owned by the

plaintiff.

The evidence further discloses that at an early

day what was known as the Pablo ranch including

the two eighties above mentioned was one of the

best known places on the reservation and produced

large crops of grain. Plaintiff asks for decree

allowing her 160 inches of the waters of Mud
Creek, and the evidence shows that this amount of

water would be sufficient for irrigation of crops

grown thereon; in other words, that one inch per

acre would be sufficient.

Nothing in the act of June 21, 1910 should be

construed to deprive any of said Indians of the

use of the water appropriated and used by them

for the necessary irrigation of their lands. It con-

clusivel}^ appears that the water right claimed by

plaintiff was appurtenant to her lands. The leading
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authorities to sustain the right of appropriation

under the foregoing state of facts are to the effect

that the government in its dealing with the Indians,

may create property rights which once vested even

it cannot alter. Morrow v. U. S. 243 Fed. 854, 856

;

Williams v. Johnson, 239 U. S. 414, 420; Sisemore

V. Brady, 236, U. S. 441, 449; Choate v. Trapp, 224

U. S. 665; English v. Richardson, 224 U. S. 680;

Jones V. Meehan, 175 U. S. 1; Chase v. U. S., 222

Fed. 593, 596; Sheer v. Moody, 48 Fed. (2) 327;

Ickes V. Fox, et al. 57 Sup. ct. rep. 412; Winters v.

U. S. 143 Fed. 740, 749; Skeen v. U. S. 273 Fed.

93, 95; U. S. v. Hibner, 27 Fed. (2) 909, 911.

A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo, defendants, herein

presented claims showing appropriations made of

the waters of Mud Creek for the land described.

It appears that A. M. Sterling is the owner of land

situated in Lake County, in the state of Montana

described as follows: the south-half of the north-

west quarter of section 14 in township 21, north of

range 20, west M. P. M. The proof shows that

prior to 1891 Michael Pablo constructed a ditch

conveying water from [169] Mud Creek to lands

now owned by A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo

hereinbefore described and other lands, and that

water had been used for irrigation purposes and

for watering stock by Michael Pablo and also by

Alex Pablo his successor, and by the tenants of

A. M. Sterling. The defendants Alex Pablo and

A. M. Sterling claim 80 inches of water from said

ditch conveying water from Mud Creek to their
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lands. From the evidence it appears that the ditch

was constructed and a notice of appropriation was

made prior to the opening of the Flathead Indian

Eeservation for settlement in 1910, and that the

waters have been used continuously for the irriga-

tion of lands and watering stock by Alex Pablo and

A. M, Sterling dow^i to the present time.

From the testimony of Alex Pablo it appears

that he had irrigated on an average each year from

fifteen to twenty acres of land, and also in respect

to the land owned by A. M. Sterling the testimony

was to the effect that twenty acres of his land had

been irrigated and that the water had been used for

domestic purposes and watering of live stock by his

tenants; and that eighty inches of water would be

necessary for the beneficial use of such lands. Both

Pablo and Sterling claim the same rights under the

act of June 21, 1906, as the plaintiff herein, and

likewise rely upon the same authorities as are here-

inbefore set forth.

From the law of the case and the evidence sub-

mitted in the opinion of the court these defendants

are entitled to the use of eighty inches of water

from the ditch constructed by Michael Pablo. Under

the evidence there seems to be no question that the

construction of the ditch and the appropriation of

the water was made by Michael Pablo long prior to

the time of appropriation by the United States, and

therefore the rights of these defendants, his succes-

sors in interest, appear to be prior to any of the

rights of the United States or any other person or
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corporation, and that assertion will also hold true

in respect to the plaintiff herein. [170]

To advert briefly to the testimony. The witness

John Ashley, 76 years old, testified that he lived on

the reservation all his life; knew Michael Pablo,

who lived at foot of lake about eight miles from

Pablo; all his lands were fenced; he raised wheat

and oats and irrigated them from Mud Creek,

through a ditch about a mile long, three feet wide

on bottom and tw^o feet deep; at the cut it was

fifteen feet deep and extended 200 yards; the ditch

had to be dammed on lower side in one place by

use of logs extending about 150 yards; Michael

Pablo used the water from the ditch on the Lizette

Barnaby land, on that of Alex Pablo and Joe Pablo

and on his ranch. When the water was turned in it

filled the ditch "plumb full." Michael Pablo at one

time had a large number of cattle; he raised hay

and oats, witness had seen the latter six feet high;

it was known as a "show place." Three eighties

were irrigated and "that was Alex's and the old

lady's and Joe's, and this other, the old man's, part

of it right along side the fence."

Elmer E. Hershey, as a witness, said he drove by

the ditch in 1891 and saw quite a large quantity of

water flowing in it; ditch was in same place that it

is today, and "road was fenced on both sides, and

strung along the ditch, then on the east side and

west side both, just as it is today, at the north-end

of the Barnaby land and Michael Pablo land."
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Jean Mclntire in 1907, saw large crops growing

on the land. Impossible to raise hay, grain, oats, or

barley, or anything of that sort without irrigation.

Mr. Moody, the project engineer, told him he had

no right to use of the water for irrigation, only to

use for domestic purposes and watering stock.

The sheriff's deed was issued in 1924. They have

used the water some every year since. The water

was used on both the east and west eighties. They

irrigated 40 acres of the east eighty which is a [171]

meadow, and 20 acres on the west eighty. They

cleaned out the ditch and took willows and brush

out of it.

Bert Lish knew about irrigation—had been irri-

gating lands for fifty-three years. Know^s the Pablo

and Barnaby lands; he said that to do a good job

of irrigating would require two inches to the acre,

because the subsoil is gravel and rock; the top soil

is black loam five or six or seven inches deep, and

the balance rock and sand and gravel with no soil

in it.

Mr. Stockton said one and one-half to two acre

feet per acre, or one to two inches on the land,

would be required for proper irrigation.

Alex Pablo, a defendant claims prior right to use

of waters of Mud Creek. His allotment joins Michael

Pablo land on the north-west. His eighty runs east

and west and joins the north forty of the Michael

Pablo land. He has lived there all his life ; was born

in 1889 and is a son of Michael Pablo. There was

a ditch from Mud Creek running to his land and
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Alex Pablo's, and water has flowed in that ditch

ever since he was old enough to remember, and is

still flowing in it. Michael Pablo used the water

for stock purposes, domestic and some for irriga-

tion ; he was engaged in the stock business. He used

the water on his own allotment and on Alex Pablo 's

allotment and on his wife's allotment for irrigation

purposes. Michael Pablo irrigated twenty acres of

Alex Pablo 's allotment for hay and pasture land.

Michael Pablo flooded or irrigated about twenty-

five acres of his A^dfe's land now owned by the

defendant, A. M. Sterling. He says water is neces-

sary to raise crops and has been used most of the

time. The ditch runs across his father's allotment

now owned by the plaintiff. Alex testified that the

irrigation of his land and his mother's had been

almost continuous since he was old enough to do

farming.

Thomas C. Moore has irrigated some of the land

in question; he stated that he had not done much

during the past two or three years as there was

not enough water coming down, and he did not

intend to make many repairs while the water ques-

tion remained unsettled. [172]

The foregoing is the substance of the testimony

of witnesses who resided on the lands in question

or came in close contact with them. Certain affi-

davits and other proof have been submitted by de-

fendants but in the court's opinion are not sufficient

to cast discredit upon the claims of priority of right

to the use of water from Mud Creek by the plaintiff.
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Pablo and Sterling; and much of the proof is en-

tirely irrelevant in view of the theory of the case

adopted herein. The evidence shows that long prior

to the commencement of the Flathead Irrigation

Project the waters were appropriatd in the man-

ner and to the extent herein above set forth. To

quote the language of Judge Bourquin in Sheer v.

Moody, 48 Fed. (2) 327-333: "It would seem that

the ditches would carry more water, but the extent

of the use is the measure of the right, when dila-

tory application has been interrupted by the gov-

ernment's intervening appropriation as here."

It seems possible that the Circuit Court of Ap-

peals in Moody v. Johnston, 70 Fed. (2) 835, 840,

may have meant, when it said: "We think the inter-

ests of the parties will best be litigated in a sepa-

rate suit brought for that 4)urpose ", that the gov-

ernment ought to commence a suit against all of

these defendants and all other interested parties

and finally dispose of all material issues at one

time ; such a course would do awav with most of the
7 »•

questions raised by government counsel in this and

other suits of a like character which may remain

pending for an indefinite period before the rights

of the parties including the government are finally

determined. It is apparent that the Secretary of

the Interior is an indispensable party; counsel evi-

dently believe that he can be sued only in the Dis-

trict of Columbia, and if that is the law governing

in this suit then w^hat has been done herein would

seem to be of no avail and these important questions
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no nearer settlement than they were in the begin-

ning. Relief will be awarded as above indicated, and

counsel will present findings of ultimate facts.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed Sep. 15, 1937. [173]

Thereafter, on October 18, 1937, Petition for Re-

hearing by Flathead Irrigation District was duly

filed herein, being in the words and figures follow-

ing, to-wit: [174]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PETITION FOR REHEARING

Defendant Flathead Irrigation District, pursuant

to Equity Rule 69, prays for a rehearing herein,

and as special matter or cause for such rehearing

says:

1. The court undertook to make no examination

of the law here applicable upon the theory that

^'the law of the case" was established by Judge

Bourquin. In so holding this court,

(a) Proceeds upon a misapprehension in

that Judge Bourquin did not establish the law

of this case; (Judge Bourquin retired May 31,

1934, and the motion to dismiss was not heard

until November, 1936.)

(b) Makes a rule applicable to Indian reser-

vation water rights utterly inconsistent and at

variance with the rules heretofore established
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by this court in the case of United States v.

Powers et al, (Equity No. 2962—Billings Divi-

sion) which latter decision is consistent with

the theory of Judge Bourquin in Scheer v.

Moody, 48F.(2d) 327.

(c) Denies to this defendant its right to

present to this court for consideration the

points made by it in its briefs herein. Having

been [175] necessarily made a party by amend-

ment pursuant to the rule in Moody v. John-

ston, 66 F.(2d) 999, defendant is by the court's

ruling denied its day in court.

(d) Reaches not only a wrong result, but in

addition lays down a precedent throwing into

complete confusion the law applicable to thou-

sands of acres of land in the Flathead area.

Neither this defendant nor the persons Avith

whom it deals can possibly know whether the

rule of this case or the rule of United States

v. Powers, or such rule as the Circuit Court of

Appeals may establish on review thereof, will

be applicable to all users on the Flathead reser-

vation, (all because it is assumed that Judge

Bourquin established the law of this case.)

2. The brief heretofore filed by this defendant

(and which the court for the reasons stated in the

opinion apparently has not considered) for the first

time in the history of litigation concerning Flathead

water rights, points out the history, reason and

proper interpretation of Section 19 of the Act of

June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. 354) upon which this
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action is predicated. It demonstrates that whatever

is a sound decision in United States v. Powers

must necessarily be a sound decision in this case

concerning the Flathead.

ARGUMENT
Even if action on a motion to dismiss, usually

perfunctory, could be construed as a determination

of the law of a case, yet here since Judge Bourquin

retired May 31, 1934, and with but one exception

has refrained from judicial action thereafter, it is

obvious that since motions to dismiss were passed

upon in November, 1936, Judge Bourquin did not

determine the law of this case. [176]

Now, while defendant's position here is not that

of the decision in U. S. v. Powers, it is obvious that

the decision in that case was reached after long trial

and argument and careful consideration. It pre-

sents a logical and reasonable theory, one of equal-

ity, fully consistent with Section 7 of the General

Allotment Act (24 Stat. L. 388). It was there de-

creed that "each irrigable acre is entitled to the

same amount of water as any other acre * * *

whether such land is under a government ditch or

not", all rights being dated 1868. In Moody v.

Scheer, 48 Fed. (2d) 327, Judge Bourquin said noth-

ing indicating any priority in private water rights.

He said (p. 330, Col. 1)

"In either case, any such right is limited to

water in equity with all other like users and to

the extent reasonably necessary." [Emphasis

is by the Court.]
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Here, most imfortunately, and to the confusion

of all interested parties, it is found "the rights of

these defendants (Pablo and Sterling) appear to

be prior to any of the rights of the United States,

or any other person or corporation, and that asser-

tion will also hold true in respect to the plaintiff

herein."

How can the rule relating to water rights on In-

dian reservations be different in the Missoula divi-

sion from that in the Billings division? Section 19

of the Act of June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. 354), as

pointed out in our original brief, and under the rule

of Knickerbocker Ice Co. v. Stewart, 253 U. S. 149,

162, relating to such saving clauses, creates no new

or different rule on the Flathead reservation. And
it does seem hard on this defendant, representing

as it does thousands of farmers, w^hose water is

already short, to give it no chance to argue the law

applicable.

It is respectfully submitted that this Court should

determine for itself the law applicable in this case,

and that if [177] the position taken by defendant

in its brief and by us deemed unanswerable is not

to be adopted that at least no rule more drastic

than that stated in the Powers case should be ap-

plied here.

WALTER L. POPE
RUSSELL E. SMITH

Solicitors for defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District.
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Service of the foregoing Petition for Rehearing

acknowledged this 15th day of October, 1937.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff.

I certify that I have mailed in the usual manner

a copy of the foregoing Petition to each of the fol-

lowing named persons

:

John P. Swee, Attorney for certain defendants,

at Ronan, Montana.

John B. Tansil, United States District Attorney,

Butte, Montana.

Kenneth R. L. Simmons, Indian Irrigation At-

torney, Billings, Montana.

WALTER L. POPE.

[Endorsed] : Filed October 18, 1937. [178]

Thereafter, on October 22, 1937, Proposed Find-

ings of Fact and Conclusions of Law by the United

States, Henry Gerharz, and members of the Flat-

head Tribe of Indians, was duly filed herein, being

in the words and figures following, to-wit : [179]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CON-
CLUSIONS OF LAW OF UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA, HENRY GERHARZ, PROJ-
ECT MANAGER AND 19 MEMBERS OF
THE FLATHEAD TRIBE OF INDIANS.

Comes Now the United States of America, Henry

Gerharz, Project Engineer of the Flathead Indian
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Irrigation Project, incorrectly designated in the

title of the amended bill of complaint as Project

Manager of the Flathead Reclamation Project, and

nineteen defendants specifically designated by name
in the answer filed by them to the amended bill of

complaint, all members of the Flathead tribe of

Indians and wards of the United States of Amer-

ica, defendants herein, by and through the United

States District Attorney for the District of Mon-

tana and the District Counsel of the United States

Indian Irrigation Service, Department of the In-

terior, and proposes the following findings of fact

and conclusions of law in behalf of all of the fore-

going defendants:— [180]

Findings of Fact

I

That this action is one brought to settle the rela-

tive priorities and rights of the parties thereto to

the use of the waters of Mud Creek on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation in the State and District

of Montana, and is not an action in partition which

would fall under the provisions of Title 28, Section

41, Subdivision 25 U. S. C. A.

II

That the consent of the United States to be sued

in this action has not been given.

Ill

That no valid and legal service of process in this

action has ever been made upon Harold L. Ickes,
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Secretary of the Interior, who is an indispensable

party defendant.

IV
That by virtue of a treaty between the United

States of America and the Confederated Tribes of

Flathead, Kootenai, and Upper Pend d'Oreilles

Indians made July 16, 1855 (12 Stat. L. 975), rati-

fied March 8, 1859 by the Senate of the United

States and regularly proclaimed by the President of

the United States April 15, 1859, the United States

as sole o\Mier of the lands and waters of the Flathead

Indian Reservation, Montana, reserved for irrigation

and other beneficial uses upon the lands of said

reservation and exempted from appropriation un-

der territorial or State law or otherwise all of the

waters upon said reservation, including all of the

^vaters of Mud Creek and its tributaries, which

has its source and flows wholly within the boundaries

of said reservation.

V
That pursuant to the Acts of Congress of April

23, 1904, (33 Stat. L. 305), June 21, 1906, (34 Stat.

L. 354), and April 30, 1908, (35 Stat. L. 70 and 83)

;

the United States commenced the construction of

the Flathead Irrigation Project to irrigate the irri-

[181] gable lands on the Flathead Indian Reserva-

tion in Montana most susceptible of and best

adapted to irrigation and farming. That by virtue

of the Act of Congress of April 30, 1908 the sum

of $50,000 was appropriated from public moneys

for preliminary surveys, plans and estimates of
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irrigation systems to irrigate the laiids allotted by

the Act of Congress of April 23, 1904, as well as the

unallotted and irrigable lands on the Flathead In-

dian Reservation, and to begin construction of said

irrigation project system.

YI
That in succeeding years, by subsequent Acts of

Congress, further amounts were appropriated for

the construction, operation and maintenance of the

irrigation system thus commenced; that up to June

30, 1936 the United States had expended the sum

of $7,499,105.85 for the construction of the Flat-

head Irrigation Project in Montana; and that the

United States owns, operates, and is in control of

the Flathead Indian Irrigation Project.

YII

That pursuant to Section 7 of the General Allot-

ment Act of Congress of February 8, 1887 (24 Stats.

L. 388), and in pursuance to other and subsequent

Acts of Congress, the Secretary of the Interior, as

the designated agent of the United States, allocated

the lands on the Flathead Indian Reservation which

were to receive water deliveries from the Flathead

Indian Irrigation Project.

VIII

That the only right plaintiff or her predecessors

in interest have to the use of the waters of Mud
Creek is the right to her pro rata share of the
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waters apportioned and distributed through the

Flathead Irrigation Project system under the laws

of the United States and under the rules and regu-

lations of the Secretary of the Interior and the right

granted to a portion of her said lands by the Secre-

tary of the Interior in pursuance to the aforesaid

Acts of Congress of June 21, 1906 and May 29,

1908, in the amount of 1,000 gallons of water per

day from Mud Creek for domestic and stock uses.

[182]

IX
That all of the waters of Mud Creek and its trib-

utaries are used by the Flathead Irrigation Project

system and are necessary for the successful irriga-

tion of lands lying thereunder, designated as irriga-

ble by the Secretary of the Interior and subject to

water deliveries therefrom.

X
That the only rights the nineteen members of the

Flathead Tribe of Indians, defendants herein, have

in and to the use of the waters of Mud Creek and

its tributaries are rights granted them by the Secre-

tary of the Interior in pursuance to the Acts of

Congress aforesaid of February 8, 1887, June 21,

1906, and May 29, 1908.

XI
That the Secretary of the Interior in allocating

the Avaters of the streams of the Flathead Indian

Reservation, including the waters of Mud Creek
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and its tributaries has acted strictly in pursuance

to authority vested in him by all of the acts of

Congress herein set out and under said acts of

Congress has absolute control over the distribution

of the waters of Mud Creek and its tributaries.

XII
That the United States has continuously and at

all times since about the year 1855 and for a period

greatly exceeding ten years prior to the filing of

this action, asserted and exercised the actual, visible,

open, notorious, and exclusive ownership, possession,

and control of all of the waters of Mud Creek,

under claim of title in the United States as afore-

said and hostile to the claims of all other persons

whomsoever; that at all times during said period

of more than ten years immediately preceding the

filing of this action, plaintiff and her predecessors

have been permitted by the United States to use

only such waters as have been granted by the Sec-

retary of the Interior to the lands of plaintiff lim-

ited to the amount of 1,000 gallons of water per day

for domestic and stock use. [183]

Conclusions of Law

I

That this action is not one in which the United

States of America has consented to be sued and is

not an action brought for the partition of lands, and

a decree of dismissal should issue in favor of the
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United States in accordance with this prayer set

forth in its answer on file herein.

II ^

That no valid and legal service of process has

ever been made upon the Secretary of the Interior

in this action and a decree of dismissal should issue

as to him.

Ill

That the United States of America through the

Secretary of the Interior has the right to com-

pletely control the use of the waters of streams

flowing through or within the Flathead Indian

Reservation in Montana.

IV
That the United States District Court for Mon-

tana has no jurisdiction over the Secretary of the

Interior. He can only be sued in a district of which

he is an inhabitant, not the District of Montana,

but the District of Cohmibia.

V
That the Secretary of tlie Interior is an indis-

pensable party defendant herein.

VT
That the plaintiff has failed to state a valid cause

of action in equity against any of the defendants

herein and all are entitled to decrees of dismissal in
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accordance with the prayers contained in their

respective answers.

Judge.

Copies to:

E. E. Hershey, Missoula, Mont.

Attorney for Plaintiff

;

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Mont.

Attorneys for defendant;

Flathead Irrigation District

;

John P. Swee, Ronan, Mont.

Attorney for defendants, Alex Pablo and A.

M. Sterling.

[Endorsed]: Filed Oct. 22, 1937. [184]

Thereafter, on October 27, 1937, the Plaintiff,

Agnes Mclntire, filed herein her objections to the

proposed findings of the United States, et al., which

objections are in the words and figures following,

to-wit: [185]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

OBJECTIONS TO THE FINDINGS OF FACTS
AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, HENRY
GERHARZ, PROJECT MANAGER, AND 19

MEMBERS OF THE FLATHEAD TRIBE
OF INDIANS.

Now comes the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, and files

and enters the following Objections and Exceptions
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to the Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions

of Law of the United States of America, Henry
Gerharz, Project Manager and 19 members of the

Fkxthead Tribe of Indians.

I.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Paragraph I of

Proposed Findings of Fact for the reason that it

is not sustained by the complaint filed, or the evi-

dence given, and particularly objects to that part

of said paragraph stating that it is not an Action

in Partition, that would [186] fall on the provisions

of Title 28, Section 41, Sub-Division 25, U. S. C. A.,

for the reason that it is such an Action, so alleged

in the complaint, and sustained by the evidence.

II.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to proposed Find-

ings No. II and III for the reason that it is a mis-

statement of fact, as shown by written exceptions

heretofore filed in tliis case, showing services upon

both the United States, and on Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior.

III.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Proposed Find-

ings of Fact No. IV for the reason that it is a

mere conclusion, and not sustained by the evidence

given at the trial, or the treaty referred to.

IV.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Proposed Finding

No. V for the reason that under the provisions of
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the Acts of Congress mentioned and described, and

under the evidence given, this case, it was expressly

pro\dded that, ''nothing in said Acts shall be con-

strued to deprive any of said Indians * * * of the

use of water appropriated and used by them for the

necessary irrigation of their lands" and that said

provision was binding upon all parties connected

with the reclamation and irrigation of the landsi on

the Flathead Indian Reservation and the amount

of money spent, or the conclusions reached as to

what lands are best adapted to irrigation and farm-

ing would not warrant those in charge of said irri-

gation S3^stem of violating the plain and express will

of Congress, and by so doing, deprive plaintiff of

her property rights. [187]

V.

Plaintiff objects: and excepts to paragraph VI for

the same reason, and in addition objects to the

statement, "and that United States owns, operates,

and is in control of the Flathead Irrigation Proj-

ect," for the reason that it is not a correct state-

ment.

VI.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Proposed Find-

ings No. VII for the reason that no authority was

given the Secretary of the Interior at any time to

take away from plaintiff, and her predecessors in

interest, her prior rights and if an injury threatened

by the illegal action in depriving plaintiff of her

property, the officer cannot claim immunity from in-

junction process as alleged in plaintiff's complaint,

and sustained by the evidence offered.
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VII.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Finding No. VIII

for the reason that it is not sustained by the plead-

ing or the evidence given in this case.

VIII.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Findings No. IX,

X, and XI for the reason that the same are not

sustained by the evidence and are not made an is-

sue in this case.

IX.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to Finding No. XII
for the reason that it is a mis-statement of the facts,

and Congress, imder the Act of April 25, 1904,

(33rd Stat. L. p. 302) expressly disclaimed any

interest in, or ownership of any portion of the lands

except 16 and 36, or the equivalent in each Town-

ship, or to dispose of said lands, except as [188]

provided in said Act, or to guarantee to find pur-

chasers for said lands, or any portion thereof, it

being expressly stated that it was the intention of

the Act that the United States should act as Trus-

tee, for said Indians, to dispose of said lands, and

to expend and pay over the proceeds received from

the sale thereof, only as received.

X.

Plaintiff objects and excepts to the Conclusions

of Law Nos. I to VI, for the reason that such Con-

clusions are not warranted under the law applicable
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to this case, and the evidence introduced at the trial

thereof.

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Attorney for Plaintiff.

Dated this 26th day of October, 1937.

Copies to:

Kenneth R. L. Simmons, Billings, Montana.

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Montana.

John P. Swee, Ronan, Montana.

John B. Tansil, United States Attorney, Butte,

Montana.

[Endorsed] : Filed Oct. 27, 1937. [189]

Thereafter, on October 27, 1937, the Defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District, filed its proposed find-

ingsi of fact and conclusions of law, in the words

and figures following, to-wit: [190]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS
OF LAW

Comes now the defendant, Flathead Irrigation

District, and proposes the following Findings of

Fact and Conclusions of Law, and requests the

Court to adopt the same as the Findings of Fact

and Conclusions of Law of the Court.

Findings of Fact

I.

That heretofore and on the 26th day of August,

1926, the defendant, Flathead Irrigation District,
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was, by an order and decree of the District Court

of the Fourth Judicial District of the State of Mon-

tana, in and for the County of Lake, which was duly

given, made and entered on said date, duly created

and established as an irrigation district, under the

laws of the State of Montana, and particularly those

laws providing for the creation of irrigation dis-

tricts for the purpose of cooperating with the United

States in the construction of irrigation works and

projects. That all of the lands within the said de-

fendant Flathead Irrigation district are lands within

Flathead Indian Reservation, and the Flathead In-

dian Irrigation Project, mentioned in [191] the said

amended complaint. That subsequently and on or

about the 12th day of May, 1928, the said defendant

district entered into a certain repayment contract

between said defendant district and the United

States of America, in the manner required hy law,

and that ever since the date aforesaid the said repay-

ment contract has been in full force and effect, and

the defendant Flathead Irrigation District has been

under the obligations, and is now under the obliga-

tions created thereby.

11.

That the United States entered into a treaty with

the Confederated Tribe of Flathead Kootenai and

Upper Pend d-Oreille Indians, which said treaty

was ratified March 8, 1859, by the Senate of the

United States and regularly proclaimed by the

President of the United States April 15, 1859. That

under and by virtue of said treaty, a copy of which
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is attached to this defendant's answer herein, the

United States reserved to itself as trustee for the

Flathead tribe of Indians the lands within the said

Flathead Indian Reservation, and all of the waters

thereof, including the waters of Mud Creek. [192]

III.

That thereafter Congress enacted the Act of April

23, 1904 (33 Stat. 302-306), providing for the allot-

ment of lands in severalty to members of the Flat-

head tribe of Indians, and for the sale of surplus

unallotted lands mentioned in the said Act, and

that thereafter and immediately upon the enact-

ment of the Act of Congress of April 23, 1904 (33

Stat. 302-306), the United States, and the Secretary

of the Interior, pursuant to the authorities con-

tained in said Act, established, set up and created,

for the benefit of said Indian tribes, the Flathead

Irrigation Project, for the irrigation of lands there-

after to be allotted under said Act to individual

Indians, and for the irrigation of the surplus imal-

lotted lands mentioned in said Act, and that there-

after the United States has, without interruption,

continued the construction of said Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project and is still continuing the con-

struction thereof, all of which has been done pur-

suant to the said Act of April 23, 1904, and Acts

amendatory thereof and supplemental thereto; and

that by the initiation and establishment of the said

Irrigation Project the United States reserved and

segregated unto itself as trustee all of the waters
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lying upon said Indian Reservation and which

might in any manner be utilized in conjunction with

the construction of said Indian Irrigation Project,

including the waters of Mud Creek for the use and

benefit of said Indian tribes, through the irrigation

of the said allotted and surplus unallotted lands.

IV.

That said Project was thus established and actual

field operations commenced prior to the date of the

allotment in severalty of any lands to the plaintiff

herein or her predecessors in interest or to the

defendants Pablo and Sterling or their predecssors

in interest or any allotments in [193] severalty of

lands upon said reservation, and prior to the sale

or disposition of any surplus unallotted lands, and

that the lands within this defendant district are

composed in part of allotted lands and in part of

surplus unallotted lands which were sold pursuant

to the aforesaid Acts of Congress, and that the own-

ers of said lands within said irrigation district, by

virtue of their right to receive water under said

project, are, together with this defendant district,

the successors in interest and title of the said Indian

tribes, in and to the waters of said resei^ation, in-

cluding all of the waters of said Mud Creek.

V.

That the United States has never authorized the

appropriation of water on the Flathead Indian

Reservation by any individuals, and has never made

the provisions or laws of the State of Montana
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applicable to the lands and waters within the said

Flathead Indian Reservation. That at the time the

attempted appropriations by the plaintiff and by

the defendants Pablo and Sterling were claimed to

have been made, there was no law in existence

authorizing the appropriations so claimed, and that

said claimed appropriations were wholly void, in-

valid and of no effect.

VI.

That the United States has never authorized the

Secretary of the Interior to adjudicate or decree

private rights to any individuals on the Flathead

Indian Reservation, and that any and all acts of

the Secretary of the Interior purporting to decree

or adjudicate any private appropriations of water

on the Flathead Indian Reservation are wholly void,

invalid and of no effect. [194]

Conclusions of Law

I.

That the plaintiff and the defendants, Pablo and

Sterling have no rights to any of the waters flowing

in Mud Creek, or any of its tributaries, or to any of

the other waters on the Flathead Indian Reserva-

tion except such rights as they may have to receive

water proportionately distributed through the Flat-

head Irrigation Project under the laws of the

United States and under the rules and regulations

of the Secretary of the Interior upon the payment
of the proper charges therefor.
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II.

That the plaintiff and the defendants, Pablo and

Sterling, have failed to state a valid cause of action

in equity against any of the remaining defendants,

and that the- plaintiff's cause of action should be

dismissed upon the merits.

Let judgment be entered accordingly.

Judge. [195]

Service of the foregoing Proposed Findings of

Fact and Conclusions of Law of defendant, Flat-

head Irrigation District acknowledged this 27th day

of October, 1937.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff.

JOHN B. TANSIL
KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS

United States District Attor-

ney, District Coimsel U. S.

I. I. S. Dept. Interior.

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Russell E. Smith, being first duly sworn, deposes

and says: That he is one of the attorneys for de-

fendant Flathead Irrigation District in the above

entitled action ; that he did on the 26th day of Octo-

ber, 1937, mail a copy of the foregoing Proposed

Findings and Conclusions to John P. Swee, Ronan,

Montana, attorney for defendants Pablo and Swee.

RUSSELL E. SMITH
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Subscribed and sworn to before me this 26th day

of October, 1937.

[Seal] MARTHA ALSTEENS
Notary Public for the State of Montana, residing

at ^iissoula, Montana.

My Commission expires May 28, 1939.

[Endorsed] : Filed Oct. 27, 1937. [196]

Thereafter, on October 27, 1937, the Defendants,

the United States of America, et al., filed herein

their objections to the proposed findings of the

Flathead Irrigation District, which objections are

in the words and figures following, to-wit : [197]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

OBJECTIONS AND EXCEPTIONS TO THE
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS
OF LAW PROPOSED BY THE DEFEND-
ANT, FLATHEAD IRRIGATION DIS-

TRICT.

Comes now the United States of America, Henry

Gerharz, Project Engineer of the Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project, incorrectly designated in the

title of the amended bill of complaint as Project

Manager of the Flathead Reclamation Project, and

nineteen defendants specifically designated by name

in the answer filed by them to the amended bill of

complaint, all members of the Flathead tribe of In-

dians and wards of the United States of America,

defendants herein, by and through the United States
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District Attorney for the District of Montana and

the District Counsel of the United States Indian

Irrigation Service, Department of the Interior, and

files and enters the following objections and excep-

tions to the proposed findings of fact and conclu-

sions of law of the defendant, Flathead Irrigation

District: [198]

I.

Defendants have no objections or exceptions to

paragraphs I, II, HI, IV, and V of the Proposed

Findings of Fact and to paragraphs I and II of the

proposed Conclusions of Law of the defendant, Flat-

head Irrigation District.

II.

Defendants object and except to defendant's Pro-

posed Finding of Fact contained in paragraph VI
for the reason that the Secretary of the Interior

was duly authorized by the United States under the

provisions of the Acts of February 8, 1887 (24 Stat.

L. 388) and June 21, 1906 (34 Stat. L. 354), to

grant private water rights on the Flathead Indian

Reservation imder conditions prescribed by him.

Respectfully submitted,

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I.

I. S., Department of the

Interior.
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Copies to:

E. E. Hershey, Missoula, Mont.

Attorney for Plaintiff,

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Mont.

Attorneys for Defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District;

John P. Swee, Ronan, Mont.,

Attorney for Defendants,

Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling.

[Endorsed] : Filed Oct. 27, 1937. [199]

Thereafter, on October 22, 1937, the Defendants,

the United States of America, et al., filed herein their

objections to the proposed findings of the Plaintiff,

Agues Mclntire, and the proposed findings of the

Defendants Pablo and Sterling, which objections

are in the words and figures following, to-wit : [200]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

OBJECTIONS AND EXCEPTIONS TO FIND-
INGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW PROPOSED BY PLAINTIFF AGNES
McINTIRE AND THE DEFENDANTS
ALEX PABLO AND A. M. STERLING.

Comes now the United States of America, Henry
Gerharz, Project Engineer of the Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project, incorrectly designated in the title

of the amended bill of complaint as Project Manager
of the Flathead Reclamation Project, and nineteen

defendants specifically designated bv name in the
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answer filed by them to the amended bill of com-

plaint, all members of the Flathead tribe of Indians

and wards of the United States of America, defend-

ants herein, by and through the United States Dis-

trict Attorney for the District of Montana and the

District Counsel of the United States Indian Irriga-

tion Sei^vice, Department of the Interior, and files

and enters the following objections and exceptions

to the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of

law of the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire and of the de-

fendants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling: [201]

I.

Defendants object and except to paragraph I of

said proposed findings of fact, in particular to the

statement *' certain lands were ceded to the United

States * * *" Under the Treaty of Jidy 16, 1855

(12 Stat. L. 975) the Flathead, Kootenai and Upper
Pend d'Oreilles tribes of Indians ceded their right

to occupy a larger tract of territory and reserved

their right of occupancy in and to the present

Flathead Indian Reservation. The fee title in and

to the larger as well as the smaller tract of land was
before, at the time of and after the Treaty of 1855

in the United States and never in any of said tribes

of Indians.

Defendants further object to the following state-

ment contained in paragraph I: ''The Indians dug

large ditches from the running streams on said res-

ervations, and carried the waters to their several

tracts, for the purpose of irrigating the same" for

the reason that such statement of fact is not sub-
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stantiated by the evidence in said cause before the

court.

II.

Defendants have no objections or exceptions to

paragraph II of said proposed findings of fact.

III.

Defendants object and except to that portion

of paragraph III of said proposed findings of fact

wherein it is stated: "Said water became appurte-

nant to the lands so farmed, and the appropriations

so made have never been abandoned", and "during

his lifetime Michel Pablo used the waters conveyed

by said ditch from Mud Creek, to the lands above

described for the purpose of irrigation of said lands

and for domestic use, and that after his death the

said water has been continually used by his heirs,

successors and assigns each year, and by the defend-

ants Alex Pablo, A. M. Sterling and Agnes Mcln-

tire, to irrigate their respective lands hereinbefore

described, and for domestic use," for the reason

[202] that the waters of Mud Creek, save and except

that amount granted the lands of plaintiff by the

Secretary of the Interior in pursuance to the report

of the private water rights committee on December

10, 1919 and approved by the Secretary of the In-

terior November 25, 1921, have never become appur-

tenant to the lands of plaintiff, either by act of the

United States of America or the Secretary of the

Interior, or by operation of law.

Defendants further object to said statements of

fact for the reason that the evidence clearly shows
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in this case that only a very small amount of the

waters of Mud Creek has at any time been used on

the lands of plaintiff and the defendants, Pablo and

Sterling for stock and domestic purposes and for

the irrigation of a small garden tract.

Defendants further object and except to the state-

ments of fact contained in paragi^aph III of plain-

tiff's and defendants' Pablo and Sterling, proposed

findings of fact for the reason that the evidence in

the case clearly shows that the ditch constructed by

Michel Pablo was not of sufficient size to carry IGO

inches or 4 cubic feet of water per second of time

from Mud Creek to the lands of plaintiff let alone

of sufficient size to convey an additional 160 inches

of water to the lands of Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, defendants herein.

Defendants further object and except to the state-

ment of fact that the duty of water on said lands

is one inch per acre for the reason that there is no

limitation as to the period of the year within which

said water is to be used and for the further reason

that the evidence in this case does not support such

a finding of fact.

TV
Defendants object and except to paragraph IV

of said proposed findings of fact in its entirety.

The evidence in the case clearly shows that there

are numerous defendants using the waters of Mud
Creek and its tributaries, under grants made by

the Secretary [203] of the Interior, who are parties

to this action, who have appeared and have been
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represented at the trial of said cause, namely, the

nineteen members of the Flathead tribe of Indians.

Defendants object and except to the following

statement of fact that "the four are tenants in

common, or joint tenants in the use of said waters

of Mud Creek" for the reason that a tenancy in

common or a joint tenancy cannot exist in this

action.

Defendants object and except to the statement of

fact that the waters of Mud Creek "can be divided,

partitioned and separated" for the reason that an

action in partition cannot lie where no joint ten-

ancy or co-tenancy exists ; that this is not an action

in partition, but is, if anything, an action to quiet

title to or to adjudicate the waters of Mud Creek.

V
Defendants object and except to the statement of

fact contained in paragraph V of said proposed

findings of fact to the eifect that the waters of Mud
Creek so appropriated were appurtenant to lands

owTied by said parties for the reason that no appro-

priation of waters under State law of otherwise can

be validl}^ made upon an Indian reservation and the

waters of such sti'eams can never become an appur-

tenance to the lands they irrigate except by express

act of the United States or of the designated agent

of the United States, the Secretary of the Interior.

VI
Defendants object and except to paragraph I of

the proposed Conclusions of Law for the reason
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that the ditch referred to never became an appur-

tenance to the lands now owned by plaintiff save

and except as a means of conveyance for the water

right granted said lands by the Secretary of the

Interior as hereinbefore set out.

VII

Defendants object and except to paragraph II of

said proposed Conclusions of Law for the following

reasons: [204]

(1) That the only rights plaintiff or her prede-

cessors in interest could acquire to the use of the

waters of Mud Creek were rights granted the lands

of plaintiff by the United States of America through

the Secretary of the Interior, its designated agent,

in accordance with Federal statutes:

(2) That no rights were ever granted the lands

of plaintiff by the United States of America or the

Secretary of the Interior to the use of 160 inches of

the waters of Mud Creek or to the lands of the

defendant, Alex Pablo to the use of 80 inches of

the waters of Mud Creek or to the lands of A. M.

Sterling to the use of 80 inches of the waters of

Mud Creek

;

(3) That the evidence in this case clearly shows

that no such amounts of water were ever used upon

said lands of the plaintiff or of the defendants,

Pablo and Sterling;

(4) That the evidence in the case clearly shows

that no use of the waters of Mud Creek save for

stock and garden purposes was made for a period
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of over more than ten years immediately preceding

the filing of the bill of complaint in this action

;

(5) That the right to use said amounts of water,

if any right ever existed, has been abandoned by

plaintiff and the defendants, Pablo and Sterling, by

non-use for a period of more than ten years in pur-

suance to the Statutes of the State of Montana.

VIII

Defendants object and except to paragraph III of

said proposed Conclusions of Law in its entirety

for the reason that all acts done by the Project

Engineer of the Flathead Irrigation Project and

other employees of the Flathead Irrigation Project

in maintaining a dam in Mud Creek and in divert-

ing the waters of Mud Creek for use in the Flat-

head Irrigation Project System have been done in

pursuance to Acts of Congress and in pursuance to

instructions of the Secretary of the Interior made

thereunder.

Respectfully submitted,

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S.,

Department of the Interior.
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Copies to: u

E. E. Hershey, Missoula, Mont.

Attorney for Plaintiff;

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Mont.

Attorneys for Defendant, Flathead Irrigation

District

;

John P. Swee, Ronan, Mont.,

Attorney for defendants, Alex Pablo and

A. M. Sterling.

[Endorsed] : Filed Oct. 22, 1937. [205]

Thereafter, on October 27, 1937, Court entered an

ORDER DENYING THE PETITION OF PLAT-
HEAD IRRIGATION DISTRICT FOR A

RE-HEARING

herein, the minute entry of said order being in the

words and figures following, to-wit : [206]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

This cause came on regularly for hearing this day

on the Petition for re-hearing, and on the applica-

tions for adoption of Findings of Fact and Conclu-

sions of Law, Mr. Elmer E. Hershey appearing for

the plaintiff, Mr. Russell Smith appearing for the

Flathead Irrigation District, and Mr. John B. Tan-

sil U. S. Attorney and Mr. Kenneth R. L. Simmons,

District Counsel U. S. Indian Irrigation Service,

appearing for the United States and the several

defendants represented by them.
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Thereupon the Petition for re-hearing was argued

by Mr. Smith and Mr. Hershey, submitted to the

court, and by the court denied.

Thereupon the application for the adoption of

proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,

and the objections thereto, were heard and sub-

mitted and by the court taken under advisement.

Thereupon, on motion of Mr. Simmons, court

signed and ordered entered the following written

order

:

"Title of Court and Cause.

Order.

Upon application of the United States of

America, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer,

and the nineteen members of the Flathead Tribe

of Indians, defendants herein, it appearing to

the court a proper case therefor,

—

It is Ordered that the time for preparing and

lodging in the office of the Clerk of the above

entitled court their statement of the evidence

in the above entitled cause, be and the same is

hereby extended to and including the twenty-

fifth day of December, 1937."

Entered in open court October 27, 1937.

C. R. GARLOW,
Clerk. [207]

Thereafter, on October 27, 1937, an order was

duly entered herein granting the United States of

America, et al., to and including December 25, 1937,

in which to prepare and lodge in the Clerk's office



208 11. S. of America, et at. vs.

their proposed Statement of Evidence, which order

is in the words and figures following, to-wit: [208]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER
Upon application of the United States of Amer-

ica, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer, and the

nineteen members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians,

defendants herein, it appearing to the Court a

proper case therefor;

—

It Is Ordered that the time for preparing and

lodging in the office of the Clerk of the above enti-

tled court their statement of the evidence in the

above entitled cause, be and the same is hereby ex-

tended to and including the twenty-fifth day of

December, 1937.

Dated this 27th day of December, 1937.

CHARLES N. PRAY
United States District Judge

for the District of Montana.

[Endorsed] : Filed October 27, 1937. C. R. Gar-

low, Clerk. [209]

Thereafter, on November 6, 1937, Findings of

Fact and Conclusions of Law, proposed by Plain-

tiff, were adopted and signed by the Court, and

were filed herein, in the words and figures follow-

ing, to-wit : [210]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS
OF LAW

I

On July 16, 1855, (12th Stat. L. 975) what is

known as the Stevens Treaty was made by the

United States and the Flathead, Kootenay, and

Upper Pend d-Oreilles Indians, as a Confederated

Tribe. Certain lands were ceded to the United

States, and a large tract of certain other lands

were reserved for the exclusive use and occupation

of said Indians, which were thereafter known as

the Flathead Indian Reservation.

The Indians fenced up large tracts of land in

severalty, and farmed the same, and in every way

said Indians were encouraged to abandon their

habits as a nomadic peoples, and become self-

supporting.

That the lands on said reservation were arid, and,

without aid of irrigation, were useless, and the In-

dians dug large ditches from the rumiing streams

on said reservation, and carried the waters to their

several tracts, for the purpose of irrigating the same.

II

Congress of the United States, by an Act ap-

proved April 23, 1904, (33rd Stat. L. P. 302)

opened said Flathead Indian [211] Reservation for

allottment and sale, and thereafter, on June 21, 1906

(34th Stat. L. P. 354) amended said Act by adding

certain sections, Section 19 reading as follows

:
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"Section 19. That nothing in this Act shall

be constrned to deprive any of said Indians, or

said persons or corporations to whom the use

of land is granted by the Act, of the use of

water appropriated and used by them for the

necessary irrigation of their lands or for domes-

tic use, or any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs,

constructed and used by them in the appropria-

tion and use of said water."

Ill

That sometime prior to 1891, Michael Pablo, who

was then in possession of a large tract of land, dug

and constructed a ditch from Mud Creek to the

lands so farmed by him, and used the water upon

said lands in raising crops and said water became

appurtenant to the lands so farmed, and the appro-

priations so made has never been abandoned.

That on Januaiy 25, 1918, patent in fee was issued

to Agatha Pablo, wife of Michael Pablo, for the

lands allotted to him and on October 5, 1918, a fee

patent was issued to Agatha Pablo for certain lands

allotted to Lizette Barnaby, which lands were a

part of the lands so fenced by said Michael Pablo,

and farmed by him, and for which said appropria-

tion was made, as aforesaid.

Said lands are described in said patents as the

West Half of the Northeast Quarter, and the East

Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section Fourteen,

Township Twenty-one, North, Range Twenty, West,

Montana Meridian, and are now owned by plaintiff
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herein, Agnes Mclntire, together with the water

rights appurtenant to said lands.

That Alix Pablo, defendant herein, a son of

Michael Pablo, was allotted the North Half of the

Northwest Quarter of [212] Section Fourteen,

Township Twenty-one, North, Range Twenty-West,

and A. M. Sterling is the owner of the South Half

of the Northwest Quarter of Section Fourteen,

Township Twenty-one, North, Range Twenty West,

allotted to Agatha Pablo, wife of said Michael

Pablo, together with the water appurtenant thereto.

Said lands were patented to said allottee, who there-

after sold said lands to said defendant A. M.

Sterling.

That the original ditch dug by said Michael

Pablo, prior to 1891, was of sufficient size and

carrying capacity to carry said water, and said ditch

carried said water to the lands above described, and

was used for the proper irrigation of said lands.

That said lands require one inch to the acre for

the proper irrigation thereof.

IV
That no other parties are using the waters of said

Mud Creek except this plaintiff Agnes Mclntire,

and defendants Alix Pablo, A. M. Sterling, and the

United States, acting through the Flathead Recla-

mation Project, and that the four are tenants in

common, or joint tenants in the use of said waters

of Mud Creek.

That the waters of said Mud Creek can be di-

vided, partitioned and separated so that the amount
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V i

I

of water this plaintiff has a right to use can be

determined. It can also be determined the amount

of water that Alix Pablo and A. M. Sterling are

entitled to use, who were made defendants m this

case in order that their rights might be determined,

and who are now claiming rights to said waters.

The other defendants mentioned in the complaint

were named in order that they might have an oppor-

tunity to set forth any rights or interests claimed

by them, but no rights are claimed, [213] except

through the Flathead Reclamation Project, by those

who filed similar answers to that filed by the United

States. A great many of the other defendants have

made default, and their default has been duly

entered herein.

V
That defendant Henry Gerharz is the Engineer

and Project Manager of the Flathead Indian Recla-

mation Project in the State of Montana, and as such

Engineer and Project Manager, has charge of the

construction, operation, management and control

of said irrigation project, and as a part of the work

done by him operates and maintains ditches and

dams upon said reservation.

That as such Engineer and Project Manager, said

defendant is in direct charge of what is known as

the Pablo Feeder Canal, which crosses Mud Creek,

and, at said point, a dam is maintained by said

Project Manager, turning all of the waters of Mud
Creek into said Canal, and depriving this plaintiff,

Agnes Mclntire, and defendants Alix Pablo and
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A. M. Sterling of the ^Yaters so appropriated, prior

to 1891, and appurtenant to the lands owned by

said parties.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I

That the ditch originally built prior to 1891 was

appurtenant to the lands herein described, and the

same recognized and confirmed by said Act of

June 21, 1906, and as the i:)rivate property of said

Indian allottees, was by them conveyed to plaintiff's

predecessors, and plaintiff is now the o^^^ler thereof,

and likewise to defendants' predecessors and said

defendants are now the o\^mers thereof. [214]

II

That the lands herein described as privately

o^vned, are entitled in the case of plaintiff, to 160

inches, or four cubic feet of water per second from

Mud Creek, and lands of Alix Pablo are entitled to

80 inches, or two cubic feet of water per second

of the waters of Mud Creek, and the lands of A. M.

Sterling are entitled to 80 inches of water, or two

cubic feet per second of the waters of Mud Creek,

and as such o^Miers are entitled to non-molestation

to the full extent of their necessities.

Ill

That the maintaining of said dam in Mud Creek,

and depriving these parties of the waters, the use

of which is owned by these defendants, is wrongful

and unlawful, and in violation of the Act of Con-

gress, allotting the lands on said reservation, and
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such interference with said private ditch and water

right is mere trespass, for which said Project Man-

ager must personally account, and for w^hich his

employment is no defense.

Opinion incorporated.

Dated this 6th day of November, 1937.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge.

Copies to:

Kenneth R. L. Simmons, Billings, Montana.

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Montana.

John P. Swee, Ronan, Montana.

John B. Tansil, U. S. District Atty. Butte,

Montana.

[Endorsed] : Adopted by the Court and Piled

Nov. 6, 1937. [215]

Thereafter, on November 6, 1937, Findings of

Fact and Conclusions of Law, proposed by Defend-

ants Pablo and Sterling, were adopted and signed

by the Court, and were filed herein, in the words

and figures following, to-wdt: [216]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW OF THE DEFENDANTS, ALEX
PABLO AND A. M. STERLING.

I

On July 16, 1855, (12th Stat. L. 975) what is

known as the Stevens Treaty was made by the
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United States and the Flathead, Kootenay, and

Upper Pend d-Oreilles Indians, as a Confederated

Tribe. Certain lands were ceded to the United

States, and a large tract of certain other- lands were

reserved for the exclusive use and occupation of

said Indians, which were thereafter known as the

Flathead Indian Reservation.

The Indians fenced up large tracts of land in sev-

eralty, and farmed the same, and in every way said

Indians were encouraged to abandon their habits as

a nomadic people, and become self-supporting.

That the lands on said reservation were arid, and,

without aid of irrigation, were useless, and the In-

dians dug large ditches from the rmming streams

on said reservation, and carried the waters to their

several tracts, for the purpose of irrigating the

same.

II

Congress of the United States, by an Act ap-

proved April 23, 1904, (33rd Stat. L. P. 302)

opened said Flathead Indian [217] Reservation for

allottment and sale, and* thereafter, on June 21,

1906 (34th Stat. L. P. 354) amended said Act by

adding certain sections. Section 19 reading as fol-

lows:

"Section 19. That nothing in this Act shall

be construed to deprive any of said Indians, or

said persons or corporations to whom the use

of land is granted by the Act, of the use of

w^ater appropriated and used by them for the

necessary irrigation of their lands or for domes-
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tic use, or any ditches, dams, flmnes, reservoirs,

constructed and used by them in the appropria-

tion and use of said water. '

'

ii

II

That sometime prior to 1891, Micliel Pablo, who

was then in possession of a large tract of land, dug

and constructed a ditch from Mud Creek to the

lands farmed by him and the lands of his wife and

children, and used the water upon said lands in

raising crops and said water became appurtenant

to the lands so farmed, and the appropriations so

made has never been abandoned.

That the defendant Alex Pablo, was alloted by

the United States of America upon the North half

of the Northwest Quarter (N1/2NW1/4) of Section

Fourteen (14) In Township Twenty One (21)

North of Range Twenty West (20W), Montana

Meridian, Montana, and that he has never received

a patent covering said land and that the same is

held in trust by the United States Government, for

said Alex Pablo, who is a Member of the Flathead

Tribe of Indians, together with the water rights

appurtenant thereto.

That the defendant A. M. Sterling is the owner

of the land that formerly belonged to Agath Pablo,

wife of Michel Pablo, having acquired the same by

deed from said Agatha Pablo, on or about the 25th

day of November 1925, said land being located in

the County of Lake, State of Montana, to-wit: The

South-half of the Northwest Quarter (Si/oNWi^)

of Section Fourteen (14) In Township Twenty One



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 217

(21) North of Range Twenty (20) West of the

Montana Meridian, Montana, together with the

water rights appurtenant to saod lands.

That the plaintiff is the owner of certain lands

that formerly was owned by [218] Agatha Pablo

the wife of Michel Pablo, said lands having formerly

been alloted to Michel Pablo, and to Lizette Bar-

naby, and which later were patented and acquired

by Agatha Pablo, and are now owned by the plain-

tiff Agnes Mclntire the plaintiff, said lands being

located in the County of Lake State of Montana

to-wit: The West-half of the Northeast Quarter

(Wy^NE) and the East-Half of the Northeast

Quarter (EYoNE) of Section Fourteen (14) In

Township Twenty One (21) North of Range

Twenty (20) West of the Montana Meridian, to-

Twenty (20) West of the Montana Meridian, Mon-

tana, together with the w^ater rights appurtenant to

said lands.

That the original ditch dug by Michel Pablo,

prior to 1891, w^as of sufficient size and carrying

capacity to carry said water to the lands above de-

scribed, and w^as used for the proper irrigation of

said lands and that all of said lands was included

in the Notice of Appropriation, execution and file by

Michel Pablo, in the office of the Clerk and Recorder

of Missoula County, Montana, on the 14tli day of

November 1907, in which Notice the said Michel

Pablo, claimed a legal right to the use, possession

and control of 80 inches of water for the lands of

Alex Pablo, 80 inches for the lands of A. M. Ster-

ling and 80 inches for each of the eighty acre tracts



218 TJ. S. of America, et al. vs.

now owned by the plaintiff, of the waters of Mud
Creek, and that during his life time Michel Pablo

used the waters conveyed by said ditch from Mud
Creek, to the lands above described for the purpose

of Irrigation of said lands and for domestic use,

and that after his death the said water has been

continually used by his heirs, successors and assigns

each year, and by the defendants Alex Pablo, A. M.

Sterling and Agnes Mclntire, to irrigate their re-

spective lands hereinbefore described, and for do-

mestic use.

That said lands require an inch to the acre for

the proper irrigation thereof.

IV
That no other parties are using the waters of

Mud Creek except Alex Pablo, A. M. Sterling,

defendants herein and Agnes Mclntire the plaintiff

and and the United States, acting through the Flat-

head Reclamation Project, and that the four are

tenants in common, or joint tenants in the use of

the waters of said Mud Creek. [219]

That the waters of said Mud Creek can be di-

vided, partitioned and separated so that the amount

of water this plaintiff has a right to use can be

determined. It can also be determined the amount

of water that Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling are

entitled to use, who were made defendants in this

case in order that their rights may be determined,

and who are now claiming rights to said water.

The other defendants who are mentioned in the
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complaint were named in order that they might

have an opportmiity to set forth any rights or

interests claimed by them, but no rights are claimed

except through the Flathead Reclamation Project,

by those who filed similar answers to that filed by

the United States. A great many of the other de-

fendants have made default, and their default has

been duly entered herein.

V
The defendant Henry Gerharz is the engineer and

Project Manager of the Flathead Reclamation Proj-

ect in the State of Montana, and as such Engineer

and Project Manager, has charge of the construc-

tion, management and control of said irrigation

project, and as a part of the work done by him

operates and maintains ditches and dams upon said

reservation, that as such Engineer and Project

Manager, said defendant is in direct charge of

what is known as the Pablo Feeder Canal, which

crosses Mud Creek, and, at said point, a dam is

maintained by said Project Engineer and Manager,

turning all of the waters of Mud Creek into said

canal, and depriving the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire,

and the defendants Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling

of the waters so appropriated, prior to 1891, and

appurtenant to the lands owned by the said parties.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I

That the ditch built prior to 1891 was appur-

tenant to the lands herein described, and the same
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recognized and confirmed by the Act of June 21,

1906, and as the private property of said Indian

Allottees, was by them conveyed to plaintiffs prede-

cessors, and the predecessors of the defendants Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling, and that they are now

the owners thereof.

II

That the lands herein described are privately

owned, and are entitled in the case of the plaintiff,

to 160 inches, or four cubic feet of water [220] per

second from Mud Creek, and lands of Alex Pablo

are entitled to 80 inches, or two cubic feet of water

per second of the waters of Mud Creek, and the

lands of A. M. Sterling are entitled to 80 inches

of water or two cubic feet per second of the waters

of Mud Creek, and as such owners are entitled to

non-molestation to the full extent of their neces-

sities.

Ill

That the maintaining of said dam in Mud Creek,

and depriving these parties of the waters, the use

of which is owned by the plaintiff and the defend-

ants Alex Pablo and A, M. Sterling, is wrongful

and unlawful, and in violation of the Act of Con-

gress, allotting the lands on said reservation, and

such interference with said private ditch and water

right is mere trespass, and for which said Project

Manager must personally account, and for which

his employment is no defense.
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Dated this 6th day of November 1937.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge.

Copies to

Kenneth R. L. Simmons, Billings, Montana,

Elmer E. Hershey, Missoula, Montana,

Pope and Smith, Missoula, Montana,

John B. Tansil, U. S. Dist. Attorney, Butte,

Montana.

[Endorsed] : Adopted by the Court and Filed

Nov. 6, 1937. [221]

Thereafter, on November 8, 1937, the United

States of America, et al., filed herein their Objec-

tions and Exceptions to the Findings and Conclu-

sions of the Court, in the words and figures fol-

lowing, to-wit: [222]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

OBJECTIONS AND EXCEPTIONS TO FIND-
INGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW OF PLAINTIFF, AGNES McINTIRE
AND THE DEFENDANTS ALEX PABLO
AND A. M. STERLING ADOPTED BY THE
COURT.

Comes Now the United States of America, Henry

Gerharz, Project Engineer of the Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project, incorrectly designated in the

J^itle of the amended bill of complaint as Project

Manager of the Flathead Reclamation Project, and
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nineteen defendants specifically desi^ated by name

in the answer filed by tliem to the amended bill of

complaint, all members of the Flathead tribe of

Indians and wards of the United States of Amer-

ica, defendants herein, by and through the United

States District Attorney for the District of Mon-

tana and the District Counsel of the United States

Indian Irrigation Service, Department of the Inter-

ior, and files and enters the following objections and

exceptions to the findings of fact and conclusions

of law submitted by the plaintiff and by the defend-

ants Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, and adopted

by the above entitled Court on the sixth day of

November, 1937. [223]

(1) Defendants object and except to each and

every adopted finding of fact and conclusion of law

for the reasons heretofore stated in defendant's

objections and exceptions to the findings of fact and

conclusions of law proposed by plaintiff Agnes Mc-

Intire and the defendants Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling on file in said action.

Respectfully submitted,

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. 1. 1. S.,

Department of the Interior.



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 223

Copies to

:

E. E. Hersliey, Missoiila, Mont.

Attorney for Plaintiff,

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Mont.

Attorneys for Defendant, Flathead Irriga-

tion District

;

John P. Swee, Ronan, Mont.,

Attorney for defendants, Alex Pablo and A.

M. Sterling.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 8, 1937. [224]

Thereafter, on November 17, 1937, the Decree of

the Court was duly signed, filed and entered herein,

in the words and figures following, to-wit: [225]
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In the District Court of the United States for the

District of Montana, Missoula Division.

Equity No. 1496.

AGNES McINTIRE,
Plaintife,

vs.

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
HAROLD L. ICKES, Secretary of Interior,

HENRY GERHARZ, Project Manager of

Flathead Reclamation Project, ALEX PABLO,
A. M. STERLING, LOU GOODALE BIGE-
LOW KROUT, ALPHONSE CLAIRMONT,
FLATHEAD IRRIGATION DISTRICT, a

corporation, ALICE CLAIRMONT, HENRY
CLAIRMONT, GRACE CLAIRMONT, B. D.

LIEBEL, PETER OLIVER DUPUIS, MARY
PABLO, CHAS. FERGUSON, FRED &
EMIL KLOSSNER, EMANUEL HUBER,
JOSEPH A. PAQUETTE, FRED C.

GUENZLER, ANNIE RAITOR, CLARENCE
BILILE, ALEX SLOAN, JACOB M.

REMIERS, Administrator of the estate of R.

W. Jamison, deceased, GEORGE SLOANE,
HATTIE ROSE SLOAN HASTINGS,
HELGA VESSEY, E. D. HENDRICKS, LIL-

LIAN CLAIRMONT THOMAS, EUGENE
CLAIRMONT, EDWIN DUPUIS, GER-
TRUDE E. STIMSON, W. B. DEMMK^K,
ROSE ASHLEY, HENRY ASHLEY and W.
A. DUPUIS,

Defendants.
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DECREE.

This cause came on to be heard at this term, and

testimony was taken, and was argued by counsel,

and an opinion was given ; and thereupon, upon the

consideration thereto, it was ordered, adjudged and

decreed as follows, viz.:

That plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, and the defend-

ants A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo, are entitled to

the full extent of their necessities, to sufficient

waters to irrigate their said lands, which in no event

will exceed one inch per acre, of the waters of Mud
Creek, a natural stream of flowing water in Lake

County, Montana, for use upon the West half of

the Northeast Quarter, and the East half of the

Northeast Quarter of Section Fourteen, Township

Twenty-one North, Range Twenty West, Montana

[226] Meridian, containing loO acres, and the South

half of the Northwest Quarter of Section Fourteen

in Township Twenty One North of Range Twenty

West, Montana Meridian, containing 80 acres and

the North half of the Northwest Quarter of Section

Fourteen in Township Twenty-one North of Range
Twenty West, Montana Meridian, containing 80

acres, without interference or molestation on the

part of defendants, and the Project Engineer of the

Flathead Indian Irrigation Project, or the Project

Manager of the Flathead Reclamation Project,

Henry Gerharz, and those acting with him, his

agents and attorneys, in charge of the construction,

operation, management and control of said Irriga-

tion Project, and that they be enjoined and re-
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strained from interfering with the rights of the

plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, and defendants A. M.

Sterling and Alex Pablo, as aforesaid, and from

damming up, or maintaining any dam on Mud
Creek, whereby said waters will be diverted or

turned from the main channel of Mud Creek in any

way so that this plaintiff Agnes Mclntire and the

defendants A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo would be

deprived of the waters herein described, the use of

which water, is the private property of said plain-

tiff Agnes Mclntire and defendants A. M. Sterling

and AJex Pablo, and appurtenant to their lands.

Opinion and findings incorporated herein.

Dated this 17th day of November, 1937.

CHARLES N. PRAY,
Judge.

Copies to

Kemieth R. L. Simmons, Billings, Montana-

E. E. Hershey, Missoula, Mont.;

Pope & Smith, Missoula, Mont.

;

John P. Swee, Ronan, Montana;

John B. Tansil, United States Attorney, Butte,

Montana.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 17, 1937. [227]



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 227

Thereafter, on November 30, 1937, the Statement

of Evidence, which was lodged herein on November

18, 1937, was approved by the Court and filed herein,

in the words and figures following, to-wit : [228]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PROPOSED STATEMENT OF EVIDENCE OF
DEFENDANTS UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA HENRY GERHARZ PROJECT
ENGINEER AND 19 MEMBERS OF THE
FLATHEAD TRIBE OF INDIANS.

Be it Remembered : That the above entitled cause

came regularly on for trial at Missoula, Montana,

at ten o'clock a. m. on Monday the 23rd day of

November, 1936, l^efore the Honoral)le Charles N.

Pray, Judge of the District Court of tlie United

States for the District of Montana, sitting without

a jury.

Plaintiff was represented at the trial of said

cause by Elmer E. Hershey, Esquire, Attorney

at law, Missoula, Montana. The United States of

America, defendant, and all other defendants except

Alex Pablo, A. M. Sterling and Flathead Irrigation

District, a corporation, were represented by John

B. Tansil, United States District Attorney for Mon-
tana, Roy F. Allen, Assistant United States Dis-

trict Attorney for Montana, and Kenneth R. L.

Simmons, District Counsel, Department of the In-

terior, U. S. I. I. S. Defendants Alex Pablo and
A. M. Sterling were represented by John P. Swee,

Esquire, attorney at law of Rouan, Montana. De-

fendant Flathead Irrigation District, a corporation,
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was represented by the law firm of Pope and Smith,

Missoula, Montana, solicitors for said District. [229]

Thereupon the following proceedings were had

and taken and the following evidence and none

other was introduced.

The Court: Gentlemen, we have one case set for

today, I believe there are some motions pending, to

be overruled and denied, and answers filed; are

you ready for that step? We will proceed with the

case on the calendar. Those motions may be over-

ruled and denied, and you are ready to file your

answers now, I understand.

(And thereupon answers were handed to the

clerk and filed.)

The Court: Have you received copies of these

answers ?

Mr. Hershey: They were just handed me about

a minute ago.

The Court: I suppose you know about the line

of defense?

Mr. Hershey: Yes; and we will file written re-

plies to them a little later on. For the present, dur-

ing the trial, if it may be considered that all the

affirmative defenses are deemed denied, except as

set forth in the plaintiff's complaint?

The Court: Yes; I think the equity rule will

cover that anyhow; they will be deemed denied,

under the rule, anyhow. They will be filed, and

there may be some new matters you will wish to

specifically answer. You may give a brief outline

of what you propose to do, of what your proof is

and what you do, under the pleadings; just a brief

statement.
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Opening statement on behalf of plaintiff was then

made by Mr. Hershey.

Mr. Hershey: I desire, before I start in on that

proposition to call your Honor's attention to certain

sections of the Codes of Montana as to water rights.

I desire to call your Honor's attention to Section

7105, rights settled in one action, the Codes of 1935.

I also desire to call your attention to Section 7099

of the Codes, the right of the United States to make

appropriation of water in this state; and I also

desire to call your Honor's attention to 7107, how
water is measured in this state, cubic foot of water.

[230]

Mr. Simmons: May we make our opening state-

ment ?

The Court : Yes you may make a brief statement,

Mr. Simmons.

Opening statement was then made by Mr. Sim-

mons.

Mr. Hershey: In view of the statement possibly

I had better start at the beginning and introduce

the pleadings. I have here a copy of the treaty.

Mr. Pope : If your Honor please.

The Court: Yes, and there are others here.

Whom do 3^ou represent?

Mr, Pope: Mr. Smith and I represent the Flat-

head Irrigation District.

Opening statement was then made by Mr. Pope.

Mr. Swee: I appear for Alex Pablo, son of old

Michel Pablo, and A. M. Sterling. Mr. Sterling

is the purchaser of the Agatha Pablo allotment

w^hich is the allotment of Michel Pablo's wife, both

of them being now dead.
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Opening statement was then made by Mr. Swee.

The Court: Anything further? If not we will

proceed.

And thereupon the following evidence was offered

by the plaintiff in behalf of her case in chief.

Mr. Hershey: In view of what has been said I

think I had better start with the treaty itself.

The Court : Very well.

Mr. Hershey: This treaty was made on July 16,

1855, and it describes a large area of land.

The Court: That is the Stevens Treaty?

Mr. Hershey: This is known as the Stevens

Treaty.

The Court: Yes.

Mr. Hershey: And it describes a large area of

land on which the Indians were then living. And
then Article 2 provides that "There is however

reserved from the lands above described for the use

and benefit of said confederated tribes, and as a

general Indian Reservation on which may be placed

other confederated tribes and bands of Indians

under the common designation The Flathead Nation,

with Victor head chief of the Flathead Indians

* * * the tract of land described within the follow-

ing boundaries, to-wit:"—I will skip that—"All of

which tracts will be set apart and as far as neces-

sary surveyed * * * for the benefit of said con-

federated tribes, as an Indian Reservation.'' Now
there is more to that :

'

' No white man shall go on the

Reservation without their consent to enter thereon,"

and various exclusive rights as to hunting and fish-

ing and so on, reserved to the Indians. I have a
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copy taken from one of the two original copies of

the treaty. The chief of the Reservation has one of

those copies and this is taken directly from that.

I have compared it also with the pnblished accounts

of it and it is correct, word for word, as it was writ-

ten. I am merely offering this simply to save l)ring-

ing up the treaty itself.

The Couii:: Of course if counsel has seen that

copy it can go in and be among the files of the case,

if you are satisfied with its accuracy.

Mr. Pope: We have never seen it.

Mr. Hershey: I will state that I compared that

myself, with an employe, and it is as nearly perfect

as I could make it. It was written in longhand,

one of the originals—that was claimed to be one of

the originals—that was signed by Stevens at that

time.

Mr. Hershey: Then on the 25th day of January,

1918, a patent was issued to the allotment of Michel

Pablo, to Agatha Pablo, for the Wi/s NEi/4 of Sec-

tion 14, Township 21 N. R. 20 W. We offer that.

Mr. Simmons: You are not offering the treaty'?

Mr. Hershey : Well, all right.

The Court: Well he referred to the treaty."

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, offered

in evidence certain exhibits in behalf of plaintiff.



232 U. S. of America, et al. vs.

PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT ONE.

Admitted

(Certified by the clerk and recorder of Lake

County, Montana, on November 20, 1936, as a true,

full and correct copy of said instrument filed in his

office for record on April 19, 1930, at 11:39 o'clock

a. m., and recorded in Book "C" of Deeds at page

304, records of Lake County.)

Transcribed from Missoula County Records, Deed

Book 90, page 566.

90-566 Compared Compared

[231]

751391 -36247-

50837-17. I. O. 4-1061

1148

The United States of America to all to whom these

presents shall come. Greeting

:

Whereas, an Order of the Secretary of the In-

terior has been deposited in the General Land
Office, directing that a fee simple patent issue to

the claimant Agatha Pablo, purchaser of land in-

cluded in the allotment of Michel Pablo, and

described as the West half of the northeast quarter

of Section fourteen in Township twenty-one North

of Range twenty west of the Montana Meridian,

Montana, containing eighty acres.

Now Know Ye, that the United States of America,

in consideration of the premises, has given and

granted, and by these presents does give and grant,

unto the said claimant and to the heirs of the said

claimant the lands above described: To have
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and to hold the same together with all the

rights, privileges, immunities, and appurtenances, of

Avhatsoever nature, thereunto belonging, unto the

said claimant and to the heirs and assigns of the

said claimant forever; and there is reserved from

the lands hereby granted, a right of way thereon for

ditches or canals constructed by the authority of

the United States. The lands hereby conveyed are

subject to a lien, prior and superior to all other

liens, for the amomit costs and charges due to the

United States for and on account of construction of

the irrigation system or acquisition of water rights

by which said lands have been or are to be reclaimed,

as provided and prescribed by the Act of Congress

of May 18, 1916, (39 Stat., 123), and the lien so

created is hereby expressly reserved.

In Testimony Whereof, I, Woodrow Wilson,

President of the United States of America, have

caused these letters to be made Patent, and the Seal

of the General Land Office to be hereunto affixed.

[232]

Given under my hand, at the City of Washing-

ton, the twenty-fifth day of January in the year

of our Lord one thousand nine hmidred and eighteen

and of the Independence of the United States the

one hundred and forty-second.

By the President:

[Seal] WOODROW WILSON
By M. P. LeROY,

Secretary

L. Q. C. LAMAR,
Recorder of the General Land Office
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Recorded: Patent Number 615136. Entered on

Tract Book 11 A P 181 R. 2-6-18.

Filed for Record on the 19th day of April, 1920

at 11:39 o'clock a. ni. W. J. Babington, County

Clerk, by R. J. Cyr, Deputy.

PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT TWO
Admitted

(Certified by clerk and recorder Lake County,

Montana, as a true, full and correct copy of said

patent, filed for record April 19, 1920, at 11:38

o'clock a. m., recorded in Book "C^" of Deeds, page

303, records of Lake County, Montana.)

Transcribed from Missoula C^ounty Records, Deed

Book 90, page 565.

90-565 Compared Compared

648499 -36246-

83815-16 I. O. 4-1061

1429

The United States of America to all to whom these

presents shall come. Greeting

:

Whereas, an Order of the Secretary of the In-

terior has been deposited in the General Land Office,

directing that a fee simple patent issue to the claim-

ant Agatha Pablo, jDurchaser of land included in the

allotment of Lizette Barnaby, and described as the

East half of the northeast quarter of Section four-

teen in ToA\mship twenty-one North of Range twenty

west of the Montana Meridian, Montana, containing

eighty acres;
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Now Know Ye, That the United States of Amer-

ica, in consideration of the premises, has given and

granted, and by these presents does give and grant,

unto the said claimant and to the heirs of [233] the

said claimant the land above described ; to have and

to hold the same, together with all the rights, privi-

leges, immunities, and appurtenances, of whatsoever

nature, thereimto belonging, unto the said claimant

and to the heirs and assigns of the said claimant for-

ever; and there is reserved from the lands hereby

granted, a right of way thereon for ditches or

canals constructed by the authority of the United

States.

In Testimony Whereof, I, Woodrow Wilson,

President of the United States of America, have

caused these letters to be made Patent, and the seal

of the General Land Office to be hereunto affixed.

Given under my hand at the City of Washington,

the fifth day of October in the year of our Lord one

thousand nine hundred sixteen and of the Inde-

pendence of the United States the one hundred and

forty-first.

By the President:

WOODROW WILSON
By M. P. LEROY,

Secretary

L. Q. C. Lamar, Recorder of the General Land

Office. Recorded Patent Number 548935. Entered

on Tract Book mms. Filed for Record on the 19th

day of April, 1920, at 11:38 o'clock a. m. W. J.

Babington, County Clerk. By R. J. Cyr, Deputy.
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PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT THREE
Admitted

DEED ON ORDER OF SALE

This Indenture made the 25th day of September

in the year of our Lord, one thousand nine hundred

and twenty-four (1924), between W. R. Kelly,

Sheriff of the County of Lake, State of Montana,

the party of the first part, and J. L. Mclntire, the

party of the second part, witnesseth

:

Whereas, in and by a certain judgment or de-

cree made and entered by the District Court in and

for Lake County, State of Montana, on the 25th day

of July A. D. 1923, in a certain action [234] then

pending in said court, wherein J. L. Mclntire was

plaintiff and Agatha Pablo was defendants and of

which said judgment or decree a certified copy with

an order of sale from said court was delivered to

said party of the first part, as such Sheriff, for exe-

cution, it was among other things ordered, adjudged

and decreed that all and singular the mortgaged

premises described in the complaint in said action,

specifically described in said judgment or decree,

should be sold at public auction hy the Sheriff of

the said County of Lake, in the manner required by

law and according to the course and practice of

said court; that any of the parties to said action

might become the purchaser at such sale, and that

such Sheriff should execute the usual certificate and

deed to the purchaser or purchasers, as required by

law-
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And Whereas, the said Sheriff did at the hour of

2 o'clock p. m. on the 24th day of September, A. D.

1923, after due public notice had been given as re-

quired by the laws of this State and the course and

practice of said Court, duly sell at public auction in

the said county of Lake agreeably to said judgment

or decree and the provisions of law, the premises in

the said decree or judgment mentioned, at which

sale the premises in said judgment or decree, and

hereafter described, were fairly struck off to the

said J. L. Mclntire, the said party hereto of the

second part, for the sum of Thirty-eight hundred

ninety-eight 23/100 Dollars, J. L. Mclntire being

the highest bidder and that being the highest sum

bid for the same;

And Whereas, the said el. L. Mclntire thereupon

paid to the said Sheriff the sum of money so bid by

him

;

And Whereas, the said Sheriff thereupon made

and issued the usual certificate in duplicate of the

said sale in due form of law and delivered one

thereof to the said purchaser, J. L. Mclntire, and

caused the other to be filed in the office of the

County Recorder of said County of Lake; [235]

And Whereas, more than twelve months have

elapsed since the date of said sale, and no redemp-

tion has been made of the premises so sold as afore-

said by or on behalf of the said judgment debtor,

the said Agatha Pablo, Great Western Land Co..

Bocui State Bank, and Louise J. Smith, or by or on

behalf of any other person.

Now this Lidenture Witnesseth, that the said

party of the first part, the said Sheriff, in order to
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carry into effect the sale so made by him as afore

said in pursuance of said judgment or decree and ini

conformity to the statute in such cases made and

provided, and also in consideration of the premises

and of the simi of Thirty-eight hundred ninety-eight

23/100 Dollars so bid and paid to him by the said

purchaser J. L. Mclntire, the said W. R. Kelly,

Sheriff, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged,

has granted, bargained, sold and conveyed, and by

these presents does grant, bargain, sell and convey

unto the said party of the second part and to his

heirs and assigns forever, all that certain lot, piece

or parcel of said land, situate, lying and being in

the said County of Lake, State of Montana, and

bounded and particularly described as follows, to-

wit:

The East half of the Northeast quarter (Ey2

NEI4) and the West half of the Northeast

quarter (Wl^NEVi) Section Fourteen (14) in

Township Twenty-one (21) North of Range

Twenty (20) West of the Montana Meridian,

Montana, containing 160 acres more or less.

Together with all and singular the hereditaments

and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in any-

mse appertaining.

To have and to hold the said premises, witli tlie

appurtenances, unto the said party of the second

part, his heirs and assigns, forever, as fully and

absolutely as the said Sheriff can, may or ouglit to,

by virtue of the said writ and of the statute in

such case made and provided, grant, bargain, sell,

convey and confirm the same. [236]
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In Witness Whereof, the said Sheriff, the said

party of the first part, has hereunto set his hand

and seal the day and year first above written.

[Seal] W. R. KELLY,
Sheriff of the County of Lake, State of Montana.

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the presence of

($4.00 Internal Revenue Stamps attached and can-

celed)

(Acknowledged September 25, 1924, before Stella

M. Upham, Notary Public)

(Received for record September 26, 1924, at 9:55

o'clock a. m., and recorded in Volume 2, Deed

Records of Lake County, Montana, page 249)

PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT FOUR
Admitted

(Plaintiff's Exhibit 4 is a warranty deed from J.

L. Mclntire to the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire to

the property described in plaintiff's Exhibit 3).

JOHN ASHLEY
was called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiff

and having been first duly sworn upon direct exami-

nation testified as follows:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

I live at Pablo, Montana on the Flathead Indian

Reservation. I have lived there all my life. I am 77
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(Testimony of John Ashley.)

years old. I am an Indian allottee. Knew Michel

Pablo when he lived on his allotment. Pablo had his

lands fenced. He had cattle on his lands and farmed

them to some extent. He raised wheat and oats and

used water for the irrigation of the same from Mnd
Creek, which he carried through a ditch. This ditch

was over a mile long, three feet wide at tlie bottom

and about two feet deep. It was about fifteen feet

deep as it went through a cut of about 200 yards.

About 150 yards of the ditch was made out of logs.

The land had to be dammed.

The Lizette Barnaby allotment was owned by

Michel Pablo when the ditch was built. Pablo just

used this allotment for pasture. [237] He had water

on the allotment. This ditch was dug prior to the

opening of the Flathead Indian Reservation. Michel

Pablo used this ditch on his land, and on Alex

Pablo and on Joe Pablo's lands. When water was

turned in the ditch it filled it.

I worked on the ditch up at the head and changed

it for about 300 yards at the request of Michel

Pablo. The ditch was placed so that you could use

water on the Lizette Barnaby and the Michel Pablo

land. After the ditch was changed Pablo was rais-

ing hay and oats and once in a while w^heat. The

oats was as higli as six feet. Pablo had from six

to nine thousand cattle upon this land which he was

raising feed for while he was living. He also had
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(Testimony of John Ashley.)

five or six hundred head of buffalo there. This con-

dition existed before and after I changed the ditch.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I do not know the year Michel Pablo died. After

the ditch went dry, at Pablo's request I dug it over.

This was before the reservation was opened. I do

not know the year the I'eservation was opened. The

grade of the ditch was about a quarter of an inch

to a rod. Three 80 acre tracts were irrigated of the

Michel Pablo lands through this ditch. Pretty near

all of the land on these three eighties was irrigated.

These eighties were Alex Pablo's, Agatha Pablo's

(Michel Pablo's wife) and Joe's, part of the old

man's right alongside of the fence. The Lizette

Barnaby tract was used for pasture. The entire

eighty was used as pasture, the brush and every-

thing. No crop was grown on this land only a

small garden. It took old man Frank Busquet, who

is now dead, and uie, about a month and a half to

build this ditch.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

The garden on the Barnaby land w^as quite a

large garden. He had a large force there to feed

and was raising vegetables to supply his own needs.

[238]
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ELMER E. HERSHEY
was called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiff and

having been first duly sworn upon

Direct Examination

testified as follows:

I will state that I was admitted to practice in this

state June 2, 1891, and with then Lieutenant Mc-

Alexander—afterwards Brigadier General McAlex-

ander—the "Rock of the Marne," we entered a

partnership, and we filed what is known as the

Williams Addition to Demersville; and the boats

were running up there and landing on Williams'

land, and I went up to settle the troubles we were

having; and on June 20, 189L—evidently I had

returned—I made a charge for the trip; if you

gentlemen want to see it here it is down at the bottom.

And I will state that I passed by this place and there

was water coming through there in quite a large

quantity. My recollection is now that the road was

fenced up on both sides ; and strimg along the ditch,

then, on the east side and west side both, just as it

is today, at the north end of the Barnaby land and

the Michel Pablo land ; there was quite a large head

of cattle there strung along the ditch clear out of

sight to the east in the brush and trees ; and quite

a quantity of water was coming down at that time.

The ditch was the same place where it is now, and

I have seen it many times since.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I was making this trip on the stage. I did not

get out of the stage and go along the ditch to exam-
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(Testiniony of Jean Mclntire.)

ine it. I do not know how long the ditch was. The

stage crossed it. It was a large ditch coming down

there full of water. That was in 1891.

JEAN McINTIRE

then was called as a witness on behalf of the plain-

tiff and having been first duly sworn testified as

follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

Plaintifi^ is my mother. I am acquainted wdth the

two eighties, the 160 acres which she now owns, in

controversy here. I have known that land since

1907 when I was 14 years of age. [239] At that

time I went down to that land with my father who

had been asked to advance some money on this land

by a man named Hitchcock who desired to purchase

it. We saw Mr. Pablo to find out whether or not

he wanted to sell the land. There was an irrigation

ditch on the land. It was a show place on the reser-

vation. There w^as a wonderful crop on the land of

alsike and timothy. The crops were so high that

I could not see the buckboard of the wagon.

The majority of this land will not raise crops

without irrigation. Ordinary crops, such as hay

and grain, oats or barley, or anything of that nature

cannot be raised on this land without irrigation. It

has a gravelly sub-soil.

After my father acquired this tract of land we
saw Mr. Moody, the project engineer of the Flat-
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(Testimony of Jean Mclntire.)

head Irrigation Project and he advised my father

in my presence that we had no right to irrigate the

land. He said the only right the Government ack-

nowledged was water for stock and domestic pur-

poses only and that we could not irrigate the land

without the Grovernment's permission ; it was against

the law and we would be subject to prosecution,

if we irrigated the land. This occurred as soon as

my father got the Sheriff's deed in 1924.

We have used water on the land and irrigated it

to some extent every year. There is water coming

down the ditch on the east eighty and we have also

used some in the west 80. The east 80 was the

Barnaby land and the west 80 the Michel Pablo

land. There has been Avater there ever since 1907.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I don't know the nimiber of acres irrigated in

1907 when I went on the two eighties in question

Avith my father. I think the crops raised at that

time were alsike and timothy. I don't know how
much water was used. About 1500 head of cattle

were getting their water from the ditch. When my
mother acquired this land Mr. Moody told us we
could not irrigate. Since we have had the place we
haA^e irrigated the meadow and turned out [240]

some Avater. About half of the Lizette Barnal)y

place, approximately 40 acres, that is the E^/o of

the NE14 lias had Avater from the ditch since 1924.

The irrigation has only been for grazing purposes
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(Testimony of Jean Mclntire.)

for the meadow on those 40 acres. No crops have

been raised upon the east eighty whatsoever. On
the west eighty, the old Michel Pablo allotment, I

would say that we have used water on possibly 20

acres. On this acreage we raised some alsike and

timothy. We have a good garden there and some

alfalfa.

The ditch is comparatively level. In some places

it is filled with silt and is only eighteen inches to

two feet wide; in other places it is probably four

feet wide. The length of the ditch is ap^Droximately

a mile. The ditch has been cleaned out on several

occasions. We have never attempted to limit the

amount of water diverted to a thousand gallons a

day, which the Project Engineer told us we were

entitled to divert.

BERT LISH

was called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiff

and having been first duly sworn upon direct exam-

ination testified as follows:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

I am sixty four years old. I have been irrigating

lands ever since I was eleven years old. I started

irrigating in the Gallatin Valley and I have irri-

gated lands in the Blackfoot and pretty much in the

Bitter Root and on the Flathead Indian Reserva-



246 TJ. S. of America, et al. vs.

(Testimony of Bert Lish.)

tion. I live on a farm on the Flathead now near

Post Creek. It is about 12 to 14 miles south of the

lands in controversy. I am familiar with the Michel

Pablo and Barnaby lands and have been out on both

of those places. To properly irrigate those lands

you would have to have quite a head of water, two

inches to the acre, for the reason that there is just

a little skim of good land on the top and the rest is

mostly gravel and rocks. There is a gravel pit up

there in one place, about twelve feet deep and it is

rocks from the top to the bottom. [241]

Cross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

By two inches to the acre I mean as near as I

can get it around two second feet. I think I mean

two second feet to the acre, eighty miner's inches.

You want all the water you can get. I don't know

what a miner's inch of water to the acre is. I have

seen water all over this State measured and helped

to measure it and I know that a certain sized weir

—will carry so much. An acre foot of water isn't

hardly anything. I would say that the duty of water

on the Mclntire land is two inches of water at the

point of delivery on the land. I don't mean con-

tinuous flow during the entire year, but just the

irrigation season. The irrigation season would be

from about the 15th of April to about the 15th of

October. The various times I have examined this

land I made no examination to determine the num-

ber of acres being irrigated on either of these tracts.
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(Testimony of Bert Lisli.)

I only observed the lands as I was going- up and

down the road at the time they were building the

highway.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

In the last two or three weeks I have been pres-

ent when a demonstration was being made in meas-

uring water. I have assisted in the placing of the

weir and at that time there was measured out accu-

rately by a weir 40 inches of water into a ditch.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
a mtness on behalf of the plaintiff, was recalled

and testified as follows

:

I will state that taking the rules of the Agricul-

tural College at Bozeman—I haven't got the rules

here but I can produce them—I built a weir, rect-

angular weir, and it was a two foot weir, and I put

over that two foot weir the actual amomit of water

for 40 inches and let it flow dowai a ditch that this

witness and others had been using for irrigation

purposes, just even 40 inches, so they could see what

40 inches was. And that is what I am trying to have

this witness answer, with his experience as an irri-

gator. He has seen, actually seen 40 inches of water

measured out in the ditch. [242]
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(Testimony of Bert Lish.)

BERT LISH

a witness on behalf of the plaintiff was again re-

called and testified as follows:

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

I recall the incident related by Mr. Hershey and

I observed the quantity of water flowing in the

ditch. From my experience in using water in the

last fifty odd years and from my observation of

the quantity of water in this ditch on this place I

will state from my observation as an irrigator and

from what I saw demonstrated there would be re-

quired to irrigate an acre of land upon the land in

question, the Pablo land, two inches at least.

Recross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

Q. You mean two inches for the irrigation sea-

son or for the entire year?

Mr. Hershey: I object to that because that isn't

the way we measure water. Beneficial use is the

measure of the right and we have a right to suffi-

cient water to irrigate that land as long as we
need it.

The Court: Yes, I think so.

The two miner's inches will just run during the

irrigation or crop season.

Plaintiff rests.
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Thereupon the foUowing evidence was mtroduced

by the defendants upon their case in chief.

HENRY GERHARZ
was called as a witness on behalf of the defendants,

and being first duly sworn, testified as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I am the Project Engineer of the Flathead In-

dian Irrigation Project and have been such since

November 14, 1933. I have general charge of all the

Operation and Maintenance activities of the project

and I have charge of the construction work that is

carried on and among my duties is that of being

Water (Commissioner to settle any controversies

between the different users of both private and

project rights.

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT FIVE

Admitted

(Exhibit 5 is a certified copy of an official Gov-

ernment map, part of the Flathead Irrigation Proj-

ect records, of Private Canals and Irrigated lands

in part of ToA\mship 21 North, Range 20 West, Mon-
tana Principal Meridian, showing that portion of

the lands and waters in controversy as well as the

course of the ditches. Government and [243] private

in that area. This exhibit has been certified to the

Circuit Court of Appeals as a portion of the rec-

ord in this case.)
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(Testimony of Henry Gerharz.)

Defendants offered Exhibit 6, is a photostatic

copy of several official record maps showing the

grants of water made by the Secretary of the Inter-

ior to private claimants, as well as the lands to be

irrigated by said waters. We have the original maps

here in coui-t. The photostat enlargements were

made so that they could be readily seen. I have

compared the original maps with these enlargements

and they are identical. The entire course of Mud
Creek as is affected by the water rights in contro-

versy can be seen on this map. The green color is

put on to show lands to which the Secretary of the

Interior granted water rights. All of these trac-

ings from which this map was made are part of

the official files in the Grovernment Irrigation Office

at St. Ignatius, Montana. (The witness designated

by red pencil mark on this offered exhibit north,

south, west and east. The course and source of Mud
Creek was traced by the witness in red pencil. The

witness designated with a red pencil by the figure

''!" the Lizette Barnaby allotment and by the figure

"2" the Michel Pablo allotment.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT SIX

Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit 6, being a photostatic copy

of several official Government record maps as

described above, has been certified to the Circuit

Court of Appeals as a portion of the record in this

case).
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The Lizette Barnaby allotment is described as the

Ei/4 of the NE14 of Section 14 marked in red pen-

cil on the map as No. 1 and the Michel Pablo allot-

ment is described as the WV2 of the NEi/|. of Sec-

tion 14, marked in red pencil as No. 2 on the map.

Mud Creek flows through the SE corner of the

Lizette Barnaby allotment. Defendants' Exhibit 6

shows the course of the Pablo ditch running out of

[244] Mud Creek and running down to the Michel

Pablo and other tracts in that territory.

(The witness marked the course of the Pablo

Ditcli on defendants' exhibit 6 with a blue pencil.)

On defendants' exhibit 6 is shown the irrigable

acreage of the Michel Pablo and the Lizette

Barnaby tracts. The irrigable acreage as determined

by the Government classification committee on the

Michel Pablo tract is 60.8 acres; none on the

Lizette Barnaby tract.

Cross Examination

By Elmer E. Hershey:

Referring to defendants' Exhibit 6 the 60.8 acres

designated thereon as being irrigable acreage on the

Michel Pablo tract was placed on the map several

days ago. It was taken from our records of the ir-

rigable acreage for each 40 acre tract in the Flat-

head Irrigation District. These records were made

up many years ago. We have them here. They w^ere

made up since Michel Pablo settled on the land and

it was allotted to him. No irrigable acreage is shown

on the Lizette Barnaby land. I have been on the
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Lizette Barnaby land and I have never seen a ditch

across that land nor have I observed that the land

has been plowed. The classification records un-

doubtedly show that they were made since the lands

were allotted to these Indians and since patents

were issued to them.

EGBERT S. STGCKTGN

was called as a witness on behalf of the defendants

and having been first duly sworn testified as fol-

lows :

Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

During the year 1907 I was employed by the Gov-

ernment as Project Engineer in the construction of

the Huntley Project near Billings, Montana. Dur-

ing the summer of that year I was ordered by my
superior, H. N. Savage, Supervising Engineer, to

make a reconnaissance and preliminary survey on

the Flathead Indian Reservation to outline the pos-

sible development for irrigation, power, and other

conservation of natural resources of the Flathead

Reservation. In July, 1907 I shipped an outfit to

Ravalli, Montana, organized two field parties and

during the summer and up to the [245] middle of

September of that year we made plane table, level,

and stadia surveys covering the lands in the Mis-

sion and Jocko Valleys and some investigation on
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the Little Bitter Root and took all the information

in the field that we thought necessary in order to

prepare a report to show the best possible distribu-

tion of use that could be made of the natural re-

sources of the lands on the Reservation. I have a

copy here of the report that was submitted to the

Secretary of the Interior in Washington.

''Mr. Hersey: The same objection that I made

heretofore. At the present time they cannot have

any evidentiary value to the appropriation of water

made in 1891 or prior thereto, being too late a date,

the rights had attached to this land and the govern-

ment itself couldn't take away any of those rights

or destroy them in any way.

The Court : Well we will admit them under your

theory of the case.

Mr. Hershey: Now that objection I think ought

to go to all of these exhibits so I won't have to re-

peat it.

The Court: Yes, the other exhibits that are ad-

mitted; they may be admitted, and these two.

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT SEVEN
Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit Seven is a letter addressed

to Mr. Robert S. Stockton, Irrigation Manager,

United States Reclamation Service, Glendive, Mon-
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tana, dated December 28, 1908, and signed by

Charles P. Williams, an engineer in the United

States Reclamation Service. This exhibit has been

certified to the Circuit Court of Appeals as a part

of the original record in this case.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT EIGHT

Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit Eight is a report of Mr. R.

S. Stockton, dated November 12, 1907 to H. N.

Savage, Supervising Engineer, U. S. Reclamation

Service covering the subjects testified to by Mr.

Stockton. This exhibit has been certified to the Cir-

cuit Court of Appeals as a part of the original

record in this case.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT EIGHT (a)

Admitted

(Folded and placed in the back of defendants'

Exhibit 8, but not fastened thereto is a large blue-

print map which bears the title "Flathead Project,

Montana. Map of Lands and Surveys," dated No-

vember 12, 1907 with the names Robert S. Stock-

ton, Project Engineer and H. N. Savage, Supervis-

ing Engineer. This exhibit, the blueprint map re-
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ferred to, has been certified to the Circuit Court

of Appeals as a part of the original record in this

case.) [246]

In my investigations and work on the Flathead

Indian Reservation in 1907 I laid out the plans of

the Flathead Irrigation Project System in a gen-

eral way. I laid out a system of canals and laterals,

estimated the irrigable acreage that could probably

be obtained, made a rough estimate of costs for the

construction of the main canals of the irrigation

system proposed, but not of the distributing system

to the individual farmers. Our idea was that the

water in the various small streams and the water in

the Flathead River would be available for the irri-

gation of the land and for the development of

power ; that the water and the land was in the hands

of the Government and after my instructions from

Mr. Savage and after talks with Senator Dixon and

in considering the act opening the reservation our

purpose was to conserve in a permanent way the

very large natural resources of this region.

The Washington Office had decided to have the

Reclamation Service construct the project and the

Indian Service and Reclamation Service were co-

operating at that time.

I remember the water across the road at the

Pablo Ranch, but I have no personal knowledge of

this particular right. I did notice a large number
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of buffalo grazing there. I made a study of Mud
Creek and of the waters flowing thereon for use in

the project system. It was carefully surveyed and

we had a lateral system planned taking water out

of Mud Creek as w^ll as out of Mission Creek and

Post Creeks. The idea was to take up all the w^ater

available and provide as much storage as possible

so as to get the greatest possible useful develop-

ment of the lands of the Flathead Reservation.

I was back on the reservation in October, 1908

and I was advised by the engineers in charge that

my original plan of taking water out of these dif-

ferent little streams had been modified by running a

main feeder canal designated as the Pablo Feeder

Canal parallel to the Mission Mountains and pick-

ing up all of this water [247] into one main feeder

canal. The Pablo Feeder Canal is correctly desig-

nated on defendants' exhibit 6.

(The witness marked the course of the Pablo

Feeder Canal in red pencil on defendants' exhibit

6 along the dashed line on the map wdiich designates

said canal.)

The Reclamation Service subsequently turned

over the operation, management and construction

of the Flathead Irrigation Project to the United

States Indian Irrigation Service.

The work done by me as a Reclamation Service

engineer was in cooperation with the Indian Serv-

ice.

I
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Cross Examination

By Mr. Plershey:

The Pablo Feeder Canal designated on defend-

ants' Exhibit 6 was above the Pablo land. I had no

instructions not to interfere with private water

rights. My instructions were to find the best way

to use all of the water available on that project

without regard to any other rights that might have

existed.

GUY L. SPERRY
was called as a witness on behalf of the defend-

ants and having been first duly sworn testified as

follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I am an assistant engineer in the Indian Irriga-

tion Service. Have been such since 1924. Prior to

that time I was with the Reclamation Service from

1909 to 1917. I was surveying in 1909, junior engi-

neer in 1910, and was on the engineering force until

1917.

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT NINE

Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit 9 is a lithographed map of

the Flathead Irrigation Project, Montana, showing
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the source and course of Mud Creek, the Pablo

Feeder Canal, and the major portion of the Flat-

head Irrigation Project System. This exhibit has

been certified to the Circuit Court of Appeals as a

portion of the record in this case.) [248]

In 1910 I located the Pablo Feeder Canal on the

north end of the project, that is, the part of the

feeder canal that crossed Mud Creek and that lay in

the northeast of Pablo. The construction of the

canal was begun on the north end and worked back

south, in other words, work was begun at the lower

end of the feeder canal and continued upstream so

that we could use the lower end of it before the

entire canal was completed. In other words, the

branches of Crow Creek and Mud Creek and Post

Creek could be picked up as the canal crossed these

creeks.

(The witness designated the places on the map
crossed by Mud Creek with X's in pencil.)

The Pablo Feeder Canal was built for the pur-

pose of picking up all of the waters along the base

of the Mission Range. It runs pretty much parallel

to the Mission Range Mountains. The water is car-

ried north by the canal and may be used on the

Pablo Division and put in the Pablo Reservoir and

used from there to water lands lying in south and

west of the Pablo Reservoir in the Pablo Division

and in the Round Butte Division. There are ample

lands to use all of the water that can be picked up

and even then there is a shortage of water. All of
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the available water is used. Since 1913 all of the

available waters of Mud Creek have been used on

land lying under the Flathead Irrigation Project

system. All of the waters of Mud Creek are being

used up to this time, except that which we have to

let go by in order to supply certain private rights

that are recognized by the United States.

Defendants' Exhibit 5, which shows the Mc-

lntire lands involved in this case, is a print from

the original map made from survey by me in 1910.

It covers the Lizette Barnaby and the Michel Pablo

allotments now owned by the plaintiff, Agnes Mc-

lntire. This map shows that in 1910 there was no

irrigation done on the Lizette Barnaby unit. It also

shows that on the Michel Pablo unit in the north-

west quarter of the NE^/4 of Section 14, that is, the

north half of the [249] eighty there were 13 acres

irrigated poorly; in the SW/i of the NE14 there

were five acres poorly irrigated. By poorly irri-

gated I mean that it was just partially irrigated.

It was not irrigated sufficiently to produce a good

crop. It did have some evidence of irrigation. My
notes show that the timothy was poor. The data for

the preparation of this map and the drafting of the

same was secured by means of a transit and stadia

survey made in 1910 by myself and one F. E. White,

Rodman. The ditch was located by means of the

transit and the stadia reading distances and angles,

and tied in to a General Land Office corner, that is,

a Land Office corner. On the same dav that the sur-
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vey was made I also gauged the amount of water in i

the ditch. I found there w^as .95 of a second foot

flowing on that day. That w^as June 28, 1910. That

will be thirty-eight miner's inches in the State of I I

Montana. The ditch on that day was approximately

half full. It would have a capacity of a two second

foot ditch or 80 miner's inches.

In 1929 or 1930 I was on these lands, looking over

them, and classifying the lands and classifying the

irrigable areas. I never saw any evidence of irriga-

tion on the Lizette Barnaby tract. A part of the

Michel Pablo tract in the south forty near the north

edge of the south forty is sub-irrigated.

The soil on the Barnaby eighty is very gravelly

alo]ig the road. It lies along the main highway and

the State highway have a gravel pit there. It has a

shallow top soil, which is probably pretty fair soil.

There is quite a little sand in some places in the

eighty and quite a lot of gravel. The w^est eighty,

that is, the Michel Pablo eighty, is a better eighty

and is not so gravelly.

The duty of water would be the amount of water

that would be required per acre to raise a good crop.

The duty of water on the Lizette Barnaby land

w^ould take probably five or six acre feet per acre,

parts of it probably not so much. The Michel Pablo

land between two and three acre feet per acre, that

is, on the gravelly portion, other parts of it pos-

sibly a foot and a half. The sub- [250] irrigated

portions of the Michel Pablo allotment would not

require any water.
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Cross Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

The Pablo Feeder Canal carries water toward the

Pablo Reservoir to irrigated lands that never had

'any water on them before the canal was built or be-

fore the project was being built. In 1913 these

lands began to be irrigated, possibly before that.

Water was taken from Mud Creek through the

feeder canal for the irrigation of these new lands in

about 1913. Reducing the acre feet required to irri-

gate the Barnaby tract to second feet would be three

: second feet. The Michel Pablo land would require

about half that nmch.

In Jime, 1910 Michel Pablo was occupying the

land at the time I made the survey. The ditch was

in fair repair to such an extent that it was carry-

ing a foot of water and was, however, full on that

day.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Pope:

The Pablo Feeder Canal is a very significant fac-

tor in the Flathead Irrigation Project system, inas-

much as any creeks or streams crossed by this canal

can be picked up and carried to a storage reservoir

and there stored and distributed from this reservoir

for thousands of acres of land that lie in the proj-

ect; or can either be stored there and run down the

distributary canals and put on the land within the

project has proposed to and is irrigating; and for



262 TJ. S. of America, et al. vs.

(Testimony of Guy L. Sperry.)

this reason it is a very signiticant factor; otherwise

these waters would go on in the streams and be lost

and could not be recovered. The loss of the w^aters

from Mud Creek would affect all the lands in the

Mission Valley Project, which includes something

over a hundred thousand acres of irrigable lands;

and the waters of Mud Creek can be picked up and

carried and stored in the Pa]3lo Reservoir, and this,

of course, obviates the necessity of running other

waters farther south. [251]

Recross Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

The water from the Pablo Reservoir can be used

to irrigate the Pablo and Barnaby Tracts. There is

a ditch at the northwest corner of the Michel Pablo

eighty,' the culvert across the road has been

destroyed and water could not be placed upon the

allotment imtil this is done. This work, however,

would require not to exceed 48 hours to put water

on tliis allotment and possibly not more than 24. No
water has ever been used from that source on these

lands. About sixty or sixty-one acres is irrigable

on the Michel Pablo allotment, that is, land con-

sidered as irrigable by our land classification. This

water which would be delivered through this ditch

and culvert is not private water.
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Redirect Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

These lands I spoke of, which were classified as

irrigable, were classified by Land Classification

Board appointed by the authority of the Commis-

sioner of Indian Affairs to make a snrvey and go

over the lands of the entire project, such as were

within the district, and classify these lands with

regard to whether they were irrigable or non-ir-

rigable, or whether they had lands in them that

could never be irrigated. This Board inspected the

Michel Pablo allotment. They found 60.77 acres of

irrigable lands there. No classification of the Lizette

Barnaby tract was made for the reason that the

land on this allotment was considered by the Board

as being quite gravelly and too gravelly and sandy

to irrigate, and in the second place, it is not in the

District. If the plaintiff desired to secure water

from the Flathead Irrigation Project System for

the irrigation of the irrigable portions of her lands

she could put in a request for water for this par-

ticular tract, allowing a short time to put the road

culvert across the road, and make what little ditch

would be necessary to put the water down on the

land. No demand has ever been made of me and to

my knowledge of any project officials for the waters

of the project system by the plaintiff for the irri-

gation of this land. [252]
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Recross Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

This land classification was made in the fall of

1929 and the spring of 19:]0. The land was patented
;

many years before that. You could get water on the I

Michel Pablo land from the Flathead Irrigation

Project System by making application for it and

paying for it. The east 80, that is, the Barnaby '

tract, is not in the irrigation district.

W. S. HANNA
was called as a witness on behalf of the defendants

and having been first duly sworn testified as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I am the Supervising Engineer of the United

States Indian Irrigation Service and have super-

vision over the Flathead Irrigation Project. I have

made repeated trips to the Flathead Irrigation

Project since 1914. In 1924 the project was turned

over from the control of the Reclamation Service

to the Indian Service. Since that date it has been

directly under the jurisdiction of my office. The

Pablo Feeder Canal was completed after 1914. The

bulk of the lands benefitted by the waters of Mud
Creek lie under the Flathead Irrigation District.

However, the waters of Mud Creek are a benefit to

the whole Mission Valley Division.
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DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT TEN
Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit 10 is a portion of the an-

nual costs statement and general irrigation data

statement that is prepared annually for su})mission

to Congress by the Chief Engineer's Office in Wash-

ington. It shows the cost of construction of the Flat-

head Irrigation Project to June 30, 1936. This ex-

hibit has been certified to the Circuit C'Ourt of Ap-

peals as a portion of the record in this case.)

The cost to June 30, 1936 of the Flathead Irriga-

tion Project as shown on the exhibit is $7,499,105.85.

This is arrived at by adding the column which shows

preliminary surveys and construction and another

cohmm which shows administration expense. [253]

Direct Examination

By Mr. Pope:

The Flathead Project was originally made in

three divisions, the Mission Vallc}^ Division, the

Jocko Division, and the Camas Division. What we

refer to as the Mission Valley Division includes the

greater portion of the Flathead Irrigation District

and all of the Mission Irrigation District. The

gi'eater portion of this division is composed of lands

which are in the Flathead Irrigation District, one

of the defendants in this case. There are in the
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neighborhood of 80,000 acres of irrigable land

within the Mission Valley Division and also within

the Flathead Irrigation Districts. The waters of

Mud Creek affect approximately 80,000 acres of

land within the Flathead Irrigation District.

HENRY GERHARZ,

a witness for the defendants was recalled and testi-

fied as follows:

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT ET.EYEN
Admitted

(This is a certified copy of the official file copy of

the instrument referred to, as appears in the rec-

ords of the Office of Indian Affairs, Washington,

D. C.)

Irrigation

23254-34

50537-18 Copy
WHF Jun 8 1934

Mr. Henry Gerharz,

Project Engineer.

Dear Mr. Gerharz:

Responding to your letter of May 8 referring to

the appointment of a Water Commissioner to super-

vise the distribution of water flowing within the
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boimdaries of the Flathead Reservation in Mon-

tana

—

The report of the Commission appointed for the

purpose of determining old water rights on the

Flathead Indian Reservation in Montana, which

was approved by the Department on November 25,

1921, included the following provision: [254]

"The Secretary of the Interior shall appoint

the engineer in charge of the Reclamation work

on the Flathead Indian Reservation to act as

Water Commissioner for the Flathead Indian

Reservation, and it shall be the duty of said

water commissioner to divide the water of the

natural stream or streams among the several

ditches taking water therefrom according to

the prior right of each. Said water commis-

sioner shall have authority to regulate the dis-

tribution of water among the various users

under any particular ditch."

Pursuant thereto, the then Project Engineer, Mr.

C. J. Moody, was specifically appointed under date

of August 10, 1922 by the Department to act as

Water Commissioner on this reservation.

As you state, the Commission itself was discon-

tinued on August 7, 1929, but this did not discon-

tinue the office of the Water Commissioner whose

duties are to administer the approved findings of

the Commission.

In view of the fact that the Water Commissioner

must effect the division of the waters of the reserva-
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tion between private parties and also between them

and the Govermnent irrigation project, it is felt

that the Project Engineer is in the best position to

perform these duties. Your request to be relieved of

the responsibilities in this connection is, therefore,

denied and .you are hereby specifically appointed as

Water Commissioner to do the things contemplated

by the Commission's report.

These private water right matters were involved

in the so-called "Moody Cases." The Circuit Court

of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reversed the de-

cree of the District Court and remanded the cases

with directions to dismiss them for want of neces-

sary parties, unless the plaintiffs, within a reason-

able time amended their complaint so as to bring in

such necessary parties. Subsequently, in mandamus
proceedings the Circuit Court granted our petition

for a writ of mandamus against the District Court

from proceedings inconsistent with the order of

the Circuit Court. Owing to the need to protect the

several private water users and the Flathead Proj-

ect in the use of water, it is necessary that some one

perform this work, and the Project [255] Engineer

is the logical person to perform these services.

In case of interference by the water users with

the distribution of the water, you mil present the

facts to District Counsel Simmons for his considera-

tion and action.

Sincerely yours,

(Sgd) WILLIAM ZIMMEEMAN, JR.

Assistant Commissioner.
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Approved: Jim 12 1934.

(Sgd) OSCAR L. CHAPMAN
Assistant Secretary.

Copy to Supervising Engineer Hanna.

Copy to District Counsel Sinmions.

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT TWELVE
Admitted

(Defendant's Exhibit Twelve is a photostat copy

of the original repayment contract between the

Flathead Irrigation District and the United States.

This exhibit has been certified to the Circuit Court

of Appeals as a portion of the record in this case.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT THIRTEEN
Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit Thirteen is a photostat copy

of the first supplemental contract between the Flat-

head Irrigation District and the United States. This

exhibit has been certified to the Circuit Court of

Appeals as a portion of the record in this case.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT FOURTEEN
Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit Fourteen is a photostat

copy of the second supplemental contract between

the Flathead Irrigation District and the United
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States. This exhibit has been certified to the Cir-

cuit Court of Appeals as a portion of the record

in this case.) [256]

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT FIFTEEN
Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit Fifteen is a photostat copy

of the third supplemental contract between the Flat-

head Irrigation District and the United States.

This exhibit has been certified to the Circuit Court

of Appeals as a portion of the record in this case.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT SIXTEEN
Admitted

(Defendants' Exhibit Sixteen is a certified copy

of the order of the District Court of the Fourth

Judicial District of the State of Montana in and for

the County of Lake in the matter of the formation

of the Flathead Irrigation District. In this order

there appears the following description of lands

included in the Flathead Irrigation District ; The

"W% of the NEi/4 of Section 14. The towmship and

range being the same as the Michel Pablo Tract

involved in this case, which shows eighty acres of

the lands involved here as being all included in the

Flathead Irrigation District and subject to the

terms of the Flathead Repayment Contract entered
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into between the District and the United States.

This exhibit has been certified to the Circuit Court-

of Appeals as a portion of the record in this case.)

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT SEVENTEEN
Admitted

(This is a certified copy of the orig-inal instrnment

on file in the Office of Indian Affairs, Washington,

D. C.)

Department of the Interior

United States Indian Service

Flathead Agency

Dixon, Montana.

December 10, 1919.

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs,

Washington, D. C.

Sir: [257]

The first findings on water rights on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation were submitted by a com-

mittee appointed by the Commissioner of Indian

Affairs, consisting of Fred C. Morgan, Superin-

tendent of Flathead Indian School, Foster Towle,

Assistant Engineer, U. S. Reclamation Service, and

Alphonse Clairmont, a member of the Flathead

Tribe. This committee made a report on the water

rights of the Jocko Drainage Basin which was sub-

mitted on January 15, 1914.
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On July 21, 1917, a committee composed of Fred

C. Morgan, Superintendent of the Flathead Indian

School, F. T. Crowe, Project Manager, U. S. Recla-

mation Service, and Alphonse Clairmont, a member

of the Flathead Tribe, made a report on the water

rights of Garden Creek.

Under date of September 17, 1918, Theodore

Sharp was appointed to succeed Fred C. Morgan

on this Committee and on March 26, 1919, the ap-

pointment of A. P. Smyth, Assistant Engineer,

U. S. Reclamation Service, to succeed Foster Towle

was approved by your office.

The following are the principles observed in

making the findings of the Committee last men-

tioned above, together with recommendation with re-

gard to the taking over of old ditches.

The Committee met on April 28, 1919, at St.

Ignatius, Montana, and organized by electing Theo-

dore Sharp as Chairman. All persons owning or

occupying land upon or tributary to these streams

were notified by published notices in local papers

and by posting notices in local postoffices that they

might present their claims, if any, in person or in

writing to the use of waters of the Flathead Indian

Reservation.

Examination of the streams, the works diverting

water therefrom and the irrigated lands were made
by the Conmiittee in person and an engineer em-

ployee of the U. S. Reclamation Sendee made a

map on a scale of 1000 feet to the inch, showing the
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course of said streams, the location of the ditch or

canal diverting water therefrom, and [258] the legal

snb-division of lands, which have been irrigated or

are susceptible of irrigation from canals already

constructed which maps are attached and made a

part hereof.

The Committee is required to determine the status

of all w^ater right claims conflicting with the United

States and to make recommendation as to whether

and to what extent the old ditches should be taken

into consideration, on the question of charges for

construction and operation and maintenance cost.

A previous report has been submitted by a Com-

mittee consisting of Fred (\ Morgan, Alphonse

Clairmont and Foster Towle for the lands in Jocko

Valley; and by a Committee consisting of Fred C.

Morgan, Alphonse Clairmont and F. T. Crowe for

lands tributary to Garden Creek.

The principles observed in making the findings of

the Committee were as follows: The State of Mon-
tana was admitted to the Union November 8, 1889,

whereas the Flathead Reservation was established

])y the Treaty with the Indians of July 16, 1855.

Water being essential to industrial prosperity a

reservation of Indian land carries with it an im-

plied reservation of sufficient water, to serve the ir-

rigable land within such reservation, of all natural

streams, springs, lakes or other collections of still

water within the boundaries of the said tract.

The waters of the Flathead Indian Reseiwation

are therefore inseparably appurtenant to the al-
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lotted lands and the unallotted irrigable lands of the

Reservation, and were, in substance, appropriated to

these lands when the Reservation was established,

and its control nnist vest in the United States

Government.

Section 9 of the Act of May 29, 1908, authorizes

the Secretary of the Interior to perform any and all

acts to make such rules and regulations as may be

necessary and proper for the purpose of carrying

into effect the provision for the irrigation of the

allotted lands and the unallotted irrigable lands to

be disposed of under the Act of April 23, 1904. [259]

A right to the use of water of the reservation

must be acquired by the beneficial application of

water under such rules and regulations as the Secre-

tary of the Interior may make.

In order that equity shall be done to all the vari-

ous interests involved it is recommended that water

rights be determined under the following regu-

lations :

Beneficial use prior to the appropriation by the

United States shall be the basis, the measure and

the limit of the right to the use of these waters at

all times irrespective of the carrying capacity of

the ditch and not exceeding for irrigation a limit

of two acre feet per acre per annum at the point

of diversion ; that the right to the use of water for

irrigation shall be inseparably appurtenant to the

land and no right for the use of water for irriga-

tion can be acquired independent of its use upon
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and attached to definite tracts of land and that,

water rights cannot be detached from the land, place

or purpose for which they were acquired ^vithout

the loss of priority.

The Secretary of the Interior shall appoint the

Engineer in charge of the Reclamation work on the

Flathead Indian Reservation to act as Water Com-

missioner for the Flathead Indian Reservation, and

it shall be the duty of said water commissioner to

divide the water of the natural stream or streams

among the several ditches taking water therefrom

according to the prior right of each. Said water

commissioner shall have authority to regulate the

distribution of water among the various users

under any particular ditch.

All persons using water under a decree of the

Secretary of the Interior are required to have suit-

able headgates at the point wherein the ditch taps

the stream and shall also, at some suitable place on

the ditch and as near the head thereof as practicable,

place and maintain a proper measuring box, weir,

or other appliance for the measurement of the water

flowing in said ditch. In case any person or persons

shall fail to place or maintain a proper measuring

appliance it shall be the duty of said water com-

missioner not to apportion or distribute any water

through said ditch. [260]

The Committee recommends that wherever prac-

ticable the United States refrain from destroying

private ditches ; that the allottee or his successor in
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interest be allowed to use his old ditches to irrigate

that portion of his allotment that is determined to

have a valid water right, but if the allottee elects

to exchange his water right for a water right in a

Government ditch he should be entitled to a paid-up

water right to the extent of one hundred per cent

(100%) of the cost of construction for that acreage

that is determined to have a valid water right ; but

that he should be required to pay operation and

maintenance charges on the total irrigable acreage

of his allotment. If it is determined that it is to

the best interest of the United States to destroy

these ditches then said individual or corporation

should be entitled to a paid-up water right to the

extent of one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost

of construction with no charges for operation and

maintenance for that portion of his allotment which

is determined to have a valid water right.

Michel Pablo

Allotment No. 1148

Wy2 NEi/4 Sec. 14, T. 21 N., R. 20 W.

The Committee, on June 3, 1919, made an exami-

nation in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lauds of Michel

Pablo, being allotment No. 1148, comprising the

Wi/s NE% Sec. 14, T. 21 N., R. 20 W., and testi-

mony was taken on November 19, 1913, and Juue 3,

1919.

From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1109,
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made by an engineer employee of the U. S. Recla-

mation Service, after a survey by transit and stadia,

it is determined that Michel Pablo in 1891 con-

structed a ditch diverting water from Mud Creek

at a point on the right bank in the NEI4 NE;i/4

NWi/4 Sec. 13, T. 21 N., R. 20 W., for the purpose

of conveying water upon portions of this allotment

;

that this ditch has not been used for irrigation for

the past ten years but has been [261] used continu-

ously for domestic and stock purposes; that said

allotment is determined to have a valid and sub-

sisting water right from Mud Creek to the extent

of 1,000 gallons per day for domestic and stock use

and that no other water right of any kind is ap-

purtenant to this allotment.

This report covers all streams in the Mission,

Little Bitter Root, Camas and Lower Jocko Valleys,

and includes the following streams and their tribu-

taries :

Sabine Creek.

Dry Creek near St. Ignatius.

Mission Creek.

Ashley Creek.

South Fork of Ashley or Dry Creek.

Poison Oak Creek.

Post Creek.

Marsh Creek.

Crow Creek.

Spring Creek near Ronan.

Mud Creek.

Ashley Creek near Bisson Creek.

Dubay Creek.
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Minesinger Creek.

Bisson Creek.

Meadow Creek.

Moss Creek.

Big Creek at Poison.

Dayton Creek.

Big Creek at Eudora.

Sullivan Creek.

Little Bitter Root River.

Dry Fork Creek.

Warm Springs Creek.

Markle Creek.

C<)ttonwood Creek.

SAveetwater Creek.

Michel Creek.

Camas Creek.

Revais Creek.

Selow Creek.

Jocko Creek.

Ashley Creek near Mud Creek.

Courville Creek.

The only water rights to the use of the water of

these streams are those hereinbefore delineated.

Filings are continually being made in Sanders,

Missoula and Flathead Counties claiming rights to

the use of the waters of the streams of the Flat-

head Reservation. These waters are determined by

the committee to be a tribal asset of the Indians

allotted on the Flathead Reservation and to be ap-

purtenant to the allotted [262] lands and the unal-

lotted irrigable lands as approved by the Secretary
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of the Interior and settlers on ceded lands are sub-

ordinate in right to the needs and uses of the In-

dian allotments and farm miits.

Very respectfully,

(Sgd) THEODORE SHARP,
Chairman, Supt. & S. D. A.

Flathead Agency

(Sgd) ALPHONSE CLAIRMONT
Representative elected by the

Indian Council and member
of the Flathead Tribe.

(Sgd) A. P. SMYTH
Assistant Engineer, U. S.

Reclamation Service.

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT EIGHTEEN
Admitted

(This is a certified copy from the files and records

of the Office of Indian Affairs, Washington, D. C.)

Department of the Interior

United States Indian Service

Flathead Agenc}^

Dixon, Montana.

December 10, 1919.

The Commissioner of Indian Affairs,

Washington, D. C.

Sir:

(The contents of this letter or report, down to

the description of the individual rights, are exactly
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the same as the contents of the report contained in

Defendants' Exhibit 17, immediately preceding this

page, and are not therefore again copied in full at

this point, but in lieu thereof reference is made to

line 1, page 30 of this statement of the evidence and

from there to and including line 17 on page 33 of

the record, for the exact contents of this part of

this exhibit 18.)

Alexander Sloane

Allotment No. 1186

NE14SW14, W% NW14SE14 & E14NW14
SWJ/4 Sec. 34, T. 21 N., E. 20 W. [263]

The Committee, on May 27, 1919, made an ex-

amination in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Alexander

Sloane, being Allotment No. 1186, comprising the

NE1/4SW14, W3/4 NW1/4SE14 and E1/4NW1/4

SW14 Sec. 34, T. 21 N., R. 20 W., and testimony

was taken on November 19, 1913.

From personal investigation on the gi'ound, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1122,

made by an engineer employee of the IT. S. Recla-

mation Service after a survey by transit and stadia,

it is determined that the predecessor in interest of

the allottee in 1901 constructed a ditch diverting

water from a branch of Mud Creek in Sec. 27, T. 21

N., R. 20 W., but that said ditch has not been used

for ten years and therefore is to be considered as
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abandoned; that said allotment is determined to

have no water right from any sonrce.

Office of Indian Affairs

Received Jul 27 1936—9090

Hattie Rose Sloane

Allotment No. 1182

NEI4NW14, Wi4NEi/iNWi/i & Ei4N^^/4

NW% Sec. 34, T. 21 X., R. 20 W.

The Committee, on May 27, 1919, made an ex-

amination in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Hattie

Rose Sloane, being Allotment No. 1182, comprising

the NE%NW14, W14NE14NWI4 & E1/4NW14

NW% Sec. 34, T. 21 N., R. 20 W., and testimony

was taken on November 19, 1913.

From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken, from facts shown on Plat F-1122,

made by engineer employee of the U. S. Reclama-

tion Service after a survey by transit and stadia, it

is determined that the predecessor in interest of the

allottee in 1901 constructed a ditch diverting water

from a branch of Mud Creek in Sec. 27, T. 21 N.,

R. 20 W., but that said ditch has not been used for

ten years and therefore is to be considered as

abandoned; that said allotment is determined to

have no water right from any source.

Alex Pablo

Allotment No. 1152

NVsNWi/i Sec. 14, T. 21 N., R. 20 W. [264]

The Committee, on Jime 3, 1919. made an ex-
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amination in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Alex

Pablo, being Allotment No. 1152, comprising the

Ni/sNWi/i Sec. 14, T. 21 N., R. 20 W.; and testi-

mony was taken on November 19, 1913, and June 3,

1919.

From personal mvestigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1109,

made by an engineer employee of the U. S. Recla-

mation Service after a survey by transit and stadia,

it is determined that Michel Pablo in 1891 con-

structed a ditch diverting water from Mud Creek

at a point on the right bank in the NEi^NEi^NW^^
Sec. 13, T. 21 N., R. 20 W., for the purpose of con-

veying water upon portions of this allotment; that

said ditch has been used continuously since said

date for domestic and stock purposes but has been

abandoned as regards irrigation for the past ten

years; that said allotment is determined to have a

valid and subsisting water right from Mud Creek

to the extent of 1,000 gallons per day; that no other

water right of any kind is appurtenant to this allot-

ment.

Victor Clairmont

Allotment No. 945.

NWy4NEi4 & NE14NW1/4 Sec. 18, 21, N.,

R. 19 W.

The Committee, on June 6, 1919, made an exami-

nation in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Victor
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i Clairmont, being Allotment No. 945, comprising the

i NW1/4NE1/4 & NEI4NW14 Sec. 18, T. 21 N., R. 19

W., and testimony was taken on November 18, 1913,

and Jmie 6, 1919.

j

From personal investigation on the groimd, testi-

mony taken and from facts showm on Plat F-1402,

I

Sheet 26, made by an engineer employee of the U. S.

' Reclamation Service, after a survey by transit and

stadia it is determined that Alphonse Clairmont,

the father of the allottee, in 1906 constructed a ditch

diverting water from Mud Creek at a point on the

left bank in NW14NW14 Sec. 5, T. 21 N., R. 19 W.,

for the purpose of conveying water upon [265] por-

tions of this allotment; that since said date there

have been irrigated 60 acres of said allotment ; that

said 60 acres hereinbefore described are deter-

mined to have a valid and subsisting water right

from Mud Creek to the extent of 2 acre feet per acre

per annmii or a total of 120 acre feet per annum;

that none of the remaining area of said allotment

has a water right from any source.

(Copy)

Henr_v Clairmont

Allotment No. 946

SEi/4NE% Sec. 7, T. N., R. W.
SW14SW% Sec. 6, T. 21 N., R. 39 W.

The Committee, on June 6, 1919, made an ex-

amination in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Henry
Clairmont being Allotment No. 946, comprising the
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SEI4NEI4 Sec. 7, T N., R W., and SW14
SWi/i Sec. 5, T. 21 N., R. 19 W., and testimony was

taken on November 18, 1913, and June 6, 1919.

From personal investigation on the gromid, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1402,

Sheet 27, made by an engineer employee of the U. S.

Reclamation Service after a survey by transit and

stadia, it is determined that Alphonse Clairmont in

1906 constructed a ditch diverting water from Mud
and Ashley Creeks and diverting on the left bank

of Mud Creek in SEi^NWi^NW^A Sec. 5, T. 21 N.,

R. 19 W., for the purpose of conveying water upon

portions of this allotment ; that since 1906 and prior

to 1915 the only area irrigated has been 13.8 acres

in SE14NE14 Sec. 7, T. 21 N., R. 19 W.; that said

13.8 acres hereinbefore described are determined to

have a valid and subsisting water right from Mud
and Ashley Creeks to the extent of 2 acre feet per

acre per annum or a total of 27.6 acre feet per an-

num; that none of the remaining area of said allot-

ment has a water right from any source.

(Copy)

Florence Clairmont

Allotment No. 948

WyoSE'i Sec. 7, T. 21 N., R. 19 W.

The C'Ommittee, on June 6, 1919, made an exami-

nation in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appuii:enant to [266] the lands of

Florence Clairmont being Allotment No. 948, com-
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prising the Wi^SE^ Sec. 7, T. 21 N., R. 19 W.,

and Sec , T N., R W., and testimony was

taken on November 18, 1913 and June 6, 1919.

From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1402,

Sheet 27, made by an engineer employee of the IT. S.

Reclamation Service after a survey by transit and

stadia, it is determined that Alphonse Clairmont in

1906 constructed a ditch divei-ting water from Mud
and Ashley Creeks and heading on the left bank of

Mud Creek in SEi/4NWl^NW% Sec. 5, T. 21 N.,

R. 19 W., for the purpose of conveying water upon

portions of this allotment ; that since 1908 and prior

to 1915 the only land irrigated in this allotment has

been 13.7 acres in SW14SE% Sec. 7, T. 21 N., R. 19

W. ; that said 13.7 acres hereinbefore described are

determined to have a valid and subsisting water

right from Mud & Ashley Creeks to the extent of

2 acre feet per acre per annum or a total of 27.4

acre feet per amiiun; that none of the remaining

area of said allotment has a- water right from any

source.

Alphonse Clairmont

Allotment No. 942

WyoNW^i Sec. 8, T. 21 N., R. 19 W.

The Committee, on June 6, 1919, made an ex-

amination in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Alphonse

Clairmont being Allotment No. 942, comprising the

Wi/oNWii Sec. 8, T. 21 N., R. 19 W., and Sec.



286 U. S. of America, et al. vs. I
(Testimony of Henry Gerharz.)

T. N., R. W., and testimony was taken on No-

vember 18, 1913, and Jmie 6, 1919.

From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1402,1

Sheet 27, made by an engineer employee of the U. S.

Reclamation Service after a survey by transit and

stadia, it is determined that portions of this allot-

ment were prior to 1906 irrigated from the Joseph

Clairmont ditch from Mud Creek and that Alphonse

Clairmont in 1906 constructed a ditch diverting

water from Mud Creek at a point on the left bank

in NW%NW% Sec. 5, [267] T. 21 N., R. 19 W., for

the purpose of conveying water upon portions of

this allotment; that since said date there have been

irrigated 65 acres of said allotment; that said 65

acres hereinbefore described are determined to have

a valid and subsisting water right from Mud Creek

to the extent of 2 acre feet per acre per annum or

a total of 130 acre feet per annum ; that none of the

remaining area of said allotment has a water right

from any source.

(Copy)

Alice Clairmont

Allotment No. 944

SW14NE14 and SE14NW14 Sec. 18, T. 21

N., R. 19 W.
The Commitee, on June 6, 1919, made an exami-

nation in the field of the water rights and irriga-

tion system appurtenant to the lands of Alice Clair-

mont, being Allotment No. 944, comprising the
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SW^iNEi4 and SEI4NW14 Sec. 18, T. 21 N., E. 19

W., and testimony was taken on November 18, 1913,

and Jnne 6, 1919.

From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Phxt F-1402,

Sheet 26, made by an engineer employee of the U. S.

Eeclamation Service, after a survey by transit and

stadia, it is determined that Alphonse Clairmont in

1906 constructed a ditch diA^erting water from Mud
Creek at a point on the left bank in NW^^NW^
Sec. 5, T. 21 N., R. 19 W., for the purpose of con-^

veying water upon portions of this allotment; that

ever since said date there have been irrigated 19.6

acres in SW%NE14 Sec. 18, T. 21 N.^ r, 19 ^y ,.

that said 19.6 acres are determined to have a valid

and subsisting water right from Mud Creek to the

extent of 2 acre feet per acre per annum or a total

of 39.2 acre feet per annum; that none of the re-

maining area of said allotment has a water right

from any source.

(Copy)

Rose Ashley

Allotment No. 1076

Ni/sNEi/i Sec. 32, T. 22 N., R. 19 W.

The Committee, on June 6, 1919, made an exami-

nation in the field of the irrigation system and
water rights appurtenant of the lands of Rose
Ashley, being Allotment No. 1076, comprising the

[268] NyoNEi/4 Sec. 32, T. 22 N., R. 19 W., and
testimony was taken on November 20, 1913.
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From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts showTi on Plat F-1402,

Sheet 29, made by an engineer employee of the IT. S.

Reclamation Service after a survey by transit and

stadia, it is determined that water from a small

stream in SW%SEi/4NEl/4 Sec. 28, T. 22 N., R. 19

W., has since 1895 been used for domestic and stock

purposes on this allotment and that said allotment

is determined to have a valid and subsisting water

right from unnamed stream in Sec. 28, T. 22 N.,

R. 19 W., to the extent of 1,000 gallons per day for

domestic and stock purposes.

Henry Ashley

Allotment No. 1029

Sy2 SEi/4 Sec. 29, T. 22 N., R. 19 W.

The Committee, on Jmie 6, 1919, made an exami-

nation in the field of the irrigation system and

water rights appurtenant to the lands of Henry

Ashley, being Allotment No. 1979, comprising the

81/2 SE% Sec. 29, T. 22 N., R. 19 W., and testimony

was taken on November 20, 1913.

From personal investigation on the ground, testi-

mony taken and from facts shown on Plat F-1402,

Sheet 29, made by an engineer employee of the U. S.

Reclamation Service after a survey by transit and

stadia, it is determined that water from an un-

named stream in SW14SE14NE14 Sec. 28, T. 22 N.,

R. 19 W., has, since, 1895, been used for domestic

and stock purposes on this allotment; that said al-

lotment is determined to have a valid and subsisting



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 289

(Testimony of Henry Gerliarz.)

water right from unnamed stream in See. 28, T. 22

N., R. 19 W., to the extent of 1,000 gallons per day

for domestic and stock purposes; that no other

Avater right from any source is appurtenant to this

allotment.

This report covers all streams in the Mission,

Little Bitter Root, Camas and Lower Jocko Valleys,

and includes the following streams and their

tributaries: [269]

Sabine Creek.

Dry Creek near St. Ignatius.

Mission Creek.

Ashley Creek.

South Fork of Ashley or Dry Creek.

Poison Oak Creek.

Post Creek.

Marsh Creek.

Crow Creek.

Spring Creek near Ronan.

Mud Creek.

Ashley (Veek near Mud Creek.

Courville Creek.

Big Creek near Bisson Creek.

Dubay Creek.

Minesinger Creek.

Bisson Creek.

Meadow Creek.

Moss Creek.

Big Creek at Poison.

Dayton Creek.

Big Creek at Fudora.
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Sullivan Creek.

Little Bitter Root River.

Dry Fork Creek.

Warm Springs Creek.

Markle Creek.

Cottonwood Creek.

Sweetwater Creek.

Michel Creek.

Camas Creek.

Revais Cl:'eek.

SeloAV Creek.

Jocko River.

The only water rights to the use of the water of

these streams are those hereinbefore delineated.

Filings are continually being made in Sanders,

Missoula and Flathead Counties claiming rights to

the use of the waters of the streams of the Flathead

Reservation. These waters are determined by the

committee to be a tribal asset of the Indians allotted

on the Flathead Reservation and to be appurtenant

to the allotted lands and the imallotted irrigable

lands as approved by the Secretary of the Interior

and settlers on ceded lands are subordinate in right

to the needs and uses of the Indian allotments and

farm units.

Very respectfully,

(Sgd) THEODORE SHARP,
Chairman, Supt. & S. D. A.,

Flathead Agency.
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(Sgd) ALPHONSE CLAIRMONT
Representative elected by the

Indian Council and Member

of the Flathead Tribe.

(Sgd) A. P. SMYTH
Assistant Engineer, U. S.

Reclamation Service. [270]

DEFENDANTS EXHIBIT NINETEEN
Admitted

(This is a certified copy taken from the files and

records of the Office of Indian Affairs, Washington,

D. C, and certified as such.)

29928-21

United States

Department of the Interior

Office of Indian Affairs

Washington

Copy

May 24 1921

The Honorable

The Secretary of the Interior

(Through Director, Reclamation Service).

My dear Mr. Secretary

:

The Commission, comprising the Superintendent

of the Flathead Reservation, the Reclamation Serv-

ice Project Manager, and an Indian selected by the

Flathead Tribe, appointed for the purpose of deter-
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mining old water rights on the Flathead Indian

Reservation, Montana, has reported with respect to

existing rights of all persons owning or occupying

land upon streams within the Flathead Indian

Reservation. This report also covers those lands

held by eleemosynary societies at St. Ignatius and

white owners who have been adopted into the tribes.

After having conducted surveys and investigations

on the ground and considered testimony brought out

at a hearing called for the purpose, the Commission

submits its report, consisting of four volumes, as

follows

:

(Here follows a quotation, word for word, of the

report of the Committee referred to, which is in-

cluded in Defendants' Exhibit 17, herein, beginning

on line 1 of page 30 of this statement and to and

including line 17 on page 33 of this statement, where

the quotation ends, and for this reason it is not

again copied in full at this point but reference is

made to said Exhibit 17 and to line 17, page 33 of

this statement.)

It will be noted that the Commission recommends

that in those cases where it is deemed advisable for

the United States to destroy private ditches and

construct a new ditch, the owner or owners of said

old ditch shall be entitled to a paid-up water right

to the extent of 100% of the cost of construction,

with no charges for [271] operation and mainte-

nance, for that part of his allotment which is deter-

mined to have a valid water right. While it is be-

lieved to be equitable and just in such cases to grant
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the Indian what is known as a paid-up water right,

nevertheless it is believed that such land should not

be granted paid-up operation and maintenance in

perpetuity. Such charges are paid annually as a

general rule and to concur in this respect with the

Commission's report, might in the future cause con-

siderable dissatisfaction among various land

0"svners.

It is therefore respectfully recommended that

the report submitted herewith be approved with a

slight modification relative to the matter of paid-up

operation and maintenance charges referred to

above, to the effect that the Secretary of the In-

terior in all such cases shall determine whether or

not such persons shall in addition to being granted

a full paid-up water right, also be granted free

operation and maintenance charges.

Cordially yours,

(Sgd.) CHAS. H. BURKE
Commissioner

I concur: May 24, 1921.

(Sgd.) MORRIS BIEN
Acting Director

Reclamation Service

Approved: Nov. 25, 1921.

(Sgd.) F. M. GOODWIN
Assistant Secretary
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DEFENDANTS' EXHIBITS 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25

AND 26 ADMITTED
(Defendants' Exhibits are certified copies of rec-

ords taken from the Department of Reclamation in

Washington showing notices of appropriation of

the waters of Mud Creek by the United States of

America, made in pursuance to the Reclamation

Act and in pursuance to the laws of the State of

Montana applicable thereto. It is charged in the

Bill of Complaint that these filings were made as

formal notice to all landowners and settlers along

Mud Creek; that these [272] waters had been re-

served by the United States for beneficial uses upon

the lands of the reservation. They are not relied

upon to establish any date of priority. These ex-

hibits have been certified to the Circuit Court of

Appeals as a portion of the record in this case.)

(Testimony of Henry Gerharz Continued.)

As to that portion of the Michel Pablo allotment

which is classed as irrigable and other irrigable

lands in the Flathead Irrigation District we as a

yearly matter make an estimate of the amount of

money that is going to be required to operate the

project for a year, which estimate is sent to Wash-

ing'ton for approval, and when approved, we notify

the Flathead Irrigation District that it will require

so much money to operate the project for the next

year; then the Flathead Project adds to our esti-
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mate the amount they figure they will need for

administration and then prorates the entire cost of

the irrigable acreage and certifies it to the County

Treasurer that they have raised so much taxes

against these irrigable lands in the District and

the County Treasurer collects it the same as he

does any other taxes.

Recross Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

Our charge is just a service charge. The Flat-

head Irrigation District is our collection agency.

I am not supposed to deliver any private water.

I heard the testimony that Michel Pablo is entitled

to 1,000 gallons a day. This water has been de-

livered to him. I have seen more than a thousand

gallons on the Michel Pablo place many times.

We only recognized the fact that this is 1,000 gal-

lons that he is entitled to.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

No complaint has ever been made to me that

Agnes Mclntire, the plaintiff, was not receiving

1,000 gallons of water per day.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Pope

:

The thousand gallons referred to in the document

I have identified is to be used for domestic and

stock purposes. As a representative of the Indian
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Service I would not interfere with the [273] utili-

zation of 1,000 gallons for any purpose the plaintiff

might want it for. We consider that this land is

entitled to 1,000' gallons.

(Amend said statement on pages 46, 47 and

48 by striking out all of the purported testi-

mony of Alfonse Clairmont, written in narra-

tive form, and insert therein the testimony of

this witness as given by questions and an-

swers.)

ALPHONSE CLAIRMONT,

was called as a witness on behalf of the defendants

and having been first duly sworn testified as fol-

lows:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

Q. Mr. Clairmont, during the year 1919 were you

appointed as a member of a private water rights

committee by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs'?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. I hand you herewith defendants' Exhibit 18,

which is a report of a committee composed of Theo-

dore Sharp, Alphonse Clairmont and A. P. Smyth,

dated December 10, 1919, to the Commissioner of

Indian Affairs, Washington, D. C, and I will ask

you to examine that report briefly. Is that the re-

j)ort, Mr. Clairmont, that was made by this commit-

tee of which you were a member?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Do yon recall, Mr. Clairmont, the different

proceedings had by this committee, that is, what was

done by the committee in a general way as to the

obtaining of data on these early irrigation develop-

ments? [274]

A. 'Wh.j you mean going around?

Q. Yes, what did you do in getting your facts

together so that you could make these findings?

A. Well we posted up notices and went around

and examined the ditches and the grounds.

Q. Did you as a member of that committee ex-

amine the Mitchel Pablo and the Lizette Barnaby

tracts of land?

A. Yes.

Q. Did this committee hold hearings at Ronan,

Montana, on November 19, 1913?

A. Yes.

Q. Was testimony taken of witnesses at that

hearing ?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you recall hearing the testimony of Michel

Pablo at Ronan, Montana, as a member of this com-

mittee, on November 19, 1913?

A. Yes.

Q. I hand you herewith Defendants' offered ex-

hibit number 27, and I will ask you to examine the

same and read it. You read this testimony over

before this time, that is, in the office of the United

States Attorney?

A. Yes.
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Q. And did you hear Michel Pablo's testimony

before this committee of which you were a member,

on November 19, 1913?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you hear Mrs. Pablo's testimony

before this committee of which you were a member,

at Pablo, Montana, on June 3, 1919?

A. Yes. [275]

Q. Was the testimony given at this hearing at

Ronan, Montana, on November 19, 1913, and at this

hearing given at Pablo, Montana, on June 3, 1919,

by Michel Pablo and Mrs. Pablo, identical with the

testimony contained in question and answer form in

defendants' offered exhibit number 27?

A. Yes.

Mr. Simmons : We now offer in evidence Defend-

ants ' offered exhibit 27.

Mr. Hershey: I would like to examine the wit-

ness concerning it.

The Court : Very well, you may do so.

Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

Q. When were you a])pointed commissioner?

A. 1913, wasn't it?

Q. No, you are answering?

A. What is that?

Q. AYlien were you appointed on this commis-

sion ?

A. 1913 or 1914.

Q. When was this testimony taken?
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A. Well it was taken right after, in 1914 I be-

lieve.

Q. In 1914. When was Mrs. Pablo's testimony

taken—at the same time?

A. Well no.

Q. When was it taken?

A. Later on.

Q. You think this testimony was taken for Mr.

Pablo in 1914?

A. As near as I can remember, yes.

Q. Where was it taken?

A. Ronan.

Q. In whose office? [276]

A. Well I don't know as I remember now; I

think it was taken in one of the government houses

there.

Q. Do you know who was present?

A. Well there were a whole lot of them in there,

different cases.

Q. AVhat official was present?

A. Well there were—what do you mean, on the

commission ?

Q. Yes, or who swore—was Pablo sworn?

A. Yes.

Q. In 1919?

A. In 1919.

Q. Yes.

A. Well I don't remember the year.

Q. Was Agate Pablo sworn?

A. Yes they were all sworn.

Q. Did Mrs. Pablo speak through an interpreter?

A. Yes.
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Q. She spoke throiigh an interpreter'?

A. Yes.

Q. Who was the interpreter?

A. Well I don't know, I don't remember that.

Q. What member of the commission w^as present ?

A. Well it was either Morgan or Sharp, I don't

know which one, now.

Q. You don't remember which?

A. No.

Q. You are not able to tell what they said are

you?

A. Well he didn't say very much.

Q. But you can't tell whether he testified to these

answers, to these questions and these answers that

are written down here, [277] you couldn't tell now

at this late time?

A. Well I can remember now that he said he

didn't use much water.

Q. You remember that he didn 't use much water.

How often have you talked to his counsel with ref-

erence to this?

A. Which?

Q. This gentleman sitting here?

A. Oh just today.

Q. It hasn't been shown to you heretofore?

A. No.

Q. You didn't read it over in the attorney's

office, this testimony?

Mr. Simmons : Well he testified that he had read

it over.
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Mr. Hershey: Yes and I'm trying to bring out

the facts and I have a right to examine him without

any objection or suggestions on your part.

Q. (continued) Now you did read it over in their

office?

A. Yes.

Q. It was read to you very carefully?

A. Yes.

Q. Once?

A. Yes.

Q. When was that?

A. This morning.

Q. Where was it, in this room out here?

A. Yes.

Q. And that 's the only time you saw^ it ?

A. That's all; well I read it over down to the

office when they first put in the testimony.

Q. Where was that ?

A. St. Ignatius.

Q. When was that? [278]

A. Well that was directly after we took the evi-

dence.

Q. You read it over when they took it?

A. Yes.

Q. Where was that?

A. Well at St. Ignatius.

Q. Where are the j^apers that you read over?

A. Well it is in the form here somewhere.

Q. Was it taken down in long hand or written

in typewriting?
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A. It was in typewriting, after it was in type-

writing.

Q. Who was the stenographer?

A. Well there was a big fat fellow, I don 't recall

his name.

Q. Could Agate Pablo write?

A. No.

Q. Could Michel Pablo write?

A. No.

Q. Neither one of them wrote. Mark with a

thumb, or was it a cross?

A. Yes, Michel Pablo could write his own name.

Q. He could write his own name?

A. Yes, and that's about all, I think.

Q. And that's about all you think he could do?

A. Yes.

Q. Did Agate sign with a cross?

A. I guess she did yes.

Q. You guess so?

A. She did sign it with her thmnb.

Q. Isn't it a matter of fact that this is all guess

work?

A. No it isn't.

Q. And you remember testimony taken in 1913

or 1914?

A. How is that? [279]

Q. You remember testimony taken in 1913 or

1914?

A. Yes.

Q. Which year was it?
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A. Which year?

Q. Yes, was it 1913 or 1914?

A. I think it was 1913 or 1914, I don't know

which now.

Q. It might have been 1914 ?

A. Well it might have been.

Q. Might have been 1915?

A. AVell I don't know as to that, I don't think so.

Q. Who else was present at that time ?

Mr. Simmons: Objected to as repetition.

A. (Xo answer.)

Q. What other witness' testimony was taken at

that hearing, anybody ?

A. Well there were several others.

Q. Who were they?

A. Several cases.

Q. Who were they?

A. Well they were people right around the

neighborhood there.

Q. Do you know their names?

A. Well there was Sullivan there and Alex

McLeod, and different ones that had private water

rights up there.

Q. Was Alex Pablo there?

A. I don't recaU him being there.

Q. He is present in court?

A. Yes.

Q. Now as a matter of fact Pablo was dead in

1914 wasn't he?

A. Well he died that year some time.
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Q. He died that year, 1914, some time? [280]

A. (No answer.)

Mr. Hershey : We object to it ; it is too far fetched.

There may have been some proceedings had there.

The Court: Find out how it was taken; does he

know" whether it was written in long hand ?

Q. Was it written in long hand or in typewrit-

ing and transcribed?

A. It was written in shorthand and then tran-

scribed, I guess.

Q. You guess?

A. Well that is the way it was generally taken,

in shorthand.

Q. And you can't tell who it was that took it in

shorthand ?

A. Well there were several different fellows

with us.

Q. And was it signed that day—was it tran-

scribed that day or was it signed later?

A. No.

Q. It wasn't signed that day?

A. It was transcribed after it got down to the

office here at the Missioui; they took it in shorthand.

Q. And then did Pablo follow it there and sign

his name?

A. I don't know.

Q. You don't know that Pablo ever signed it?

A. No I don't.

Mr. Hershey: We object to it.

Mr. Simmons : If the court please, I may call the

Court's attention to the map that is designated in

that report, which was introduced as one of the ex-
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liibits in this case; the testimony refers to Map
S-4050, which we have before the Court as one of

the exhibits, and that of course is an official copy of

a government record ; the official books are kept

with the Project and we have an official copy here

\\^ich is kept in the Flathead Project, which con-

tains the identical testimony; that copy was pre-

pared in the Washington Office; we have the book

[281] here of the testimony that was taken.

The Court: You have?

Mr. Simmons: Yes.

The Court: Well of course this is the form. I

think I will admit it, and it may be considered, of

course, in connection with the cross examination;

as to what weight we will give it is anothei* thing.

Mr. Hershey: I want to ask another question of

this witness if I may.

The Court : All right.

Q. (By Mr. Hershey) Do you know whether it

was ever read to Michel Pablo after it was written

down by the stenographer?

A. No I don't.

Mr. Hershey: Now as a matter of fact in 1919

when this Agate Pablo is purported to give this tes-

timony she wasn't the owner of the land and had

sold it, and the deed shows that it had been trans-

ferred prior to the giving of that testimony.

The Court: Well that is a matter you can pre-

sent of course in your proof, together with your

cross examination. I will admit it. It is properly
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authenticated as a public document. And what

weight will be given it and how the Court will re-

gard it

Mr. Hershey : —Just a minute—a suggestion made

here.

Q. (By Mr. Hershey) As a matter of fact you

know Michel Pablo couldn't read, don't you?

A. Couldn't read?

Q. (Mr. Hershey) Yes sir?

A. I don't think so.

Q. (By Mr. Simmons) Was there an interpre-

ter present at these hearings who translated the

English language into the Indian language? [282]

A. Yes, sir.

Q. (Mr. Simmons) Do you speak the Indian

language ?

A. Well, I don't speak it very ]3lain, but I can

understand pretty nearly every word.

The Court: Well, I will receive that, subject to

your objection. What I will receive that, subject to

your objection. AVhat I will do with it later will

depend on how I regard it at that time. [283]

Thereupon was received in evidence the instru-

ment referred to, identified as Defendants' Ex-

hibit 27, and being as follows:
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Admitted

(TMs is a certified copy from the records and

files of the Office of Indian Affairs, Washino^ton,

D. C, so certified as of date June 3, 1936.)

MICHEL PABLO
Ronan, Montana

November 19, 1913.

Witness being first sworn, testified as follows:

Q. What is your full name and where do you

live?

A. Michel Pablo; live 5 miles north of Ronan.

Q. Do you live on your own allotment?

A. Yes.

Q. How long have you lived there, Mr. Pablo?

A. I don't hardly recall, but must have been

there over 30 years.

Q. Do you irrigate any of the land on your

allotment ?

A. Very little.

Q. Where do you obtain your water supply?

A. From Mud Creek.

Q. When was the ditch constructed to carry

water for the irrigation of your allotment?

A. I believe that was made in 1891.

Q. And you have used w^ater for irrigation ever

since ?

A. For my stock to dririk out of and used it on

some trees and switched into some gravelly places

but not much.
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Q. Is tliere some land irrigated on the Alex

Pablo allotment, which is adjacent to 3^our place?

A. Yes, it runs through his place.

Q. And some irrigated on Agate Pablo's land?

A. Yes.

Q. I will show you the map, S-4050, and ask if

that fairly represents the location of the ditches

and irrigated area on your allot- [284] ment and

that of your children Alex and Agate Pablo ?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you kept the ditch in repair ever since

it was constructed?

A. Well, until here in the last three or four

years. I never paid much attention to the head of

it where it comes into the ditch and it is kind of

washing out a little. I had water enough rimning in

the ditch anyway.

Q. Is there a sufficient supply of water in Mud
Creek to fill your ditch usually?

A. Yes.

Q. Mud Creek rises in the mountains to the east

of you?

A. Yes.

Q. And the land is more or less springy around

there ?

A. Yes, all above the ditch.

Q. And on your allotment and on the two allot-

ments of your children, Alex and Agate; how many
acres do you estimate you irrigate?

A. I never took trouble to irrigate much of that,

Init about 4 or 5 acres where it is gravelly.



Agnes Mclntire, et at. 309

Q. The most of the soil tliere doesn't require

much irrigation?

A. No.

Q. As a matter of fact you have Iniilt a drain-

age ditch, have you?

A. Yes.

MRS. PABLO
Pablo, Mont.

June 3, 1919.

Witness being first duly sworn, testified as

follows

:

Q. What is your name?

A. Mrs. Pablo.

Q. Has any water been used for irrigation on

your land here the last six or seven years?

A. I don't use it for irrigation. Let it run for

stock and house use. [285]

Q. How many years have you used it for that

purpose ?

A. Over 20 years.

Q. Who built the ditch?

A. My husband.

Q. Does anybody else use the water through

your ditch except for these lands?

A. Only ones are the people that haul it.

Q. No land above or below that takes the water?

A. No sir. I don't think so.
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FRANK C. MAYER
was called as a witness on behalf of the defendants

and having been first duly sworn testified as fol-

lows :

Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I am at present watermaster of the Pablo Divi-

sion of the Flathead Irrigation Project. I have

held this position since February 9, 1922. I cover

the Pablo Division, Ronan Division, Pleasant Val-

ley View and Round Butte Divisions on the Flat-

head Irrigation Project. I am familiar with the

lands involved in this case. The land described

is the Lizette Barnaby allotment and the Michel

Pablo allotment owned by the plaintiff includes

the Mclntire. Since 1922 I have visited these

lands a great many times. I have gone across the

Pablo Ditch during the irrigation season sometimes

two and three times a day and as a rule not less

than several times a week. This statement holds

for each year since 1922 up to and including the

present time. I have recently made an examina-

tion of the Pablo Ditch; the last examination I

made was on November 21, 1936. There has been

very little irrigation done on this land since 1922.

Three years ago there were a few little furrows

plowed [286] out from the ditch on the Pablo eighty

where the old house stands; and run down in the

field a little ways, but I don't know whether there

was water put into these ditches. We did not go out

to examine. Two years ago there was another ditch
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took out along- the fence towards the house and

water was run in that ditch. It was not run out on

tlie groimd that time. It was in the ditch. The

use of this water from 1922 to the present time

was more for stock purposes than anything- else.

I have noticed twenty acres on the Michel Pablo

place being- in crop, but it was never irrigated.

I never saw any acres in crop on the Lizette Bar-

naby tract. In 1922 when I first examined the ditch

I would say it had a capacity of perhaps a foot

and a half of water, approximately 60 miner's

inches. In 1922 the upper portion of the ditch w^as

well growed up to willows and brush and pretty

well filled up. I'he head of the ditch was about

18 inches wide and in depth, and after it comes

out in the timber it hits rather sandy soil and is

close to gravel so that the ditch there w^as widened

out to about four or five feet. It was built shallow

on accomit of the gravel being so close to the sur-

face. When I examined the ditch a few days ago

the only change in the ditch from that in 1922 was

that it was in worse shape. The willows and brush

had grown so much larger in the ditch. At no time

that I examined the Pa1)lo ditch was there any

physical evidence in the ditch or on the ditch banksi

that would indicate that it had at any time a carry-

ing capacity of four cubic feet of water per second

of time or 160 miner's inches. There was no evi-

dence from my observation that Avould indicate that

it might have had a larger capacity in 1891. In

all of the time that I have been over this land since
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1922 and 1 Imvo taken sevoval trips a [287] week

duriiio- tlial period over tliat land I have never

seen any c'ro})s irri2,\ated with the waters of Mud
Creek tliroui:'ii tlie I^ablo Ditcli on (Mther the Miehel

PaWo or tlie Lizette Barnaby tracts.

1 woultl say thai \\w duty of water on tliese

tracts to raise a (U'ciMit ei'op would lu' about tliree

aere 1'(hM pcM- acre.

Cross Examination

By Mr. llershey:

I am not accustonuHl to measuring water in

cubic t'cH^t of wat(M' per second of time or miner's

inches. One hundrcHl miner's inches over a g'iven

period is a good irrigation head o{ water to irrigate

land with. 1 stated in direct examination that no

crops had biHMi raised on either the Lizette Barnaby

or the Michel Pablo tracts that have been irrigated.

These tracts were not cropped this last year. A
vei-y poor crop was raised the year before.

R(Mlir(M't Kxamination

l>y Mr. Simmons:

In my direct exajnination yesterday I made the

statement that -Y^ ^<^^<^^i^d feet or 100 miner's inches

of water is netnled to irrigate lands similar to the

l^ablo lands or the lands owned by Agnes Alclntire

on the Pablo allotment. 1 meant by that statement

thai a large lu\ul t>t' water was re(]uired to go over

this land quickly; that 2^2 ^^^^ of water flowing

iov 24 hours, making T) acn^ feet oi water; 1 didn't
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mean that continuous, all summer, or for the entire

irrigation season, as they don't irrigate that way,

they turn the water in for from four to ten days,

something like that; then the water is taken off

for two weeks; then it is turned back on again

for a few days for the second or third irrigation,

whatever it may be. The frequency of irrigation

depends on the nature of crops being irrigated.

(Before the Government rested on behalf of the

defendants it represented, at the request of the

defendant Flathead Irrigation District and with the

consent of the court Robert S. Stockton was called

and testified as a witness in behalf of said defend-

ant, Flathead Irrigation District.) [288]

ROBERT S. STOCKTON
was called as a witness on behalf of said defendant

and having been heretofore duly sworn testified as

follows:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Pope

:

I acted in the capacity of Project Engineer in

charge of construction on the Hmitley Project near

Billings, Montana from the spring of 1905 until

the completion of the project, which took up to the

fall of 1909 and I was then transferred to the Lower
Yellowstone Project. From the summer of 1903 I

was connected with the Reclamation Bureau and
appointed in that year as an engineer. I served
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mth the Reclamation Bureau imtil March 1, 1911.

For a period of nearly twenty-five years I have

been Superintendent of Operation and Maintenance

for the Canadian Pacific Railroad, Department of

Natural Resources of a large irrigation project

taking over 200,000 acres of land and with a large

mileage of canals and laterals to maintain and

operate. I have been retired by the Canadian Pa-

cific and now reside on m}" ranch near Thompson

Falls, Montana. I have had practical experience

in irrigating my own land. I have heard most of

the testimony during the progress of this trial

with relation to the character of the land known

as the Michel Pablo and Lizette Barnaby allot-

ments. I have had occasion during my experience

as irrigation engineer to study the problem of the

duty of water. After listening to the testimony

of witnesses as to the character of the Barnaby

and Pablo lands and upon my knowledge gained

from my survey in 1907 of lands generally on the

Flathead and upon my general experience as an

irrigation engineer I have formed an opinion as

to the amount of water required for successful

irrigation of lands of the character of the Pablo

and Barnaby tracts. The proper duty of water for

the Flathead lands would not be greater than one

and a half to two acre feet per acre.

Defendants' Exhibit 8a shows a definite diver-

sion of water from Mud Creek with the proposed

canal line, which is on the map marked "C" line

and which covers a considerable area of lands pro-

posed to be irrigated. [289]
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Direct Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

The flow of half a miner's inch to the acre for

120 days delivery on the land would amount to

three acre feet. One hundred fifty days would be

approximately the average duration of an irriga-

tion season in the Flathead District.

And thereupon the following evidence was offered

for the defendants Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling,

in behalf of their case in chief.

(By oral stipulation it was agreed by all the

counsel that A. M. Sterling is the owner of the

south half of the N^ quarter of Section 14, Town-

ship 21 North, Range 20 West.)

Thereupon

ALEX PABLO,

one of the defendants last named was duly sworn

and testified in behalf of said defendants as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Swee:

I am a ward of the United States Government

and live on my allotment which joins the Michel

Pablo allotment on the northwest. My eighty rims

east and west. The Michel Pablo allotment runs

north and south. I have lived there practically

all of my life. I am 47 years old and am a son of
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Michel Pablo. When I was old enough to observe

the conditions of my father's ranch my father had

his allotment and my allotment and other lands

there. We were allotted about the year 1908. When
I was old enough to observe the conditions of his

ranch my father had a ditch of water running to

his land and to my land. Waters flowed in that ditch

ever since I have been old enough to observe. There

is water in it now. My father used that water for

stock and domestic purposes and he used some for

irrigation. Up to the time of my father's death in

1914 my father ran on the average about 1500

head of cattle on the Flathead, about 100 head of

horses, and about 400 or 500 head of buffalo. I

think he sold his buffalo in 1909. This ditch was

used for drinking purposes for the stock. It was

also used in the winter during the feeding season.

This water was also used on his o\^Tl allotment and

my allotment and the land that belonged to my
mother for irrigation purposes. Up to the time

my father died in 1914 he irrigated about 20 acres

on my allotment, raised hay mostly, some pasture.

On my [290] mother's allotment now owned by

Mr. Sterling he irrigated about 25 acres. The

water was not used on that land every year. When-
ever he had hay on it there he used it, but when-

ever he had other crops in he did not use it. Since

I have started farming I have used the water for

irrigating hay. I have farmed it and also leased

my land. I now have it leased to Tom Moore. I

have only raised hay and grain on my land. The
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East 40 of my land needs water to raise a good

crop.

DEFENDANTS' EXHIBIT 28

Admitted

(Defendants' Exliibit 28 represents a photogTaph

taken in 1909 and 1910. It was taken toward the

Mission Range and is an actual photograph of a

portion of the Michel Pablo Allotment and the

Pablo Ditch where the ditch runs over his allot-

ment. It shows a picture of Michel Pablo on his

horse. This exhibit has been certified to the Cir-

cuit Court of Appeals as a portion of the record

in this case.)

(Continuation of the Testimony of Alex Pablo.)

The irrigation of my mother's and my land has

been almost continuous since I was old enough to

fai'm.

Mr. Swee: If it please the Court, I have here a

certified copy of the notice of appropriation filed

by Mr. Pablo in this county in 1907, certified by

the clerk and recorder of Missoula County.

Mr. Simmons: We object to the introduction

of the Defendants' offered exhibit 29 in evidence

for the reason that it is incompetent, irrelevant and

immaterial and has bearing on any issue involved

in this case. It is our position, substantiated by

many recent cases, that no water right can be ac-

quired on Indian Reservations under state appro-

priation—state filing.

The Court: Yes we have heard that a good

many times.
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Mr. Swee: May it please the Court this is

Mr. Pope: May the record show a like objection

is made on behalf of the defendant Irrigation Dis-

trict.

Mr. Hershey: This goes deeper than just the

appropriation; it is a [291] sworn statement that

he took out this water for the irrigation of certain

lands; Pablo swears to this, that the purpose of

taking it out was to irrigate certain lands, and as

an affidavit made at that time it would have some

evidentiary value of his intention.

The Court: Yes, aside from the appropriation,

it might; but of course you have other evidence,

of the actual digging of the ditches and the taking

of the waters; you have now carried it way back

to some time in the past. Perhaps for that purpose

it would be admissible—unless you have some other

objection that will exclude it, outside of the appro-

priation mider the state statute.

Mr. Allen: We have the further objection that

it is a self serving declaration.

The Court: Well I ^vill overrule that. I think it

might be very material; I will receive it at this

time, subject to your objection, and make some

future disposition of it.

Mr. Pope: If we may have an exception to the

ruling ?

The Court: Certainly.

Defendant Flathead Irrigation District's excep-

tion noted.
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Ajid thereupon, over the objections, was received

in evidence the instrument referred to, the same

being identified as and marked Defendant Pablo's

Exhibit 29, and in words and figures as follows to

wit:

DEFENDANTS EXHIBIT 29

(Admitted over the foregoing objections)

(This is a certified copy of an original Notice of

Water Right, filed in the office of the clerk and

recorder of Missoula County, Montana, and so cer-

tified)

L 1877 Compared

NOTICE OF APPROPRIATION

State of Montana,

County of Missoula,

Flathead Reservation—ss.

To All Whom These Presents May Concern : [292]

Be It Known, That Michel Pablo (No. 605) and

his wife. Agate, Children Joseph, Mary and Alex,

and grand-nieces, Mary and Philomene Pablo, of

Flathead Indian Reservation in said County and

State do hereby publish and declare, as a legal notice

to all the world, as follows, to-wit:

I. That they have a legal right to the use, pos-

session and control of and claim Five Hundred and

Sixty (560) inches of the waters of Mud Creek in

said County and State for irrigating and other pur-

poses.
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II. That the purpose for which said water is

claimed, and the place of intended use is for domes-

tic and irrigating purposes on the W^N^^^/^,

SE14NW% and NEi^S^V^ Sec. 13, Twp. 21, N.,

R. 20 W., M. M., Wy2NEi4, E14SW14 and NW14
Sec. 14, Twp. 21 N., R. 20 W., M. M. and SyoSW%
Sec. 11, Twp. 21, N., R. 20 W., M. M.

III. That the means of diversion with size of

flume, ditch, pipe, or acqueduct, by which he in-

tends to divert the said water is as follow^s: A
ditch 48 inches by 18 inches in size, which carries

and conducts 560 inches of water from said Creek

;

which said ditch diverts the water from said stream

at a point upon its North bank, and runs thence

in a Westerly direction. The head of said ditch

being about 150 yds. above the lands hereinbefore

described, and being on land claimed by Marie

Louise Pablo, thence over and upon said land (or

mining claim).

IV. That they appropriated and took said water

on the 15th day of April A. D. 1900 by means of

said ditch.

V. That the names of the a|)])ropriators of said

water Michel Pablo, Agate Pablo, Joseph Pablo,

Mary Pablo, Alex Pablo, Mary Pablo and Philo-

mene Pablo.

VI. That they also hereby claim said ditch and

the right of way therefor, and for said water by it

conveyed, or to be convej^ed, from said point of

appropriation to said land or point of final dis-
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charge, and also the right of location upon any

lands, of any dams, reservoirs, constructed or to be

constructed, by them [293] conveyed, from said

point of appropriation to said land or point of

final discharge, and also the right of location upon

any lands, of any dams, reservoirs, constructed or

to be constructed, by them in appropriating and in

using said water.

VII. That they also claim the right to keep in

repair and to enlarge said means of water appro-

priation at any time, and the right to dispose of

the said right, water, ditch or said appurtenance in

part or whole at any time.

Claiming the Same All and Shigular, Under any

and all laws. National and State, and Local rulings

and decisions theremider, in the matter of water

rights.

Together with All and Singular, The heredita-

ments and appurtenances thereunto belonging and

appertaining, or to accrue to the same.

Witness our hand at Ronan Montana, this 12th

day of November, 1937.

M. PABLO,
AGATE PABLO,
JOSEPH PABLO,
MARY PABLO,
ALEX PABLO,
MARY PABLO,
PHILOMENE PABLO

Witness

:

D. D. HULL
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State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Michel Pablo having first been duly sworn, de-

poses and says that he is of lawful age and is one

of the appropriator and claimant of the water and

w^ater right mentioned in the foregoing notice of

appropriation and claim, and the person whose name

is subscribed thereto as the appropriator and claim-

ant, that he liuotv the contents of said foregoing

notice and that the matters and things therein stated

are true.

M. PABLO

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 14th day

of November A. D. 1907.

A. J. VIOLETTE
[Seal] Notary Public in and for Missoula

County, Montana.

1877 Notice of Water Right. Filed for record

Nov. 14th, A. D. 1907 at 2:10 o'clock p. m. and

Recorded in Book F of Water Rights, on Page 277

Records of Missoula County, Montana. W. H. Smith

County Recorder by Deputy Recorder. [294]

Cross Examination

By Mr. Allen

:

In the years 1909 and 1910 my father ran on the

average about 1500 head of cattle. He had about

100 head of horses and about 500 head of buffalo.
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My father was chiefly a livestock man. He raised

wheat and oats and hay. It was all used for the

feed of liis livestock. I don't recall the Commission

that met on the Flathead Indian Reservation to

take into consideration the claims of the various

Indian ^vards as to the amount of water that they

had been using on the Flathead Indian Reservation.

My mother's land was sub-irrigated on the west

side, about twenty acres. The picture, identified as

defendants' exhibit 28, was taken in the month of

May durmg the spring rmi-off.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Hershey

:

The sub-irrigation ou a part of my land is caused

by water in the GoA^ernment ditches. Before the

Government ditches were ])uilt there was no sub-

irrigation.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Swee

:

The west end of my mother's land was sub-irri-

gated. My father irrigated the east end which is

not sub-irrigated. The west end was sub-irrigated

by water in the Government ditches which has

ruined a part of my west 40.
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THOMAS C. MOORE
being called as a witness on behalf of the defendants

Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, after having first

been duly sworn, testified as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Swee

:

I have lived on the Joe Pablo allotment since Feb-

ruary, 1925. Am purchasing the Agatha Pablo land

on contract for deed from the A. M. Sterling Com-

pany. I have farmed this land since 1925. I farmed

the Michel Pablo land for a period of seven years

commencing with 1925. I have also farmed the land

belonging to Alex Pablo. I have used water from

the Pablo Ditch for irrigation and for stock pur-

poses. During the years I have irrigated the Agatha

Pablo land I have irrigated approximately twenty

or twenty- [295] five acres. I have raised beets,

hay, and all kinds of grain. The Pablo ditch rmis

on this land.

When I had the Alex Pablo land leased I irri-

gated to some extent, but not a great deal. I may
have irrigated about 10 acres, possibly a little more.

I did not run very much water on the Alex Pablo

land. It was pretty hard to get it over the land. I

think every foot of the 80 can be irrigated. All but

three acres of the land I am purchasing from A. M.

Sterling can be irrigated.

I have made some repairs on the ditch. The

ditch is not in very good condition. The dam is

poor. The ditch could be enlarged. I have had

seventeen years of irrigation experience both in the
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Flathead and Bitter Root Valleys. The east half

of the land that I am purchasing would take a lot

more water than the west half. It takes a head of

at least a cubic foot to get over the land. The same

amount of Avater would be required to irrigate the

Alex Pablo land.

While I Avas farming the Michel Pablo land I

did not irrigate very much of it. I have watered

about seventy five head of cattle and horses on an

average.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Hershey

:

There is not very much water going down the

ditch at the present time. We utilized all that came

do\\ai. It means a lot of work to fix the ditch up so

that we could get a good head of water and none

of us are able to fix it up at the present time.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Allen

:

The capacity of the ditch at the head is a foot at

the present time. Down where I live it might be

a half a foot. There is no headgate in this ditch.
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ANDREW STINGER
was called as a witness on behalf of the defendani

Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, and being first ({ ! i

!

sworn testified as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Swee

:

I have been living on the Flathead Indian Reser-

vation since 1888. I was a partner at one time of

Michel Pablo in the cattle [296] business. The part-

nership was formed in 1907 or 1908. I continued in

partnership with Mr. Pablo until his death in 1914.

I am familiar with the Pablo Ditch, have seen it

many times, in fact, was on the land when the

ditch was dug. Mr. Pablo told me he was getting

a ditch for irrigation and stock water. Mr. Pablo

and I ran about 3500 head of cattle and about 100

head of horses. That was about the yearly average

during the time I knew Mr. Pablo. Mr. Pablo had

about 450 head of buffalo. The livestock was all

kept on the Pablo Rauch and my place adjoining

his. The ditch was used for the watering of this

stock. I never saw him irrigate out of the ditch.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

Michel Pablo died in 1914. After his death the

cattle were sold.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Hershey

:

Whatever hay was raised on the Pablo Ranch was

used as feed for livestock.

And thereupon Counsel for defendants Pablo and

Sterling announced said defendants rest.
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D. A. DELLWO
was called as a witness on behalf of the defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District and having been first

duly sworn testified as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Pope

:

I live in the vicinity of Charlo, Montana. I am
one of the Commissioners of the Flathead Irriga-

tion District as Vv^ell as being Secretary of the

Board of Commissioners. I have held these posi-

tions since 1926 when the District was organized.

I have resided on the Flathead Reservation about

tw^enty-tw^o years. I homesteaded there in 1912 and

later on sold the homestead and bought other land

which I now^ live on. The land w^hich I o^w^i is

within the Flathead Irrigation Project. My land

w^as at one time allotted. [297]

In the Flathead Irrigation District there are ap-

proximately 68,000 acres within the boundaries of

the district. In addition to that there are numerous

tracts of non-i)atented Indian lands which would

make the total area of the project mthin that dis-

trict of about 80,000 acres. This is all irrigated

land. The irrigated area in the Mission Valley

Division is in excess of 55,000 acres.

In 1912 the unallotted lands had j^ractically all

been homesteaded and of course, the allotted lands

had all been taken or rather given to the allottee

at that time. The lands had all been taken up in

either one wav or the other.
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In 1926 through the repayment contract, which

has been received in evidence, the Flathead Irriga-

tion District assumed an obligation to the United

States for the payment of the costs of the construc-

tion of the system. The main object of organizing

the District was to assure the United States that

the cost of construction would be repaid in return

for which we had considerable assurance from the

United States that our project would be completed.

Upon the completion of the contract the ultimate

per acre charge to the land owners is limited imder

the repayment contract to $65.00 per acre. There

is no doubt that the cost will reach that figure.

There are probably about 1300 or 1400 land owners

in that district subject to that charge. In 1934

there were slightly over 1300 farms irrigated in the

Mission Valley.

I am generally familiar with the system of irriga-

tion works by which water is diverted for the lands

of the district. The waters of Mud Creek fonn a

portion of the supply for the district. The supply

of water which can be brought to the lands by

gravity is not sufficient. AVe are at present going

beyond our natural watershed into what is known

as the Placid Lake to get additional gravity water

and then when all our sources have been exhausted

and every possible diversion has been made we will

be obliged to piunp water from Flathead Lake to

have anything like an adequate w^ater supply. Pump-

ing will involve extraordinary expense. Every
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[298] acre foot of water lifted from Flathead Lake

to the lands of the project will mean an additional

per acre charge each year for operation and main-

tenance.

There has been an insufficient supply of water

for lands within the District since perhaps the early

twenties. Previous to that time there was not as

strong an inclination to irrigate the wheat farming

as possible, and the country was settled up with a

lot of dry land farmers who were hesitant about

irrigating, but since we have employed the irriga-

tion type of farming I think without exception we

have been short of water; in the last couple of

years we have been very very short of water; during

the present season, over a good part of the project

we have only been able to allow about twelve inches

of water to the irrigable farms with the clay types

of soil and a little more in the gravelly type of soil.

By twelve inches I mean an acre foot. The maxi-

mum amount of water used on land within that dis-

trict on the best type of soil, I mean the soil under-

laid with clay, we allowed, I believe, a foot and

15/lOOths, possibly 20/lOOths in one section of the

project where we had an additional supply during

the late months of the season through a pumping

plant which was constructed this summer, and of

course, in the Moiese Valley, where they have a

supply of water that cannot be used anyw^here else

on the project and where they have an abundance

of water for use as high as four feet; and there
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are gravelly types of soil in the Moiese Valley part

of the project.

The waters of Mud Creek have been diverted into

the government project system ever since the con-

struction of the Pablo Feeder Canal and then later

on a diversion was installed farther down the creek

to pick up additional water that circulated through

farther down the creek.

I am familiar with the lands owned by the plain-

tiffs in this action. I am familiar with irrigating

practices and I irrigate my own farm. The duty of

water for plaintiff's land would be from [299] three

to perhaps five acre feet depending largely on two

factors, the amount of rainfall and the kind of irri-

gator or the type of an irrigation system that might

be used on the farm. By three to five acre feet I

mean a depth of water that deep over the irrigable

area of the farm.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Simmons:

I have never obseived any extensive irrigation on

either of these eighties.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

The waters of Mud Creek are carried away by the

Government system in the Pablo Feeder Canal and

are used upon lands that had no water prior to

the construction of the system. To a very large

extent lands are now being irrigated that had no
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water prior to the building of the Pablo Feeder

Canal.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Swee

:

The water that goes by the feeder canal and rmis

into Mud Creek out of which this Pablo Ditch was

taken is picked up in the Crow Reservoir, which is

farther &own the creek. Spring Creek and Crow

Creek also feed the Crow reservoir. The Lower

Crow Creek Reservoir supplies the Moiese Valley.

Water cannot be taken out of the Crow Creek

Reservoir for use on any other portion of the proj-

ect. In the past all of the water in the Crow Creek

Reservoir has not been necessary for use in the

Moiese Valley. During the last three years probably

sixty five per cent of the water that passed through

Crow Reservoir was used in the Moiese Valley, the

balance of it went to waste. We now have a means

of saving water that previously has been going to

waste in the Crow Reservoir. A pumping plant

has been installed which will lift around 18,000

feet of water each year into Nine Pipes Reservoir,

making water available in what is known as the Big

Flat or Post Division, which is water out of Crow

Creek and Spring Creek. It affects the water in

Mud Creek in this way, that if there should be no

further water wasted out of Crow Reservoir, the

waters of Mud Creek will be used [300] principally

to supply the Moiese Valley and the waters of

Spring Creek will be almost entirely diverted to the
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Nine Pipe Division of the Project. The plant is

capable of pumping all of the water that is gath-

ered out of Crow Creek and Spring Creek into

Nine Pipe except during times of high flood. Crow

Creek is, of course, diverted not only by the Pablo

Feeder Canal, but also by the Kicking Horse Feeder

Canal which is lower down the creek.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Pope

:

The Crow Reservoir is a reservoir far down Crow^

Creek. It drains an area of about 65,000 acres and

handles all of the spring run-off from that 65,000

acres. It takes very little water from the normal

flow of Crow Creek at the present time. Today I

would say roughly that there is not more than three

second feet of water coming down Crow Creek. The

Pablo Feeder Canal which rims into the Pablo

Reservoir picks up the waters of Mud Creek much

farther up. There is a very acute shortage of water

over the entire area served by the Pablo Reservoir.

This shortage has existed ever since irrigation has

been taken up. In the area north of Mud Creek and

Crow Creek, which is the area served through Pablo

Reservoir, if all of the available gravity water that

could possibly 1)e diverted could be taken there, it

would not have more than a fifty per cent supply of

water.

Mr. Pope: If the Court please, for the purpose

of completing the record in this matter, coimsel

have kindly indicated they would stipulate that the
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allotments here in question, that is, those of the

claim of the plaintiff and those of the defendants

Sterling and Alex Pablo, were made by trust patent

dated October 8, 1908. May the record so show?

Mr. Swee : This is agreeable to us.

Mr. Pope: And we desire to call to the Court's

attention for the purpose of judicial notice—and

for convenience we will ask to offer the documents

themselves—that portion of the official report of

the Reclamation Service, marked "7th Report,

1908, relating to the [301] Flathead Project; and

we desire in this connection to have the Court take

judicial notice of the letters of transmittal, giving

the dates, in the first page of the book, and that

portion relating to the Flathead Project found on

pages 100 and 101; and if it is agreeable to the

Court and counsel, these being library books, might

we have this designated as an exhibit and have the

stenographer, at our expense, make a copy for the

convenience of the Court ? Would that be agreeable ?

Mr. Hershey: That is satisfactory except of

course that it would go in under our general objec-

tion.

The Court: Oh yes.

Mr. Hershey: That it is an attempt to modify

vested rights.

The Court: Yes it will go in under your objec-

tion. You may mark off the parts so as not to

encumber the record with any unnecessary parts.

Mark the parts that you think the Court should

consider.
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And thereupon was received in evidence the ref-

erences referred to, identified as and marked De-

fendant Flathead Irrigation District's Exhibit 31,

taken from the Seventh Amiual Report of the Recla-

mation Service, 1907-1908, and being as follows:

DEFENDANT FLATHEAD IRRIGATION
DISTRICT'S EXHIBIT 31

Admitted

(Defendant Flathead Irrigation District's Ex-

hibit 31 represents excerpts taken from the 7th

Annual Report of the Reclamation Service, 1907-

1908. This exhibit has been certified to the Circuit

Court of Appeals as a portion of the records in this

case.)

DEFENDANT FLATHEAD IRRIGATION
DISTRICT'S EXHIBIT 32

Admitted

(Defendant Flathead Irrigation District's Ex-

hibit 32 represents excerpts of the official report of

the Reclamation Service contained in the 8th Re-

port, 1909, including letters of transmittal. This

exhibit has been certified to the Circuit Court of

Appeals as a portion of the record in this case.)

[302]

The defendant Flathead Irrigation District rests.
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The defendant, the United States of America,

Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer, and the nineteen

members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians repre-

sented by Government Counsel rest.

By agreement between all Counsel all new matters

raised in the answers of all parties was deemed

denied without need of a written reply.

MR. DELLWO
being recalled with the permission of the Court and

all Counsel as a witness for the defendant, Flathead

Irrigation District, testified as follows

;

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Pope

:

In 1910 the lands on the Flathead Indian Reser-

vation had all been taken up either through allot-

ment to the Indians or through having been home-

steaded, except a few scattered tracts, just an odd

80 acre tract here and there and in the month of

November, 1910 they were thrown open to general

homestead entrj^ and I filed on one of those. The

Irrigation District lands consist of lands that had

been taken b.y homestead and lands that had at one

time been allotted lands, but had become patented

and had become transferred over to white people,

or are still being held under fee patent by the

original allottees.

Thereupon the defendant Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict rested.
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Whereupon the foUowmg evidence was intro-

diieed by plaintiff in rebuttal.

JEAN McINTIRE

was called as a witness in rebuttal and testified as

follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

On this map the two tracts, eighty acres each,

marked 1 and 2 in red are the lands my mother

owns. All of those lands are fenced. The ditch is

not properly placed on the map. It shows that this

ditch on the Lizette Barnaby tract does not touch

this particular eighty. Well, that is not correct.

There is a fence between these two eighties. This

Mary Louise Pablo eighty and the [303] Lizette

Barnaby eighty and this ditch comes straight

through here. It comes to this fence and then turns

to the north and then goes out as is shown on the

map. The Pablo and the Barnaby eighties slope to

the south. The ditch would run through the highest

point on the farming land. Mud Creek runs through

the southeast corner of the Barnaby land. All of the

Barnaby land can be irrigated from the ditch. About

half of it is irrigated, the east half of the eighty.

That is the land a witness talked about as being

swampy. Water has been turned out of the ditch.

It dries up the irrigated land in the southeast which

demonstrated that all the water came from the

ditch.

During the times that I have been up there dur-

ing the irrigation season the only water that flows

down below the Pablo Feeder Canal w^here it crosses
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Mud Creek is some springs and what seeps out of

the canal or underneath the canal. There is a gate

on the (rovernment ditch, but the gate as always

closed. It is impossible under present conditions

to farm the land properly. It is impossible to raise

a good crop without irrigation and it has been im-

possible for us to get sufficient water for it is not

available.

We haye not repaired the ditch and it is in poor

repair now because there has been this water dis-

pute on as to whether the Goyernment was entitled

to control the waters of Mud Creek or whether we

were entitled to sufficient water to irrigate our lands.

I received a letter from the present project engi-

neer, Mr. Gerharz this fall. There was a dispute that

we were taking more water out of the ditch than we

had a right to. Mr. Gerharz enclosed a letter from

the United States Attorney telling us to discontinue

taking out of Mud Creek only the water that we

were allowed and if we did not do that, Mr. Gerharz

was to notify him and he was to start action against

us. His order was to remove the dam. The map
referred to is defendant's exhibit 6. [304]

Cross Examination

By Mr. Allen

:

I have had the course of the ditch surveyed, but

do not have the report with me. The fence corners

are on the line. There is also a tangent which makes

it impossible, as this map shows, for the ditch to

run as shown here on the map, in other words you
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couldn't run the water as shown. These fences

have been tied in by survey to a Government cor-

ner. This was done just after we got the land. We
have iron stakes in there to show where these cor-

ners are. All the irrigation that we have done on

these two eighties was done from the waters below

the ditch. There was no water available to irrigate

these two eighties from the Pablo ditch.

The west eighty is under the Flathead Indian

Irrigation Project. The project officials told us we

had a private water right only for stock and domes-

tic purposes. When this land was in Flathead

County—the water charges came with our taxes

—

we saw Mr. Moody and told him as long as we were

paying for this water we would like to have it deliv-

ered, if we had no private right, and we had a con-

troversy—I can't show you here on the map—it

was peculiar—the Government ditch comes in just

the opposite corner from where our private water

right comes in, and it did not look reasonable to

me; for instance, if you had water coming in that

corner of this room to irrigate this room, and water

coming in over here, then one must be wrong, so I

told Mr. Moody about that and he said: "Well, you

have Mayer check that up" so I went out and saw

Mr. Mayer and Mr. Mayer told me that there was

no culvert under the railroad, if I recall correctly,

and that the ditch at that time, the Government

ditch, was not completed down on to this land and

it was necessary to do some work; and Mr. Mayer

advised it was not practical to irrigate this land
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with Government water on account of taking so

much; Mr. Moody agreed to withdraw the land

from the project; he said he could not do it legally

and he said he would just simply withdraw the

charges and he did that. We went on for a [305]

year or two and was taken out of our taxes. Then

when Mr. Gerharz came in as Project Manager he

put the land back in and claimed that he had no

right to take it out without a court order. We have

been paying these water charges. We were advised

by the County Treasurer that we would have to

start suit within sixty days if we did not pay them.

They were never paid mider protest. We haven't

demanded that the Flathead Indian Irrigation Proj-

ect furnish us water for the 60.8 acres in the west

eighty which is held to be irrigable land under the

project for the reason that this litigation has been

pending for about four years. When I say there

was not sufficient water available I mean from the

Pablo Ditch. The east eighty is not under the Flat-

head Irrigation Project.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Hershey

:

We have been paying for water from the Recla-

mation Service which has never been furnished and

we were compelled to do so in order to pay our

property taxes in the county and state. There was

not any water in the ditch because the government

takes all the water, with the exception of that which

comes out of the springs.
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Mr. Hershey: I have been making a motion and

objection to the exhibits that they have been offer-

ing, and I was just wondering, for the record,

whether it wouldn't be wise to make a motion at

this time to strike all those exhibits out, and with

your permission I would like to make such a motion.

The Court: Yes you may make such a motion.

You have already objected, and I have allowed

them to go in under your objection. I may sustain

your objection later on. This is an equity suit.

Mr. Hershey: Well the only point that I could

make is that possibly to some of them the record

may not show there was an objection made, and I

believe it is from exhibit 6 to the close, [306] are

all exhibits relating to matters and proceedings sub-

sequent to the initiation of the rights to this water,

and so I now move to strike them out and not con-

sider them for the reason that the goA^ernment of

the United States cannot take away or annul or

destroy any vested rights to the waters appropri-

ated for the irrigation of these lands ; a patent hav-

ing issued to the lands, by relation the rights

would relate back to the day when the rights were

first initiated, or at least prior to 1891, and for that

reason they are all immaterial and are an attempt

to modify and destroy vested rights.

The Court: Very well, the matter will be taker

under advisement, of course.
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FRANK C. MAYER
was called as a witness in sur rebuttal and having

been first duly sworn testified as follow^s

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Allen:

I never made the statement to my knowledge that

the west eighty of the Mclntire land was not acces-

sible to water from the Government ditches. The

60.8 acres of the west eighty is in fact irrigable

from the Government ditch.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Hershey:

The water in the Pablo ditch as irrigated on the

map runs in a westerly direction and runs wdthin

400 feet of the northwest corner of the eighty acres.

Water could not be turned into the ditch and run

just the opposite direction to what it is now. The

ditch coming in at the northwest corner would be

closer and there would be less land missed by com-

ing in at that point than where the ditch comes in

at the present time. It would follow through and

reach a few hundred feet south of the northeast cor-

ner of the eighty. The Government ditch is built

down to within sixty feet of the Mclntire land.

There is a railroad grade between and no provision

made for a culvert. A portion of the land is on the

west side of the railroad which could be easily

reached as well as the land on the east. There would

have to be a culvert placed under the railroad. [307]
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Redirect Examination

By Mr. Allen

:

Water could be delivered within 48 hours to the

Mclntire land.

The Court : Well now what do you mean by the

Mclntire land ?

Q. What part of the land do you mean by the

48 hours you could put a culvert in there in that

time ? What portion of it could be irrigated ? Now
you speak of the railroad track running through

there; how much of it could be irrigated, as the

ditch stands now? You say it is within 60 feet of

the land?

A. Yes it is just across the road.

Q. How much land could be irrigated ?

A. AVhy I couldn't say off hand; there is a little

strip in here of perhaps six or eight or ten acres,

along in there on the west side of the road.

The Court: That is, that the ditch could now

irrigate ?

A. Yes sir, until a culvert is put under the rail-

road.

Whereupon the testimony was closed.

And now within the time allowed by law and

order of court herein the defendant, the United

States of America, Henry Gerharz, Project Man-

ager of Flathead Reclamation Project, and the
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nineteen members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians,

appellants herein, lodge the foregoing proposed

statement of the evidence and ask the same be

signed, settled, and approvd.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana.

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Comisel, Department

of Interior, United States

Indian Irrigation Service,

Counsel for above named

defendants.

[Endorsed] : Lodged this 18th day of November,

1937 with the Clerk of the above entitled court.

Clerk, United States District Coui^:.

By
Deputy Clerk. [308]

CERTIFICATE OF JUDGE
I, Charles N. Pray, Judge of the above entitled

Court and the Judge before whom said cause was

tried hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and

correct narrative statement of the evidence in the

above entitled cause and that the same is now by me
duly settled, allowed, and approved within the judg-
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ment term as the Statement of Evidence in said

cause.

Dated this 30th day of November, 1937.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge.

[Endorsed]: Lodged in Clerk's Office November

18, 1937. Filed Nov. 30, 1937. [309]

Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Assignment of

Errors of the United States was filed herein, in the

words and figures following, to-wit: [310]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS
Comes now the defendant, the United States of

America, and files the following Assignment of

Errors upon which it relies in prosecution of its

appeal from the decree in said suit made and en-

tered by the above entitled court on November 14,

1937, viz.:

I.

The Court erred in overruling the motions of the

defendant, the United States of America, to dis-

miss the original and the amended Bills of Com-
plaint.

II.

The Court erred in overruling the motion of the

defendant, the United States of America, for judg-

ment upon the pleadings.
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III.

The Court erred in holding that the defendant,

the United States of America, has consented to be

sued in this action. [311]

lY.

The Court erred in entering judgment against

the defendant, the United States of America.

V.

The Court erred in holding in effect that the

plaintiff, Agues Mclntire and the defendants, the

United States of America, Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, are tenants in common or joint tenants

in the use of the waters of Mud Creek.

VI.

The Court erred in holding that the plaintiff,

Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants, A. M. Sterling

and Alex Pablo, are entitled to appropriate the

waters of Mud Creek, not to exceed one inch per

acre, to irrigate described lands belonging to said

phiintiff and defendants.

VII.

The Court erred in holding that the right to

the use of the waters of Mud Creek for irrigation

became appurtenant to described lands, now owned

by the plaintiff and the defendants, A. M. Sterling

and Alex Pablo, by reason of an appropriation of

such waters by the predecessor in interest of the

plaintiff and of the above named defendants.
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VIII.

The Court erred in finding that the above men-

tioned appropriation of the waters of Mud Creek

by the predecessor in interest of the plaintiff and of

the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, has

never been abandoned.

IX.

The Court erred in holding that the maintenance

of a dam in Mud Creek, by the defendant, Henry

Oerharz, acting for the defendant, the United States

of America, as Engineer and Project Manager of

the Flathead Indian Reclamation Project, by which

dam the plaintiff and the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, are deprived of the use of

the waters of Mud Creek, is unlawful. [312]

Now, therefore, defendant prays that the decree

herein be reversed.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [313]

o.

Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Assignment of

Errors of the Secretary of the Interior was filed

herein, in the words and figures following, to-wit:

[314]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS
Comes now the defendant, the Secretary of the

Interior, in the above entitled cause, and files the

following Assignment of Errors upon which he re-

lies in prosecution of his appeal from the decree in

said suit made and entered by the above entitled

Court on November 14, 1937, viz.:

I.

The Court erred in overruling the motion of the

defendant, the Secretary of the Interior, to dismiss

the original Bill of Complaint.

II.

The Court erred in entering judgment against the

defendant, the Secretary of the Interior. [315]

Now, therefore, the defendant prays that the

decree herein be reversed.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S.

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [316]

Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Assignment of

Errors of Henry Gerharz was filed herein, in the

words and figures following, to-wit: [317]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS
Comes now the defendant, Henry Gerharz, En-

gineer and Project Manager of the Flathead In-

dian Reservation, and files the following Assign-

ment of Errors upon which he relies in prosecution

of his appeal from the decree in said suit made

and entered by the above entitled court on Novem-

ber 14, 1937, viz.:

I.

The Court erred in overruling the motions of

the defendant, Henry Gerharz, to dismiss the origi-

nal and the amended Bills of Complaint.

II.

The Court erred in entering judgment against the

defendant, Henry Gerharz. [318]

III.

The Court erred in holding that the plaintiff,

Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants, A. M. Sterling

and Alex Pablo, are entitled to appropriate the

waters of Mud Creek, not to exceed one inch per

acre, to irrigate described lands belonging to said

plaintiff and defendants.

IV.

The Court erred in holding that the right to the

use of the waters of Mud Creek for irrigation be-

came appurtenant to described lands, now owned

by the plaintiff and the defendants, A. M. Sterling

and Alex Pablo, by reason of an appropriation of

such waters by the predecessor in interest of the

plaintiff and of the above named defendants.
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V.

The Court erred in finding that the above men-

tioned appropriation of the waters of Mud Creek

by the predecessor in interest of the plaintiff and

of the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling,

has never been abandoned.

VI.

The Court erred in holding that the maintenance

of a dam in Mud Creek, by the defendant, Henry

Gerharz, acting for the defendant, the United States

of America, as Engineer and Project Manager of

the Flathead Indian Reclamation Project, by which

dam the plaintiff and the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, are deprived of the use of

the waters of Mud Creek, is unlawful.

VII.

The Court erred in holding that the above men-

tioned maintenance of a dam in Mud Creek by the

defendant, Henry Gerharz, is a trespass for

which the defendant, Henry Gerharz, must per-

sonally account and for which his employment is

no defense. [319]

Now, therefore, defendant prays that the decree

herein be reversed.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana
KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S.

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [320]
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Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Assignment of

Errors of the members of the Flathead Tribe of

Indians was filed herein, in the words and figures

following, to-wit: [321]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Come now the defendants, Lou Goodale Bigelow

Krout, Alphonse Clairmont, Alice Clairmont, Henry

Claii-mont, Grace Clairmont, B. D. Liebel, Peter

Oliver Dupuis, Mary Pablo, Chas. Ferguson, Fred

& Emil Klossner, Emanuel Huber, Joseph A.

Paquette, Fred C. Guenzler, Amiie Raitor, Clarence

Bilile, Alex Sloan, Jacob M. Remiers, Adminis-

trator of the estate of R. W. Jamison, deceased,

George Sloane, Hattie Rose Sloan Hastings, Helga

Vessey, E. B. Hendricks, Lillian Clairmont Thomas,

Eugene Clairmont, Edwin Dupuis, Gertrude A.

Stimson, W. B. Demmick, Rose Ashley, Henry

Ashley and W. A. Dupuis, members of the Flat-

head Tribe of Indians, in the above entitled cause,

and file the following Assignment of Errors upon

which they rely in prosecution of their appeal from

the decree in said suit made and entered by the

above entitled Court on November 14, 1937, viz.

:

[322]

I.

The Court erred in entering judgment against

the defendants, members of the Flathead Tribe of

Indians.



Agnes Melntire, et dl. 351

II.

The Court erred in holding that the plaintiff,

Agnes Melntire, and the defendants, A. M. Sterling

and Alex Pablo, are entitled to appropriate the

waters of Mud Creek, not to exceed one inch per

acre, to irrigate described lands belonging to said

plaintiff and defendants.

III.

The Court erred in holding that the right to the

use of the waters of Mud Creek for irrigation be-

came appurtenant to described lands, now owned by

the plaintiff and the defendants, A. M. Sterling

and Alex Pablo, by reason of an appropriation of

isnch waters by the predecessor in interest of the

plaintiff and of the above named defendants.

lY.

The Court erred in finding that the above men-

tioned appropriation of the waters of Mud Creek

b}^ the predecessor in interest of the x^laintiff and

of the defendant, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling,

has never been abandoned.

V.

The Court erred in holding that the maintenance

of a dam in Mud Creek, by the defendant, Henry

Gerharz, acting for the defendant, the United States

of America, as Engineer and Project Manag^er of

the Flathead Indian Reclamation Project, by which

dam the plaintiff and the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, are deprived of the use of the

waters of Mud Creek, is unlawful.
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Now, therefore, defendants pray that the decree

herein be reversed.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S.

[Endorsed] : Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [323]

Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Petition for

Allowance of Appeal of the United States of

America, et al., was filed herein, in the words and

figures following, to-wit: [324]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PETITION FOR ALLOWANCE OF APPEAL
The United States of America, Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior, Henry Gerharz, Project

Engineer of the Flathead Irrigation Project and the

nineteen members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians,

defendants in this action, feeling themselves ag-

grieved by the decree made and entered in this cause

on the 17th day of November, 1937, do hereby ap-

peal from said decree to the Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, for the reasons speci-

fied in the Assignment of Errors which is filed here-

with, and said defendants pray that their ^appeal

be all-owed and that citation issue as provided by

law, and that the transcript of record, proceedings

and papers upon which said decree was based, duly
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authenticated be sent to the United States Circuit

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit sitting in

the City and Coimty of San Francisco, State of

California. [325]

Dated this 20th day of January, 1938.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana
KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS

District Counsel, Dept. of Interior

U. S. Indian Irrigation Service,

Counsel for Defendants.

[Endorsed] : Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [326]

Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Prayer for Re-

versal of the United States of America., et al., was

filed herein, in the words and figures following,

to-wit: [327]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PRAYER FOR REVERSAL
Come now the defendants, the United States of

America, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the In-

terior, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of the

Flathead Irrigation Project, and the nineteen mem-
bers of the Flathead Tribe of Indians and pray

that the decree entered herein in the District Court

of the United States in and for the District of

Montana on the 17th day of November, 1937, be

reversed by the United States Circuit Court of
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Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, and that such other

and further orders as may be fit and proper in the

premises be made in the above entitled cause by

said Circuit Court of Appeals.

Dated this 20th day of January, 1938.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, Dept. of Interior,

U. S. Indian Irrigation Service.

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [328]

Thereafter, on January 24, 1938, Order Allowing

Appeal of the United States of America, et al.,

was filed herein, and was duly entered herein on

January 25, 1938, being in the words and figures

following, to-wit: [329]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER ALLOWING APPEAL
Upon reading and considering the j>etition for

appeal on file herein, together with the assignment

of errors on file herein

:

It is hereby ordered that the appeal of the United

States of America, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of

the Interior, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of

the Flathead Irrigation Project, and the nineteen

members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians, defend-

ants and appellants, to the United States Circuit
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Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, be and the

same is hereby allowed.

Dated this 24th day of January, 1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judg-e

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 24, 1938. [330]

Thereafter, on Januar}^ 29, 1938, Citation on

Appeal, issued by the Court on January 24, 1938,

was dul}^ filed herein, the original Citation being

hereto annexed and being in the words and figures

following, to-wit : [331]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

CITATION ON APPEAL

The President of the L^nited States of America : To

Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff in the above entitled

action, and Elmer E. Hershey, her attorney:

You are hereby notified that in the above entitled

cause in equity in the United States District Court

in and for the District of Montana an appeal has

been allowed to the United States Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ; and you are hereby

cited and admonished to be and appear in said Cir-

cuit Court of Appeals on or before 30 days from

the date of signing this citation, to show cause, if

any there be, why the decree appealed from should

not be corrected and speedy justice done the parties

in that behalf.
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Witness, the Honorable Charles N. Pray, Judge

of the District Court of the United States for the

District of Montana, the 24th day of January, 1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge. [332]

Service of a copy of the above citation is hereby

acknowledged this 27th day of January, 1938.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

POPE & SMITH
By RUSSELL E. SMITH

Attorneys for Flathead Irri-

gation District.

JOHN P. SWEE
Attorney for Alex Pablo and

A. M. Sterling [333]

[Endorsed] : Filed Jan. 29, 1938. [334]

Thereafter, on February 2, 1938, Petition for

Allowance of Appeal of the Flathead Irrigation

District was duly filed herein, in the words and

figures following, to-wit

:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PETITION FOR ALLOWANCE OF APPEAL

To the Hon. Charles N. Pray, District Judge:

The Flathead Irrigation District, a corporation,

defendant in this action, feeling aggrieved by the

decree made and entered in this cause on the 17tli
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day of November, 1937, and for the purpose of join-

ing in the appeal of the United States of America,

Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, Henry

Gerharz, Project Engineer of the Flathead Irriga-

tion Project, and nineteen members of thcPl^thead

Tribe of Indians, heretofore taken and perfected in

this cause, does hereby appeal from said decree to

the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

for the reasons specified in the Assignment of Er-

rors which is filed herewith, and said defendant

prays that its ap]:)eal be allowed and that citation

issue as provided by law, and that the transcript

of record, proceedings and papers upon which said

decree was based, duly authenticated be sent to the

United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the

Ninth Circuit sitting in the City and County of

San Francisco, State of Montana.

And your petitioner further prays that a proper

order relating to the security to be required of it

be made.

Dated this 31st day of January, 1938.

WALTER L. POPE
RUSSELL E. SMITH

Missoula, Montana.

Solicitors for defendant, Flat-

head Irrigation District, a

Corporation.

[Endorsed] : Filed February 2, 1938. [335]
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Thereafter, on February 2, 1938, Assignment of

Errors of the Flathead Irrigation District was duly

filed . herein, in the words and figures following,

to-wit

:

[Title of District Court and Cause.] |

ASSIGNMENT OF EERORS

Comes now the defendant, Flathead Irrigation

District, a Corporation, and makes and files the

following assignment of errors, upon which it relies

in the prosecution of its appeal from the decree in

the above entitled cause made and entered by the

above entitled Court on November 14, 1937, viz:

I.

The Court erred in overruling the motion of the

defendant, Flathead Irrigation District, to dismiss

the last Amended Bill of Complaint.

II.

The Court erred in entering judgment against the

defendant, Flathead Irrigation District.

III.

The Court erred in holding in effect that the

plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants. The

United States of America, Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, are tenants in common or joint tenants in

the use of the waters of Mud Creek.

IV.

The Court erred in holding that the waters of

Mud Creek are now, or ever have been, subject to

i
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'private appropriation by the plaintiff, Agnes Mc-

lntire, or by the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling.

V.

The Court erred in holding that the rights of the

plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants, Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling, to the use of the waters

of Mud Creek are prior to the rights of the United

States and the defendant, Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict. [336]

VI.

The Court erred in holding and finding that the

lands of the plaintiff and the defendants, Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling, required one inch to the

acre for the proper irrigation thereof.

VII.

The Court erred in holding that the right to the

use of the waters of Mud Creek for irrigation be-

came appurtenant to the lands now owTied by plain-

tiff, Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, by reason of an appropriation

of said waters by the predecessors in interest of the

plaintiff and of said defendants.

VIII.

The Court erred in holding that the plaintiff,

Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, are entitled to the use of one

inch per acre of the waters of Mud Creek to irrigate

the described lands belonging to the plaintiff and

said defendants.
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IIX.

The Court erred in holding that the maintenance

of a dam in Mud Creek by the defendant, Henry

Gerharz, acting for the defendant, The United

States of America, as Engineer and Project Man-

ager of Flathead Reclamation Project, by which

dam the plaintiff and the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M, Sterling, are deprived of the use of the

waters of Mud Creek, is unlawful.

X.

The Court erred in finding that the above-men-

tioned appropriations of the waters of Mud Creek

by the predecessors in interest of the plaintiff and

the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, have

never been abandoned.

Wherefore, this defendant prays that the decree

herein be reversed.

Dated this 31st day of January, 1938.

WALTER L. POPE
RUSSELL E. SMITH

Attorneys for Defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District

[Endorsed] : Filed February 2, 1938. [337]

Thereafter, on February 14, 1938, Order Allow-

ing Appeal of Flathead Irrigation District was

filed herein, in the words and figures following,

to-wit

:



Agnes Mclntire, et al. 361

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER ALLOWING APPEAL
Upon reading and considering the petition for

appeal on file herein, together with the assignment

of errors on file herein

;

It Is Hereby Ordered that the appeal of Flathead

Irrigation District, a corporation, defendant and

appellant, to the United States Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, be and the same is

hereby allowed upon the defendant giving bond as

required by law in the sum of $500.00.

Dated this 5th day of Febmary, 1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed February 14, 1938. [338]

Thereafter, on February 14, 1938, Undertaking

on Appeal of Flathead Irrigation District w^as filed

herein, in the words and figures following, to-wit:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

UNDERTAKING ON APPEAL
Whereas, the defendant, Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict, in the above entitled action has petitioned the

above named court for an order allowing its appeal

to the Circuit Court of Api)eals of the United

States, for the Ninth Circuit, from that certain judg-

ment entered in the above entitled action on the
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17th day of November, 1937, in favor of the plain-

tiff and the defendants, Sterhng and Pablo, and

against the defendant, Flathead Irrigation District

;

and

Whereas, the above named court has by its order

duly given, made and entered, allowed the said ap-

peal of the defendant upon its furnishing good and

sufficient security in the sum of $500.00 that it, as

said appellant, shall prosecute its appeal to effect,

and if it fail to make its plea good, shall answer

all costs

;

Now, Therefore, the undersigned, United States

Fidelity and Guaranty Company, a corporation, al-

lowed to become surety under and by virtue of the

laws of the United States and of the State of Mon-

tana upon bonds and undertakings, in consideration

of the premises and of the aforesaid appeal, does

hereby jointly and severally undertake in the sum

of $500.00, and promise to the effect that said de-

fendant as said appellant will prosecute its appeal

in the above entitled action to effect, and, if it fail

to make its plea good, shall answer all costs only,

not exceeding the said sum of $500.00.

The undersigned hereby expressly agrees that in

case of any breach of any condition of this under-

taking the above named court may upon notice to

the undersigned of not less than ten (10) days,

proceed summarily in the above entitled action in

which this undertaking is given, to ascertain the

amomit which the undersigned as surety upon this
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undertaking is bound to pay on account of such

breach thereof by the defendant, and render judg-

ment therefor against the undersigned and award

execution therefor. [339]

In. Witness Whereof, said corporation has here-

unto caused its name to be subscribed and its seal

to be affixed by its agent thereunto duly authorized,

this 11th day of February, 1938.

UNITED STATES FIDELITY
[Seal] & GUARANTY COMPANY

Baltimore, Maryland

By ARTHUR E. DREW
Its Attorney in Fact

The foregoing undertaking is approved this 14th

day of February, 1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
District Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed February 14, 1938. [340]

Thereafter, on February 19, 1938, Citation on

Appeal, issued by the Court on February 5, 1938,

was duly filed herein, the original Citation being

hereto annexed and being in the words and figures

following, to-wit: [341]
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[Title of District Coiixt and Cause.]

CITATION ON APPEAL
The President of the United States of America,

—

ss. to Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff in the above

entitled action, and to Elmer E. Hershey, her

attorney; Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, de-

fendants in the above entitled action, and to

John P. Swee, their attorney:

You, and Each of You, Are Hereby Cited and

Admonished to be and appear in the United States

Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, at

the City of San Francisco, State of California,

thirty (30) days from the date hereof, pursuant to

an order allowing an appeal from the District Court

of the United States for the [342] District of Mon-

tana, Missoula Division, in a suit wherein United

States of America, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of

the Interior, Henry Gerharz, Project Manager of

the Flathead Reclamation Project, Lou Goodale

Bigelow Krout, Alphonse Clairmont, Alice Clair-

mont, Henry Clairmont, Grace Clairmont, B. D.

Liebel, Peter Oliver Dupuis, Mary Pablo, Chas.

Ferguson, Fred & Emil Klossner, Emanuel Huber,

Joseph A. Paquette, Fred C. Guenzler, Annie Raitor,

Clarence Bilile, Alex Sloan, Jacob M. Ramiers,

Administrator of the estate of R. W. Jamison, de-

ceased, George Sloane, Hattie Rose Sloan Hastings,

Helga Vessey, E. D. Hendricks, Lillian Clairmont

Thomas, Eugene Clairmont, Edwin Dupuis, Ger-
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triide A. Stimson, W. B. Deinmick, Rose Ashley,

Henry Ashley, W. A. Dupuis, and Flathead Irri-

gation District, a Corporation, are appellants, and

3^ou, the said Agnes Mclntire, A. M. Sterling and

Alex Pablo are appellees, to show cause, if any

there be, why the decree rendered against the said

appellants should not ])e corrected, and w^hy speedy

justice should not be done to the parties on that

behalf.

Witness the Hon. Charles N. Pray, Judge of the

District Court of the United States for the District

of Montana, the 5th day of February, 1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge. [343]

Service of the foregoing Citation on Appeal

acknowledged this 9th day of February, 1938.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff, Agnes

Mclntire.

JOHN P. SWEE
Attorney for Defendants, A. M.

Sterling and Alex Pablo. [344]

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb. 19. 1938. [345]

Thereafter, on February 19, 1938, Amended Cita-

tion on Appeal, issued by the Court on February

11, 1938, was duly filed herein, which original

Amended Citation on Appeal is hereto annexed and

is in the words and figures following, to-wit : [346]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

AMENDED CITATION ON APPEAL
The President of the United States of America ; To

Agnes Mclntire, plaintiff in the above entitled

action, and Elmer E. Hershey, Esq., her attor-

ney; Flathead Irrigation District, a corpora-

tion, defendant in the above entitled action,

and Messrs. Pope and Smith, defendant's

attorneys; and to Alex Pablo and A. M. Ster-

ling, defendants in the above entitled action

and John P. Swee, Esq., their attorney:

You are hereby notified that in the above entitled

cause in equity in the United States District Court

in and for the District of Montana an appeal has

been allowed to the United States Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ; and you are hereby

cited and admonished to be and appear in said

Circuit Court of Appeals on or before 30 days from

the date of signing this citation, to show cause, if

any there be, why the decree appealed from should

not be corrected and speedy justice done the parties

in that behalf. [347]

Witness, the Honorable Charles N. Pray, Judge

of the District Court of the United States for the

District of Montana, the 11th day of February,

1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
Judge.
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Service of a copy of the above citation is hereby

acknowledged this 14th day of February, 1938.

ELMER E. HEESHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff, Agnes

Mclntire

POPE AND SMITH
By RUSSELL E. SMITH

Attorneys for Defendant, Flat-

head Irrigation District.

Service of a copy of the ahove citation is hereby

acknowledged this day of February, 1938.

JOHN P. SWEE
Attorney for Defendants, Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling

[Endorsed] : Filed February 19, 1938. [348]

Thereafter, on February 19, 1938, Praecipe of

the United States of America, et al., for transcript

of record on appeal was duly filed herein, in the

words and figures following, to-wit: [350]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PRAECIPE
To the Clerk of the above entitled Court

:

You will please prepare a transcript of the record

to be filed in the United States Circuit Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, pursuant to an ap-

peal allowed in the above entitled cause, and in-

corporate in such transcript of record the following

papers or exhibits.
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I.

Original bill of complaint, and subpoena in equity

filed and issued February 13, 1934, Affidavit of

Return of Service upon the United States of E. E.

Hershey, Esq. filed March 20, 1934, motion (ex

parte) to direct the defendant, Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior to appear, filed March 22,

1934, order of court of March 23, 1934, directing de-

fendant Ickes, to appear, return of service of order

of March 23, 1934 and original bill of complaint

on defendant, Ickes, by United States Marshal at

Washington, D. C, on March 30, 1934, [351] Special

Appearance and Objection to Jurisdiction of de-

fendants, Ickes, the United States of America and

Henry Gerharz, Project Manager, filed April 9,

1934^ order of court of April 16, 1934 den}dng Ob-

jections to Jurisdiction of said defendants; answers

of defendants, the United States of America and

Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer to the original

bill of complaint; replies to the above answers by

the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire; first amended bill of

complaint; motions to dismiss of defendants Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling to the first amended bill

of complaint; order of Court allowing appearances

of the defendants. United States, Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior, and Henry Gerharz,

Project Engineer made to the original bill of com-

plaint to stand; second amended bill of complaint;

special appearances of the defendants, the United

States of America and Henry Gerharz, Project En-

gineer to the second amended bill of complaint;

motion to dismiss of the defendants;, the United

States of America, the nineteen members of the
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Flathead Tril^e of Indians, and Alex Pablo and

A. M. Sterling; motion to dismiss of the defendant,

the Flathead Irrigation District; motion for judg-

ment on the pleadings of the defendant, the United

States of America; answers to second amended bill

of complaint of the defendants, the United States

of America, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer,

Flathead Irrigation Project, and nineteen members

of th(^ Flathead Tribe of Indians; answers of de-

fendant, Flathead Irrigation District, and of defend-

ants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling; replies of

plaintiff, to said answers of defendants.

11.

Service, if any, upon Harold L. Ickes, Secretary

of the Interior, of either the first or second amended

bills of complaint.

III.

The opinion of the Court after trial of the issues.

IV.

Order dated October 27, 1937 granting extension

to lodge statement of evidence, petition for rehear-

ing dated October 27, 1937 [352] of defendant, Flat-

head Irrigation District, and minute order of the

Court denying such petition.

V.

Proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law,

and objections thereto of all parties; adopted find-

ings of fact and conclusions of law; decree,

VI.

The statement of the evidence signed and approved
herein.
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VII.

Petition for allowance of appeal; order allowing

appeal
;
prayer for reversal ; assignments of errors

;

and amended citation on appeal.

VIII.

The praecipe with acknowledgment of service

thereon.

Said transcript to be prepared and fully certified

by you, as required by law and the rules of the

above entitled Court, o/iid the rules of the above

entitled Court, and the rules of the United States

Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.

Dated this 10th day of February, 1938.

JOHN B. TANSIL
United States Attorney for

the District of Montana

KENNETH R. L. SIMMONS
District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S.

Service of the foregoing Praecipe is hereby ac-

knowledged this 14 day of February, 1938.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attornej^ for Plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire

POPE & SMITH
By RUSSELL E. SMITH
Attorneys for Flathead Irrigation

District, a corporation

Service of the foregoing Praecipe is hereby ac-

knowledged this day of February, 1938.

JOHN P. SWEE
Attorney for defendants Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling

[Endorsed]: Filed Feb. 19, 1938. [353]



Agnes Mclyitire, et al. 371

Thereafter, on Februai\v 19, 1938, Praecipe of

Flathead Irrigation District to incorporate in tran-

script of record certain additional papers was filed

herein, in the words and figures following, to-wit:

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PRAECIPE

To the Clerk of the above Court:

You will please prepare a transcript of the rec-

ord to be filed in the United States Circuit Court

of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, pursuant to an

appeal allowed the defendant, Flathead Irrigation

District, a corporation, in the above entitled cause,

and incorporate in such transcript of record, in

addition to the matters incorporated therein pur-

suant to the praecipe of the United States Attorney

for the District of Montana and the District Coun-

sel of the United States Indian Irrigation Service,

the following:

Defendant Flathead Irrigation District's Peti-

tion for Appeal;

Defendant Flathead Irrigation District's Assign-

ment of Errors;

Order Allowing Appeal of defendant, Flathead

Irrigation District

;

Bond on Appeal;

Original Citation on Appeal;

This Praecipe;

Your Certificate to this Transcript.
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Dated this 14th day of February, 1938.

WALTER L. POPE
RUSSELL E. SMITH

SoHcitors for Defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District

Service of the foregoing Praecipe accepted and

receipt of a copy acknowledged this 15th day of

February, 1938.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Solicitor for Plaintiff

JOHN P. SWEE
Solicitor for Defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling

[Endorsed] : Filed February 19, 1938. [354]

Thereafter, on February 21, 1938,

PRAECIPE

of Plaintiff to incorporate in transcript of record

additional papers was duly filed herein, being in

the words and figures following, to-wit : [355]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

To the Clerk of the above entitled Court:

On February 10, 1938, I was served by appellants

in the above case a copy of a Praecipe which is in-

complete.

You will please add to said Praecipe on behalf of

appellees the Amended Bill of Exceptions of the

United States filed May 7, 1934, and the Amended
Bill of Exceptions of Harold L. Ickes, Secretary
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of the Interior, filed May 7, 1934, and the Return

of Service on the United States, and Request of

Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, to ap-

pear, filed March 21, 1934.

Dated this 14th day of February, 1938.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Attorney for Plaintiff

Copies to:

Kenneth R. L. Simmons, District Comisel,

Billings, Montana,

John B. Tansil, United States Attorney, Butte,

Montana.

State of Montana,

County of Missoula—ss.

Elmer E. Hershey, being first duly sworn accord-

ing to law, deposes and says : That on the 4th day

of February, 1938, he served the foregoing upon

Kenneth R. L. Simmons, at Billings, Montana, by

depositing in the United States post office a full,

true and correct copy thereof, secure of seal, post-

age prepaid, and addressed to Kenneth R. L. Sim-

mons, District Counsel, United States Indian Irri-

gation Service, Billings, Montana.

ELMER E. HERSHEY
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 14 day

of February, 1938.

[Seal] JAS. A. WALSH
Notary Public for the State of Montana.

Residing at Missoula, Montana.

My Commission expires October 21, 1938.

[Endorsed]: Filed Feb. 21, 1938. [356]
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Thereafter, on March 9, 1938, Order enlarging

time for tiling record on appeal in the United States

Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

was duly made and entered herein, in the words

and figures following, to-wit: [357]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER
For good cause appearing it is hereby ordered

that the return day of the Amended Citation issued

herein on February 11, 1938, and the time for filing

the record on appeal in this cause in the United

States Circuit Court of Ai3peals for the Ninth Cir-

cuit be enlarged and extended to and including the

11th day of April, 1938.

Dated March 9th, 1938.

CHARLES N. PRAY
United States District Judge for

the District of Montana. [358]

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE TO TRANSCRIPT
OF RECORD

United States of America,

District of Montana—ss.

I. C. R. Garlow, Clerk of the United States Dis-

trict Court for the District of Montana, do hereby

certify and return to the Honorable, the United

States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Cir-

cuit, that the foregoing volume, consisting of 359
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pages, numbered consecutively from 1 to 359 inclu-

sive, is a full, true and correct transcript of all por-

tions of the record and proceedings in case No.

1496, Agnes Mclntire vs. United States of Amer-

ica, et al., which have by praecipes been designated

to be incorporated into said transcript, (except

*' Service upon Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the

Interior, of either the first of second Amended Bill

of Complaint", and except "Motion to Dismiss of

Defendant the United States of America", of which

there is no record) as appears from the original

records and files of said Court in my custody as

such Clerk; and I do further certify and return

that I have annexed to said transcript and included

within said pages the original Citations issued in

said cause.

I further certifj^ that the costs of said transcript

of record amount to the sum of $52.60; that $8.00

of said amount has been paid by the Appellant Plat-

head Irrigation District, and the balance of said

costs has been made a charge against the United

States.

I further certify that, pursuant to the order of

said District Court, I transmit herewith, as a part

of the record on appeal, the following exhibits in-

troduced and received in evidence at the trial of

said cause, to-wit : Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 8-a, 9, 10,

11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25,

26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31 and 32.
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Witness my hand and the seal of said court at

Helena, Montana, this March 18th, A. D. 1938.

[Seal] C. R. GARLOW,
Clerk.

By H. H. WALKER
Deputy. [359]

[Endorsed]: No. 8797. United States Circuit

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. United

States of America, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of

the Interior, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of

the Flathead Irrigation Project, et al., Appellants,

vs. Agues Mclntire, Flathead Irrigation District,

a corporation, Alex Pablo, and A. M. Sterling,

Appellees. Flathead Irrigation District, a corpo-

ration, Appellant, vs. Agnes Mclntire, Alex Pablo,

and A. M. Sterling, Appellees. Transcript of Rec-

ord. Upon Appeals from the District Court of the

United States for the District of Montana.

Filed March 21, 1938.

PAUL P. O'BRIEN,

Clerk of the United States Circuit Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit.
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IN THE UNITED STATES CIRCUIT COURT OF
APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT.

STATEMENT OF THE PLEADINGS AND BASIS
OF JURISDICTION.

This is an appeal from a decree, rendered in a suit

in equity brought by the plaintiff, Agnes Melntire,

against the defendants. United States of America, Har-

old Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, Henry Gerharz,

Project Manager of the Flathead Reclamation Project,

Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling (the two defendants last

named are appellees in this court), Flathead Irriga-

tion District, a corporation, and certain defendants

designated as nineteen members of the Flathead Tribe

of Indians. The suit was brought for the dual pur-

pose, according to the prayer of the complaint, of (1)

partitioning the waters of Mud Creek and quieting

plaintiff's title to 160 inches of said water as partition-

ed, and (2) restraining the defendants from interfering

with plaintiff's water right as partitioned and quieted.

(R. 81)

An original and one amended complaint was filed

prior to the time that the Flathead Irrigation District

was made a party. (R. 2 and 60). On May 1, 1936,

the amended complaint which made the Flathead Irri-

gation District a party defendant and which framed

the issues upon which the case was tried, was filed,

evidently for the purpose of complying with the deci-

sion of this court in the case of Moody v. Johnston, 66



Fed. (2d) 999, to the effect that all interested parties

must be joined in such a suit. (R. 73)

This complaint alleges the execution and ratification

of the Flathead Treaty of July 16, 1855 (12 Stat. L. p.

975), which was proclaimed April 18, 1895, creating the

Flathead Reservation; that the Indians were encour-

aged to abandon their nomadic ways and become civiliz-

ed people on lands afterward allotted ; that the land on

the reservation is arid and requires one inch of water

per acre for proper irrigation ; that the Indians settled

on the reservation and are farming the same by use of

artificial irrigation. (Comp. Par. I, R. p. 74-75).

That Michel Pablo and Lizette Barnaby, both mem-
bers of the Flathead tribe, '*made allotment" for cer-

tain described lands. (Comp. Par. II, R. 75)

That on April 15, 1900, Michel Pablo, by means of a

ditch with a capacity of 160 inches, carried water from

Mud Creek to the allotments described in Paragraph

II of the complaint, and thereby appropriated the 160

inches of water which became appurtenant to the lands.

(Comp. Par. Ill, R. 75-76).

That on January 25, 1918, a fee patent issued to

Agatha Pablo, wife of Michel Pablo, covering the Mi-

chel Pablo allotment, and that on October 5, 1918, a

a fee patent issued to Agatha Pablo covering the Bar-

naby allotment and that plaintiff subsequently became

the owner in fee of the lands and the 160 inches of

water appurtenant. (Comp. Par. IV, R. 76).

That Congress passed the Act of June 21, 1906 (34

Stat. L. p. 354) amending the Act of April 23, 1904



(33 Stat. L. p. 302), providing for the allotment of In-

dian lands and the opening of the same for sale. That

from April 15, 1900, to the present date the water from

Mud Creek has been used on the lands and that ]3lain-

tiff claims 160 inches thereof. (Comp. Par. V. R. p.

76)

That no parties other than plaintiff and defendant,

United States, are using water; that said parties are

joint tenants and that the water can be partitioned.

(Comp. Par. VI, R. 77-78)

That defendant Ickes, Secretary of the Interior,

claims to be in charge of the Flathead Irrigation Proj-

ect and that defendant Gerharz claims to be project

manager. (Comp. Par. VIII, R. 79).

That defendants are claiming that plaintiff has no

right to the waters of Mud Creek and are preventing

water from flowing in plaintiff's ditch to plaintiff's

damage. (Comp. Par. IX, R. 79)

That the value of the water exceeds the sum of $3,-

000.00 ; that this action is necessary to prevent a mul-

tiplicity of suits; that plaintiff has no plain, speedy

and adequate remedy at law. (Comp. Pars. X, XI
XII, R. 79)

That the defendant, Flathead Irrigation District, is

a corporation and that all of the defendants make some

claim to the waters. (Comp. Pars. XIII, XIV, and

XV, R. 79-80).

The prayer asks that the United States be required

to set up its interest ; that the right of plaintiff be par-

titioned; that plaintiff be given a prior right of 160



inches and that the defendants be restrained from in-

terfering with plaintiff's water.

The answers filed by the defendants Alex Pablo and

A. M. Sterling contain cross-complaints based on sub-

stantially the same facts as set forth in the amended

complaint and claim an appropriation for both Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling as successors to portions of

the Michel Pablo appropriation. (R. p. 138)

The defendant, Flathead Irrigation District, filed

an answer which put in issue the rights of the plain-

tiff to appropriate water on an Indian Reservation (R.

121), and the plaintiff's ownership of any interest in

the water of Mud Creek (R. 122) and which set up the

incorporation of defendant district (R. 123), the

contracts of the defendant district with the United

States (R. 124), and claim of defendant that there is

not and never has been a right to take water upon the

Flathead Reservation other than through the Flathead

Irrigation Project. (R. 125-127).

By stipulation all new matter contained in the ans-

wers of all parties was deemed denied without need of a

written reply. (R. 335).

The jurisdiction of the district court in this suit is

based upon the provisions of the Judicial Code, para-

graph 25 (30 Stat. L. 416, 30 Stat. L. 1094, 28 U. S. C.

A., section 41, par. 25),providing for partition of lands

held in joint tenancy by the United States.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As is seen from the plaintiff's complaint herein, the



plaintiff claims by virtue of an appropriation thereof

a right to the waters of Mud Creek prior to that of the

United States and the remaining defendants. The de-

fendants, Sterling and Pablo likewise claim rights to

the waters of Mud Creek by virtue of private appro-

priations. (Answer of Pablo and Sterling, Tr. 138).

The only question which this appellant seeks to review

is whether the plaintiff and the defendants Pablo and

Sterling are entitled to water from Mud Creek aside

from their rights under the Flathead Irrigation Proj-

ect and if so the nature of those rights.

A. Creation and Purpose of Defendant. Flathead

Irrigation District.

The appellant, Flathead Irrigation District, is a

public corporation organized under the laws of Mon-

tana (Sections 7166 to 7194.8 R.C.M. 1935) for the

purpose of cooperating with the United States in the

construction of irrigation works and projects and pur-

suant to the Acts of Congress of May 10, 1926 (44 Stat.

464-466), January 12, 1927 (44 Stat. 945), March 7,

1928 (45 Stat. 212-213), March 4, 1929 (45 Stat. 1574),

March 4, 1929 (45 Stat. 1639-1640), and May 14, 1930

(46 Stat. 291) (Tr. p. 270, Def 's. Ex. 16) The Flathead

Irrigation District, after its creation, entered into con-

tracts with the United States (T. 269-270-328), where-

by the said district will upon repayment to the United

States become the owner of the Flathead Irrigation

Project. Since the appellant irrigation district is un-

der contract to pay for the project, it is vitally interest-

ed in the rights of the United States as the present own-
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er of the project to the waters of Mud Creek.

B. Creation of Eeservation.

The Flathead Indian Reservation was created by the

Flathead Treaty executed July 16, 1855 and proclaimed

April 18, 1859 (12 Stat. 975) Under the treaty the

Flathead Nation ceded to the United States a large

tract of land and there was reserved for the "exclu-

sive use and benefit of said tribes as an Indian Reser-

vation" a smaller tract. Section VI of the treaty pro-

vided :

*'The President may from time to time, at his

discretion, cause the whole, or such portion of
such reservation as he may think proper, to be sur-

veyed into lots, and assign the same to such indi-

viduals or families of the said confederated tribes

as are willing to avail themselves of the privilege,

and will locate on the same as a permanent home,
on the same terms and subject to the same regula-
tions as are provided in the sixth article of the
treaty with the Omahas, so far as the same may
be applicable."

C. Origin of Rights Claimed by Plaintiff and Defen-

dants Pablo and Sterling.

The record shows that by the year 1891 Michel Pablo,

a Flathead Indian was living on what was known as

the "Pablo Place" and had dug a ditch taking water

from Mud Creek for the land. (R. p. 242) From this

ditch the tracts later alloted to Alex Pablo, Agatha Pab-

lo and Michel Pablo and Joe Pablo were irrigated. (R.

P. 241) The ditch was so dug that the water could be

used on what was later the Barnaby allotment. (R. p.

240). A notice of appropriation dated Nov. 12, 1937,



(apparently an error) claiming 560 inches of water as

of Ai^ril 15, 1900, was admitted over objection. (R. p.

319Defs. Exl9).

At the time of the claimed appropriation the reser-

vation had not been opened to settlement and no allot-

ments in severalty had been made. In 1904, Congress

by its act of April 23rd, 1904 (24 Stat. L. 302) provid-

ed for the survey of the reservation, the allotment of

lands in severalty and the sale of surplus unalloted

lands. It was stipulated at the trial that no trust

patents issued for lands in the Flathead Reservation

prior to October 8, 1908 (R. p. 333).

The plaintiff claims as the successor of Agatha Pablo

who on January 25, 1918 received a fee patent for the

land which had been alloted to Michel Pablo (R. p.

232, Pfs. Ex. 1) and who on October 5th, 1916 received

a fee patent for land which had been alloted to Lizette

Barnaby (R. p. 234, Pfs. Ex. 2). Plaintiff secured

title to these lands on September 25th, 1924 by virtue

of a sheriff's deed which issued after the foreclosure

of a mortgage. (R. p. 235, Pfs. Ex. 3) The record

does not show the chain of title to the lands of Sterling

and Alex Pablo except that Alex Pablo testified that

he was a ward of the government and owned an allot-

ment (R. pp 315) and it was stipulated that A. M. Ster-

ling is the owner of the South half of the Northeast

quarter of Section fourteen. Township twenty-one

North, Range twenty West. (This stipulation is ap-

parently incorrect because Sterling in his answer

claims the Northwest not the Northeast quarter. This
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appellant does not however make any point of this

error.) All of the appellees are thus claiming through

the appropriation alleged to have been made by Michel

Pablo.

D. History of Flathead Irrigation Project.

The Act of Congress, April 23, 1904 (33 Stat. L. 302)

which provided for the allotment of lands in severalty

to the Flathead Indians, and provided for the sale of

surplus unalloted lands, j^rovided in Section 14, for the

use of the proceeds of the sale of surplus unallotted

lands, in part, as follows:

"One-half shall be expended from time to time
by the Secretary of the Interior as he may deem
advisable for the benefit of the said Indians and
such persons having tribal rights on the reserva-

tion, including the Lower Pend d 'Oreille or Kalis-

pel thereon at the time that this act shall take ef-

fect, in the construction of irrigation ditches, the

purchase of stock, cattle, farming implements, or
other necessary articles to aid the Indians in farm-
ing and stock raising, and in the education and civ-

ilization of said Indians, and the remaining half to

be paid to the said Indians and such persons having
tribal rights on the reservation, including the Low-
er Pend d 'Oreille or Kalispel thereon at the date

of the proclamation provided for in section nine

hereof, or expended on their account, as they may
elect." (Italics supplied)

The report of the Commissioner of Indians Affairs

for the year 1907 shows

:

"On April 26, 1907, the Director of the Recla-

mation Service was asked to make a preliminary
investigation on the Flathead Reservation in Mon-
tana to enable me to recommend the legislation

needed for an adequate system of irrigation for



the Indians to be allotted and for the lands to be
disposed of under act of April 23, 1904. (33 Stat.

L. 302) No report has yet been received from him."

(Annual Reports of Department of Interior—Admin-

istrative 1907 Volume 2, p. 52). We ask the court to

take judicial notice of this report as a public document.

The Bureau of Reclamation for the purpose of pro-

viding waters for the Indian lands to be allotted and

the surplus unalloted lands made a survey in the Flat-

head area in 1907 and 1908 as shown by the report of

the Bureau of Reclamation for that year. (7th Annual

Report Reclamation Service p. 100-101, Defendant

Flathead Irrigation Dist. Ex. 31, R. 334). The funds

for this work were provided by Act April 30, 1908 (35

Stat. L. p. 83) which is as follows

:

"For preliminary surveys, plans and estimates

of irrigating systems to irrigate the allotted lands

of the Indians of the Flathead Reservation in Mon-
tana and the unallotted irrigable lands to be dis-

posed of under the act of April twenty-third, nine-

teen hundred and four, entitled 'An Act for the

survey and allotment of lands now embraced with-

in the limits of the Flathead Indian Reservation in

the State of Montana, and the sale and disposal of

all surplus lands after allotment, ' and to begin the

construction of the same, fifty thousand dollars,

the cost of said entire work to be reimbursed from
the proceeds of the sale of the lands within said

reservation.
'

'

Engineer Stockton testified that as a representative of

the Reclamation Service he went to the Flathead Reser-

vation in 1907 and made a survey for the purpose of

determining the best possible distribution to be made

of the natural resources of the reservation (Record p.
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253 and Defendants Ex. 8 E. 254). Stockton laid out

a system of irrigation and estimated the irrigable acre-

age (R. p. 255). At that time it was planned to use

the waters of Mud Creek, the idea being to take up all

the water available and provide as much storage as pos-

sible to get the greatest possible useful development of

the lands on the reservation. (R. 256) Later the Pablo

feeder canal was designed and constructed to conserve

the waters of Mud Creek and other small streams. (R.

p. 256 and 258).

The Act of Congress of May 29, 1908 (35 Stat. L.

488), amending Section 9 of the Act of April 23, 1904

(33 Stat. L. 302) provided generally for the sale of un-

allotted lands and the price thereof and also provided

for the manner in which purchasers should pay for

water rights; the act then provided in Section 9, rela-

tive to Indian allotees, as follows

:

"The lands irrigable under the systems herein
provided, which has been allotted to Indians in

severalty, shall be deemed to have a right to so
much water as may be required to irrigate such
lands without cost to the Indians for construction
of such irrigation systems. The purchaser of any
Indian allotment, purchased prior to the expira-

tion of the trust period thereon, shall be exempt
from any and all charge for construction of the
irrigation system incurred up to the time of such
purchase. All lands allotted to Indians shall bear
their pro rata share of the cost of the operation
and maintenance of the system under which they
lie." (Italics supplied.)

and further provided in Section 14 for the disposal of

the proceeds of the sale of surplus lands as follows

:
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''That the proceeds received from the sale of
said lands in conformity with this act shall be paid
into the Treasury of the United States, and after

deducting the expenses of the commission, of class-

ification and sale of lands, and such other inci-

dental expenses as shall have been necessarily in-

curred, and expenses of the survey of the land,

shall be expended or paid, as follows: So much
thereof as the Secretary of the Interior may deem
advisable in the construction of irrigation systems,

for the irrigation of the irrigable lands embraced
within the limits of said reservation; one half of
the money remaining after the construction of said

irrigation systems to be expended by the Secretary
of the Interior as he may deem advisable for the

benefit of said Indians in the purchase of live

stock, farming implements, or the necessary ar-

ticles to aid said Indians in farming and stock rais-

ing and in the education and civilization of said

Indians and persons holding tribal rights on said

reservation, semi-annually as the same shall be-

come available, share and share alike: Provided,
That the Secretary of the Interior may withhold
from any Indian a sufficient amount of his pro
rata share to pay any charge assessed against land
held in trust for him for operation and mainte-
nance of irrigation system," (Italics supplied)

Thereafter and from year to year various measures

were passed appropriating money for the construction

of the project and the cost to June 30, 1936, was $7,-

499,105.85 (R. p. 265).

The waters of Mud Creek affect approximately 80,-

000 acres in the Mission Valley Division, which includes

the greater portion of the Flathead Irrigation District.

(R. 262, 265-266) These waters are used upon lands

which had no water prior to the construction of the
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system (R. 330) and even with the waters of Mud Creek

there is a shortage of water for the lands under the

project. (R. p. 259, 329, 332).

E. The Recognition by the United States of Private

Rights

The record shows certain acts of the Secretary of

the Interior recognizing private water rights on the

reservation. (R. 271 to 293, and 295 to 296, also R.

296 to 310.) This appellant raises no question with

respect to these rights and any extended discussion of

them would simply reiterate matters contained in the

brief of the United States and other appealing defend-

ant. The defendants claim apart from the rights ad-

judicated by the Secretary of the Interior and it is with

the rights claimed in excess of those granted by the

department that this appellant is concerned.

F. Duty of Water and Abandonment.

There is considerable evidence in the record with

respect to the duty of water and the bandonment of the

rights of plaintiff and defendants Sterling and Pablo.

However, since these matters are urged by the United

States and since this appellant is concerned only with

the broader question of law involved we assign no er-

ror in this court with respect to the findings of the

court on duty of water and abandonment and will re-

frain from setting forth the facts relative thereto.

G. Rights of the Plaintiff and Defendants Within

the Irrigation System.

The record shows that the lands of appellees are clas-

sified as irrigable and lie within the Flathead Irriga-
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tion District and have been assessed with operation

and maintenance charged by the United States (R. 294,

295). However, no demand has been made by plaintiff

for water from the system (R. 264) though plantiff 's

lands could be supplied within a short time (R. 262,

263).

The questions raised by this appeal are

1. Whether the plaintiff or the defendants Pablo

and Sterling have any private rights on the Flat-

head Reservation prior to the rights of the United

States, and other than those decreed by the Sec-

retary of the Interior, and

2. Whether the plaintiff and the defendants Pablo

and Sterling have any rights to take water from

Mud Creek (other than those adjudicated by the

Secretary of the Interior) except through the

Flathead Irrigation Project.

SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

The assigned errors which are to be relied upon are:

Assignment No. Page

II 358

III 358

IV 358

V 359

VII 359

IX 360

ARGUMENT
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.
(Note: When in this arguement appellant refers to
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private rights, it refers only to those which are

claimed apart from the adjudication of the Sec-

retary of the Interior).

I. That it has never been possible to create water

rights, with a date of priority, on the Flathead In-

dian Reservation, under the doctrine of prior ap-

propriation for:

A. The Flathead Treaty reserved the lands and

waters of the reservation for the Indians.

1. The reservation of lands and waters was for

the Indians as a tribe, not as individuals.

B. The United States thereupon became the trustee

of said lands and waters for the benefit of the

Indians as a tribe.

C. There has never been a law under which water

rights could be created on the Flathead Reserva-

tion by appropriation.

1. The State Law of appropriation did not apply.

2. There is no law of the United States creating

such rights, Section 19 of the Act of June 21,

1906 (34 Stat. L. 354) being a mere saving clause

and inoperative to create rights.

3. The idea of prior appropriation is repugnant to

any theory of equitable treatment of the Indians

on a reservation.

II. There is no right in plaintiff or appellee defend-

ants to take any water from the streams on the

reservation except as such parties would be entitled

to water from the Flathead Irrigation Project.

(We contend that the doctrine of U. S. vs. Powers
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et al (16 Fed. Supp. 155, affirmed 94 Fed. (2) 783)

cannot be applied to the Flathead Reservation.)

A. The record here shows that the appellees could

get water from the project system.

B. The United States, which sustained to the

Indians the guardian and ward relationship,

had plenary power to provide for the distribu-

tion of the waters of the reservation so as to

provide the greatest good for the greatest nmn-

ber, and the method designated by the United

States is the exclusive method.

C. The United States has indicated that rights to

water be obtained only through the project sys-

tem.

D. This did not disturb any vested rights because

the lands were made subject to the system be-

fore any private rights attached to the lands.

E. The system provided is the most equitable which

could be devised.

I. IT HAS NEVER BEEN POSSIBLE TO CRE-
ATE WATER RIGHTS WITH A DATE OF PRI-

ORITY UPON THE FLATHEAD INDIAN RES-
ERVATION, UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF PRI-

OR APPROPRIATION.
Assigimient Error No. II (R. p. 358)—The court

erred in entering judgment against the defendant,

Flathead Irrigation District.

Assignment Error No. IV (R. p. 358)—The Court er-

red in holding that the waters of Mud Creek are now,

or ever have been, subject to private appropriation
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by the plaintiff, Agnes Mclntire, or by the defend-

ants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling.

Assignment of Error No. V (R. p. 359)—The Court

erred in holding that the rights of the plaintiff, Ag-

nes Mclntire, and the defendants, Alex Pablo and

A. M. Sterling, to the use of the waters of Mud Creek

are prior to the rights of the United States and the

defendant, Flathead Irrigation District.

Assignment of Error No. VII (R. p. 359)—The Court

erred in holding that the right to the use of the wat-

ers of Mud Creek for irrigation became appurte-

nant to the lands now owned by plaintiff, Agnes Mc-

lntire, and the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, by reason of an appropriation of said wat-

ers by the predecessors in interest of the plaintiffs

and of said defendants.

Assignment of Error No. IV (R. p. 360)—The court

erred in holding that the maintenance of a dam in

Mud Creek by the defendant, Henry Gerharz, acting

for the defendant. The United States of America, as

Engineer and Project Manager of Flathead Recla-

mation Project, by which dam the j^laintiff and the

defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, are de-

prived of the use of the waters of Mud Creek, is un-

lawful.

If it be established that there can be no rights cre-

ated on the Flathead Reservation by prior appropria-

tion, then it is clear that the court erred in entering

judgment against the Flathead Irrigation District, (R.

225) in holding that the waters of Mud Creek were sub-
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ject to appropriation by plaintiff and defendants Pab-

lo and Sterling (R. 175, 210, 216, 218) in holding the

rights of respondents to be prior to the rights of the

United States (R. 171), in holding the waters of Mud
Creek to be appurtenant to the lands of respondents

(R. 210, 216, 218), and in holding that the maintenance

of a dam by the United States is unlawful. (R. 225).

A. THE FLATHEAD TREATY RESERVED
THE LANDS AND WATERS OF THE RESER-
VATION FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE INDIANS.
By Section 1 of the treaty of July 18, 1855 (12 Stat,

p. 975, 2 Kappler 542), the Flathead nation ceded to

the United States a large section of territory, and by

Section 2 of the treaty reserved for the use and occu-

pation of the Indians a smaller area, for the '* exclusive

use and benefit of said confederated tribes as an In-

dian Reservation." It is clear from all the authority

on this subject that the waters as well as the lands were

impliedly reserved for the benefit of the Indians.

Winter v. United States, 207 U. S. 564, 28 Sup. Ct.

207, 52 L. Ed. 340.

It is not questioned but that the waters were reserv-

ed for the Indians, but there is confusion as to the

meaning of the term '

' Indians.
'

' Does the word refer

to the tribe or does it refer to the individual members

of the tribe ?

1. THE RESERVATION WAS FOR THE BENE-
FIT OF THE INDIANS AS A TRIBE AND NOT
AS INDIVIDUALS.

In U. S. V. Powers et al (16 F. Supp. 155), the Dis-



18

trict Court held that under the Crow Treaty the res-

ervation was for the benefit of the Indians as individ-

uals. Whether the proposition was there correctly de-

cided is not necessary to a decision here for it is clear

that under the Flathead Treaty a different result must

obtain.

The Flathead people were not living upon the pres-

ent reservation at the time of this treaty. They were

living in the general area of the Bitter Root Valley

in Montana. This is shown by the terms of the treaty

itself. In Article 2 of the treaty the Indians agree to

move to the reservation within one year after the rat-

ification of the treaty. The treaty further provided

for the appraisal of the improvements of the Indians

who, on moving, had to abandon the same. It also con-

tains a provision for the payment of certain money to

compensate the Indians for moving to the reserved

land. The treaty of 1855 did not definitely fix the res-

ervation at least so far as the Flatheads were concerned.

Article II of the treaty provided that if upon a survey

it should be decided that the Bitterroot Valley was

better suited to the needs of the tribe than the general

reservation then portions of the Bitterroot should be

set aside as a reservation. The question was not settled

imtil the proclamation of President Glrant in 1871.

Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Maclay, 61 Fed. 554.

Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Hinchman, 53 Fed. 523.

It is indeed difficult to see how the Indians who were

not living on the lands now in question could have had

any rights in severalty to either the lands or waters.
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At the time of the Treaty the lands here involved were

not even occupied by the Flatheads. Even if we as-

sume that the waters were appurtenant to the lands

no right to water could vest in an individual prior to

the time that the individual secured some rights in the

land.

Article 6 of the treaty, the provisions of which are

as follows

:

"The President may from time to time, at his

discretion, cause the whole, or such portion of such
reservation as he may think proper, to be surveyed
into lots, and assign the same to such individuals or

families of the said confederated tribes as are wil-

ling to avail themselves of the privilege, and will

locate on the same as a permanent home, on the

same terms and subject to the same regulations as

are provided in the sixth article of the treaty with
the Omahas, so far as the same may be applicable.

'

'

clearly shows that the reservation was for the tribe.

Any ownership in severalty was expressly deferred

subject to the discretion of the President. Not until

after a survey and allotment could an individual right

accrue. The survey and allotment was not provided

for until the Act of April 23, 1904 (33 Stat. L. 302.)

It is clear therefore from the provisions of the treaty

that at the time of the treaty the waters were reserved

for the tribe. Apart from ownership in lands in sever-

alty there could be no right to water in severalty and

since the treaty created a common ownership of the

land there was necessarily created a common ownership

of the water. At this point we call the court's attention

to Article 6 of the Treaty \vith the Omahas (10 Stat. L.
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1043, 2 Kappler 453), referred to in Article 6 of the

Flathead Treaty. Article 6 of the Omaha Treaty does

not change the situation so far as the question of sever-

alty or common ownership is concerned.

B. THE UNITED STATES BECAME TRUSTEE
OF THE LANDS AND WATERS FOR THE BENE-
FIT OF THE INDIANS AS A TRIBE.

Since the case of Johnson v. Mcintosh (8 Wheat. 543,

5 U. S. (L. Ed. ) 681), it has been unifromly held that

the fee title to all of the lands in the Louisiana Pur-

chase is in the United States, subject only to the right

of occupancy in the Indians. (25 R. C. L. 123) How-
ever, upon the ratification of the Flathead Treaty, the

United States became a trustee for the Indians of the

lands and waters in the reserevd area. Whatever may
have been the obligation of the United States with re-

spect to the title held for the Indians, it is clear that

the title to the land and water was in the United States.

In saying this we do not disagree with the language

in the case of U. S. v. Powers et al, (94 Fed. (2) 783,

at page 785,) where the court said:

i i There was in the treaty no express reservation

of water for irrigation or other purposes. There
was, however, an implied reservation. Winters v.

United States, 207 U. S. 564, 575, 28 S. Ct. 207, 52

L. Ed. 340. The implied reservation was to the

Indians, not to appellant. Skeem v. United States,

9 Cir. 273 Fed. 93, 95; Conrad Investment Co. v.

United States, 9 Cir., 161 F. 829, 831; Winters v.

United States, 9 Cir., 143 F. 740, 745, affirmed in

207 U. S. 564, 28 S. Ct. 207, 52 L. Ed. 340."

But we do insist that the reservation to the Indians
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vested in the United States as trustee for the Indians.

We do not contend that the United States, as a sover-

eign, held unto itself this title, but we do claim that the

United States as guardian of the Indians, held this

title after the execution of the treaty.

In the case of Minnesota v. Hitchcock, (185 U. S.

373, 46 L. Ed. 954, 22 S. C. 650) the Supreme Court

considered the question of the title of the United Stat-

es to lands in an Indian Reservation, and said

:

The question whether the United States is a
party to a controversy is not determined by the
merely nominal party on the record but by the
question of the effect of the judgment or decree
which can be entered.

But, it may be said, that the United States has no
substantial interest in the lands; that it holds the
legal title under a contract with the Indians and
in trust for their benefit. This is undoubtedly
true, and if the case stood alone up the construc-
tion of the treaty between the United States and
the Indians there might be substantial force in this

suggestion. But Congress has, for the Govern-
ment, assumed a personal responsibility."

In the case of Cherokee Nation v. Hitchcock, (187

U. S. 294, 47 L. Ed. 183, 23 S. C. 115) it was held that

the United States as guardian of the property of the

Cherokee Nation might make leases of the unallotted

lands of the Cherokees for oil and gas. The court said

:

The lands and moneys of these tribes are public

lands and public moneys, and are not held in indi-

vidual ownership, and the assertion by any particu-

lar applicant that his right therein is so vested as

to preclude inquiry into his status involves a con-

tradiction in terms.

The holding that Congress had power to provide
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a method for determining membership in the five

civilized tribes, and for ascertaining the citizenship

thereof preliminary to a division of the property
of the tribe among its members, necessarily involv-

ed the further holding that Congress was vested
with authority to adopt measures to make the tri-

bal property productive, and secure therefrom an
income for the benefit of the tribe.

Whatever title the Indians have is in the tribe,

and not in the individuals, although held by the
tribe for the common use and equal benefit of all

the members. The Cherokee Trust Funds, 117
U. S. 288, 308. The manner in which this land
is held is described in Cherokee Nation v. Journey-
cake, 155 U. S. 196, 207, where this court, referring
to the treaties and the patent mentioned in the bill

of complaint herein, said: 'Under these treaties,

and in December, 1838, a patent was issued to the

Cherokees for these lands. By that patent, what-
ever of title was conveyed was conveyed to the

Cherokees as a nation, and no title was vested in

severalty in the Cherokees, or any of them.

'

There is no question involved in this case as to

the taking of property; the authority which it is

proposed to exercise, by virtue of the act of 1898,

has relation merely to the control and development
of the tribal property, which still remains subject

to the administrative control of the government,
even though the members of the tribe have been
invested with the status of citizenship under recent

legislation.
'

'

In United States v. Richert, (188 U. S. 432, 47 L.

Ed. 532, 23 S. C. 478) the Supreme Court, held that the

State of South Dakota had no power to tax lands to

which trust 'patents had issued, and in so holding

said :

"These Indians are yet wards of the Nation, in

a condition of pupilage or dependency, and have
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not been discharged from that condition. They oc-

cupy these lands with the consent and authority of
the United States ; and the holding of them by the
United States under the act of 1887, and the agree-
ment of 1889, ratified by the act of 1891, is part
of the national j^olicy by which the Indians are to

be maintained as well as prepared for assuming
the habits of civilized life, and ultimately the privi-

leges of citizenship. To tax these lands is to tax
an instrumentality employed by the United States
for the benefit and control of this dependent race,

and to accomplish beneficient objects with refer-

ence to a race of which this court has said that

'from their very weakness and helplessness, so

largely due to the course of dealing with the Fed-
eral Government with them and the treaties in

which it has been promised, there arises the duty
of protection, and with it the power.' "

We cite this case for the limited purpose of showing

that the United States hold as trustee for the Indians.

In Lone Wolf v. Hitchcock, (187 U. S. 553, 47 L. Ed.

299, 23 S. C. 216) the Supreme Court held that the

United States had power to sell surplus lands contrary

to the provisions of a treaty.

"Plenary authority over the tribal relations of
the Indians has been exercised by Congress from
the beginning, and the power has always been deem-
ed a political one, not subject to be controlled by
the judicial department of the government. . . .

"That Indians who had not been fully emanci-
pated from the control and protection of the Unit-
ed States are subject, at least so far as the tribal

lands were concerned, to be controlled by direct

legislation of Congress, is also declared in Chero-
kee Nation v. United States, 119 U. S. 1, 27, and
Stephens v. Cherokee Nation, 174 U. S. 445, 483."
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The entire history of Indian litigation and legisla-

tion assumes the title to be in the United States. The

very manner in which the trust and fee patents are

issued precludes any other theory. And it must follow,

as the night the day, that if the Government held the

title to the reserved land it likewise held title to the

reserved waters.

We stress this seemingly obvious point because upon

a proper consideration of it depends the entire ques-

tion of Indian reservation waters.

C. THERE HAS NEVER BEEN A LAW BY
WHICH A WATER RIGHT COULD BE CREAT-
ED BY APPROPRIATION ON THE FLATHEAD
RESERVATION.

Since the title to the waters remained in the United

States, a right to water could necessarily be secured

only from the United States under some law authoriz-

ing such a right. There has never been enacted such

a law.

1. The state laws do not apply.

The case of Winters v. U. S. (207 U. S. 564, 52 L. Ed.

340, 28 S. C. 207) is authority for the proposition that

the United States had the power to reserve the waters

from private appropriation. And that decision deter-

mines that waters needed for the reservation cannot be

approjoriated for use outside the reservation.

A right in persons within the reservation to appro-

priate water under State Law was never recognized by

Congress. The enabling act of the State of Montana

expressly provides

:
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"That the j)eople inhabiting said proposed stat-

es do agree and declare that they forever disclaim
all right and title to the unappropriated public
lands lying within the boundaries thereof, and to

all lands lying within said limits owned or held by
any Indian or Indian tribes; and that until the
title thereto shall have been extinguished by the
United States, the same shall be and remain sub-

ject to the disposition of the United States, and
said Indian lands shall remain under the abso-
lute jurisdiction and control of the congress of the

United States."

Act of Congress, Feb. 22, 1889 (25 Stat. 676, Vol. 1

R. C. M. 1935, p. 60)

The Act of Congress of July 26, 1866, C 262, Sec.

9 (14 Stat. 243, 43 U.S.C.A. 661) which recognized the

doctrine of prior appropriation, where the same exist-

ed by local custom applied only to the public lands and

waters of the United States.

Winters v. U. S., 143 Fed. 740, at page 747;

Sturr V. Beck, 133 U. S. 541, 10 Sup. Ct. 350, 33 L.

Ed. 761;

Smith V. Deniff, 24 Mont. 20, 60 Pac. 398, 81 Am.

St. Rep. 408;

Cruse V. McCauley (C C) 96 Fed. 369.

Lands reserved for an Indian Reservation were not

public lands.

In Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Maclay, (61 Fed. 554,)

it was held that the lands in the Bitterroot Valley men-

tioned in Section 11 of the Flathead Treaty of 1855

were not public land. The court said

:

'
'From the agreed statement of facts, it affirma-

tively appears that the lands in question, in the
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Bitter Root valley, above the Lolo Fork, in the

state of Montana, were not public lands of the

United States at the date of the passage of the

'Act granting lands to aid in the construction of a

railroad and telegraph line from Lake Superior to

Pugent Sound on the Pacific coast by the northern
route, approved July 2, 1854.' "

The United States Supreme Court held that lands

reserved to the use and benefit of the Indians were not

public lands in the case of Leavenworth, etc. R. R. Co,

V. U. S., (92 U. S. 733, 23 L. Ed. 634,) saying:

''We go further, and say, that whenever a tract

of land shall have been once legally appropriated
to any purpose, from that moment the land thus
appropriated becomes severed from the mass of
public lands; and that no subsequent law, procla-

mation, or sale would be construed to embrace or
operate upon it, although no reservation were made
of it. It may be urged that it was not necessary
in deciding that case to pass upon the question ; but,

however, this may be, the principle asserted is

sound and reasonable, and w eaccept it as a rule of

construction. The supreme courts of Wisconsin
and Texas have adopted it in cases where the point

was necessarily involved. State v. Delesdenier, 7

Tex. 76; Spaulding v. Martin, 11 Wis. 274. It

applies with more force to Indian than to military

reservations. The latter are the absolute property
of the government."

Our point here is simply this: In order that the

state laws apply to water on an Indian Reservation, it

is necessary that there be some authority from the

United States recognizing the applicability of such

laws and as we have seen there is no such Federal law.

This was settled in U. S. v. Rio Grande Irrigation
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Company, (174 U. S. 690, 702, 19 Sup. Ct. 770, 43 L.

Ed. 1136) where the court said:

"Although this power of changing the common-
law rule as to streams within its dominion undoubt-
edly belong to each state, yet two limitations must
be recognized : First. That, in the absence of spe-

cific authority from Congress, a state cannot by
its legislation destroy the right of the United Stat-

es, as the owner of lands bordering on a stream,
to the continued flow of its waters, so far at least

as may be necessary for the beneficial uses of the

government property. Second. That it is limited

by the superior j^ower of the general government to

secure the uninterrupted navigability of all navi-

gable streams within the limits of the United Stat-

es."

2. There is no law of the United States under

which rights could be created by private appropri-

ation.

The Federal Government did not authorize the cre-

ation of rights under state law nor did the federal gov-

ernment ever by its own enactment create or recognize

the doctrine of appropriation independently of state

law.

Section 19 of the Act of Congress of June 21, 1906

(34 Stat. 354) has been consistently relied upon as

authority for the appropriation of the waters of the

Flathead. The respondents all reply upon it. (R. 77 and

146) And Judge Pray relied upon it in rendering his

decision in this cause (R. 160) The Act in question

reads

:

"That nothing in this act shall be construed to

deprive any of said Indians, or said persons or
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corporations to whom the use of land is granted
by the act, of the use of water appropriated and
used by them for the necessary irrigation of their

lands or for domestic use of any ditches, dams,
flumes, reservoirs, constructed and used by them
in the appropriation and use of said water. '

'

It is apparent that Section 19 is a saving clause

and nothing more.

See Shutt v. State, (173 Ind. 689 at 692, 89 N. E. 6,)

where it is said:

"There is no particular rule for its location, or
its verbal form ; but it is generally near or at the
end, commencing, 'Nothing in this act shall,'

"

Its purpose was to save such rights as existed and not

to create any rights. The clause operates only in res-

trospect and did not purport to create or provide a

method for creating rights in future.

As a saving clause it could not operate to create

rights. The rule with respect to a saving clause is

well stated in Knickerbocker Ice. Co. v. Stewart, (253

U. S. 149 at page 162, 64 L. Ed. 834, 40 S. C. 438) in

these words:
'

' The usual function of a saving clause is to pre-

serve something from immediate interference—not
to create; and the rule is that expression by the

legislature of an erroneous opinion concerning the

law does not alter it. Endlick, Interpretation of

Statutes, Sec. 372."

See also 59 C. J. 1093, as follows

:

"A saving clause is an exception of special

things out of the general things mentioned in the

statute; something smaller than the thing itself,

and yet not nullifying it. Its usual function is
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not to create anything, but to preserve something
from immediate interference***"

A reference to the proceedings in Congress with

respect to Section 19 discloses that it was not the in-

tent of Congress to create a right to appropriate water.

After the bill H. R. 15331 of the 59th Congress, First

Session, had passed the House, the sections relating

to townsites were added to the Act by amendment on

the floor of the Senate (Cong. Rec. Vol. 40, p. 6036).

The matter was the subject of some debate which dis-

closes no evidence of any intent to create any water

right or to extend the laws of the State relating to ap-

propriation to Flathead lands.

At the time of the enactment of Section 19, neither

the Winters case nor the Conrad case had been decided.

It would be quite natural for Congress to insert a sav-

ing clause that would say no more than that the legis-

lation was not intended to alter or change the rights

of parties who were using water from the streams on

Indian Reservations. That is the usual purpose of a

saving clause, as jDointed out in the Knickerbocker case

heretofore cited.

As a matter of fact, reference to the Congressional

Record will show that during the debate on the Act

in which this section is included there was some discus-

sion of the Conrad case and one amendment offered

was designed to compel a dismissal of that action. Ref-

erence may be had to that debate and to the amendment

which was not adopted (and which would also have

made Montana appropriation laws apply to the Black-
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feet Eeservation) by an examination of Volume 40,

Congressional Record, pp. 5811-5813.

Reference to that proposed amendment, never adopt-

ed, shows clearly that it was understood by the members

of Congress, first, that without special enactment Mon-

tana laws relating to appropriation would not apply

and, second, that the final outcome of the Winters and

Conrad cases was unknown, which would explain the

insertion of a saving clause in the pending legislation.

Since Section 19 was a saving clause, the question

then arises, what, if anything, did it save ? The answer

is nothing. Since at the time of the enactment of Sec-

tion 19, which was in 1906, there were no rights in sev-

eralty either in trust or fee on the reservation, how

could it be said that any person could have appropriat-

ed water for his land? How could water have become

appurtenant to private land when there was as yet no

private ownership of land ? Until after the trust pat-

ents issued which was not prior to October 8, 1908, no

Indian had a vested right to any particular land, the

whole being in the United States for the benefit of all.

We therefore urge that Section 19 did not and could

not save any prior rights because there were none to

save.

Even if there had been private rights to land at the

time of the passage of Section 19, the result would be

no different for the reason there was no law prior to

that time, as we have pointed out, under which rights

to water by prior appropriation could be initiated.

In the absence of the consent of the United States no
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individual could obtain a right hostile to its ownership

of the waters, as trustee of the entire tribe. In order

to find that Section 19 saved any rights, it is first neces-

sary to find the rights, and in order to find such rights

it is necessary to hold that Indians who had no private

ownership of lands were able, without the consent of

the United States to divest the United States of its

title as trustee, to water, and then in some way affix

that divested title as a private appurtenance to land

still owned by the United States as trustee.

The Acts of Congress which governed the lands on

reservations prior to the Act of June 21, 1906, not only

did not recognize prior appropriation as the law of the

reservation, but indicated that prior appropriation was

not to be the rule.

The General Allotment Act of 1887 (24 Stat. L. 388)

provided in Section 7

:

^'That in cases where the use of water for irri-

gation is necessary to render the lands within any
Indian reservation available for agricultural pur-
poses, the Secretary of the Interior be, and he is

hereby, authorized to prescribe such rules and reg-

ulations as he may deem necessary to secure a just

and equal distribution thereof among the Indians
residing upon any such reservation; and no other

appropriation or grant of water by any riparian
proprietor shall be authorized or permitted to the

damage of any other riparian proprietor."

It is clear from this act that Congress intended that

the rule of equality should govern on reservations, and

for the purpose of providing equality the Secretary

was authorized to make rules and regulations. Wheth-
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er such rules and regulations were provided is not im-

portant here for we are concerned only with the intent

of Congress to make equality the rule. The act then

goes on to say that no other appropriation or grant of

water hy a riparian appropriater shall he authorized

or permitted to the damage of any other riparian pro-

prietor. The words ^^no other appropriation^' must

refer back to ''just and equal distribution'' and con-

sequently any appropriation which gave an Indian a

greater quantity of water or an earlier priority than

others was clearly unlawful. It is true that the statute

uses the word "riparian," but since all the land was in

one ownership on the Flathead until 1908, the land was

all riparian. Further it could not have been the intent

of Congress to provide a ''just and equal distribution"

among riparian owners and to allow non-riparian own-

ers to go without, particuarly in view of the fact that

Congress said "just and equal distribution", which

must necessarily comprehend all the Indians living on

the reservation. The whole theory of prior appropria-

tion is contrary to the theory of just and equal dis-

tribution and is therefore contrary to Section 7 of the

General Allottment Act.

3. The idea of a prior appropriation on an Indi-

an reservation is repugnant to any theory of equit-

able treatment of the Indians.

We believe that the court should lean away from any

construction of the acts of Congress which could pos-

sibly lead to a right of prior appropriation on an In-
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dian reservation. It is to be presumed that the United

States intended to treat the Indians equally, insofar as

possible. The Indians are a nomadic, not an agricul-

tural people. At the time of the creation of the reser-

vation few, if any, of the Indians could have known of

irrigation and most probably none were interested in it.

If the United States adopted the rule of prior ap-

proi^riation for the Flathead Indian Reservation, then

the intent of the United States was to

:

1. Prefer those Indians who through their white

blood, association with whites or superior intelli-

gence were smart enough to get lands and put

water on them to the exclusion of their less ad-

vanced fellows and,

2. Allow those Indians fortunate enough to locate

on or near a stream to acquire rights to the ex-

clusion of those having irrigable lands a few mil-

es from a water source.

As a trustee for all, it was the obligation of the Unit-

ed States to see that an Indian acquired no more of the

common property than another. If the United States

permitted private appropriation by an Indian as

against another, then it was guilty of a gross injustice

to the less advanced Indian and to the Indian who
lived away from the water and could not possibly for

economic reasons build the necessary ditches to convey

the water. The United States did not intend to throw

these untutored and uncivilized people into competition

with each other for valuable water rights and every

presumption should avail against any language used
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by Congress (we still assert there is none) which would

tend to permit the doctrine of prior appropriation.

All of this is particularly obvious when it is considered

that the Acts here referred to contemplated that Indian

allottees might receive fee patents and dispose of their

lands to white purchasers. Inevitably these purchasers

would acquire the lands first irrigated, with the result

that white purchasers would soon have all the water

and the neighboring Indian owners would have none.

Is it not significant here that three of the four pri-

vate water rights claimed are in white ownership?

II. THERE IS NO RIGHT IN PLAINTIFF OR
APPELLEE DEFENDANTS TO TAKE ANY
WATER FROM THE STREAMS ON THE RESER-
VATION EXCEPT AS SUCH PARTIES ARE EN-
TITLED TO WATER FROM THE FLATHEAD
IRRIGATION PROJECT.
Assigmnent of Error No. Ill (R. 358)—The Court

erred in holding in effect that the plaintiff, Agnes

Mclntire, and the defendants. The United States of

America, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, are ten-

ants in common or joint tenants in the use of the

waters of Mud Creek.

Assignment of Error No. IX (R. 360)—The Court

erred in holding that the maintenance of a dam in

Mud Creek by the defendants, Henry Gerharz, act-

ing for the defendant, The United States of America,

as Engineer and Project Manager of Flathead Rec-

lamation Project, by which dam the plaintiff and

the defendants, Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling, are
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deprived of the use of the waters of Mud Creek, is

unlawful.

If the respondents are entitled to an amount of

water equal in time and amount to each other Indian

allottee or his successor under the doctrine of the case

of United States v. Powers (16 Fed. Supp. 115, af-

firmed 94 Fed. 2d. 783), then perhaps the lower court

was correct in determing that the parties were tenants

in common of the water and in enjoining the United

States from interfering with a flow to the respondents'

lands. That is, even though the court find that the

doctrine of appropriation did not apply, still it may
have correctly enjoined the United States from inter-

fering with what water respondents were entitled to

under the Powers case.

It is our purpose to demonstrate that the Powers

case should not apply to the Flathead Reservation.

A. THE RECORD SHOWS THAT THE APPEL-
LEES COULD GET WATER FROM THE PROJ-

ECT SYSTEM.
There is no claim made that the respondents here

have been prevented from taking water from the proj-

ect system or that upon payment therefore they could

not get water from the system. The record shows that

they could get the water within a very short time. (R.

262-263) The question of what the rights of the par-

ties would be if the system were not able to deliver

water does not arise. The only question is, can respon-

dents who are able to secure water from the system
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take any water apart from the system? We contend

that they can not.

B. THE UNITED STATES, WHICH SUSTAIN-
ED TO THE INDIANS THE GUARDIAN AND
WARD RELATIONSHIP, HAD PLENARY POW-
ER TO PROVIDE FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OP
THE WATERS OF THE RESERVATION SO AS
TO PROVIDE THE GREATEST GOOD FOR THE
GREATEST NUMBER, AND THE METHOD DES-
IGNATED BY THE UNITED STATES IS THE
EXCLUSIVE METHOD.

As we have seen, the United States had title to all

the lands and waters as trustee for the Indians. As

such trustee the United States had plenary power to

provide a method of distributing the waters of the res-

ervation (at least prior to the time that vested rights in

severalty accrued to the Indians.)

We are not here concerned with the question of what

the United States could do with these communal lands

as against the Indians, although it might be contended

that the government could convey to third persons.

Beecher v. Weatherby, (95 U. S. 517, 24 L. Ed. 440)

We are concerned with what the United States could

do with these lands in regulating the rights of the In-

dians inter sese. As to the latter the United States

had an absolute power to determine the method in

which the communal lands were to be handled for the

benefit of the tribe.

In Lone Wolf v. Hitchcock, (187 U. S. 553, 47 L. E.
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299, 23 S. C. 216) the United States was held to have

power to sell surplus unalloted lands for the benefit

of the tribe contrary to the provisions of a treaty pro-

viding that the lands should not be sold without the

consent of a certain proportion of the Indians.

The court, in Cherokee Nation v. Hitchcock, (187 U.

S. 294 47 L. Ed. 183, 23 S. C. 115)) in addition to the

language quoted on page 21 of this brief, said

:

"The decision in Stephens v. Cherokee Nation,
174 U. S. 445, is particularly in point, as that case

involved the validity of the very act under consid-

eration, and the precedent correlative legislation,

wherein the United States practically assumed the

full control over the Cherokees as well as the other
nations constituting the five civilized tribes, and
took upon itself the determination of membership
in the tribes for the purpose of adjusting their

rights in the tribal proj^erty. The plenary power
of control by Congress over the Indian tribes and
its undoubted power to legislate, as it had done
through the act of 1898, directly for the protection
of the tribal property, was in that case reaffirm-

ed."

Certainly the power exercised by the United States

in the above case, the exercise of which was sustained

by the court, was a plenary power.

In Stephens v. Cherokee Nation, (174 U. S. 445 43

L. Ed. 1041, 19 S. C. 722) the Supreme Court held that

the United States had power to determine the member-

ship of a tribe for the purpose of adjusting rights in

communal property. Certainly if the United States

has power to determine which of the members of a tribe

are entitled to share in communal property, it has suf-
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ficient power to determine how the communal waters

shall be applied to the tribal lands.

In Gritts v. Fisher, (224 U. S. 640, 56 L. Ed. 928, 32

S. C. 580) the Supreme Court sustained an Act of Con-

gress allowing children of the Cherokee tribe to share

in the communal property even though a prior act

had indicated that such children were not eligible.

"But it is said that the act of 1902 contemplated
that they alone should receive allotments and be
the participants in the distribution of the remain-
ing lands, and also the funds, of the tribe. No
doubt such was the purport of the act. But that,

in our opinion, did not confer upon them any vest-

ed right such as would disable Congress from
thereafter making provision for admitting newly
born members of the tribe to the allotment and dis-

tribution. The difficulty with the a])pellants' con-

tention is that it treats the act of 1902 as a contract,

when 'it is only an act of Congress and can have
no greater effect, ' Cherokee Intermarriage Cases,

203 U. S. 76, 93. It was hut an exertion of the ad-
ministrative control of the Government over the

tribal property of tribal Indians, and was subject

to change by Congress at any time before it was
carried into effect and while the tribal relations

continued/^

The Supreme Court here held that the United States

might diminish, by allowing additional persons to

share, the interest of Indians in tribal property and

funds. If the United States has power to actually de-

crease the individual rights to tribal property it can-

not be doubted that it may regulate the use of tribal

waters and provide a method for the distribution

thereof.
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The doctrine has been approved and followed.

Tiger v. Western Investment Co., (221 U. S. 286 55

L. Ed. 738, 31S. C. 578).

Williams v. Johnson, (239 U. S. 414, 60 L. Ed. 358,

36S. C. 150).

Consequently we say that prior to October 3, 1908,

the time when trust patents created some rights in sev-

eralty, the power of the United States was full and

complete. The question therefore is not, What power

did the United States, but hoiv did it exercise that

power?

C. THE UNITED STATES HAS INDICATED
THAT RIGHT TO WATER BE OBTAINED ONLY
THROUGH THE PROJECT SYSTEM.

In the Act of Congress of February 8, 1887 (26 Stat.

794, 25 U.S.C.A. 331), Congress indicated that it would

provide irrigation projects for Indian lands.

"And whenever it shall appear to the President
that lands on any Indian reservation subject to

allotment by authority of law have been or may be
brought within any irrigation project, he may
cause allotments of such irrigable lands to be made
to the Indians entitled thereto in such areas as

may be for their best interest not to exceed, how-
ever, forty acres to any one Indian, and such irri-

gable land shall be held to be equal in quantity to

twice the munber of acres of non-irrigable agricul-

tural land and four times the number of acres of
non-irrigable grazing land***"

The language quoted shows that the amount of an

individual allotment was to be governed by the consid-

eration of whether the land was irrigable.
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In 1904 Congress by the Allotment Act for the Flat-

head tribe (33 Stat. L. 302) indicated that communal

funds should be used to build an irrigation system.

Pursuant to this act the Indian office asked the Bureau

of Reclamation to make the preliminary surveys. (See

this brief p and R. 252 and 255). Stockton's

party made the first survey in 1907 and included the

waters of Mud Creek in their plans. (R. 252 and 253).

Then on May 29, 1908, by an Act amending the Act of

1904 (35 Stat. L. 488), Congress definitely said that the

lands on the reservation should be subject to the sy-

stem provided. This law is so important that we will

at the risk of repetition set it out again

:

"The land irrigable under the systems herein
provided, which has been allotted to Indians in

severalty, shall be deemed to have a right to so

much water as may be required to irrigate such
lands without cost to the Indians for construction

of such irrigation systems. The purchaser of any
Indian allotment, purchased prior to the expira-

tion of the trust period thereon, shall be exempt
from any and all charge for construction of the

irrigation system incurred up to the time of such
purchase. All lands allotted to Indians shall bear
their pro rata share of the cost of the operation

and maintenance of the system under ivhicJi they

lie." (Italics supplied)

The words "the land irrigable imder the systems***

alloted to the Indians in severalty *** shall have a

right to so much water *** without cost to the Indians

for the construction of such *** systems," shows that

Congress intended water rights to be acquired through

the system. The contention is further strengthened
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by the provision that **all lands allotted to Indians

shall bear their pro rata share of the cost,etc." The

act does not say part of the lands, does not say such

lands as are not susceptible to private irrigation, it

says all lands. The further language "may withhold

from any Indian a sufficient amount of his pro rata

share to pay all charge against land held in trust for

him, etc." points to the congressional intention that all

should profit by and all bear the expense of the opera-

tion and maintenance of the system. If Congress in-

tended that all land should pay for the operation and

maintenance of the system it intended that all land

should be benefited by the system. Since the Act of

1908 Congress has spent some seven and a half million

dollars on this system.

Let us point out again that apart from the acts giv-

ing rights under the system, there is no act giving

rights. Congress in Section 7 of the General Allotment

Act said that the Secretary should make rules to pro-

vide for the equal distribution of the water, but it like-

wise indicated that it was not within the province of

the individual to create for himself any rights.

It was not necessary that Congress appropriate this

water. The title was in the United States so long as the

land remained in communal ownership. Since Congress

did indicate the method of distribution of the water

and did not in any way provide that there should be

any other method, it follows that the method provided

by the United States is exclusive. Title was in the

United States and before any person can successfully



42

assert any individual title lie must point out tlie statute

under which the United States consented that that

title might originate.

United States v. Rio Grande Irrigation Company

(174 U. S. 690, 19 Sup. Ct. 770, 43 L. Ed. 1136).

D. THIS DID NOT DISTURB ANY VESTED
RIGHTS BECAUSE THE LANDS WERE MADE
SUBJECT TO THE SYSTEM BEFORE ANY PRI-

VATE RIGHTS ATTACHED TO THE LANDS.

Congress did not impair any vested water rights by

the Act of May 29, 1908 (35 Stat. L. 448) above set out.

We have argued at length that the United States had

plenary power over the communal property prior to

the vesting of private rights and since that power was

exercised on May 29, 1908, which was about six months

prior to the issuance of the trust patents which issued

not earlier than October 8, 1908 (R. 333), no vested

rights were involved.

We do not quarrel with the rule stated in U. S. vs.

Powers, 16 Fed. Supp. 155, at page 162 as follows

:

"In Morrow v. U. S., 243 F. 854, 856, the Circuit

Court held :
' There is no question that the govern-

ment may, in its dealings with the Indians, create

IDroperty rights which, once vested, even it cannot
alter.'

"

The point is that the United States exercised its

power over these waters before any private rights

vested. Nor do we quarrel with the rule that a convey-

ance of lands with appurtenances conveys the water

rights used to irrigate the lands (U. S. v. Powers, 16
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Fed. Supp. 155 at 162), but we do say that a conveyance

of land with appurtenances conveys only such rights

as were appurtenant at the time of the conveyance.

Hence the question here is not, does the word "appur-

tenance" pass the water rights, but rather, what waters

were appurtenant ?

Since at the time Michel Pablo took his trust patent

the United States had already limited his right to use

waters to a use through the system, the word '*appur-

tenance" passed only such limited right and the Unit-

ed States in now asserting that the successors of Michel

Pablo take their water through the system is not at-

tempting to alter any rights that Pablo ever had but is

simply insisting that his successors be content with the

rights which Pablo had.

E. THE SYSTEM PROVIDED IS THE MOST
EQUITABLE WHICH COULD BE DEVISED.

The insistance of the United States that water be

taken only through the system is in furtherance of the

policy that the Indians should be treated alike. In

the decisions upon this subject the sympathy of the

courts for the Indian is quite evident. That is particu-

larly true of the decisions of Judge Bourquin in the

Moody litigation. (Scheer v. Moody, 48 Fed. (2) 327).

Whatever we may think of the treatment accorded the

Indian in days past, we correct no injustice by estab-

lishing a rule of law which creates inequality among

the Indians themselves.

The Flathead reservation is arid and big. Streams
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course through it at various points. Of the many-

thousand acres on the reservation very few acres are

riparian to the streams, or near enough to make private

ditches economically feasible for individual owners of

allotments.

Some irrigable lands on the reservation may be irri-

gated by 100 yards of ditch; other require five miles

of ditch. Congress never did say "Lone Wolf, by a

fortunate change you got land within 100 yards of

water, you take the water, but Black Eagle, the gods

did not favor you, your land is five miles from water

and if you want it you pay for the operation and main-

tenance of the ditch that takes it there, without help

from the lucky Lone Wolf." Congress said, "You will

all take your water from the system and you will all

pay your pro rata share." Congress tried to create

an equitable system and we believe that the courts

should engage in every legitimate presumption to make

that system effective. In the absence of a clear con-

gressional intent the courts should not say that rights

come into existence which result in a gross inequality.

It is perhaps immaterial that an irrigation project

is the only method whereby an equitable distribution of

water can be effected. If the court decides that each

allottee or successor is entitled to a share of water

without regard to the system, and if each allottee starts

to take his water, all of the water masters in Western

Montana cannot secure a just distribution. The amount

of water to which Mclntire on Mud Creek is entitled

depends on the amount of water not only in Mud Creek
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but in every creek in the whole Mission Valley. Only

through a central system which collects and distributes

all the water can the needs of the land (some 80,000

acres, R. 327) and the available water supply be de-

termined. This factor should be of some weight in

determining whether Congress did or did not intend

that all Indians should take through the system.

We again call to the court's attention the fact that

we are not here concerned with

1. The rights of those for whom the system is not

available, or

2. The amount or propriety of various charges for

the use of water.

The sole question is, do these parties have rights

apart from the system? We humbly submit that they

do not.

CONCLUSION

The questions here involved are of major importance

to thousands of individuals owning lands on Indian

reservations. They involve to some extent the value

of irrigation projects costing many millions of dollars.

We humbly ask that the whole matter of water rights

as between the allottees represented by the systems

and those fortunate enough to be located near stream

be examined, and that if in the light of fundamentals

the dectum U. S. v. Powers, 94 Fed. 2d 783 be found
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to be erroneous, that it be withdrawn or in any event

be not applied to this litigation.

Respectfully submitted,

Walter L. Pope,

Russell E. Smith,

Allan K. Smith,

Attorneys for Appellant

Flathead Irrigation District.
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STATEMENT OF THE PLEADINGS AND BASIS OF
JURISDICTION

This action is akin to Moody v. Johnston, 66 F.

(2d) 999, 70 F. (2d) 835, which was recently dis-

missed by this Court for want of necessary parties.

It was brought by the appellee, Agnes Mclntire, a

white owner of a former Indian allotment on the

Flathead Indian Reservation in Montana, to establish

a right to the use of certain quantities of the waters of

Mud Creek, a stream on the reservation, for the

irrigation of her lands, and to enjoin interference

with that right. The parties defendant are the

United States, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of the

Interior, Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of the

Flathead Irrigation Project, Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling (who are appellees in this Court), the Flat-

head Irrigation District, a corporation, and various

individuals who are described as members of the

Flathead Tribe of Indians.

The second amended complaint, filed May 16,

1936, on which the action was tried, alleges: The

Flathead Indian Reservation was set aside for the

Flathead Nation by a treaty ratified in 1859 (12

Stat. 975) (R. 74). The Flathead Indians were

encouraged to become a self-supporting agricultural

people with permanent homes on lands thereafter to

be allotted to them in severalty (R. 74-75). The



lands of the reservation can be cultivated only by

irrigation, for which one inch of water per acre is

necessary (R. 75). Following the treaty, the Indians

settled upon the reservation and began to farm by

means of irrigation with the waters flowing upon the

reservation (R. 75). Michel Pablo and Lizette

Barnaby, Flathead Indians, each ''made allotment

for" described lands (R. 75). In April 1900, Michel

Pablo, who was then in possession of both tracts,

constructed an irrigation ditch carrying 160 inches

of water per second from Mud Creek, of which the

allottees thus became the appropriators (R. 75-76).

That appropriation has become appurtenant to the

described lands and has not been abandoned (R. 76).

In 1918 fee patents were issued to Agatha Pablo,

wife of Michel Pablo, for the lands allotted to him

and to Lizette Barnaby, and thereafter those lands

were sold to the plaintiff who now owns them together

with 160 inches per second of water appurtenant

thereto (R. 76) . The Act of April 23, 1904, providing

for the allotment of the lands on the Flathead Reser-

vation and the opening of the lands for sale and dis-

posal, as amended by the Act of June 21, 1906

(34 Stat. 355), provides (Section 19):

That nothing in this Act shall be construed
to deprive any of said Indians, or said persons
or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the Act, of the use of water ap-
propriated and used by them for the necessary
irrigation of their lands or for domestic use or

any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs con-

structed and used by them in the appropria^
tion and use of said water. (R. 77.)



From April 1900, continuously up to the present

time the ditch has been used in conveying the waters

from Mud Creek to the described lands, and the

plaintiff claims the benefit of the Act of June 21,

1906, in the use of 160 inches per second of waters

carried in the ditch (R. 77). The United States

''claims an interest in the waters" of Mud Creek,

and has dammed up the Creek and has deprived

plaintiff of waters to which she is entitled (R. 78).

The plaintiff's right to the use of the waters became

fixed prior to the claim of the United States, and the

United States, under the Act of June 21, 1906, has

no right to deprive plaintiff of them (R. 78). No
other parties use the waters of Mud Creek except

the plaintiff and the United States acting through

the Flathead Irrigation Project, and "this plaintiff

and the United States are tenants in common or

joint tenants in the use of said water" (R. 78). The

waters of Mud Creek "can be divided, partitioned

and separated" so that the amount of water to which

the plaintiff is entitled can be determined, and the

United States is made a party under Title 28, U. S.

Code, § 41 (25) "for the purpose of completely ad-

judicating the waters of Mud Creek as between this

plaintiff and said defendant" (R. 78).^ Harold L.

' Title 28, U. S. Code, § 41 (25) (Judicial Code, Section

24, paragraph 25, 30 Stat. 416, 36 Stat. 1094) confers upon
the federal district courts jurisdiction of "suits in equity

brought by any tenant in common or joint tenant for the

partition of lands in cases where the United States is one of

such tenants n common or joint tenants * * *."



Ickes, Secretary of the Interior, is claiming to be in

charge, under acts of Congress, of the Flathead Irri-

gation Project, and Henry Gerharz is claiming to be

the Project Engineer in direct charge of the project

(R. 78-79) . These defendants are claiming that the

plaintiff has no water rights on Mud Creek inde-

pendant of the Flathead Irrigation Project, and are

claiming the right to deprive plaintiff of the use of

the water except upon the payment to the project

of fees and charges (R. 79). The value of the water

in controversy exceeds $3,000; this action is neces-

sary to prevent a multiplicity of suits; and the plain-

tiff has no adequate remedy at law (R. 79). Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling each claim that the appro-

priation of Michel Pablo was also made for lands now

owned by them (R. 79-80). The Flathead Irriga-

tion District and the individual defendants at one

time claimed some rights in the waters of Mud
Creek (R. 80).

The plaintiff prayed that the waters of Mud Creek

be adjudicated between the United States and the

plaintiff; that plaintiff's rights be "partitioned, sepa-

rated, fixed, and established"; that plaintiff be given

a right to the use of 160 inches of water with a prior-

ity of April, 1900; and that the defendants be re-

strained from interfering with the rights of plaintiff

as found (R. 81).

After the filing of the original complaint (which

was substantially like the amended complaint above

summarized), the District Judge ordered the Secre-

tary of the Interior ''to appear, plead, answer or

74447—38 2



demur" under Judicial Code, Section 57. That Sec-

tion (36 Stat. 1102, 28 U. S. C, § 118) authorizes a

district court to direct a non-resident defendant to

''appear, plead, answer, or demur" in a suit to en-

force any claim to real or personal property in the

district where the suit is brought. The Secretary of

the Interior appeared specially and moved that the

complaint be dismissed as against him, on the grounds

that the court had no jurisdiction over him because

the suit was brought in a district other than that of

his residence, and that the suit was against the

United States which could not be sued without its

consent and which had not consented to be sued

(R. 20-21). The motion was denied (R. 23), and

the Secretary did not appear further in the case

(R. 166).

The United States and Henry Gerharz, the Project

Engineer of the Flathead Irrigation Project, also ap-

peared specially and moved that the complaint be

dismissed as against them, the United States on the

ground that it could not be sued without its consent

and it had not consented to be sued (R. 19-20), and

Gerharz on the grounds that the complaint did not

state a cause of action against him and that the suit

was against the United States which could not be

sued without its consent and which had not con-

sented to be sued (R. 21-22). These motions were

denied (R. 23). Motions by the United States and

by Gerharz to dismiss the second amended complaint

(above summarized) were also denied (R. 82-85).



The answer of the United States to the second

amended complaint sets up four affirmative defenses:

1. The United States has not consented to be sued.

2. The action was not brought for the partition of

lands. 3. This action was brought to settle the

relative priorities and rights of the parties to the use

of the waters of Mud Creek. 4. The facts alleged

do not state a cause of action against the United

States (R 87-88).

The answer of Henry Gerharz, the Project Engi-

neer, alleges that by the establishment of the Flat-

head Reservation the United States reserved all

the waters of streams of the reservation, including

Mud Creek, for irrigation and other uses upon the

reservation, and exempted those waters from appro-

priation (R. 90) ; denies any knowledge of the alleged

appropriation of waters of Mud Creek by Michel

Pablo (R. 91); admits that the United States claims

an interest in the waters of Mud Creek and has

dammed up the creek (R. 91); alleges that all acts

done by him relevant to this suit were done in

pursuance of the orders, rules and regulations of

the Secretary of the Interior (R. 92); alleges that

the west eighty acres of the plaintiff's lands were

by court order included in the Flathead Irrigation

District, that thereafter the district entered into

repayment contracts with the United States and

those lands of the plaintiff became subject to those

contracts, and that he, as Project Engineer, assessed

against the lands of the plaintiff certain charges in
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connection with the project (R. 93) ; and alleges that

whatever rights the individual defendants have in

the waters of Mud Creek are subservient to the

rights of and were granted by the United States

(R. 95).

In addition, the answer of Gerharz sets forth six

affirmative defenses: 1. This action is not for the par-

tition of lands, but to quiet title to the use of waters

(R. 95). 2. The facts alleged do not state a cause

of action (R. 95). 3. The Court has no jurisdiction

of the subject of the action (R. 96). 4. The United

States has constructed the Flathead Irrigation Project

to irrigate the irrigable lands on the Flathead Reser-

vation and now owns and operates that project (R.

97-98) . All the waters of the streams of the reserva-

tion, including Mud Creek, are used by the project

and are necessary for the irrigation of lands under

it (R. 99). Part of the plaintiff's lands are entitled

to water from the project upon payment of lawful

charges (R. 99), and that is the only water right the

plaintiff has (R. 98-99). No waters of the reserva-

tion were or could be appropriated by plaintiff's

predecessors or any other person (R. 99). When
the irrigation project was undertaken the United

States recognized water right developments on the

reservation antedating 1909, and the Secretary of

the Interior appointed a committee which investi-

gated such rights and made a report thereon (R. 99-

100). The Secretary approved the report, granted

to the west eighty of the plaintiff's lands a right to

1,000 gallons per day of the waters of Mud Creek for



domestic and stock use, and declared that no other

water right was appurtenant to those lands (R. 100-

101). 5. Pursuant to federal and Montana law, the

United States appropriated the waters of Mud Creek

in the years 1909 and 1912. Before that, and since,

the United States, through the Flathead Irrigation

Project, has continuously used all the waters of Mud
Creek (R. 101-102). 6. For more than ten years

prior to the filing of this action the United States had

exercised open and notorious ownership and control

of all of the waters of Mud Creek under claim of title.

Accordingly the United States has title to those

waters by adverse possession, the plaintiff is barred

by the Montana statutes from asserting any right in

them, and has been guilty of laches (R. 103-104).

The answer of the individual Indian defendants

sets forth substantially the same defenses as that of

Gerharz (R. 106-107).

The answer of the Flathead Irrigation District

follows the same general theory as does that of

Gerharz. It alleges that no rights in the waters of

Mud Creek could be acquired by appropriation (R.

126), avers that the Flathead Irrigation Project was

initiated before the allotment of reservation lands

(R. 125), and that by the initiation of the project

all the waters of the reservation were segregated and

appropriated for the project (R. 125).

The answer of the defendants A. M. Sterling and

Alex Pablo admits that Michel Pablo appropriated

80 inches per second of the waters of Mud Creek for

the irrigation of his allotment (now the west eighty
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of the plaintiff's lands), and that that appropriation

has not been abandoned, but denies that any water

was appropriated for or used upon the Lizette

Barnaby allotment (plaintiff's east eighty) (R. ISO-

MO). By way of cross complaint it alleges that

Alex Pablo is the son of Michel Pablo and the owner

by allotment of certain described lands (R. 143-144)

;

that A. M. Sterling is the owner of certain other

described lands which were formerly the allotment of

Agatha Pablo, the wife of Michel Pablo (R. 144);

that in April, 1900, Michel Pablo appropriated 560

inches of the waters of Mud Creek for the irrigation

of his allotment and those of his wife and children

(R. 143), including 80 inches of water for the lands

of Alex Pablo and 80 inches for the lands now owned

by Sterling (R. 145) ; that this appropriation has not

been abandoned (R. 143); and that the defendants

Alex Pablo and Sterling and the plaintiff are each

entitled to 80 inches of the waters of Mud Creek,

with priority over the rights of any other person but

without priority among themselves (R. 146-147).

By agreement of counsel all new matters in the

answers were deemed denied without need of a reply

(R. 335).

The jurisdiction of the District Court in this suit

rests upon Judicial Code, Section 24, paragraph 1 (36

Stat. 1091, 28 U. S. C, § 41 (1)) which confers upon

the federal district courts jurisdiction of civil suits

which arise ''under the Constitution or laws of the

United States, or treaties made * * * under

their authority * * *."
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The consent of the United States to be sued in this

suit rests upon Judicial Code, Section 24, paragraph

25 (36 Stat. 1094, 28 U. S. C, § 41 (25)) which confers

upon the federal district courts jurisdiction

—

of suits in equity brought by any tenant in

common or joint tenant for the partition of

lands in cases where the United States is

one of such tenants in common or joint

tenants * * *.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellees each assert rights to the use of sufficient

quantities of the waters of Mud Creek to irrigate in

their entirety their respective lands (R. 81, 148-149).

The duty of water on these lands is said to be one

inch per second per acre (R. 75, 142), and the plain-

tiff's tract of land contains 160 acres and those of

Pablo and Sterling 80 acres each (R. 75-76, 143-144).

Appellees' claims are based upon an alleged prior

appropriation of waters of Mud Creek by Michel

Pablo for the irrigation of the lands now owned by

them, upon confirmation and recognition of the right

of appropriation so acquired by Section 19 of the Act

of April 23, 1904, as amended by the Act of June 21,

1906, and upon nonabandonment of that right

(R. 74-81, 138-149).

As to the merits of those claims, these appellants

contended (1) that no right in any waters of the

Flathead Reservation could be acquired by an indi-

vidual by appropriation; (2) that if a right in waters

of the reservation could be so acquired, no such

quantities of water as are claimed by the plaintiff,
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Pablo and Sterling were ever appropriated for their

lands; (3) that if such quantities of water ever were

used on those lands their use was thereafter in whole

or in part abandoned, and that for more than the

prescriptive period of ten years the United States,

through the Flathead Irrigation Project, has used

and claimed those waters adversely to the plaintiff

and to Pablo and Sterling.

These appellants contended, however, that the

determination of these questions upon their merits

is precluded because the United States, an indis-

pensable party, has not consented to be sued.

As detailed in the statement of pleadings, supra

,

the District Court overruled the contention that the

United States had not consented to be sued, and a

trial on the merits was had. Evidence was intro-

duced as to the original appropriation of waters by

Michel Pablo—its extent and the lands on which

the waters were used—and as to the extent and con-

tinuity of the irrigation of the lands of the appellees

since that time (R. 239-342). At the conclusion of

the trial the District Court held for the appellees

upon all the issues and gave a decree awarding each

of them the quantities of water they claimed (R. 225)

.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the United States consented to be sued

in this action by Judicial Code, Section 24, paragraph

25 (36 Stat. 1094, 28 U. S. C, § 41 (25)), which pro-

vides for—

suits in equity brought by any tenant in com-

mon or joint tenant for the partition of lands
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in cases where the United States is one of

such tenants in common or joint ten-

ants * * *

2. Whether the United States is an indispensable

party to this action.

3. Whether a right to the use of waters of a stream

on the Flathead Reservation needed for the irriga-

tion of Indian lands could be acquired by appro-

priation.

4. Whether, if the preceding question be answered

in the affirmative, a right to the use of waters of

Mud Creek was acquired by appellees' predecessors,

to the extent of 320 inches of water, for use on lands

now owned by appellees.

0. Whether, if the two preceding questions be

answered in the affirmative, the right to the use of

those quantities of waters has been abandoned in

whole or in part and has been acquired by the

United States through adverse possession.

SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS

The assigned errors w^hich are to be relied upon are:

Assignment of Errors of the United States, Numbers

1 through 9, inclusive (R. 344-346); Assignment of

Errors of the Secretary of the Interior, Numbers 1

and 2 (R. 347); Assignment of Errors of Henry

Gerharz, Project Engineer, Niunbers 1 through 7,

inclusive (R. 348-349), and Assignment of Errors

of the individual defendants, members of the Flat-

head Tribe, Numbers 1 through 5, inclusive (R.

350-351).
74447—38——3
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SUMMARY OF ARGtTMENT

I. The United States cannot be sued except when

Congress has expressly consented. Judicial Code,

Section 24, paragraph 25 (36 Stat. 1094, 28 U. S. C,

§ 41 (25)), upon which appellees rely, provides that

the United States may be sued in suits ''for the

partition of lands" of which the United States is one

of the "tenants in common or joint tenants." This

suit is not within that statute for these reasons:

1

.

The United States and appellees are not tenants

in common or joint tenants of any right in the waters

of Mud Creek, and this suit is not for the partition

of any such right, but simply to adjudicate the extent

and validity of the appellees' water rights. In order

for persons to be tenants in common or joint tenants

of a water right which is appurtenant to certain land

they must be tenants in common or joint tenants of

the land to which the water right is appurtenant.

The appellees and the United States are not cotenants

of the lands—the appellees are the sole owners. The

relief actually given by the District Court in no

particular resembles partition; its decree merely

adjudges that the appellees have certain water rights,

and enjoins interference with those rights.

2. The statutory consent to a suit for the parti-

tion of "lands" does not include a suit for the parti-

tion of rights in waters. While a water right par-

takes of the nature of real estate, and may be

appurtenant to land, it is in no sense land.

II. The United States is an indispensable party

to this suit. While the United States is not an
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indispensable party to a suit to enjoin an official

from illegally interfering with rights of property, the

United States is an indispensable party to a suit to

litigate title to property held or claimed by an offi-

cial for the United States. And this suit is clearly

of the latter type.

III. The claims of the appellees to rights to the

use of certain quantities of the waters of Mud Creek

fail in their entirety, because their claims are based

solely upon an alleged appropriation of those quan-

tities of water for their lands by a predecessor in

possession, and it has never been possible to acquire

rights in waters of the streams of the Flathead Res-

ervation by appropriation. This argument is not

developed in this brief; with respect to it these ap-

pellants adopt and rely upon the brief which has

been filed for the Flathead Irrigation District.

IV. If rights in the waters of streams of the Flat-

head Reservation could be acquired by appropriation,

the record does not support the award to the appellees

of as much water as was decreed to them by the

District Court. No such amount of water was ever

appropriated for the lands now owned by the appellees,

by their predecessor in possession upon whose appro-

priation they base their claims. If such an amount

of water was so appropriated, its use was thereafter

in whole or in part abandoned, and for more than the

statutory prescriptive period of ten years the United

States, through the Flathead Irrigation Project, has

used and claimed that water, or part of it, adversely

to the appellees, and has thereby acquired the right

to its use.
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ARGUMENT

I

The United States has not consented to be sued in this

action.

Assignment of Errors No. 1 of the United States:

The Court erred in overruhng the motions

of the defendant, the United States of America,

to dismiss the original and the amended Bills

of Complaint (R. 344).

Assignment of Errors No. 2 of the United States:

The Court erred in overruling the motion

of the defendant, the United States of America,

for judgment upon the pleadings (R. 344).

Assignment of Errors No. 3 of the United States:

The Court erred in holding that the de-

fendant, the United States of America, has

consented to be sued in this action (R. 345).

Assignment of Errors No. 4 of the United States:

The Court erred in entering judgment

against the defendant, the United States of

America (R. 345).

Assignment of Errors No. 1 of Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior:

The Court erred in overruling the motion

of the defendant, the Secretary of the Interior,

to dismiss the original Bill of Complaint

(R. 347).

Assignment of Errors No. 2 of Harold L. Ickes,

Secretary of the Interior:

The Court erred in entering judgment

against the defendant, the Secretary of the

Interior (R. 347).
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Assignment of Errors No. 1 of Henry Gerharz,

Project Engineer:

The Court erred in overruling the motions

of the defendant, Henry Gerliarz, to dismiss

the original and the amended Bills of Com-
plaint (R. 348).

Assignment of Errors No. 2 of Henry Gerharz,

Project Engineer:

The Court erred in entering judgment

against the defendant, Henry Gerharz (R.

348).

Assignment of Errors No. 1 of the individual de-

fendants:

The Court erred in entering judgment

against the defendants, members of the Flat-

head Tribe of Indians (R. 350).

''* * * no rule is better settled than that the

United States cannot be sued except when Congress

has so provided * * *." Ickes v. Fox, 300 U. S.

82, 96.

The District Court found that the appellees and

the United States "are tenants in common, or joint

tenants in the use of" the waters of Mud Creek, and

that those waters "can be divided, partitioned, and

separated" so that the rights of the appellees can

be determined (R. 211-212, 218), and held that

Congress had therefore consented to this suit by

Judicial Code, Section 24, paragraph 25, supra p. 11.

This statute was originally enacted as Section 1 of

the Act of May 17, 1898 (30 Stat. 416). Its legisla-

tive history shows that its purpose was to provide a
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means whereby persons who were co-owners with the

United States of real property could receive their

respective interests in severalty. (See 31 Cong.

Rec. 3864-3865; House Report No. 959, 55th Cong.,

2d Sess.) Moreover, Section 2 of the Act (28 U. S.

Code, § 766), which provides that "in making such

partition the court shall be governed by the same

principles of equity that control courts of equity

in partition proceedings between private persons"

makes it clear that no extension of common law

principles was intended, but that the purpose of the

statute was entirely remedial.

It is the contention of the appellants that this suit

is not within this statutory consent to sue the United

States because the United States and the plaintiff are

not tenants in common or joint tenants of any right

in the waters of Mud Creek, and that this suit is not

for the partition of any such right, but simply to

adjudicate the validity, extent and priority of the

plaintiff's water rights. As will be fully shown

the appellees' contentions of a tenancy in common

or joint tenancy and the findings of the Court

below to that effect are wholly inconsistent with

appellees^ contentions of prior rights and with

the relief actually given by the Court. The alle-

gations were inserted merely to give color to the

claim that the United States has consented to this

suit. Appellants further contend that the statutory

consent to a suit for the partition of ''lands" does

not include a suit for the partition of rights in waters.



19

A. Appellants and appellees are not tenants in common or joint tenants

and this not a partition suit, but a suit to adjudicate rights in waters.

The characteristics and incidents of tenancies in

common and joint tenancies have long been settled.

The fundamental and common feature of both, and

of all forms of cotenancy, is unity of possession.

Each cotenant is entitled, as against his cotenants, to

exclusive possession of any part of the property. In

Russell V. Beasley, 72 Ala. 190, dismissing an action

for partition, the court said (p. 190):

It avails nothing to prove title to a distinct

portion of the land proposed to be partitioned,

for the essence of the estate in com.mon,

necessary to be here shown, is that the

tenants should "own undivided parts, and

occupy promiscuously, because neither knows
his own severalty."

In McConnel v. Kihbe, 43 111. 12, 18, the parties

owned separate parts of a tract of land covered by

one building. Dismissing a suit for partition, the

court said:

The idea of the plaintiff in error that he and
the defendant in error hold this property

jointly, is not supported by the title deeds.

They are neither joint-tenants, tenants in

common nor coparceners, but they severally,

each for himself, own distinct parts and por-

tions of the premises, the character of which

a court of chancery has no power to change.

See also Hopkins v. Noyes, 4 Mont. 550, 560, 2 Pac.

280, 283; 2 Blackstone, Commentaries, pp. 191-192;

2 Minor, Real Property (2d Ed.), pp. 1081-1082; 2

Thompson, Real Property (1924), pp. 963-964.
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While the original application of this principle was

to interests in land, it has never been questioned that

it is equally applicable to rights in water. There

must, accordingly, be unity of possession before

there can be a tenancy in common or joint tenancy

in a right to the use of water.

It is submitted that the Supreme Court of Montana

has reached the correct result in Cocanougher v.

Montana Life Ins. Co., 103 Mont. 536, 64 P. (2d)

845, in which it held that, since rights to the use of

water for irrigation are appurtenant to the lands

irrigated, a tenancy in common of such rights cannot

exist unless the lands irrigated are held in common,

and that tenancy in common of an irrigation ditch is

not sufficient to create tenancy in common of water

rights. The complaint in that case alleged that the

husband of the plaintiff had constructed an irrigation

ditch and appropriated water thereby for the irriga-

tion of certain land; that subsequently he conveyed

part of the land to the defendants and part to the

plaintiff; that the plaintiff and the defendants were

tenants in common of the ditch and of the right to use

the waters, and that the defendants had deprived the

plaintiff of her rights in the waters. A demurrer to

the complaint was overruled and the defendant

appealed. The state Supreme Court held that the

complaint did not state a cause of action. And it

said (pp. 539-540):

In view of the fact that plaintiff had already

alleged separate ownership of certain lands in

herself and other lands in the defendants.
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clearly there was not such a unity of posses-

sion between the parties as to render the owner-

ship of the right to use the water as that of

tenants in common.

Similarly, in Norman v. Corbley, 32 Mont. 195, 79

Pac. 1059, 1060-1061, the Supreme Court of Montana
said:

To constitute a tenancy in common there

must be a right to the unity of possession

* * * and if this right is destroyed the

tenancy no longer exists. With respect to a

water right this unity must extend to the

right of user, for the parties can have no title

to the water itself.

In accord that a tenancy in common of a water right

can exist only if the land to which the water

right is appurtenant is held in common, see also

Telluride v. Davis, 33 Colo. 355, 357, 358, 80 Pac.

1051; Snow v. Abalos, 18 N. M. 681, 696, 140 Pac.

1044.2

Equally well settled is the nature of a suit for

partition. Such a suit is available only between

cotenants. Shepard v. Mount Vernon Lumber Co.,

192 Ala. 322, 325, 68 So. 880; Freeman, Cotenancy

and Partition (1874), p. 521. Its purpose is to sever

and divide the interests of cotenants.

^ While it is theoretically possible for a joint tenancy

to exist in a water right, no case dealing with such a tenancy

has been found. This is perhaps attributable to the tendency

to construe cotenancies as tenancies in common rather than

as joint tenancies.

74447.-38-



22

The object of partition proceedings is to

enable those who own property as joint ten-

ants, or co-parceners, or tenants in common
to so put an end to the tenancy as to vest in

each a sole estate in specific property or an

allotment of the lands or tenements. Brown
V. Cooper, 98 Iowa 444, 454.

Partition of a right in waters held in common is

effected ''either by apportioning the time and extent

of use, or by a sale of the right and a division of the

proceeds." Head v. Amoskeag Mfg. Co., 113 U. S.

9, 21. See also Smith v. Smith, 10 Paige Ch. (N. Y.

470, 474 ff.^

According to the strict common law, the plaintiff

in a suit for partition must have a clear legal title.

No question of title can be tried in an action for par-

tition, and if any such question arises the suit must

be stayed pending its resolution in an action at law.

Clark V. Roller, 199 U. S. 541, 545; Rich v. Braij, 37

Fed. 273, 277 (C. C. Mo.). This rule has nearly

everywhere been relaxed, and questions of title aris-

ing incidentally in a suit for partition are now usually

tried in the partition proceeding. But even where

this more liberal practice prevails the determination

of title is incidental to partition as the main purpose

of the suit. Torrence v. Shedd, 144 U. S. 527, 532;

Middekoff v. Cronise, 155 Calif. 185, 191, 100 Pac.

232.

^ Some courts have asserted that, because of the adminis-

trative difficulty of apportioning the use of water, a water

right can be partitioned only by sale of the right and division

of the proceeds. Brown v. Coojper, 98 Iowa 444, 454-455;

McGillivray v. Evans, 27 Calif. 92, 96-98.
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It is apparent from the pleadings and the relief

sought that the appellants and the appellees are not

tenants in common or joint tenants, and that this

is not a partition suit but a suit primarily for the

adjudication of water rights. The appellees claimed

(R. 75-76, 143-146), and the District Court found

(R. 210-211, 216-217) that Michel Pablo appro-

priated waters of Mud Creek for the irrigation of

certain described lands by means of a ditch which

he constructed, that the water appropriated by him

became appurtenant to the lands, and that appellees

now own those lands together with the water rights

appurtenant thereto. The conclusions of law of the

District Court recite that the ditch built by Michel

Pablo became appurtenant to lands now owned by

the appellees, and that they now own the ditch (R.

219-220). The appellees claim that they .are joint

tenants or tenants in common with the United States

of the right to use the waters of Mud Creek, and that

those waters can be ''divided, partitioned, and sepa-

rated" so that their rights can be determined (R. 78,

148). But they also contend that their ''right to

the use of said waters became vested long prior to

the claim of the United States" (R. 78, 147), a claim

wholly inconsistent with the unity of possession

essential to a tenancy in common or joint tenancy.

Similarly, the relief that they seek is not only that

their rights be "partitioned, separated, fixed, and

established," but also that they "be given a prior

right to the Use of said waters" (R. 81, 148). The

decree of the District Court adjudges that the ap-

pellees are entitled to water sufficient for the irriga-
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tion of their lands, without interference on the part

of the appellants, and that the use of this water is

their private property and appurtenant to their lands

(R. 225-226), thus decreeing a prior right inconsistent

with tenancy in common of the appellees and the

United States of the right to use the waters of Mud
Creek. The decree makes no mention of partition,

awards no water to the United States, and contains

no reference to its rights.

The position taken by the appellees that they

and the United States are tenants in common, or

joint tenants, in the use of the waters of Mud Creek,

and the findings of the District Court to that effect,

are thus wholly inconsistent with other allegations

in the pleadings and with the findings of fact, con-

clusions of law and decree of the District Court.

The water rights claimed by the appellees are alleged

by them and found by the District Court to be ap-

purtenant to lands of which they are the sole owners.

The language of the Supreme Court of Montana in

Cocanougher v. Montana Life Ins. Co., 103 Mont.

536, 539-540, 64 P. (2d) 845, discussed supra p. 20,

with respect to a similar situation is pertinent. It

said:

It is argued that the allegation that the

parties owned the water right as tenants in

common is a mere conclusion of law and there-

fore ineffectual. In view of the fact that

plaintiff had already alleged separate owner-

ship of certain lands in herself and other lands

in the defendants, clearly there was not such

a unity of possession between the parties as
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to render the ownership of the right to use

the water as that of tenants in common.
{Norman v. Corhley, 32 Mont. 195, 79 Pac.

1059; Snow v. Abalos, 18 N. M. 681, 140 Pac.

1044; City of Telluride v. Blair, 33 Colo. 355,

80 Pac. 1051, 108 Am. St. Rep. 101). The
conclusion of the pleader was not supported

by the facts alleged.

If the parties to this action had owned the

land as tenants in common and the water

right was appurtenant to the land, then it

might be said that they owned the water right

in common.

The United States and the appellees are not even

cotenants of the Michel Pablo ditch, though that

would not make them cotenants of the water rights.

Moreover the relief actually given does not in

any particular resemble partition. The appellees

are each decreed to be entitled to certain waters

(R. 225). No water is allocated to the United

States, the alleged cotenant. Instead its Project

Engineer is enjoined from interfering with the

rights decreed to the appellees (R. 225-226).

It is plain, we submit, that the United States has

not consented to be sued in a suit such as this; that

this is in no sense a suit for the partition of lands

of which the United States is a cotenant; and that

the attempt of the plaintiff to label it as such is

but a subterfuge to avoid the sovereign immunity

of the United States from suit.''

* Judge Pray, who presided at the trial of the case, stated

in his opinion that he considered himself bound by the

earlier ruling of Judge Bourquin upon this question, irre-

spective of his own views (R. 166-167).
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B. The statute applies to lands and not to waters.

What has been thus far said has ignored the fact

that the statutory consent is only to a suit for the

partition of ''lands", while this suit, even if it were

a suit for partition, deals solely with waters. ''A

water right—a right to the use of water—while it

partakes of the nature of real estate [citation], is

not land in any sense, and, when considered alone

and for the purpose of taxation is personal property."

Verwolf V. Low Line Irr. Co., 70 Mont. 570, 578, 227

Pac. 68. And it is well established that a ''* * *

suit may not be maintained against the United States

in any case not clearly within the terms of the statute

by which it consents to be sued." United States v.

Michel, 282 U. S. 656, 659. In view of that principle

it is submitted that the statute under discussion does

not consent to a suit against the United States for

the partition of a water right separate and distinct

from any partition of lands. As an appurtenance to

lands held by the United States in cotenancy with

others the waters might be partitioned, but that is

not this case.

II

The United States is an indispensable party to this suit»

The District Court held that the United States

had consented to be sued and hence did not rule

upon the proposition whether the United States is

an indispensable party to this suit. It is submitted

that the United States is an indispensable party to

the suit with respect to all of the appellants, and

since the United States has not consented to be sued
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the Court below erred in denying the motions to

dismiss on that ground. *

1. The United States is an indispensable party

defendant in this suit under the decisions of this

Court in Moody v. Johnston, 66 F. (2d) 999, and

70 F. (2d) 835. Those suits, like the present, were

brought by white owners of former Indian allotments

in the Flathead Reservation for the adjudication of

water rights alleged to be appurtenant to the allot-

ments. The Project Manager of the Flathead

Reclamation Project, who alone had been made a

defendant, moved to dismiss on the ground that the

United States and the Secretary of the Interior were

necessary parties. The District Court denied the

motion. At the trial the plaintiffs introduced in

evidence a report of the committee which the Secre-

tary of the Interior had appointed to investigate

water rights on the reservation antedating the

Flathead Irrigation Project, which they claimed

showed that water rights were appurtenant to their

lands prior to the project. The District Court

entered a decree which adjudged that 'Tlaintiffs are

entitled * * * to sufficient water to irrigate

their lands," not to exceed a certain quantity of

water per acre, without interference by the defend-

ant; and that the defendant be enjoined from levying

against the plaintiffs any charges in connection with

the reclamation project, from denying the water

rights of the plaintiffs, and from in any way clouding

the title of the plaintiffs to their water rights. This
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Court reversed the decree and remanded the case

to the District Court with directions to dismiss for

want of necessary parties, unless the plaintiffs within

a reasonable time amended their complaints to bring

in the necessary parties. As to who were the neces-

sary parties, the Court said (66 F. (2d) at 1003):

If no greater amount of water is claimed for

the allotments in question upon this appeal

than as stated in the report of the committee

made to the Secretary of the Interior respect-

ing diversions and applications of water for

irrigation purposes prior to the initiation of

the Flathead Reclamation Project, and such

amount of water is recognized as properly

apportioned to said lands in the administra-

tion of said project, then the Secretary of the

Interior would be the only additional neces-

sary party to actions for the determination of

questions whether such lands were liable to

construction, maintenance, and operation

charges imposed on account of the project.

Where there has been no recognized deter-

mination of the amount or duty of water,

even though some indefinite amount may
have been diverted and applied to certain

allotments or tracts of land prior to the con-

struction of the project works, a determina-

tion of the amount of water to which the

land may be entitled as well as liability for

construction, maintenance, and operation

charges may not be determined without not

only the Secretary of the Interior being made
a party defendant, but the United States or

others who may be affected by any change

in the use of water available for irrigation.
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Thereafter the plaintiffs filed amended bills of com-

plaint, and brought in the United States and the

Secretary of the Interior as additional parties de-

fendant, but did not bring in all of the individual

water users who would be affected by the decree

sought. Upon application of the Secretary and of

the Project Engineer this Court thereupon granted

a writ of mandamus directing the District Court to

dismiss the proceeding on the ground that all the

necessary parties had not been joined. In its opinion

on the application for mandamus (70 F. (2d) 835,

at 839), speaking of its former opinion, the Court

said:

With reference to the United States as a

party, we held that, if it was sought by the

plaintiffs to litigate a private right in and to

the waters as distinguished from the rights

asserted by the United States in and to the

waters diverted by the United States for the

reclamation project and delivered to the de-

fendants, the United States was a necessary

party and that the Secretary of the Interior

was a necessary party, and that others who
would be affected by the change in the use of

waters available for irrigation would be neces-

sary parties. ... It will be observed

that we thus called attention to two possible

methods of amendment—one requiring only

the presence of the Secretary of the Interior;

the other requiring all others ^'affected by any

change in the use of water available for irriga-

tion" to be brought in, including the Secretary

of the Interior and the United States.
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The present case is clearly of the class which this

Court thus held could be maintained only if not

merely the Secretary but the United States and all

other parties claiming an interest in the water were

joined. The complaint in this case is devoted solely

to the assertion of a water right claimed to exist

independently of and anterior to the Flathead Irri-

gation Project. The plaintiff does not seek a water

right under that project, or raise any question as to

the charges incident to such a right. The complaint

in this case thus closely resembles the amended com-

plaint in Moody v. Johnston, and in fact was unques-

tionably modeled after it.^

2. The decision of this Court in Moody v. Johnston

that the United States is an indispensable party to a

suit like the present is in accord with the precedents.

In that case, as has just been shown, this Court drew a

distinction between a suit which, like the present, is

concerned primarily with the adjudication of a right

in waters claimed by the United States and a suit to

^ The original complaint in this case was filed after the

first decision in Moody v. Johnston, but before the decision

on mandamus. The Secretary, the Project Engineer, and

the United States were made parties defendant. After the

opinion on mandamus in Moody v. Johnston the complaint

in the present case was amended to bring in as additional

defendants individuals claiming an interest in the waters.

Like the amended complaint in Moody v. Johnston, the com-

plaint in this case seeks to state a cause of action for parti-

tion, and so to bring the suit within Judicial Code, section 24,.

paragraph 25.
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determine the legality of charges assessed by officials

of the United States for furnishing to an individual

water to which he has a vested right or his right to

which is at least not the basic concern of the suit.

The Court distinguished, in other words, between a

suit to litigate title to property claimed by the United

States and a suit to protect property from official

action alleged to be illegal. And it held that a suit

of the latter type was not a suit to which the United

States was an indispensable party, but on the other

hand, that a suit of the former type was a suit to

which the United States was an indispensable party.

This distinction is precisely that which had been

drawn by the Supreme Court in a long line of

decisions. That Court has consistently held that a

suit against an official of the United States to Htigate

title to property held by the official for the United

States is a suit against the United States—or, what

is the same thing;, a suit to which the United States

is an indispensable party—and so cannot be main-

tained. Oregon v. Hitchcock, 202 U. S. 60, 69-70;

Louisiana v. Garfield, 211 U. S. 70, 77-78; Goldberg

V. Daniels, 231 U. S. 218, 221-222; New Mexico v.

Lane, 243 U. S. 52, 58. See Carr v. United States,
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98 U. S. 433, 437-438.' It is equally well established

that a suit to enjoin illegal interference by officials

with rights of property is not a suit against the

United States. Philadelphia Co. v. Stimson, 223

U. S. 605; Ickes v. Fox, 300 U. S. 82.

While the distinction between a suit against an

official to try title to property held by the official

for the Government and a suit to enjoin an official

from illegal interference with vested rights of property

is sometimes shadowy and productive of considerable

difficulty, compare Ickes v. Fox, 300 U. S. 82, with

Morrison v. Work, 266 U. S. 481, it is clear that the

present suit is of the former type. The basic purpose

of this suit is avowedly to try the water right of the

plaintiff against the United States. The appellees

have alleged (R. 77-78, 147):

That the United States of America, defendant

herein, claims an interest in the waters flowing

^ This Court and the Circuit Court of Appeals for the

Fourth Circuit have further elaborated the doctrine: The
United States would not be bound by any decree rendered

against its official with respect to title to property held by
him for the United States, and since a decree would thus be a

nullity, such a suit will not be entertained. Electric Steel

Foundry v. Huntley, 32 F. (2d) 892, 893 (C. C. A. 9); Wood v.

Phillips, 50 F. (2d) 714, 717-718 (C. C. A. 4); Appalachian

Electric Power Co. v. Smith, 67 F. (2d) 451, 456-457 (C. C. A.

4). See also Sanders v. Saiton, 182 N. Y. 477, 75 N. E. 529.

An action of ejectment may be brought against officials

holding property for the United States, but that is because

such a suit does not litigate the title but only the possession

of the defendant. See Carr v. United States, 98 U. S. 433,

437-438; United States v. Lee, 106 U. S. 196, 216-217;

Wood V. Phillips, 50 F. (2d) 714, 717 (C. C. A. 4).
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in said Mud Creek and has dammed up said

creek and carries part of the waters away from

plaintiff, and has deprived plaintiff of the full

use of the waters to which she is entitled.

That plaintiff's right to the use of said waters

became vested long prior to the claim of the

United States * * *.

Again, (R. 78, 148):

That there are no other parties using the

waters of Mud Creek except this plaintiff and

the United States, acting through the Flat-

head Reclamation Project, and in the use of

said water from said Mud Creek this plaintiff

and the United States are tenants in common
or joint tenants in the use of said water.

That the w^aters of said Mud Creek can be

divided, partitioned and separated so that

the amount of water this plaintiff is entitled

to use can be fixed and determined and the

United States is made a party herein under

the provisions of Title 28, Section 41, Sub-

division 25 of the U. S. C. A. (30 Stat. L. p.

416) for the purpose of completing adjudicat-

ing the waters of Mud Creek as between this

plaintiff and said defendant.

The prayers for relief ask (R. 81, 148):

* * * that if any interest is claimed by
the United States to said waters, the waters

therein may be adjudicated between the

United States and this plaintiff * * *.

There is, accordingly, no question but that this is a

suit to litigate title to property claimed by the

United States, and that the United States is conse-

quently an indispensable party to the suit.
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Furthermore, the District Court held that it had

jurisdiction over the Secretary of the Interior, a non-

resident of the district where this suit was brought,

under Judicial Code, Section 57 (36 Stat. 1102, 28

U. S. C, § 118), which provides that in a suit to en-

force a claim to property brought in the district where

the property is located the court may order a non-resi-

dent defendant to appear. This holding shows con-

clusively that this suit is to litigate title to property,

and since that property, as the appellees themselves

assert, is claimed by the United States, that the

United States is an indispensable party. And in

the only decision which has been found dealing with

a suit brought under Section 57 against an official

acting for the United States, Appalachian Electric

Power Co. v. Smith, 67 F. (2d) 451, the Circuit Court

of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit squarely held that

the United States was an indispensable party to the

suit, and that the suit could not be maintained against

the officials. In that case the Federal Power Commis-

sion had ordered the plaintiff not to build a pro-

posed power dam until it accepted a license tendered

by the Commission. The plaintiff brought suit,

under Judicial Code, Section 57, in the district in

which the dam was to be built, against the members

of the Commission, non-residents of that district,

alleging that certain provisions of the Federal Water

Power Act were unconstitutional. The prayer re-

quested that the Commission's orders be declared

void and that the defendants be enjoined from en-

forcing the Act. The District Court dismissed the
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bill on the merits. The Circuit Court of Appeals

reversed the judgment of the District Court and

remanded the case with directions to dismiss for

want of jurisdiction. It said (67 F. (2d) at 456):

And this brings us to another and conclusive

reason why the suit cannot be sustained on

any ground as a suit to remove cloud from

title, viz., that no one claiming under the

alleged cloud has been made a part}^ to the

suit and any relief granted would be entirely

nugatory. The defendants are asserting no

rights under the orders in question and have

no personal interest in them. The interest

is in the public represented by the govern-

ment of the United States. The United

States has not been made a party and has

not consented to be sued in such a case; and
yet it is well settled that in a suit to remove

a cloud or quiet title the adverse claimant is

a necessary party to the suit. Wood v.

Phillips (C. C. A. 4th) 50 F. (2d) 714, 717;

5 R. C. L. 669, and cases cited. To grant

relief against the defendants here would
amount to nothing. It would not be bind-

ing upon the United States or even upon the

Power Commission.

Certiorari was denied, 291 U. S. 674. Compare

Wood V. Phillips, 50 F. (2d) 714 (C. C. A. 4:); Sanders

v. Saxton, 182 N. Y. 477, 75 N. E. 529.
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III

It has never been possible to acquire rights in waters
of the streams of the Flathead Reservation by appro-

priation.

With reference to the errors assigned upon the

holding of the Court below that the appellees are

entitled to the usufruct of certain quantities of the

waters of Mud Creek solely upon an alleged appro-

priation of those quantities of waters by Michel

Pablo, and upon their succession to the rights to be

acquired/ it is appellants' contention that it has

never been possible to acquire rights in the waters

of the streams of the Flathead Reservation under the

doctrine of prior appropriation, and that the claims

of appellees must therefore fail in their entirety.

This contention is also advanced by the other appel-

lant, the Flathead Irrigation District and is fully

presented in its brief filed in this Court (pp. 15-34 ).

In order to save the time of this Court, and to avoid

needless duplication, these appellants do not reargue

that question, but hereby adopt, and rely upon as

their own, the argument upon that question in the

brief of the Flathead Irrigation District.

^ Nos. 2, 4, 6, 7, and 9 of the United States (R. 344-346);

No. 2 of the Secretary of the Interior (R. 347); Nos. 1, 2,

3, 4, 6, and 7 of the defendant Gerharz (R. 347-349); and

Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 5 of the individual defendants (R. 350-351).
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IV

Even if rights in waters of streams of the Flathead Reserva-
tion could have been acquired by appropriation, the

record does not support the award to the appellees of as
much water as was decreed to them by the District

Court.

The decree of the District Court awards to the

appellees waters sufficient to irrigate their respective

tracts of land, not to exceed one inch per acre (R.

225). The tract of the plaintiff contains 160 acres

and those of Sterling and Pablo contain 80 acres

each. Similarly, the conclusions of law of the Dis-

trict Court recite that the plaintiff is entitled to 160

inches of water per second and Pablo and Sterling to

80 inches each (R. 213, 220).

It is the contention of these appellants that, even if

this Court holds that rights in streams of the Flathead

Reservation, including waters of Mud Creek could

be acquired by appropriation, the record does not

support the award to the appellees of as much water

as was awarded to them by the District Court. No
such amount of water was ever appropriated by

Michel Pablo for the lands now owned by the appel-

lees and even if such an amount of water had been

so appropriated its use was thereafter in whole or in

part abandoned. For more than the prescriptive

period of ten years the United States, through the

Flathead Irrigation Project, has used and claimed

that water, or part of it adversely to the appellees,

and the United States has thereby acquired the

right to its use.
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As shown infra, and as brought out in greater de-

tail in the Brief for the Flathead Irrigation District

(pp. 39-43), all the waters of the Flathead Reservation

were, before the death of Michel Pablo in 1914, re-

served for the Flathead Irrigation Project. The ap-

pellees, recognizing that any water rights they assert

must antedate that reservation, do not claim any

greater quantities of water than Michel Pablo ap-

propriated; they allege merely that the water rights

which he acquired for the lands they now own have

not been abandoned (R. 76, 143).

A. Michel Pablo did not appropriate for the lands now owned by the

appellees as much water as was awarded to them by the District

Court.

Assignment of Errors No. 6 of the United States:

The Court erred in holding that the plain-

tiff, Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants,

A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo, are entitled to

appropriate the waters of Mud Creek, not to

exceed one inch per acre, to irrigate described

lands belonging to said plaintiff and de-

fendants (R. 345).

Assignment of Errors No. 3 of Henry Gerharz,

Project Engineer:

The Court erred in holding that the plain-

tiff, Agnes Mclntire, and the defendants,

A. M. Sterling and Alex Pablo, are entitled

to appropriate the waters of Mud Creek, not

to exceed one inch per acre, to irrigate de-

scribed lands belonging to said plaintiff and

defendants (R. 348).

Assignment of Errors No. 2 of the individual

defendants:
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The Court erred in holding that the plain-

tiff, Agnes Mclntire and the defendants, A. M.
Sterling and Alex Pablo, are entitled to appro-

priate the waters of Mud Creek, not to exceed

one inch per acre, to irrigate described lands

belonging to said plaintiff and defendants

(R. 351).

Two witnesses testified for the plaintiff as to the

amount of water used, that is, the acreage irrigated,

by Michel Pablo: John Ashley, a 77-year-old Indian,

and Jean Mclntire, the plaintiff's son.

Ashley testified that Michel Pablo irrigated ^'pretty

near all" of three 80 acre tracts—the west eighty of

the land now owned by the plaintiff and the eighties

now owned by Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling; that

Michel Pablo did not irrigate the east eighty of the

land now owned by the plaintiff except for a garden

(R. 241).

Jean Mclntire, the plaintiff's son, testified that he

saw the land now owned by plaintiff in 1907 when

he was fourteen years of age; that at that time there

were good crops on the land; that crops could not be

grown on ''the majority of" the land without irriga-

tion; that he did not know the number of acres irri-

gated in 1907 or the amount of water used (R.

243-244).

Two witnesses likewise testified for Pablo and Ster-

ling as to the acreage irrigated by Michel Pablo:

Alex Pablo himself, the son of Michel Pablo, and

Andrew Stinger, the partner of Michel Pablo in the

cattle business from 1907 or 1908 until the latter's

death in 1914.
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Alex Pablo testified that Michel Pablo, up until

his death, irrigated about 20 acres of his (Alex

Pablo's) allotment and about 25 acres of the land now

owned by Sterling when he raised hay; that when

Michel Pablo grew crops other than hay he did not

irrigate (R. 316); that the east forty of his (Alex

Pablo's) allotment needs water to raise a good crop

(R. 317).

Stinger testified that he was thoroughly familiar

with the Pablo ditch ; that it was used for the watering

of Michel Pablo's stock; that he never saw him irri-

gate out of the ditch (R. 326).

In addition to these two witnesses, Pablo and

Sterling introduced in evidence a certified copy of a

notice of water right filed in the office of the clerk

and recorder of Missoula County, Montana, in

November, 1907. This notice, signed by Michel

Pablo and his wife and children, asserted that they

had a right to the use of 560 inches of water for domes-

tic and irrigating purposes on described lands, which

total 560 acres (R. 319-321). All of the lands for

which water rights are sought in the present suit are

included in the description except the plaintiff's

east eighty.

It is plain that this evidence, even if taken at its

face value, does not entitle the plaintiff or the de-

fendants Pablo and Sterling to the amounts of water

awarded to them by the District Court.

There is no evidence that the plaintiff's east eighty

was irrigated at all, aside from Ashley's testimony

that a garden plot was irrigated on it. No water

J
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right for that tract was asserted even in the expansive

notice of water right. Accepting Ashley's testimony

that ''pretty near all" of the plaintiff's west eighty

was irrigated, the plaintiff is at most entitled to 80

or 90 inches of water—far short of the 160 inches

awarded her by the District Court.

Alex Pablo himself claimed only that his father

had—when he grew hay—irrigated about 20 acres of

his (Alex Pablo's) allotment (R. 316). While his

testimony in this respect differs from that of Ashley,

it is evident that Alex Pablo was the better informed

of the two, and as an interested party certainly he

had no reason to understate the extent of his father's

irrigation. Alex Pablo should have no more than

the 20 inches of water to which his own testimony

entitles him, and not the 80 inches awarded to him

by the District Court.

Much the same may be said as to the Sterling

eighty. Ashley said that "pretty near all" of it was

irrigated by Michel Pablo; Alex Pablo said about

25 acres. The District Court awarded water suffi-

cient to irrigate every inch of it.

Thus, even accepting literally the testimony offered

by the appellees, it is plain that the water rights

awarded to them by the District Court must be

radically scaled down. And that is even plainer

when the evidence introduced by the appellants is

considered.

When the Flathead Irrigation Project was initiated

in 1909, and the waters of the reservation were

reserved for the project (as shown infra), the Secre-
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tary of the Interior determined to recognize all existing

water right developments on the Flathead Reserva-

tion. Accordingly the Secretary designated a com-

mittee to report upon the extent of such developments.

This committee, composed of the Superintendent of

the Flathead Agency, an assistant engineer of the

Reclamation Service, and Alphonse Clairmont, a

Flathead Indian selected by the tribal council (R.

272), investigated the status of water right develop-

ments on all the lands for which water rights are

sought in the present case. Both Michel Pablo and

his wife, Agatha Pablo, testified before the com-,

mittee. A certified copy of their testimony was

admitted in evidence (R. 306).

Michel Pablo testified that he irrigated 'Very

little" of the land on his allotment (plaintiff's west

eighty); that he used his ditch ''for my stock to

drink out of and used it on some trees and switched

into some gravelly places but not much" (R. 308).

He further testified that a map which was shown to

him fairly represented the location of the ditches and

the irrigated area on his allotment, the allotment of

Alex Pablo and on that of Agatha Pablo (now owned

by Sterling) (R. 308). A copy of this map is before

this Court as Defendants' Exhibit No. 5. Michel

Pablo estimated the irrigation on the allotments as

"4 or 5 acres where it is gravelly" (R. 308). He
testified that most of the soil did not require much

irrigation (R. 309).

Agatha Pablo, Michel Pablo's wife, testified that

no water was used on her land (now owned by
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Sterling); that she let the water run for stock and

house use (R. 309).

The committee reported that Michel Pablo had

constructed a ditch in 1891 for the purpose of con-

veying water to portions of his allotment (plaintiff's

west eighty); that this ditch ''has not been used for

irrigation for the past ten years but has been used

continuously for domestic and stock purposes; that

said allotment is determined to have a valid and

subsisting water right from Mud Creek to the extent

of 1,000 gallons per day for domestic and stock use

and that no other water right of any kind is appur-

tenant to this allotment" (R. 277). The committee

similarly reported that the Alex Pablo allotment was

entitled to 1,000 gallons per day, and that no other

water right was appurtenant to it (R. 282). This

report was approved by the Department of the

Interior (R. 267).

When the Flathead Irrigation Project was under-

taken extensive surveys were made of the reserva-

tion, including the lands for which water rights are

claimed in this case. The map which is Defendants'

Exhibit No. 5 was prepared from one of these sur-

veys (R. 259). That is the same map which Michel

Pablo said fairly showed the extent and location of

his irrigation. This map shows that in 1910, when

the survey was made, there was no irrigation on the

Lizette Barnaby tract (plaintiff's east eighty) ; that

18 acres were poorly irrigated on the Michel Pablo

eighty (plaintiff's west eighty) (R. 259) . Sperry, the

engineer who conducted the survey, testified that
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''poorly irrigated" meant ''partially irrigated" (R.

259) ; that when he examined the Pablo ditch in 1910

there was a flow of 38 inches; that the ditch had a

capacity of 80 inches ; that he never saw any evidence

of irrigation on the Lizette Barnaby tract (plaintiff's

east eighty) (R.260).

Later the Commissioner of Indian Affairs ap-

pointed a board to survey all the lands of the Flat-

head Irrigation Project to determine which were

irrigable (R. 263). The board found that 67.77

acres of the Michel Pablo allotment (plaintiff's west

eighty) were irrigable (R. 251, 263). No classifica-

tion of the Barnaby tract (plaintiff's east eighty)

was made because the board considered it too

gravelly and sandy to irrigate and because it was

not in the irrigation district (R. 263).

Henry Gerharz testified that he had been on the

Barnaby tract and had never seen a ditch across the

land nor observed that the land had been plowed

(R. 252).

Mayer, a watermaster of the Flathead Irrigation

Project, testified that he had examined the Pablo

ditch in 1922 and frequently since; that in 1922 the

ditch had a capacity of 60 inches; that he had never

seen any physical evidence that the ditch had at any

time a capacity of 160 inches (R. 311).

As has been shown, the evidence introduced on

behalf of the appellees, though it be accepted in its

entirety, does not at all support the award by the

District Court of water for the irrigation of every

single acre of their lands. But any doubt on that
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score is wholly resolved by the evidence just sum-

marized, which is manifestly of a trustworthy

character.

That evidence is conclusive that there was no

irrigation on the Lizette Barnaby tract (plaintiff's

east eighty) in 1910, and that there had not been any

irrigation on it for many years before that. It is

highly doubtful if that tract is even irrigable. As to

the Michel Pablo tract (plaintiff's west eighty), and

the tracts now owned by Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, the testimony of Michel Pablo, of Agatha

Pablo, his wife, and of the government surveyors

agrees that only a few acres were irrigated, or semi-

irrigated, by Michel Pablo. And, it will be recalled,

that is about what Alex Pablo testified himself.

B. If Michel Pablo did appropriate for the lands now owned
by the appellees as much water as was awarded to them
by the District Court, the use of that much water upon

those lands was thereafter abandoned, and for more than

the statutory prescriptive period of ten years the United

States has used those waters, or part of them, adversely

to the appellees.

Assignment of Errors No. 8 of the United States:

The Court erred in finding that the above

mentioned appropriation of the waters of Mud
Creek by the predecessor in interest of the

plaintiff and of the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, has never been abandoned

(R. 346).

Assignment of Errors No. 5 of Henry Gerharz,

Project Engineer:
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The Court erred in finding that the above
mentioned appropriation of the waters of Mud
Creek by the predecessor in interest of the

plaintiff and of the defendants, Alex Pablo

and A. M. Sterling, has never been abandoned
(R. 349).

Assignment of Errors No. 4 of the individual

defendants:

The Court erred in finding that the above
mentioned appropriation of the waters of

Mud Creek by the predecessor in interest of

the plaintiff and of the defendants, Alex

Pablo and A. M. Sterling, has never been

abandoned (R. 351).

We have sought to show that Michel Pablo,

through whom the appellees claim, did not use on the

lands now owned by them waters even approaching

in amount the quantity awarded to the appellees by

the District Court. We will now seek to show that

even if Michel Pablo did use such quantities of

water, that their use on the lands now owned by the

appellees was thereafter, in whole or in part, aban-

doned, and that for more than the statutory pre-

scriptive period of ten years the United States,

through the Flathead Irrigation Project, has used and
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claimed those waters, in whole, or in part, adversely

to the appellees.^

Jean Mclntire, the plaintiff's son, testified that

Moody, then Project Engineer of the Flathead

Irrigation Project, told his father, when the latter

first acquired the land in 1924, that the government

did not recognize that he had any water right for

irrigation, but only for stock and domestic pur-

poses (R. 243-244) ; that since the Mclntires acquired

the land they have irrigated, for grazing purposes,
'

'approximately 40 acres" of their east eighty (the

Lizette Barnaby allotment), and "possibly 20 acres"

of their west eighty (the Michel Pablo allotment)

(R. 244-245) ; that the government, by means of the

Pablo Feeder Canal, crossing Mud Creek, had cut

off the water of Mud Creek and that the only water

in Mud Creek during the irrigation season was

water that seeped out of or underneath the Feeder

* "There seems to be no question, under the authorities,

but that the right to the use of water may be acquired by
prescription as against a private person, and that the lapse

of time necessary to give such right is the period Hmited by
the statute of hmitations for entry upon lands." State v.

Quantic, 37 Mont. 32, 54, 94 Pac. 491. Ten years is the

period of Hmitations for the recovery of lands under the

Montana statutes. Revised Codes of Montana (1935), § §

9015-9018.

Revised Codes of Montana (1935), § 7094, provides: "The
appropriation must be for some useful or beneficial pur-

pose, and when the appropriator or his successor in interest

abandons and ceases to use the water for such purpose, the

right ceases; but questions of abandonment shall be ques-

tions of fact, and shall be determined as other questions of

fact."
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Canal and water from springs (R. 336-337) ; that all

the irrigation that had been done on the plaintiff's

land was with this seepage and spring water (R. 338)

;

that "There was no water available to irrigate these

two eighties from the Pablo Ditch" (R. 338); that

"There was no water in the ditch because the Gov-

ernment takes all the water, with the exception of

that which comes out of the springs" (R. 341).

Tom Moore, testifying for Alex Pablo and A. M.

Sterling, stated that he had farmed all of the tracts

for which water rights are sought in this case except

the Barnaby tract (plaintiff's east eighty); that he

did not irrigate much of the Michel Pablo land

(plaintiff's west eighty) when he was farming it ; that

he irrigated about 10 acres of the Alex Pablo land

when he was farming it; that all of that land could

be irrigated; that he had farmed the Agatha Pablo

(Sterling) land since 1925, and had irrigated approxi-

mately twenty to twenty-five acres ; that all but three

acres of that land could be irrigated (R. 324-325).

Numerous witnesses testified for the appellants

that since 1913 all of the waters of Mud Creek have

been picked up by the Flathead Irrigation Project

by means of the Pablo Feeder Canal and applied to

irrigation on the lands of the project, except such

quantities of water as were released to satisfy private

water rights recognized by the government, such as

the 1,000 gallons of water daily which the govern-

ment concedes to the plaintiff and to Alex Pablo.

Stockton, an engineer, testified that in 1907 he

drew up plans for the project for taking up all the
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available water in Mud Creek and other streams on

the reservation; that in 1908 he was informed that

the Pablo Feeder Canal was planned to perform that

function (R. 256).

Sperry, also an engineer, testified that in 1910 that

part of the Pablo Feeder Canal which picks up the

waters of Mud Creek was constructed (R. 258) ; that

since 1913 all of the waters of Mud Creek have been

used on land lying under the Flathead Irrigation

Project except waters let go by to supply private

water rights recognized by the United States (R.

259) ; that all of the available water is used (R. 259-

260); that in 1929 or 1930 he was on these lands

classifying the irrigable acreage; that he never saw

any evidence of irrigation on the Lizette Barnaby

tract (plaintiff's east eighty) ; that part of the Michel

Pablo allotment was sub-irrigated and would not re-

quire any water (R. 260) ; that irrigation of new lands

with the waters of Mud Creek through the Feeder

Canal began in 1919 (R. 261).

Henry Gerharz, the Project Engineer, testified

that 1,000 gallons of water a day had been delivered

to Michel Pablo ; that that was all he was recognized

as entitled to but that he had seen more water than

that on the place many times (R. 295).

Mayer, a watermaster of the Flathead Irrigation

District, testified that he has visited the plaintiff's

lands many times since 1922; that he has crossed the

Pablo ditch several times a week during the irrigation

season since 1922; that there has been very little

irrigation on the land since 1922; that three years ago
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(1933) there were a few little furrows plowed out

from the Ditch on the plaintiff's west eighty; that

two years ago there was another such ditch; that

since 1922 the water in the Pablo Ditch had been

used more for stock than anything else; that in 1922

the Ditch had a capacity of about 60 inches ; that the

Ditch was in worse shape now; that he had never seen

any crops irrigated on any of the plaintiff's lands with

water from the Ditch (R. 310-312).

Dellevo, one of the Commissioners of the Flathead

Irrigation District, testified that the water supply of

the district had been insufficient since the early

twenties (R. 329) ; that the waters of Mud Creek have

been directed into the government project system

ever since the construction of the Pablo Feeder Canal

(R. 330) ; that there is an acute shortage of water in

the area in which the waters of Mud Creek are used

(R. 332).

The evidence has been stated at this length to

show how far short it falls of supporting the Decree

of the District Court. If there was ever any sub-

stantial amount of irrigation on these lands, in the

days of Michel Pablo, which, it is submitted, there

was not, it is clear that such irrigation was abandoned

almost in toto many years ago. All of the testimony

agrees that only slight and spasmodic irrigation has

occurred on these lands over the last twenty-five

years. Possibly the lands are entitled to some water

in excess of the 1,000 gallons daily. But clearly they

are not entitled to any such quantities of water as

were awarded to them by the District Court.
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We wish further to call to the Court's attention

the fact that the plaintiff's west eighty (the Michel

Pablo tract) was included in the Flathead Irrigation

District, upon the creation of the district in 1926,

and has been included ever since (R. 270-271;

Defendants' Exhibit No. 16, p. 6; R. 338). Al-

though the plaintiff could have objected to the

inclusion of her lands on the ground that water

rights were already appurtenant thereto (Montana

Rev. Code (1935), § 7169), she did not do so, nor

has she ever sought by legal proceedings to have her

land excluded from the district. The plaintiff has

been paying the charges of the irrigation district,

and these payments were not paid under protest

(R. 339).

The decisions are clear that the plaintiff lost the

right to object to the inclusion of her land in the

district on the ground that water rights were already

appurtenant thereto by her failure to urge that claim

in the court proceedings which attended the creation

of the district and the inclusion of her land therein.

Tomich v. Vnion Trust Co., 31 F. (2d) 515 (C. C. A.

9). See also Judith Basin Land Co. v. Fergus

County, Montana, 50 F. (2d) 792, 793 (C. C. A. 9).

The plaintiff must, therefore, continue to pay all

lawful charges assessed by the irrigation district upon

her lands which are in the district, and the plaintiff

is entitled, as the district has always recognized (R.

263, 339), to be furnished by the district with water

for the irrigation of those lands whenever she so

requests. The plaintiff thus has a water right, under
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the irrigation district, for the irrigable acreage of her

west eighty acres. And the decree of the District

Court awards to her another and an independent

right to water sufficient for the irrigation of her entire

tract. In this respect, it is submitted, the decree of

the District Court plainly violates the cardinal

principle of water law that beneficial use limits the

extent of a water right. For obviously the plaintiff

cannot put to beneficial use on her west eighty double

the quantity of water necessary for its irrigation.

CONCLUSION

The decree below departs from the well settled and

applicable rule that the United States may not be

sued without its consent. For that and the other

foregoing reasons it is submitted that the decree of

the trial court should be reversed with directions to

dismiss the bill of complaint.

Respectfully submitted.

John B. Tansil,

United States Attorney for the District of Montana.

Kenneth R. L. Simmons,

District Counsel, U. S. I. I. S.,

Department of the Interior.

Thomas E. Harris,

Special Attorney,

Department of Justice,

Washington, D. C.

June 20, 1938.
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BRIEF FOR AGNES McINTIRE, PLAINTIFF

AND APPELLEE
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

July 16, 1855 (12 Stat., 975), a treaty was made by

the United States of America, one of the defendants

herein, with the chiefs, headmen and delegates of the

confederated tribes of the Flathead, Kootenay and

Upper Pend d'Oreilles Indians on behalf and acting

for said confederated tribes, whereby said confederated

tribes ceded, relinquished, and conveyed to the United

States all their rights, title, and interest in and to the

country occupied or claimed by them, and particularly

described.

There was reserved from the lands ceded, for the use

and occupation of the confederated tribes entering into

said Treaty, certain lands which were thereafter to be

known as the Flathead Indian Reservation, with cer-

tain exclusive rights reserved to said Indians.

The Indians of said confederated tribes were encour-

aged to abandon their habits as a nomadic and uncivil-

ized people and become self-supporting, agricultural,

and civilized people, with permanent homes on lands

thereafterwards allotted to them in severalty.

April 23, 1904 (38 Stat., 302), an Act of Congress

provided for the survey and allottment of lands then

embraced within the limits of the Flathead Indian Res-

ervation.

On June 21, 1906 (34 Stat., 354), there was added by

Congress of the United States to the provisions of the

Act approved April 23, 1904, providing for the allott-
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ment of said lands and the opening of the same for sale

and disposal, Sections 17, 18, 19, and 20, Section 19 be-

ing as follows:

"Sec. 19. That nothing in this act shall be con-

strued to deprive any of said Indians, or said per-

sons or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the act, of the use of water appropriat-
ed and used by them for the necessary irrigation

of their lands or for domestic use or any ditches,

dams, flumes, reservoirs, constructed and used by
them in the appropriation and use of said water."

Michel Pablo, an Indian, took possession of a large

tract of land, and prior to 1891 (R 242) dug and con-

structed a large ditch from Mud Creek, a mile long,

three feet wide at the bottom and about two fee deep

(R 240), and carried the water to the lands in his pos-

session, which he had fenced, and used the same in irri-

gating said lands and for domestic purposes.

Eighty (80) acres of this land, covered by said ditch,

was allotted to Lizette Barnaby and 80 acres was al-

lotted to Michel Pablo, and trust patents were issued

to these parties for the lands so allotted, in 1908.

On October 5, 1916, a fee patent was issued to Aga-

tha Pablo for the lands allotted to Lizette Barnaby (R

234) , and on January 25, 1918, a fee i3atent was issued

to Agatha Pablo to the land allotted to Michel Pablo

(R232).

Thereafter, by deeds, duly given, plaintiff became

the owner of these lands (R 236-237-238-239).

Michel Pablo died in 1914 (R 316).

These lands are arid lands, and require water for the
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proper irrigation of the same, and in order to raise

crops.

August 26, 1926, the Flathead Irrigation District was

created, under certain Acts of Congress (R 123-124).

About 1914, what is known as the Pablo Feeder

Canal was built (R 264).

In building this Canal,

"instructions were to find the best way to use all

the water available on that project without regard
to any of the rights that might have existed." (R
257).

The Pablo Feeder Canal crosses Mud Creek above

the lands owned by plaintiff (R 257) and carries the

waters to irrigate lands that never had any water on

them before the Canal was built, and a great portion

of these lands were unallotted lands, and were entered

by white settlers under the Homestead Law (R 327).

No water from the Flathead Irrigation Project Sys-

tem has been used upon the lands of plaintiff, and no

ditches have ever been dug making the water available

for the irrigation of these lands (R 263-264).

The United States Reclamation Service was in

charge of the Flathead Irrigation Project up to 1924,

when the same was turned over to the control of the

Indian Service (R 264).

In 1924, plaintiff obtained possession of the lands

now owned by her, and the same has been irrigated to

some extent each year since (R 244-336-337).

The west eighty is within the irrigation district, but

the east or Barnaby eighty is not in the irrigation dis-

trict (R 264).



Plaintiff, for a time, was not charged with any water

from the Reclamation Service, but since the defendant

Grerharz came in as Project Manager, plaintiff has

been paying the water tax from the Reclamation Ser-

vice, which water has never been furnished, in order

to pay her property tax in the County and State (R

339), under the provisions of Sec. 2172.1, R. C. of Mon-

tana.

This action was commenced February 13, 1934 (R

9) and was finally tried on the second Amended Com-

plaint, filed May 16, 1936, with the United States of

America, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of Interior, Henry

Gerharz, Project Manager of the Flathead Irrigation

Project, Flathead Irrigation District, and 37 others,

defendants.

On November 23, 1936, 19 members of the Flathead

Tribe of Indians, and wards of the United States of

America, defendants above named, through United

States District Attorney, for the District of Montana,

filed their answer to the Amended Bill of Complaint

(R 118), and the other 18 defendants made no appear-

ance.

On September 15, 1937, the decision of the Court

was duly filed in said case (R 159 to 176).

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were

adopted and signed by the Court on November 6, 1937

(R 209 to 214).

On November 17, 1937, a Decree in this case was giv-

en by the Court and filed (R 225-226).
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ARGUMENT

It must be remembered that by the treaty of July 16,

1855, the United States granted nothing to the Indians

;

the Indians reserved what was already theirs.

As said by the Court in Winters vs. United States

143 Fed. 740, 749

"In conclusion, we are of the opinion that the

Court below did not err in holding that 'When the
Indians made the treaty to grant rights to the

United States, they reserved the rights to use the

waters of Milk River at least to an extent neces-

sary to irrigate their lands. ' The right so reserved
continues to exist against the United States and
its grantees as well as against the State and its

grantees. '

'

And again we find the Court holding in Skeem vs.

United States 273 Fed. 93, 95

"The grant was not a grant to the Indians, but was
a grant from the Indians to the United States, and
such being the case all rights not specifically

granted were reserved to the Indians. United
States V. Winans, 198 U.S. 371, 25 Sup. Ct. 6(32,

49 L. ed. 1089; Winters v. United States, 207 U.S.
564, 28 Sup. Ct. 207, 52 L. Ed. 350."

Judge Cavanah, District Judge said in United States

vs. Hibner 27 Fed. (2d) 909, 911

"When considering the nature of the grant under
consideration, we must not forget that it was not

a grant to the Indians, but was one from them to

the United States, and all rights not specifically

granted were reserved to them. Winters v. U.S.
and U.S. v. Winans, supra."

Further, Judge Cavanah said

:

"The right of the Indians to occupy, use, and sell

both their lands and water is now recognized, as



—6—
this view is sustained in the ease of Skeem v. U.S.,
supra, and such being the case, a purchaser of such
land and water right acquires, as under other sales,

the title and rights held by the Indians and that
there should be awarded to such purchaser the
same character of water right with equal priority
as those of the Indians. '

'

In building the Pablo Feeder Canal, the provisions

of the Act of Congress under which it was constructed

were violated at the beginning.

"Instructions were to find the best way to use all

the water available on that project, without regard
to any of the rights that might have existed." (R
257)

Also, in building said Pablo Feeder Canal, Section

19, amending the Act for the survey and allottment of

lands embraced within the limits of the Flathead In-

dian Reservation, approved April 23, 1904, (33 Stat.,

302), was disregarded.

This Amendment was approved June 21, 1906 (34

Stat., 354) and is as follows

:

"Sec. 19. That nothing in this Act shall be con-

strued to deprive any of said Indians, or said per-

sons or corporations to whom the use of land is

granted by the act, of the use of water appropriat-
ed and used by them for the necessary irrigation

of their lands or for domestic use, or any ditches,

dams, flumes, reservoirs, constructed and used by
them in the appropriation and use of said water."

Michel Pablo was dead when the Pablo Feeder Canal

was constructed.

VESTED RIGHTS ACQUIRED BY PLAINTIFF
The ditch carrying water to the lands of Michel Pab-

lo was dug and the water used on the lands in his pos-



—7—
session in the irrigation of the same long prior to 1908

when the Trust Patents were issued to said Indians

for the lands now owned by plaintiff.

The Act of July 26, 1866 (14 Stat., 253) provides as

follows

:

*'Sec. 2339. Whenever jDriority of possession,

rights to the use of water for mining, agriculture,

manufacturing, or other purposes, have vested and
accrued, and the same are recognized and acknowl-
eged by the local customs, laws, and decisions of
courts, the possessors and owners of such vested
rights shall be maintained and protected in the

same:***

This is Section 2339 of the United States Compiled

Statutes, 1901.

Section 2340 following, is as follows

:

"Sec. 2340. All patents granted, pro-emption or
homesteads allowed shall be subject to any vested
and accrued water rights, or rights to ditches and
reservoirs used in connection with such water
rights as may have been acquired under or recog-
nized by the preceding section.

'

'

The fee patents of October 5, 1916 and January 25,

1918, gave and granted the lands,

"together with all the rights, privileges, immuni-
ties and appurtenances of whatsoever nature
thereunto belonging unto the said claimant and to

the heirs and assigns of said claimant forever."

(R 232-234).

When the patents issued in this case, they took ef-

fect as of the date when the right to the land was first

initiated under the doctrine of relation.

U.S. vs. Hibner, supra, at page 912.
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In the case of Hooks, et al, v. Kennard, et al, 114

Pac. on page 746, the Court said

:

"This Court has held in several cases that the se-

lection of and the filing upon an allottment of

land was the inception and beginning of the title

of the allottees or his heirs, and that, when the

patent which is only the evidence of title is issued,

it relates back to the inception of the title. De
Graffenreid v. Iowa Land & T. Co., 20 Okl. 687,

95 Pac. 624; Godfrey v. Iowa Land & Title Co., 21
Okl. 293, 95 Pac. 792 ; Irving, et al, v. Diamond, 23
Okl. 325, 100 Pac. 557."

To the same effect is the case of Wood, County

Treasurer, et al, v. Gleason, et al, 140 Pac. 48i. l^
I K

Plaintiff became the owner of the right to use the

waters of Mud Creek for the irrigation of the 160 acres

described in her Complaint. Beneficial use is the basis,

the measure, and the limit of the right. This right is

a vested property right, and dates from a time prior

to 1891.

If there were any other owners to the right to use the

waters of Mud Creek for a beneficial purpose, such

rights would be a joint right with plaintiff, and the

users thereof would be tenants in common, or joint

tenants in the use of said water, and the United States

of America, Harold L. Ickes, Secretary of Interior,

Henry Gerharz, Project Manager of the Flathead Ir-

rigation Project, Flathead Irrigation District, and 37

others were made defendants in order that any rights

of said defendants, adverse to the claim of plaintiff,

might be established, fixed, and determined.

Alex Pablo and A. M. Sterling were the only defend-
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ants who set forth and established any claim to the

beneficial use of the waters of Mud Creek.

The United States of America must either claim with

plaintiff as a joint owner or joint tenant in the benefi-

cial use of the waters of Mud Creek or it has no interest

in said waters.

"Federal government's diversion, storage and dis-

tribution of water, at Reclamation Project, pursu-
ant to Reclamation Act and contracts with land-
owners held not to have vested in the United
States ownership of water rights which remained
vested in owners as appurtenant to land wholly
distinct from property of government in irriga-

tion work." Ickes, Secretary of Interior, v. Fox
et al, 57 Supreme Court Reporter, page 412.

If the United States of America is not the owner,

such as would make it a joint tenant or tenant in com-

mon, then the United States is not necessarily a party,

and as said in said case, Ickes v. Fox, supra, p. 417,

"the suits do not seek specific performance of any
contract. They are brought to enjoin the Secre-

tary of Interior from enforcing an Order, the

wrongful effect of which will be to deprive respon-
dents of vested property rights, not only acquired
under CongressionrJ acts, state laws and govern-
ment contracts, but settled and determined by his

predecessor in office. That such suits may be
maintained without the presence of the United
States has been established by many decisions of
this Court."

And citing many authorities, and continuing, said:

"The recognized rule is made clear by what is said

in the Simpson case: 'The suit rests upon the

charge of abuse of power. '

'

'

It is clearly shown, by the evidence offered, that
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long prior to the passage of the Act for the survey and

allottment of lands embraced within the limits of the

Flathead Indian Reservation, and long prior to the

commencement of any work of the Flathead Irrigation

Project, and long prior to the creation of the Flathead

Irrigation District, the waters of Mud Creek were be-

ing used upon land of plaintiff for irrigation purposes,

and in 1908, when the lands were allotted to the Indian

claimants, if not before, said water became appurte-

nant to the lands so allotted.

As was said by the Court in Choate vs. Trapp. Vol.

32, Supreme Court Reporter, at page 568,

*' there is a broad distinction between tribal prop-
erty and private property, and between the power
to abrogate a statute and the authority to destroy
rights acquired under such law. Reichart v. Felps,

6 Wall. 160 18 L. ed. 849. The question in this

case, therefore, is not whether the plaintiffs were
parties to the Atoka agreement, but whether they
had not acquired rights under the Curtis act which
are now protected by the Constitution of the Unit-
ed States."

Also the Court in this case, on page 570, said,

*' There have been comparatively few cases which
discuss the legislative power over private property
held by the Indians. But those few all recognize

that he is not excepted from the protection guar-

anteed by the Constitution. His private rights are

secured and enforced to the same extent and in the

same way as other residents or citizens of the Unit-

ed States."

It would seem that Congress, in amending the Act

providing for the allottment of lands upon the Flat-

head Indian Reservation, had in mind this provision
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when it recognized that some of the Indians might have

been using some of the waters on the Flathead Indian

Reservation, when it said:

"Sec. 19. That nothing in this act shall be con-

strued to deprive any of said Indians, *** of the

use of water appropriated and used by them for

the necessary irrigation of their lands or for do-

mestic use or any ditches, dams, flumes, reservoirs,

constructed and used by them in the appropriation
and use of said water."

This amendment was made in 1906, and Michel Pab-

lo had built his ditch prior to 1891, and had used the

water continuously in said ditch when the provisions

of this amendment, opening the Reservation for allott-

ment and sale, was passed by Congress.

It is idle now to say that the Indians on the Flat-

head Indian Reservation did not have the right to the

use of water for the irrigation of their lands, and that

no Indian had the right to appropriate any water for

this purpose.

Plaintiff has upon her lands, a ditch dug by Michel

Pablo, an Indian, some time prior to 1891, through

which he was carrying water to the lands in his pos-

session, and using the same for irrigation j^urposes.

The Court found that this use, for a beneficial pur-

pose, should not exceed one inch to the acre, and that

plaintiff was the owner of the right to the beneficial use

of the water by reason of this appropriation.

Plaintiff should not be deprived of the use of said

ditch and the water flowing therein under the provi-
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sions of said Act, approved April 23, 1904, as amended

by said Sec. 19.

Defendants claimed the oumership of sofne right so

that these waters could be used by them.

The United States of America, Harold L. Ickes, Sec-

retary of Interior, Henry Gerharz, Project Manager of

the Flathead Irrigation Project, Flathead Irrigation

District, and 37 others were made defendants in this ac-

tion in order that if they had any right to the use of

the waters of Mud Creek for a beneficial purpose, such

right could be fixed, established and determined, and

the waters divided between those entitled thereto.

Two of the defendants, only, showed any rights to

the beneficial use of said water.

Defendants other than these two, made no answer, by

which any water of Mud Creek could be given to them.

It was said in the North Side Canal Company vs.

Twin Falls Canal Company, 12 F. (2d) 311

:

'
' Suit to establish right to the use of water as prior

appropriator, in so far as determination of amount
of water each appro])riator is entitled to, is one
for partition, within Judicial Code, 24 (Comp. St.

991 subd. 25) notwithstanding determination of

rights of party to priority is in nature of suit to

quiet title."

Title 28, Sec. 118 of U.S.C.A. provides that:

"When in any suit commenced in any District

Court of the United States to enforce any legal or

equitable lien upon or claim to, or to remove any
incumbrance or lien or cloud upon the title to real

or personal property within the District wliere

such suit is brought, one or more of the defendants
therein shall not be an inhabitant of or found with-
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in the said district, or shall not voluntarily appear
thereto, it shall be lawful for the Court to make
an order directing such absent defendant or de-

fendants to appear, plead, answer, or demur by a
day certain to be designated, which order shall be
served on such absent defendant or defendants, if

practicable, wherever found ***."

Under this Section, said Title 28, in Note 41, on page

157, we find the statement

:

"A suit for partition of land comes within the

class of cases specified in this section." Greeley
vs. Lowe, 15 Sup. Ct. Rep. 24.

"A suit for partition is a local action, within this

section, and in which any question between any of
the parties, plaintiffs or defendants, affecting
their righj:s or interests in the land may be put in

issue and determined." German Savings Soc. vs.

Tull 136 F 1.

RIGHTS SETTLED IN ONE ACTION
Sec. 1705 R. C. of Mont. 1935, provides:

In any action hereafter commenced for the protec-

tion of rights acquired to water under the laws of this

State, the plaintiff may make any and all persons who

have diverted water from the same stream or source,

parties to such action, and the Court may in one Judg-

ment settle the relative priorities and rights of all par-

ties to such action.

Turning to the Brief of Appellant's, Flathead Irri-

gation District, we find the statement on page 5

:

"THE ONLY QUESTION WHICH THIS AP-
PELLANT SEEKS TO REVIEW IS WHETH-
ER THE PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANTS,
PABLO AND STERLING, ARE ENTITLED
TO WATER FROM ML^D CREEK ASIDE
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FROM THE RIGHTS OF THE FLATHEAD
IRRIGATION PROJECT AND IF SO, THE
NATURE OF THESE RIGHTS."

This statement is made again on page 13 of said

Brief.

Said Brief also states that it has never been possible

to create water rights with a date of priority on the

Flathead Indian Reservation under the doctrine of

prior appropriation.

This being true, the allegations made by defendant

Henry Gerharz, Project Engineer of the Flathead Ir-

rigation Project, in the fourth affirmative defense (R

100), and the allegations in the answer of nineteen In-

dians, members of the Flathead Tribe of Indians, in the

fourth affirmative defense, are not true (R 116) and

the Act of the Secretary of Interior, on November 25,

1921 (R 115) was without authority in granting valid

and subsisting water rights from Mud Creek and its

tributaries to the lands of the following defendants

(R 115-116). Eleven (11) defendants are given water

rights (R 116).

Evidently counsel for the Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict do not agree with the counsel representing the

other defendants (except Alex Pablo and A. M. Ster-

ling), and all steps taken by the Secretary of Interior

in order to comply with the provisions of the Acts of

Congress of June 21, 1906, the saving clause, and of

May 29, 1908 (R 115), were void and of no effect, and

the order, made on November 25, 1921, where eleven

defendants, out of nineteen answering defendants, were
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given certain water rights (R 116), has no binding

force or effect. (A conclusion with which we hardly

agree, in the main.)

The Secretary of Interior could not take away from

the Indians any vested rights. The giving of acre-feet

was not authorized by any law in the State of Montana.

Acre-feet has nothing to do with the corpus of the

water. In Montana, and in the Acts of authorizing the

reclamation of lands, "beneficial use is but the basis,

the measure and the limit of the right," and in all

these cases (R 116) the Indians mentioned would have

a right to sufficient water to irrigate their lands, bene-

ficial use being the measure of right. U.S. vs. Hibner,

at page 912.

The argument on page 31 of said Brief, states:

"It is clear from this Act that Congress intended

tliat the rule of equality should govern on reserva-

tions, and for the purpose of providing equality,

the Secretary was authorized to make rules and
regulations."

This being true, the Secretary of Interior, in attempt-

ing to fix and determine the private water rights on tlie

Flathead Indian Reservation, wherein it was found

that a large number of Indians on many different

streams on said reservation were entitled to different

amounts of water, was without authority to so hold,

and it was contrary to the intent of Congress.

On page 12 of said Brief, the admission is made that

the records show certain acts of the Secretary of Inter-

ior recognizing private water rights on the reservation.

If there are private water rights on the reservation.
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the private water rights of plaintiff and the private

water rights of two of the answering defendants are

just as sacred as others, and there is no need of pur-

suing this question further.

The private water rights of others which counsel

recognized, is because some rights were obtained, and

had become vested prior to the passage of the Act of

April 23, 1904, and its amendments, opening said res-

ervation to allotment and sale of the unallotted lands.

Again in said Brief, the statement was made

:

"THE RESERVATION WAS FOR THE
BENEFIT OF THE INDIANS AS A TRIBE
AND NOT AS INDIVIDUALS."

Turning to the Treaty made the 16th day of July,

1855, we find that it recognizes that some of these In-

dians may have made

:

"substantial improvements heretofore such as

fields enclosed and cultivated, and houses erected

upon the lands hereby ceded, and which he may be

compelled to abandon in consequence of this

Treaty."

Such improvement shall be valued under the direc-

tion of the President of the United States, and

"payment made therefor in money, or improve-
ments of an equal value be made for said Indians

upon the reservation: and no Indian shall be re-

quired to abandon the improvements aforesaid,

now occupied by him, until their value in money or

improvements of an equal value shall be furnished

him as aforesaid."

This is part of Article II.

Article IV of said Treaty i^rovides for the payment

of money for certain years,
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'*To be expended under the direction of the Presi-
dent in providing for their removal to the reserva-

tion, plowing up and fencing farms, building hous-
es for them, and for such other objects as he may
deem necessary.

'

'

Article V provides for the education of the Indian

and furnishing them instructors in agricultural pur-

suits .

The plaintiff's ComjDlaint alleges (R 74)

:

*'The Indians of said Confederated Tribe were en-

couraged to abandon their habits as a nomadic and
uncivilized people and become a self-supporting

agricultural and civilized people with permanent
homes on lands thereafterwards to be allotted to

them in severalty."

This allegation was admitted in the Answer of de-

fendant Henry Gerharz (R 26) to the original Com-

plaint filed.

It was also admitted in the Answer to tlie Amended

Complaint filed by this defendant (R 90).

The Answer filed on behalf of the United States of

America (R 23-24), admits nothing, and alleges noth-

ing by which it might have any affirmative relief. Its

Answer to the Amended Bill of Complaint (R 87-88) is

the same.

The Answer of the nineteen Indians admits the said

allegations contained in said Amended Complaint (R

106).

The Answer of defendant Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict in effect denies this allegation.
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HISTORY OF THE CONFEDERATED TRIBE OF

INDIANS.
It must be born in mind that the Flathead Tribe,

Kootenay Tribe and Upper Pend d'Oreilles constituted

three separate tribes, and by the Treaty was known

as the Flathead Nation.

The Flathead Tribe only was occupying the Bitter

Root Valley and one of the objections that Chief Victor

had was that he did not wish his people to be mixed up

with the other tribes, and for this reason the provisions

of the Treaty were made as to their remaining in the

Bitter Root Valley.

These Indians in the Bitter Root Valley were many

of them farmers, and in order to induce them to leave

the Bitter Root Valley, and settle upon the Flathead

Indian Reservation, Article XI was made a part of

the agreement, and if,

"in the judgment of the President, the Bitter Root
Valley shall prove to be better adapted to the wants
of the Flathead Tribe, than the Oeneral Reserva-

tion, then such portions of it as may be necessary

shall be set apart as a separate Reservation for

the said tribe.
'

'

Following this was the Garfield Agreement, found in

Report of Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1872, is-

sued by Department of Interior, and the Act of June

5, 1872 (17 Stat., 226) opening the lands in the Bitter

Root Valley for sale.

The Agent of the Flathead Agency on August 5,

1893, made a report which he designates as his Seven-

teenth Annual Report, and among other things said

:
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"Nearly every head of a family on this reservation
occupied definite, separate, though unallotted
tracts, and their fences and boundary marks are
generally respected. They live in houses, and a
majority of their homes present a thrifty, farmlike
appearance."

This report is plaintiff's Exhibit II in the case of

J. C. Moody, etc., Appellant, Harry C. Smith, Appel-

lee, Case No. 6784, (R 218 in said case) and we ask,

that, as a Public Document, it be considered in this

case.

In this case, prior to 1891, the witness, John Ashley

(R 239), testified about the condition of the lands now

owned by plaintiff, and in 1907 the witness, Jean Mc-

Intire, tells about this land of plaintiff being a show

place on the reservation. There was a wonderful crop

on the land of alsack and timothy (R 243).

This land was all fenced by Michel Pablo.

Can it now be said that these Indians had no right to

occupy the lands fenced and cultivated by them, and

water appropriated by them through ditches built at

great expense, did not give them any vested rights ? Un-

der the doctrine of relations, the rights to the use of

this water, the right to the use of these lands fenced and

occupied, and the right to the homes built upon this

land, would all take effect as of the date when first

built.

As to the claims made on behalf of the Flathead Irri-

gation District, that the United States was the owner

of the land and water on the Flathead Indian Reserva-
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tion, we most respectfully call attention to tlie Act of

April 23, 1904.

First we find Sec. 2 provides: *'Tliat so soon as all

of the lands embraced within said Flathead Indian Res-

ervation shall have been surveyed, the Conmiissiouer

of Indian Affairs shall cause allottments of the same

to be made to all persons having tribal rights with said

confederated tribes of Flatheads, Kootenays, Upper

Pend d'Oreilles, and such other Indians and persons

holding tribal relations as may rightfully belong on said

Flathead Indian Reservation, including the Lower

Pend d 'Oreille or Kalispell Indians now on the reser-

vation, under the provisions of tlie allotment laws of

the United States."

Then follows the disposal inider the general provi-

sions of the Homestead and other laws of the unallotted

lands.

Then follows how the land shall be o})ened to settle-

ment, the allotted lands being only a small part of the

Flatliead Indian Reservation.

Thou follows who sliall be entitled to enter tliese

lands, and how the payments shall be made. The right

is given to commute entries under the Homestead Law.

Much land was given to tlie various organizations

theretofore established on the Reservation.

At the end of five years, should there be any remain-

ing and undisposed lands, they were to be sold at public

auction.

Tlien follows j^rovisions for the payment of lands
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reserved, and then follows Section 16, which is as fol-

lows:

**Sec. 16. That nothing in this act contained shall

in any manner bind the United States to purchase
any i)ortion of the land herein described, except
sections sixteen and thirty-six, or the equivalent,

in each township, and the reserved tracts, mention-
ed in section twelve, or to dispose of said lands ex-

cept as provided herein, or to guarantee to find
purchasers for said lands or any portion thereof,

it being the intention of this act that the United
States shall act as trustee for said Indians to dis-

pose of said lands and to expend and pay over the
proceeds received from the sale thereof only as re-

ceived."

Many amendments were thereafter made and as stat-

ed June 21, 1906, Sec. 17, 18, 19 and 20 were added,

Sec. 19 containing provisions to the effect that nothing

in the Act should be construed to deprive any of said

Indians of the use of water appropriated and used by

them for the necessary irrigation of their lands.

This provision is meaningless and of no effect, ac-

cording to the Brief of the Flathead Irrigation Dis-

trict.

The lands of plaintiff were settled upon prior to

1891, and an allottment was approved to plaintiff's

predecessors in 1908. The ditch was there and water

was flowing in it, and had been flowing in it since

prior to 1891.

August 26, 1926, the Flathead Irrigation District

was organized. No ditch was ever dug to the lands of

plaintiff and no water ever furnished her by the Flat-

head Irrigation Dsitrict. In no way were any of her
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rights purchased, and yet without the payment of any

sum and without the purchase of anything, this de-

fendant now claims to have the right to the use of this

water flowing in Mud Creek to the exclusion of plain-

tiff and claims that the Flathead Irrigation Project

has a right to maintain a dam in Mud Creek so that

this defendant may store water in the Pablo reservoir

at all times, and entirely deprive this plaintiff of any

such water, at times when she needs it and can use it

for a beneficial purpose.

In the answer of defendant Henry Gerharz, Proj-

ect Engineer of the Flathead Irrigation Project, in his

fifth affirmative defense, the claim is made that the

United States, through its Supervising Engineer of

the Flathead Reclamation Project, duly authorized

by the Secretary of Interior, in that behalf, to make the

following appropriation of the waters of Mud Creek

and its tributaries.

Then follows seven different appropriations of the

waters of Mud Creek, running from 20 cubic feet per

second of time to 200 cubic feet of water per second of

time, five dated January 28, 1910, one dated April 4,

1913, and one April 7, 1913, and the book and page

where recorded is given, in Flathead County and in

Missoula County (R 102).

These appropriations made by the United States

were made under the statute of 1905 (Laws of 1905,

Ch. 44) which provides:

"When the government of the United States de-

sires to acquire the right to the use of waters flow-
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ing in natural streams in Montana, it must proceed
as an individual to make an appropriation in com-
pliance with the laws of the state. See Mettler vs.

Ames Realty Co., 61 Mont. 152."

In making these appropriations, the United States

does so as an individual, and not as a sovereign, and it

can be joined in suits to adjudicate the water appro-

priated the same as any other party, and the claim

made by counsel, in the Brief of Appellant, Flathead

Irrigation District on page 21:

''WE DO NOT CONTEND THAT THE UNIT-
ED STATES, AS A SOVEREIGN, HELD UN-
TO ITSELF THIS TITLE, BUT WE DO
CLAIM THAT THE UNITED STATES, AS
GUARDIAN OF THE INDIANS, HELD THIS
TITLE AFTER THE EXECUTION OF THE
TREATY."

may be correct, but in such a case, it is not immune

from suit.

As to the Brief filed on behalf of the United States

of America and other defendants, we find quite a num-

ber of apparent errors.

First, eighteen parties named in the Complaint filed

710 answer, and are not represented in this appeal.

It would appear in this regard that nineteen individ-

ual Indians are claiming some j^riorities to the waters

of Mud Creek, and that eighteen defendants named are

not claiming anything.

As to them, their default was duly entered prior to

the trial of this action.

On page 12 and page 13 of said Brief, five questions

were presented.
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Answering the first question

:

Many cases hold with the North Side Canal Com-

pany vs. Twin Falls Canal Company, set forth on page

9, supra

:

"Suits to establish right to the use of water as
prior appropriators, in so far as determination of
amount of water each appropriator is entitled to,

is one for partition."

In Frost, et al, vs. Alturas Water Company, 81 Pac.

996, the Court said:

*'It is claimed that these provisions are suffi-

ciently broad to cover a case of joinder such as
the one under consideration. It has been frequent-
ly held that the appropriators and users of water
from the same stream where each owned his sepa-
rate land and right, could not join in an action
against other appropriators and users of water
from the same stream for the recovery of damages
for an obstruction of their rights or an unlawful
diversion of the water to their damage or preju-
dice ; and it has been held by the same authorities
that such parties had sufficient common interest

that would justify them in uniting as joint plain-
tiffs in a suit to enjoin a continuation and repeti-

tion of such unlawful acts. Churchill v. Lauer
(Cal.) 24 Pac. 107; Ronnow v. Delmue (Nev.) 41
Pac. 1074; Foreman v. Boyle (Cal.) 26 Pac. 94;
Blaisdell v. Stephens, 14 Nev. 17, 33 Am. Rep.
523; Miller v. Highland Ditch Co. (Cal.) 25 Pac.

550; Bliss on Code Pleading, 76; Kinney on Irri-

gation 327. See also Kennedy v. Scovil, 12 Conn.
317; May v. Parker, 12 Pick. (Mass.) 34, 22 Am.
Dec. 393. The principle upon which these two dis-

tinct holdings is based seems to us clear and ob-

vious. Farnam on Water and Water Rights, vol.

3 687b says: "The relation of prior and subse-

quent appropriators of the waters of a stream is



—25—
that of tenants in common, the respective rights of
whom a court of equity has the power to ascertain
and determine, and to fix the times at which each
may have the use of the water. '

' This text appears
to find support in Becker v. Marble Creek Irriga-

tion Company (Utah) 49 Pac. 892; Frey v. Low-
den (Cal.) 11 Pac. 838."

In the case of Becker vs. Marble Creek Irrigation

Company, supra, at page 893, the Court said

:

"Their relation to each other would be that of ten-

ants in common respecting the waters of the

stream, and a Court of Equity has power to as-

certain and determine their respective rights as

to the waters therein flowins^. Irrigation Company
vs. Moyle 4 (Utah) 327, 9 Pac. 867; Frey vs. Low-
den 70 (Cal.) 55, 11 Pac. 838; Combs vs. Slayton
19 (Or.) 99, 26 Pac. 661."

In the case of Frey et al., vs. Lowden et al., supra,

the Court said

:

"Both plaintiffs and defendants derived their

rights from appropriation under the statute law of

the state, and, under the law, they, in the enjoy-

ment of that right, became and were, tenants in

common in the use of the flow of the stream, and
entitled to appropriate from it, to the extent of

their rights, in the order of time at which they had
been acquired."

Section 7105, R. C. of Mont. 1935 provides that water

rights be settled in one action, and the making of all

persons, who have diverted waters from the same

stream or source, parties to such action.

Undoubtedly all of the parties using water out of

Mud Creek are joint tenants, and one action such as

this can be brought, making all parties in such action.

If the United States is claiming rights as a sovereign.
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it can be made a defendant under Sec. 24 of the Judi-

cial Code, supra, and if it is claiming as an individual,

under certain appropriations made (R 102), then it is

a proper party defendant, without reference to said

Act of Congress, consenting to be sued, where the Unit-

ed States is a joint tenant.

Answering the second question:

It would appear that the United States is not an in-

dispensible party to this action, if it does not claim,

under the appropriations made, as set forth on page

102 of the Record.

See Ickes, Secretary of Interior, vs. Fox, et al., set

forth on page 7 of this Brief.

Also see United States vs. Power, 94 F (2d) 783.

Answering the third question

:

Private water rights have been recognized through-

out the Flathead Reservation to various Indians who

had acquired vested rights to the use of water prior to

the opening of said reservation to allottment and sale.

Answering the fourth question

:

Without dispute, the evidence discloses that the ditch

by which the appropriation was made was of sufficient

carrying capacity to carry the water appropriated and

that said water was used for a beneficial purpose.

Answering the fifth question:

Sec. 7094, R. C. of Mont. 1935 states

:

"APPROPRIATION MUST BE FOR A USE-
FUL PURPOSE—ABANDONMENT.

The appropriation must be for some useful or

beneficial purpose, and when the appropriator or



—27—
his successor in interest abandons and ceases to use
the water for such purpose, the right ceases; but
questions of abandonment shall be questions of
fact, and shall be determined as other questions of

fact."

"ESSENTIAL OF ABANDONMENT
Abandonment of a water right is a voluntary act,

and to constitute it there must be a concurrence of
act and intent—the relinquishment of possession
and the intent not to resume it for a beneficial

use—neither alone being sufficient to bring about
its abandonment."

Thomas, et al., v. Ball et al., 66 M 161, 166, 213 P. 597.

**N0 LAND QUALIFICATIONS NECESSARY
FOR APPROPRIATION.

An appropriator of water need not be either an
owner or in possession of land to make a valid ap-
propriation for irrigation purposes.
Toohey vs. Campbell, 24 M 13, 17, 60 P 396.

Smith V. Denniff, 24 M 20, 27, 60 P 398.

Bailey v. Tintinger, 45 M 154, 175, 122 P 575."

In discussing this case, it must be remembered that

the Act of May 29, 1908 (35 Stat., 448) was passed for

the purpose of giving water to the various homesteaders

and purchasers of unallotted land and provisions were

made whereby the entryman of lands to be irrigated

might pay for the construction, operation and mainte-

nance of ditches used in a system of irrigation, and such

water rights were to be free to Indians, the Indian to

pay only for operation and maintenance.

The waters of Mud Creek were carried in the Pablo

Feeder Canal to the Pablo Reservoir and a large ma-

jority of the lands to be irrigated out of this reservoir
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were never allotted to Indians, but were sold under tlie

Act opening said Reservation, and have no water rights

except the surplus water after the Indian allottee is

fully satisfied (R 328-239-330).

''The land was settled up with a lot of dry land
farmers." (R 329).

The Decree in this case (R 225), enjoins the Project

Manager from interfering with the rights of the plain-

tiff, and from damming up or maintaining any dam on

Mud Creek so that said water be diverted or turned

from the main channel of Mud Creek in a way that

those who have established their water rights would be

deprived of the water necessary and required for the

proper irrigation of their lands, which water is the pri-

vate property of said parties, and appurtenant to their

lands.

We respectfully submit that the judgment appealed

from should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

ELMER E. HERSHEY,
Missoula, Montana,

Attorney for Plaintiff and

Appellee, Agnes Mclntire.
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SUPPLEMEXTAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT,

FLATHEAD IRRIGATIOX DISTRICT

Because the decision of the Supreme Court in ITni-

ted States vs. Powers et al, decided January 9, 1939,

confirms the position taken by this appellant in the

oral argument, because many months have elapsed

since the hearing, and because the original brief does

not fully disclose that position, counsel wish to reiter-

ate briefly the contentions made on oral argument at

the hearing of this cause and to point out the language

of the Supreme Court which now gives new support to

those contentions.

We therefore ask leave to file this supplemental

brief.

The trial court and the respondents both proceeded

upon the theory that Section 19 of the Act of Congress

of June 21, 1906, (34 Stat. L. 354) authorized the pri-

vate appropriation of waters. We pointed out on pages

31 to 34 of our original brief that any decree which gives

to one Indian a definite amount of water with a defin-

ite priority as does the decree in this case, is a nullifica-

tion of Section 7 of the Act of 1887. Such a decree

does not provide for the "just and equal distribution"

required by the 1887 Act;—the decree, ex vi termini

requires an unequal distribution.

This section of the Act of 1887 formed the basis of

the decision of the Supreme Court in the Powers case.



Throughout the entire opinion the court speaks of

''equal rights." Of the 1887 Act the court says:

**The statute itself clearly indicates Congres-
sional recognition of equal rights among resident

Indians." (Italics supplied).

And of the Secretary's powers the court said:

*' Certainly he could not affirmatively authorize

unjust and unequal distribution."

If the secretary could not authorize an unequal dis-

tribution, how can a court decree that these respond-

ents shall have the waters of Mud Creek, "prior to

any of the rights of the United States or any other per-

son?" (Opinion, R. 171, incorporated in Decree, R.

224, 226; See Conclusion II, R. 220). It is obvious

that the doctrine of prior appropriation is absolutely

inconsistent with the doctrine of equal rights.

The Supreme Court also held that the Treaty itself

guaranteed that the Indians should have equal rights.

"Respondents maintain that under the Treaty
of 1868 waters within the Reservation were re-

served for the equal benefit of tribal members
(Winters v. United States,' 207 U. S. 564) and that

when allotments of lancL were duly made for ex-

clusive use and thereafter conveyed in fee, the

right to use some portion of tribal waters essential

for cultivation passed to the owners. The res-

pondents' claim to the extent stated is well found-
ed." (Italics supplied).

And further:

"Adoption by the Secretary of plans for irri-

gation projects to serve certain lands was not
enough to indicate a purpose to exclude all other



land from })artieipation in essential water and
thereby destroy the equal interest guaranteed by
the Treaty. " (Italics supplied). U. S. v. Powers,
supra.

The Crow Treaty goes no further in this respect

than does the Flathead treaty, and consequently a con-

struction of Section 19 of the Act of 1906, which per-

mits prior appropriation on an Indian reservation,

amounts to a nullification of the Flathead Treaty. Our

original brief pointed out that Section 19 was a mere

saving clause, and cited authorities which hold that

for that reason it cannot be held to create any right

of prior appropriation. The Supreme Court has now

furnished a further reason why that section should not

be so construed. The court says

:

"If possible, legislation subsequent to the Treaty
must be interpreted in harmony with its plain pur-

poses."

The court will recall that in the oral argument we

departed from the original brief with respect to the

application of the doctrine of the Powers case to this

action. We now wish to outline that argument for the

court.

If this court finds that it is necessary to determine

the nature and extent of respondents' righs, and if this

court should find, as it did in the Powers case, that the

respondents have rights equal only to the rights of

other allottees on the reservation, then we wish to call

to the court's attention the fact that even under a sys-

tem assuring equal water rights to all of the Indians or
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their successors, the United States still has the power

to insist that, where that can be done, all water must

be taken from the Indian irrigation system, and that

charges for operation and maintenance be assessed

equally. As was pointed out in our original brief here-

in, equality of right is not insured by simply saying

that each allottee 's right to the water is equal in amount

to the right of each other allottee. The geographical

distribution of the land on the Flathead Reservation

and other reservations is such that it would be physical-

ly impossible for a majority of the Indians living

within the reservation to secure water for their lands

in the absence of some central irrigation system. It

could not be that the United States intended to prefer

those Indians who, by reason of their proximity to a

stream, could secure water through a simple gravity

system over those Indians living miles away from the

stream. Section 7 of the Act of 1887 does not limit

the allottees to equality in amount, rather it provides

that the Secretary shall make rules and regulations to

secure a just and equal distribution of the waters. For

that reason we now urge, as we urged in our oral argu-

ment, that assuming that the allottees have equal rights

to the use of water, still the United States as trustee

had the power and the right for the i^urj^ose of equal-

izing the burden of distribution and providing for a

just distribution, that each Indian should secure his

water through the irrigation system provided, and

should pay his pro rata share of the operation and



—7—
maintenance of that system. Such requirement does

not conflict with Section 7 of the Act of 1887, but in

reality provides the just and equal distribution re-

quired thereby.

The court should recall that in this case it is shown

that the lands of the parties are susceptible to irriga-

tion from the irrigation system. Since it is not shown

that there has ever been any attempt by the respond-

ents to secure water from that system, we say that the

respondents are not entitled to any relief. This case

differs from the Powers case in that all the lands here

involved are irrigable from the project system (R.

262, 263, 264) whereas in the Powers case, as the Su-

preme Court said, none of the lands were within the

ambit of the government projects. It is to be noted

that respondents could quickly secure water from the

government system by simply making a request there-

for. (R. 262, 263, 264).

If we require that each allotment owner, regardless

of his peculiar position with respect to the stream,

must bear the burden of carrying the water to his own
land, then we are nullifying the intent and purpose of

Section 7 of the Act of 1887, for the reason that actu-

ally no Indian living more than a mile or so from the

stream could possibly secure the water which was

rightfully his without the aid of a central irrigation

system

.

We therefore ask that the court dismiss the bill of

complaint in this cause for the reason that there is no
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showing that the respondents have ever been denied

the right to take water from the system, which under

the circimistances in this case, is the only right that

they have.

Respectfully submitted,

Walter L. Pope,

Russell E. Smith,

Allen K. Smith,

Attorneys for Appellant.

Flathead Irrigation District.
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In the District Court of the United States for the

Southern District of California, Northern Di-

vision.

No. 4927

In Proceedings under Section 75 and 75 (s) of the

Bankruptcy Act

In the Matter of

CUMMINGS RANCH, INC., a corporation,

Debtor.

ORDER OF CONCILIATION COMMISSIONER
FIXING RENTAL, ETC.

The matter of fixing the rental value and approv-

ing the report of the appraiser on the property

of the debtor herein having come on for hearing

before the Honorable Samuel Taylor, Conciliation

Commissioner, at aw meeting of the creditors of

said debtor held January 25, 1939, at 10 o'clock

A. M. at Bakersfield, California, and William S.

Marks, attorney for debtor herein appearing per-

sonally, and various creditors being personally pres-

ent, and evidence on the matter having been heard

and the report of the appraisers being filed and said

Conciliation Commissioner being fully advised in

the premises.

It is hereby ordered, adjudged and decreed as

follows

:

1. That the rei)ort of the appraiser heretofore

appointed to appraise the property of the debtor
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herein, appraising the following described property,

to-wit

:

5009 acre farm and stock ranch situate in Sec-

tions 31, T. 32 S., R. 32 E., M. D. B. & M. ; and

in Sections 3, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 14, and 16 in T. 11

N., R. 16 W., S. B. B. & M., all in Kern Coun-

ty, California,

at Forty thousand one hundred dollars ($40,100.00)

be approved.

2. That the report of said appraiser appraising

the personal property as follows, to-wit:

Miscellaneous household goods and furnishings

;

15 horses; 700 head of cattle classified as cows,

bulls, 3-yr. old steers, 2 yr. old steers, yearlings,

and calves ; 500 head of poultry ; one 1930 Model

A Ford automobile; one harvester; 2 mowers;

1 hay rake; 1 tractor; 3 saddles; one radio;

at Thirty thousand five hundred sixty-five dollars

($30,565.00) be approved;

3. That all of the property of the debtor be set

aside to said debtor for its use and occupancy;

4. That the reasonable rental value of the prop-

erty of the debtor not [21] exem])t is the sum of

Seven Hundred fifty Dollars ($750.00) per annum,

to be paid as follows, to-wit:

J^375.00 on July 1, 1939; and

$375.00 on December 31, 1939,

and on the 1st day of July and the 31st day of De-

cember of each and every year hereafter com-
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mencing July 1, 1939; that the said monies shall be

paid to Conciliation Commissioner and shall be dis-

tributed by him as follows:

(1) To the payment of taxes, improvement

liens, county and State Taxes, or assess-

ments
;

(2) That the balance to be paid to the cred-

itors of said debtor as their priority and

interest appear.

5. That all judicial action and official proceedings

in any Court or imder the direction of any official

against the debtor or any of its property be stayed

for a period of three years and that during such

period of three years the debtor shall be permitted

to retain possession of all or any part of said

property in the custody and under the control and

supervision of the Court.

Dated: Feb. 2, 1939.

SAMUEL TAYLOR
Conciliation Commissioner.

[Lidorsed]: Filed Feb. 13, 1939. [22]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER REVERSING CONCILIATION COM-
MISSIONER'S ORDER

The petitions for Writ of Review of Bank of

Tehachapi for an order to vacate and set aside the

order of the Conciliation Commissioner denying
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Bank of Tehachapi motion for an order allowing the

Bank to take all and any necessary steps that it

might desire, to foreclose its chattel mortgage or

any other steps authorized by law to enforce settle-

ment of the notes secured by the said chattel mort-

gage, and to set aside the order of the Conciliation

Commissioner refusing to make a recommendation

to the Judge, in writing, that the petition of Cum-

mings Ranch, Inc. be dismissed, and the recom-

mendation of the Conciliation Commissioner to the

Judge that it not be dismissed; and for an order

dismissing said petition of Bankrupt, said petition

for review being upon the Conciliation Commis-

sioner's orders of January 20, 1939 and February

2, 1939, came on regularly for hearing before the

above entitled Court on Monday, February 20, 1939,

before the Honorable Leon R. Yankwich, C. W.
Johnston appearing as attorney for the Petitioner,

and William S. Marks appearing as attorney for

Bankrupt, and after hearing upon said petition and

argument by counsel, the same was submitted to

the Court for its consideration and decision, and

from the records and files in the above proceeding,

and from the evidence introduced before the Con-

ciliation Commissioner, transcripts of which evi-

dence were forwarded with the Writ of Review,

the Court finds: [23]

That the extension to debtor made by Conciliation

Commissioner's order of February 2, 1939, fixing

rental, would allow debtor to appropriate the prop-

erty of Bank of Tehachapi, being mortgagee under
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chattel mortgage, for debtor's benefit ; and the Court

finds that there is due to the Bank of Tehachapi

upon said promissory notes certain sums of money

exceeding $30,000.00, which notes are secured by a

chattel mortgage covering all bankrupt's cattle, con-

sisting of 800 or more head, branded with CL on

left hip and having an ear mark of crop and hole

in left ear, and shoestring in right ear, together

with all increase thereof, which mortgage was re-

corded in Book 581, page 455 of Official Records of

Kern County, California, and that there is a second

lien upon said cattle, being a chattel mortgage from

said bankrupt to J. J. Lopez in the sum of ap-

proximately $12,000.00, and that the appraisement

made by the appraiser and approved by the Con-

ciliation Commissioner did not appraise each ar-

ticle of personal property separately, and did not

list and designate each kind of personal property,

and that the rental value of $750.00 per year re-

quired to be paid by the bankrupt under the Con-

cilation Commissioner's order of February 2, 1939,

fixing rental, is not a fair and reasonable rental, and

that in order to protect the Bank of Tehachapi from

loss under its chattel mortgage and in order to

conserve the security, it is necessary that a sufficient

amount of cattle be sold to net $10,000.00 to be paid

to the Bank of Tehachapi within a reasonable time,

which is on or before May 15, 1939.

Now, therefore, it is ordered, adjudged and de-

creed, as follow^s:
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1. That the said orders of the Conciliation Coni-

missionei' above referred to and made on January

20, 1939 and Febrnary 2, 1939 be and the same are

liereby reversed. [24]

2. That the Conciliation Commissioner liave the

a])praiser, within ten days after a certified copy of

this order has been delivered to the Conciliation

Commissioner, appraise each and every article of

personal property separately, exceptina: articles of

tlie same class and nature, which can be appraised

together.

3. That the Conciliation Commissioner take ad-

ditional evidence as to what is the reasonable rental

value of the property to be retained by the bank-

ru])t in the custody and under the supervision and

control of the Court, and make an order fixing the

rental value, the same to be done within fifteen days

after the date a certified copy of this order is deliv-

ered to the Conciliation Commissioner.

4. That the Conciliation Commissioner hear evi-

dence, at the same time and place as the hearing-

on the reasonable rental value, as to the need of a

supervisor to supervise the care of the cattle, under

the order of the Court and make his recommenda-

tion.

f). That the bankrupt shall request the Concilia-

tion Commissioner to cause to be sold at public

auction a sufficient number of cattle to bring at

least $10,000.00, which amount must be paid net

to the Bank of Tehachapi at the time of the sale,

but not later in any event than May 15, 1939, ])ro-
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vided, however, that any cattle may be sold at pri-

vate sale at any time upon request of debtor and

the two mortgagees, or upon five days' notice to

the mortgagees and then upon order of Court.

If the debtor fails to comply with any of the

terms, conditions or provisions of this order then

the Conciliation Commissioner, upon motion of the

Bank of Tehachapi after not less than five days'

notice upon either the bankrupt or one of the bank-

rupt's attorneys, shall recommend to the United

States District Judge, before whom the matter is

pending, that the adjudication be set aside and

vacated, and that the petition of the [25] bankrupt

and the debtor's petition be dismissed, and the ad-

judication shall then be vacated and the petition

dismissed as provided b}^ the Bankruptcy Act, or in

lieu of dismissal the Bank of Tehachapi may re-

quest and the Conciliation Commissioner may rec-

ommend to the Court that the Bank of Tehachapi

be permitted to take any and all necessary steps to

enforce settlement of its notes by foreclosing the

chattel mortgage and/or taking possession of the

property mentioned in said chattel mortgage, or

taking any other legal steps as provided by law.

Dated: March 2, 1939.

LEON R. YANKWICH
U. S. District Judge

Approved as to form and copy of the foregoing

received this 2 day of March, 1939.

S. L. KURLAND
Attorney for Bankrupt.

[Indorsed] : Filed Mar. 2, 1939. [26]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PETITION FOR WRIT OF REVIEW
The petition of Bank of Tehachapi respectfully

shows

:

I.

That the court has heretofore found that there is

due by bankrupt to the Bank of Tehachapi upon

promissory notes certain sums of money exceeding

$30,000.00 and that said notes are secured by chattel

mortgage covering all bankrupt's cattle, consisting

of eight hundred or more head branded with CL on

left hip and having earmark of crop and hole in

left ear and shoestring in right ear, together with

increases thereof, w^hich mortgage was recorded in

Book 581, page 455, of Official Records of Kern

County, California, and that there is a second mort-

gage on said cattle from said Bankrupt to J. J.

Lopez in the sum of approximately $12,000.00.

That a transcript of the evidence and proceedings

of the first meeting held on November 19, 1938 and

proceedings held on January 20, 1939 has been filed

with the Conciliation Commissioner and the same

was forwarded to the above entitled court upon

writs of review heretofore taken by the Bank of

Tehachapi and reference is hereby made to the said

transcripts.

II.

That at a hearing held before Samuel Taylor,

Conciliation Commissioner, on Saturday, March 25,

1939, after evidence had been introduced by and on
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behalf of the debtor as to the vahie of both the real

and personal property which had been appraised

by Boyce R. Fitzgerald, the appraiser appointed to

appraise said property, and testimony was also in-

troduced as to [27] the rental value of the prop-

erty, the Conciliation Commissioner set aside cer-

tain property to bankrupt as exempt and thereupon

the Bank of Tehachapi moved to dismiss the pro-

ceedings and for a recommendation from the Con-

ciliation Commissioner to the Judge to dismiss the

proceedings on the grounds stated in the motion, a

true and correct copy of which is attached hereto

and marked Exhibit ^'A", and thereupon the Con-

ciliation Commissioner denied said motion and re-

fused to recommend to the Judge of the above en-

titled court that the petition of Cummings Ranch,

Inc. be dismissed and made his recommendation

that the Judge of the above entitled court not dis-

miss said proceedings and thereupon said Bank of

Tehachapi moved for an order that it be authorized

to take any and all steps necessary to foreclose its

chattel mortgage, said motion being in the form and

context attached hereto and marked Exhibit "B";
and thereupon the Conciliation Commissioner de-

nied said motion.

III.

That said order of said Conciliation Commis-

sioner is in error for the following reasons:

1. That the debtor has not acted in good faith

and is not entitled to the benefits of Subsection S

of Section 75 of the Bankruptcy Act.
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2. That there is no reasonable probability of

ultimate debt satisfaction within the three years'

period and said order does not give the Bank of

Tehachapi its lien pursuant to the terms of said

chattel mortgage upon said cattle.

3. That there is no emergency existing as far as

the debtor is concerned nor is there anv emergency

existing in the locality where the debtor's ranch is

located.

4. That to allow Cummings Ranch, Inc. to retain

possession of the cattle when it is shown by the

testimony of Cummings Ranch, Inc. that its finan-

cial condition is such that [28] it is hopeless for

the debtor to ever settle its debts by any extension,

and any proceedings by which the debtor is given

any time to pay its debts, is to allow the debtor to

appropriate the mortgagee's property for debtor's

benefit.

5. That the debtor, from the testimony intro-

duced, cannot refinance itself within a three year

period, nor is there any way by which there can be

financial rehabilitation of the debtor.

Wherefore, petitioner, feeling aggrieved because

of such orders, prays that the same may be re-

versed as provided in the Bankruptcy Act of 1898

and all amendments thereto and general orders, and

that an order be made setting aside and vacating

said orders of said Conciliation Commissioner, and

that an order be made dismissing debtor's petition

and all proceedings in the above case for the rea-

sons mentioned and enumerated in this petition
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and/or that an order be made authorizing the Bank

of Tehachapi to foreclose its chattel mortgage or

take any other legal steps provided in said chattel

mortgage to enforce payment of its indebtedness

secured by said chattel mortgage.

HARVEY, JOHNSTON & BAKER
By C. W. JOHNSTON

Attorneys for Petitioner [29]

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
I.

The court should dismiss proceedings where it is

evident that rehabilitation of a farm debtor is not

possible.

Wright vs. Mountain Trust Bank, 81 Law
Ed. 738, 300 U. S. 440.

II.

Cannot appropriate mortgagee's property for

debtor's benefit.

Louisville Bank vs. Radford, 295 U. S. 555,

79 Law Ed. 1595.

III.

Debtors must act in good faith.

See Wright vs. Mountain Trust Bank, supra, and

Guarantee Mortgage Company vs. Moser, 95 Fed.

(2) 944 (9th). [30]

EXHIBIT ''A"

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION TO DISMISS
Comes now the Bank of Tehachapi and moves the

above entitled court to dismiss the petition of the

above debtor for the following reasons, to-wit:



Cummings Banch, Inc. 13

1. That there is no emergency existing as far as

Cummings Ranch, Inc. is concerned.

2. That the Cummings Ranch, from the testi-

mony in the record, shows that it will be impos-

sible for it to refinance itself wdthin three years

and that there is no reasonable probability of ulti-

mate debt satisfaction within the Moratorium period

allowed by law.

3. That any extension given to the debtor would

not give to the Bank of Tehachapi a right to retain

its lien unencumbered and that the same would be

and is unconstitutional in that it would permit the

alleged farmer, to-wit, the Cummings Ranch, Inc.

to remain in possession of cattle which are under

chattel mortgage given as security to pay the debt

to the Bank of Tehachapi, where it is shown by

the record that the Cummings Ranch, Inc. is in such

a hopeless financial condition that any extension of

time would be to allow the debtor to appropriate

the mortgagee's property for the debtor's benefit.

4. That there is no emergency existing in this

locality and the locality where the debtor's ranch is

located.

That the Conciliation Commissioner make his rec-

ommendation in writing to the Judge of the above

entitled court to dis- [31] miss said petition of said

Cummings Ranch, Inc. the debtor, upon the grounds

and for the reasons stated in this motion.

Dated March 24, 1939.

HARVEY, JOHNSTON & BAKER
By C. W. JOHNSTON

Attorneys for Bank of Tehachapi

[32]
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EXHIBIT "B"

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

MOTION FOR ORDER AUTHORIZING
BANK TO FORECLOSE

Comes now the Bank of Tehachapi and moves the

above entitled court for an order authorizing said

bank to take any and all steps that it may desire

to foreclose its chattel mortgage and/or to sell said

property mentioned in said chattel mortgage as

provided by said chattel mortgage and/or to take

any other legal steps as provided by law so that

said property mentioned in said chattel mortgage

may be sold and the proceeds thereof applied upon

the debts due by said debtor to said bank as men-

tioned in said chattel mortgage for the reason that

if said debtor is allowed to retain possession of said

mortgaged property, that substantial loss in value

will be sustained by said bank upon its security and

for the further reason that said debtor is not acting

in good faith, and for the further reason that the

testimony shows that it is impossible for the bank-

rupt to refinance itself within three years and that

the bankrupt is so ho|)elessly involved in indebted-

ness that it is impossible for it to rehabilitate itself.

Dated: March 24, 1939.

HARVEY, JOHNSTON & BAKER
By C. W. JOHNSTON

Attorneys for Bank of Tehachapi

[33]
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United States of America,

Southern District of California,

Northern Division,

County of Kern—ss.

C. W. Johnston being* duly sworn, says: That he

is one of the attorneys for the petitioner in the fore-

going entitled matter and he makes this affidavit

and verification for and on behalf of the Bank of

Tehachapi for the reason that the facts are within

his knowledge and not within the knowledge of any

of the officers and agents of said Bank of Tehachapi

as to some of the matters set forth in said petition

for writ of review; that he has read the foregoing

petition for writ of review and knows the contents

thereof ; that the same is true of his own knowledge,

except as to the matters which are therein stated on

his information or belief and as to those matters,

that he believes it to be true.

C. W. JOHNSTON
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 4th day

of April, 1939.

[Seal] KATHERINE STAUSS
Notary Public in and for the County of Kern,

State of California.

[Indorsed] : Filed May 9, 1939. [34]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

PETITION FOR WRIT OF REVIEW

The petition of Bank of Tehachapi respectfully

shows

:

I.

That the court has heretofore found that there

is due by bankrupt to the Bank of Tehachapi upon

promissory notes certain sums of money exceeding

$30,000.00 and that said notes are secured by chat-

tel mortgage covering all bankrupt's cattle, con-

sisting of eight hundred or more head branded with

CL on left hip and having earmark of crop and

hole in left ear and shoestring in right ear, together

with increases thereof, which mortgage was re-

corded in Book 581, page 455, of Official Records

of Kern County, California, and that there is a

second mortgage on said cattle from said Bankrupt

to J. J. Lopez in the sum of approximately

$12,000.00.

That a transcript of the evidence and proceedings

of the first meeting held on November 19, 1938 and

proceedings held on January 20, 1939 has been filed

with the Conciliation Commissioner and the same

was forwarded to the above entitled court upon

writs of review heretofore taken by the Bank of

Tehachapi and reference is hereby made to the said

transcripts.

II.

That the orders of the Conciliation Commissioner

heretofore made as to rental value, upon which the
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Bank of Tehachapi took a w rit of review, were re-

versed pursuant to order of Judge Leon R. Yank-

wich dated March 2, 1939 and ordered the Concili-

ation Commissioner to take additional evidence as

to what is the [35] reasonable rental value of the

property to be retained by the bankrupt in the cus-

tody and under the supervision and control of the

court and to make an order fixing the rental value;

and thereafter, on the 5th day of April, 1939, the

Conciliation Commissioner made his order, a copy

of which is attached hereto and marked Exhibit

^'A", and that a portion of said order fixing rental

value is as follows, to-wit:

"That the reasonable rental value of the

property of debtor in the sum of $6000.00 shall

be paid as follows, to-wit: $10,000. to be paid

on or before May 15, 1939 under order of Court

in lieu of rental for the year of 1939 ; One half

of said annual rental, or the sum of $3,000. to

be paid on April 1, 1940 and the other half or

$3000. to be paid on October 1, 1940, and a like

amount April 1 & Oct. 1 each year thereafter."

That said order of Judge Leon R. Yankwich of

March 2, 1939 further provided that,

*'in order to protect the Bank of Tehacha])i

from loss under its chattel mortgage and in

order to conserve the security, it is necessary

that a sufficient amount of cattle be sold to net

$10,000.00 to be paid to the Bank of Tehachapi
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within a reasonable time, which is on or before

May 15, 1939."

and said order further provided,

"5. That the bankrupt shall request the

Conciliation Commissioner to cause to be sold

at public auction a sufficient number of cattle

to bring at least $10,000.00, w^hich amount must

be paid net to the Bank of Tehachapi at the

time of the sale, but not later in any event

than May 15, 1939, provided, however, that

any cattle may be sold at private sale at any

time upon request of debtor and the two mort-

gagees, or upon five days' notice to the mort-

gagees and then upon order of Court. '

'

III.

That said order of said Conciliation Commission-

er is in error for the following reasons:

1. That the debtor has not acted in good faith

and is not entitled to the benefits of Subsection S

of Section 75 of the Bankruptcy Act.

2. That there is no reasonable probability of ul-

timate debt satisfaction within the three years' pe-

riod and said order [36] does not give the Bank of

Tehacha]r)i its lien pursuant to the terms of said

chattel mortgage upon said cattle.

3. That there is no emergency existing as far as

the debtor is concerned nor is there any emergency

existing in the locality where the debtor's ranch is

located.
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4. That to allow Cummings Ranch, Inc. to re-

tain possession of the cattle when it is show^n by

the testimony of Cummings Ranch, Inc. that its

financial condition is such that it is hopeless for the

debtor to ever settle its debts by any extension, and

any jn'oceedings by which the debtor is given any

time to pay its debts, is to allow the debtor to ap-

propriate the mortgagee's property for debtor's

benefit.

5. That the debtor, from the testimony intro-

duced, cannot refinance itself within a three year

period, nor is there au}^ way by which there can be

financial rehabilitation of the debtor.

6. That the order of said Conciliation Commis-

sioner fixing rental is in violation and contrary to

the order of Judge Leon R. Yankwich of March 2,

1939.

7. That said order is contrary to the provisions

of subsection 2 of Section S of the Frazier-Lemke

Act.

8. That said order of said Conciliation Commis-

sioner fixing rental is void and invalid as it deprives

the Bank of Tehachapi of a portion of its lien upon

property for the benefit of other creditors.

Wherefore, petitioner, feeling aggrieved because

of such orders, prays that the same may be reversed

as provided in the Bankruptcy Act of 1898 and all

amendments thereto and general orders, and that an

order be made setting aside and vacating said orders



20 Bank of Tehachapi vs.

of said Conciliation Commissioner, and that an

order be made dismissing debtor's petition and all

proceedings in the [37] above case for the reasons

mentioned and enumerated in this petition ; and for

such other and further relief as may be proper and

just in the premises.

BANK OF TEHACHAPI,
a corporation

By ALBERT ANCKER
Petitioner.

HARVEY, JOHNSTON & BAKER
By C. W. JOHNSTON

Attorneys for Petitioner. [38]

EXHIBIT *'A"

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

ORDER OF CONCILIATION COMMISSIONER
APPROVING APPRAISAL AND FIXING
RENTAL

The matter of fixing the rental value and approv-

ing the report of the appraiser of the property of

the debtor herein, in accordance with the ruling of

the Hon. Leon R. Yankwich, a judge of the above

named Court, the matter having on the 2nd day of

March, 1939, come up for hearing before him, and

now coming on for hearing before the Hon. Samuel

Taylor, Conciliation Commissioner, at a meeting

called for above named purpose for the creditors of
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said debtor held March 18 and 25, 1939 at 10 o'clock

A. M. of said days at Bakersfield, California, and

William S. Marks, attorney for debtor herein, ap-

pearing, and C. W. Johnston of Harvey, Jolmston

& Baker, appearing as attorney for the Bank of

Tehachapi and Mrs. Chas. Asher; and Guy Grean-

leaf appearing for the Federal Land Bank of Berk-

eley and evidence on the matter having been heard

and the report of the appraiser being filed, said

Conciliation Commissioner being fully advised in

the premises, it is hereby Ordered, Adjudged, and

Decreed as follows:

1. That the report of Boyce R. Fitzgerald, ap-

praiser, heretofore appointed to appraise the prop-

erty of the debtor herein and who under said order

re-appraised the following described property to-

wit

:

5009 acre farm and stock ranch situate in Sec-

tions 31, T. 32 S., R. 32 E., M. D. B. & M.;

and in Sections 3, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 14 and 16 in

T. 11 N., R. 16 W., S. B. B. & M., all in Kern

County, California

;

at Forty thousand one hundred dollars ($40,100.00)

be approved. [39]

2. That the report of said appraiser re-apprais-

ing the personal property as follows, to-wit:
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82 three year old steers, 950 lbs.

@ 6i/2(f' $ 5022.50

56 two year old steers, 800 lbs. @ 7^ 3136.00

92 one-year old steers, 650 lbs. @
6%^ 3887.00

260 cows, 1000 lbs. @ M 10400.00

48 two year old heifers, 800 lbs. @
4%^ 1728.00

86 one year old heifers, 600 lbs. @
5^ 2850.00

25 bulls, 1250 lbs. @ 4^ 1000.00

50 calves, 225 lbs. @ 10^ 1125.00

20 calves, 150 lbs. @ 10^ 300.00

40 calves, @ $10.00 per head 400.00

Miscellaneous household goods and

furniture 100.00

15 horses @ $50.00 per head 750.00

500 chickens @ $1.00 per head 500.00

1 Ford Car @ $50.00 50.00

1 Harvester 100.00

2 Mowers @ $10.00 20.00

1 hay rake 10.00

1 Tractor 200.00

3 saddles @ $10.00 each 30.00

1 radio 20.00

That the total appraised value of said personal

property is $31,358.50, and that the same be ap-

proved ;

3. That all of the property of the debtor be set

aside to said debtor for its use and occupancy for
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a period of three years, subject however, to the

supervision and control of the Court.

4. That said debtor has no profjerty exempt by

state law. [40]

5. That the reasonable rental value of the prop-

erty of debtor is as follows, to-wit:

(1) 4409 acres of grazing land @
.25 per acre $1102.25

(2) 400 acres of grain land @ $1.50 600.00

(3) 200 acres of irrigable land @
$2.50 500.00

making a total rental value of land of debtor in the

sum of $2202.25.

(4) 230 head steers @ $2.50 575.00

(5) 260 head cows @ $2.50 650.00

(6) 134 head heifers @ $2.50 336.00

(7) 25 bulls @ $12.50 312.50

(8) 110 calves @ $3.00 330.00

(9) 15 horses @ $12.50 180.00

(10) 500 chickens @ .25 125.00

(11) Tractor and farm implements... 105.25

making a total rental value of personal property

above named at $2613.75.

(12) That the rental value of Railroad Land

now being used but not owned by debtor is $675.00

;

that the rental value of the camp and well on said

premises is $125.00; and that the rental value of the

McWilliams property rented but not owned by

debtor is $384.00 making a total of $1184.00 rental

for this land not owned.
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That the reasonable rental value of the property

of debtor in the sum of $6000.00 shall be paid as

follows, to-wit: $10,000.00 to be paid on or before

May 15, 1939 under order of Court in lieu of rental

for the year of 1939 ; One half of said annual rental,

or the sum of $3,000.00 to be paid on April 1, 1940

and the other half or $3000.00 to be paid on October

1, 1940, and a like amoimt April 1 and October 1

each year thereafter;

That the said monies shall be paid to the Con-

ciliation Commissioner and shall be distributed by

him as follows: [41]

(1) To the payment of State and County taxes,

improvement liens, assessments, and expenses of

administration

;

(2) The balance is to be paid to the creditors of

said debtor as their priorities and interests may
appear.

That all judicial actions and proceedings in any

Court or under the direction of any official against

said debtor or any of its property be stayed for a

period of three years and that during such period

of three years the debtor shall be permitted to re-

tain possession of all or any part of said property

in the custody and under the control and supervi-

sion of the Court.

Dated: April 5, 1939.

SAMUEL TAYLOR
Conciliation Commissioner

[42]
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I.

The court should dismiss proceedings where it is

evident that rehabilitation of a farm debtor is not

possible.

Wright vs. Mountain Trust Bank, 81 Law

Ed. 738, 300 U. S. 440.

II.

Cannot appropriate mortgagee's property for

debtor's benefit.

Louisville Bank vs. Radford, 295 U. S. 555,

79 Law Ed. 1595.

III.

Debtors must act in good faith.

See Wright vs. Mountain Trust Bank, supra, and

Guarantee Mortgage Company vs. Moser, 95 Fed.

(2) 944 (9th).

IV.

The mortgagee has a right to retain its lien until

the indebtedness thereby secured is paid.

See Wright vs. Mountain Trust Bank, supra. [43]

United States of America,

Southern District of California,

Northern Division,

County of Kern—ss.

Albert Ancker being duly sworn, says: That he

is President of Bank of Tehachapi, a corporation,
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the petitioner named in the foregoing entitled mat-

ter ; that he has read the foregoing petition for writ

of review and knows the contents thereof; that the

same is true of his own knowledge, except as to the

matters which are therein stated on his information

or belief and as to those matters, that he believes

it to be true.

ALBERT ANCKER
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day

of April, 1939.

[Seal] T. W. PLANT
Notary Public in and for the County of Kern,

State of California.

My Commission expires Oct. 25, 1942.

[Indorsed] : Filed May 9, 1939. [44]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

CERTIFICATE OF CONCILIATION
COMMISSIONER

(REVIEW)

The undersigned conciliation commissioner here-

by certifies as follows:

This matter has been heard upon review of my
former rulings by the Honorable Leon R. Yankwich

one of the Judges of this Court and due to the fact

that my previous orders were set aside and new

orders made by Judge Yankwich, this creditor again

petitioned this court for an order dismissing these
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proceedings which order was denied. My former

orders denying this creditor's several motions for

dismissal or permission to foreclose its chattel mort-

gage although set aside by Judge Yankwich were in

reality sustained for the reason Judge Yankwich

did not grant creditor's request for dismissal or

permission to foreclose.

The creditor's present petitions to review^ em-

brace the selfsame questions previously passed upon

by Judge Yankwich and are made because your

commissioner's previous rulings were set aside,

therefore allowing this creditor to renew his former

motions and after denial reviewing the orders. The

questions here involved have been passed upon by

Judge Yankwich and both petitions contain the

identical grounds and prayers for relief heretofore

denied by Judge Yankwich upon the former hear-

ing.

Respectfully submitted,

SAMUEL TAYLOR
Conciliation Commissioner

Bakersfield, Cal. May 6, 1939.

[Indorsed] : Filed May 9, 1939. [45]
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In the District Court of the United States, for the

Southern District of California, Northern

Division

No. 4927

In the Matter of

CUMMINGS RANCH, INC.,

a corporation.

Bankrupt.

ORDER DENYING WRITS OF REVIEW OF
BANK OF TECHACHAPI AND DENYING
MOTION AND PETITION TO FORE-
CLOSE CHATTEL MORTGAGE AND AP-
PROVING ORDER OF CONCILIATION
COMMISSIONER

The petition for writs of review of Bank of

Tehachapi for an order to vacate and set aside the

order of the Conciliation Commissioner denying

Bank of Tehachapi 's motion for an order allowing

the Bank to take all and any necessary steps that it

might desire to foreclose its chattel mortgage or

any other steps authorized by law to enforce settle-

ment of the notes secured by the said chattel mort-

gage, and to set aside an order of the Conciliation

Commissioner refusing to make a recommendation

to the Judge, in writing, that the petition of Cum-
mings Ranch, Inc. be dismissed, and the recom-

mendation of the Conciliation Commissioner to the

Judge that it not be dismissed; and for an order

dismissing said petition of Bankrupt, and for an
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order vacating and setting aside the order of the

Conciliation Commissioner approving appraisal and

fixing rental, said petitions for review being upon

the Bank of Tehachapi petitions dated April 4,

1939 and April 19, 1939, came on regularly for hear-

ing before the above entitled Court on Monday,

September 11, 1939, before the Honorable Leon R.

Yankwich, C. W. Johnston appearing as attorney

for the Petitioner, and S. L. Kurland appearing as

attorney for Bankrupt, and after hearing upon said

petitions and argument by counsel, the same was

submitted to the Court for its consideration and

decision, and from the records and files in the above

proceeding and from the evidence introduced before

the Conciliation Commissioner, transcripts of which

evidence were heretofore forwarded with writs of

review, the Court finds : [47]

I.

That the order of the above entitled Court of

March 2nd, 1939 requiring the Conciliation Commis-

sioner in the above entitled cause to cause a re-

appraisal to be had of the property of the Bankrupt

and to take additional evidence of the reasonable

rental value of the said property and to make an

order fixing the rental value and to hear evidence

as to the matter of a supervisor for the care of the

cattle and to cause sufficient cattle to be sold to

bring in at least $10,000.00 to be paid to the creditor

Bank of Tehachapi has been complied with, and the

findings and orders of the Commissioner as to each
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of the foregoing is hereby approved except as spe-

cifically modified hereinafter.

II.

That the sum of $10,404.00 was obtained by the

sale of said cattle and all of said sum was paid over

by said Commissioner to the Bank of Tehachapi and

is to apply on the principal of that certain promis-

sory note of the Bankrupt to the said Bank which

said note is secured by chattel mortgage on the

cattle of the bankrupt corporation.

III.

That the smn of $6,000.00 is the reasonable rental

value for the property of the debtor company as it

existed prior to the sale of the said cattle.

IV.

That the jDetitions and each of them for a writ of

review and for an order to vacate and set aside the

order of the Conciliation Commissioner denying the

Bank of Tehachapi permission to foreclose on its

said chattel mortgage are each denied, and the Bank
of Tehachapi is not entitled to an order of dis-

missal of the above entitled proceeding or an order

to foreclose its chattel mortgage. [48]

Now Therefore, It Is Ordered, Adjudged and

Decreed as Follows:

(1) That the Order of the Conciliation Com-

missioner approving the appraisal and fixing the

rental is confirmed and approved, excepting only

that the sum of $10,404.00 heretofore paid by the
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Bankrupt Corporation to the Bank of Tehachapi

pursuant to the order of the above entitled Court of

March 2nd, 1939 shall be applied upon the principal

of the Bank's promissory note which is secured by

a chattel mortgage on the cattle of the bankrupt.

(2) That the writs of review of the Bank of

Tehachapi of April 4th, 1939 and April 9th, 1939

are hereby denied, and the petition and motion to

foreclose on the chattel mortgage is hereby denied;

exception allowed.

Dated: October 23rd, 1939.

LEON R. YANKWICH
United States District Judge

Approved as to form and copy of the foregoing

received this dav of October, 1939.

Attorney for Bankrupt.

[Indorsed] : Filed Oct. 23, 1939. [49]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

NOTICE OF APPEAL
Notice Is Hereby Given that Bank of Tehachapi,

a corporation, a creditor of the above named bank-

rupt, hereby appeals to the Circuit Court of Ap-

peals, for the Ninth Circuit, from the order deny-

ing the writs of review^ of April 4, 1939 and April

19, 1939, of the Bank of Tehachapi; denying the

petition and motion of said Bank of Tehachapi for

an order authorizing it to foreclose on its chattel
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mortgage; approving the order of the Conciliation

Commissioner approving appraisal and fixing

rental, and denying the petition and motion of said

Bank of Tehachapi to dismiss the bankruptcy peti-

tion of the above named bankrupt, which order was

entered in the above bankruptcy case on the 23rd

day of October, 1939.

HARVEY, JOHNSTON &
BAKER

T. N. HARVEY
J.

C. W. JOHNSTON
C. F. BAKER

J.

Attorneys for Appellant Bank

of Tehachapi.

Address: 359 Haberfelde

Building, Bakersfield,

California.

Received copy of notice of appeal 12/6/39.

WM. S. MARKS
S. L. KURLAND

Attorneys for Debtor.

[Indorsed] : Filed Nov. 24, 1939. [50]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE

I, R. S. Zimmerman, Clerk of the District Court

of the United States for the Southern District of

California, do hereby certify the foregoing pages,
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numbered from 1 to 59, inclusive, contain full, true

and correct copies of Petition for Review of order

dated Dec. 2, 1938; Petition for Review of order

dated Jan. 20, 1939; Petition for Review of order

dated Feb. 2, 1939; Order of Conciliation Commis-

sioner fixing rental; Order Reversing Conciliation

Commissioner's Order; Petition for Review of

order dated Mar. 25, 1939; Petition for Review of

order dated Aj^ril 5, 1939; Certificate of Concilia-

tion Commissioner; Minute Order Sept. 11, 1939;

Order denying petitions for review; Notice of Ap-

peal; Appellant's Designation of contents of record

on appeal; Appellee's Designation of contents of

record on appeal, and Bond on Appeal, which to-

gether with Reporter's Transcripts of Testimony

of Nov. 19, 1938 and Jan. 20, 1939, transmitted

herewith, constitute the record on appeal to the

United States Circuit Court of Apj^eals for the

Ninth Circuit.

I Do Further Certify that the fees of the Clerk

for comparing, correcting and certifying the fore-

going record amount to $17.75, and that said

amoimt has been paid me by the Appellant herein.

Witness my hand and the Seal of the District

Court of the United States for the Southern Dis-

trict of California, this 27th day of December, A. D.

1939.

[Seal] R. S. ZIMMERMAN,
Clerk.

By EDMUND L. SMITH,
Deputy Clerk. [60]
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[Title of District Court and Cause.]

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF TESTIMONY
AND PROCEEDINGS

Bakersfield, California, November 19, 1938

This case coming on regularly at this time, for

hearing, before Samuel Taylor, Esq., Conciliator,

the following proceedings were had, to-wit:

The Court: In the matter of Cummings Ranch,

Inc., No. 4927. Are you ready gentlemen?

Mr. Johnston: Ready for the Bank of Te-

hachapi.

Mr. Marks : Ready for the Petitioner.

EDWARD O. CUMMINGS
being tirst duly sworn testified as follows

:

Mr. Johnston : What is your name ?

A. Edward G. Cummings.

Q. And what connection, if any, do you have

with Cummings Ranch Inc.?

A. Well I am the president of the company.

Q. How long have you been president of the

company ?

A. Ever since we Jiave incorporated. I don't

know just exactly how many years.

Q. Approximately how long were you incorpo-

rated ? A. Ten or fifteen years or so.

Q. Are there any other officers in the corporation

besides yourself?

A. Yes, my brother is secretary.

Q. And your brother, what is his name ?

A. Albert.
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(Testimony of Edward G. Cummings.)

Q. Are there any other officers?

A. Clarence Cummings is vice president.

Q. Any other officers?

A. Not that I know of [61]

Q. And who are the directors?

A. Well I don't remember just exactly.

Q. Have you got your books with you ?

A. No, I have not.

Q. Have you got them, Mr. Marks ?

Mr. Marks: No.

Mr. Johnston: We issued a request to have you

bring them here this morning.

The Court: We asked them to bring them, yes.

What is the purpose of the books?

Mr. Johnston: I have a right to inspect the

books to find out who the stockholders and the

officers are.

Mr. Marks: There is no objection, I didn't know

you needed them. He asked me the day before yes-

terday if he should bring them and I said I didn't

know that the books would be necessary. If they

are not here it may be my fault. He ought to know

who the directors are anyway, without the books.

A. (By the witness) Well of course I would not

say right off hand, of course.

Mr. Johnston: Q. Let us go on now, and we

can continue this matter and he can come down and

bring the books again.
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(Testimony of Edward G. Cummings.)

Q. Now does the corporation own any real prop-

erty ? A. Property ?

Q. Real property?

A. The Ciimmings Ranch.

Q. And what does that consist of?

A. Farming and mountain land. [62]

Q. About five thousand acres'?

A. Five thousand and nine to be exact.

Q. Are there any taxes due against that real

property? A. Yes, there is some taxes.

Q. About how much?

A. Well there is delinquent taxes about two

hundred and twenty five dollars, and then through

Mr. Greenleaf 's office they took up the other taxes,

the taxes of last year, they paid them, and the sec-

ond payment has not been made.

Q. You say the taxes for the fiscal year 1937-38

have been paid?

A. It is on the record there.

Q. But you never paid it—your company never

paid it?

A. No—there is Two Hundred and Twenty-Five

Dollars delinquent.

Q. Are there any other delinquent taxes besides

those? A. Not that I know of.

Q. Have you paid any corporation franchise tax

within the last few years?

A. We are all paid up on that, yes sir.

Mr. Johnston: (To Mr. Greenleaf) You repre-

sent the Federal Land Bank do you ?
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(Testimony of Edward G. Cummings.)

Mr. Greenleaf: I represent the Federal Bank,

and the Federal Land Bank Commissioner, and it is

all included in this one claim.

Mr. Johnston: Q. Mr. Cummings, I will show

you a claim that has been filed by the Federal Land

Bank, [63] particularly that shows an indebtedness

of Twenty One Thousand Four Hundred and Six-

teen Dollars and Forty-Five Cents, and also another

claim of Federal Mortgage Corporation for Four

Thousand Nine Hundred and Ninety Seven Dollars

and Fifty-Eight Cents, and I will ask you if tliose

amounts are approximately correct"?

A. Well I couldn't say. Naturally I supposed

they w^ould be, sure. I have not checked that over,

but I suppose they are all right.

Q. You have listed in your schedules that you

swore to, that you owe the two banks Twenty Five

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars?

A. Something like that.

Q. Is that approximately correct?

A. Yes, without the interest.

Q. Yes.

A. Something like that—I don't know.

The Court: You would not expect him to cal-

culate the interest.

Mr. Johnston : I asked him if they were approxi-

mately correct?

A. Yes. In other words we have the commis-

sioner's loan and the regular Loan Bank loan.
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Q. You have stated that you owe J. T. Lopez

Eleven Thousand Dollars?

A. Probably a little more, probably around

Twelve Thousand with interest.

Q. Is that Mr. Lopez any relation of yours?

A. Well he is really a second cousin. I call him

Uncle—strictly speaking he is a second cousin.

Q. And when did you borrow the money from

Mr. Lopez?

A. Well [64] I don't know exactly, a good many

years ago I borrowed some when I had to have

some money to carry on, and he let me have the

money. Of course I have not paid him any inter-

est, and he never insisted on any, and was waiting

until I got straightened out, and if I had any

money I would give it to him.

Q. You gave him a note when you borrowed the

money did you? A. Yes sir.

Q. That is the Cummings Ranch, Inc. ?

A. Yes.

Q. And a Chattel Mortgage? A. Yes.

Q. On some cattle? A. Yes.

Q. And that was the Chattel Mortgage that was

second to the Chattel Mortgage of the Bank of Te-

hachapi ? A. Yes.

Q. Was that a new loan at the time you exe-

cuted that note to Lopez? A. A new loan?

Q. Yes?

A. No, it was simply the money I had owed him

with the interest added to it.
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Q. It was an old loan?

A. I imagine so.

Q. Then approximately when did you start to

borrow the money from Mr. Lopez, what year?

A. I don't know. It is quite a good many years

ago.

Q. About when?

A. I don't know, ten years or so, more or less.

Q. Did you keep a record of it?

A. Well I kept a record more or less. I renewed

the note whenever it was due, and [65] gave him

another note.

Q. So it was at least ten years ago that you

started it?

A. I imagine, something like that.

Q. Now when you borrowed the money from the

Federal Land Bank, this Twenty Five Thousand

Five Hundred Dollars, what did you do with the

money you got from the Federal Land Bank?

A. I paid off the old note to Mrs. Kelly.

Q. And how much was her note ?

A. A great deal more than that, I don't re-

member, but she was going to take that as payment

for the amount we owed her.

Q. And when did you first borrow money from

Mrs. Kelly?

A. Probably eight or ten years before that, and

the interest

Q. This ranch formerly belonged to your father

didn't it?
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A. Not all of it. I added to it after I came back

to the ranch. I added probably half the acreage.

Q. And when did you start in the operation of

the ranch up there? A. In June 1895.

Q. Did you have anybody associated with you at

that time in the operation of the ranch *?

A. Well, it was a family affair. Before we in-

corporated it we worked together.

Q. How many people were interested in it then?

A. Well at that time, before my mother and

father died, they were in there, and six children, of

course.

Q. Who were the children interested in it?

A. Frank, Albert, Edward, George, Clarence and

Grace. [66]

Q. And are they still interested in it?

A. No, Miss Snyder, who was Grace's sister,

isn't interested in it.

Q. How many are interested in it now?

A. Six.

Q. And do you each have the same interest in

there ? A. No.

Q. Do you have with you any record of what

each has as an interest in there ?

A. Yes, approximately. I originally had eleven

thousand four hundred and ninety shares, and then

I got thirty five hundred shares more, and that is

ow^ned Avith Clarence and Albert and George Cum-

mings.

Q. Do you know how many shares you issued ?
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A. Sixty Thousand shares all together.

Q. Do your books portray what each stock-

holder has? A. Yes, absolutely.

Q. Now do you recall how many shares you

have?

A. Eleven thousand four hundred and ninety,

and thirty five hundred.

Q. Have you acquired any shares since this peti-

tion has been filed? A. No.

Q. Have you acquired any shares during the

year 1938? A. No—1938, yes.

Q. When did you acquire those shares?

A. Previous to the time this was filed.

Q. How long previous to the time ?

A. I don't remember just how long.

Q. Well was it a few days? A. Yes.

Q. And how much did you pay for those shares

you acquired? [67]

A. One Dollar per share.

Q. And what was the purpose of your acquiring

those shares?

A. Because they belonged to me for my work.

Q. How^ do you mean they belonged to you for

your work?

A. I got them from my brother Frank who never

helped any in this particular case, and he had bor-

rowed some money previous to that, and he wanted

to turn them over to me.

Q. And that was a few days before you filed this

petition ? A. Yes.
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Q. What does your brother Frank do ?

A. He is chief clerk of the District Attorney's

office.

Q. Where? A. Los Angeles.

Q. And you paid him One Dollar a share for

how many shares'?

A. Thirty Six hundred, right at the transaction

he owed me some money, that is the only way I got

paid was by the stockholders turning over their

shares, who were not interested.

Q. During the year 1938 did you receive any

other shares? A. No.

Q. Was there an exchange of any shares of stock

by anyone upon your books during 1938 except

w^hat you have told us about? A. No.

Q. All right now, before you got this Thirty Six

Hundred shares how^ many shares did you have?

A. I have eleven thousand four hundred and

ninety, I believe to be exact.

Q. And how many did Frank have?

A. Frank had—I don't [68] remember exactly

now. I don't know whether I have a record of it

here or not. I never brought the books down, but I

was not instructed—well that can easily be gotten

from the books. It was eleven thousand four hun-

dred and ninety all three of us had, and then the

rest of the sixty thousand was divided between the

other three.

Q. Frank had eleven thousand four hundred and

ninety ?
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A. No, Albert, Clarence, and Edward.

Q. And the other three had the remaining;, di-

vided among them?

A. Yes, divided equally, and I received thirty

six hundred from Frank.

Q. Now I didn't get the names of the other peo-

ple—you think Frank owed some—you say he

worked in the district attorney's office in Los An-

geles ? A. Yes.

Q. And who were the other two besides your-

self, Albert and Frank and Clarence?

A. Well there is Edward T., that is my son, and

George Cummings.

Q. And where does Edward J. live ?

A. He is in Santa Barbara.

Q. What does he do?

A. He is with the government.

Q. United States government? A. Yes.

Q. In what capacity?

A. Well I don't know, a Federal proposition of

some kind I think, W. P. A. I believe.

Q. And where does George Cummings live?

A. He is practically retired, and works on the

ranch, and he is on a pension. [69]

Q. He lives up on the ranch ?

A. He goes back and forth from the ranch. He
is pensioned, and he has a home in Los Angeles.

Q. Pensioned by whom?
A. He was a police officer.
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Q. He was a police officer in Los Angeles and

he lives in Los Angeles'?

A. Well, not all the time. He divides his time

between the ranch, and when he has finished with

his w^ork he goes back to Los Angeles.

Q. And what is his address in Los Angeles'?

A. 1684 West Jefferson Boulevard.

Q. Now this Dollar that you paid to Frank, did

you pay that by check?

A. No, I don't believe I did.

Q. Was that transfer of that stock made after

the Sheriff had taken possession of your cattle up

there? A. No sir, before.

Q. How many days before that?

A. I don't know, maybe a week or two, I don't

know.

Q. Did you make a trip to Los Angeles to get it ?

A. Yes, I w^ent to Los Angeles and got it.

Q. Do you remember when you went down

there? A. No I don't remember.

Q. Did anybody go with you?

A. No, nobody but me—nobody traveled with me.

Q. And he endorsed over—he only had it in one

certificate did he?

A. That is the thirty six hundred shares ? [70]

Q. Did he have separate certificates ?

A. I suppose he had.

Q. Don't you know what you got?

A. I suppose so. If I had my books I could tell
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you, but I don't remember the hundred and one

questions you ask me.

Q. When you went down there, where did you

meet your brother? A. In his office.

Q. At the district attorney's office?

A. Yes.

Q. And what did you say to him?

A. What did I say to him ?

Q. Yes?

A. I told him I wanted him to pay me w^hat he

owed me. He said he couldn't do it, and I said I

don't want you to be completely out.

Q. Did you tell him how much he owed you?

A. Yes, he owed me more money than that, but

that is all he turned over to me. That is the way I

wanted to do it two or three years ago. I just

wanted to have it done was all.

Q. And then he endorsed a certificate for thirty

six hundred shares? A. Yes.

Q. In one certificate was it ?

A. Yes, I suppose so.

Q. Well don't you know?

A. Yes—as near as I remember, yes.

Q. When you started to operate the ranch up

there, you and your brothers, was there any mort-

gage on the real property uj) there at that time ?

A. No. We owed for some railroad land that

was bought.

Q. How much approximately did you owe at

that time?
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A. That [71] is a lono^ time ago, and I paid it up

as I went along.

Q. That wasn't very much?

A. What land we had to start with except one

or two homesteads, we bought from the railroad.

Q. When did you start borrowing money from

the Bank of Tehachapi?

A. Well I don't know. I didn't have to borrow

any for a good many years, after I went there. I

ran the ranch without borrowing any money, and I

had some property in Los Angeles. We had a good

deal of property, and we mortgaged the ranch to

save some of that—that is the way it started, in

order to save the Los Angeles property we mort-

gaged the ranch, or gave it as security, which natu-

rally went to mortgage.

Q. And what became of the Los Angeles prop-

erty ?

A. It just went like all the rest of it. We didn't

save any of it, and then of course it reverted back,

and they held the ranch responsible, which then, we

had to do the best we could.

Q. And that was before you incorporated was it?

A. Yes.

Q. And at the time you incorporated do you

know how much you owed on the ranch—that is I

mean on the real property borrowed from some-

body where you gave the real property as security,

gave a trust deed or mortgage on the real property ?

A. I can't remember those things. These trans-
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actions were back and forth there.

Q. Did you keep any record of them %

A. Before we incorporated?

Q. At the time you incorporated ?

A. I suppose there is a [72] record, I don't

know.

Q. Well, I will show you here, Mr. Cummings,

a statement of the financial condition of your ranch

that you furnished to the Bank of Tehachapi the

first part of the year 1923, and I will ask you if that

is a correct statement or not ?

A. I imagine so.

Mr. Johnston: I want to introduce that in evi-

dence as Bank of Tehachapi 's Exhibit 1.

The Court : Let it be introduced.

BANK OF TEHACHAPI 'S EXHIBIT 1

reads as follows:

''STATEMENT CUMMINGS RANCH, INC.

Jan. 1, 1923

ASSETS

4000 acres (estimated) range, springs, Cummings
creek etc. @ $10.00 per acre $40,000

500 acres (estimated) slope for fruit etc 12,500

500 acres (estimated) bottom lands, alfalfa, grain,

reservoirs etc. @ $50.00 25,000

17 miles fence and hog fences, etc.

18 million feet Pine Saw timber, cruised at this

amount, $5.00 per M 90,000

10 million feet Live Oak saw timber, $7.00 70.000

50,000 cords oak cord wood, @ $1.00 cd 50,000

800 head cattle, more or less 32,000

150 head cows 3 to 8 yrs.

[73]
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75 steers, 2 & 3 yrs.

100 head yearling steers

150 weanling calves

100 suckling calves

33 bulls

Actual amount will over run these estimates.

50 head horses 3,750

200 hogs 2,500

Implements, equipments, etc 3,500

329,250

LIABILITIES

Real Estate Mtg. long time to run $25,000

Mrs. Cummings 1,000

Chattel mortgage on stock 15,000

Open notes 4,250

45,250

$284,000

Stock all issued and held as follows:

Edw. G. Cummings, President 11,500 shares

Albert N. Cummings, Treasurer 11,500

Clarence G. Cummings, Vice-Pres 11,500

Geo. A. Cummings 8,500

Frank R. Cummings 8,500

Grace Snyder, Secretary 8,500

Total Capital Stock 60,000
"

Signed. EDW. G. CUMMINGS, Pres."

[74]

Q. I will hand you that and ask you to look at

the bottom, and tell me whether that is your brother

Albert's signature? A. Yes.
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Q. Now look at that statement that you fur-

nished the bank, that is the Cummings Ranch did,

and tell me if that statement is approximately

correct ?

A. Well it sounds like it is all right.

Mr. Johnston : I want to introduce that as Cum-

mings Ranch Exhibit No. 2.

The Court : Let it be introduced.

BANK OF TEHACHAPI EXHIBIT 2

reads as follows:

''Tehachapi

Kern Co. Calif.

BALANCE SHEET

CUMMINGS RANCH
December 31st, 1927

ASSETS
Live Stock $39,625.00

Real Estate 59,600.00

Buildings 7,780.00

Implements etc 1,421.00

Lumber and mill 6,000.00

Deficit 12,636.25

127,062.35

[75]

Capital Stock $60,000.00

Mtg- J. W. Kelly 37,330.12

" Bank of Tehachapi 9,650.00

'' Farmers & Mer. Bank 7,750.00

Note J. J. Lopez 7,000.00

" Mrs. Geo Cummings 1,000.00

" Chas. Asher 3,000.00

" Guy Guerin 200.00

Acets payable 1,132.23

127,062.35
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December 31st. 1928

ASSETS LIABILITIES

Live stock . $39,625.00

Real Estate 59,600.00

Buildings ... 7,780.00

Implements etc. 1,421.00

Lumber and mill 6,000.00

Deficit 10,754.12

Capital stock $60,000.00

Mtg. J. W. Kelly -37,330.12

" Bank of Tehachapi 9,650.00

" Farmers & Mer. Bank 5,550.00

Note J. J. Lopez 7,000.00

" Mrs. Geo. Cummings 1,000.00

" Charles Asher 3,000.00

" Guy Guerin 200.00

Accts payable 1,500.00

125,180.12 125.180.12

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNTS

Disbursements

Rent $1 ,645.92

Labor 602.90

Gen Ranch 3,033.30

Interest 3,410.96

Taxes 440.72

Wages 2,500.00

Depreciation

:

Cattle $1000

Bldg., fences,

machinery 500- 1,500.00

Income

cattle $9,100.01

Lumber 182.10

[76]

Wheat 943.60

Misc 99.66

10,325.37

13,133.50

10,325.37

Loss $2,808.13

Notes Paid $7,255.07

By ALBERT N. CUMMINGS
Secretary and Treasurer"

Mr. Marks : They paid a lot of their debts since

then, and that is too far back to be relevant.
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Mr. Johnston: Q. Xow you have listed in your

schedules here of the Ciunmings Ranch, that you are

indebted to the Bank of Tehacha])i in the sum of

Twenty Seven Thousand Six Hmidred and Fifty

Dollars, is that approximately correct ?

A. There is something else I would like to men-

tion. There is an eight thousand dollar note that

Mr. Ancker had me sign to satisfy the Bank Com-

missioners, which was to lay there as just a blind,

or somethmg like that, and I didn't list that, be-

cause I didn't consider I owed the Bank that money.

I have no credit for that in here.

The Court: You are not going into that, are

you?

Mr. Johnston: Xo, there is no such note as that.

[77]

Mr. Johnston: Q. I said, Mr. Cunmiings, that

in tlie schedule here you had listed as o\\Tng to the

Bank of Tehachapi Twenty Seven Thousand Six

Hundred and Fifty Dollars ?

A. Yes, I believe that is the record, the record

will show what it is.

Q. You have not figured the interest on that of

course? A. I have not figured anything.

Q. And that debt is secured by a Chattel Mort-

gage upon your cattle? A. Yes.

Q. Xow Mr. Cummings, I will show you here

what purports to be a Chattel Mortgage, dated Xo-

vember 23, 1934, by Cummings Ranch, Inc. to the

Bank of Tehachapi, and recorded in Book 581 of
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Official Records Page 455, Kern County. I will ask

you if that is the Chattel Mortgage you gave to the

Bank to secure the indebtedness that I spoke about ?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that the Mortgage you gave them?

A. I suppose so.

Q. It is marked down here Cummings Ranch

Inc., is that your signature, Edward G. Cummings,

President, and your brother's signature Albert?

A. Yes.

The Chattel Mortgage referred to above reads as

follows

:

''CHATTEL MORTGAGE
This Mortgage, made this 23rd day of November,

1934 by Cummings Ranch, Incorporated, a Corpo-

ration organized and existing under the laws of the

State of California, [78] County of Kern, State of

California, by occupation Farming-stock-raising

Mortgagor,

To Bank of Tehachapi, a corporation organized

under the laws of the State of California, and hav-

ing its principal place of business at Tehachapi,

California, County of Kern, State of California, by

occupation Banking, Mortgagee,

Witnesseth: That the said Mortgagor mortgages

to the said Mortgagee all that certain personal prop-

erty situated and described as follows, to-wit: All

of its cattle consisting of 800 or more head of stock

cattle, branded as follows, to-wit: C L, being the
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brand used and owned by the mortgagor : said brand

being on the left hip and said cattle having ear

mark of crop and hole in left ear, and shoe string

in right ear, together with the increase thereof.

All of the cattle located on the lands and ranges

owned, leased or open by the mortgagor in the

County of Kern, State of California, and in partic-

ular in the neighborhood of Cummings Valley in

said County.

Also as security for any further advances made

by the mortgagee to the mortgagor not exceeding in

amount the sum of $4,000.00 as an aggregate, which

said advances shall be evidences by additional prom-

issory note or notes, as the case may be.

As Security for the payment to Bank of Te-

hachapi the said Mortgagee of Twenty four thou-

sand six hundred fifty Dollars, [79] lawful money

of the United States of America, with interest at

the rate of eight per cent per annum according to

the terms and conditions of one certain promissory

note of even date herewith, and in words and figures

following, to-wit:

No
Tehachapi, Calif. November 23, 1934 $24,650.00

Six months afer date, without grace, for value

received We promise to pay to the order of the

Bank of Tehachapi at its Banking Rooms, in the

Town of Tehachapi, State of California, Twenty
four thousand six hundred fifty and no/lOO Dollars
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with interest from date until paid, at the rate of

eight per cent per annum, said interest to be paid

quarterly, and if not paid as it becomes due, to be

added to the principal and become a part thereof,

and bear interest at the same rate; also to pay all

legal expenses and attorney's fees which may be

incurred by said Bank in the collection of this note.

All payments which become due by virtue hereof,

are to be paid in Lawful Money of the United

States.

CUMMINGS RANCH, INC.

EDWARD G. CUMMINGS,
President

ALBERT N. CUMMINGS,
Secretary

Secured hy Chattel Mortgage of even date hereof.

It Is Also Agreed that if the Mortgagor shall fail

to make any payments as in the promissory note

provided, then the Mortgagee may take possession

of the said property, using all necessary force so to

do an^ may immediately proceed to sell the same in

the manner provided by law, and from the proceeds

[80] pay the whole amount of said note specified,

and all costs of sale, including counsel fees not ex-

ceeding a reasonable amount the amount due, pay-

ing the overplus to the said Mortgagor, all of said

costs, including said counsel fees, being hereby

secured.

The Said Mortgagor does hereby state, declare

and warrant, that it the sole and separate owner of
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all the within mentioned personal property and that

there are no liens or incumbrances or adverse claims

of any kind whatever on any part thereof.

CUMMINGS RANCH
[Seal] EDWARD G. CUMMINGS,

President

ALBERT N. CUMMINGS,
Secretary

State of California,

County of Kern—ss.

On this 29 day of January, A. D. 1935 before

me, Geo. R. Burris, a Notary Public in and for said

County and State, personally appeared Edward G.

Cummings, Known to me to be the President of

Cummings Ranch, known to me, to be the person

whose name is subscribed to the within Instrument,

and acknowledged to me that he executed the same.

In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand

and affixed my official seal the day and year in this

certificate first above written.

GEO. R. BURRIS,
Notary Public in and for said County and State.

My Commission Expires October 3, 1938. [81]

State of California,

County of Kern—ss.

Edward G. Cummings, President Cummings

Ranch Mortgagor in the foregoing mortgage named
and Albert Ancker, President, Bank of Tehachapi,
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the mortgagee in said mortgage named, each being

duly sworn, each for himself does depose and say:

That the aforesaid mortgage is made in good faith

and without any design to hinder, delay or defraud

any creditor or creditors.

EDWARD G. CUMMINGS
ALBERT ANCKER,

Prs.

Subscribed and Sworn to before me this 29 day

of January 1935.

GEO. R. BURRIS,
Notary Public in and for said County and State.

My Commission Expires October 3, 1938.

Mortgage Chattel Cummings Ranch, Inc. To Bank

of Tehachapi

Dated November 23, 1934

Order No. 11812 When recorded, please mail this

instrument to Bank of Tehachai^i, Tehachapi,

California

Recorded at Request of Title Insurance & Trust Co.

Jun 15 1935 at 9 A. M. in Book 581 of Official

Records Page 455 Kern County Records,

CHAS. H. SHOMATE,
Recorder

By FRANCES ALMANN,
Deputy Recorder. [82]
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Q. How many head of cattle do you have now,

Mr. Cummings?

A. You know as much about it as I do. There

was a T.B. test there, and he tested 642, I believe,

probably your keeper there turned in some more.

That is every thing that was counted, there was a

discrepancy in the counting of 796, seven hundred

three or four.

Q. The cattle that were brought down from the

mountains, when you gave the T.B. test, you had

about 642? A. Yes.

Q. Had you been able to get any more cattle

down from the mountains besides those ?

A. Yes, we got some more.

Q. Approximately how many more?

A. There is 146 at the ranch now.

Q. That is not what I asked you.

A. Let me tell you something. I brought down
512—some of those went back. The cows got sepa-

rated from the calves, and they broke the fence the

night they were separated from the calves and some

of them got away.

Q. What you have got at the ranch and down
here are the total number you have?

A. That is what we actually counted.

Q. Do you know that about fifteen head of your

cattle are over at the Tejon Ranch?

A. No I didn't know—do you know they are?

Q. I am just telling you somebody told me that
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—they said there was fifteen head over there at the

Tejon Ranch.

A. Have they gathered all the cattle yet 1 [83]

Q. I don't know.

A. We naturally have cattle scattered around

and it takes time to gather all of them up.

Q. What condition are these cattle in?

A. Well about the average condition in the fall.

Q. As a matter of fact are they not in poor con-

dition—that is they are skinny?

A. No, not any more than I would say one year

and another. If they were in poor condition I could

not drive fifty miles in a day and a half which I

did, in less than a day and a half, and if they were

in poor condition, if you understand anything about

mountain cattle they look a lot worse than they are.

They are stronger than they look. These fall cattle

feeding on salt grass, if they were in poor condi-

tion you could not drive them that far in a week.

There are heifers in calving you have trouble with.

The afterbirth spoils in them and they die. The

cows more or less take care of those. The first cow

I lost this year was a cow we put up here in the

Field Ranch, and she stayed there two days and

died. I didn't lose a cow this year from starvation.

Q. What are all of these cattle that you have

approximately worth? A. I don't know.

Q. As an average, are they worth Twenty Five

Dollars a head?

A. I don't know whether they would be or not.
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I can't say. I have not tried to find out, I don't

know.

Q. How many years have you been in the cattle

business? [84]

A. Approximately forty-five years.

Q. And you have seen these cattle—if you were

going to buy these cattle today, would you pay as

high as Twenty Five Dollars a head ?

A. That is a different proposition, the cattle are

worth more to me.

Q. I am asking you about the value %

A. The value might be Twenty or Tw^enty Five

Dollars. Putting them on the market it depends

upon conditions.

Q. Then you would say they were worth between

Twenty and Twenty Five Dollars and that would be

the value of the cattle?

A. I imagine so. There might be some difference

on that.

Q. Now you have listed another claim in here of

Mrs. Charles Asher of Tehachapi of Seven Thou-

sand Dollars?

A. Approximately, I don't know. The original

note was something over Five Thousand Dollars.

Q. And that was for merchandise, and there is a

claim filed here on a promissory note signed by the

Cummings Ranch and the note is for Five Thou-

sand Four Hundred and Fifty Six Dollars and

Seventeen Cents, dated May 16, 1935. Is that the
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same claim that you have listed here for goods,

wares and merchandise from Mrs. Asher?

A. Well, I imagine that is it.

Q. The Cmnmings Ranch don't owe her the

note as well as the account? A. Oh no.

Q. It is just this one claim ?

A. That is the whole claim. The original note

w^as about Thirteen Hundred Dollars. [85]

Q. When did you start this bill for Thirteen

Hundred Dollars!

A. The record could probably tell you more.

Q. About when?

A. Well when was that, 193-5, or 1936, it was five

or six years before that, I guess—more than that.

Q. That started in 1928 about? A. Yes.

Q. For the purpose of the record, Mr. Marks,

will you let the record show this claim filed by Mrs.

Asher is for Six Thousand Nine Hundred and

Eighty Three Dollars and Eighty Nine Cents.

Mr. Marks: Yes, and also that is the only claim

listed in the schedule for about Seven Thousand

Dollars, that amounts to the same claim.

Q. Now this Chattel Mortgage of Mr. Lopez, is

that on the same cattle that the Bank of Tehachapi

has a Chattel Mortgage—he doesn't have any addi-

tional cattle on his mortgage does he ?

A. No.

Q. And his mortgage was given after the Bank

of Tehachapi mortgage? A. Sure.
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Q. Now is there any other indebtedness that the

Cummings Ranch owes besides what you have listed

here in your schedule?

A. There may be some. Just like that Eight

Thousand Dollars, I don't know whether it is an

indebtedness or what you call it. They have a note

—that is like taking candy from a baby, and I had

to do it. There are a few little bills, of course, that

are unpaid. [86]

Q. You have listed in your schedule household

furniture belonging to the corporation, is that

right ? A. Yes.

Q. Owned by this corporation? A. Yes.

Q. Now will the Cummings Ranch need any

money in its operations here to feed the cattle?

A. Well as far as feeding, I have hay there for

the cattle that are weaned, and as soon as they are

weaned I had to bring them down to this winter

ranch.

Q. Have you paid the rent for the winter ranch?

A. I paid the railroad for half the rent.

Q. How much was the rent from the railroad?

A. Half of Three Twenty Eight.

Q. And then do you have a summer ranch be-

sides that? A. Another ranch?

Q. That is from a man named McWilliams?
A. Yes.

Q. And that costs you Five Hundred Dollars ?

A. Yes, probably less.
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Q. And the ranch you spoke of is in Kern

County, at Bakersfield? A. Yes.

Q. About where?

A. Well, it is practically twelve miles south and

three miles east is where it starts, and then it runs

in a southerly direction about ten miles oif and on

that is the division fences.

Q. Now do you have to have any person in

charge out there?

A. Yes, I have a man that takes care of it. [87]

Q. And what does that cost ?

A. Fifty Dollars and month and fare.

Q. Besides the expense you have enumerated

will there be any other additional expense?

A. Not that I know of. If I had the means I

would probably give them some more care on until

spring. If we have a decent spring—I never have

had to feed them anything else for twenty five or

thirty years I have never had to feed them any hay.

Q. Now I would like to know when you can

bring these books down—how often do you come

down here Mr. Cummings?

A. Well whenever I have to is all.

Q. Don't you come down here to inspect your

cattle every day? A. Every other day.

Q. When will be the next time that you have to

look at your cattle? A. Friday I guess.

Q. Can you make it next Tuesday ?

A. Yes, I can if it is necessary.
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Q. I probably won't want to examine him after

I look at the books. What time will be convenient

for you?

A. Ten o'clock or whatever time tlie Court says,

whatever is agreeable to the rest of you.

Q. Is 10 o'clock convenient for you?

A. Yes.

Mr. Johnston: I want you to bring do\\'n your

stock books and stock certificates and all of your

books pertaining to the corporation. [88]

Cross Examination

By Mr. Marks

:

Q. Mr. Cummings, your brother Albert keeps

these books doesn't he? A. Yes.

Q. Wouldn't Albert be able to explain them

better than you?

A. I can bring them dowii and I can tell you

about them.

Q. The cattle on the ranch they scatter pretty

much over the mountains do they not?

A. Yes.

Q. And there may be fifteen or more liead at the

Tejon Ranch?

A. It is possible. They drift down there, and

of course when the snow comes on they naturally

drift home or the other w^ay—they probably will

drift back to the camp.

Q. What would be the estimate of the number

that might turn up other than those you have re-

ported here today ?
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A. There is always less. The trucks kill them on

the road, I imagine they do, because I found about

sixteen of these heifers died from natural causes,

and some I found on the road. One had a broken

leg and another was tangled in the brush there, and

was practically dead when I found him. Offsetting

those, the brand I have had—and I sold about

twelve head because my brother w^as sick in the

hospital, and I sold a few head now and then, to

keep him there, and the last five I sold and turned

the money into the bank, so I imagine between what

I have sold and what I have counted dead, and

maybe there may be a few left that will offset the

amount that are branded, so [89] there should be

the same amount we counted last spring.

Q. How many would you estimate will show up

after this that you have not got at the Tejon Ranch

or some other ranch?

A. There may be another fifteen scattered around

the ranch when we came dowTi with the cattle. I

know the cows broke the fence and went back to

the calves, so there may be a few head.

Q. There always does show up a number of cat-

tle after the snow drives them out of the moun-

tains ?

A. If you are gathering your cattle on the ranch

you can pick them up for three years after. They

are not like cattle in a pasture.

Mr. Marks: That is all.

Mr. Johnston: That is all.



Cummings Ranch, Inc. 65

Mr. Johnston: Will you swear Mr. Ancker.

ALBERT ANCKER
called as a witness, being first duly sworn, testified

on direct examination as follows

:

Mr. Jolmston : Q. Your name is Albert Ancker ?

A. Yes sir.

Mr. Marks: I want to ask Mr. Cummings

another question.

Q. (To Mr. Cummings) I understand there is

a school teacher the Bank has been collecting money

from, where you claim there was no liability on

your part? A. Yes.

Q. About how much money has been collected

on that?

A. Well [90] they had me charged with Sixty

Five Dollars not three years ago, and I have been

paying comj^ound interest on it. I don't know how

many notes I paid for somebody else.

Mr. Marks: That is all.

Mr. Johnston: Q. (To Mr. Ancker) You are

the president of the Bank of Tehachapi ?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And 3^ou are familiar with the loan records

of the Bank of Tehachajji on loans made to the

Cummings Ranch? A. Yes.

Q. Have you a list of the loans there ?

A. Yes.

Q. All right now, I will ask you if your Bank
Record shows that the Cummings Ranch is indebted
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to you in the sum of Twenty Seven Thousand Seven

Hundred and Thirty Five Dollars principal?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And then the interest up to approximately

last October amounts to about Twenty One Hun-

dred and Ninety Three Dollars?

A. Some of it in November, October and No-

vember, yes.

Q. You don't claim any additional amount from

the Cummings Ranch at all, except this above men-

tioned? A. That is all.

Mr. Johnston: That is all.

Mr. Johnston: For the purpose of the record it

is stipulated that the Cummings Ranch, Inc., pro-

posal, may be read into the record.

Mr. Marks: Yes. [91]

^' [Title of District Court and Cause.]

PROPOSAL FOR COMPOSITION
OR EXTENSION

To The Honorable Samuel Taylor, Conciliation

Commissioner

:

The following proposal for composition or exten-

sion is hereby submitted and offered by the peti-

tioning debtor herein:

First: That debtor will continue to operate its

farm and stock ranch, described as follows, to-wit:

5009 Acre farm and stock ranch situate in Sec-
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tion 31, T. 32., R. 32 E, M.D.B.&M. ; and in Sections

3, 4, ,5, 8, 9, 10, 14, and 16 in T. 11 N., R. 16W.,

S.B.B.&.M., for a period of ten years from date of

confirmation by the Court of agreement for com-

position or extension based upon this proposal.

Second: That from the gross income received

therefrom there shall be first j)aid all necessary

operating expenses in connection with the operation

of said farm and stock ranch, and such sums as may

be allowed by the Court and/or Conciliation Com-

missioner to debtor's attorney for [92] attorneys

fees and Court expenses and current taxes and

payments of delinquent taxes under the following

plan.

Third: That debtor will pay to the County of

Kern, State of California all delinquent taxes be-

fore Oct. 1st, 1939, and will pay any other taxes

that may be assessed before same become delinquent,

or before said date.

Fourth: That debtor will pay to the Federal

Land Bank of Berkeley, Berkeley, California, the

indebtedness due it of approximately $20,000. at the

rate and at the time payments may become due with

the rate of interest prescribed in said mortgage on

real estate which payments with interest annually

is approximately $1000.

Fifth : That debtor will pay to the Federal Land

Bank of Berkeley, Berkeley, California, on the

Commissioner's Loan in the sum of $5000.00, the

sum of $1000. amnially together with interest

thereon as provided in said loan, payments to begin

on or before Oct. 1, 1939.
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Sixth: That debtor will pay to the Bank of

Tehachapi of Tehachapi, California, the sum of

$18,000. with interest thereon at the rate of 5%
per annum wdthin a period of 10 years, payments to

be made in the sum of $1800. amiually with interest

at 5% on deferred payments during said 10 year

period. Payments to begin on or before Oct. 1, 1939.

Seventh: That debtor will pay to J. J. Lopez

the sum of $3000. within 10 years, same to be paid

at the rate of [93] $300. per year with 5% interest

on deferred payments, first payment to be made on

or before Oct. 1, 1939.

Eighth: That debtor will pay to Mrs. Charles

Asher the sum of $2000. within 10 years, said

amount to be paid at the rate of $200. per year with

interest at 5% on deferred payments, the first pay-

ment to be made on or before Oct. 1, 1939.

Ninth: That any other payments for any other

indebtedness that may be due will be paid, after

a 50% reduction in amount, at the rate of one-

tenth each 3^ear, with interest thereon at the rate

of 5%, payments to begin on or before Oct. 1, 1939.

Tenth: That the Conciliation Commissioner

shall retain jurisdiction of this matter and all

claims herein set out during said ten year period or

until such time as such respective claims shall be

fully paid.

Dated: November 19, 1938.

CUMMINGS RANCH
EDW. G. CUMMINGS, Pres

Petitioner
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State of California,

County of Kern—ss.

Edward G. Cummings, President of Cummings

Ranch, Inc., a corporation being first duly sworn,

deposes and says: That he has read the foregoing

proposal for composition and Extension and knows

the contents thereof, and that all of the [94] mat-

ters and allegations therein contained are true of

his own knowledge, and that he verifies this pro-

posal for and in behalf of the Cummings Ranch,

Inc., a corporation.

EDW. G. CUMMINGS
Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19 day

of November, 1938.

[Seal] WM. S. MARKS.
Notary Public in and for the County of Kern,

State of California,"

Mr. Johnston: I represent the Bank of Tehach-

api, and the claim on file from Mrs. Asher desig-

nates Mr. Albert Ancker as attorney in fact in

connection with this hearing, and other hearings,

and as far as the Bank of Tehachapi is concerned

they will not accept this offer or proposal for ex-

tension, and as far as Mrs. Asher is concerned, Mr.

Ancker states she will not accept it.

The Court: The indebtedness to the Bank is ap-

proximately Thirty Thousand Dollars or there-

abouts, and Mrs. Asher Seven Thousand Dollars or
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thereabouts. That makes Thirty Seven Thousand

Dollars. That is in excess of Thirty Seven Thousand

Four Hundred and Fourteen Dollars and Six

Cents, against Twenty Nine Thousand Nine Hun-

dred and Twenty Eight Dollars and Forty Two
Cents, and Mrs. Ashers is Sixty Nine Hundred

Eighty Three Dollars and Eighty Nine Cents. If

the Federal Land Banks accepts the proposal.

Mr. Greenleaf: The attorney for the Bank of

[95] Tehachapi has requested a continuance until

Tuesday to bring these books down, and I am going

to ask for a continuance until Wednesday for a

reply from my Bank at Berkeley.

Mr. Johnston: At this time I move the Court

to dismiss the proceedings and the petition filed by

Cummings Ranch, Inc., for the following reasons,

to-wit.

First: That there is no emergency existing as

far as Cummings Ranch, Inc., is concerned.

Second: That the Cummings Ranch from the

testimony in the record, shows that it will be im-

possible for it to refinance itself within three years.

Third: That the plan or the proposal for com-

position or extension submitted by Cummings

Ranch is not feasible.

Fourth: That the proposal for composition and

extension made is not made in good faith, but is a

mere gesture, and that there is no reasonable prob-
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ability of ultiniate debt satisfaction within the

moratorium period allowed by law.

Fifth: That the proposal for composition and

extension does not give to the Bank of Tehaehapi

a right to retain its lien unencumbered.

Sixth: That the proposal for composition or ex-

tension so submitted by Cummings Ranch, Inc., is

unconstitutional, in that it permits the alleged

farmer, to-wit, the [96] Cummings Ranch, Inc., to

remain in possession of the cattle which are under

Chattel Mortgage given as security to pay the debt

to the Bank of Tehaehapi, where it is shown by the

record that the Cummings Ranch, Inc. ; is in such

a hopeless financial condition that any extension of

time would be to allow the debtor to appropriate

the Mortgagee's property for the debtors benefit.

Mr. Johnston: I would like to ask a few more

questions when the books are presented.

ThQ, Court: There is a motion now for a dis-

missal of the proceedings.

Mr. Marks: I want to ask him two or three

questions.

Q. How do you estimate you can probably take

care of this in three years or refinance yourself?

Mr. Johnston: Objected to as leading and sug-

gestive. Let him ask what he can do in the next

three years regarding financing, and let him explain.

Mr. Marks: You ask him the question yourself.

Mr. Marks: Q. I will ask you first how do you

figure that within three years you can refinance it

and then also within ten years, how do you think

you can take care of it imder this proposal ?
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The Court: I don't see where this three year

proposition comes in?

Mr. Marks: There is no such proposition that

he has [97] to refinance or do anything within three

years.

The Court: I know, but he is using some ver-

bas^e there that apprehends that the man must pay

out in three years—in this proposal—he makes his

proposal in good faith, and it is for the creditors

to object or accept.

Mr. Marks : I will withdraw the question.

Mr. Marks: We propose that the Cummings

Ranch has a saw mill on his place, which can be

adjusted and operated in a way that in three years

he can pay most of any indebtedness or all of the in-

debtedness against him.

Mr. Johnston: What are you doing, Mr. Marks,

testifying ?

Mr. Marks: Mr. Taylor won't let me show it.

The Court: I am not telling you you can't put

it in.

Mr. Marks : I will withdraw^ it.

The Court: I want to rule on this motion. The

first one was on the ground that the proposal does

not

Mr. Johnston: If you will continue this until

Tuesday I will have the reporter write that up and

give you a copy, and you can make your ruling at

that time.

The Court: All right, we will continue this mat-

ter until Tuesday at 10 A. M. [98]
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Bakersfield, California, November 22, 1938.

This case coming on regularly at this time, after

a continuance from November 19, 1938, and all

parties being present in Court, the following pro-

ceedings were had to-wit:

The Court: In the matter of Cummings Ranch,

Inc., let the record show Mr. C. W. Johnston is

appearing for the Bank of Tehachapi, William S.

Marks, Esq., for the Cummings Ranch, Inc., and

EDWARD G. CUMMINGS

is present in Court.

Mr. Johnston: I had the Chattel Mortgage in-

troduced for identification. I want it introduced

into the record at this time.

Mr. Johnston: Q. Mr. Cummings, you have

listed certain property in the Bankruptcy Petition,

have you not? A. Yes.

Q. And you have set forth after each particular

piece of property, the approximate value have you

not? A. More or less, yes.

Q. When I say approximate, I mean it is ap-

proximately what the value is, is that correct?

A. More or less.

Q. What do you mean by more or less ?

A. I can't say exactly—the prices change—there

are variations.

Q. For instance, you mention in here one model

T Ford, Fifty Dollars, that is the approximate

value ? A. Yes.
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Q. All the property that you have listed in here

you put the approximate value after that?

A. Yes. [99]

Q. And the debts that you have listed in the

schedule you put the approximate value of those?

A. Just as near as I could do it—I didn't know

the actual amount of each debt.

Q. Now has the corporation receieved any in-

come in the last year at all except from sale of

cattle ?

A. Last year we didn't sell—we sold a few

cattle.

Q. But outside of that you have not received

any income?

A. Nothing more than the living expenses from

the chickens is about all.

Q. Have you received in the last five years any

income, that is the corporation, except from the sale

of cattle?

A. Yes, off and on we have a little revenue from

the lumber business, and small affairs, people come

and buy a little dry wood, a Dollar or Two a cord.

Q. That would not amount to over a Hundred

Dollars a year would it?

A. The lumber would, but the revenue I tui'ned

in to the corporation.

Mr. Johnston: That is all

Mr. Johnston : I had a motion here.

The Court : I want to study it.
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Mr. Johnston: In addition to that motion I

want to inchide another paragraph, number seven:

There is no emergency existing in this locality or in

the locality where the debtor's ranch property is

located.

Mr. Johnston : That is all. [100]

Cross Examination

By Mr. Marks

Q. Now Mr. Cummings, what means have you

upon which you have based your calculations in

paying this indebtedness off in three years or in ten

years for that matter?

A. Well up to now of course w^e all know that

three or four years ago the cattle business was in

very bad shape. The government killed a lot of

cattle.

Mr. Johnston: Objected to as not responsive to

the question.

The Court : Let him continue.

A. I have got them back now to where I should

brand a hundred and seventy five or two hundred

liead of cattle, and that would justify me in selling

at least one hundred and fifty head for beef, and not

selling any cattle this year I have them up to three

years old, where they are easily fed, they may be

fattened and I could put them on the market and

thev would bring more monev.
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Q. What can you get for what you expect to sell

next year?

A. I think Eighty Dollars would be a fair esti-

mate.

Q. And how many head?

A. One hundred head, or four carloads, about

one hundred and eight heads. I imagine eight to ten

thousand dollars the coming year would be a fair

estimate of what I can get.

Q. And the lumber business have you any pros-

pective money that may be obtained from the sale

of lumber?

A. Well, we [101] have forced the contract—Mr.

Greenleaf has the contract that calls for Eight

Thousand Dollars a year for the first two years. Of

course this year I know we can't get that, and they

are asking me to give them more time with the

understanding that they may be able to get some-

body capable of running the mill for the next year.

Q. Is there a reasonable chance of securing- Six

or Eight or Ten Thousand Dollars ?

A. We have the equipment in the mill that

would justify that. We are going on the contract

of Four Dollars a thousand for the standing ]iine.

Mr. Johnston : How many people in the last two

years have tried to operate this so called lumber

mill that you've got up there—there have been three

people up there haven't there trying to operate this

lumber mill? A. Yes.
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Q. And you and your bi'others and sisters and

some other people used to be interested in a cor-

poration that you formed to cut lumber up there

and sell it ? A. No.

Q. Wasn't Mr. Lopez interested?

A. Yes, that Lopez is another Mr. Lopez, He is

a cousin. He is the one that originated the first mill

that broke down.

Q. They went broke operating the mill didn't

they ?

A. I guess so. They never had any experience.

There has not been one man that has gone up there

with sufficient money to operate the saw mill. You

have to have time to dry the lumber, and to carry

a big ])ayroll, Lopez had never seen a sawmill, [102]

and it was turned back to the ranch, and these

people put their own sawmill on there, Mr. Hazel-

ton and another man. Of course the market went

against them, and they closed down. They didn't go

broke, and then they sold out to Styler, who didn't

know anything about the mill, but he had confidence

in this man Smith, and Smith threw him down and

started operating in the middle of the mountain,

and when he spent too much money he just closed

down. He didn't go broke. The mill is there and the

timber is there and in good shape to start in again.

It is just a question of getting someone who can

run it. With the price of lumber and the amount

of lumber that is required there is no reason why
we cannot make some money.
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Mr. Marks: You say considerable of that in-

debtedness was incurred to purchase certain Los

Angeles property that was not profitable ?

Mr. Johnston: He said paying off loans.

Mr. Marks: Did you spend any sums in paying

out or acquiring interest of an}^ parties in the

property ?

A. I did. After my father died my mother had

her interest there, and it cost we estimate about

Twelve Thousand Dollars to buy her out, and that

was added to what we already owed.

Mr. Johnston: When was this that you did all

this?

A. Well my father died about thirty three years

ago.

Q. That was before you formed this corporation

wasn't it? [103] A. Yes.

Q. And all of that money was expended a long

time before you started in on this corporation?

A. I understood the other day you asked me the

question how did we get in debt ?

Q. I asked you about 1922?

A. That started the whole thing, of course.

Mr. Marks: Was that Twelve Thousand Dollars

before 1922?

A. Well I wouldn't say off hand. It was around

there sometime.

The Court : That is all too remote.

Mr. Johnston: That is all.
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The Court: The motion for dismissal stands

submitted.

Mr. Johnston : How about tlie proposal for com-

position and extension—the Bank of Tehachapi and

Mrs. Asher refuse to accept the proposal—that is

more than fifty one percent.

The Court: The Bank of Tehachapi and Mrs.

Asher ?

Mr. Johnston: Yes.

The Court: No.

Mr. Johnston: The Bank of Tehachapi has

estended

The Court: (Interruptins:) Any claim will

have to be allowed before it becomes a claim. It has

to be proven first.

A. How about these cattle they lost, after they

had them in their possession. They lost four cows

and a calf.

The Court: We will wait imtil the proposition

has been submitted to Mr. Greenleaf 's clients. That

is all. [104]

State of California

County of Kern—ss.

I, Nellie G. Denslow, Do Hereby Certify, that I

am the Official Phonographic Reporter of the Su-

perior Court of the State of California, in and for

the County of Kern, Department 2 thereof; that

before the commencement of the within proceedings,

I was duly sworn to act as Official Reporter for the
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within-named Court, by Samuel Taylor, Concilia-

tor; that I reported in shorthand writing the pro-

ceedings had and testimony given at the hearing

of the Matter entitled as upon the first page hereof,

and thereafter transcribed the same into type-

writing; that the foregoing and annexed pages con-

tain a full, true and correct statement of the pro-

ceedings had and testimony taken at the hearing

of said Matter, and a full, true and correct tran-

script of my shorthand notes taken of the proceed-

ings had and testimony given thereat.

Dated : December 7, 1938.

NELLIE a. DENSLOW
Official Reporter

[Endorsed] : Filed Dec. 30, 1938. [105]

[Title of District Court and Cause.]

Bakersfield, California, January 20, 1939

HEARING ON PETITION FOR APPOINT-
MENT OF SUPERVISOR AND TO PLACE
PROPERTY UNDER CONTROL OF
COURT.

TESTIMONY

EDWARD G. CUMMINGS

Direct Examination

Q. How many more cattle have you then, do you

know ?

A. Well I can't tell any more, I know I got 705

branded and I counted 70 that were not branded.
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RUSSELL HILL,

called as a witness on behalf of the petitioner and

having been duly sworn testified as follows

:

Direct Examination

By Mr. Johnston

Q. What is your name ? A. Russell Hill.

Q. Where do you live? A. Keene.

Q. What is your business or occupation %

A. Ranching.

Q. How long have you been in the ranching

business? A. Oh, thirty years.

Q. Do you operate a ranch of your own now?

A. A farm.

Q. You handle a ranch for someone else ?

A. Yes.

Q. Who is that? A. Mr. Crofton.

Q. What is the size of that ranch, about?

A. 96,000 acres.

Mr. Marks: How many acres? A. 96,000.

Mr. Johnston: Q. And it has cattle on it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you know Mr. Cummings here, don't

you? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you know the ranch that is called the

Cummings Ranch up there, don't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And are you familiar with the property that

he leases out here near Bakersfield, that he puts his

cattle on in the winter time? A. Yes, sir.
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Q. How long have you known the Curaminq^s

Ranch property? A. Oh, thirty-five years.

Q. Do you recall along this fall when Mr. Greg-

ory or Dr. Gregory was testing the cattle for tuber-

culosis? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And they were being brought down from the

mountains? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you saw his cattle at that time ?

A. I did, yes.

Q. Or the cattle owned by Cummings Ranch?

A. Yes.

Q. What condition were the cattle in ot that

time ?

A. Part of them were fairly good shape and

there were some thin ones.

Q. Were there any in bad condition ?

A. There were some in bad condition, yes sir.

Q. And what would you say was the cause of

those cattle being in bad condition?

A. Well, they had calves, they had calves suck-

ing them and they should have been moved a little

earlier.

Q. The Cummings Ranch property is mostly

hilly property, isn't it? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And is there sufficient grass on there to graze

cattle the year round?

A. Not the year round, no.

Q. About how long can you graze them there in

the summer assuming you had about 700 head?
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A. About five months, four and a half to five

months.

Q. And when should they bring them off the

range up there in the fall?

A. Ordinarily about from the 1st to the 15th

of September.

Q. On an average with the 700 head of cattle

that Mr. Cummings has, or rather the Cummings

Ranch has, with the present set-up of the property

up in the mountains and this he leases down here,

what, on an average, would be the approximate

gross income that could be made by the Cummings

Ranch per year?

A. You mean if you run the 700 head?

Q. Yes, if you run the 700 head up on the range

there in the simimer and brought them down liere

in the winter, figuring the increases, what would be

each year the approximate gross income ?

Mr. Marks: I think he ought to show first he

knows about the kind of range there is here and on

the Cummings Ranch.

Mr. Johnston: He says he has been familiar

with it for thirty years.

Mr. Marks: This down here the same, where

they are raised down here the same ?

The Court: No controversy over the feed, he is

asking him if he knows how much money the Cum-
mings ranch people can make off of their cattle

each year. You think you are qualified to answer

that, Mr. Hill, that question? You don't keep in
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close touch Avith the Cummings Ranch cattle, do

you?

A. Well, I have seen them go back and forth.

Q. You have made no survey of them, did you?

A. Back and forth, being neighbors.

Q. You haven't counted them?

A. No, I didn't count them.

Q. Then you don't know how much increase they

have unless you knew the amount of cows he had.

Mr. Johnston: Well, in my question T said ap-

proximately 700 head.

The Court: Seven hundred head, there wouldn't

be 700 cows would there ?

A. Well, 700 head of stock cattle.

Mr. Cummings: That isn't a fair question to

ask.

The Court: You testify, Mr. Hill, if you know.

Mr. Johnston: Q. You know these cattle he

had, you have seen them, have you, ax)proximately

all of them ? A. Yes, sir.

Q. That day you were up there, there were 600

some head counted in, weren't there?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And with this set-u]) that Cummings Ranch

has, the amount in property up here and this down

here with the cattle they have that you have seen,

what could be the approximate gross income that

the Cummings Ranch could make off of those cattle

per year?

A. Well, I would think $6000 or $7000.
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Q. Would be the most 1

A. That are sold out of them each year.

Mr. Johnston: You may cross examine.

Cross Examination

By Mr. Marks

Q. Where is this ranch you are in charge of?

A. Kern County, up on the Tehachapis, joining-

on Mr. Cummings.

Q. Adjoins his ranch? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How many cattle do you graze on it ?

A. Right now we have close to 6,000.

Q. And when do you take them off pasture there

in the fall?

A. The ones that we sold and the ones that we

get rid of, we take off in July and August.

Q. And the ones that you don't sell that you

leave on the ranch, w^hen do yoti move them to your

winter range?

A. Well, they drift naturally by themselves onto

the winter range along in September.

Q. Where is your winter range ?

A. Just all in one, comes to the San Joaquin

Valley, clear down on the foot of the hill; on jlie

hills, we don't come down to the foot.

Q. Yoti don't come to the foot at all?

A. No, just on the hill.

Q. You don't know much about the value nf the

grazing then or the grass in the flat, do you ?

A. Well, only from what I have seen of it, I
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have never run cattle on the flat outside of Green-

field and Bloomfield and that was fields, some salt

grass and some bermuda.

Q. Isn't that true where the pasture he has now,

isn't that salt grass and different kinds of grass?

A. Yes sir, filaree.

Q. And filaree is good feed, isn't it?

A. Very good.

Q. In fact, salt grass is all right for a time?

A. Before the storms in the fall it is all right.

Q. And after the storms it isn't so good?

A. It isn't so good.

Q. But miless there are serious storms to dry it

out or affect it, it will continue for some time?

A. Yes, they won't gain on it much I don't

think, they will go ahead and get along, they will

live on it, yes sir.

Q. Now, on what do you base your judgment

that $6,000 or $7,000 would be what 700 head of

cattle should bring, do you mean profit or gross

sale ?

A. Well ordinarily a person should make a profit

of $10 a head in growth and that is what they

should make, I would think.

Q. That is annually? A. Yes sir.

Mr. Marks : I believe that is all.

Redirect Examination

By Mr. Johnston

Q. That is $10 a head gross ?
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A. Well, that is what you ought to make out of

them after you pay expenses and all, you should

have $10 a head clear, they ought to grow that

much.

Q. You mean net?

A. Yes, besides taking care of them.

Q. Is that based on this Cummings Ranch set-

up ? A. Well, I think it would be.

Mr. Johnston: That is all.

The Court: That is all.

Mr. Johnston: You haven't taken into consider-

ation borrowed money, payment of interest on bor-

rowed money, or anything like that? What you

mean is if those cattle are turned loose and allowed

to run without anyone watching them or any help?

A. Well no, I would say they ordinarily should

after his running expenses would be taken out, they

ought to clear him $10 a head for the year.

Q. That includes the expense he had to take in

shipping them, back and forth ?

A. Yes, his running expense.

(Questions propounded by the Court, and an-

swers given by

ALBERT ANCKER,

President of Bank of Tehachapi, Appellant.)

Q. By The Court : That is true, but renewed in

'34 but since then you have loaned several thousand

dollars ? A. Yes.
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Q. And you knew what kind of business Mr.

Cumming^s was doing, didn't you?

A. Certainly.

Q. He has reported to you how many head of

cattle he had all the time hasn't he?

A. I took his word for it, certainly.

Q. Took his word for it? A. Certainly.

Q. And you were satisfied the way he was run-

ning his business?

A. I had to be satisfied because I didn't want to

cripple him.

Q. And you were continually loaning money and

now Mr. Johnston is trying to show that Mr. Cum-

mings can't possibly make it?

A. He can't because he hasn't done it.

Q. For a number of years he hasn't been able

to make a go of it, yet you, with your eyes open,

have loaned this man several thousand dollars and

you knew his business, you knew what he could

make and couldn't make. He kept you informed

and you had every chance to find out whether his

business was paying or not, yet you were willing to

loan him the money. I want the record to show that.

A. Can I answer you?

Q. Yes.

A. It is because I have been 46 years in the

bank and this is the second time I have only fore-

closed. I have been easy with them; that is what is

the matter.
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Q. I am not criticizing you for foreclosing, but

why did you loan him this money all along for

several years?

A. Because I thought lie was honest and straight

;

that is the reason.

Q. Did you know he was going behind!

A. No sir.

Q. Did you try to find out if he was going be-

hind?

A. I loaned him as thousands of others I have

loaned in there.

The Court: It seems to me it comes rather late

to complain about the way he is running his business

now when you had all these years in the past to

cut him off and say, '^you are not going to get anv

money to run the ranch, you can't possibly make

it." But you went ahead and loaned thousands of

dollars.

(Reporter's Transcri])t of evidence taken Janu-

ary 20, 1939, commencing at page 56, line 5, to the

end of line 13, on page 57)

The Court: Yes, but a review of this loan

would shoAv it is increasing all the time.

Mr. Ancker: Yes, increasing, the loan, cer-

tainly.

The Court: And still you keep on. If you wimt

to throw your money away, wliose fault is it but

your own?

Mr. Ancker: Is that the case because I should

lose it now?
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The Court: No, this man is asking the Court

to give him three years time and a chance to re-

habilitate himself and the law has every intention

of giving it to him.

Mr. Ancker: Yes, sir.

The Court : Unless you can show it is absolutely

impossible for him ever to come out.

(Reporter's Transcript of evidence taken Janu-

ary 20, 1939, commencing at page 58, line 3, to the

end of line 15, page 58).

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb. 7, 1939.

[Endorsed]: No. 9409. United States Circuit

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Bank of

Tehachapi, a corporation. Appellant, vs. Cummings

Ranch, Inc., a corporation, Appellee. Transcript

of Record. Upon Appeal from the District Court

of the United States for the Southern District of

California, Northern Division.

Filed December 28, 1939.

PAUL P. O'BRIEN,

Clerk of the United States Circuit Court of Ai)i)eals

for the Ninth Circuit.
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United States Circuit Court of Appeals

For The Ninth Circuit

No. 9409

In the Matter of

CUMMINGS RANCH, INC., a corporation.

Bankrupt.

APPELLANT'S DESIGNATION OF THE
PART OF THE RECORD DEEMED
NECESSARY AND STATEMENT OF
POINTS.

Comes now Appellant, Bank of Tehachapi, and

hereby designates part of the record which it thinks

necessary for the consideration thereof, together

with a concise statement of the points on which

appellant intends to rely on the appeal. Said desig-

nation is as follows, to-wit

:

1. Reporter's Transcript of testimony and pro-

ceedings of November 19, 1938 before Conciliation

Commissioner Samuel Taylor, including Exhibits

attached to said transcript.

2. Conciliation Commissioner's Order Fixing

Rentals, etc., as attached to petition for writ of re-

view of appellant, which petition w^as filed with the

Clerk of the District Court on February 15, 1939.

3. Judgment of Judge Leon R. Yankwich, dated

March 2, 1939, reversing Conciliation Commission-

er's Orders of January 20, 1939, and February 2,

1939.
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4. Petitions for Writ of Review of Bank of

Tehachapi upon Conciliation Commissioner's Or-

ders of March 25, 1939 and April 5, 1939, together

with the Certificate of Conciliation Cormnissioner,

all filed with Clerk on May 9, 1939.

5. The judgment of Judge Leon R. Yankwich

appealed from, dated October 23, 1939.

6. The Notice of Appeal, with date of filing.

7. Testimony in transcript of evidence taken be-

fore Conciliation Commissioner on January 20,

1939, commencing at page 56, line 5, with the words

"by the Court" to the end of line 13, on page 57,

and commencing on page 58, at line 3, to the end

of line 15 on page 58. Said testimony referred to

herein being attached hereto, marked Exhibit "A".

STATEMENT OF POINTS ON WHICH
APPELLANT INTENDS TO RELY:

I.

That the Bankrupt's petition should be dismissed

because

:

(1) There is no reasonable probability of ulti-

mate debt satisfaction within the three years'

period.

(2) There is no emergency existing so far as

the debtor is concerned nor is there any emergency

existing in the locality where the debtor's ranch

is located.

(3) That the debtor cannot refinance itself within

a three year period, nor is there any way by which

there can be financial rehabilitation of the debtor.



Cummings Ranch, Inc. 93

(4) The Bankrupt has not offered any equitable

or feasible plan for the liquidation of the secured

debts of this petitioner, or debts of any other credit-

ors within three years or au}^ other time.

II.

That the Bank of Tehachapi should be given

authority to foreclose its chattel mortgage and take

any other legal steps provided in said chattel mort-

gage and by law to enforce payment of its indebt-

edness secured by said chattel mortgage because

(1) of the reasons mentioned in 1, 2, and 3

under paragraph I hereof

:

(2) That to allow Cummings Ranch, Inc. to re-

tain possession of the cattle for any time when it

is shown by the testimony of Cunnnings Ranch, Inc.

that its financial condition is such that it is hope-

less for the debtor to ever settle its debts by any

extension, is to allow the debtor to appropriate the

mortgagee's property for debtor's benefit;

(3) It does not give the mortgagee its lien pur-

suant to the terms of said chattel mortgage U])on

the cattle.

III.

That the order of the Conciliation Commissioner

fixing rental etc. dated April 5, 1939 and order of

Judge Leon R. Yankwich, dated October 23, 1939

are in error because

:

(1) For the reasons set forth in 1 to 3 inclusive

under paragraph I and in 1 to 3 inclusive under

paragraph II.
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(2) The rental value was fixed upon property

not o's^Tied by debtor.

(3) No evidence is before the Court to make a

findins: that the Conciliation Commissioner had

fully complied with the order of March 2, 1939, re-

gardins: appointment of supervisor and sale of

cattle to bring at least $10,000.00, or that any sum

had been obtained for the sale of cattle.

(4) No evidence is before the court to make a

finding that $6000.00 is reasonable rental as it

existed prior to sale of cattle.

(5) No evidence is before the court to make an

order that $10,404.00 or any other sum had been

paid by Bankrupt to Bank of Tehachapi.

Dated : January 6, 1940.

T. N. HARVEY
C. W. JOHNSTON
CLAUDE F. BAKER

Attorneys for Appellant,

Bank of Tehachapi

[Note: Exhibit A attached hereto is omitted as

same is already set forth at page 80 of this printed

record as "Testimony taken before Conciliation

Commissioner on January 20, 1939".]

State of California,

County of Kern—ss.

Katherine Stauss, being first duly sworn, deposes

and says:

That she is a citizen of the United States, and a

resident of the County of Kern, State of California;
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that she is over the age of eighteen years, and not

a party to the above-entitled cause; that she is a

clerk in the office of Harvey, Johnston & Baker,

who are attorneys for Bank of Tehachapi, Ajjpel-

lant herein; that on the 6th day of January, 1940,

she placed a coj^y of the foregoing "Appellant's

Designation of the Part of the Record Deemed

Necessary And Statement of Points" in an en-

velope addressed to Samuel L. Kurland, Attorney

at Law, 712 Chester Williams Building, Los An-

geles, California, the attorney for the bankrupt and

Appellee in said matter, sealed said envelope and

deposited it in the United States Mail at Bakers-

field, California, with the postage thereon fully pre-

paid; and that there is a regular communication by

mail between the City of Bakersfield and the City

of Los Angeles.

KATHERINE STAUSS

Subscribed and sworn to befoi'e me this 6th day

of January, 1940.

[Seal] C. W. JOHNSTON
Notary Public in and for the County of Kern,

State of California.

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 8, 1940. Paul P. O'Brien,

Clerk.
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APPELLEE'S DESIGNATION OF
CONTENTS OF RECORD ON APPEAL.

Cummings Ranch, Inc., the appellee in the above

entitled cause, does hereby designate the following

record, proceedings and evidence to be contained in

the record on appeal, in addition to such matter

designated by the appellant:

1. That portion of the testimony taken before

the Conciliation Commissioner on the 20th day of

January, 1939, in the above entitled cause, and ap-

pearing in the transcript of the testimony of Ed-

ward Gr. Cummings, the President of the defendant

corporation, on page 10 from line 16 to line 18, in-

clusive, and reading as follows:

''Q. How many more cattle have you then,

do you know?

A. Well I can't tell any more, I know I got

705 branded and I counted 70 that were not

branded. '

'

2. That portion of the proceeding's referred to in

No. 1 hereof, consisting of all of the testimony of

the witness Russell Hill, a witness called by the

appellant, which said testimony begins on page 35

of the transcript of the hearing of January 20,

1939, and ends on page 41 thereof, at line 10.
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Bated: January 20, 1940.

WILLIAM S. MARKS and

S. L. KURLAND
By S. L. KURLAND

Attorneys for Appellee.

[Affidavit of Service]

[Endorsed]: Filed Jan. 22, 1940. Paul P.

O'Brien, Clerk.
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No. 9409

IN THE

United States Circuit Court of Appeals

For the Ninth Circuit

Bank of Tehachapi (a corporation),

Appellant,

vs.

CuMMiNGS Ranch, Inc. (a corpora-

tion), a Bankrupt,

Appellee.

Upon Appeal from the District Court of the United States for the

Southern District of CaJifornia, Northern Division.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTIONAL PLEADINGS
AND FACTS.

The pleadings and facts which disclose the basis

upon which it is contended that the District Court

had jurisdiction and that this Court has jurisdiction

upon appeal to review the order and decree are as

follows, to-wit:

1. The statutory provision to sustain the juris-

diction of this Court is sub-section a of Section 47 of

Title 11 of U. S. C. A. (Section 24, Bankruptcy Act),

which reads as follow^s, to-wit:



''The Circuit Courts of Appeals of the United

States and the United States Court of Appeals

for the District of Columbia, in vacation, in

chambers, and during their respective terms, as

now or as they may be hereafter held, are hereby

invested with appellate jurisdiction from the sev-

eral courts of bankruptcy in their respective juris-

dictions in proceedings in bankiTiptcy, either in-

terlocutory or final, and in controversies arising

in proceedings in bankruptcy, to review, affirm,

revise, or reverse, both in matters of law and in

matters of fact: Provided, however, That the

jurisdiction upon appeal from a judgment on a

verdict rendered by a jury, shall extend to matters

of law only: Provided further. That when any

order, decree, or judgment involves less than

$500.00, an appeal therefrom may be taken only

upon allowance of the appellate court."

2. General Orders in Bamkruptcy, XXVII, shows

that the District Court had jurisdiction. The order

reads as follows, to-wit:

"When a bankrupt, creditor, trustee, or other

person shall desire a review by the judge of any

order made by the referee, he shall file with the

referee his petition therefor, setting out the error

complained of; and the referee shall forthwith

certify to the judge the question pres.ented, a sum-

mary of the evidence relating thereto, and the

finding and order of the referee thereon."

3. The pleadings necessary to show the existence

of jurisdiction are the Order Reversing Conciliation

Commissioner's Order (Tr. 22-26). The Court found

that there was due to the Bank of Tehachapi over



$30,000.00 upon certain notes secured by a chattel

mortgage covering all the Bankrupt's cattle, consist-

ing of eight hundred head or more. The order of

the Conciliation Commissioner approving appraise-

ment and fixing rental (Tr. 38-42) shows that the

appraised value of the cattle is $29,848.50.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Cummings Ranch, Inc., a corporation, filed a

debtor's petition, and failing to obtain a composition

amended its petition and was adjudicated a bankrupt

under Section S of Section 75 of the Bankiniptcy Act.

The Conciliation Commissioner fixed the rental value

of all the property of the debtor at $750.00 per year

(Tr. 21-22). Review was taken by Bank of Te-

hachapi and all of the orders of the Conciliation Com-

missioner were set aside and vacated, the Court hav-

ing found that $750.00 per year was. not a fair and

reasonable rental. The Court further directed the

Conciliation Commissioner to do certain things (Tr.

22-26). Thereafter the Conciliation Commissioner

made an order approving appraisal and fixing rental

(Tr. 38-42), the cattle being appraised at $29,848.50,

and the rental value being placed on the cattle of

$2203.50. The order further included $1184.00 for

rental on land not owned by the Bankrupt, but as

stated in the order ''as now being used by debtor".

Prior to the order and on or about March 24th, a

hearing was had in which the Appraiser appointed

by the Court testified as to the value of the property



and the rental value being the same in substance as

found by the Conciliation Commissioner, and at that

time the Bank of Tehachapi, and after Cummings

Ranch had introduced all its testimony, made a motion

that the Conciliation Commissioner recommend to the

Judge of the above entitled Court to dismiss the

petition (Tr. 30-32), and made a motion for order

authorizing the Bank to foreclose upon its mortgage,

both of which were denied, and writ of review was

then taken (Tr. 26-32) and after the Court had made

its order fixing the rental, dated April 5, 1939, the

Bank of Tehachapi filed its petition for writ of

review from said order (Tr. 34-45). The main ques-

tions raised by the motions w^ere: first, that there

is no emergency existing; second, that there is no

chance for the debtor to rehabilitate itself within the

three-year period; third, that said order is contrary

to the provisions of sub-section 2 of Section S of the

Frazier-Lemke Act, which includes property not

owned by debtor ; and fourth, that the order providing

that the rental may be paid for State and County

taxes., improvement liens, assessments and expenses

of administrations is to deprive the Bank of Te-

hachapi of a portion of its lien upon the property

under its chattel mortgage, for the benefit of other

creditors, the debtor and his attorneys. Judge Leon

Yankwich, on October 23rd, made his order (Tr.

46-49) confirming and approving the order of the

Conciliation Commissioner, excepting he found that

$10,404.00 had been paid pursuant to his order, and

the writs of review of the Bank of Tehachapi were

denied and exceptions were allowed.



SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR.

Appellant specifies the following error, relied upon

in this appeal, as follows,, to-wit:

Specifioation No. 1. The Court erred in its Find-

ing in the order dated October 23, 1939, signed by

Judge Yankwich (Tr. p. 29) "in that the matter of

Supervisor for the care of the cattle and the payment

of $10,000.00 to the Bank of Tehachapi had been com-

plied with " ; in that there was nO' evidence before the

Court, no evidence having been taken by the Con-

ciliation Commissioner as to whether or not a super-

visor was necessary, and no cattle had been sold when

Review was taken by the Bank of Tehachapi.

Specification No. 2. The Court erred in its finding

of fact in the following particulars, to-wit: That

finding No. II ''that sum of $10,404.00 was obtained

from the sale of cattle" of the same order as men-

tioned in Specification No. 1, as no cattle were sold

at the time Writ of Review was taken and no evi-

dence of same was before the Court.

Specification No. 3. The Court erred in its finding

of fact in the following particular, to-wit : That find-

mg No. Ill as to sale of cattle of the order men-

tioned in Specification No. 1 is in error as there was

no sale of cattle at the time of the Writ of Review

or no evidence before the Court of sale of the cattle,

and that the rental value should be reduced as to that

portion of the property w^here rental is fixed upon

property that is not owned by bankrupt.

Specification N-o. 4. The Court erred in its order

as mentioned in Specification No. 1 above, for the

reasons mentioned in Specifications No. 1, 2 and 3.



Spexifioution No. 5. The Court erred in its findings

of fact and in its order and decree of October 23, 1939,

in that it should have granted an order to the Bank

of Tehachapi dismissing the bankruptcy petition of

the bankrupt Cummings Ranch and granted an order

allowing the Bank of Tehachapi to foreclose upon its

chattel mortgage, and should have allowed the Writs

of Review of the Bank of Tehachapi of April 4, 1939

and of April 9, 1939, for the reason that the bankrupt

Cummings Ranch is so hopelessly insolvent that it is

impossible for it to rehabilitate itself within a three-

year period or within any other time.

SPECIFICATION OF EVIDENCE.

Debtor's Indebtedness, 1923:

(Tr. 74)

Mortgage on ranch (Mrs. Kelly) $25,000.00

Mortgage on cattle 15,000.00

Notes 5,250.00

$45,250.00

Had on hand 800 head of cattle, 50

head of horses and 200 hogs, besides

farming equipment worth $3500.00,

and the ranch.



Debtor's Indebtedness, 1927:

(Tr. 75)

Mortgage on ranch (Mrs. Kelly) $37,330.00

Mortgage on cattle (To Banks) 17,400.00

Note, J. J. Lopez 7,000.00

Note, Mrs,. Asher 3,000.00

Other notes and accounts payable,

about 2,300.00

Livestock and cattle approximately the

same as in 1923.

Debtor's hvdeMedness, 1928:

(Tr. 76)

Debtor's indebtedness at the end of the

year 1928, is about the same as the

year 1927, and the property owned by

the corporation is approximately the

same, but in addition, the statement

shows that the corporation suffered a

loss during the year of $2,808.13.

Debtor obtained $25,000.00 from Fed-

eral Government agency from loan on

ranch and Mrs. Kelly accepted $23,-

750.00 as full settlement of the note

due to her of over $37,000.00 ; so there

was a saving made by the debtor of

over $14,000.00.

$67,030.00
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Dehtor's Fmancial Condition as per Court

Appraisal of April 5, 1939:

Bankrupt owns:

Real estate according to Appraisement

(Tr. 39) $40,100.00

Personal property 31,358.50

$71,458.50

Bankrupt owes:

Bank of Tehachapi (Tr. 23) about $33,628.00

Federal Land Bank (Tr. 63) 21,416.00

Federal Mortgage Corporation (Tr. 63) 4,997.00

J. J. Lopez (second mortgage on

cattle) (Tr. 64) 12,000.00

Mrs. Charles Asher (Tr. 85) 6,983.00

Delinquent taxes (Tr. 62) 225.00

$79,249.00

There is of course, no doubt that the Court appraise-

ment is too high in a great many respects, and there

is a lot of interest accumulation to be added to some

of the indebtedness, which will make the indebtedness

larger.

Overhead:

Real estate taxes are about $500.00 per

year. Interest due on Federal Land

Bank about 4%, which is about

$1040.00 per year. Interest on other

loans amounts to an average interest

of 7%, which is about $2870.00. The



interest and taxes amount to over

$4000.00 a year. This does not take

into consideration anything for the op-

eration of ranch and expense of feed-

ing the cattle. The evidence shows that

the ranch cannot be used except about

five months in the year and other prop-

erty has to be rented in the valley for

winter range, which rental amounts to

$1184.00 a year (Tr. 41). Debtor cor-

poration also hires an additional party

as caretaker, upon the winter range.

Examination by Conciliation Commissioner of Albert Ancker,

President of Bank of Tehachapi, and Statements Made by
Conciliation Commissioner. (Tr. 87.)

"Q. (by the Court). That is true, but renewed in

'34 but since then you have loaned several thousand

dollars *?

A. Yes.

Q. And you knew what kind of business Mr. Cum-
mings was doing, didn't you?

A. Certainly.

Q. He has reported to you how many head of

cattle he had all the time, hasn't he?

A. I took his word for it, certainly.

Q. Took his word for it?

A. Certainly.

Q. And you were satisfied the way he was I'unning

his business?

A. I had to be satisfied because I didn't want to

cripple him.
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Q. And you were continually loaning money and

now Mr. Johnston is trying to show that Mr. Cum-

mings can't possibly make it?

A. He can't because he hasn't done it.

Q. For a number of years he hasn^t been able to

make a go of it, yet you, with your eyes open, hcwe

loaned this man several thousand dollars and you

knetv his business, you knetv what he could nuike and

couldn't make. He kept you informed and you had

every chance to find out whether his business was

paying or not, yet you were willing to loan him the

money. I want the record to show that.

A. Can I answer you?

Q. Yes.

A. It is because I have been 46 years in the bank

and this is the second time I have only foreclosed. I

have been easy with them; that is what is the matter.

Q. I am not criticizing you for foreclosing, but

why did you loan him this money all along for several

years ?

A. Because I thought he was honest and straight;

that is, the reason.

Q. Did you know he was going behind?

A. No sir.

Q. Did you try to find out if he was going behind?

A. I loaned him as thousands of others I have

loaned in there.

The Court. It seems to me it comes rather late to

complain about the way he is running his business

noiv when you had all these years in the past to cut

him off amd say, 'You are not going to get any money
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to run the rmich, you oanH possibly make it/ But

ymi went ahead and lomied thousands of dollars.

The Court. Yes, but a review of this loan would

show it is increasing all the time.

Mr. Ancker. Yes, increasing, the loan, certainly.

The Court. And still you keep on. If you want

to throw your monej^ away, whose fault is it but

your own?

Mr. Ancker. Is that the case because I should lose

it now?

The Court. A^o, this man is ashing the Court to

give him three years tims and a chance to rehabilitate

himself and the latv has every intention of giving it

to him.

Mr. Ancker. Yes, sir.

The Court. Unless you can show it is ahsoiutely

impossible for him ever to come out.'*

(Tr. 87 to 90, inc.)

POINTS OF LAW.

I.

That as to specifications of error from 1 to 4, appel-

lant is not setting forth any decision or citation for

the reason that it is too elementary that where a

matter has not been heard by a Conciliation Commis-

sioner or a Referee in Bankruptcy, that the matter

is not heard before the District Judge, and the record

before the Court shows that the matters complained

of in Specifications Nos. 1 to 4 inclusive, were not

matters to be heard or considered by Judge Yankwich,
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and Judge Yankwich would not have included those

matters in his. order if he had known that none of

them had been heard or determined by the Concilia-

tion Commissioner at the time the Writs of Review

were taken by the Bank of Tehachapi.

II.

BANKRUPT IS ALLOWED TO RETAIN POSSESSION
OF HIS PROPERTY.

Paragraph 2 of sub-section (S) of Section 75 of

the Bankruptcy Act provides:

"* * * during such three years the debtor shall

be permitted to retain possession of all or any

part of his property in the custody and under

the supervision and control of the Court, pro-

vided he paj^s a reasonable rental semi-annually

for that part of the property of which he retains

possession".

III.

WHERE IT IS EVIDENT THAT REHABILITATION OF A FARM
DEBTOR IS NOT POSSIBLE, THE COURT MAY DISMISS

PROCEEDINGS.

Paragraph 3 of sub-section (S) of Section 75 of

the Bankruptcy Act provides:

'^If, however, the debtor at any time fails to

comply with the provisions of this section, or

with any orders of the court made pursuant to

this section, or is unable to refina7ice himself

within three years, the court may order the ap-
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pointmeyit of a trustee, mid order the property

sold or otherwise disposed, of as provided for in

this Act."

At page 743

:

'* Paragraph 3 also provides that 4f * * * the

debtor at an}^ time * * * is unable to refinance

himself within three years', the court may close

the proceedings by s,elling the property. This

clause must be interpreted as meaning that the

court may terminate the stay if after a reasonable

time it becomes evident that there is no reasonable

hope that the debtor can rehabilitate himself

within the three-year period,"

Wright v. Moimtain Trust Bank, U. S. Sup.

Court 300 U. S. 440, 81 Law. Ed. 736.

''If there is no hoi:)e that rehabilitation can he

effected in that time, so that the farmer may re-

tain possession and still protect the rights and
interest of all creditors, then a dismissal of the

proceedings might be proper, or, if not a dis-

missal, an order permitting the creditor to fore-

close its secured lien."

In Re Moser, 95 Fed. (2d) 944, 9th Circuit.

IV.

NO EMERGENCY EXISTING.

Quoting from Wright v. Mountain Trust Bank, at

page 743, 81 L. Ed., commencing at the last sentence

of that page:

"Finally, the intention of Congress to make the

stay terminable by the court within the three
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years is shown b}^ paragraph 6, which declares

the Act an emergency measure, and provides that

:

'if in the judgment of the court such emergency
ceases to exist in its locality, then the court, in

its discretion, may shorten the stay of proceed-

ings herein })rovided for and proceed to liquidate

the estate'. Since the language of the Act is not

free from doubt in the particulars mentioned, we
are justitied in seeking enlightenment from re-

ports of Congressional committees and explana-

tions given on the floor of the Senate and House
by those in charge of the measure. When the

legislative history of the bill is. thus surveyed, it

becomes clear that to construe the Act otherwise

than as giving the courts broad power to curtail

the stay for the protection of the mortgagee

would be inconsistent not only with provisions of

the Act, but with the committee reports and with

the exposition of the Bill made in both Houses

by its authors and thos.e in charge of the Bill and

accepted by the Congress without dissent. We
construe it as giving the courts such power. '^

V.

THE ORDER PROVIDING THAT RENTAL MAY BE USED TO

PAY TAXES AND EXPENSES OF ADMINISTRATION, DE-

PRIVES BANK OF A PORTION OF ITS LIEN.

Quoting again from Wric/ht v. Mountain Trust

Bmik, at page 741, 81 L. Ed., as follows:

''Third. It is not denied that the new Act ade-

quately preserves three of the five above enum-

erated rights of a mortgagee. 'The right to re-

tain the lien until the indebtedness thereby se-

cured is paid' is specifically covered by the pro-
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visions in paragraph 1, that the debtor's posses-

sion, 'under the supervision and control of the

court', shall be 'subject to all existing mortgages,

liens, pledges, or encumbrances', and that:

'All such existing mortgages, liens, pledges, or

encumbrances shall remain in full force and

effect, and the property covered by such mort-

gages, liens, ]:)ledges, or encmnbrances shall be

subject to the payment of the claims of the se-

cured creditors, as their interests may appear.'
"

ARGUMENT.

II.

BANKRUPT IS ALLOWED TO RETAIN POSSESSION
OF HIS PROPERTY.

The Bankrupt, as provided by the authorities cited

under the Points of Law, is allowed to retain his

property, providing he pays a reasonable rental for

the same, and the order is in error in including rental

of $1184.00 for rental of property "now being used

but not owned by debtor" (Tr. 40). The item is

No. 12 in the Conciliation Commissioner's order, and

the whole thereof should have been stricken.

III.

WHERE IT IS EVIDENT THAT REHABILITATION OF A FARM
DEBTOR IS NOT POSSIBLE, THE COURT MAY DISMISS

PROCEEDINGS.

The Court in this case should dismiss the Bank-

rupt's bankruptcy petition, or should allow the Bank
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of Tehachapi to take any and all legal steps under its

mortgage to enforce the collection of its notes, for the

reason that the Bankrupt is in such a hopelessly in-

solvent condition that there is no chance for Bankrupt

to rehabilitate itself. The statements of the Bankrupt

as to its, financial condition from 1923 to date show

that it has been steadily groAving worse, excepting as

to one year where it obtained a compromise settlement

with Mrs. Kelly when she took approximately

$23,000.00 to settle the indebtedness due her of

$37,000.00. The Bankrupt's debts in 1923 were

$45,000.00. The debts in 1927 were $68,000.00. The

debts in 1928 increased and the assets decreased, and

there has been since that date a steady increase in

indebtedness and a stead}^ decrease in assets. The

statements of the corporation show that from the

years 1923 to 1928, which were during the most pros-

perous years that this country has ever enjoyed, there

was a loss of over $20,000.00 suffered by the corpora-

tion, or an average loss of over $4000.00 per year.

Bankiiipt's income from the years 1934 to 1938 in-

clusive, from the sale of cattle, has been approximately

$16,500.00 and that amount divided by five would make

a gross income of $3300.00 a year, and the corporation

has no other income exce])t a little income from the

sale of chickens and a little revenue from the sale of

firewood, not exceeding $100.00 a year (Tr. 99).

There is due to the Bank of Tehachapi over $33,-

000.00 upon notes secured by a first chattel mortgage

u])on the cattle, and there is due to J. J. Lopez, a note

secured by second chattel mortgage upon the cattle,

the balance due Lopez being $12,000.00, plus about
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two years' interest at 7%. The Bankrupt has no

chance to refinance itself within the next three years

or to rehabilitate itself and pay oft* the indebtedness

to the Bank and to the Lopez executor.

Both the Bank and Lopez during his lifetime, had

agreed to take substantial discounts but the bankrupt

was unable to secure any refinancing.

There is indebtedness of over $45,000.00 upon the

cattle and the cattle are appraised at less than $30,-

000.00. There is no doubt that the appraisement is

too high.

The total assets as appraised by the appraiser are

a little over $71,000.00 and the total indebtedness is a

little over $79,000.00, but to the indebtedness there

must be added interest. The overhead, interest and

taxes amount to over $4000.00 a year. The amount

necessary to pay for rental land is $1184.00 (Tr. 41)

and the bankrupt corporation pays a caretaker $50.00

a month, plus his food (Tr. 87) which would be

$600.00 a year, which would make $5784.00 per year.

This does not take into consideration incidental ex-

pense, repair, upkeep, and new equipment necessary

in the operation of a successful cattle ranch.

It is to be noted that of the interest, the amount

due to Lopez and to the Bank of Tehachapi amounts

to about $2870.00 per year, and that the $600.00, for

caretaker, and the $1184.00 rental, which would make

a total of $4654.00, are all necessary for the operation

of the cattle. There is not at the present time nor has

there been any profit from the operation of cattle by

bankrupt corporation within the last fifteen years. In
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fact the bankrupt corporation has been running be-

hind at least $3000.00 per year since the year 1923.

The Conciliation Commissioner fixed the rental at

$6000.00, but he built up the rental by including as

heretofore jiointed out to the Court, $1184.00 upon

property not owned by the bankrupt but rented by

the bankrupt, so that amount deducted from the

$6000.00, would make the year's rent $4816.00, which

is not a sufficient amount to pay the total amount of

the overhead, interest, taxes, caretaker, and rental of

property.

The bankrupt corporation will be no better off at

the expiration of three years except that it will owe

more money, but the Bank of Tehachapi will be worse

off as its security will have decreased. There is no

possible chance for the Bank to realize all of its

money now or at a later date.

The appraised value of the cattle is between four

and five thousand dollars less than the amount due

to the Bank and the Lopez Executor will not release

the second chattel mortgage, but insists upon payment

of the indebtedness or some settlement, so that the

Bankrupt cannot refinance itself in any manner.

Appellant has offered to take a substantial discount

and is still willing to take a substantial discount as it

knows that there is no chance for the Bankrupt to re-

habilitate itself. The past performance of the officers

of the bankrupt corporation shows that they cannot

operate the corporation at a profit. The corporation

officers have been the same for the last fifteen vears.
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IV.

NO EMERGENCY EXISTING.

The bankrupt corporation, as heretofore pointed out

to this Court, has been insolvent for a good many

years, and there is no emergency existing as far as

the corporation is concerned, and the petition of the

Bankrupt should be dismissed.

V.

THE ORDER PROVIDING THAT RENTAL MAY BE USED TO
PAY TAXES AND EXPENSES OF ADMINISTRATION, DE-

PRIVES BANK OF A PORTION OF ITS LIEN.

The order provides that rental be used to pay taxes

and expenses of administration, and if the rental that

has been fixed as reasonable rental upon the cattle

is used for any other purpose than paid to the Bank
upon its mortgage, it would deprive the Bank of its

lien under its chattel mortgage, for the reason that the

cattle are depreciating in value each year. Cows are

only good for a certain number of years. The barren

cows have to be eliminated each year. New bulls

should be purchased at proper intervals if the herd

is to be kept up. When the herd is put out upon a

rental basis, then all of the rental should be paid to

the person having the first mortgage.
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CONCLUSION.

We submit that the order of the Conciliation Com-

missioner and the order of the District Judge should

be vacated and set aside, and that orders should be

made authorizing the Bank of Tehachapi to foreclose

under its chattel mortgage or take any other legal

steps as provided under the chattel mortgage to en-

force payment of its notes secured by said chattel

mortgage, or that an order be made dismissing the

bankruptcy proceedings.

Dated, Bakersfield, California,

February 28, 1940.

Respectfully submitted,

T. N. Harvey,

C. W. Johnston,

Claude F. Baker,

Attorneys for Appellant.
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Bank of Tehachapi (a corporation),

Appellant,

vs.

CuMMiNGS Ranch, Inc. (a corporation), a Bankrupt,

Appellee.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Since the statement of the case by the appellant is some-

what confused chronologically in the facts which it states

which finds some support in the record, appellee outlines

the history of the matter in so far as it is apparent from

an examination of the transcript of the record upon the

appeal.

Upon the 2nd day of February, 1939, Samuel Taylor,

the Conciliation Commissioner for the County of Kern,

State of California, of the United States District Court,

made an Order based upon evidence that had been intro-

duced prior thereto at hearings at Bakersfield, California,

and upon the report of the appraiser. [Tr. pp. 2-4.]
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(Note: *'Tr." as used by appellant apparently re-

ferred to the pages of the original typewritten transcript,

which is set forth in brackets throughout the printed

transcript, and "Tr." as used in this brief shall refer to

the pages of the printed transcript of the record as they

appear in the above entitled appeal.)

No form of appeal from the said Order of the Concilia-

tion Commissioner appears in the record, but on the 2nd

day of March, 1939, the United States District Court for

the Southern District of California, Northern Division,

with the Honorable Leon R. Yankwich, Judge presiding,

made an Order, apparently based upon some Petition or

Petitions by the appellants, which reversed the Orders of

the said Conciliation Commissioner of January 20th, 1939,

and of February 2nd, 1939. [Tr. p. 7.] No Order of

January 20th, 1939, appears in the record. Said Order

dated March 2nd, 1939, of the said Court further re-

quired a reappraisal of the property and for the Commis-

sioner to take additional evidence as to the reasonable

rental value of the property and to take additional evidence

at the same time and place as to the matter of a super-

visor to supervise the care of the cattle under the Order

of the Court, and to cause the sale of sufficient cattle to

bring at least $10,000.00 net to the appellant Bank of

Tehachapi on or before the 15th day of May, 1939. [Tr.

pp. 7-8.] Thereafter, and on the 18th and 25th days of

March, 1939, at Bakersfield, California, before the said

Conciliation Commissioner, with all parties appearing,

hearings were had and evidence was received and the new
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report of the appraiser was received and filed pursuant to

the said Order and Judgment of March 2nd, 1939, by

Judge Leon R. Yankwich [Tr. pp. 20-24] ; and thereafter,

and on April 5th, 1939, the said Conciliation Commissioner

made an Order in writing entitled "Order of Conciliation

Commissioner Approving Appraisal and Fixing Rental".

[Tr. pp. 20-24.] A Petition for Writ of Review, dated

April 4th, 1939, the day prior to the making of the Com*

missioner's "Order Approving Appraisal and Fixing

Rental" in the above entitled cause was filed in the District

Court on May 9th, 1939. [Tr. p. 15.] On the 9th day

of May, 1939, the said appellant also filed an additional

instrument entitled "Petition for Writ of Review", which

was dated April 19th, 1939 [Tr. pp. 16-26], and on May

6th, 1939, the said Conciliation Commissioner executed his

certificate in the above entitled cause, which was also filed

on May 9th, 1939. [Tr. pp. 26-27.]

Thereafter, and on the 11th day of September, 1939, a

hearing was had before the Honorable Leon R. Yankwich

upon the matters referred to in the said Petitions for

Writs of Review of April 4th and April 19, 1939. [Tr.

pp. 28-29.] On the 23rd day of October, 1939, the said

Honorable Leon R. Yankwich made his Order, Judgment

and Decree in writing which was filed in the above entitled

matter on said day [Tr. pp. 28-31], and said Order and

Judgment, in short, expressly confirmed the said Order

of the Conciliation Commissioner of April 5th, 1939, and

the Court further found in said Order and Judgment that

the Commissioner had complied with each and every of the



provisions of the Order uf the said Court of March 2nd,

1939, and had taken the evidence as required by said Order

and said Order further found that cattle had been sold by

the appellee for a net sum of $10,404.00, all of which had

been paid over by the said Conciliation Commissioner to

the said appellant Bank of Tehachapi to apply upon the

principal of the promissory note of the appellee to the said

appellant Bank, and which said Judgment further denied

the Writs of Review of April 4th, 1939 and April 19th,

1939, and denied the Petition and Motion of appellant to

foreclose on the chattel mortgage. [Tr. pp. 28-31.]

Thereafter, and on the 24th day of November, 1939,

the appellant filed a Notice of Appeal in the above entitled

cause, a copy of which said notice was served upon the

appellees on the 6th day of December, 1939. [Tr. pp.

31-32.]

The record contains no transcript of the testimony or

exhibits of the hearings of March 18th and March 25th,

1939, before the Conciliation Commissioner, which said

hearings and the testimony and exhibits introduced therein

were the basis for the said "Order of Conciliation Com-

missioner Approving Appraisal and Fixing Rental" [Tr.

pp. 20-24] from which the Petition for Writs of Review

were taken to the District Court, nor does the record con-

tain any transcript of the proceedings of September 11th,

1939, before the Honorable Leon R. Yankwich, which

said proceedings and said Order of the Conciliation Com-

missioner, dated April 5, 1939, are the basis of the Judg-

ment and Order dated October 23rd, 1939, from which



this appeal has been taken. The only transcripts or sum-

maries of the evidence in the record are of a portion of the

hearings before the Conciliation Commissioner of Novem-

ber 19th, 1938 [Tr. pp. 34-72], and of November 22, 1938

[Tr. pp. 73-80] and of January 20th, 1939. [Tr. pp.

80-90.] Each of said hearings were prior to the Order

and Judgment of the District Court of March 2nd, 1939

[Tr. pp. 4-8], reversing the Orders of the Concihation

Commissioner and requiring the Commissioner to have a

reapppraisal and to take additional evidence of the rental

value and to make a new order thereon, and to take evi-

dence as to the need for a supervisor, and to cause suffi-

cient cattle to be sold to net appellant Bank at least

$10,000.00. [Tr. p. 7.]

The hearings held thereafter on March 18th and 25th,

1939 [Tr. pp. 20-21] and pursuant to said Order of the

District Court, are nowhere referred to by appellant in any

of the proceeding, either before this Honorable Court, or

the District Court,



ARGUMENT.

The Order, Judgment and Decree of the United States

District Court for the Southern District of California,

Northern Division of October 23rd, 1939, from which the

appellants are appealing [Tr. pp. 28-32] must be affirmed

for,

I. The Stated Grounds of Appeal Are Insufficient to

Justify Reversing the Judgment and Order of October

23rd, 1939.

II. The Stated Grounds for the Appeal From the

Said Judgment and Order Are Not Supported by the

Evidence.

I.

The Stated Grounds of Appeal Are Insufficient to

Justify Reversing the Judgment and Order of

October 23rd, 1939.

(1) The First Four "Specifications of Error" of

THE Five Stated Specifications Were Not Pre-

sented IN THE Court Below and Find No Sup-

port in THE Record.

The Specifications of Error numbered 1 to 4 inclusive

(App. Op. Br. pp. 5 and 6) do not refer to any of the

matters mentioned in any of the Petitions for Writ of Re-

view hereinbefore filed by the appellant. Specifications

numbered 1, 2, 3 and 4, refer to the finding of the Court

that the appellee had complied with the prior Order of
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March 2nd, 1939, requiring the said appellees to sell suf-

ficient cattle to raise not less than the sum of $10,000.00

net to be paid to the appellant Bank on or before May

15th, 1939 [Tr. pp. 6-7], and said Specifications are based

upon the contention stated therein that no evidence was

before the District Court as to the payment of said

$10,000.00.

No denial is made that said money was paid, but appel-

lant relies upon the technical ground that no evidence was

before the District Court at the time of the hearing of

September 11th, 1939, that the money had been paid on

or before May 15th, 1939, as required in the Order of

March 2nd, 1939. It has been previously pointed out that

no transcript has been furnished of the proceedings be-

fore Judge Leon R. Yankwich of September 11th, 1939,

or the proceedings of March 18th and March 25th, 1939,

before the Conciliation Commissioner, which said latter

proceedings were specified in the Order of April 5th,

1939, of the Conciliation Commissioner to be the basis of

said Order [Tr. pp. 20-21] and now because of the neglect

of the appellant to produce a transcript of said proceed-

ings, or any of them, they seek to reverse the Order of

the District Court.

It is elementary that the burden is upon the one urging

a Writ of Review from an Order of a Conciliation Com-

missioner, and upon an appellant appealing from the Judg-

ment of the District Court, in relying upon insufficiency of

the evidence, to produce the evidence so that the District
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Court in the first instance and the United States Circuit

Court in the latter instance, may determine if there is any

reasonable basis for the said Order or Orders;

In Re Harris, C. C. A. 78 Fed. (2d) 849;

Bank of Eureka v. Partington, C. C. A., 91 Fed.

(2d) 587,

and further, that said objections mentioned in Specifica-

tions 1, 2, 3, and 4, were not presented to the District

Court and they are not reviewable on appeal.

Hill V. Douglas, 78 Fed. (2d) 851;

Harold Lloyd v. Witwer, C. C. A. 65 Fed. (2d)

1, 15.

Nor do said specifications comply with subsection (e)

of Rule 20 of the Rules of Practice of the United States

Circuit Court of Appeals, for the Ninth Circuit.

No reference is had to the pages of the record where

said ''Assignments of Error" appear. Nor, separately,

does the "Argument" in the appellant's opening brief com-

ply with another portion of said subsection (e) of said

Rule 20, in that the requirement, "such assignment of

error shall be printed in full preceding the argument ad-

dressed to it", is not complied with, and no "Assignments

of Error" appear preceding appellant's "Argument". (App.

Op. Br. pp. 15-20.) Nor is the subject matter of the

argument related to said Specifications of Error.

Section (f) of Rule 20, of the Rules of Practice of

the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth
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Circuit, with reference to the requirement that a refer-

ence to the page of the record rehed upon in support of

each point be set forth, is violated as a uniform practice

throughout the appellant's opening brief. Yet in each of

such instances appellee has searched through the transcript

carefully in order to ascertain whether the record supports

those portions of the brief and points discussed therein,

and has found no support in the record for such state-

ments or points to which no reference to the record is

made in appellant's opening brief. Appellee will not bur-

den the Court by pointing out each of said instances but

will only point out some of them during the course of the

argument.

(2) The Insolvency of the Bankrupt or Its Ability

TO Rehabilitate Itself Is Not a Proper Matter

FOR Consideration on This Appeal.

The ability of a bankrupt proceeding under subsection

S of section 75 of the Bankruptcy Act to rehabilitate itself

is not a matter for consideration upon a petition to dis-

miss proceedings. The opening brief of the appellant di-

rects its argument principally to the contention that it is

impossible for the appellee to rehabilitate itself within a

three year period or within any other time. (App. Op. Br.

pp. 6-11, 12-13, 15-18.) Assuming solely for the purpose

of presenting said point, that the appellee is hopelessly in-

solvent and unable to rehabilitate itself, but in nowise con-

ceding said point, the matter has been determined by the

case of Bartels v. John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance
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Company, C. C. A. 100 Fed. (2d) 813, and affirmed in 60

S. Ct. 221, 84 L. Ed The Supreme Court has

expressly overruled the statement in the note in the case

of Wright v. Vinton Branch, 300 U. S. 440, 462, 57 S. Ct.

556, 561, 81 L. Ed. 736, 112 A. L. R. 1455, to the effect

that the proceedings could be dismissed because of a lack

of reasonable probability of financial rehabilitation of the

debtor. {Bartels v. John Hancock etc., 60 S. Ct. 221, 222>

and Note 3 on page 223.) As the Circuit Court in said

case so aptly put it, the act is expressly extended to those

who are insolvent, and further states "That he has no

equity in his property but is actually insolvent is no bar".

{Bartcls v. John Hancock, etc., 100 Fed. (2d) 813, 815,

816, and subsection (c) 11 U. S. C A. Sec. 203 (c). See

also Federal Land Bank of Springfield v. Hansen, 109

Fed. (2d) 139. Paradise Land Company v. Federal Land

Bank at Berkeley, 108 Fed. (2d) 832. Cook v. Federal

Land Bank at Berkeley, 108 Fed. (2d) 185.) The latter

two cases reversed orders of the District Court which had

required a dismissal of proceedings because the debtor was

hopelessly insolvent.
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II.

The Stated Grounds for the Appeal From the Said

Judgment and Order Are Not Supported by the

Evidence.

In appellee's Statement of the Case in this brief, it has

been pointed out that the record contains no transcript or

statement of the testimony of the hearings which form the

basis of the Concihation Commissioner's Order of April

5, 1939, in this matter, and of the subsequent Judgment

and Order of Judge Yankwich approving said Order,

from which Judgment and Order the appeal is taken. In

any event, the arguments set forth by appellant are insuffi-

cient to set aside the judgment of the District Court.

Appellant uses as a premise, its contention that a state-

ment given by the appellee to the appellant in 1923 which

showed an indebtedness of $45,250.00 (App. Op. Br. p. 6)

and a statement given to said appellant Bank on Decem-

ber 31, 1927, showing an indebtedness of $67,030.00, and

a statement of December 31, 1928, showing an indebted-

ness of $65,180.00, as compared to a claimed indebtedness

of $79,249.00 on April 5, 1939, is conclusive of the fact

that the appellee is hopelessly insolvent. [App. Op. Br.

pp. 6-8; Tr. pp. 47-50.] Appellant carefully avoids refer-

ence to the fact that the real property consisting of the

5,009 acre ranch [Tr. p. 36] is exactly the same ranch as

is set forth in the various statements and the live stock is

approximately the same in amount and value on the date

of appraisal in April of 1939, as in the statements of

1927 and 1928. [Tr. pp. 21-22, 80.] The loan in question

was made and the chattel mortgage was executed in 1934.

[Tr. pp. 52-56.] No claim is made that any fraud was

practiced or misstatement was made at the time the note



—12—

and chattel mortgage of November, 1934, was executed

and the record reveals no comparison between a state-

ment of 1934 and of 1939. In the interim between the

periods of the statements of 1927 and 1928 and the ap-

praisal of April, 1939, this country has undergone one of

the severest depressions and the greatest reductions in

property value in the history of this nation, of which

depression, judicial notice has been taken by almost every

court. {Nev.-Cal. Co. v. Imperial Irr. Dist., 85 Fed. (2d)

886; Alexander v. State Capital Company, 9 Cal. (2d)

304, 70 Pac. (2d) 619.)

The statement of appellant on page 8 of its opening

brief that the sum of $33,688.00 is owing to it by appel-

lee, is nowhere supported by the record either at the place

cited by appellant or elsewhere. The testimony of Albert

Ancker, the president of the appellant Bank, was that the

sum of $27,735.00, principal and $2,193.00 interest (which

totals the sum of $29,928.00) was owing in October and

November of 1938 [Tr. pp. 65-66] ; the chattel mortgage

of appellants provides that it is security for the payment

of $24,650.00, and such additional sums not to exceed

$4,000.00, as shall be evidenced by additional notes, and

no additional notes appear in the record or are referred

to in the testimony. [Tr. pp. 52-54.] In other words, the

indebtedness owed to the appellant by appellee is either

$29,928.00 or $24,650.00, and in either case a cash pay-

ment had been made after the commencements of these

proceedings and prior to May 15, 1939, of $10,404.00,

upon the principal of said indebtedness. [Tr. p. 30.] The

filing of this appeal on October 23, 1939, after such sub-

stantial payment on the indebtedness cannot help but cause

one to recall the language of the Circuit Court of Appeals
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in the case of Bartels v. John Hancock Mutual Life Insur-

ance Company, 100 Fed. (2d) 813 at 815, wherein the

court points out "the social evil of the rich becoming ever

richer and the poor poorer" would be aggravated by per-

mitting creditors to force the sale of farms or farm prop-

erty because of unprofitable years due to a widespread

depression.

The loose statement by appellant, without any reference

to the record,

"There is of course, no doubt that the Court ap-

praisement is too high in a great many respects, and

there is a lot of interest accumulation to be added to

some of the indebtedness, which will make the in-

debtedness larger" (App. Op. Br. p. 8),

is not supported by any evidence of the value of the prop-

erty presented before the Commissioner or the Court to

rebut the appraisement nor was there any testimony of

interest accumulation other than that immediately herein-

before set forth. The next statement as to annual taxes

is not supported by the record nor the next statement of

appellant as to expense of feeding the cattle. (App. Op.

Br. pp. 8-9.) On the contrary, the record shows that for

the past twenty-five or thirty years there has not been any

necessity for feeding the cattle, in other words, that they

graze on the land. [Tr. p. 62.]

Appellant's point 'T" under Points of Law on page 11

of its opening brief is not supported by the record for

the reasons set forth hereinbefore that appellant has not

produced any portion of the record of the hearing before

the District Court on September 11, 1939, as to the pay-

ment of $10,404.00, on or before May 15, 1939.
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Appellant's point "11" (App. Op. Br. p. 12) appears to

be merely a confirmation of the right of the appellee to

retain possession. There is no question but what the

rental fixed by the Commissioner and approved by the

Court is reasonable since the amount is $6,000.00 per year

in addition to the initial payment of $10,404.00.

Appellant's point 'III" (App. Op. Br. p. 12), that

where rehabilitation is not possible, the Court may dis-

miss, has been answered.

Appellant's point "IV" (App. Op. Br. p. 13), that no

emergency is existing, is not supported by any reference to

the record. Testimony does appear in the record that

some three or four years prior to the time of the hearing

in this proceeding, the cattle business was in very bad

shape and the government killed a lot of cattle. [Tr. p. 75.]

Appellant's point "V" (App. Op. Br. p. 14), contend-

ing that the rental order deprives the bank of a portion of

its lien, because the taxes and upkeep of the property are

to be paid first from the rent, has been answered by the

Supreme Court in the case of Adair v. Bank of America,

58 S. Ct. 594, 303 U. S. 350, 82 L. Ed. 889.

In addition, each of the foregoing points excepting only

point "I", were not referred to by appellant in its Specifi-

cations of Error. (App. Op. Br. pp. 5-6.)

Appellant's "Argument" (App. Op. Br. pp. 15 to 18),

is all to the same effect, that a dismissal of the proceed-

ings should be had because of a claimed inability of the

debtor to rehabilitate. This matter has been gone into be-

fore, but the so-called "Argument" cannot be passed with-

out some reference to some of the misstatements contained

therein.
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Throughout the whole of the argument, only three refer-

ences are made to the transcript; the first is in support of

the statement that the income of the appellee for the years

of 1934 to 1938 inclusive, has been $3300.00 a year ex-

cepting only a little income from the sale of chickens and

a little revenue from the sale of firewood not exceeding

the sum of $100.00 a year, citing transcript page 99 (App.

Op. Br. p. 16). Since the printed transcript only goes to

page 97, it is apparent that appellant is referring to the

bracketed number "99" on page 74. That portion of the

transcript, summarized, shows that the appellee did not

sell any of its cattle during the year 1938 for the reasons

set forth by its president, Mr. Cummings, on page 75 of

the transcript, that he was trying to bring the herd up to

a certain number so he could brand 175 to 200 head of

cattle per year and be justified in selling 150 for beef; and

said testimony on page 74 of said transcript, in reference

to the matter of chickens, shows that the living expenses of

the persons connected with the corporation, has been re-

ceived from the raising of chickens and that the revenue

turned into the corporation from the sale of wood has

amounted to over $100.00 per year. [Tr. p. 74.]

Appellant's only other statements in the whole of its

arguments which contains any reference to the transcript,

is that it is necessary for the appellee to rent land to graze

its cattle in the winter at an annual rent of $1184.00 and

that it pays a caretaker $50.00 a month plus his food, to

assist in the care of the cattle. (App. Op. Br. pp. 15-20.)
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The statement of the appellant on page 16 of appellant's

opening brief, without any reference to the transcript, that

the financial condition of the appellee has been steadily

growing worse, except for the year (not stated) when

a creditor took a lesser amount in settlement of an indebt-

edness, and the further statement that the debts in 1928,

increased and the assets in 1928, decreased, in comparison

with 1927, are both not supported by the record, but the

record reveals them to be false. A comparison of the

statement of the appellee as of December 31, 1927 [Tr.

p. 49], omitting therefrom, the capital stock of $60,000.00

as a liability, shows assets in said statement of $127,-

062.35, less a book deficit because of the capital stock of

$12,636.25, or gross assets of $114,426.10, and liabilities

of $67,062.35; the balance sheet of December 31, 1928,

reveals [Tr. p. 50] assets of $125,180.12, less a book

deficit of $10,754.12, or assets of $114,426.10 and liabili-

ties of $65,180.12, which shows that the assets were the

same in 1928 as in 1927, and the liabilities were reduced

one year later by approximately $2,000.00.

The next statement in appellant's opening brief at page

16, that the company suffered an average loss of $4,000.00

per year from 1923 to 1928, is both immaterial, remote,

and not supported by any reference to the record or by

anything in the record. A comparison of balance sheets

for the years of 1923 and 1928, is no criterion of the

profits or loss, for the appellee may have enjoyed profits

or suffered losses in the interim from the operation of the

corporation, since other factors unrelated to business
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profits such as a distribution of assets or distribution of

dividends to members of the corporation individually,

among many other things could cause such difference.

The next statement on page 16 of appellant's opening

brief, is also not supported by any reference to the record,

no evidence appears in the record that the income from

1934 to 1938 from the sale of cattle has been approxi-

mately $16,500.00, although it does appear in the record

that during the year of 1938, no appreciable amount of

cattle were sold, in order to build up the herd to an eco-

nomically desirable number. [Tr. pp. 74-75.]

Appellant's next statement that over $33,000.00 is due

to the appellant (App. Op. Br. p. 16), has been referred

to in detail hereinbefore in this brief and it is clear that

said sum does not exceed more than $30,000.00, less the

payment on the principal of $10,404.00. [Tr. pp. 30, 65,

66.] At the top of page 17 of appellant's opening brief,

and at the bottom of page 18, appellant has made the

statement that they have offered to take and are willing

to take a "substantial discount" without any reference to

the record and the record will reveal no such offer. Appel-

lee has with difficulty restrained itself from going outside

the record to show appellant's real attitude in so far as its

willingness to take any discount whatsoever is concerned.

It would unduly prolong this brief to continue to refer to

the numerous instances in the short argument of appellant

wherein appellant makes purported reference to the facts

without either a citation of the record in support thereof,

or without any support in the record whether cited or not.
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The Record Not Only Does Not Show That the Bank-

rupt Cannot Rehabilitate Itself But Affirmatively

Shows Beyond Question That the Bankrupt Can

and Should Rehabilitate Within the Period Pro-

vided by Law.

The president of the bankrupt corporation testified that

it is feasible to sell 150 head of cattle per year and that

it was his intention to sell 108 head for a gross of

$8,000.00 to $10,000.00 [Tr. pp. 75-76], and further testi-

fied that there are 775 head of cattle available. [Tr. p. 80.]

Russell Hill, the witness for appellant, who testified that

he is managing the ranch adjoining that of the bankrupt

corporation, and has been in the ranching business for

thirty years and has been acquainted with the property of

the appellee for thirty-five years [Tr. pp. 81-82], further

testified that the cattle should net $10.00 a head clear per

year for each of said head of cattle [Tr. p. 87], which, on

the basis of 775 head, should allow a net profit of $7750.00

from the cattle alone. In addition to the living expenses

being taken care of by the chickens on the ranch [Tr. p.

74], the ranch has a contract that calls for $8,000.00 a

year for the sale of timber thereon and the testimony

shows that the ranch has the equipment in its lumber mill

capable of handling such timber. [Tr. pp. 76-77.]
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Conclusion.

In the instant case, we have one creditor complaining

because the proceedings are not dismissed, although after

the proceedings had commenced and prior to the appeal, it

was paid more than one-third of its obligation; and al-

though a rental order has been made providing for an an-

nual payment of $6,000.00, and although the income of

the debtor varies somewhere between $7,750.00 and $17,-

000.00 per year.

Appellee, whose income is derived from cattle raising,

poultry raising, and timber, presents a case of the very

type of farmer and the very class of person for whom the

beneficial provisions of the Frazier-Lemke Act were

enacted.

Wherefore, it is respectfully submitted that the Order,

Judgment and Decree appealed from, should be affirmed

and sustained.

Respectfully submitted,

S. L. KURLAND,

Attorney for Appellee.
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No. 9409

IN THE

United States Circuit Court of Appeals

For the Ninth Circuit

Bank of Tehachapi (a corporation),

AppellatU,

vs.

CumMINGS Ranch, Inc. (a corpora-

tion), a Bankrupt,
Appellee.

Upon Appeal from the District Court of the United States for the

Southern District of California, Northern Division.

APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF.

ADDITIONAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

We believe that the statement of the ease of appel-

ant in its opening brief fully covers the matters in-

volved, but since the appellee has criticized the

statement of facts of the appellant, we believe it ad-

visable to make an additional statement of facts

CTr." as hereinafter designated in this brief refers

to the printed transcript of record instead of the orig-

inal certified transcript of record) . The record shows

:

1. Order dated March 2, 1939 (Tr. 4) reversing

Conciliation Commissioner's orders, and the order fur-

ther found that the appellee was indebted to the appel-
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lant in a sum of money exceeding $30,000.00, said

indebtedness being secured by chattel mortgage upon

the cattle, and J. J. Lopez had a second lien upon the

cattle in the sum of approximately $12,000.00, and

required the Conciliation Commissioner to have a re-

appraisement made of the property, fix rental, and

other matters as set forth in said order.

2. That at hearing had on January 25, 1939 before

Conciliation Commissioner, evidence was introduced on

behalf of the appellee as to the value of both the real

and personal property and thereupon appellant made

motion for an order authorizing the bank to foreclose

its mortgage, and a motion that the Conciliation Com-

missioner recommend to the judge of the above entitled

Court to dismiss the bankruptcy petition. Both mo-

tions were denied and writ of review was taken by

appellant (Tr. 9-14). Pages 12, 13 and 14 contain

copies of the motions. The appeal was filed with the

Conciliation Commissioner on April 5th.

3. Thereafter the Conciliation Commissioner made

his order approving appraisal and fixing rental (Tr.

20) and appellant filed petition for writ of review on

same with the Conciliation Commissioner on April

21st.

4. Judge Leon Yankwich on October 23, 1939, after

hearing on September 11, 1939, made his order con-

firming and approving the order of the Conciliation

Commissioner, excepting that he found $10,404 had

been paid pursuant to his order. The writs of review

of appellant were denied and exceptions were allowed.



5. After the two writs of review had been filed

with the Conciliation Commissioner and on May 11,

1939, 200 head of cows and steers were sold (see Ex-

hibit "A" attached to this brief). We are requesting

the Conciliation Commissioner to foiward a certified

copy of the order for the Court's information.

The writs of review were taken upon the two mo-

tions (Tr. 13 and 14) and upon the Conciliation Com-

missioner's order (Tr. 20-24). Appellee complains that

there is no transcript of the hearing before Judge

Yankwich. There was no evidence introduced and con-

sequently there would be no transcript. There were

no exhibits introduced before the Conciliation Com-

missioner at the hearings upon which he fixed his

appraisal and the evidence given upon which the Con-

ciliation Commissioner based his appraisal and rental

value was the same as in his order.

ARGUMENT.

There are five specifications of error w^hich are set

forth in our opening brief, but will be also hereinafter

set forth for the purpose of convenience to the Court.

They are as follows:

SPECIFICATIONS NOS. 1 AND 2.

Specification No. 1. The Court erred in its find-

ing in the order dated Octobei- 23, 1939, signed by

Judge Yankwich (Tr. 29) "in that the matter of

Supervisor for the care of the cattle and the payment

of $10,000.00 to the Bank of Tehachapi had been com-

plied with"; in that there was no evidence before the



Court, no evidence having been taken by the Con-

ciliation Commissioner as to whether or not a super-

visor was necessary, and no cattle had been sold when
review was taken by the Bank of Tehachapi.

Specification No. 2. The Court erred in its finding

of fact in the following particulars, to-wit: That

finding No. II ^'that sum of $10,404.00 was obtained

from the sale of cattle" of the same order as men-

tioned in Specification No. 1, as no cattle were sold

at the time writ of review was taken and no evidence

of same was before the Court.

Exhibit ''A" attached to this brief shows that the

sale of the cattle was made on May 8th and the order

was signed on May 11th, which was after both of the

writs of review had been taken and should not have

been included in the order of Judge Yankwich; and

we do not believe that Judge Yankwich would have

included the same in the order if he had known that

the order confirming sale had not been made by the

Conciliation Commissioner until after date of filing

writs of review. If it is allowed to stand or be con-

sidered, then appellant should be allowed to comment

upon the same.

The contention of appellee that this matter was not

raised by appellant in the District Court is correct.

The question here is not whether or not the question

was raised by appellant in the District Court, but that

there was included in the order of the district judge

a condition which was not raised upon the hearing,

and which happened after the writs of review were

taken.



SPECinCATIONS NOS. 3 AND 4.

The Court erred in finding No. 3 (Tr. 30), ''that the

sum of $6000.00 is the reasonable rental value for the

property of the debtor company as it existed prior to

the sale of said cattle". A portion of the ai'gument

upon these specifications is included in the argument

under specifications 1 and 2, in that there was no sale

of cattle at the time of the writs of review and conse-

quently no evidence before the district judge as to the

sale of the cattle, and the further specification that the

rental value should be reduced as to that portion of the

property upon which rental is fixed upon the property

not owned by the bankrupt.

The order of the Conciliation Commissioner dated

April 5, 1939 (Tr. 23), as to the rental value of prop-

erty not owned by the debtor is as follows

:

" (12) That the rental value of Railroad Land
now being used but not owned by debtor is

$675.00; that the rental value of the camp and
well on said premises is $125.00; and that the

rental value of the McWilliams property rented

but not owned by debtor is $384.00 making a total

of $1184.00 rental for this land not owned."

The Bankruptcy Act provides that the bankrupt

shall be permitted to retain possession of his property

mid the property now heing used hut not owned hy

the debtor is not property of bankrupt within the

memiing of paragraph 2 of subsection (s) of Section

75 of the Bankruptcy Act, which provides as follows

:

a* * * ^^YiYLg such three years the debtor shall

be permitted to retain possession of all ot* any
part of his property in the custody and under
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the supervision and control of the Court, pro-

vided he pays a reasonable rental semi-annually

for that part of the property of which he retains

possession.
'

'

SPECIFICATION NO. 5.

Specification No. 5. The Court erred in its findings

of fact and in its order and decree of October 23, 1939,

in that it should have granted an order to the Bank

of Tehachapi dismissing the bankruptcy petition of

the bankrupt Cummings Ranch and granted an order

allowing the Bank of Tehachapi to foreclose upon its

chattel mortgage, and should have allowed the writs

of review of the Bank of Tehachapi of April 4, 1939

and of April 9, 1939, for the reason that the bankrupt

Cummings Ranch is so hopelessly insolvent that it is

impossible for it to rehabilitate itself within a three-

year period or within any other time.

Appellant ^s opening brief, pages 6 to II inclusive,

sets forth evidence showing the insolvency of appellee

and the fact that said appellee cannot rehabilitate

itself within the three year period or any other time.

Since the hearing and since this appeal has been

taken the Conciliation Commissioner has made an

order finding in substance that \he bankrupt was not

the owner of the real property. A copy of the order

is attached to this brief and marked Exhibit ''B",

and a certified copy has been requested from the Con-

ciliation Commissioner to be sent to the above Court.

We believe that under the citations in Ridge v.



Mmiker, 132 Fed. Rep. 599 (C. C. A. 8th Circuit),

which is as follows

:

"An appellate court may avail itself of authentic

evidence outside of the record before it of mat-

ters occuTTing since the decree of the trial court,

when such course is necessary to prevent a mis-

carriage of justice, to avoid a useless circuity of

proceedings, to preserve a jurisdiction lawfully

acquired or to protect itself from imposition or

fui'ther prosecution of litigation where the con-

troversy between the parties has been settled or

for other reasons has ceased to exist."

and under the case of Kendall v. Ewert, 259 IT. S.

139 (66 L. Ed. 862), in which the Supreme Court held

in substance that evidence tending to show a dis-

missal may be considered on appeal when it is jire-

sented to and urged upon the attention of the Federal

Supreme Court in support of a motion to dismiss th(^

appeal on grounds that the case had been dismissed

after the appeal was taken, that ap])ellant is entitled

to present such fact to this Court so that the Court

will be fully advised. Appellant certainly would be

entitled to present the same if the appellee was en-

titled to an order in the District Coui't including mat-

ters heard by the Conciliation Commissioner after the

writs of review were taken.

ADDITIONAL REFERENCES TO EVIDENCE.

Appellee has stated in his brief that the claims of

appellant are not supported by the record and that

some of the statements of appellant as to the e-^ndence
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are false, and we wish to take up each one of such

references of appellee to the evidence, and call to the

Court's attention the place where the evidnce can be

found. (For convenience whenever appellee's reply

brief is referred to it will be labeled ''A" with the

number of the page thereafter, and whenever reference

is made to appellant's opening brief, it will be labeled

''App." with the number of the page thereafter.)

A. Appellee (A-11) states that the livestock for

the years 1927 and 1928 is approximately the same as

in April 1939 and further states that we did not call

the Court's attention to the same.

We called the Court's attention (App. 6-7) to the

fact that in 1927 the cattle and livestock were ap-

proximately the same as in 1923, which showed 800

head of cattle, 50 head of horses and 200 hogs. The

appraisement shows 759 head of cattle, inchiding

calves (Tr. 23) and 15 horses. At the first hearing

appellee testified (Tr. 57) that there was on hand at

that time, which was in November, 1938, 703 head.

It is evident that there was a decrease.

B. Appellee (A-12) states that the statement on

page 8 of appellant's openng brief that about $33,-

688.00 was owing, is not suppoi-ted by the evidence and

is incorrect.

Judge Yankwich's order (Tr. 6) found that there

was over $30,000.00 due to the Bank of Tehachapi

and the transcript showed that there was, $29,928.00

principal and interest due in November and October of

1938 (Tr. 65-66).
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The $30,000.00 would have interest added tliereto

of approximately $2000.00. There are other items

such as $400.00 for costs on bond, $100.00 advanced

to bankrupt per order of Conciliation Commissioner

to count cattle at the time of the sale, attorneys fees

and other items which are part of the indebtedness,

and which latter items we admit are not covered b}'

the transcript, but it is immaterial whether it is

$32,000.00, $30,000.00 or $34,000.00 that is due by the

appellee to appellant. The ai^pellant is i^oin^' to suffer

loss regardless of the amount.

C. Appellee states that there is no evidence in the

record to show the taxes (A-13).

Reference is made (Tr. 36) to the testimony of Mr.

Cummings, the president of appellee, in which he

states in substance that the second pa^nnent of taxes

had not been made and is delinquent in the sum of

$225.00, which would make taxes approximately

$450.00, and at page 50 of the transcript, the yearly

statement shows taxes paid in the sum of $440.72.

D. Appellee states that it did not sell cattle for

the year 1938 for the reasons set forth by Mr. Cum-
mings (A-15).

We have not maintained that he sold any cattle dur-

ing the year 1938, but we do maintain that during

the five years ])rior to the filing of the bankruptcy

petition, including 1938, which was the year the bank-

iiiptcy petition was filed, the average price received

for the sale of cattle was not greater than $3:^00.00

per year. At the hearing Mr. Cummings, president
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of the bankrupt, testified that there was on hand 703

head of cattle in the fall of 1938 (Tr. 57). He fur-

ther stated that he did not sell any cattle during 1938,

building the herd up, so that the increases during the

year 1938 with no cattle sold during that period was

approximately 100 less than called for by the chattel

mortgage of appellant. What hecame of the other

cattle f

E. Appellee (A-16) states that the statement made

by appellant (App. 16) 'Hhat the financial condition

of appellee has been steadily growing worse, excepting

for the year when a creditor took a lesser amount in

settlement of an indebtedness, and the further state-

ment that the debts in 1928 increased and the assets in

1928 decreased, in comparison with 1927'' are not

supported by the record, but that the record reveals

them to be false.

What the appellant said is as follows: '^The state-

ments of the Bankrupt as to its financial condition

from 1923 to date show that it has been steadily grow-

ing worse, excepting as to one year where it obtained

a compromise settlement with Mrs. Kelly when she

took approximately $23,000.00 to settle the indebted-

ness due her of $37,000.00. The bankrupt's debts in

1923 were $45,000.00. The debts in 1927 were $68,-

000.00. The debts in 1928 increased and the assets de-

creased, and there has been since that date a steady

increase in indebtedness and a steady decrease in

assets" (App. 16). The year ^^1928" should have been

the year ''1927".

Appellee owed $45,250.00 in 1923 (Tr. 48)

;
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Appellee owed $67,062.35 in 1927 (Tr. 49) ;

Appellee owed $65,180.12 in 1928 (Tr. 50).

Appellee owes now about $79,249.00 according to the

items set forth on page 8 of appellant's opening brief.

In 1923 and 1927 appellee had on hand 800 head of

cattle, 200 hogs, and 50 head of horses. At the time

of the appraisement appellee had on hand about 759

head of cattle and about fifteen horses.

We believe that the record shows that we are cor-

rect that the financial condition of the appellee from

1923 to date ha-s steadily heeu grotoinq worse. Mr.

Cummings, president of appellee, testified (Tr. 39)

regarding the Kelly loan as follows:

'^Q. Now, when you borrowed the money from the

Federal Land Bank, this Twenty Five Thousand Five

Hundred Dollars, what did j^ou do with the money

you got from the Federal Land Bank?

A. I paid off the old note to Mrs. Kelly.

Q. And how much was her note %

A. A great deal more than that, I don't remember,

but she was going to take that as payment for the

amount we owed her.
'

'

The financial statement of appellee on December

21, 1928 (Tr. 50) showed indebtedness to J. W. Kelly

of $37,330.12 and the statement of December 31, 1937

(Tr. 49) also shows the same amount. It is evident

that we are again correct that there was due at least

$37,000.00 to Mrs. Kelly and she took approximately

$23,000.00 to settle the debt. The $23,000.00 is ai'rived

at by deducting the approximate amoimt of stock that

was required to be purchased from the Federal Land
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Bank at the time of the loan, but it is immaterial to

us whether the matter is considered as $23,000.00 or

$25,000.00. It proves our contention that there was

a scaling down of debts at that time. True, the record

upon appeal does not show the year of the transac-

*tion but it was between 1928 and 1938 and there was

a benefit obtained by appellee by the scaling down of

the debt.

IMPOSSIBLE FOR APPELLEE TO REHABILITATE ITSELF.

This matter has been covered in appellant 's opening

brief. It shows that the appellee not considei'ing the

sale of cattle and not considering the fact that the real

property has been taken out of the proceedings, was

in such a hopelessly insolvent condition that it is im-

possible for it to rehabilitate itself, nor is it possible

to pay the costs and expenses of operation, and inter-

est, out of the rental required to be paid into the

Court.

If the sale of the cattle is to be included in the

order, then it merety reduces the debt to the appellant

in the amount received from the sale of the cattle,

and reduces the value of the cattle in the same amount

of $10,404.00, which makes the balance of the cattle

A^alued at $19,444.50. It reduces the rental value on

the cattle from $2203.50 to $1698.50, by deducting

202 head times $2.50 rental A^alue. The cost and ex-

penses of operating the cattle would be the same. The

only reduction would be upon the interest upon the

amount paid to the bank.
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If the Court considers '^Exhibit B" which shows

dismissal as far as the property is concerned, then,

of course, there should be deducted the value of the

real property from the assets and there should like-

wise be deducted the liability due to the Federal Land

Bank, which would only leave on hand the personal

property of $31,358.50, after deducting the sale price

of the cattle of $10,404.00 which would make the value

of the assets $20,954.50. The debts would be: Bank

of Tehachapi, about $22,000.00, J. J. Lopez (Tr. 6)

second mortgage, $12,000.00, Mi^. Charles Asher (Tr.

60), $6983.00, which would make the total debts

$40,983.00. This does not include interest computed

on Lopez debt and on the Mrs. Charles Asher debt.

The debts are approximately ivAce the value of the

remaining assets.

The argument by appellee on page 18 tliat the presi-

dent of the bankrupt corporation testified that it was

feasible to sell 150 head of cattle per year and that it

was his intention to sell 108 head for a gross of eight

to ten thousand dollars, and that the testimony of wit-

nesses that the bankrupt should net $10.00 per head

per year for the cattle, and that the ranch had a r-on-

tract for $8000.00 a year for the timber, and that this

proves that appellee can rehabilitate itself is ridicu-

lous. We must go not only on present conditions but

on past history and past performance of appellee.

The record shows in Exhibit A to this brief that it

was necessary to sell two hundred head of cattle in-

stead of 108 to bring $10,000.00.

The statement of Russell Hill (Tr. 81-82 and 87)

merely shows that the appellee should make $10.00
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profit per head off of the cattle, but the appellee cor-

poration has not done it and it further goes to show

that there is no chance for rehabilitation. The contract

for $8000.00 for the sale of timber (Tr. 76) in sub-

stance shows that a number of people have tried to

operate the mill and have gone broke. Mr. Cummings

further stated that ''the contract calls for $8000.00

a year for the fii'st two years; of course, this year

I know we can't get that".

Conciliation Commissioner took the view and the

appellee takes the view^ that once the petition has been

filed by a farmer debtor, that the petition cannot be

dismissed for a three year's period regardless of

whether or not there is any reasonable probability for

the farmer debtor to rehabilitate himself, and cites

the case of John Hancock Mutual Life Ins. Co, v.

Bartels, 84 L. Ed. 154, as holding that the proceedings

could not be dismissed even if the debtor has no chance

to rehabilitate itself.

The decision in the Bartel case did not overrule

the decision of Wright v. Mountain Trust Bank, IT. S.

Sup. Ct. 300 U. S. 440, 81 L. Ed. 736, but merely

held the same as the decision in the Moser case, Ninth

Circuit, 95 Fed. (2d) 944, that a farmer debtor, if he

could not obtain an extension or composition, is en-

titled to be adjudged a bankrupt under subsection (s)

and that a dismissal is not in order until after he has

had his ])roperty appraised and his exem])tion set

aside to him by state law.

''The facts are that the District Judge found that

the debtor had not made any proposition which
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could be construed as a good faith offer for ex-

tension or composition and that the debtor was
not entitled to be adjudicated a bankrupt under

subsection S."

John Hancock MntuaJ Life Ins. Co. v. Bartels,

84 L. Ed. 154, 155.

At page 157 of the decision, after the Court had dis-

cussed the fact that a person was entitled to be adjudi-

cated under subsection (s), states:

''He was so adjudicated. Bartels then asked, also

as jn'ovided m subsection (s), that his property

be appraised, that his exemptions be set aside to

him as provided b}^ state law. and that he be al-

lowed to retain possession of his property under

the supervision of the court, that is, subject to

such orders as the court might make in accord-

ance with the statute. The court failed to take

that action. Instead of having the property ap-

l^raised, the court received conflicting- testimony

as to value, discussed the chances of the debtor's

rehabilitation and dismissed the petition and all

proceedings thereunder."

Further upon the same page, the Court continues

:

"If the court finds it necessary to i^rotect the

creditors 'from loss by the estate' or 'to conserve

the security', the court may order any miexempt
perishable property of the debtor, or any iinex-

empt personal property not reasonably necessary

for the farming operations of the debtor, to be

sold at public or private sale, and the court, in

addition to the prescribed rental may require pay-

ments to be made by the debtor on the principal

of his debts in the mamier set forth.
'

'
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Further, at pages 157-158 of the decision, the Court

states

:

"If, however, the debtor at any time fails to com-
ply with the provisions of the section or with any
orders of the court made thereunder, or is ufiahle

to refinance himself within three years, the court

may order the aiypointment of a trustee mid direct

the property to he sold or otherwise disposed of
as provided, in the act/'

"The scheme of the statute is designed to provide

an orderly procedure so as to give whatever relief

may properly be afforded to the distressed farmer-

debtor, while protecting the interest of his credi-

tors by assuring the fair applicAition of whatever

property the debtor has to the payment of their

claims, the priorities and liens of secured credi-

tors being preserved. See Wright v. Vinton

Mountain Ti-ust Jiank."

CONCLUSION.

If the real property is eliminated then but three

creditors are left, the appellant; Lopez, with the sec-

ond mortgage, and Mrs. Asher, as the Federal Land

Bank's claim could not be considered. While Mrs.

Asher is not a party of record to the ap])eal, never-

theless Mrs. Asher is represented by the attorneys

for the appellant and she desires the proceedings dis-

missed in the same manner as the api:)ellant.

There is nothing in the record to show that the

appellee ever had an income as set forth in appel-

lee's brief (p. 19) from $7750.00 to $17,000.00 per

year, or any other sum in excess of an average of
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$3500.00 in the last five years prior to the filing of

the bankruptcy petition, a7id that amount was the

gross for the sale of cattle and not the net. The evi-

dence in the record shows that the order should be

made authorizing the Bank of Tehachapi to foreclose

under its chattel mortgage or take any other legal

steps as provided under the chattel mortgage to en-

force payment of the notes secured by the chattel

mortgage, or that an order be made dismissing the

bankiTiptcy petition.

Dated, Bakersfield, California,

May 1, 1940.

Respectfully submitted,

T. N. Harvey,

C. W. Johnston,

Claude F. Baker,

Attorneys for Apimllant.

(Appendix Follows.)
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Appendix

EXHIBIT "A"

In the District Court of the United States,

for the Southern District of California,

Northern Division

No. 4927

In the Matter of

Cummings. Ranch, Inc. (a corporation).

Bankrupt, i

Order Confirming SAiiE.

The petition of the above bankrupt for an order

authorizing the sale of one hundred fifty (150) steers

and fifty (50) liead of dry cows to the Kern Valley

Packing Company, a corporation, for the sum of

$10,300.00, according to bid attached to the petition,

came on regularly for hearing at four o'clock P. M.

on Monday, May 8, 1939, and it appearing to the

Court, and the Court finds that J. J. Lopez, who has

a second lien upon the cattle being in the form of a

chattel mortgage, consented to the sale, and consented

that the proceeds from said cattle be paid to the

Bank of Tehachapi, which bank had a first lien in the

form of a chattel mortgage upon said cattle, and the

Bank of Tehachapi having consented to said sale upon

the terms and conditions mentioned in the petition,

and it further appearing to the Court that the brand

of the above bankrupt is CL, and that the bid of the

Kern Valley Packing Company was that it could

select any 150 steers, and any 50 dry cows, and the



11

president of the bankrupt being present in Court,

and the bankrupt's attorney being present in Court,

and the attorney for the Bank of Tehaehapi being

present; and it appearing to the Court that a better

price cannot be obtained for said cattle, and no one

appearing and offering to bid a greater sum for said

cattle, and that said sum so bid is the fair and reason-

able market value for said cattle, and no one appear-

ing to object to said petition, and it further appear-

ing from the petition that the bankrupt has agreed

that a delivery of a certified copy of the order con-

firming sale to the purchaser upon the payment of

the money to the Bank of Tehaehapi should be a suf-

ficient conveyance of the property so purchased, and

the Court being fully advised.

It is therefore ordered, adjudged and decreed that

the sale be, and the same is hereby confirmed, and

that the Keni Valley Packing Company is hereby

ordered to immediately pay to the undersigned Con-

ciliation Commissioner the total sum of said bid, that

is, the sum of ten thousand three hundred dollars

($10,300.00), and thereupon the said sum of $10,300.00

shall be paid to Harvey, Johnston & Baker, attorneys

for the Bank of Tehaehapi, and thereupon the said

purchaser, Kern Valley Packing Company, shall be

entitled to take possession of said cattle free and clear

of liens of the Bank of Tehaehapi and J. J. Lopez,

and that the delivery of the cei-tified copy of this

order confirming sale to the purchaser is a sufficient

conveyance of the property so purchased.

Dated, May 11, 1939.

Samuel Taylor,

Conciliation Commissioner.



m

EXHIBIT ^'B"

l7i the District Court of the Ihiited States

In mid for the Southern District of Califoryiia

Northern Division

No. 4927

In the Matter of

Cummings, Ranch, Inc. (a corporation),

Bankrupt.

Order.

Whereas, The Federal Land Bank of Berkeley, a

corporation, and the Federal Farm Mortgage Cor-

poration, a coi^poration, filed herein on November 28,

1939 their Petition and Motion to Strike moving that

the real property described in Paragraph II of said

petition be, by order of this Court, stricken from the

schedules filed herein by the above named debtor, and

that it be adjudged that said real property is no part

of the assets of the estate of said debtor and that this

Court has no jurisdiction thereover, and

Whereas, said petition, pursuant to the previous

order of this Court, came on regularly for hearing be-

fore me on the tenth day of February, 1940, the debtor

appearing by its attorneys, William S. Marks and

Samuel L. Kurland, and said petitioners appearing

by one of their attorneys, M. G. Hoffman,
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Now Therefore, the Court having considered said

petition, the records and files in this cause and the

matters adduced at said hearing and it appearing to

the Court therefrom, and the Court finds:

(1) That on the first day of February, 1934, Ed-

ward C Cummings, George A. Cummings, Clarence

C. Cummings, Edward J. Cummings, Frank R. Cum-

mings and Albert N. Cummings were the owners of

the real property described in Paragraph II of said

petition.

(2) That on said date said owners made, executed

and delivered to The Federal Land Bank of Berkeley

and to the Land Bank Commissioner, predecessor of

the Federal Farm Mortgage Corporation, certain

notes and deeds of trust ; that The Federal Land Bank

of Berkele}^ and the Federal Farm Mortgage Corpora-

tion are now secured creditors of said owners.

(3) That Frank R. Cummings conveyed his in-

terest in said property to Edward G. Cummings and

that Edward G. Cunmiings, George A. Cummings,

Clarence C. Cummings, Edward J. Cummings, and

Albert N. Cummings are now the owners of the real

property described in Paragraph II of said petition.

(4) That the debtor corporation is not the owner

of any vested interest in the property which is de-

scribed in Paragraph II of said petition; that said

real property is no part of the assets of the debtor's

estate and that this Court has no jurisdiction there-

over.

Now, Therefore, the Court being fully advised in

the premises,



It Is Ordered tliat the real property described in

Paragraph II of said petition be stricken and it is

hereby stricken from the schedules of the above named

debtor; that the property stricken from the schedules

is described as follows:

Parcel A: All of fractional Section 3, East

half of Northeast quarter, West half of North-

west quarter, Southeast quarter of Northwest

quarter, Southwest quarter, Northeast quarter of

Southeast quarter and South half of South half

of Southeast quarter of fractional Section 4; all

of fractional Section 5 except Lot 4 (otherwise

known as Northwest quarter of Northwest quar-

ter). North half of North half of Section 8; all

of Section 9, West half of East half of Section

10, North half of Section 14, Northeast quarter,

East half of Northwest quarter. Northwest quar-

ter of Northwest quarter, North half of South-

east quarter and Northeast quarter of Southwest

quarter of Section 16; all in Township 11 North,

Range 16 West, San Bernardino Base and
Meridian; all of Fractional Section 33, Township
12 North, Range 16 West, San Bernardino Base

and Meridian; all of Fractional Section 31, Town-
ship 32 South, Range 32 East, Mount Diablo Base

and Meridian, Kern County, California.

Parcel B: All of Lots 2 and 3, Southwest

quarter of Northeast quarter. Northwest quarter

of Southeast quarter of Fractional Section 4,

Township 11 North, Range 16 West, San Bernar-

dino Base and Meridian, Kern County, California.

Parcel C: North half of South half of South-

east quarter of fractional Section 4, TowTiship 11

North, Range 16 West, San Bernardino Base and
Meridian, Kern County, California.
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Parcel D : South half of North half of Section

8, Township 11 North, Range 16 West, San
Bernardino Base and Meridian, Kern County,

California.

Parcel E : West half of West half of Section 10,

Township 11 North, Range 16 West, San Bernar-

dino Base and Meridian, Kern County, California.

The property herein described contains 5109 acres,

more or less.

Excepting Therefrom the following: Beginning

at the point of the Northwest corner of the South-

west quarter of Section 3, Township 11 North,

Range 16 West, San Bernardino Base and
Meridian; thence East 209.71 feet; thence South

208.71 feet; thence West 208.71 feet; thence North

to the point of beginning containing 1 acre, more

or less.

Dated this 1st day of March, 1940.

Samuel Taylor,

Referee.
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